JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting

Impact Factor (2023): 2.1 Volume 3 (2020), Issue 2 ISSN 2561-6722 Editor in Chief: Sherif Badawy, MS, MD, MBA

Contents

Original Papers

The Evolving Family Mealtime: Findings From Focus Group Interviews With Hispanic Mothers (e18292) Amber Hammons, Elizabeth Villegas, Norma Olvera, Kimberly Greder, Barbara Fiese, Margarita Teran-Garcia, The Abriendo Caminos Team. 4	
Trends in Web Searches About the Causes and Treatments of Autism Over the Past 15 Years: Exploratory Infodemiology Study (e20913) Florencia Saposnik, Joelene Huber.	13
Advanced Health Information Technologies to Engage Parents, Clinicians, and Community Nutritionists in Coordinating Responsive Parenting Care: Descriptive Case Series of the Women, Infants, and Children Enhancements to Early Healthy Lifestyles for Baby (WEE Baby) Care Randomized Controlled Trial (e22121) Samantha Kling, Holly Harris, Michele Marini, Adam Cook, Lindsey Hess, Shawnee Lutcher, Jacob Mowery, Scott Bell, Sandra Hassink, Shannon Hayward, Greg Johnson, Jennifer Franceschelli Hosterman, Ian Paul, Christopher Seiler, Shirley Sword, Jennifer Savage, Lisa Bailey-Davis 2 5	
Facebook Support Groups for Rare Pediatric Diseases: Quantitative Analysis (e21694) Sarah Titgemeyer, Christian Schaaf.	41
High School Students' Preferences and Design Recommendations for a Mobile Phone–Based Intervention to Improve Psychological Well-Being: Mixed Methods Study (e17044) Ulrika Müssener, Kristin Thomas, Preben Bendtsen, Marcus Bendtsen.	51
Repeated Psychosocial Screening of High School Students Using YouthCHAT: Cohort Study (e20976) Hiran Thabrew, Harshali Kumar, Mary Goldfinch, Alana Cavadino, Felicity Goodyear-Smith	72
Qualitative Evaluation of Web-Based Digital Intervention to Prevent and Reduce Excessive Alcohol Use and Harm Among Young People Aged 14-15 Years: A "Think-Aloud" Study (e19749)	
Laura Tinner, Eileen Kaner, Claire Garnett, Siobhan Mitchell, Matthew Hickman, Rona Campbell, Georgina MacArthur.	88
Pediatric Asthma Action Plans: National Cross-Sectional Online Survey of Parents' Perceptions (e21863) Karen Pletta, Bradley Kerr, Jens Eickhoff, Gail Allen, Sanjeev Jain, Megan Moreno.	145
An Interactive Smartphone App, Nenne Navi, for Improving Children's Sleep: Pilot Usability Study (e22102) Arika Yoshizaki, Ikuko Mohri, Tomoka Yamamoto, Ai Shirota, Shiho Okada, Emi Murata, Kyoko Hoshino, Kumi Kato-Nishimura, Shigeyuki Matsuzawa, Takafumi Kato, Masako Taniike.	153
Development of a Web-Based Resource for Parents of Young Children Newly Diagnosed With Autism: Participatory Research Design (e15786)	
Aspasia Rabba, Cheryl Dissanayake, Josephine Barbaro.	164
JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting 2020 vol. 3 iss. 2	2 p.1

XSL•FO RenderX

Availability and Quality of Web Resources for Parents Usability Study (e19669)	of Children With Disability: Content Analysis and
Anabel Buteau-Poulin, Camille Gosselin, Andréa Bergeron-Ouellet, Chantal Desmarais	Jocelyne Kiss, Marie-Ève Lamontagne, Désirée Maltais, Christiane Trottier,
Social Media Use Among Young Adults With Connective (e16367)	ve Tissue Disorders: Cross-Sectional Pilot Study
Erin Kelleher, Philip Giampietro, Megan Moreno	186
The Impact of a Smartphone App on the Quality of Pe Controlled Trial (e18174)	diatric Colonoscopy Preparations: Randomized
James Brief, Anupama Chawla, Diana Lerner, Bernadette Vitola, Ro	pert Woroniecki, Jeffrey Morganstern 197
Social Media Use and Monitoring for Adolescents With Pandemic: Qualitative Study of Parent and Child Persp	Depression and Implications for the COVID-19 pectives (e21644)
Candice Biernesser, Gerald Montano, Elizabeth Miller, Ana Radovic	230
Parental Acceptability of COVID-19 Vaccination for Ch Online Survey (e24827)	ildren Under the Age of 18 Years: Cross-Sectional
Ke Zhang, Yuan Fang, He Cao, Hongbiao Chen, Tian Hu, Ya Chen, Z	Kiaofeng Zhou, Zixin Wang
Perceptions and Attitudes Toward Mobile Health in Dev Group Study With Caregivers and Health Promoters in	elopment of an Exclusive Breastfeeding Tool: Focus the Dominican Republic (e20312)
Clarisse Casilang, Samantha Stonbraker, Ingrid Japa, Mina Halpern, 2 5	Luz Messina, Andrew Steenhoff, Elizabeth Lowenthal, Linda Fleisher 6

Viewpoints

XSL•FO RenderX

Smart Indigenous Youth: The Smart Platform Policy Solution for Systems Integration to Address Indigenous Youth Mental Health (e21155)	
Tarun Katapally	62
Pediatric Mental and Behavioral Health in the Period of Quarantine and Social Distancing With COVID-19 (e19867)	
Jiancheng Ye.	203
Management and Treatment of Concussions via Tele-Concussion in a Pediatric Setting: Methodological Approach and Descriptive Analysis (e19924)	
Todd Caze II, Gregory Knell, John Abt, Scott Burkhart	211
Patient and Clinician Perspectives on Adolescent Opioid Use Disorder Treatment During a Pandemic: One Step Back, but Two Forward? (e23463)	
Samuel Stull, Erin McKnight, Andrea Bonny	218
Psychosocial Challenges and Opportunities for Youth With Chronic Health Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic (e23057)	
Anna Serlachius, Sherif Badawy, Hiran Thabrew	222

Short Paper

Parents' Perceptions of Their Children's Engagement in a Consumer-Based Meditation Mobile App:	
Cross-Sectional Survey Study (e24536)	
Megan Puzia, Breanne Laird, Jeni Green, Jennifer Huberty	80

Reviews

Harnessing Phones to Target Pediatric Populations with Socially Complex Needs: Systematic Review (e19269)	
Colleen Stiles-Shields, Lauren Potthoff, Dawn Bounds, Maureen Burns, Janel Draxler, Caitlin Otwell, Emily Wolodiger, Jennifer Westrick, Niranjan Karnik.	99
eHealth and mHealth Psychosocial Interventions for Youths With Chronic Illnesses: Systematic Review (e22329)	
Nancy Lau, Shayna Waldbaum, Ryan Parigoris, Alison O'Daffer, Casey Walsh, Susannah Colt, Joyce Yi-Frazier, Tonya Palermo, Elizabeth McCauley, Abby Rosenberg.	113
Usability of eHealth and Mobile Health Interventions by Young People Living With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: Systematic Review (e15833)	
Sonia Butler, Dean Sculley, Derek Santos, Antoni Fellas, Xavier Gironès, Davinder Singh-Grewal, Andrea Coda.	130



Original Paper

The Evolving Family Mealtime: Findings From Focus Group Interviews With Hispanic Mothers

Amber Jean Hammons¹, PhD; Elizabeth Villegas², PhD; Norma Olvera³, PhD; Kimberly Greder⁴, PhD; Barbara Fiese⁵, PhD; Margarita Teran-Garcia⁵, MD, PhD; The Abriendo Caminos Team^{1,3,4,5,6,7}

¹California State University, Fresno, CA, United States

²NORC at the University of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

³University of Houston, Houston, TX, United States

⁴Iowa State University, Ames, IA, United States

⁵University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana-Champaign, IL, United States

⁶University of Puerto Rico, San Juan, Puerto Rico

⁷Auburn University, Auburn, AL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Amber Jean Hammons, PhD California State University 5241 N Maple Ave Fresno, CA, United States Phone: 1 5592781158 ext 1158 Email: ahammons@csufresno.edu

Abstract

Background: Given the protective effects of shared family mealtimes and the importance of family in the Hispanic culture, this context should be explored further to determine how it can be leveraged and optimized for interventions.

Objective: This study aimed to explore contextual factors associated with family mealtimes in Mexican and Puerto Rican families.

Methods: A total of 63 mothers participated in 13 focus group interviews across 4 states. Thematic analysis was used to analyze transcripts.

Results: Seven overarching themes were identified through the thematic analysis. Themes reflected who was present at the mealtime, what occurs during mealtime, the presence of television, the influence of technology during mealtime, and how mealtimes have changed since the mothers were children.

Conclusions: Hispanic mothers may be adapting family mealtimes to fit their current situations and needs, keeping the television and other devices on during mealtimes, and making additional meals for multiple family members to appease everyone's tastes. All of these are areas that can be incorporated into existing culturally tailored obesity prevention programs to help families lead healthier lives.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e18292) doi:10.2196/18292

KEYWORDS

family mealtimes; healthy eating; technology at the table; parenting and mealtimes; Hispanic culture; obesity prevention

Introduction

The frequency of shared family meals is associated with healthy eating practices in children and adolescents [1]. Family meals provide an opportunity for family members to connect, and consume healthier food (ie, fewer calories and less fat) than food consumed outside of the home [2,3]. Some studies have

also shown a connection between family meals and weight, with the frequency of family meals linked to a reduced risk of being overweight in early adolescent females [4].

Hispanic children have a higher rate of obesity (25.8%) than other ethnic groups [5] and the family mealtime is an important context for promoting healthy eating habits. One study found that 78.3% of Hispanic immigrant families regularly eat a family

meal together (ie, every day), and this percentage was even higher when they lived in their home country [6]. Research has revealed that the frequency of shared family meals is associated with increased fiber, fruit, and vegetable consumption in Hispanic youth [7]. Although Hispanic mothers place a high value on family mealtimes, they acknowledge that it is not always possible to regularly eat together as a family [8,9], noting that lack of time and busy schedules present challenges. In addition to shared mealtime frequency, watching television during mealtimes is linked to poorer dietary quality in 10-14-year-old Hispanic children [10]. Given the high value placed on the importance of family in the Hispanic culture, and the protective effects of shared family mealtimes, this context should be explored further to determine how it could be leveraged and optimized for interventions. Thus, the purpose of this study was to explore mealtime frequency and contextual factors associated with family mealtimes in Mexican and Puerto Rican families.

Methods

Sample Selection

To participate in the study, participants had to be of Mexican and Puerto Rican descent, and to have a child between 6 and 18 years of age. Participants were recruited via flyers and referrals from community organizations that serve Hispanic

Textbox 1. Interview questions.

Carrying out mealtimes: Mealtimes happen in many different ways for families.

- Who does the cooking and grocery shopping in your home?
- How often?
- Do your children ever help with either?
- Are your family meals different than when you were a child?

Some families are casual or spontaneous about cooking and shopping. They see what is available and go from here. Others make a plan and use it to shop and cook. And some are in between.

- What is your family like?
- What determines what you serve for meals?
- Do you choose things on sale; use leftovers; have a weekly menu planned ahead?
- What does a "family meal" look like in your house?
- Who is typically there? Describe what all happens during family meals (music, television, conversation, homework, etc)
- How often do you have a "family meal?"
- Are your family meals "traditional"? If so, how or if not, why not?

Data Collection and Participants

This study is part of a larger multistate randomized controlled trial, *Abriendo Caminos*, an obesity intervention program culturally tailored for Hispanic families [11,12]. The intervention is a 6-week program that focuses on nutrition, family mealtimes, and family physical activity, and is described in detail elsewhere (see [11,12]). Results from this study were used to help guide the content and implementation of the intervention by learning about the needs of the communities in which the intervention would take place. This study was conducted across four states

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18292/
```

families. Flyers were posted and distributed at churches, grocery stores, flea markets, community centers, laundromats, clinics, and recreation centers. Interested families were asked to contact project research staff. A total of 63 mothers participated across 13 focus groups between June 2015 and August 2018. On average, 5 mothers participated in each focus group session, which on average lasted 1 hour in duration. Trained bilingual facilitators conducted the interviews in Spanish at locations that were convenient and comfortable for mothers and ensured privacy (eg, private conference rooms in community clinics, community centers, county extension offices, and university campuses). An interview guide that included the focus group questions and follow-up probes was used for each interview. Previous studies, as well as a review of the literature, informed the development of the guide. The interview questions are included in Textbox 1. Small focus group sessions were selected as the methodology, as the goal was to have open and in-depth discussions with mothers about their family mealtime practices and beliefs.

Ethics and Consent

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at California State University, Fresno, Iowa State University, University of Houston, and the University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to conducting the interviews.

(California, Illinois, Iowa, and Texas) that were selected due to large concentrations of Hispanic families across the state or within rural communities in the state. Focus group interviews, a methodology that is well suited for exploratory research [13,14], were used to explore practices and beliefs regarding family mealtimes among Mexican and Puerto Rican families in each state.

At the beginning of each focus group interview mothers completed a demographic questionnaire that included questions regarding their date and place of birth, generation status,

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

language preference (both spoken and written), educational attainment, religion, marital status, number of children, employment, annual household income, and the number of people the income supports. In addition, a question regarding how mothers rated their general health was included. Mothers were offered an honorarium (ie, US \$10 gift card or cash) for their participation in a focus group session.

Data Analysis

All focus group interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim in Spanish. Then, 2 Spanish proficient, bilingual research assistants independently back-translated the focus groups to English. Next, these back-translated interviews were double-checked for accuracy and phrasing by multiple team members. Dedoose version 8.3.35 [15], a qualitative software analysis program, was used to code transcripts. Thematic analysis, a systematic and iterative approach to help patterns in the data to be discovered and identified, guided the analytical process [16].

Two researchers (AJH and Stephanie Sloane) fully familiarized themselves with the transcripts by reading through them numerous times, and then initially identified codes independently for comparison purposes. Initial code creation was based on ideas that were identified from reading the transcripts as well as preliminary patterns of similarity. Researchers then refined the codes and applied them to the transcripts. As researchers coded the narratives, they continued to compare the codes throughout the process to broaden the comprehensiveness of the codes and ensure consistency in the coding process. In the next step, codes were categorized into initial themes based on the repeated patterns that had been identified in the data. The narratives were then read again to refine the themes. In the final step, quotes were selected that fit these themes [17]. Researchers discussed the appropriateness of the quotes, and a consensus was reached when disagreement was present. Preliminary findings were shared with a note-taker of the focus groups to establish credibility of the findings further and for researchers to enhance the themes.

Results

Demographics of Study Mothers

Mothers' ages ranged between 17 and 74 years (mean 39.8 [SD 10.23]). Most mothers were married (38/63, 60%) and on average had 3 children (mean 3.13 [SD 1.90]). The mean number of years of formal education the mothers achieved in the United States was 4.7 (SD 5.67), compared with 7.96 years (SD 3.54) in their country of origin. More than half (37/63, 60%) of the mothers reported that their families' annual household income was US \$29,999 or less, which is considered a low income for a family of 4 in the United States. The vast majority of mothers (50/63, 79%) were born in Mexico. A small percentage of mothers were born in the United States (8/63, 13%) or other countries not disclosed by mothers (5/63, 8%). Nearly half of the mothers reported that they spoke only Spanish (28/63, 44%) or spoke Spanish better than English (25/63, 40%), and that they read only Spanish (26/63, 41%) or read Spanish better than English (21/63, 33%). On average, the mothers had lived in the United States for 18.5 (SD 7.46) years.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18292/

Seven overarching themes, as well as salient quotes to illustrate themes, were identified through thematic analysis. Themes reflected who was present at the mealtime, what occurs during mealtime, the presence of television, the influence of technology during mealtime, and how mealtimes have changed since the mothers were children. Findings are presented across the 4 sites because no consistent regional differences emerged.

Theme 1: Mothers and Children Are Usually Present at Mealtime

The majority of mothers talked about how their husbands were usually working late, so they (mothers and children) would eat without them.

Yes, only my husband is not present. As long as he brings in the money for food, there is not a problem. Me too, like normal, never, well, it is very rare that I eat with my husband who comes home around 9 or 10pm "…" only with the children.

My husband eats when he gets a chance. We eat at different times.

Some mothers expanded on this and gave additional explanations for why they would eat separately, including that the children could not wait until father gets home because they were too hungry, and that making them wait would be unfair to them. Therefore, family mealtimes had to occur at different times, and as a result would not include the whole family. For example,

Same, during weekdays is only the baby and me. Same, I make her food, and I eat with her. Moreover, during the afternoon it is normally the four of us because the three girls and my husband gets home very late, he has to eat by himself. My daughters come out of school and get home hungry; it is not fair for them to wait for their father. We do not wait for him because he comes home one hour later. During the weekend, we do have breakfast all together.

A minority of mothers stated they would eat first with their children, and then sit again to eat with their husbands when they got home. In some cases the entire family (with the children), or just themselves and their partner, would be at the table.

My husband does not come home until 6, and sometimes we have already eaten, but when he is at the table, we all sit with him to a eat a fruit or whatever and we accompany him. For me, 6 is too late to eat but my husband does not like to eat alone.

Other mothers said that they also did not want to eat late, because it would be bad for their health, lead to weight gain, indigestion, and/or difficulty sleeping, so they would eat earlier with the children.

Theme 2: Fathers Are More Likely to Be Present at a Family Meal During the Weekends

Mothers also talked about how fathers would be more likely to share a family meal on the weekends because they usually did not work on the weekends. Fathers' work schedules, as well as busy schedules, in general, could preclude family meals (where

every family member was present) from occurring during the weekdays, but weekends freed up more time.

Almost all family meals are on weekends.

Only on the weekends when we are together, the three of us we eat the three together.

But for job reasons or work schedules, we do not eat together until Saturday and Sunday. Those days we can sit together. However, weekdays it is difficult due to everyone's schedule.

Some mothers shared that the family meal would be a big breakfast, whereas others said it would be lunch or dinner, with some saying all 3 would be meals that would be eaten as a family and specifically reserved for this purpose on the weekends.

Theme 3: Mealtimes Are for Talking and Checking-in With One Another

Mothers discussed how they liked to spend time during the meals talking and catching up with family members. Some talked about how this is a special time and an opportunity to check-in. They valued this time and viewed it as an opportunity to see how each other's day went and to see how everyone was doing. Other mothers talked about how it is a way to connect and joke with one another, as one mom shared, "there is chatting going, we tell jokes, and we talk". Some said the conversations would continue long after the meal ended because family members enjoyed each other's company and the opportunity to be together.

We talk about how things went at school, how things went at work, because two of my older sons go to school and work too. So, we would talk about what we are doing. I would talk about my work because that is where I let out my stress.

Not all of the family members enjoyed the conversation time in the same way, however, as some mothers talked about how children were eager to get back to television, their phones, or tablets.

At the table we sometimes spend two hours talking and we are not eating anymore; we are just talking. Sometimes my son gets mad because we spend too much time at the table talking. I say, "What is the matter", he says "I want to use my iPad". He is young, but sometimes he acts like a big boy, right?

A few mothers talked specifically about rules that they have forbidding devices being at the table, or the television being on, because they want to use this as a time for connection through conversation.

Well since December I have been living alone with my kids. So, right now it is myself and my 3 children at the table. No television or tablets. We use the table time to talk and ask questions like how it went at school, and my children ask me how it went at work. That way, we use the table time for my children to share with me what they think, and what they want.

We usually always eat the three of us together and we do not have the television on. We stopped watching

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18292/

television while eating when I divorced my ex-husband because he did have that habit. But we always try to enjoy the moment and also talk or make plans about what we are going to do in the afternoon, where we are going to go, where we are going to walk, we go to the cinema. I feel that this moment is ours, this moment of eating.

Theme 4: Television Is Largely a Part of Family Mealtimes

Mothers talked about whether or not the television would be on during the meal. The majority of mothers said the television would be on during the mealtime. For some families, having the television on during mealtime was the norm, but it would sometimes have to be turned off mid-meal because children would be paying more attention to the television than eating. One mother shared,

I do watch the TV. I turn it off if they were not eating (and watching the TV instead). They are only paying attention to the TV and I like to talk to them, ask them what they did and then they talk to me about their adventures.

Some mothers also talked about how family members can be talking and watching television at the same time, "Yes, we have the TV on and sometimes if we do watch TV, we are still talking", and that that was the norm in their family. One mom stated that "There are times that the TV is on, simply because we are used to talking, we are used to the noise." A few said that they did not talk during meals, they served their food and then watched television as a family, and that this was preferred over talking with one another.

Sometimes I call them so we can eat together but no, it is better to take the food to the living room to eat it in front of the TV.

Each one of us serves our own food and then we go and eat in front of the TV.

In my house, I do not watch TV, but my daughter likes to. If the TV is on, she is not eating well because she likes the movie that is running, she pays attention to it.

Family rules regarding television being on or off was also part of the discussion. Some discussed how they wanted to continue the rules that they had when they were children, while others said the opposite. Some mothers shared how their husbands wanted the television to be on as they looked forward to watching television after a long day after work, and that mothers wanted to respect that, so it would be on during the meal.

In our house, the television is close by. It is actually set in front of us. OK, when my husband arrives, he wants to sit down to eat and watch the television.

While overall, many of the mothers said television would be on during the meal, a few said they would make sure it was off because it was distracting to the children and would prevent them from eating their food. A comment from one mother highlights this,

No, no I do not have TV or anything like that in the dining room. Because I want the children to focus on the food. And it is healthier. So that is the way we manage, we try to focus on talking amongst ourselves. It's a bit difficult for the children.

Theme 5: Influence of Technology on the Family Mealtime

The influence of technology during mealtimes appeared to be mixed. Some of the mothers voiced frustration about devices at the table, saying they would tell the children that they need to eat and to put the devices away. Although some mothers expressed that they did not want technology to be used while eating at mealtime, many of them said that their children insisted on having devices with them during this time, and that it had become a regular source of argument.

Hardly anyone is eating, because they will tell me it is not yummy. And I will tell them to leave cell phones, to put them away so they can focus on their food. And my children tell me "Mama, look at what is happening," and I will tell them they need to focus on eating!

Some said they felt using technology at the table was disrespectful and that children needed to learn the rules. Others talked about rules they had against having devices present at the table "No television or tablets" and negative emotions around them.

Well, they are married and have their own house, but it makes me angry when we sit down to eat, and they are on their phones.

Well, I punished my son so he can understand me. I told him, "Well, okay, use the cell at the table, but I am going to punish you". And he did not use it. And he went and left it in his room or where I will not see it.

I try to make sure my daughter does not have her phone or iPod close. She has to do all of her homework and clean her room to have it. It is like a reward.

Still, other mothers said that devices were present during mealtimes and that this was just part of what happens during the mealtime.

Sometimes, there are phones present, or they will go and watch TV.

We will sometimes eat together and at other times, we will eat separately with our cellphones at our sides.

Theme 6: Mothers' Approaches to Meeting Multiple Food Preferences

Mothers talked about how they sometimes make multiple meals, one for their children, and sometimes even another separate meal for their husbands, creating a *buffet-style* mealtime. This often results in extra time being spent on meal preparation. Some mothers shared that they will try to get ahead of this problem by only making meals that they know everyone will enjoy, but that this limits the variety in their own diets, as well as in their children's diets.

That is why I say my house is like a buffet because I ask everyone what they want to eat and then make it. In my house, you will always see different types of food because we all do not eat the same thing; everyone always is eating something different due to their varied tastes. I can eat everything and anything but everyone else does not like eating what others eat.

Sometimes I try for everyone to eat the same thing but normally that does not happen.

Others said they refuse to make multiple meals and children have to eat what is being served, or not eat at all. They commented that they simply do not have the time to cater to each child's meal preferences.

And now that they spend time with me, they do not eat what I make, because I am not about to make another sort of food. It is double my work ...

That is my husband. He says, "We do not have a buffet, eat what we have or do not eat."

Nevertheless, many of the mothers said that their children's preferences are often taken into account when grocery shopping, as a way to ensure that the mealtime will go smoothly.

Yes, I almost always cook something they like to eat because I know they like it. So that way I know what I cooked they will be willing to eat.

In my house, when we go grocery shopping, we always think about what the children will like. If necessary, we will have to make two meals, one for the big ones (adults) and one for the boys, the children.

Theme 7: Family Meals Are Different From When Mothers Were Kids

Mothers discussed how their mealtimes today are different from what they were like when they were children. Some shared how they would have family meals with everyone present, but today it is harder to do that due to busy schedules, and that when the family sits down together it does not feel *complete*.

Okay, when I was little, the family would have family meals together. Now, we do not eat together as a family because the kids are in school, one goes to work and eats on a different schedule. It is rare when the entire family sits together for a meal.

Well, yes. Here, it is rare when we eat together and back then we would all eat together.

Technology also came up as a large contributor to making today's family meals different from when they were growing up. They expressed that technology today plays a role in reducing conversation, story time, and physical activity, and there was a sense that their children were missing out on these activities as a result.

I liked it when we were all together, because my husband and I are raising our daughters together but



it is a different way of living because now there is the technology and we were raised without technology. We could play all day outside on the street with balls until our parents would holler at us to come home.

When we were in Mexico, it was always the five of us eating together, always.

Now each kid is in their own room or they are using their tablet or watching TV. We do not engage in the same activity as we did. Before, we... my dad and my mom were in the yard. They had us there, my dad would tell stories, everyone around, you know, a bunch of little eyes.

Some mothers also discussed how the types of foods consumed today are different from what they ate when they were children, with a special emphasis on the freshness of the foods they consumed when they were growing up.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Knowing about the changing Hispanic family mealtime can help in developing interventions to promote healthy eating habits. According to mothers in the study, family meals, where everyone is present, were more likely to occur on weekends. The use of the television tends to be part of the family mealtime as reported by many mothers. Similarly, phones, tablets, and videos games are all elements of the current societal fabric and mothers take varying approaches to manage their use at the table. Mothers feel that family meals today are different from what they were like when they were growing up. Mothers reported that nowadays there were fewer family meals, where all family members were present. Mothers also indicated that the availability of technology influences meals in ways that did not exist when they were children. Immigrant families face time constraints, including longer working hours, which make juggling work roles and eating regular family meals more challenging [18-20]. Families in this study are still sitting down together to share a meal, just without all family members present. Families are adapting and finding different ways to eat together.

Some mothers discussed that family meals were profoundly meaningful and explicitly reserved for conversation and catching up with one another. While some mothers said that technology was not allowed at the table so as to minimize distractions, others talked about the television being a regular part of the mealtime, which is associated with a reduction in the benefits of sharing a family meal [21,22]. Watching television while eating is associated with a higher caloric intake [3,10] and poorer dietary health in children [22]. One study conducted in Brazil found that having the television on during the meal was associated with a higher intake of chips and parents spending more time encouraging their 6-10-year-old children to eat their food [23]. Another study found that the greater the insistence on eating, the higher the child snack consumption in 3-6-year-olds [24]. This study corroborates these findings as mothers talked about how their children would focus on the television rather than on eating, and they would get frustrated repeatedly asking them to focus on eating. A few mothers also

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18292/
```

talked about how fathers looked forward to watching television after a long day at work and so the television would be on during mealtimes with fathers. One focus group study found that Hispanic parents believe that turning the television off is an important way to help overweight children lose weight [25]. Getting both mother and father on board with turning the television off during mealtimes should be an important focus of future interventions. Including fun strategies for family time as a substitute for television may be an important component in family-based obesity programs.

In addition to television, other popular technology devices are commonly present at the mealtime and Hispanic mothers are trying to negotiate the use of them during their family mealtime. Some mothers believe strongly that devices should be absent from the table, others seem upset only if the children are distracted to the point of not eating. By contrast, others seem to accept that this is just part of what happens today. Mothers also talked about how their mealtimes when they were growing up were different and that technology presents unique problems today for connection and physical activity. Screen time is something that parents have to navigate today, and while technology carries benefits, finding a healthy balance is important to parents [26]. A mixed-methods study conducted with parents of preschoolers asked parents about their interest in technology use during mealtimes, with a focus on positive purposes such as educating children about healthy eating [27]. Parental interest in technology use during mealtimes was more negative than positive. Parents cited concerns around intrusiveness, reliance on screens, and distraction. While parents are largely uninterested in technology being present at mealtimes, their actual presence at the mealtime seems to be ubiquitous.

With research suggesting that use of technology during mealtimes might be associated with unhealthy eating, interventions should teach parents strategies to minimize the use of technology at the table. Using technology during meals is likely to make connecting with one another, especially through conversation, more challenging, and is also associated with less healthy eating (eg, [28]) and increased risk of overweight and obesity [29]. One family-based intervention, by Fulkerson and colleagues [30] aimed to reduce screen time during meals. Although the intervention was effective at improving child dietary intake, no significant effects were found on the reduction of screen time. However, another family-based intervention, Healthy Habits, Healthy Homes, was effective at reducing child television viewing in general, though the intervention did not target reducing television viewing in the mealtime context specifically [31]. More recently, a family intervention program that focuses on teaching low-income racially diverse parents and children meal preparation skills, Simple Suppers, has been successful at reducing television viewing during mealtimes [32]. Still, more research is needed in this area, especially regarding culturally tailored programs for Hispanic families.

Mothers in this study also reported meal preparation challenges. Because of having children and spouses with picky eating habits, mothers sometimes spent extra time making separate meals for individual family members. Preparing different meals for family members increased their workload and added extra burden to

XSL•FO RenderX

their limited resources. Mothers talked about how they would sometimes plan out meals in advance that they knew their kids would eat, and only purchase and make those foods as a way to minimize workload, conflict, and stress. One study found that making special meals for children with picky eating habits was related to less variety in children's diets as well as continued refusal to eat the original foods [33]. In a focus group study exploring opinions of intergenerational Hispanic family members, Hispanic youth discussed how parents' permissive parenting styles around food contributed to children's unhealthy eating habits [9]. They talked about how parents made it easy for them to develop unhealthy eating habits. Expecting children to eat the same food everyone else in the family is eating may be perceived positively by Hispanic youth when they are older. Sharing these findings with mothers may help empower them to make one meal for all family members, saving both time and energy.

Although fathers were invited to participate in the study, only mothers participated. Thus, the views here represent the experiences and perceptions of mothers only. Nevertheless, mothers are sitting down for mealtimes with their children regularly, even when fathers are not present, and they have an important influence on their children's dietary habits. Recent research has found that father absence from mealtimes is associated with greater child distractions in 18- to 24-month-old children [34]. Future research may want to examine how Hispanic father absence from weekday mealtimes may influence child behavior during weekend mealtimes. This study also focused only on Mexican, Mexican American, and Puerto Rican mothers. Future studies should examine other Hispanic subgroups to determine whether similar commonalities are found across different Hispanic subgroups. Lastly, there may be situations in which families incorporate certain behaviors, such as television viewing or screen time use, as a means to reduce conflict during mealtimes, relax or get things done, and change the mood [35]. There may be specific intentions behind some of these strategies, and the emotional and mental health of families concerning the use of screen time should be considered in conjunction with their physical health in interventions.

Conclusions

The Hispanic family meal is evolving, and researchers and practitioners can benefit from knowing what is happening during the meal and what challenges families are facing. The main take-away messages from this study are that Hispanic mothers may be (1) adapting family mealtimes to fit their current situations and needs (2) keeping the television and other devices on during mealtimes, and (3) making additional meals for multiple family members to appease everyone's tastes. All of these are areas that can be addressed in existing culturally tailored obesity prevention programs to help families create healthier eating habits.

Acknowledgments

This research project is supported by the Agriculture and Food Research Initiative Competitive grant (No. 2015-68001-23248) from the US Department of Agriculture National Institute of Food and Agriculture under the Childhood Obesity Prevention Challenge Area to Cooperative Extension and the Department of Human Development and Family Studies at the University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the view of the US Department of Agriculture. The authors acknowledge the undergraduate research members of the Abriendo Caminos Research Lab teams at each of the participating universities, who contributed to this project through data collection and program implementation. We also gratefully acknowledge our participants who made this study possible, and Dr Stephanie Sloane (Department of Human Development and Family Studies, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign) who assisted with the data coding process.

Authors' Contributions

The Abriendo Caminos Research Team includes Margarita Teran-Garcia, MD, PhD (PI) and Barbara Fiese, PhD (PD) at University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana-Champaign, IL, USA; Angela Wiley, PhD (PD) at Auburn University, Auburn, AL, USA; Amber Hammons, PhD (PD) at California State University, Fresno, CA, USA; Kimberly Greder, PhD (PD) at Iowa State University, Ames, IA, USA; Maria Plaza-Delestre, PhD (PD) and Nancy J. Correa Matos, PhD (Co-PI) at the University of Puerto Rico, San Juan, Puerto Rico; and Norma Olvera, PhD (PD) at University of Houston, Houston, TX, USA. The collaborators assisted with design and implementation of the *Abriendo Caminos* study and acquired data.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Hammons AJ, Fiese BH. Is frequency of shared family meals related to the nutritional health of children and adolescents? Pediatrics 2011 Jun 02;127(6):e1565-e1574 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1440] [Medline: 21536618]
- Lachat C, Nago E, Verstraeten R, Roberfroid D, Van Camp J, Kolsteren P. Eating out of home and its association with dietary intake: a systematic review of the evidence. Obes Rev 2012 Apr;13(4):329-346. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00953.x] [Medline: 22106948]

- Batis C, Rodríguez-Ramírez S, Ariza AC, Rivera JA. Intakes of Energy and Discretionary Food in Mexico Are Associated with the Context of Eating: Mealtime, Activity, and Place. J Nutr 2016 Sep 10;146(9):1907S-1915S. [doi: 10.3945/jn.115.219857] [Medline: 27511934]
- 4. Fulkerson JA, Neumark-Sztainer D, Hannan PJ, Story M. Family meal frequency and weight status among adolescents: cross-sectional and 5-year longitudinal associations. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008 Nov;16(11):2529-2534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.388] [Medline: 18719674]
- Hales C. Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: United States, 2015–2016. NCHS Data Brief.: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics; 2017 Oct. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db288.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-07-22]
- Fleishman J. The association of family mealtime and acculturation with weight in Latino youth (Master's thesis, Pacific University). 2009. URL: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/9fa8/0b9eb1b506e75b4b31b99e3307d34b988924.pdf? ga=2.</u> 115705222.1228779121.1595388647-1317825515.1595388647 [accessed 2020-07-22]
- Andaya AA, Arredondo EM, Alcaraz JE, Lindsay SP, Elder JP. The association between family meals, TV viewing during meals, and fruit, vegetables, soda, and chips intake among Latino children. J Nutr Educ Behav 2011 Sep;43(5):308-315
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2009.11.005] [Medline: 20965787]
- 8. Davis RE, Cole SM, Blake CE, McKenney-Shubert SJ, Peterson KE. Eat, play, view, sleep: Exploring Mexican American mothers' perceptions of decision making for four behaviors associated with childhood obesity risk. Appetite 2016 Jun 01;101:104-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.158] [Medline: 26944228]
- Garcia ML, Gatdula N, Bonilla E, Frank GC, Bird M, Rascón MS, et al. Engaging Intergenerational Hispanics/Latinos to Examine Factors Influencing Childhood Obesity Using the PRECEDE–PROCEED Model. Matern Child Health J 2019 Jan 7;23(6):802-810. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-018-02696-y]
- Santiago-Torres M, Adams AK, Carrel AL, LaRowe TL, Schoeller DA. Home Food Availability, Parental Dietary Intake, and Familial Eating Habits Influence the Diet Quality of Urban Hispanic Children. Childhood Obesity 2014 Oct;10(5):408-415. [doi: 10.1089/chi.2014.0051]
- 11. Hannon BA, Teran-Garcia M, Nickols-Richardson SM, Musaad SM, Villegas EM, Hammons A, et al. Implementation and Evaluation of the Abriendo Caminos Program: A Randomized Control Trial Intervention for Hispanic Children and Families. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior 2019 Nov;51(10):1211-1219. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2019.08.011]
- 12. Hammons AJ, Hannon BA, Teran-Garcia M, Barragan M, Villegas E, Wiley A, et al. Effects of Culturally Tailored Nutrition Education on Dietary Quality of Hispanic Mothers: A Randomized Control Trial. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior 2019 Nov;51(10):1168-1176. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2019.06.017]
- 13. Lincoln YS. In: Guba EG, editor. Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications; 1985.
- 14. Morgan DL, Krueger RA. The Focus Group Kit. London: Sage Publications; 1998.
- 15. SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC. Dedoose version 8.3.35, Web Application For Managing, Analyzing, And Presenting Qualitative And Mixed Method Research Data. Los Angeles, CA: SocioCultural Research Consultants, LLC; 2020. URL: <u>http://www.dedoose.com</u> [accessed 2020-07-22]
- 16. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 17. Olson JD, McAllister C, Grinnell LD, Walters KG, Appunn F. Applying constant comparative method with multiple investigators and inter-coder reliability. The Qualitative Report 2016;21(1):26-42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4135/9781849209403.n920]
- Greaney ML, Lees FD, Lynch B, Sebelia L, Greene GW. Using Focus Groups to Identify Factors Affecting Healthful Weight Maintenance in Latino Immigrants. Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior 2012 Sep;44(5):448-453. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2011.11.008]
- 19. McArthur LH, Anguiano RPV, Nocetti D. Maintenance and Change in the Diet of Hispanic Immigrants in Eastern North Carolina. Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal 2001 Jun 01;29(4):309-335. [doi: 10.1177/1077727x01294002]
- 20. Greder K, Reina AS. Procuring Health: Experiences of Mexican Immigrant Women in Rural Midwestern Communities. Qual Health Res 2018 Dec 17;29(9):1334-1344. [doi: 10.1177/1049732318816676]
- 21. Martin-Biggers J, Spaccarotella K, Berhaupt-Glickstein A, Hongu N, Worobey J, Byrd-Bredbenner C. Come and get it! A discussion of family mealtime literature and factors affecting obesity risk. Adv Nutr 2014 May;5(3):235-247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/an.113.005116] [Medline: 24829470]
- 22. Trofholz AC, Tate AD, Miner MH, Berge JM. Associations between TV viewing at family meals and the emotional atmosphere of the meal, meal healthfulness, child dietary intake, and child weight status. Appetite 2017 Jan;108:361-366. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.10.018]
- 23. Petty MLB, Escrivão MAMS, Souza AALD. Preliminary validation of the Parent Mealtime Action Scale and its association with food intake in children from São Paulo, Brazil. Appetite 2013 Mar;62:166-172. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2012.11.024]
- 24. Kröller K, Warschburger P. Associations between maternal feeding style and food intake of children with a higher risk for overweight. Appetite 2008 Jul;51(1):166-172. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.appet.2008.01.012</u>]

- 25. Flores G, Maldonado J, Durán P. Making Tortillas without Lard: Latino Parents' Perspectives on Healthy Eating, Physical Activity, and Weight-Management Strategies for Overweight Latino Children. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics 2012 Jan;112(1):81-89. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2011.08.041]
- 26. Lindsay AC, Moura Arruda CA, Machado MM, Greaney ML. "If You Let Them, They Will Be on It 24 Hours a Day": Qualitative Study Conducted in the United States Exploring Brazilian Immigrant Mothers' Beliefs, Attitudes, and Practices Related to Screen Time Behaviors of Their Preschool-Age Children. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2019 Jan 21;2(1):e11791. [doi: 10.2196/11791]
- 27. Chen Y, Li Z, Rosner D, Hiniker A. Understanding parents' perspectives on mealtime technology. Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies 2019 Mar 29;3(1):1-19. [doi: 10.1145/3314392]
- Fulkerson JA, Loth K, Bruening M, Berge J, Eisenberg ME, Neumark-Sztainer D. Time 2 tlk 2nite: Use of Electronic Media by Adolescents during Family Meals and Associations with Demographic Characteristics, Family Characteristics, and Foods Served. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics 2014 Jul;114(7):1053-1058. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2013.10.015]
- 29. Parkes A, Green M, Pearce A. Do bedroom screens and the mealtime environment shape different trajectories of child overweight and obesity? Research using the Growing Up in Scotland study. Int J Obes 2019 Dec 11;44(4):790-802. [doi: 10.1038/s41366-019-0502-1]
- 30. Fulkerson JA, Friend S, Horning M, Flattum C, Draxten M, Neumark-Sztainer D, et al. Family Home Food Environment and Nutrition-Related Parent and Child Personal and Behavioral Outcomes of the Healthy Home Offerings via the Mealtime Environment (HOME) Plus Program: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics 2018 Feb;118(2):240-251. [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2017.04.006]
- 31. Haines J, McDonald J, O'Brien A, Sherry B, Bottino CJ, Schmidt ME, et al. Healthy Habits, Happy Homes. JAMA Pediatr 2013 Nov 01;167(11):1072. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.2356]
- 32. Gunther C, Rogers C, Holloman C, Hopkins LC, Anderson SE, Miller CK, et al. Child diet and health outcomes of the simple suppers program: a 10-week, 2-group quasi-experimental family meals trial. BMC Public Health 2019 Dec 10;19(1). [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7930-7]
- 33. Hendy HM, Williams KE, Riegel K, Paul C. Parent mealtime actions that mediate associations between children's fussy-eating and their weight and diet. Appetite 2010 Feb;54(1):191-195. [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2009.10.006]
- Saltzman JA, Musaad S, Bost KK, McBride BA, Fiese BH. Associations between father availability, mealtime distractions and routines, and maternal feeding responsiveness: An observational study. Journal of Family Psychology 2019 Jun;33(4):465-475. [doi: 10.1037/fam0000519]
- 35. Hersey JD, Jordan A. Reducing Children's TV Time to Reduce the Risk of Childhood Overweight: The Children's Media Use Report (No RTI Project Number 8680.006). Atlanta, GA: Center for Disease Control and the Association for Prevention Teaching and Research; 2007.

Edited by A Radovic-Stakic; submitted 11.03.20; peer-reviewed by J Wilroy, E Litterbach; comments to author 11.04.20; revised version received 26.05.20; accepted 19.06.20; published 10.08.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Hammons AJ, Villegas E, Olvera N, Greder K, Fiese B, Teran-Garcia M, The Abriendo Caminos Team The Evolving Family Mealtime: Findings From Focus Group Interviews With Hispanic Mothers JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e18292 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18292/ doi:10.2196/18292 PMID:32576547

©Amber Jean Hammons, Elizabeth Villegas, Norma Olvera, Kimberly Greder, Barbara Fiese, Margarita Teran-Garcia, The Abriendo Caminos Team. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.08.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Trends in Web Searches About the Causes and Treatments of Autism Over the Past 15 Years: Exploratory Infodemiology Study

Florencia E Saposnik¹; Joelene F Huber^{2,3,4}, MSc, MD, PhD, FRCPC

¹Faculty of Social Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

²Paediatric Medicine, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Division of Developmental Paediatrics, Department of Paediatrics, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Surrey Place, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Joelene F Huber, MSc, MD, PhD, FRCPC Paediatric Medicine The Hospital for Sick Children Rm 10214, 10th floor Black Wing 555 University Avenue Toronto, ON, M5G 1X8 Canada Phone: 1 416 813 8422 ext 208422 Email: joelene.huber@sickkids.ca

Abstract

Background: Ninety percent of adults in the United States use the internet, and the majority of internet users report looking on the web for health information using search engines. The rising prevalence of autism spectrum disorder (ASD), uncertainty surrounding its etiology, and variety of intervention approaches contribute to questions about its causes and treatments. It is not known which terms people search most frequently about ASD and whether web search queries have changed over time. Infodemiology is an area of health informatics research using big data analytics to understand web search behavior.

Objective: The objectives were to (1) use infodemiological data to analyze trends in web-based searches about the causes and treatments of ASD over time and (2) inform clinicians and ASD organizations about web queries regarding ASD.

Methods: Google Trends was used to analyze web searches about the causes and treatments of ASD in the United States from 2004 to 2019. The search terms analyzed for queries about causes of ASD included vaccines, genetics, environmental factors, and microbiome and those for therapies included applied behavior analysis (ABA), gluten-free diet, chelation therapy, marijuana, probiotics, and stem cell therapy.

Results: Google Trends results are normalized on a scale ranging from 0 to 100 to represent the frequency and relative interest of search topics. For searches about ASD causes, vaccines had the greatest frequency compared to other terms, with an initial search peak observed in 2008 (scaled score of 81), reaching the highest frequency in 2015 (scaled score of 100), and a current upward trend. In comparison, searches about genetics, environmental factors, and microbiome occurred less frequently. For web searches about ASD therapies, ABA consistently had a high frequency of search interest since 2004, reaching a maximum scaled score of 100 in 2019. The analyses of chelation therapy and gluten-free diet showed trending interest in 2005 (scaled score of 68) and 2007 (scaled score of 100), respectively, followed by a steady decline since (scaled scores of only 10 and 16, respectively, in 2019). Searches related to ASD and marijuana showed a rise in 2009 (scaled score of 35), and they continue to trend upward. Searches about probiotics and stem cell therapy have been relatively low (scaled scores of 22 and 18, respectively), but are gradually gaining interest. Web search volumes for stem cell therapy in 2019 surpassed both gluten-free diet and chelation therapy as web-searched interventions for ASD.

Conclusions: Google Trends is an effective infodemiology tool to analyze large-scale web search trends about ASD. The results showed informative variation in search trends over 15 years. These data are useful to inform clinicians and organizations about web queries on topics related to ASD, identify knowledge gaps, and target web-based education and knowledge translation strategies.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e20913) doi:10.2196/20913



KEYWORDS

autism; infodemiology; infoveillance; informatics; Google Trends

Introduction

The world wide web is often the first source of information people use to find answers about health [1]. Ninety percent of adults in the United States access the internet today [2], and the majority of internet users report looking for health information on the web in the past year [3]. Nearly 80% of those searching the web for health information begin their query using search engines, such as Google, rather than a dedicated health website to find information [3]. While the media has given rise to widespread information about autism spectrum disorder (ASD), it has also given rise to misinformation about ASD that has contributed to or perpetuated misperceptions, myths, and trends related to the causes and treatments of ASD [4]. Understanding lay beliefs, misconceptions, and queries about ASD can help identify areas that require public education and improved awareness [5], and analyzing web search behavior is one way to do this. This information can help direct clinician-patient discussions and can be used by ASD and health organizations to help guide web-based content and the development of web-based education strategies and knowledge translation plans.

Infodemiology is a relatively new field of scientific research and methodology in health informatics that involves the study of the distribution and determinants of web-based information, and infoveillance involves surveillance by tracking and analyzing trends in these data over time [6,7]. Web-based search analysis tools, like Google Trends, can be used to analyze data from large populations in order to understand web search behavior surrounding specific topics.

Google Trends is a big data web tool that applies algorithms to assess the frequency of web searches of large populations and compares and analyzes trends by stratifying the results based on geographic location, time period, category, and search type [6]. Google Trends data have proven to be useful in infodemiology research for analyzing human web search behavior about health topics [6]. Information gathered from infodemiology data for infoveillance, such as tracking a surge in web-based misinformation, can be used to identify the need for public health education strategies to counteract the misinformation and provide accurate and up-to-date information [6,7]. Analyzing web search patterns has been used to predict infectious outbreaks, track suicide trends, and identify specific periods of time for effective health promotion campaigns [8-10].

ASD is a complex neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by deficits in communication and social interaction, and restricted and repetitive patterns of behavior [11]. Individuals with ASD exhibit a varied spectrum of symptoms and severity, contributing to the complexity of understanding etiological factors. Although the etiology of ASD is still not fully understood and thought to be multifactorial, research suggests there is a strong genetic basis and/or predisposition in the majority of cases [12,13] and research continues to explore possible nongenetic contributing factors, such as environmental factors, and an interplay between genetic and environmental

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20913/
```

influences, which may either increase or reduce the risk of ASD [13].

The prevalence of ASD has markedly risen, and it is currently reported to occur in approximately 1 in 54 children [14]. While there is no singular treatment or cure for ASD, early and evidence-based interventions (eg, applied behavior analysis [ABA] strategies) with individualized treatment plans to target goals based on personal strengths, challenges, and needs have been shown to improve developmental outcomes [15].

The high prevalence and complexity of ASD along with the uncertainty surrounding its suspected multifactorial etiology have led to years of searching for answers about causes and looking for effective therapies [16]. While important advances through research have been made, many answers about etiology still remain elusive [16] and, perhaps more than with any other developmental disorder, there is controversy regarding the treatments of ASD [17]. While rigorous research continues to yield evidence-based information, there are many unfounded nonscientific approaches and myths surrounding the causes and treatments of ASD.

The web is a powerful tool for knowledge translation of health information, but it can also amplify alternative or partial truths and misinformation. It is not known which topics surrounding ASD causes and treatments are most frequently searched on the web. Google Trends data have been used to look at seasonal trends in web-based queries about mental health disorders, including ASD [18], and to evaluate the effectiveness of ASD awareness initiatives in promoting web searches on ASD [19]. To our knowledge, however, there are no infodemiology studies looking at trends in web-based queries about the causes and treatments of ASD and how web-based searches have changed over time.

The aim of this study was to use infodemiological data to identify and analyze trends in web-based queries about the causes and treatments of ASD and to evaluate how these trends have changed over the past 15 years. This information could help direct and enrich clinician-patient discussions and aid ASD advocacy and pediatric health organizations in developing web-based knowledge translation interventions and web-based ASD awareness campaigns and education strategies.

Methods

Methodology Framework

The general infodemiology and infoveillance methodology framework for Google Trends analyses, as outlined by Mavragani and Ochoa, was used [6]. This involves a four-step process. The Google Trends analysis tool tracks and quantifies the relative frequency of specific search terms on Google.

Identification of Search Terms

The first step is the identification of search terms. In this study, we selected "autism" instead of "autism spectrum disorder," as it represents the most comprehensive word to identify ASD.

XSL•FO RenderX

The search term "autism" was combined with key search terms from questions about the *causes* and *treatments* of ASD commonly raised in the clinical setting.

Web Search Terms for the Causes of ASD

The terms selected for comparative Google Trends analyses for web queries about the causes of ASD were comprised of searches with the term "autism" with key words surrounding topics commonly covered by clinicians and questions commonly raised by parents or caregivers when discussing the cause of ASD. Further, these key words reflect topics and information covered by many ASD or pediatric health organization websites and social media groups. The search terms analyzed included "genetics," "vaccines," "environmental factors," and "microbiome."

Web Search Terms for the Treatment of ASD

The terms selected for Google Trends analyses for web queries about treatments for ASD were comprised of searches with the term "autism" with key words surrounding topics commonly covered by clinicians and questions commonly raised by parents or caregivers, when discussing intervention for ASD. These key words reflect well-established, popular, emerging, or speculative and/or alternative therapies for ASD and reflect topics and information covered by many ASD or pediatric health organization websites and social media groups. The search terms analyzed included "ABA" (applied behavior analysis), "gluten-free diet," "chelation therapy," "marijuana," "probiotics," and "stem cell therapy." An additional analysis of the search term of fidget spinners (as they relate to ASD ["autism fidget spinner"]) was also performed in a separate Google Trends analysis, given their high popularity in the recent past and their popular association with disorders such as ASD. This term was analyzed separately as it is not necessarily viewed as an intervention in the same way as the other intervention search terms for ASD.

Geographical Region and Time Frame for Analyses

The second step involves selecting the geographical region where the data should be retrieved from, and the third step involves selecting the time frame over which the analyses are conducted. These analyses focused on Google searches in the United States over 15 years from 2004 (the earliest data available for Google Trends analysis) to 2019. Because the analyses spanned a very lengthy period of 15 years, with large amounts of data, the data were aggregated by year (rather than by day or month) for ease of interpretation using the Google Trends mobile app.

Google Trends Search Category for Analyses

The fourth step involves identifying a search category. Categories include options such as Arts & Entertainment, Finance, Food & Drink, Health, Sports, and News, in order to refine the search data analyses. Specifying a category helps to eliminate irrelevant data and to achieve more specific research results. The category of "Health" was used for all search term analyses.

Google Trends Analyses

Using Google Trends, each data point is divided by the total searches made within the specified geography region over the specified time range to compare the relative popularity or the relative frequency of specific search terms. More specifically, the relative popularity or frequency of a search term is the ratio of a query's search volume compared to the sum of the search volumes of all possible Google queries. Queries from the same web-based protocol address made over a short period of time are excluded from results by Google Trends analyses. The data are normalized on a scale ranging from 0 to 100 based on a search topic's proportion to all searches, making the results comparable [6]. Google Trends algorithms were applied to assess and compare the frequency of the web search terms described, over the specified period (2004-2019) and geographical region (United States), and in the specified category of health.

Results

Web-Based Searches Related to the Causes of ASD

For web-based searches about the causes of ASD using the Google search engine (Figure 1), vaccines had the greatest search volumes when compared with other search terms, with an initial search peak observed in 2008 (scaled score of 81), reaching the maximum and highest search frequency in 2015 (scaled score of 100). There has been continued high interest in the following years, with a scaled score of 84 in 2019 and an upward trend in search interest since 2018 (scaled score of 78).



Figure 1. Google Trends analyses for web searches related to queries about the causes of autism in the United States from 2004 to 2019.



Google search queries about ASD and the role of known or proposed etiological factors, including genetics, environmental factors, and microbiome, occurred relatively and considerably less frequently compared to vaccines (scaled score of 84 in 2019), with minimal overall search interest over the past 15 years and scaled scores of 2, 1, and 1, respectively, in 2019.

Web-Based Searches Related to Therapies for ASD

For web-based searches about therapies for ASD using the Google search engine, ABA consistently had a high frequency of web search interest from 2004 to 2019 (Figure 2), with a slight decrease between 2010 and 2013, followed by a steady rise in search frequency, reaching a maximum scaled score of 100 in 2019.

The analyses of ASD and chelation therapy (Figure 3) showed a precipitous high trending interest in 2005 (scaled score of 68 in 2005 compared to 14 in 2004), followed by a drop in search interest in 2006 (scaled score of 25) and an overall decline in search interest frequency in the following years, with a scaled score of only 10 in 2019.

The analyses of ASD and a gluten-free diet (Figure 3) showed rapid and high trending interest, with a maximum peak search frequency scaled score of 100 in 2007, followed by a steady overall decline in search interest frequency in the years following 2007 and a scaled score of only 16 in 2019.

While searches about ASD and probiotics (Figure 3) have been relatively low over the past 15 years compared to the frequency of other searches for ASD interventions, probiotics appear to be gradually gaining interest, with the highest scaled score over the past 15 years in 2019 (scaled score of 22). Search interest in probiotics and ASD surpassed the frequency of search interest

in a gluten-free diet in 2016, which is a nutrition-based intervention that gained popular web search interest in 2007. Web search interest in probiotics and ASD has continued to be more popular than gluten-free diet searches since 2016.

Web searches related to ASD and marijuana (Figure 3) had an initial rise in interest in 2009 (scaled score of 35), possibly coinciding with the legalization and commercialization of marijuana in some jurisdictions [20], and continue to exhibit overall rising popularity in search interest. Apart from searches about ASD and ABA, which have consistently been high (Figure 2), marijuana and ASD have been searched much more frequently than all other intervention search terms evaluated since 2013 (Figure 3).

Web searches regarding ASD and stem cell therapy (Figure 3) have been relatively low, as they represent a topic of more recent research, but they are gradually gaining web search interest, with the highest search frequency in 2019 (scaled score of 18), surpassing the volume of web searches for both gluten-free diet and chelation therapy in 2019.

Google Trends analyses for ASD and fidget spinners were performed separately (Figure 4) as fidget spinners fall into a unique category distinct from intervention or therapy in the traditional sense, but a common topic of interest has been whether they provide any benefits for children with ASD. ASD and fidget spinner searches had a scaled score of 0 prior to becoming popular in the market in 2017. In 2017, fidget spinner searches for ASD had a sudden maximum peak scaled score of 100, followed by a marked drop in search interest in the following 2 years, with scaled scores of 8 and 3 in 2018 and 2019, respectively (Figure 4).



Saposnik & Huber

Figure 2. Google Trends analyses for web searches related to queries about applied behavior analysis (ABA) as an intervention for autism in the United States from 2004 to 2019.



Figure 3. Google Trends analyses for web searches related to queries about interventions for autism in the United States from 2004 to 2019.





Figure 4. Google Trends analyses for web searches related to queries about autism and fidget spinners in the United States from 2004 to 2019.



Discussion

Principal Findings

Using Google Trends analyses is an effective infodemiology strategy to evaluate large-scale web search data about ASD. These analyses of web searches related to queries about the causes and treatments of ASD showed substantial, variegated, and informative patterns of changes in the frequency of web-based search interest over the past 15 years. Some topics emerged, trended, peaked, and then decreased in search frequency over time, while others remained highly stable topics of public interest demonstrated by a high frequency of web searches over time and still others showed low overall relative interest or are currently gaining public interest. These data provide valuable information and highlight the benefits of the ongoing use of web search analytic tools, as the information yielded can be used to inform clinicians as well as ASD and pediatric health organizations. These data can help guide clinical discussions, as well as education and knowledge translation strategies in order to provide up-to-date and accurate information on relevant topics to improve parent/caregiver, patient, and public awareness about ASD.

ASD and Vaccines, and the Etiology of ASD

Our study confirms that despite the lack of evidence to support vaccines as a cause of ASD [21,22], this topic continues to be the most widely searched web-based topic regarding the cause of ASD on the Google search engine. The initial rise in web-search interest in ASD and vaccines occurred in 2007 and peaked in 2008. Some temporally related factors, which may have contributed to the rise in web searches about autism and vaccines during this time and beyond, were public statements about vaccines and ASD by celebrity Jenny McCarthy and the publication of her books [23,24]. Further, in 2008, Andrew Wakefield admitted to a disciplinary panel that he fabricated details [25] surrounding a study published in the Lancet in 1998

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20913/
```

[26] insinuating that the measles, mumps, and rubella (MMR) vaccine may be linked to a risk of ASD. Despite its retraction [27], there was reduced uptake of vaccination and increased concern by parents regarding the vaccination, which was considered by some as a "public health crisis" and "perhaps, the most damaging medical hoax of the last 100 years" [28], and our study showed that relevant public web search interest on the topic of an autism-vaccine connection still continues today. In contrast, Google searches about the genetics of autism, which is believed to play an important role in the etiology of ASD, and possible environmental contributors [12,13,15,16], are relatively much less frequent. These data indicate that web-based content to increase public awareness and parent/caregiver and patient education surrounding the etiological factors of ASD, and vaccinations and ASD continue to be needed.

ASD and ABA Therapy

ABA therapy is considered to be one of the most effective evidence-based interventions for ASD [15]. Our study revealed consistently high volumes of web-based searches over the past 15 years for information about ABA for ASD. This is encouraging as it indicates public awareness of ABA as an intervention for ASD and an interest in learning about this recommended intervention for children with ASD. Further, it highlights the need for ongoing discussions in the clinical setting and accessible web-based information about ABA.

ASD and Chelation Therapy

Chelation therapy is a medical intervention that removes heavy metals from the body. It may be a treatment option to treat metal toxicity due to over exposure or to treat the accumulation of metals, such as iron and copper, that accumulate in the body due to certain medical conditions or diseases. It should only be administered by competent medical professionals. While not recommended as an intervention for ASD [29], it has been used by some as an alternative treatment for ASD [30], based on the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

unsubstantiated belief that ASD is caused by mercury or thimerosal exposure from vaccination [21]. Thimerosal is a mercury-based preservative that has been used in some vaccinations. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the MMR vaccine has never contained thimerosal or mercury [31]. In 1999, it was recommended by the United States Public Health Service that thimerosal be removed as a preservative from childhood vaccines, as a precautionary measure, and "today, no childhood vaccine used in the US, except some formulations of flu vaccine in multidose vials, use thimerosal as a preservative" [31].

Numerous scientific research studies have shown no causal connection between exposure to thimerosal in vaccines and ASD [32-39]. Further, the diagnostic rates of ASD have continued to rise following the precautionary removal of thimerosal from childhood vaccinations [14]. Using chelation therapy as a treatment for children with ASD is not recommended and is in fact considered dangerous as it may lead to serious, harmful, and potentially deadly side effects [17,29].

This study showed that web searches for information about chelation therapy and ASD, which could yield misinformation about its benefits, precipitously rose in 2005, followed by a drop in search interest in 2006 and an overall decline in search interest frequency in the following years, with the lowest web search volumes of all ASD therapies studied. This result is reassuring, as it may reflect a decrease in interest in pursuing this dangerous and ineffective treatment for ASD.

ASD and Nutrition and Gastroenterology

Research suggests that gastrointestinal disturbances are common among children with ASD [40]. This has led to interest in investigating the gut microbiome and a hypothesized microbiota-gut-brain axis in children with ASD [41-43]. Some preliminary investigations have suggested that there may be an imbalance of gut bacteria in some children with ASD [44]. Some researchers have suggested that by alleviating the gastrointestinal response, there could be a behavioral improvement in children with ASD [42]. This study showed that while there is currently a relatively low volume of web-based searches for information about the role of the gut microbiome and ASD, Google searches for information about the use of probiotics for individuals with ASD are on the rise. While some research may suggest that probiotics may have potential for treating gastrointestinal distress in some children, the evidence at this point does not support probiotics as the mainstay of treatment to be used indiscriminately in children with ASD [45,46].

Another alternative nutrition-based intervention that has been commonly linked with ASD is a gluten-free diet [29]. A gluten-free diet is a well-established treatment for individuals with celiac disease, a disorder involving a severe gastrointestinal response to foods containing gluten [47]. However, despite the popular use of a gluten-free diet by parents/caregivers of children with ASD, there is insufficient evidence to indiscriminately recommended it as a treatment for all children diagnosed with ASD [29,48,49]. Web search interest for a gluten-free diet and ASD had gained popularity, with a rapid and high trend, reaching a maximum peak search frequency in

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20913/
```

2007. This was however followed by a steady overall decline in web-based search interest frequency in the years following, with relatively low search interest in recent years compared to other ASD interventions. Search interest in probiotics surpassed the frequency of search interest in a gluten-free diet in 2016 and has continued to be a more popular nutrition search term with ASD than a gluten-free diet since 2016. Parents/caregivers of children with ASD are encouraged to discuss their children's individual nutritional needs with their physicians, as each child's health, gastrointestinal presentation, and nutritional needs are different.

ASD and Medicinal Marijuana/Cannabis

With changes in legislation and the commercialization of marijuana/cannabis in many regions in North America, there is rising interest in the use of medicinal marijuana for the treatment of various health conditions, including ASD. Web searches related to ASD and marijuana had an initial rise in 2009, coinciding with the commercialization of the legalized use of marijuana in some jurisdictions, and continue to exhibit an overall rising trend in web search popularity. Apart from searches about ASD and ABA (which have consistently been high), marijuana and ASD have been searched much more frequently than all other ASD intervention search terms evaluated since 2013.

The use of medicinal marijuana as a treatment option for children with ASD continues to be a topic of ongoing investigation. There is still a paucity of research and evidence in this area. While research is emerging on the feasibility and possible therapeutic applications [50,51], most research has been limited to observational and retrospective research. At present, there are no known published randomized controlled trials to evaluate the effectiveness, safety, and side-effect profile of the use of medicinal marijuana in children with ASD, or research providing information on their short- and long-term effects, but research is emerging. Autism Speaks, an ASD organization dedicated to advocacy and promotion of solutions for individuals with ASD, recently hosted a scientific consensus conference [52] on identifying the next steps in research on cannabis and autism with the goal of researching safety and potential benefits and developing expert consensus statements on this topic.

ASD and Stem Cell Therapy

Stem cells have regenerative properties, and therefore have potential application in neurological disease. Their application in ASD has been proposed for their potential restorative and immunomodulatory properties that some researchers theorize could lead to better outcomes in children with ASD [53-55]. While theoretical concepts have led to proposals that stem cells may have the potential to be a promising therapy for ASD in the future, there are limitations, and further rigorous research is warranted [55]. Despite the publication of theoretical papers on stem cell therapy applied to ASD, public web search interest on this topic remains low. If future research yields positive promising results and especially if these are highlighted in the media, web search interest on this topic may increase.

ASD and Fidget Spinners

Fidget spinners became popular among children, with a market sales peak in May 2017, accounting for 17% of all online toy sales [56]. At that time, there were considerable web-based claims of their benefits for children with ASD. However, a review of the research concluded that these alleged benefits have not been scientifically proven and that pediatricians should inform parents that these assertions have not been supported by peer-reviewed studies [57]. Not surprisingly, this study showed a surge in the web-based search frequency for fidget spinners and ASD in 2017 during the fidget spinner toy craze, followed by a marked drop in web-based search interest over the past 2 years, and the search term is no longer trending as an area of web-based search interest.

Clinical Applications of Infodemiology Data for ASD

The web is often the first place people look for health information, likely because a search engine is usually more readily accessible [1,3] but it is also possible that some people may feel more comfortable to ask health questions to a search engine than a health professional and/or would like more information. The information from Google Trends analyses can therefore be used to help guide clinicians to open up discussions and create a safe space to ask those questions and enter into a dialogue providing expert, up-to-date, evidence-based information that is specific to a child's unique needs.

The results of this study can be used to guide clinical discussions with parents of children already diagnosed with ASD or receiving a new diagnosis of ASD. This study highlights the fact that people are interested in knowing whether vaccines are associated with ASD, and discussing the research evidence and dispelling any myths surrounding this should be included in counselling when providing a diagnosis of ASD. Further, discussing what is currently known about the genetics of ASD is an area to highlight in counselling parents about etiological factors. Further, there is a great deal of web-based search interest in ABA as a treatment for ASD, and this should be discussed in detail with the parents and caregivers of children with a diagnosis of ASD in order to answer their questions about this intervention and other interventions they may have questions about.

Physicians caring for children with a diagnosis of ASD should always include discussions surrounding nutrition as part of each health visit. They should identify specific nutritional needs and symptoms, answer nutrition questions, and include evidence-based information about nutrition-based treatments for ASD and whether using those nutrition strategies are right and safe for the child's specific nutrition needs. As highlighted in this study, different nutrition treatments have become more and less frequently searched on the web over time. Each child's nutrition, health, and developmental needs are unique, and therefore, advice surrounding this should be part of the health supervision of children with ASD.

As discussed above, there were a number of search topics assessed in this study that still require more rigorous research. Clinicians working with children having ASD should stay abreast of new research evidence and recommendations on such topics. In particular, apart from searches relating to the ABA intervention, searches about the use of marijuana/cannabis in children with ASD have recently been performed more than other web searches for other interventions studied, with an overall upward trend. Research into marijuana/cannabis, the gut microbiome, probiotics, and stem cell therapy may yield more information in the future, and clinicians should be up to date on the research findings in order to answer clinical questions and provide evidence-based recommendations.

Applications of Infodemiology and Infoveillance for Web-Based Knowledge Translation and Education Strategies, and the Use of Microdata Tagging for Search Engine Optimization

The results of this study demonstrate that Google Trends is an effective way to analyze data surrounding public interest of web-based information related to ASD over time and to observe trends in search queries. ASD advocacy organizations who aim to provide up-to-date and topical web-based information about ASD can use such data to monitor public web-based queries about ASD and can use this information to help guide web-based education initiatives. For example, in circumstances such as in 2017, when web searches about fidget spinners and ASD were trending, ASD organizations that provide informational content on their websites could have used such infoveillance data to identify the rise in public queries and guide content on their websites about this topic in order to provide accurate, up-to-date, and evidence-based information on this topic.

ASD and health or pediatric organization webmasters may use the data from this research and Google Trends analyses to adopt more sophisticated website search engine optimization techniques, such as microdata tagging, for helping guide web searches to land on evidence-based information and recommendations. Microdata tagging helps to tell search engines what the components of a webpage are, which can then be highlighted by search engines in web-based search engine queries. For example, ASD and vaccines are highly searched, whereas ASD and genetics are not commonly searched, but they represent important information when discussing the etiology of ASD. Microdata tagging can be used to guide searches about ASD and vaccines to content with evidence-based information about what is known about the etiology of ASD.

Limitations

This study has some limitations that deserve comment. First, Google Trends normalizes data that are represented in a relative scaled score ranging from 0 to 100; however, the total search volume cannot be quantified. Second, these analyses are only able to represent web users and therefore exclude the ability to analyze information from those who do not have internet access, which may bias the results by excluding groups with limited internet access (eg, those with restricted resources and the elderly). Further, it does not capture web-based searches on other search engines; thus, it is not exhaustive. In addition, there are various ways in which this study could have been conducted, and while the search terms analyzed are comprehensive, they are not exhaustive. It should also be mentioned that autism could have been analyzed as either a search term or a topic and the data could have been analyzed specifying the health category

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

or no specified category. Finally, there were no regional differences in web search patterns observed and therefore, maps of regional web searches were not presented in this study. Despite these aforementioned limitations, our results revealed public web-based search patterns in the field of ASD based on large population-based data collection, revealing information over 15 years that is easily accessible and reproducible, with a broad scope.

Conclusions

Using Google Trends is an effective strategy for analyzing infodemiological trends in large-scale web search data about ASD. Analyses of web-based searches related to the causes and treatments of ASD showed variation over the past 15 years. These data provide valuable information that can be used to inform clinicians, and ASD and pediatric health organizations to help guide clinical discussions, web-based content, and education and knowledge translation strategies in order to provide up-to-date and evidence-based information and improve public, parent/caregiver, and patient awareness about ASD.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Hesse BW, Moser RP, Rutten LJ. Surveys of physicians and electronic health information. N Engl J Med 2010 Mar 04;362(9):859-860. [doi: 10.1056/nejmc0909595]
- 2. Internet/Broadband Fact Sheet. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/</u> internet-broadband/#internet-use-over-time [accessed 2020-05-22]
- 3. Majority of Adults Look Online for Health Information. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/</u> 2013/02/01/majority-of-adults-look-online-for-health-information/ [accessed 2020-05-22]
- 4. Davidson M. Vaccination as a cause of autism—myths and controversies. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2017 Dec;19(4):403-407. [doi: 10.31887/dcns.2017.19.4/mdavidson]
- John RP, Knott FJ, Harvey KN. Myths about autism: An exploratory study using focus groups. Autism 2018 Oct;22(7):845-854. [doi: 10.1177/1362361317714990] [Medline: 28778133]
- 6. Mavragani A, Ochoa G. Google Trends in infodemiology and infoveillance: Methodology framework. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2019 May 29;5(2):e13439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13439] [Medline: 31144671]
- Eysenbach G. Infodemiology and infoveillance: framework for an emerging set of public health informatics methods to analyze search, communication and publication behavior on the Internet. J Med Internet Res 2009 Mar 27;11(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1157] [Medline: 19329408]
- 8. Carneiro HA, Mylonakis E. Google trends: a web-based tool for real-time surveillance of disease outbreaks. Clin Infect Dis 2009 Nov 15;49(10):1557-1564. [doi: 10.1086/630200] [Medline: 19845471]
- Vasconcellos-Silva PR, Carvalho DB, Trajano V, de La Rocque LR, Sawada AC, Juvanhol LL. Using Google Trends data to study public interest in breast cancer screening in Brazil: Why not a pink February? JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Apr 06;3(2):e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.7015] [Medline: 28385679]
- Arora VS, Stuckler D, McKee M. Tracking search engine queries for suicide in the United Kingdom, 2004-2013. Public Health 2016 Aug;137:147-153. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.puhe.2015.10.015</u>] [Medline: <u>26976489</u>]
- 11. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; 2013.
- 12. Tick B, Bolton P, Happé F, Rutter M, Rijsdijk F. Heritability of autism spectrum disorders: a meta-analysis of twin studies. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2016 May;57(5):585-595 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12499] [Medline: 26709141]
- 13. Rutter M. Changing concepts and findings on autism. J Autism Dev Disord 2013 Aug 29;43(8):1749-1757. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1713-7] [Medline: 23359217]
- Maenner MJ, Shaw KA, Baio J, EdS1, Washington A, Patrick M, PhD-7, et al. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years - Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2016. MMWR Surveill Summ 2020 Mar 26;69(4):1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6904a1] [Medline: 32214087]
- 15. Sanchack KE, Thomas CA. Autism spectrum disorder: Primary care principles. Am Fam Physician 2016 Dec 15;94(12):972-979 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28075089]
- 16. Amaral DG. Examining the Causes of Autism. Cerebrum 2017 Jan 01;2017 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28698772]
- Levy SE, Hyman SL. Novel treatments for autistic spectrum disorders. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 2005 Apr;11(2):131-142. [doi: <u>10.1002/mrdd.20062</u>] [Medline: <u>15977319</u>]
- Soreni N, Cameron DH, Streiner DL, Rowa K, McCabe RE. Seasonality patterns of internet searches on mental health: Exploratory infodemiology study. JMIR Ment Health 2019 Apr 24;6(4):e12974 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12974] [Medline: 31017582]

- DeVilbiss EA, Lee B. Brief report: trends in US National autism awareness from 2004 to 2014: the impact of national autism awareness month. J Autism Dev Disord 2014 Jun 11;44(12):3271-3273. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10803-014-2160-4</u>] [Medline: <u>24915931</u>]
- 20. Kim HS, Monte AA. Colorado cannabis legalization and its effect on emergency care. Ann Emerg Med 2016 Jul;68(1):71-75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2016.01.004] [Medline: 26921970]
- Taylor LE, Swerdfeger AL, Eslick GD. Vaccines are not associated with autism: an evidence-based meta-analysis of case-control and cohort studies. Vaccine 2014 Jun 17;32(29):3623-3629. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.04.085</u>] [Medline: <u>24814559</u>]
- 22. Autism and Vaccines. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concerns/</u> <u>autism.html</u> [accessed 2020-05-22]
- 23. McCarthy J. Louder Than Words: A Mother's Journey in Healing Autism. New York, NY: Penguin Publishing Group; 2007.
- 24. McCarthy J, Kartzinel J. Healing and Preventing Autism: A Complete Guide. New York, NY: Penguin Publishing Group; 2009.
- 25. Dyer O. Wakefield admits fabricating events when he took children's blood samples. BMJ 2008 Apr 17;336(7649):850.1-85850. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39553.506597.db]
- 26. Wakefield AJ, Murch S, Anthony A, Linnell J, Casson D, Malik M, et al. RETRACTED: Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. The Lancet 1998 Feb;351(9103):637-641. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(97)11096-0]
- 27. Eggertson L. Lancet retracts 12-year-old article linking autism to MMR vaccines. CMAJ 2010 Mar 09;182(4):E199-E200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.109-3179] [Medline: 20142376]
- 28. Flaherty DK. The vaccine-autism connection: A public health crisis caused by unethical medical practices and fraudulent science. Ann Pharmacother 2011 Sep 13;45(10):1302-1304. [doi: 10.1345/aph.1q318]
- Nath D. Complementary and alternative medicine in the school-age child with autism. J Pediatr Health Care 2017 May;31(3):393-397. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedhc.2016.12.001</u>] [Medline: <u>28017488</u>]
- 30. Masri AT, Khatib F, Al Qudah A, Nafi O, Almomani M, Bashtawi M, et al. Parental use of conventional and complementary therapy for autism in Jordan. Complement Ther Med 2020 Jan;48:102275. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ctim.2019.102275</u>] [Medline: <u>31987222</u>]
- 31. Understanding Thimerosal, Mercury, and Vaccine Safety. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/patient-ed/conversations/downloads/vacsafe-thimerosal-color-office.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-11-06]
- 32. Barile J, Kuperminc GP, Weintraub E, Mink J, Thompson W. Thimerosal exposure in early life and neuropsychological outcomes 7-10 years later. J Pediatr Psychol 2012;37(1):106-118. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsr048</u>] [Medline: <u>21785120</u>]
- Price CS, Thompson WW, Goodson B, Weintraub ES, Croen LA, Hinrichsen VL, et al. Prenatal and infant exposure to thimerosal from vaccines and immunoglobulins and risk of autism. Pediatrics 2010 Oct;126(4):656-664. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-0309] [Medline: 20837594]
- 34. Thompson WW, Price C, Goodson B, Shay DK, Benson P, Hinrichsen VL, et al. Early thimerosal exposure and neuropsychological outcomes at 7 to 10 years. N Engl J Med 2007 Sep 27;357(13):1281-1292. [doi: 10.1056/nejmoa071434]
- Tozzi AE, Bisiacchi P, Tarantino V, De Mei B, D'Elia L, Chiarotti F, et al. Neuropsychological performance 10 years after immunization in infancy with thimerosal-containing vaccines. Pediatrics 2009 Feb 26;123(2):475-482. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-0795] [Medline: 19171612]
- 36. DeStefano F. Thimerosal-containing vaccines: evidence versus public apprehension. Expert Opin Drug Saf 2009 Jan 11;8(1):1-4. [doi: 10.1517/14740330802489748] [Medline: 19236212]
- 37. McMahon AW, Iskander JK, Haber P, Braun MM, Ball R. Inactivated influenza vaccine (IIV) in children <2 years of age: examination of selected adverse events reported to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS) after thimerosal-free or thimerosal-containing vaccine. Science Direct 2008 Jan 17;26(3):427-429. [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.10.071] [Medline: 18093701]
- Verstraeten T, Davis RL, DeStefano F, Lieu TA, Rhodes PH, Black SB, et al. Safety of thimerosal-containing vaccines: A two-phased study of computerized health maintenance organization databases. Pediatrics 2003 Nov;112(5):1039-1048. [Medline: <u>14595043</u>]
- Stehr-Green P, Tull P, Stellfeld M, Mortenson PB, Simpson D. Autism and thimerosal-containing vaccines. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2003 Aug;25(2):101-106. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0749-3797(03)00113-2</u>]
- 40. Kostiukow A, Poniewierski P, Daroszewski P, Samborski W. Gastrointestinal disorders in children with autism spectrum disorder. Pol Merkur Lekarski 2020 Feb 26;48(283):69-72. [Medline: <u>32218411</u>]
- 41. Kang DW, Adams JB, Gregory AC, Borody T, Chittick L, Fasano A, et al. Microbiota transfer therapy alters gut ecosystem and improves gastrointestinal and autism symptoms: An open-label study. Microbiome 2017 Jan 23;5(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40168-016-0225-7] [Medline: 28122648]
- 42. Pulikkan J, Mazumder A, Grace T. Role of the gut microbiome in autism spectrum disorders. Adv Exp Med Biol 2019;1118:253-269. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-05542-4 13] [Medline: 30747427]

- Sharon G, Cruz NJ, Kang DW, Gandal MJ, Wang B, Kim YM, et al. Human gut microbiota from autism spectrum disorder promote behavioral symptoms in mice. Cell 2019 May 30;177(6):1600-1618.e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2019.05.004] [Medline: 31150625]
- Iglesias-Vázquez L, Van Ginkel Riba G, Arija V, Canals J. Composition of gut microbiota in children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrients 2020 Mar 17;12(3):792 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu12030792] [Medline: 32192218]
- 45. Doenyas C. Gut microbiota, inflammation, and probiotics on neural development in autism spectrum disorder. Neuroscience 2018 Mar 15;374:271-286. [doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.01.060] [Medline: 29427656]
- Navarro F, Liu Y, Rhoads JM. Can probiotics benefit children with autism spectrum disorders? World J Gastroenterol 2016 Dec 14;22(46):10093-10102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i46.10093] [Medline: 28028357]
- 47. Bascuñán KA, Vespa MC, Araya M. Celiac disease: understanding the gluten-free diet. Eur J Nutr 2017 Mar 22;56(2):449-459. [doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1238-5] [Medline: 27334430]
- 48. Buie T. The relationship of autism and gluten. Clin Ther 2013 May;35(5):578-583. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.04.011</u>] [Medline: <u>23688532</u>]
- 49. Elder JH, Shankar M, Shuster J, Theriaque D, Burns S, Sherrill L. The gluten-free, casein-free diet in autism: results of a preliminary double blind clinical trial. J Autism Dev Disord 2006 Apr 23;36(3):413-420. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0079-0] [Medline: 16555138]
- Aran A, Cassuto H, Lubotzky A, Wattad N, Hazan E. Brief report: Cannabidiol-rich cannabis in children with autism spectrum disorder and severe behavioral problems-a retrospective feasibility study. J Autism Dev Disord 2019 Mar 31;49(3):1284-1288. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-018-3808-2] [Medline: 30382443]
- Fernández-Ruiz J, Galve-Roperh I, Sagredo O, Guzmán M. Possible therapeutic applications of cannabis in the neuropsychopharmacology field. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2020 Jul;36:217-234. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.euroneuro.2020.01.013</u>] [Medline: <u>32057592</u>]
- 52. Autism Speaks . Identifying Next Steps in Research on Cannabis and Autism: Autism Speaks Consensus Conference. 2018 Nov 29-30. URL: <u>https://www.autismspeaks.org/sites/default/files/</u> Cannabis%20Research%20Consensus%20Conference%20%283%29.pdf
- 53. Siniscalco D, Bradstreet JJ, Sych N, Antonucci N. Perspectives on the use of stem cells for autism treatment. Stem Cells Int 2013;2013:262438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/262438] [Medline: 24222772]
- Siniscalco D, Sapone A, Cirillo A, Giordano C, Maione S, Antonucci N. Autism spectrum disorders: is mesenchymal stem cell personalized therapy the future? J Biomed Biotechnol 2012;2012:480289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2012/480289] [Medline: 22496609]
- 55. Siniscalco D, Kannan S, Semprún-Hernández N, Eshraghi AA, Brigida AL, Antonucci N. Stem cell therapy in autism: recent insights. SCCAA 2018 Oct 23;Volume 11:55-67. [doi: 10.2147/sccaa.s155410]
- 56. Plewman R. In it to spin it: Fidget Spinners now account for 17 percent of all daily toy sales. The Brief Blog; Rakuten Intelligence. 2019 Jun 26. URL: <u>http://www.rakutenintelligence.com/blog/2017/</u> <u>spin-fidget-spinners-now-account-17-percent-daily-toy-sales</u>
- 57. Schecter RA, Shah J, Fruitman K, Milanaik RL. Fidget spinners: Purported benefits, adverse effects and accepted alternatives.. Current Opinion in Pediatrics 2017 Oct;29(5):616-618. [doi: <u>10.1097/mop.0000000000523</u>]

Abbreviations

ABA: applied behavior analysis **ASD:** autism spectrum disorder **MMR:** measles, mumps, and rubella

Edited by G Eysenbach, S Badawy; submitted 01.06.20; peer-reviewed by M Zubairi, A Mavragani; comments to author 13.06.20; revised version received 29.08.20; accepted 07.09.20; published 07.12.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Saposnik FE, Huber JF Trends in Web Searches About the Causes and Treatments of Autism Over the Past 15 Years: Exploratory Infodemiology Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e20913 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20913/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/20913</u> PMID:<u>33284128</u>



©Florencia E Saposnik, Joelene F Huber. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 07.12.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Advanced Health Information Technologies to Engage Parents, Clinicians, and Community Nutritionists in Coordinating Responsive Parenting Care: Descriptive Case Series of the Women, Infants, and Children Enhancements to Early Healthy Lifestyles for Baby (WEE Baby) Care Randomized Controlled Trial

Samantha MR Kling^{1,2,3,4}, PhD, RD; Holly A Harris^{1,5}, PhD; Michele Marini¹, MS; Adam Cook⁴, BA; Lindsey B Hess¹, MPH; Shawnee Lutcher⁴, BS; Jacob Mowery⁴, BA; Scott Bell⁶, BS; Sandra Hassink⁷, MD, MS, FAAP; Shannon B Hayward⁸, MS; Greg Johnson⁶, BS; Jennifer Franceschelli Hosterman⁴, DO; Ian M Paul^{9,10}, MD; Christopher Seiler⁴, MBA; Shirley Sword⁶, MS, RD; Jennifer S Savage^{1,3}, PhD; Lisa Bailey-Davis^{4,11}, DEd, RD

¹Center for Childhood Obesity Research, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, United States

²Evaluation Sciences Unit, Division of Primary Care and Population Health, Department of Medicine, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

³Department of Nutritional Sciences, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, United States

⁴Geisinger Obesity Institute, Geisinger, Danville, PA, United States

⁵Erasmus Medical Center, Generation R Study, University Medical Center Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands

⁶Bureau of Women, Infants, and Children, Pennsylvania Department of Health, Harrisburg, PA, United States

⁷Institute for Healthy Childhood Weight, American Academy of Pediatrics, Wilmington, DE, United States

⁸Maternal and Family Health Services, Wilkes-Barre, PA, United States

¹⁰Department of Public Health Sciences, Penn State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Samantha MR Kling, PhD, RD Evaluation Sciences Unit, Division of Primary Care and Population Health Department of Medicine, School of Medicine Stanford University 1265 Welch Rd x216 Stanford, CA, 94305 United States Phone: 1 605 726 3392 Email: <u>skling@stanford.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Socioeconomically disadvantaged newborns receive care from primary care providers (PCPs) and Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) nutritionists. However, care is not coordinated between these settings, which can result in conflicting messages. Stakeholders support an integrated approach that coordinates services between settings with care tailored to patient-centered needs.

Objective: This analysis describes the usability of advanced health information technologies aiming to engage parents in self-reporting parenting practices, integrate data into electronic health records to inform and facilitate documentation of provided responsive parenting (RP) care, and share data between settings to create opportunities to coordinate care between PCPs and WIC nutritionists.

Methods: Parents and newborns (dyads) who were eligible for WIC care and received pediatric care in a single health system were recruited and randomized to a RP intervention or control group. For the 6-month intervention, electronic systems were

⁹Department of Pediatrics, Penn State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States

¹¹Department of Population Health Sciences, Geisinger, Danville, PA, United States

created to facilitate documentation, data sharing, and coordination of provided RP care. Prior to PCP visits, parents were prompted to respond to the Early Healthy Lifestyles (EHL) self-assessment tool to capture current RP practices. Responses were integrated into the electronic health record and shared with WIC. Documentation of RP care and an 80-character, free-text comment were shared between WIC and PCPs. A care coordination opportunity existed when the dyad attended a WIC visit and these data were available from the PCP, and vice versa. Care coordination was demonstrated when WIC or PCPs interacted with data and documented RP care provided at the visit.

Results: Dyads (N=131) attended 459 PCP (3.5, SD 1.0 per dyad) and 296 WIC (2.3, SD 1.0 per dyad) visits. Parents completed the EHL tool prior to 53.2% (244/459) of PCP visits (1.9, SD 1.2 per dyad), PCPs documented provided RP care at 35.3% (162/459) of visits, and data were shared with WIC following 100% (459/459) of PCP visits. A WIC visit followed a PCP visit 50.3% (231/459) of the time; thus, there were 1.8 (SD 0.8 per dyad) PCP to WIC care coordination opportunities. WIC coordinated care by documenting RP care at 66.7% (154/231) of opportunities (1.2, SD 0.9 per dyad). WIC visits were followed by a PCP visit 58.9% (116/197) of the time; thus, there were 0.9 (SD 0.8 per dyad) WIC to PCP care coordination opportunities. PCPs coordinated care by documenting RP care at 44.0% (51/116) of opportunities (0.4, SD 0.6 per dyad).

Conclusions: Results support the usability of advanced health information technology strategies to collect patient-reported data and share these data between multiple providers. Although PCPs and WIC shared data, WIC nutritionists were more likely to use data and document RP care to coordinate care than PCPs. Variability in timing, sequence, and frequency of visits underscores the need for flexibility in pragmatic studies.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03482908; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03482908

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1186/s12887-018-1263-z

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e22121) doi:10.2196/22121

KEYWORDS

early obesity prevention; responsive parenting; health information technology; coordination of care; clinical care; pragmatic intervention; data sharing

Introduction

Most lower-income children in the United States receive frequent preventive care, with up to 7 visits in the first 6 months after birth from primary care providers (PCPs) and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) [1-3]. Fragmentation across care settings can lead to inconsistent prevention messages and caregiver confusion [4]. A solution to coordinate care among parents, clinicians, and community health professionals is needed [4]. Stakeholders are aligned in their support of a solution that both personalizes messaging to meet parents' time-sensitive needs on infant development and integrates relevant data to coordinate care across settings and break down silos [4]. The perceived benefits of personalization, integration, and care coordination, according to stakeholders, include improved child health outcomes and reduced duplication of efforts [4].

From a preventive health model perspective, the need to collect and share data among patients and clinical and community health professionals aligns with a series of reports [5-9] calling for systems approaches through the integration and coordination of care across service settings [9,10]. Integrated and coordinated care approaches are commonly applied within the clinical sector [11-13] (eg, general physicians and specialists), but given the capabilities and demonstrated benefits of advanced health information technologies (HITs) [12,13], the contemporary calls aim to extend these approaches to public health, community settings, and patients. In particular, the Chronic Care Model and the Culture of Health Action Framework emphasize connectivity and integration of public health, clinical services, and social services to advance quality, health outcomes, and equity, specifically for vulnerable populations [14,15].

The integrated and coordinated care model described in this paper applied advanced HIT strategies and represents a novel cross-sector care delivery model to address patient-centered care [11,16]. As little is known about the feasibility of cross-sector delivery models, this study addresses a gap by applying and evaluating the usability of advanced HIT capabilities to engage patients and clinical and community providers in a broader patient-centered, integrated, and coordinated care process. The intervention arm of the WIC Enhancements to Early Healthy Lifestyles for Baby (WEE Baby) Care Study aimed to integrate and coordinate care on responsive parenting (RP) guidance related to feeding, sleep, and play. The intervention was based on an evidence-based program that included messages that mothers believe should be a part of pediatric or WIC care [17-19]. The objective of this paper is to demonstrate the usability of advanced HIT strategies designed to engage parents in reporting RP practices, integrate data into electronic records to inform and facilitate documentation of provided RP care, and share data between settings to facilitate coordination of care between PCPs and WIC. The findings are intended to inform and advance novel cross-sector delivery models conceptualized to improve patient-centered care and health outcomes. While health outcomes are beyond the scope of this paper, these findings will inform the feasibility of models that align organizational resources and integrate activities for collective impact on population health objectives.



Methods

Study Design

The integrated and care coordination delivery model was constructed for the WEE Baby Care Study, which has been described elsewhere [20]. Briefly, the WEE Baby Care Study was a pragmatic trial to modify maternal parenting practices, with the goal of preventing rapid infant weight gain and obesity. Mothers and their newborn infants were assigned to either a 6-month RP intervention group (n=131) that included advanced HIT strategies to integrate and coordinate care between pediatric PCPs and WIC nutritionists or a control group (n=157) receiving standard care [20]. This analysis is limited to the 131 mother-infant dyads who were enrolled in the intervention group in which advanced HIT strategies were applied to collect patient-reported data, use these data to inform patient-centered care, securely share data, and coordinate care between PCPs and WIC nutritionists.

Participants and Recruitment

From July 2016 to May 2018, mother-infant dyads were recruited and enrolled from northeastern Pennsylvania, an area characterized by the Health Services and Resources Administration as medically underserved, with shortages in health, dental, and mental health professionals [21]. Mother-infant dyads were either recruited in person in the labor and delivery unit or on the phone after the first well-child visit (WCV). Eligible dyads met the following inclusion criteria: full-term (\geq 37 weeks gestation) infant, singleton newborn, English-speaking mother between 18 and 55 years old, intention to receive well-child care at a participating pediatric clinic, and eligibility to be enrolled in or current enrollment in WIC. Participants provided written informed consent. All study procedures were approved by the institutional review boards of The Pennsylvania State University and Geisinger.

Intervention and Advanced HIT Strategies

Mother-infant dyads randomized into the intervention group completed the Early Healthy Lifestyles (EHL) risk assessment tool prior to each WCV. The study team developed the EHL risk assessment tool to facilitate mothers' self-assessments of their RP practices related to feeding, soothing, and playing with the infant, as well as the infant's sleep behaviors. The parent was prompted by electronic messaging to complete the EHL in the patient portal prior to the WCV. The mother's proxy access to the child's portal was ensured at study enrollment. If the parent did not complete the tool, clinic staff encouraged the parent to complete the EHL in the waiting room on a tablet. Parent responses were then instantly integrated into the infant's electronic health record (EHR) (Epic Systems).

Within the WCV progress note, PCPs could view and use the EHL data to inform and document patient-centered RP care. Prior to the start of the intervention, participating PCPs were trained to evaluate the EHL data, deliver tailored RP messages that aligned with parent learning needs at WCVs, and document provided RP care in the study-specific table in the WVC progress note, herein referred to as the PCP system. Age-appropriate, preventive messages were informed by the

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22121/
```

Intervention Nurses Start Infants Growing Healthy Trajectories (INSIGHT) study and American Academy of Pediatrics Healthy Active Living for Families curriculum [17,22,23]. PCPs used progress note functions to facilitate documentation of RP care provided during the WCV. Additionally, PCPs could add an 80-character, free-text comment to send to the WIC nutritionist, perhaps to direct attention to a high-priority issue. No action by the PCP was required to initiate data sharing. Development of the PCP system was guided, approved, and integrated into the EHR by Geisinger's Health Information Technology Team.

Advanced HIT strategies were used to automate and securely share data of interest (Textbox 1) from the PCP to WIC, including parent EHL responses, PCP documentation of RP care, and child physical assessment. In turn, these data were automatically integrated and displayed in a study-specific system (herein referred to as the WIC system) to inform patient-centered counseling as coordinated care in the community setting. The WIC system was separate from WIC's standard electronic participant management system-QuickWIC, a HTML system developed in the late 1990s-and could be used in parallel. Separate log-ins were required for each system. WIC nutritionists documented RP care in QuickWIC and comments in the WIC system. The WIC system extracted education codes from QuickWIC. Following the visit with the trained WIC nutritionist, encounter data of interest (Textbox 1) were extracted from the WIC system and securely shared from WIC to the PCP, thus providing a communication feedback loop to coordinate care at subsequent visits. Uniquely, the WIC system required the nutritionist to sign off on the record after the visit was completed to initiate data sharing. WIC nutritionists received training on this process, the use of EHL data, and the delivery of RP care messages prior to the start of the intervention. A booster training session was provided in the 14th month of the intervention. Data were exchanged between the PCP system and the WIC system through a secure file transport portal managed by the clinical care setting study team, and data were refreshed on weekdays. This process continued for a 6-month period to allow multiple opportunities for care coordination using shared data across clinic and community settings. Figure 1 provides an overview of the flow for patient-reported data collection, integration, sharing, and care coordination. An application developer at the Pennsylvania Department of Health developed and implemented the WIC system as an external cloud system as opposed to an integrated system, as statewide plans were underway to replace the QuickWIC system.

Attendance of WCVs and WIC visits was not mandatory or incentivized in this pragmatic study but was necessary for data of interest to be collected. The typical WCV schedule for infants within the health system includes visits at 3 to 5 days (newborn), 1 month, 2 months, 4 months, and 6 months of age. The study team expected that the intervention participants would attend at least 4 WCVs. To receive WIC benefits, infants and their mothers enrolled in WIC need to have a visit every 3 months; thus, the study team expected intervention participants would attend at least 2 WIC visits. In sum, this would allow multiple opportunities for care coordination between PCPs and WIC.

XSL•FO RenderX

Textbox 1. Existing and study-specific systems with associated data elements shared by pediatric primary care providers from well-child visits and the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) nutritionists from appointments to inform care coordination. Italics indicate essential data elements for data set used for coding of data sharing, care coordination opportunity, and care coordination. Infant date of birth and enrollment date were extracted from the research team's records.

Data from pediatric clinics

Existing electronic health record:

- Date of well-child visit
- Weight and length
- Immunizations
- Demographics
- Hemoglobin and hematocrit
- Encounter and problem list
- Diagnoses
- Breastfeeding status
- Formula use

Study-specific primary care provider system integrated into electronic health record:

- Parent completion of Early Healthy Lifestyles risk assessment
- Date that Early Healthy Lifestyles risk assessment was completed by parent
- Primary care provider documentation of Early Healthy Lifestyles preventive counseling
- Primary care provider comment to WIC nutritionist

Data from WIC clinics

Existing QuickWIC system:

- Date of WIC visit
- Date that nutritionist documented responsive parenting preventive care
- Nutritionist documentation of responsive parenting preventive care. The WIC nutritionist documented responsive parenting preventive care with standard WIC topic codes, as well as codes developed for the study.

Study-specific WIC system:

- Nutritionist comment to primary care provider
- Nutritionist sign-off on record
- Date of nutritionist sign-off



Figure 1. WEE Baby Care Study data flow for collection from parents, use by providers, and sharing for care coordination between clinic and community settings. EHL: Early Healthy Lifestyles; PCP: primary care provider; RP: responsive parenting; WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.



Outcome Definitions

The outcomes of interest included the use of the advanced HIT strategies and the feasibility of data sharing and care coordination occurring in 2 directions, from PCPs to WIC and from WIC to PCPs. Data sharing is the electronic and systematic push of study-related data through the electronic data warehouse (distinct from the EHR and PCP system) managed by the research team in the clinical setting. Data sharing does not require the PCP or WIC nutritionist in the receiving setting to interact with the data of interest (Textbox 1).

A care coordination opportunity is nested within data sharing and is an opportunity for a PCP or WIC nutritionist to view data for the most recent visit from the sending setting. Due to the secure and study staff–dependent data sharing processes, the receiving provider was able to view the shared data within 2 business days if sent by the PCP and 1 business day if sent by the WIC nutritionist. Eligible WCVs occurred after the dyad was enrolled into the study and continued up to 6 months of the infant's age, at which time the clinical study team turned off the PCP system. Eligible WIC visits occurred after the dyad was enrolled in the study but before disabling the PCP system.

Care coordination is nested within a care coordination opportunity and requires a PCP or WIC nutritionist in the receiving setting to be able to access the sent data and document the provided RP care. The study team could not directly verify that the receiving setting interacted with the sent data, as

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22121/
```

RenderX

accessing or viewing the data was not captured with a discrete data point; thus, the documentation of RP care serves as proxy evidence that the receiving provider used the shared data to coordinate care. Preventive RP care included educational messages that addressed parent learning needs as self-assessed by parents using the EHL tool. Preventive RP care was documented by PCPs and WIC nutritionists by selecting RP topics, writing a free-text comment, or both.

Coding of Outcomes

The coding process was operationally detailed in a study team-developed coding manual that was extensively reviewed multiple times by 5 study team members (SMRK, HAH, MM, JSS, and LBD) and applied to a comprehensive, single data set. The data set included data from the PCP system and the WIC system along with other data elements listed in Textbox 1 to identify data sharing, care coordination opportunities, and care coordination outcomes. Two postdoctoral-level study team members (SMRK and HAH) coded the data independently, discrepancies were discussed and resolved using the coding manual, and both team members recoded the discrepant observations. After the first round of coding, 86% of coded observations agreed between the two coders, demonstrating adequate understanding of the coding process. This process continued until the 2 sets of coded data completely matched.

PCP to WIC data sharing, care coordination opportunities, and care coordination events were identified. The criteria for these outcomes are depicted in Figure 2. PCP to WIC data sharing

required an eligible WCV to have at least one of the following data points documented: (1) parent-completed EHL, (2) documentation of RP care provided by the PCP, (3) PCP comment to WIC, (4) immunization records, or (5) weight and length. After the identified PCP to WIC data sharing occurrence, a PCP to WIC care coordination opportunity occurred when the WCV was followed by an eligible WIC visit that occurred two

or more business days after the WCV to allow ample time for the shared data to be available in the WIC system for the nutritionist. Subsequently, a PCP to WIC care coordination event was identified when the WIC nutritionist documented provided RP care or commented to the PCP and signed off on the record.

Figure 2. Components of data sharing, care coordination opportunities, and care coordination from pediatric PCPs to WIC nutritionists. EHL: Early Healthy Lifestyles; PCP: primary care provider; RP: responsive parenting; WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.



WIC to PCP data sharing, care coordination opportunities, and care coordination events were identified. As shown in Figure 3, WIC to PCP data sharing occurred when an eligible WIC visit had (1) documentation of RP care provided by the nutritionist or (2) a nutritionist comment or comments to the PCP, in addition to (3) a nutritionist sign-off on the same day or after the WIC visit. After the identified WIC to PCP data sharing occurrence, a WIC to PCP care coordination opportunity was identified when the WIC sign-off date was directly followed by a WCV to allow for shared data to be available in the PCP system for the PCP. Subsequently, a WIC to PCP care coordination event was identified when the PCP documented EHL-related preventive counseling or commented to WIC on the same day as the WCV.

Figure 3. Components of data sharing, care coordination opportunities, and care coordination from WIC nutritionists to pediatric PCPs. PCP: primary care provider; RP: responsive parenting; WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.



Statistical Analysis

All data were processed and analyzed using SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc). The SAS functions "Proc Freq" and "Proc Means" were used to describe the sample and determine the total number and mean per dyad (with standard deviation) of variables of interest to describe the usability of the advanced HIT technologies and feasibility of data sharing and care coordination using the coded variables described above.

Results

Participants

As shown in Table 1, 49.6% (65/131) of infants were male and 67.7% (88/131) were White. Mothers were aged 27.7 (SD 5.7) years at the time of infant delivery, and 26.0% (34/131) were primiparous. Infants were enrolled at 0.34 (SD 0.43) months of age. Most mothers were White, single, had an income less than \$50,000, and had at least a high school diploma.



Table 1. Demographic characteristics of mothers and infants who were assigned to a parenting intervention (N=131) that used advanced health information technology strategies to integrate and coordinate care in the WEE Baby Care Study.

Demographic characteristic	Responsive parenting intervention mother-infant dyads (N=131)
Infant	
Male, n (%)	65 (49.6)
Gestational age (weeks), mean (SD)	39.7 (1.1)
Birth weight (kg), mean (SD)	3.47 (0.43)
Birth length (cm), mean (SD)	49.2 (2.3)
Age at enrollment (months), mean (SD)	0.34 (0.43)
Infant race, n (%)	
Black	22 (16.9)
White	88 (67.7)
American Indian or Alaskan Native	0 (0.0)
Asian	1 (0.8)
Other	19 (14.6)
Mother	
Age at infant birth (years), mean (SD)	27.7 (5.7)
Diabetes during pregnancy, n (%)	20 (16.1)
Smoked during pregnancy, n (%)	26 (21.0)
Hispanic, n (%)	26 (21.1)
Primiparous, n (%)	34 (26.0)
Marital status, n (%)	
Married	25 (20.2)
Not married, living with partner	34 (27.4)
Single	57 (46.0)
Divorced or separated	6 (4.8)
Widowed	0 (0.0)
Other	2 (1.6)
Annual household income (US \$), n (%)	
<10,000	28 (22.6)
10,000-24,999	52 (41.9)
25,000-49,999	30 (24.2)
50,000-74,999	3 (2.4)
Do not know	8 (6.5)
Refuse to answer	3 (2.4)
Education, n (%)	
Some high school or less	13 (10.5)
High school graduate	60 (48.4)
Some college	41 (33.1)
College graduate	9 (7.3)
Graduate degree or greater	1 (0.8)

Use of Advanced HIT Strategies

The 131 intervention mother-infant dyads attended 459 eligible WCVs and 296 eligible WIC visits throughout the observation

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22121/

XSL•FO RenderX period; thus, participants attended over 3 (mean 3.5, SD 1.03) WCVs per dyad on average and over 2 (mean 2.26, SD 0.97) WIC visits per dyad on average (Table 2). Of the expected 4

WCVs and 2 WIC visits per dyad to be experienced in the observation period, 45.8% (60/131) of dyads attended 4 or more WCVs and 78.6% (103/131) attended 2 or more WIC visits.

Mothers completed the EHL risk assessment 262 times (mean 2.0, SD 1.23) (Table 3). Of the expected EHL completions prior to a WCV, 10.7% (14/131) of dyads completed 4 or more EHL risk assessments, but 16.0% (21/131) did not complete a single EHL assessment.

PCPs used the PCP system to document RP care at least once (mean 1.37, SD 1.30) per participant but almost never wrote a comment to the nutritionist (mean 0.02, SD 0.15 comments per participant). Of the expected 4 or more WCVs, PCPs documented RP care for 6.9% (9/131) of dyads, but 35.1% (46/131) of participants did not have any RP care documented by the PCP. Anthropometric measures and immunization data were routinely available in the infants' EHR (Table 4).

Nutritionists documented RP care at least twice per participant (mean 2.21, SD 0.82) (Table 3). Nutritionist comments to PCPs were provided at least once per participant (mean 1.5, SD 0.96). Of the expected 2 or more WIC visits, nutritionists documented RP care for 81.6% (107/131) of dyads and comments for 46.5% (61/131) of dyads; 1.5% (2/131) and 14.5% (19/131) of dyads did not any have documentation of RP care or a nutritionist comment to the PCP, respectively. Nutritionists used the WIC system to sign off on a single record per participant (mean 1.64, SD 1.03). Of the expected 2 or more WIC visits, slightly over half of dyads (71/131, 54.1%) had a sign-off from the nutritionist in the WIC system, but 32.8% (43/131) and 13.0% (17/131) of participants only had 1 or no sign-offs, respectively, which prevented WIC to PCP data sharing and data coordination opportunities.



Table 2. Total number and average per participant of data sharing, care coordination opportunities, and care coordination events between clinic and community settings for 131 mother-infant dyads in the WEE Baby Care Study.

	5				
Event	Totals for intervention sample (N=131)	Descriptive statistics for intervention participants			
	Events, n (%)	Mean (SD)	Range		
Clinic WCV ^{a,b}	459	3.50 (1.03)	1-7		
Community WIC ^{c,d} visits	296	2.26 (0.97)	0-5		
PCP to WIC data sharing and care coordination					
PCP to WIC data sharing	459	3.50 (1.03)	1-7		
with length and weight measures	457 (99.6)	3.49 (1.02)	1-7		
with immunization records	231 (50.3)	1.76 (0.70)	0-3		
with Early Healthy Lifestyles risk assessment	244 (53.2)	1.86 (1.15)	0-4		
with PCP ^e documentation of provided RP ^f care	162 (35.3)	1.24 (1.19)	0-4		
with PCP comment to WIC nutritionist	3 (0.7)	0.02 (0.15)	0-1		
PCP to WIC care coordination opportunity	231	1.76 (0.81)	0-3		
with length and weight measures	231 (100.0)	1.76 (0.81)	0-3		
with immunization records	137 (59.3)	1.05 (0.63)	0-3		
with Early Healthy Lifestyles risk assessment	134 (58.0)	1.02 (0.86)	0-3		
with PCP documentation of provided RP care	88 (38.1)	0.67 (0.72)	0-3		
with PCP comment to WIC nutritionist	1 (0.4)	0.008 (0.09)	0-1		
PCP to WIC care coordination	154	1.18 (0.85)	0-3		
with length and weight measures	154 (100.0)	1.18 (0.85)	0-3		
with immunization records	86 (55.8)	0.66 (0.85)	0-2		
with Early Healthy Lifestyles risk assessment	84 (54.5)	0.64 (0.76)	0-3		
with PCP documentation of provided RP care	57 (37.0)	0.44 (0.61)	0-3		
with PCP comment to WIC nutritionist	1 (0.6)	0.008 (0.09)	0-1		
with WIC documentation of provided RP care	153 (99.4)	1.15 (0.84)	0-3		
with WIC nutritionist comment to PCP	144 (93.5)	1.10 (0.81)	0-3		
WIC to PCP data sharing and care coordination					
WIC to PCP data sharing	197	1.50 (0.95)	0-4		
with WIC documentation of provided RP care	193 (98.0)	1.47 (0.91)	0-4		
with nutritionist comment to PCP	183 (92.9)	1.40 (0.91)	0-4		
WIC to PCP care coordination opportunity	116	0.89 (0.78)	0-3		
with WIC documentation of provided RP care	114 (98.3)	0.87 (0.78)	0-3		
with nutritionist comment to PCP	106 (91.4)	0.81 (0.73)	0-3		
WIC to PCP care coordination	51	0.39 (0.58)	0-2		
with WIC documentation of provided RP care	50 (98.0)	0.38 (0.56)	0-2		
with nutritionist comment to PCP	48 (94.1)	0.37 (0.56)	0-2		
with PCP documentation of provided RP care	51 (100.0)	0.39 (0.58)	0-2		
with PCP comment to WIC nutritionist	1 (2.0)	0.008 (0.09)	0-1		

^aWCV: well-child visit.

XSL•FO RenderX

^bOf the expected 4 WCVs to be attended by the dyad in the intervention period, 45.8% (60/131) of dyads attended 4 of more WCVs. ^cWIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^dOf the expected 2 WIC visits to be attended by the dyad in the intervention period, 77.9% (103/131) of dyads attended 2 or more WIC visits.

^ePCP: primary care provider.

^fRP: responsive parenting.

Table 3. Total number and average per individual participant of intervention components derived from clinical and community settings for 131 mother-infant dyads in the responsive parenting intervention arm of the WEE Baby Care Study.

Intervention component	Frequency for total sam- ple (N=131)	Descriptive statistics for intervention participants		
	Total Events, n	Mean (SD)	Range	
Clinical intervention components from WCV ^a				
Infant length and weight measures	665	5.08 (2.01)	1-15	
Immunization records	296	2.26 (0.83)	0-4	
Early Healthy Lifestyles (EHL) risk assessment	262	2.00 (1.23)	0-5	
PCP ^b documentation of provided RP ^c care	180	1.37 (1.30)	0-4	
PCP comment to WIC nutritionist	3	0.02 (0.15)	0-1	
Community intervention components from WIC ^d				
Nutritionist documentation of provided RP care	289	2.21 (0.82)	0-4	
Nutritionist comment to PCP	196	1.50 (0.96)	0-4	
Nutritionist signed off in WIC system ^e	215	1.64 (1.03)	0-6	

^aWCV: well-child visit.

^bPCP: primary care provider.

^cRP: responsive parenting.

^dWIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^eWIC system: study-specific system that allowed nutritionists to sign off on study activity to share data.

 Table 4. Frequency distributions of intervention components derived from clinical and community settings for 131 mother-infant dyads in the responsive parenting intervention arm of the WEE Baby Care Study.

Component	Number of times event occurred, n (%)							
	0 times	1 time	2 times	3 times	4 times	5 times	6 times	7+ times
Clinical intervention components from WCV ^a								
Length and weight measures	1 (0.7)	6 (4.6)	13 (9.9)	41 (31.3)	27 (20.6)	18 (13.7)	11 (8.4)	14 (10.7)
Immunization records	3 (2.3)	15 (11.5)	66 (50.4)	39 (29.8)	8 (6.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Early Healthy Lifestyles risk assessment	21 (16.0)	20 (15.3)	43 (32.8)	33 (25.2)	13 (9.9)	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
PCP ^b documentation of provided RP ^c care	46 (35.1)	30 (22.9)	24 (18.3)	22 (16.8)	9 (6.9)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
PCP comment to WIC nutritionist	128 (97.7)	3 (2.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Community intervention components from WIC ^d								
Nutritionist documentation of provided RP care	2 (1.5)	22 (16.8)	59 (45.0)	43 (32.8)	5 (3.8)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Nutritionist comment to PCP	19 (14.5)	51 (38.9)	39 (29.8)	21 (16.0)	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Nutritionist signed off in WIC system ^e	17 (13.0)	43 (32.8)	45 (34.4)	24 (18.3)	1 (0.7)	1 (0.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)

^aWCV: well-child visit.

^bPCP: primary care provider.

^cRP: responsive parenting.

^dWIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children.

^eWIC system: study-specific system that allowed nutritionists to sign off on study activity to share data.

Feasibility of Data Sharing and Care Coordination

PCP to WIC data sharing occurred for all 459 (100%) WCVs (Table 2). Almost all events (257/259, 99.6%) included the infant's length and weight, and half included immunization records (231/459, 50.3%) and parent responses to EHL assessment (244/459, 53.2%). One-third of PCP to WIC data sharing events (162/459, 35.3%) included documentation of PCP RP care; thus, one event per dyad had PCP documentation (mean 1.24, SD 1.19). Very few events (3/459, 0.7%) had a PCP comment to the WIC nutritionist. A WIC visit followed 231 of the 459 (50.3%) PCP to WIC data sharing events; thus, dyads averaged less than 2 (1.7, SD 0.81) PCP to WIC care coordination opportunities (Table 2). All (231/231, 100%) PCP to WIC care coordination opportunities included the infant's length and weight, slightly more than half included immunization records (137/231, 59.3%) and EHL responses (134/231, 58.0%), and about one-third (88/231, 38.1%) included PCP documentation of RP care.

PCP to WIC care coordination was evident in 154 of 231 (66.7%) of PCP to WIC care coordination opportunities; thus, dyads averaged at least one PCP to WIC care coordination event (1.18, SD 0.85) (Table 2). WIC nutritionists were able to view anthropometric measures at all care coordination events (154/154, 100%), immunization records at 55.8% (86/154) of events, parent EHL responses at 54.5% (84/154) of events, and PCP documentation of RP care at 37.0% (57/154) of care coordination events. Dyads, on average, had few events that included their EHL responses (mean 0.64, SD 0.76) and PCP documentation of RP care (mean 0.44, SD 0.61), thus limiting opportunities for nutritionists to use EHL data and PCP RP care to inform care and coordinate with PCPs. To coordinate care, however, the trained WIC nutritionists documented RP counseling (153/154, 99.4%) and commented (144/154, 93.5%) at nearly all events; therefore, on average, each dyad received EHL-related RP preventive counseling from a WIC nutritionist one time (1.15, SD 0.84). Of the 231 care coordination opportunities, the 77 missed opportunities were primarily due to a missing record sign-off, as WIC nutritionists consistently documented RP care.

Given the bidirectional flow of care and data, intervention components and outcomes were also evaluated from WIC to PCPs as events independent from PCP to WIC care coordination. Data sharing from WIC to PCPs occurred for 197 of 296 (66.6%) WIC visits (Table 2). Nearly all WIC visits included documented EHL-related preventive counseling (193/197, 98.0%) or comments to the PCP (183/197, 92.9%). A WCV followed 116 of the 197 (58.9%) WIC to PCP data sharing events; thus, dyads averaged just under 1 (0.89, SD 0.78) WIC to PCP care coordination opportunity. The majority of WIC to PCP care coordination opportunities included documentation of RP preventive counseling (114/166, 98.3%) and comments to the PCP (106/166, 91.4%). At 51 of 116 (44.0%) WIC to PCP care coordination opportunities, PCPs documented RP preventive counseling (51/51, 100%) or a comment (1/51, 2.0%)to the nutritionist to coordinate care; thus, dyads averaged few (0.39, SD 0.58) WIC to PCP care coordination events. PCPs were able to view nutritionist documentation of RP preventive counseling (50/51, 98.0%) and comments (48/51, 94.1%).

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22121/
```

Discussion

This study suggests that advanced HIT strategies are a potential solution to engage parents in reporting RP practices, integrate data into the infant's electronic patient management systems to inform and facilitate documentation of provided RP care, and share data between PCPs and WIC nutritionists serving socioeconomically disadvantaged parents and infants from an area with known shortages in health care services. Even though bidirectional data sharing was feasible, care coordination occurred less frequently. Typically, these advanced HIT strategies are commonly found and siloed in larger health systems with standardized EHRs, a resource supported by policy and practice [11-13]; however, the current study applied advanced HIT strategies to bidirectionally share data across local community and clinical settings, an important step in coordinating patient-centered preventive care. Implemented strategies used to collect, integrate, and share data were adopted by patients, PCPs, and WIC nutritionists, suggesting usability, but variable utilization of certain components inhibited care coordination. Replication and dissemination of a cross-sector model may be facilitated by clinical partners practicing in a standardized EHR environment, with these findings providing foundational lessons and recommendations for future iterations.

Observed data sharing between clinic and community settings demonstrated usability, yet PCP to WIC data sharing occurred at more than twice the rate of WIC to PCP data sharing, likely mirroring the more frequently scheduled and attended WCVs relative to WIC visits. The infrastructure and processes developed to share data between PCPs and WIC differed in reliability and efficiency. PCP to WIC data sharing functioned more reliably than in the reverse direction. Data elements were passively extracted from EHRs without PCP action beyond standard documentation and thus were reliably (459/459, 100%) shared with WIC after the WCVs. In comparison, WIC to PCP data sharing was less reliable (197/296, 66.6%), as the process required the WIC nutritionist to sign off in the WIC system, a step that was missed for one-third of events, impacting usability. In addition, this extra step in the nutritionists' workflow was critical for PCP to WIC care coordination, as a sign-off on the WIC system was required to complete the coordination process with the PCP. This suggests that processes that change standard workflow or require an additional step may inhibit data sharing from the community setting. However, passive HIT strategies to collect and extract data can feasibly and effectively facilitate data sharing from a clinical to a nonclinical setting; thus, future iterations of this model should use passive, automatic processes in both settings.

Although WIC to PCP data sharing was less effective, the process was more efficient than in the reverse direction. The WIC to PCP data sharing process took 1 business day and was dependent on human resources. After the WIC nutritionist signed off of the WIC system, data were extracted that evening and sent to the research team in the clinical setting via a secure file transport portal and then integrated into the infant's EHR by a research team staff member the next morning. In contrast, after data were extracted from the EHR the morning after a WCV, data were sent via a secure file transport portal to a centralized

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

team member at WIC, who uploaded the data to the WIC system, which refreshed at midnight via an automatic batch process. Thus, the process for PCP to WIC data sharing was 2 business days and was also human dependent. Due to staff availability in both the clinical research and central WIC settings, all data transfer steps were delayed by holidays and staff absences, planned and unplanned. Even though the data sharing process between PCPs and WIC was completed in 1 to 2 business days, future applications should aim to shorten this delay and automate the data transfer in real time. Addressing these limitations would accommodate participants who attend multiple visits within the same day or on consecutive days and reduce reliance on human resources, thus increasing the generalizability of the model to real-world settings with limited resources.

Care coordination was seldomly observed, in part due to the limitations of the data sharing processes, the wide variation in the attendance (frequency and pattern) of both WCVs and WIC visits, and the limited adoption of the PCP system to document RP care. Aside from logistical data sharing issues, enrollment of dyads after their first WCV or WIC visit, along with the sequence in which they attended visits throughout the study, limited opportunities for care coordination. However, when WIC nutritionists had the opportunity, documentation of RP care by the WIC nutritionists was high. Overall, dyads had 2 events with nutritionist documentation of RP care, which aligned with the 2 WIC visits attended. Almost all (193/197, 98.0%) of WIC visits with data shared to PCPs included documentation of this RP care. Nutritionists wrote a free-text comment to the PCP at a similarly high rate. In contrast, fewer participant records had evidence of PCP documentation of RP care, and PCPs only wrote a comment to WIC a total of 3 times. Overall, dyads had 1 event with PCP documentation of RP care despite attending 3 WCVs. Therefore, WIC nutritionists readily documented RP care and used the free-text comment feature, but adoption of this feature by PCPs was more variable.

Low adoption of the documentation features of the PCP system may be due to variations in PCP practice that limited exposure to the system. Infants were randomized at the individual level as opposed to the PCP or clinic level. Thus, a PCP provided well-child care to infants in the treatment group (with the PCP system) and control group (without the PCP system), as well as to infants not involved in the study (without the PCP system) throughout the 22-month study period, creating inconsistencies in workflow and exposure to the PCP system. Out of the 459 WCVs attended by intervention dyads, PCPs documented RP preventive education at 162 (35.3%) visits. Documentation of RP preventive education, however, was a proxy for PCP system use and did not capture if the PCP viewed the EHL assessment tool or data from WIC within the PCP system and documented education elsewhere, such as the WCV note. Adoption of interventional EHR components may be improved through randomization at the PCP level, longer exposure times to innovations, additional training and booster sessions, feedback on performance, and enhanced organizational factors, such as administrative and operational support [24,25].

High adoption of RP care by WIC nutritionists may reflect strong alignment with their focused program goals and requirements [1]. This is evidenced by the high frequency of

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22121/
```

documented RP care in participant WIC records. Documentation of RP care was facilitated by using standard WIC education codes and integrating study team-created codes into WIC's standard electronic system (QuickWIC). Further, at some WIC visits, nutritionists could use parent-reported EHL data available to inform care. However, parent completion of EHL and the required cadence for a PCP to WIC care coordination opportunity (ie, a WCV followed by a WIC visit) limited the availability of EHL data to the nutritionist to a single event per dyad. Even though EHL data were available at about half of WIC visits, nutritionists provided and documented EHL-related RP education at most visits with dyads. In comparison, PCPs comprehensively assess and address growth, development, and safety issues at WCVs but perceive WIC nutritionists as having more time to discuss important nutrition and feeding issues and predicted clear benefits in cross-sector integration and coordination [4]. Thus, sharing nutritionists' documentation of preventive counseling may provide opportunities for the PCP to coordinate care by allowing the brief reinforcement of messages or time to discuss new or other topics pertinent to the care of their patient.

The study demonstrated that HIT strategies can facilitate the collection, integration, and sharing of patient-reported data on parenting practices in 2 settings. Most parents routinely completed the EHL 2 or more times, and PCPs had access to parent-reported EHL data at about half of the visits, which was then shared with WIC nutritionists to view at more than half of the care coordination opportunities. Parent responses to the EHL were automatically integrated into the infant's electronic health record in the pediatric setting and into the study-specific WIC system to prompt PCPs and WIC nutritionists to provide tailored RP counseling. Integrating parent-reported data into health care professionals' workflow and electronic patient management system prior to a visit may lead to patient-centered care by highlighting timely concerns and streamlining patient assessment. However, electronic solutions to collect patient-reported information need to account for technology availability at both the patient and clinic levels so as to not exacerbate the digital divide seen between lower- and higher-income populations [26].

Reliance on human resources for data sharing impacted the reliability and efficiency of processes to transfer data between clinical and community settings to facilitate care coordination; however, the system developed for this study addressed stakeholder concerns related to security of data sharing across settings [4]. Importantly, given the imperative of protecting patient rights and the health system's responsibility to maintain privacy, patient consent to share a limited data set across settings is warranted [4,16,27]. Executing interinstitutional agreements between the community and clinical settings for limited data sharing with participant consent was a critical and substantial step in the development of data sharing processes and addressed stakeholder concerns. In addition, using in-person or over-the-phone staff recruitment to obtain participant consent using paper or electronic consent forms, as well as the use of a secure file transport portal, addressed privacy concerns related to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act and data security [4]. Further innovations in HIT strategies are

XSL•FO RenderX
needed to more efficiently and effectively share limited patient data sets with aligned community and public health agencies to address limitations related to workflow, human resources, and timeliness. Within the clinical sector, HIT strategies have been used to facilitate efficient data exchange between providers, and technologies are emerging for data exchange between clinical and public health settings [28,29]. Pairing these HIT technologies with strategies for data integration, as described here, presents a rich opportunity for scaling cross-sector data sharing into practice in order to implement recommendations from integrated and coordinated care models, achieving collective impact and advancing population health objectives [9,15].

While a strength of the pragmatic study is the observation of real-life patterns of care, a limitation to testing care coordination was that few participants completed the expected 4 WCVs or 2 WIC visits in a 6-month observation period. Visit attendance, timing, and the sequence of visit types was not determined or controlled by the study team. Socioeconomically disadvantaged parents and infants experience many barriers to attending WIC appointments, including lack of transportation or childcare, conflicting activities, negative feelings about nutrition education, and frequent relocation [30]. Research in the prenatal period suggests that providing low-income additional supports, such as case managers or outreach and community health care workers [31], may enhance efforts to coordinate care between clinical and community settings by promoting timely visit attendance. Although WEE Baby Care was informed by a formative qualitative phase that captured the perceptions of stakeholders, including PCPs, WIC nutritionists, and parents [4], the perspectives of these stakeholders on the implementation of the intervention components were not captured, which limited our understanding of how PCPs and nutritionists integrated the intervention into their workflow. Additional training booster sessions and a longer intervention period may have improved adoption of the PCP and WIC systems through reminders and

increased exposure. Further, the limitations of the WIC system and iterations of this model may be optimized, as WIC has implemented an updated, nationally standardized participant management system since the completion of this study, providing an opportunity to improve the technology as well as the potential for evaluation and spread. Recruiting dyads after the first WCV likely reduced the number of potential opportunities for data sharing and care coordination. Lastly, most of the participating low-income mothers were White, all were English speaking, and most had a high school diploma or higher. This was representative of the Geisinger region, but generalizability to the more diverse national WIC and low-income populations with lower educational attainment may be limited [32,33].

Advanced HIT strategies can share data across clinical and community settings, even in a socioeconomically disadvantaged area with shortages in health care services; however, improvements in the usability of key strategies are needed to facilitate care coordination and increase generalizability to other settings. In alignment with models calling for integration and care coordination across settings [9,15], this intervention employed a comprehensive set of advanced HIT strategies, including patient (parent) access to their infant's EHR (patient portal), patient (parent) electronic completion of a risk assessment that becomes integrated into their infant's EHR, secure data sharing mechanisms, the ability for PCPs and WIC nutritionists to communicate securely, system analytics to manage preventive care, and interoperability between clinical and community data systems [11,16]. Future research is needed to address process limitations affecting the reliability and effectiveness of data sharing and care coordination and the suboptimal use of health care services. Integrating clinical and community health care services through electronic data sharing with advanced HIT strategies could be an integral approach to providing coordinated, patient-centered health care to low-income, socioeconomically disadvantaged populations.

Acknowledgments

The authors recognize and appreciate the support of the following individuals who contributed this study: Alison Baker, MS; Janice L Leibhart, MS; and Jeanne Lindros, MPH, with the Institute for Healthy Childhood Weight, and William J Cochran, MD; Peggy Lovecchio, RN; Grant A Morris, MD; Jason Socrates, and Alexes Samonte, MD, with Geisinger. We also acknowledge the vast contributions of the late Leann Birch, PhD, of The Pennsylvania State University and University of Georgia.

This project is supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration of the US Department of Health and Human Services (grant number R40MC28317) Maternal and Child Health Field-initiated Innovative Research Studies Program. Under the umbrella of becoming a learning health care system, Geisinger has funded internal quality improvement grants to provide iPads and kiosks to clinics.

Authors' Contributions

JSS and LBD led all aspects of the study concept. JSS and LBH developed the responsive parenting curriculum using materials developed by JSS and IMP. JSS, LBH, MM, SH, and SBH trained community nutritionists to deliver the intervention and monitored data collection. JM, SL, and SH recruited and verified participant eligibility. JSS, LBD, SH, IMP, and JFH developed the risk assessment tool and PCP system, and LBD, JM, and CS integrated the tool into clinical workflow. SB,GJ, and SS developed the WIC system and extracted data from WIC systems. LBD, AC, JM, SL, and SMRK developed the data integration and coordination tools. LBD, CS, and JFH trained pediatricians to deliver the intervention. SMRK, HAH, JSS, MM, and LBD developed the manual and process for data sharing and care coordination. SMRK and MM prepared the data for the coding process. SMRK and HAH coded the data. SMRK analyzed the data. All investigators made substantial contributions to portions of the study design



and data collection. All authors have been involved in the critical revision of the manuscript and have given final approval to the submitted version.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT eHealth Checklist V 1.6.1. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1941 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e22121_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Nutrition Education and Promotion: The Role of FNS in Helping Low-Income Families Make Healthier Eating and Lifestyle Choices: A Report to Congress. Food and Nutrition Service, USDA. 2010. URL: <u>https://fns-prod.azureedge.net/sites/default/files/NutritionEdRTC.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-31]
- 2. Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC). Food and Nutrition Service, USDA. URL: <u>https://www.fns.usda.gov/wic</u> [accessed 2020-10-30]
- 3. Recommendations for Preventive Pediatric Health Care. American Academy of Pediatrics, Bright Futures. 2020 Mar. URL: https://downloads.aap.org/AAP/PDF/periodicity_schedule.pdf [accessed 2020-10-30]
- 4. Bailey-Davis L, Kling SMR, Cochran WJ, Hassink S, Hess L, Franceschelli Hosterman J, et al. Integrating and coordinating care between the Women, Infants, and Children Program and pediatricians to improve patient-centered preventive care for healthy growth. Transl Behav Med 2018 Nov 21;8(6):944-952. [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibx046] [Medline: 29370433]
- Barnes M. Solving the problem of childhood obesity within a generation. White House Task Force on Childhood Obesity. 2010 May. URL: <u>https://letsmove.obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/letsmove.gov/files/</u> <u>TaskForce on Childhood Obesity May2010 FullReport.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-30]
- 6. Birch LL, Parker L, Burns A. Early Childhood Obesity Prevention Policies. Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2011. URL: <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/13124/</u> early-childhood-obesity-prevention-policies [accessed 2020-10-29]
- Glickman D, Parker L, Sim L, del Valle CH, Miller EA. Accelerating progress in obesity prevention: solving the weight of the nation. Institute of Medicine of the National Academies. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2012. URL: <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/13275/accelerating-progress-in-obesity-prevention-solving-the-weight-of-the</u> [accessed 2020-10-30]
- 8. Spear BA, Barlow SE, Ervin C, Ludwig DS, Saelens BE, Schetzina KE, et al. Recommendations for Treatment of Child and Adolescent Overweight and Obesity. Pediatrics 2007 Nov 30;120(Suppl 4):S254-S288. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-2329f]
- Dietz WH, Solomon LS, Pronk N, Ziegenhorn SK, Standish M, Longjohn MM, et al. An Integrated Framework For The Prevention And Treatment Of Obesity And Its Related Chronic Diseases. Health Aff (Millwood) 2015 Sep;34(9):1456-1463. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0371] [Medline: 26355046]
- Blake-Lamb TL, Locks LM, Perkins ME, Woo Baidal JA, Cheng ER, Taveras EM. Interventions for Childhood Obesity in the First 1,000 Days A Systematic Review. Am J Prev Med 2016 Jun;50(6):780-789 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2015.11.010] [Medline: 26916260]
- Norton PT, Rodriguez HP, Shortell SM, Lewis VA. Organizational influences on healthcare system adoption and use of advanced health information technology capabilities. Am J Manag Care 2019 Jan 01;25(1):e21-e25 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>30667614</u>]
- 12. Jones SS, Rudin RS, Perry T, Shekelle PG. Health information technology: an updated systematic review with a focus on meaningful use. Ann Intern Med 2014 Jan 7;160(1):48-54. [doi: 10.7326/M13-1531] [Medline: 24573664]
- 13. King J, Patel V, Jamoom EW, Furukawa MF. Clinical benefits of electronic health record use: national findings. Health Serv Res 2014 Feb;49(1, pt 2):392-404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12135] [Medline: 24359580]
- 14. The Chronic Care Model. Improving Chronic Illness Care. URL: <u>http://www.improvingchroniccare.org/index.</u> <u>php?p=The_Chronic_Care_Model&s=2</u> [accessed 2020-10-31]
- Martin LT, Plough A, Carman KG, Leviton L, Bogdan O, Miller CE. Strengthening Integration Of Health Services And Systems. Health Aff (Millwood) 2016 Nov 01;35(11):1976-1981. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0605</u>] [Medline: <u>27834236</u>]
- 16. Fontaine P, Ross SE, Zink T, Schilling LM. Systematic review of health information exchange in primary care practices. J Am Board Fam Med 2010;23(5):655-670 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2010.05.090192] [Medline: 20823361]
- Savage JS, Birch LL, Marini M, Anzman-Frasca S, Paul IM. Effect of the INSIGHT Responsive Parenting Intervention on Rapid Infant Weight Gain and Overweight Status at Age 1 Year: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Pediatr 2016 Aug 01;170(8):742-749 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0445] [Medline: 27271455]
- Paul IM, Savage JS, Anzman-Frasca S, Marini ME, Beiler JS, Hess LB, et al. Effect of a Responsive Parenting Educational Intervention on Childhood Weight Outcomes at 3 Years of Age: The INSIGHT Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2018 Aug 07;320(5):461-468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.9432] [Medline: 30088009]

- Daniels LA, Mallan KM, Battistutta D, Nicholson JM, Perry R, Magarey A. Evaluation of an intervention to promote protective infant feeding practices to prevent childhood obesity: outcomes of the NOURISH RCT at 14 months of age and 6 months post the first of two intervention modules. Int J Obes (Lond) 2012 Oct;36(10):1292-1298. [doi: <u>10.1038/ijo.2012.96</u>] [Medline: <u>22710926</u>]
- 20. Savage JS, Kling SMR, Cook A, Hess L, Lutcher S, Marini M, et al. A patient-centered, coordinated care approach delivered by community and pediatric primary care providers to promote responsive parenting: pragmatic randomized clinical trial rationale and protocol. BMC Pediatr 2018 Sep 04;18(1):293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-018-1263-z] [Medline: 30180831]
- 21. MUA find. Health Resources and Services Administration. URL: <u>https://data.hrsa.gov/tools/shortage-area/mua-find</u> [accessed 2020-10-31]
- 22. Paul IM, Williams JS, Anzman-Frasca S, Beiler JS, Makova KD, Marini ME, et al. The Intervention Nurses Start Infants Growing on Healthy Trajectories (INSIGHT) study. BMC Pediatr 2014 Jul 18;14:184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-14-184] [Medline: 25037579]
- 23. Hassink SG, Duncan PM. Encouraging Healthy Active Living for Families, A Report of the Healthy Active Living for Families Project. American Academy of Pediatrics Institute for Healthy Childhood Weight. 2012. URL: <u>https://ihcw.aap.org/</u>programs/healthforfamilies/Documents/HALF% 20Report% 20% 5BFinal% 5D.pdf [accessed 2020-10-31]
- 24. McCarthy DM, Courtney DM, Lank PM, Cameron KA, Russell AM, Curtis LM, et al. Electronic medication complete communication strategy for opioid prescriptions in the emergency department: Rationale and design for a three-arm provider randomized trial. Contemp Clin Trials 2017 Aug;59:22-29. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2017.05.003] [Medline: 28479220]
- 25. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implement Sci 2009;4:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50] [Medline: 19664226]
- 26. Din HN, McDaniels-Davidson C, Nodora J, Madanat H. Profiles of a Health Information-Seeking Population and the Current Digital Divide: Cross-Sectional Analysis of the 2015-2016 California Health Interview Survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 14;21(5):e11931 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11931] [Medline: 31094350]
- Smith RJ, Grande D, Merchant RM. Transforming Scientific Inquiry: Tapping Into Digital Data by Building a Culture of Transparency and Consent. Acad Med 2016 Apr;91(4):469-472 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000001022] [Medline: 26630607]
- 28. Adjerid I, Acquisti A, Telang R, Padman R, Adler-Milstein J. The Impact of Privacy Regulation and Technology Incentives: The Case of Health Information Exchanges. Management Science 2016 Apr;62(4):1042-1063 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.2015.2194]
- 29. Goldwater J, Jardim J, Khan T, Chan K. Emphasizing Public Health Within a Health Information Exchange: An Evaluation of the District of Columbia's Health Information Exchange Program. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2014;2(3):1090 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1090] [Medline: 25848617]
- Damron D, Langenberg P, Anliker J, Ballesteros M, Feldman R, Havas S. Factors associated with attendance in a voluntary nutrition education program. Am J Health Promot 1999;13(5):268-275. [doi: <u>10.4278/0890-1171-13.5.268</u>] [Medline: <u>10538640</u>]
- Hillemeier MM, Domino ME, Wells R, Goyal RK, Kum H, Cilenti D, et al. Does Maternity Care Coordination Influence Perinatal Health Care Utilization? Evidence from North Carolina. Health Serv Res 2018 Aug;53(4):2368-2383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12742] [Medline: 28726272]
- 32. WIC 2017 Eligibility and Coverage Rates. Food and Nutrition Service, USDA. URL: <u>https://www.fns.usda.gov/</u> wic-2017-eligibility-and-coverage-rates [accessed 2020-10-31]
- 33. Postsecondary Attainment: Differences by Socioeconomic Status. National Center for Education Statistics. 2015. URL: https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/pdf/coe_tva.pdf [accessed 2020-10-30]

Abbreviations

EHL: Early Healthy Lifestyles
EHR: electronic health record
HIT: health information technology
INSIGHT: Intervention Nurses Start Infants Growing Healthy Trajectories
PCP: primary care provider
RP: responsive parenting
WCV: well-child visit
WEE Baby: Women, Infants, and Children Enhancements to Early Healthy Lifestyles for Baby
WIC: Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.07.20; peer-reviewed by J Dean, A Tierney; comments to author 19.08.20; revised version received 08.10.20; accepted 25.10.20; published 24.11.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Kling SMR, Harris HA, Marini M, Cook A, Hess LB, Lutcher S, Mowery J, Bell S, Hassink S, Hayward SB, Johnson G, Franceschelli Hosterman J, Paul IM, Seiler C, Sword S, Savage JS, Bailey-Davis L Advanced Health Information Technologies to Engage Parents, Clinicians, and Community Nutritionists in Coordinating Responsive

Parenting Care: Descriptive Case Series of the Women, Infants, and Children Enhancements to Early Healthy Lifestyles for Baby (WEE Baby) Care Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e22121 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22121/ doi:10.2196/22121

©Samantha MR Kling, Holly A Harris, Michele Marini, Adam Cook, Lindsey B Hess, Shawnee Lutcher, Jacob Mowery, Scott Bell, Sandra Hassink, Shannon B Hayward, Greg Johnson, Jennifer Franceschelli Hosterman, Ian M Paul, Christopher Seiler, Shirley Sword, Jennifer S Savage, Lisa Bailey-Davis. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 24.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



PMID:33231559

Original Paper

Facebook Support Groups for Rare Pediatric Diseases: Quantitative Analysis

Sarah Catrin Titgemeyer¹; Christian Patrick Schaaf^{2,3}, MD, PhD

¹University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

²Institute of Human Genetics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

³Institute of Human Genetics, University Hospital Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Corresponding Author: Christian Patrick Schaaf, MD, PhD Institute of Human Genetics Heidelberg University Im Neuenheimer Feld 366 Heidelberg, 69120 Germany Phone: 49 6221 565151 Email: <u>christian.schaaf@med.uni-heidelberg.de</u>

Abstract

Background: Loneliness, social isolation, and feeling disconnected from society are commonly experienced by parents of children with rare diseases and are, among others, important reasons for special supportive care needs. Social networking platforms are increasingly used for health communication, information exchange, and support. In the field of rare pediatric diseases, qualitative studies have shown that Facebook online support groups are utilized by and beneficial for persons affected by rare pediatric diseases. Nonetheless, the extent of this usage has not been investigated.

Objective: This study aims to provide a comprehensive quantitative analysis of the extent of Facebook usage as a tool for rare pediatric disease support groups and to explore factors that influence a disease's representation on Facebook. These results potentially offer important insights for future public health initiatives and give direction to further research that can give much needed support to parents of children with rare diseases.

Methods: We determined rare pediatric diseases using the inventory of the online portal Orphanet. Facebook support groups were identified by searching 5 synonymous disease descriptions using the group category search bar. Disease- and group-describing parameters were statistically analyzed using standard descriptive statistical methods.

Results: 6398 Facebook support groups, representing 826 diseases (19.5% of all searched diseases), were found. 69% are private groups. Group type, size, activity (sum of posts, comments, and reactions calculated by Facebook), new memberships, and language varied largely between groups (member count: minimum 1, maximum 23,414; activity last 30 days: minimum 0, maximum 3606). The highest percentage of awareness and information groups was found for teratogenic diseases (18/68, 26%). The odds of finding a Facebook group increased according to the level of information available about the disease: known prevalence (odds ratio [OR] 3.98, 95% CI 3.39-4.66, P<.001), known disease type (OR 3.15, 95% CI 2.70-3.68, P<.001), and known inheritance mode (OR 2.06, 95% CI 1.68-2.52, P<.001) were all associated with higher odds of finding a Facebook group, as was dominant compared to nondominant inheritance (OR 2.05, 95% CI 1.74-3.42, P<.001). The number of groups per disease increased with higher prevalence.

Conclusions: Facebook is widely used as a tool for support groups for rare pediatric diseases and continues to be relevant. Two-thirds of the groups are private groups, indicating group participants' need for privacy, which should be further explored. The advantages and limitations of Facebook as a tool for support groups in the field of rare diseases should be further investigated as it will allow health professionals to use Facebook more meaningfully in their counseling and guidance of affected individuals and their family members.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21694) doi:10.2196/21694



KEYWORDS

pediatric rare diseases; rare diseases; support group; online support; Facebook support group; social media; parent support; support group privacy; counseling

Introduction

Background

Many parents of children affected by rare diseases described caring for a child with a rare disease to be highly isolating-with loneliness, social isolation and feeling disconnected from society being mentioned as common problems [1]. Most parents had never come into contact with other parents of a child with a similar condition to that of their own child, and many were dissatisfied with the overall support that they had received for their child with a rare disease from any source [1]. Since rare diseases have per definition a very low prevalence (European definition of rare diseases: <1 per 2000) [2], affected individuals are often geographically dispersed. For many rare diseases there is a deficit of medical and scientific knowledge [2]. Rare diseases are often serious, chronic, and progressive, and persons affected by rare diseases are more psychologically, socially, economically, and culturally vulnerable [2]. Hence, parents of children with rare diseases have special supportive care needs [1].

Parent-to-parent peer support has been shown to have beneficial effects on parents of children with disabilities and children with additional needs [3]. Parents benefit from support groups most importantly by building social connections, gaining a sense of belonging [4,5], and developing a sense of control [5]. Support groups provide an environment for parent-to-parent support, which offers several benefits through improved social support. Participating parents can experience improved social connections [4], a heightened sense of control [5], higher family life congruence [6], and lower consequences of perceived stress [7].

Social networking platforms are increasingly used for health communication, information exchange, and support. Benefits of using social media for health-related online communication and community include connectedness, increased community support, and online support groups [8]. Several advantages of social media for online support have been identified, including international scope, unlimited number of participants, cost-effectiveness [9], and 24-hour availability [10]. However, there are limitations, such as questionable reliability [11], accuracy [9], quality [12], application to personal situations [11], and the possible misinterpretation [9] of information found online and on social media.

Founded in 2004, Facebook is one of the longest existing social networking platforms [13]. In the second quarter of 2019, Facebook reported 2.41 billion monthly active users [14]. Thus, chances are presumably high that another person affected by the same disorder also uses Facebook and would be eligible to form a support group. Facebook allows persons to connect independent of geographic location and offers options for both individual and group communication [13].

Prior Work

Parents of children with rare diseases are active internet users, search for information online [15], and use social media such as Facebook to communicate and link with others [12], showing that most parents are already familiar with Facebook and are, therefore, likely have the required social networking skills. Therefore, they could benefit by extending their Facebook usage to participation in support groups quite effortlessly.

To our knowledge, only little research exploring the specific topic of online support groups for rare pediatric diseases has been conducted so far. Content analyses of specific online and Facebook support groups have been performed (eg, on groups for cleft lip and palate, clubfoot, Hirschsprung disease, autism spectrum disorders, Dravet syndrome, and related epilepsy disorders [16-21]). Group members benefit from giving and receiving informational and emotional support and from connecting with others since meeting others with similar experiences has been shown to decrease isolation [10,16-19].

Research Rationale

Social support can provide several benefits for parents caring for children with chronic diseases, disabilities, additional needs, behavioral problems, and rare diseases [3-10,12,13,15,16,18,20]. Qualitative studies have shown that Facebook is utilized by and beneficial for persons affected by rare pediatric diseases. However, since these studies focused on specific conditions or groups, they failed to reflect the extent of support group usage and the overall representation of rare pediatric diseases on Facebook.

Our study therefore aimed to provide a comprehensive quantitative analysis of the extent of Facebook usage as a tool for rare pediatric disease support groups and at analyzing disease- and group-describing parameters to explore factors that influence a disease's representation on Facebook.

These results may offer important insights for future public health initiatives and give direction to further research which can improve much needed support of parents of children with rare diseases. The analysis of Facebook groups dedicated to rare pediatric diseases and their development over time, for example, shows how many groups and individuals could benefit from an optimization of support groups conditions on Facebook. Initiatives that aim to promote communication among affected families can use this analysis to learn about support group structures such as group sizes and privacy settings. Having built the foundation of a quantitative analysis, future research can, for example, focus on a more in-depth qualitative analysis of Facebook group. Furthermore, this study points to the need for health professionals who treat individuals with rare pediatric disorders or affected parents or caregivers or provide genetic counseling to get better acquainted with the topic of social media support groups in order to understand and promote the communication among parents or caregivers of children with rare disorders.



Methods

Data Collection

Rare diseases with childhood manifestation were identified using the inventory of the online portal for rare diseases and orphan drugs Orphanet). Orphanet uses the European definition of rare disease [22]. A rare pediatric disease is defined as a disease with onset before adulthood; thus, age of onset had to be defined as antenatal, conatal/neonatal, infancy, childhood or adolescent but not adult, older adult, or all ages. Data collected included disease name, 4 synonyms, ORPHAcode, Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man number, International Statistical Classification of Diseases Tenth Revision, disease prevalence, inheritance mode (autosomal or sex-linked, recessive or dominant, etc), age of onset and disease type (monogenic, deletion or alteration of a single gene; chromosomal, alteration in the number or structure of a chromosome; microdeletion, deletion of a small chromosomal segment; teratogenic disorder, result of exposure to teratogenic agent; mitochondrial; infectious disease; multigenic or multifactorial). Age of onset and disease type information was extracted from disease name or Orphanet disease description. Data were collected between January 1, 2019 and March 13, 2019.

Facebook support groups were identified by searching 5 synonymous disease names or descriptions using the Facebook group category search bar. The researcher used a Facebook account, newly created for this purpose, that contained only the researcher's name, picture, gender (female) and location (Cologne, Germany); but no activity (likes, shares, etc) expect for searching for aforementioned disease names. Groups were subcategorized according to their specific focus using the information available from the group title, the group category provided by Facebook's group categorization or the publicly available group description. Groups had to be clearly recognizable as support groups, groups to raise awareness and information, or support groups for individual patients. Groups that explicitly focused on research, fundraising and charity, medication sales, and disease-related pages were excluded from analysis (examples for categorization using group title Disorder A fundraiser was categorized as focus on fundraising and excluded from analysis, Child B's journey with disorder C was categorized as personal support group, Disorder D: spread awareness was categorized as awareness and information group). Data collected on Facebook included group type, name, language, privacy setting (public or private), foundation date, member count, and group insights. Group insights are provided by Facebook and displayed on each group information page, regardless of privacy status. They report activity (sum of posts,

comments, and reactions calculated by Facebook) and new members during the past 30 days. Only groups with at least 1 member qualified. Foundation dates for groups on Facebook can be entered automatically or manually; manually entered foundation dates before Facebook launch in 2004 were excluded from analysis due to a lack of reliability of information. Data were collected between March 13, 2019 and March 31, 2019.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using standard descriptive statistical methods using SPSS statistics (version 26; IBM Corp). Normally distributed data are presented using mean and standard deviation, skewed distributions are presented using median and interquartile range, binary and categorical variables are presented using counts and percentages. Odds ratios (ORs) were calculated. The 1-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to test for normal distribution. Nonparametric tests (Spearman ρ correlation, independent sample Mann-Whitney *U* test) were applied. Binomial and chi-square tests were used to investigate binary and categorical variables.

This study has been reviewed by the Ethics Commission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Cologne (protocol 19-1027), and all research has been carried out within the scope of the approval.

Results

General

A total of 4246 rare disorders with onset before adulthood were identified using the Orphanet inventory, and 6398 support groups were found on Facebook. These groups represent 826 diseases, which amounts to 19.5% of all searched diseases.

The 10 diseases for which the most Facebook support groups were found are Down syndrome (145/6398, 2.3%), 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (117/6398, 1.8%), hypoplastic left heart syndrome (117/6398, 1.8%), Turner syndrome (97/6398, 1.5%), gastroschisis (95/6398, 1.5%), cleft lip and palate (93/6398, 1.5%), craniosynostosis (92/6398, 1.4%), microtia (90/6398, 1.4%), and retinoblastoma (89/6398, 1.4%). An alphabetic list of diseases on Facebook, including Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man number and the respective number of groups, is presented in Multimedia Appendix 1.

The total number of Facebook groups has continuously increased since 2008 (Figure 1). The number of newly created Facebook support groups shows fluctuation with an overall increase (Multimedia Appendix 2).



Figure 1. Development of the total number of Facebook support groups for pediatric rare diseases over time.



Disease-Describing Parameters

Of the 4246 diseases listed on Orphanet, 529 (12.9%) diseases show antenatal and 2815 (68.9%) show conatal/neonatal onset, 2167 (53.0%) start during infancy, 1074 (26.3%) during childhood, and 165 (4.0%) show adolescent onset. More than one age of onset may apply.

Table 1 depicts the distribution of disease type and prevalence among all identified diseases and diseases with at least 1 support group and the number and percentage of Facebook support groups per disease type and prevalence. 274/934 (29.3%) of the monogenic diseases, 51/145 (35.2%) of the chromosomal, 85/158 (53.8%) of the multigenic or multifactorial, and 4/22 (18.2%) of the teratogenic diseases found on Orphanet are represented on Facebook, and 376/2830 (13.3%) of the diseases with unknown disease type. The mean number of groups per disease increases with increasing prevalence (mean 2 for prevalence <1 per 1,000,000; mean 5 for prevalence 1-9 per 1,000,000; mean 14 for prevalence 1-9 per 100,000; mean 28 for prevalence 1-9 per 10,000).

Table 2 displays the number and percentage of diseases on Orphanet and diseases with at least one group following the different inheritance modes. More than one inheritance mode may apply.

ORs were calculated to compare the probability of a disease with known or unknown disease-describing parameters to be represented by at least one Facebook group: known prevalence (OR 3.98, 95% CI 3.39-4.66, P<.001), known disease type (OR 3.15, 95% CI 2.70-3.68, P<.001), and known inheritance mode (OR 2.06, 95% CI 1.68-2.52, P<.001) are all associated with higher odds of finding a Facebook group; as is dominant compared to nondominant inheritance (OR 2.05, 95% CI 1.74-3.42, P<.001).



Titgemeyer & Schaaf

Table 1. Diseases and Facebook support groups by prevalence and type of disease.

	Diseases found on Orphanet (n=4246), n (%)	Facebook support groups (n=6398), n (%)	Diseases with ≥ 1 group (n=826), n (%)
Prevalence			_
<1 per 1,000,000	2516 (59.3)	620 (9.7)	253 (30.6)
1-9 per 1,000,000	150 (3.5)	452 (7.1)	85 (10.3)
1-9 per 100,000	188 (4.4)	1825 (28.5)	132 (16.0)
1-9 per 10,000	77 (1.8)	1251 (19.6)	44 (5.3)
1-9 per 1000	1 (<0.1)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Unknown	1314 (30.9)	2250 (35.2)	312 (37.8)
Disease type			
Monogenic	934 (22.0)	1623 (25.4)	274 (33.2)
Chromosomal	145 (3.4)	655 (10.2)	51 (6.2)
Mitochondrial	25 (0.6)	11 (0.2)	2 (0.4)
Infectious disease	2 (<0.1)	1 (<0.1)	1 (0.1)
Multigenic or multifactorial	158 (3.7)	988 (15.4)	85 (10.3)
Teratogenic disorder or infectious fetopathy	22 (0.5)	68 (1.1)	4 (0.5)
Micro-/contiguous gene deletion/duplication/tripli- cation	130 (3.0)	290 (4.5)	33 (4.0)
Unclassified	2830 (66.7)	2762 (43.2)	376 (45.5)

Table 2. Pediatric rare diseases on Orphanet and diseases with at least one group that follow the different inheritance modes (more than one may apply).

Type ^a	Pediatric rare diseases on Orphanet that follow this inheritance mode, n (%)	Pediatric rare diseases with ≤ 1 group that follow this inheritance mode, n (%)
Autosomal recessive	1765 (55.6)	314 (38.0)
Autosomal dominant	971 (30.6)	279 (33.8)
X-linked recessive	306 (9.6)	75 (9.1)
X-linked dominant	70 (2.2)	25 (3.0)
Multigenic or multifactorial	74 (2.3)	31 (3.8)
Mitochondrial	15 (0.5)	1 (0.1)
Y-linked	1 (<0.01)	0 (0.0)
Inheritance not applicable	513 (16.2)	197 (23.8)

^aMore than one may apply.

Group-Describing Parameters

Group Type

The support groups are further divided into the following subcategories: general support groups (4385/6398, 68.5%), personal support groups (828/6398, 12.9%), support groups with focus on awareness and information (450/6398, 7.0%), not further specified groups (649/6398, 10.1%), groups for several diseases (86/6398, 1.3%). The following were not included: main focus on research (n=147), fundraising and charity (n=338), and medication sales (n=4). The highest percentage of awareness and information groups was found for teratogenic diseases (18/68, 26%).

Group Language

Disease names or synonyms were entered into the Facebook search bar in English. Groups were mostly English speaking (5721/6398, 89.4%), with a smaller number listing French (227/6398, 3.5%), Spanish (99/6398, 1.5%), German, Dutch, Portuguese, Swedish, Turkish, Polish, or Danish as the group language. In total, 38 different group languages were found (Multimedia Appendix 3).

Group Statistics

Group-describing parameters were not normally distributed. The sum of group members in all groups amounted to 1,784,435. Membership in more than one group was possible. The median number of members was 33 (IQR 183, Q1 5, Q3 188; for comparison: mean 278.91, SD 989.46). This varied between



personal support groups (mean 87.50, IQR 238.75), general support groups (mean 44, IQR 217), and awareness and information groups (mean 15, IQR 105.25). The maximum group member count was 23,414 in a group for pediatric multiple sclerosis, the minimum was 1 member in 496 groups. Of these, 326 groups were the only Facebook support group for the respective disease. Of these groups, 268 (82.2%) were general support groups, 12 (3.7%) were personal support groups, 11 (3.4%) were awareness and information groups, 5 (1.5%) were groups for several diseases, and 30 (9.2%) were not further specified groups.

Throughout all groups, 84,966 new posts, comments and reactions were found (range 3606, minimum 0, maximum 3606; mean 0, IQR 3, Q1 0, Q3 3). In total, 4021 groups showed no group activity. 35,119 persons joined the identified Facebook support groups (range 1357, minimum 0, maximum 1357; mean 0, IQR 1, Q1 0, Q3 1).

Privacy Settings

When set to private, content, such as posts and pictures, is only accessible to members whose membership must be approved by a group administrator. Group title, group description, and group statistics including member count, new members last 30 days and activity last 30 days are always publicly available. Of the identified groups, 69% (4414/6398) are private, and 31%

(1984/6398) are public. The sum of group members was 1,468,102 in private and 316,333 in public groups, with a maximum of 23,414 members in a private and 17,000 members in a public group. The median member count was higher in private (mean 46) than in public groups (mean 14). The median activity and new members in the 30 days prior to analysis was 0 for both private and public groups, with a sum of 78,023 activities in private and 6943 activities in public groups and a sum of 29,566 new members in private and 5553 new members in public groups. Performing an independent-sample Mann-Whitney U test showed that the distribution of the group-describing parameters differed slightly between the 2 privacy settings with higher member count, activities last 30 days, and new members last 30 days in private groups (member count: U=5,296,374, z=13.44, P<.001, effect size r=0.17; activities last 30 days: U=5,602,193, z=20.65, P<.001, effect size r=0.29; new members last 30 days: U=5,104,178, z=13.04, P<.001, effect size r=0.16).

Correlation Analyses of Group- and Disease-Describing Parameter

Correlation analyses showing relations between group- and disease-describing parameters are displayed in Table 3. The minimal age of onset correlates neither with the number of groups per disease nor with the group member count.

 Table 3. Spearman correlations between disease- and group-describing parameters.

Interpretation, variables	ρ	P value
Significant strong positive correlation		
Recent group activity and number of new members	0.769	<.001
Significant moderate positive correlation		
Prevalence and number of groups per disease	0.530	<.001
Group member count and recent group activity	0.691	<.001
Group member count and new group members	0.628	<.001
Significant weak positive correlation		
Prevalence and group member count	0.101	<.001
Time that a group exists and member count	0.111	<.001
No significant correlation		
Time that a group exists and recent group activity	0.011	.39
Time that a group exists and number of new members	-0.002	.85
Disease's minimal age of onset and number of groups per disease	-0.021	.55
Disease's minimal age of onset and group member count	0.006	.62

Discussion

Principal Findings

Facebook is widely used as a tool for support groups for individuals affected by rare pediatric diseases. This study has shown that, for approximately every fifth rare pediatric disease, one can find an existing Facebook support group. Group type, size, activity, new memberships, privacy settings, and language vary largely between groups. Within the first years after the launch of Facebook in 2004, only a few Facebook support groups for rare pediatric diseases were created. Starting 2008 and onward, the total number of Facebook groups has been following almost linear growth. Consequently, we expect the number of groups and the number of diseases represented on Facebook to further increase in the coming years.

Facebook Support Group Subtypes

Support group subcategories allow different group focus and benefits. Analyses of some general support groups have shown that group members give and receive informational and

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21694/
```

emotional support [19], exchange knowledge and advice [18], and benefit from the ability to connect with others via Facebook [16].

Personal support groups (about every eighth identified group) are dedicated to one specific child with a certain disorder. Information about this child's health is shared and discussed. This group format has similarities with a blog but offers more personal two-way communication and thereby opportunities for emotional support. These groups' creator and members may especially benefit from having a place to speak openly about the disease and feelings as well as from receiving emotional support, which are 2 main benefit categories identified by White and Dorman [9]. A possible explanation for why these groups show the highest median member count could be a different target group. While other support groups are usually joined by parents and other immediate family members [12,16-18,20], these groups are probably also joined by family friends, who receive health updates and offer comfort, but who do not have a child with a similar condition. It could be of interest to evaluate the impact of this method of receiving social support in the context of rare diseases, since such groups do not depend on disease prevalence and finding others with the same condition.

Almost every tenth identified support group also focuses specifically on creating awareness and providing information. This is in agreement with previous studies' findings: families of patients with rare disease often become involved in raising public awareness [10], and social media can increase rare disease awareness [23]. The highest percentage of awareness and information groups was found for teratogenic diseases. Many teratogenic diseases are preventable disorders and parents, caregiver, or patients might therefore utilize Facebook groups to spread awareness to prevent future cases of the same disease.

Insights Gained From Group Statistics

Facebook Group Accessibility

Even though we used English search terms, we found support groups in 38 different languages, indicating that Facebook support groups are a worldwide development. This supports that Facebook is a fitting tool for support groups since it is a globally accessible platform [13]. Facebook offers the possibility to easily and inexpensively share information 24 hours a day and time-zone independent [10,21]. Parents of children with rare diseases are active internet users and use social media such as Facebook [12,15]. Together with the aspect of internationality, Facebook is therefore accessible as a tool for support groups for many, if not most, caregivers for a child with a rare disease.

Group Members and Activity

Group sizes vary greatly. Group member count can be influenced by multiple factors, as we have shown for disease prevalence. Other factors may include group promotion among affected families and by health professionals.

Correlation analyses showed that groups with more group members also had slightly more recent group activity and new members. Support group participants could therefore benefit from joining a larger Facebook group, since it offers more active

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21694/
```

discussions and more individuals to connect with. Group activity and new member count showed a strong positive correlation, which indicates that new members start new conversations.

Many groups did not show any group activity. This could be either coincidental or indicate that these groups are inactive. Even if groups are formally inactive, there might still be private conversations between group members using Facebook Messenger or other personal messaging services, which we were not able to evaluate.

Looking for Others to Start a Support Group

Our analysis showed that 326 persons created a group for a specific disease, but at the time of study no one had joined their group, which means that they were unsuccessfully looking for someone to start a support group with. Possible reasons are that no one directly or indirectly affected by the same condition has turned to Facebook in order to look for a support group, or that no one is available for a support group on Facebook. Regarding the first explanation, it could be helpful to raise awareness of Facebook as a tool for rare pediatric disease support groups among parents and caregivers. A survey of caregivers of children with Autism Spectrum Disorders found that caregivers whose diagnosing clinician had referred them to a support group were more likely support group participants [20]. Therefore, health professionals ought to get better acquainted with the topic of social media support groups if they aim to promote the communication among parents and caregivers of children with rare disorders.

Facebook Support Group Privacy

A group's privacy setting limits access to the group. When set to private, membership must be validated by a group administrator before content such as posts and pictures can be accessed or created. Group description and group statistics are publicly available. Our analysis showed that two thirds of the groups were private, which is in agreement with a survey conducted among patients with newly described or rare genetic findings, of whom 60% were uncomfortable with sharing information in a public group [13].

Because of the need of a validation before joining a private group, we expected public groups to have higher member counts, but private groups' median member count resulted to be three times higher. More individuals appear to prefer joining private support groups, which indicates members' preference of a more private environment when sharing experiences related to their children's health.

Nevertheless, sharing information in a private Facebook group still means sharing information about a child online and oftentimes with (relative) strangers. Confidentiality and privacy issues are an important topic, since group participants are often unaware of risks of disclosing personal information [11]. Studies on mothers' habits of sharing private details on their children on Facebook regardless their children's health status have shown that mothers become increasingly aware of privacy issues on Facebook and try to find a balance between the need for privacy and the benefits of openness; some felt that some information was not appropriate to share [24,25]. This topic is particularly challenging since children cannot object to sharing information

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

and pictures online, but might experience negative consequences later in life. Privacy issues therefore need to be investigated in the context of Facebook as a tool for rare pediatric disease support groups.

Factors That Influence a Disease's Representation on Facebook

The more individuals are affected by a disease, the more individuals potentially turn to Facebook to look for or create a support group. Many diseases with higher prevalence have several support groups, and these groups' descriptions often include geographic locations, eg different countries or states. Facebook group members have been shown to organize meetings for particular events [19], and Facebook groups organized according to members' locations could facilitate this.

The analysis of variables collected in this research showed that the odds of finding a Facebook group for a disease with known prevalence are almost four times higher compared to with unknown prevalence, for a disease with known inheritance two times higher than with unknown inheritance, and for a disease with known disease type more than three times higher than with unknown disease type. These findings suggest that the chances of finding a Facebook group increase with a higher level of understanding about the disease. New diseases are described regularly, but it takes time and resources to investigate newly described diseases, and for many rare diseases there is a subsequent deficit of medical and scientific knowledge [2]. It also takes time until more affected children have been diagnosed. This limited information and the factor of time influence the chance of finding a group on Facebook. Other factors may play a role as well. The impact of disease-specific mortality, for example, could be of great importance and might therefore be of interest for further investigation.

The odds of finding a Facebook support group for a disease with possible dominant inheritance are twice as high as for a disease without dominant inheritance. The risk of transmission in dominant diseases is 50%. Individuals affected by dominant diseases therefore encounter several challenges, such as reproductive decision making, feelings of guilt, and the need to communicate genetic risk with their children and family members [26]. These challenges can influence an individual's need for peer support, which may, in part, explain the higher probability of finding groups for dominant diseases.

Consequences for Treating Physicians and Other Health Care Professionals

This study indicates a need for health care professionals to become acquainted with social media as a tool for support groups, since it is already widely used. To allow informed decision making on whether to refer parents and caregivers of children with a rare disease to Facebook, more research about the strengths and limitations of Facebook as a tool for support groups is needed. If treating physicians decide to promote Facebook support groups, they can inform patients about the chances of finding a group, which is 1 in 5 overall but higher for monogenic, chromosomal, and multigenic or multifactorial diseases. Physicians with a focus on certain diseases can use our research to explore the extent of Facebook usage for groups for the respective disease. Furthermore, this study strengthens the importance of further research about rare diseases, since knowledge about a rare disease also influences the availability of support groups.

Study Strengths and Limitations

This study is a broad-scope analysis. All Orphanet-listed diseases which conform to the inclusion criteria were searched on Facebook using 5 synonymous disease descriptions. Nevertheless, it is impossible to know whether all existing support groups have been identified. Even though the Facebook search was conducted in English, groups in 38 different languages were identified. It is possible that not all existing non-English groups have been found, especially when disease names differ largely from the English disease name. Other groups regardless of group language may not at all use a disease description in their group title. Facebook search engine optimization may have influenced our search results using the researcher's information regarding location and gender. To minimize this effect, no other activities such as viewing, liking or sharing have been performed. Group activity and the number of new memberships could vary and since this was a cross-sectional study our data may not be representative. This could be investigated by repeating the study at another point in time. The limited information on Orphanet also limited our analysis. Disease type was evident for only a third of the diseases and information on prevalence was provided for only two-thirds of the diseases.

Conclusion

There has been a continuous rise in the number of support groups and diseases represented on Facebook since 2008. We expect that the relevance of Facebook as a tool for rare pediatric disease support groups will continue to increase. Group type, size, activity, new memberships, privacy settings, and language vary largely between groups. Support group subcategories allow different group focus. The odds of finding a Facebook group have been shown to increase according to the level of information available about the disease, and the number of groups increases with higher prevalence. Two-thirds of the groups are private groups, indicating the group participants' need for privacy, which should be further explored. More research is necessary to investigate the strengths and limitations of Facebook as a tool for support groups in the field of rare disease. This will allow health professionals to use Facebook more meaningfully in their counseling and guidance of affected individuals and their family members. It may also allow Facebook and other similar social media platforms to improve their toolkits and offerings for individuals affected by rare diseases.



Acknowledgments

The authors thank Rebecca Roth, Dr. Sc. Hum., Institute of Medical Statistics and Bioinformatics, Medical Faculty, University of Cologne, for the statistical consultancy support. Andrea Plaza-Gonzalez and Karin Mombaur are acknowledged for proofreading and editing the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Alphabetic list of diseases. [DOC File, 711 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e21694_app1.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 2

The number of newly created Facebook support groups shows fluctuation with an overall increase. [PNG File , 60 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e21694_app2.png]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Full list of Facebook support groups by language. [DOC File, 51 KB - pediatrics v3i2e21694 app3.doc]

References

- 1. Pelentsov LJ, Fielder AL, Esterman AJ. The supportive care needs of parents with a child with a rare disease: a qualitative descriptive study. J Pediatr Nurs 2016;31(3):e207-e218. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2015.10.022] [Medline: 26651231]
- 2. About rare diseases. Orphanet. URL: <u>https://www.orpha.net/consor/cgi-bin/Education_AboutRareDiseases.php?lng=EN</u> [accessed 2019-12-20]
- Shilling V, Morris C, Thompson-Coon J, Ukoumunne O, Rogers M, Logan S. Peer support for parents of children with chronic disabling conditions: a systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. Dev Med Child Neurol 2013 Jul;55(7):602-609 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12091] [Medline: 23421818]
- 4. Blake L, Bray L, Carter B. Patient Educ Couns 2019 Dec;102(12):2279-2285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2019.07.012] [Medline: 31327482]
- Solomon M, Pistrang N, Barker C. The benefits of mutual support groups for parents of children with disabilities. Am J Community Psychol 2001 Feb;29(1):113-132. [doi: <u>10.1023/A:1005253514140</u>] [Medline: <u>11439824</u>]
- 6. McConnell D, Savage A, Breitkreuz R. Resilience in families raising children with disabilities and behavior problems. Res Dev Disabil 2014 Apr;35(4):833-848. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.01.015] [Medline: 24491480]
- Cantwell J, Muldoon OT, Gallagher S. Social support and mastery influence the association between stress and poor physical health in parents caring for children with developmental disabilities. Res Dev Disabil 2014 Sep;35(9):2215-2223. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.05.012] [Medline: 24927515]
- Giustini D, Ali SM, Fraser M, Kamel Boulos MN. Effective uses of social media in public health and medicine: a systematic review of systematic reviews. Online J Public Health Inform 2018;10(2):e215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v10i2.8270] [Medline: 30349633]
- 9. White M, Dorman SM. Receiving social support online: implications for health education. Health Educ Res 2001 Dec;16(6):693-707. [doi: 10.1093/her/16.6.693] [Medline: 11780708]
- Delisle VC, Gumuchian ST, Rice DB, Levis AW, Kloda LA, Körner A, et al. Perceived benefits and factors that influence the ability to establish and maintain patient support groups in rare diseases: a scoping review. Patient 2017 Jun 21;10(3):283-293. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40271-016-0213-9</u>] [Medline: <u>28004275</u>]
- Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- Nicholl H, Tracey C, Begley T, King C, Lynch AM. Internet use by parents of children with rare conditions: findings from a study on parents' web information needs. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 28;19(2):e51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5834] [Medline: 28246072]
- Rocha HM, Savatt JM, Riggs ER, Wagner JK, Faucett WA, Martin CL. Incorporating social media into your support tool box: points to consider from genetics-based communities. J Genet Couns 2018 Apr 13;27(2):470-480. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10897-017-0170-z</u>] [Medline: <u>29130143</u>]
- 14. Facebook Reports Second Quarter 2019 Results. Facebook Inc. 2019. URL: <u>https://s21.q4cdn.com/399680738/files/doc_financials/2019/Q2/FB-Q2-2019-Earnings-Release.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-12-20]

- Tozzi AE, Mingarelli R, Agricola E, Gonfiantini M, Pandolfi E, Carloni E, et al. The internet user profile of Italian families of patients with rare diseases: a web survey. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013 May 16;8:76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-8-76] [Medline: 23680013]
- Stock NM, Martindale A, Cunniffe C, VTCT Foundation Research Team at the Centre for Appearance Research. #CleftProud: a content analysis and online survey of 2 cleft lip and palate Facebook groups. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2018 Nov;55(10):1339-1349. [doi: 10.1177/1055665618764737] [Medline: 29570382]
- 17. Oprescu F, Campo S, Lowe J, Andsager J, Morcuende JA. Online information exchanges for parents of children with a rare health condition: key findings from an online support community. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jan;15(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2423] [Medline: 23470259]
- Wittmeier K, Holland C, Hobbs-Murison K, Crawford E, Beauchamp C, Milne B, et al. Analysis of a parent-initiated social media campaign for Hirschsprung's disease. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 11;16(12):e288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3200] [Medline: 25499427]
- 19. Mohd Roffeei SH, Abdullah N, Basar SKR. Seeking social support on Facebook for children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASDs). Int J Med Inform 2015 May;84(5):375-385. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.01.015] [Medline: 25701266]
- Mandell DS, Salzer MS. Who joins support groups among parents of children with autism? Autism 2007 Mar;11(2):111-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1362361307077506] [Medline: 17353212]
- 21. Black A, Baker M. The impact of parent advocacy groups, the Internet, and social networking on rare diseases: the IDEA League and IDEA League United Kingdom example. Epilepsia 2011 Apr;52 Suppl 2:102-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03013.x] [Medline: 21463291]
- 22. Search for a rare disease. Orphanet. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.orpha.net/consor4.01/www/cgi-bin/Disease.php?lng=EN</u> [accessed 2019-12-05]
- 23. Milne C, Ni W. The use of social media in orphan drug development. Clin Ther 2017 Nov;39(11):2173-2180. [doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2017.08.016] [Medline: 28942336]
- 24. Holtz B, Smock A, Reyes-Gastelum D. Connected motherhood: social support for moms and moms-to-be on Facebook. Telemed J E Health 2015 May;21(5):415-421. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0118] [Medline: 25665177]
- 25. Chalklen C, Anderson H. Mothering on Facebook: exploring the privacy/openness paradox. Social Media + Society 2017 May 17;3(2):205630511770718. [doi: 10.1177/2056305117707187]
- Metcalfe A, Plumridge G, Coad J, Shanks A, Gill P. Parents' and children's communication about genetic risk: a qualitative study, learning from families' experiences. Eur J Hum Genet 2011 Jun;19(6):640-646 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2010.258] [Medline: 21326287]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.06.20; peer-reviewed by P Magoulas, W Davies; comments to author 11.07.20; revised version received 21.07.20; accepted 28.10.20; published 19.11.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Tigemeyer SC, Schaaf CP Facebook Support Groups for Rare Pediatric Diseases: Quantitative Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21694 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21694/</u> doi:10.2196/21694 PMID:33211019

©Sarah Catrin Titgemeyer, Christian Patrick Schaaf. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 19.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

High School Students' Preferences and Design Recommendations for a Mobile Phone–Based Intervention to Improve Psychological Well-Being: Mixed Methods Study

Ulrika Müssener¹, PhD; Kristin Thomas¹, PhD; Preben Bendtsen¹, Prof Dr; Marcus Bendtsen¹, PhD

Department of Medical and Health Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

Corresponding Author: Ulrika Müssener, PhD Department of Medical and Health Sciences Linköping University Sandbäcksgatan 1 Linköping, 58183 Sweden Phone: 46 732702426 Email: <u>ulrika.mussener@liu.se</u>

Abstract

Background: Young adults' mental health is characterized by relatively high rates of stress and anxiety and low levels of help-seeking behavior. Mobile health (mHealth) interventions could offer a cost-effective and readily available avenue to provide personalized support to young adults. More research needs to be directed at the development of mHealth interventions targeting youths specifically, as well as at determining how to reach young people and how to effectively intervene to improve psychological well-being.

Objective: The objective was to gather perceptions from high school students to inform the development of a prototype mHealth intervention aiming to promote psychological well-being.

Methods: A mixed methods design was used to (1) investigate high school students' perceptions about stress and its consequences in daily life, as well as their ability to cope with stress, and (2) explore their preferences and design recommendations for an mHealth intervention to improve psychological well-being. Students from two high schools in the southeast of Sweden were invited to take part in the study. Recruitment of high school students was completed over a 6-week period, between October 25 and December 7, 2018. Recruitment entailed inviting students to complete a stress test (ie, screening and feedback) on their mobile phones. After completing the stress test, all participants were invited to complete a follow-up questionnaire and take part in telephone interviews.

Results: A total of 149 high school students completed the stress test, of which 68 completed the questionnaire. There were 67 free-text comments distributed across the items. The majority of participants (55/68, 81%) stated that they coped with stress better or in the same way after engaging in the stress test, due to time management, dialogue with others, and self-refection. A total of 4 out of 68 participants (6%)—3 female students (75%) and 1 male student (25%)—took part in telephone interviews. Three main themes were identified from the interview data: perceptions about stress, design features, and intervention features.

Conclusions: Stress was described by the students as a condition caused by high demands set by oneself and the social environment that impacted their physical health, personal relationships, school performance, and emotional well-being. Participants claimed that mHealth interventions need to be clearly tailored to a young age group, be evidence based, and offer varied types of support, such as information about stress, exercises to help organize tasks, self-assessment, coping tools, and recommendations of other useful websites, literature, blogs, self-help books, or role models. Mobile phones seemed to be a feasible and acceptable platform for the delivery of an intervention.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e17044) doi:10.2196/17044

KEYWORDS

mental health; stress; high school students; intervention; mHealth



Introduction

Mental Health Among Youths and the Educational Sector as a Setting for Efforts

Mental health disorders account for about half of the disease burden among young adults in developed countries [1] and threaten health outcomes and academic performance [2-5]. Perceived high demands, peer relationships, academic pressure, lack of time management, parental pressure, school environment, recreational activities, low global self-esteem, and low social support have been identified as crucial factors that explain mental health problems in adolescents (eg, stress symptoms, sleeping problems, or worry and anxiety) [2,3].

Adolescents are in a vulnerable phase during which their future health behavior is being shaped. Behaviors developed during this period influence health in adulthood [1,6]. Most young people experiencing mental health problems do not access medical or professional services, leading to a risk to develop mental health disease later in life (eg, depression). Stigma and embarrassment about seeking help, confidentiality concerns, and poor mental health literacy are barriers to help-seeking [3,5,6].

The education sector can play an important role in mental health promotion among youths, especially when it comes to promoting stress management [7]. The schools' multidisciplinary teams provide good access to adolescents and school is a natural setting for mental health promotion [8]; as well, the context is appropriate because the stressors and demands on students partly concern school-related issues [9].

So-called psychosocial educational interventions, aiming to promote mental health, have been implemented in school settings. These interventions can be provided in meetings between the students, as individuals or in groups, and the teacher, mentor, or health professionals at the school health center [10,11]. These interventions include techniques to improve students' psychosocial health, relaxation training, stress management, problem solving, mindfulness, social adjustment, and emotional self-control. However, such interventions have demonstrated a limited effect on reducing symptoms of stress [12] and in preventing depression in the short term [11]. Also, psychosocial educational interventions are time-consuming, and school staff are not able to fully address these important issues due to high workloads and limited resources [3].

Mobile Health Interventions to Improve Psychological Well-Being

To address both the need to scale up interventions and to reach the groups that tend to be reluctant to seek help, and to offer efforts that require minimal resources and time, interest has increased to provide interventions via mobile phones. Such interventions fall under the umbrella term mobile health (mHealth) interventions, defined as a medical or public health practice that is supported by mobile devices [13]. mHealth interventions could offer a cost-effective and readily available avenue to provide personalized support to young adults. This intervention medium is especially suited for this group for several reasons. Mobile phone ownership and use are nearly

XSL•FO

universal. In addition, mobile phone interventions can be utilized at little cost and can be delivered at any time, to any location, with high fidelity. These interventions can also be utilized without the stigma of having to inform friends, family members, or school staff that one is seeking mental health support [14].

A recent meta-analysis showed that mHealth interventions can promote mental health, including stress management, among university students [15]. However, systematic reviews and meta-analyses [16-19] of the use of mobile apps and text messaging for mental health issues revealed several important limitations. These included lack of control or comparison groups, small sample sizes, an absence of theory-based interventions, and a high attrition rate. In addition, mHealth interventions are not sufficiently explained theoretically, not analyzed in enough detail to determine mechanism of change, and often focus on specific patient groups [20].

A fast-growing area of research is the documentation and critical analysis of the formative research process required in the development and refinement of effective mHealth interventions [21]. Systematic reviews underscore the urgent need for examining development processes for mHealth interventions [22] in order to fully understand how interventions have been developed to allow replication and adaptation of interventions across settings [23]. Previous research has pointed out that the most important factors during the design process is to be flexible and responsive to the input and feedback of the target audience: if they do not enjoy the program they may disengage [24]. More research needs to be directed at the development of mHealth interventions targeting youths specifically, as well as at determining how to reach young people and how to effectively intervene to improve psychological well-being.

Objectives

In this study, we aim to gather perceptions from high school students to inform the development of a prototype mHealth intervention aiming to promote psychological well-being.

Methods

Study Design

A mixed methods design was used to (1) investigate high school students' perceptions about stress and its consequences in daily life, as well as their ability to cope with stress, and (2) explore their preferences and design recommendations for an mHealth intervention to improve psychological well-being. Data collection was conducted through questionnaires and individual interviews. The study design followed recommended standards for mHealth development [24,25] and explored both preferences among the target audience regarding an mHealth intervention and general perceptions and experiences of stress.

Recruitment

Students from two high schools, aged between 15 and 19 years, in the southeast of Sweden were invited to take part in the study; the student population consisted of about 1000 students. The inclusion criteria for taking part in the study were as follows: (1) able to read and understand Swedish, (2) willing to complete a digital stress intervention (ie, screening and feedback), and

(3) own a mobile phone. The research project was advertised at the schools through printed media (ie, posters and leaflets), digital media (ie, student email and school website), and verbal information delivered by school staff in the classrooms.

Recruitment of high school students was completed over a 6-week period, between October 25 and December 7, 2018. Recruitment entailed inviting students to complete a stress test (ie, screening and feedback) on their mobile phones. The stress test was previously developed by our research group and consists of screening of stress symptomatology using the Perceived Stress Scale [26] and one item investigating sleep quality during the past month. The Perceived Stress Scale is a validated scale that measures global stress [26]. The stress test encompassed screening and feedback. The test gives feedback on stress levels and recommends stress-management strategies based on screening results. These strategies are all common evidence-based strategies, such as progressive muscle relaxation well as cognitive behavioral therapy-based as and mindfulness-based stress-reduction techniques.

Students registered their interest by sending a text message to a dedicated telephone number; they immediately received a confirmation message with information about the study and a link to the stress test. A total of 14 days after completing the stress test, all participants were invited, via text message, to complete a follow-up questionnaire and take part in telephone interviews.

Materials and Data Collection

The follow-up questionnaire aimed to investigate students' abilities to cope with stress, perceptions of the feedback given, and perceptions about support to cope with stress. The questionnaire included six items that had been generated for the purpose of this study (see Multimedia Appendix 1).

The aim of the interviews was to explore students' perceptions about stress and its consequences in daily life. Informants were also asked about their experiences of the stress test and perceptions about future mHealth interventions targeting stress among high school students. A semistructured interview guide was used [27]. The interview questions were framed around the following domains: (1) experiences of stress and its consequences on daily living, (2) use of the mobile phone for health informatics, and (3) user requirements and implementation aspects for an mHealth intervention to reduce stress. The interviewer was the first author of this manuscript (UM), a female researcher with a PhD degree and training and experience in qualitative methodology. The interviews lasted 45-60 minutes. Participants expressed their interest in taking part in the interview by leaving their names and phone numbers at the end of the questionnaire. The interviews were performed between February 17 and March 15, 2019.

Data Analysis

Questionnaire Data

Descriptive analysis [28] was used for the distribution of the responses to the questionnaire data. Free-text items were analyzed using manual content analysis [29]. First, all free-text data were read by the first author. Second, the free-text data

were discussed among the authors, and comments that captured the main content of each specific question were selected. The free-text data were used to underline and illustrate the pattern of response to the fixed-response options.

Interview Data

Thematic analysis was used to analyze the professionally transcribed interview data [27]. The analyses followed a prescribed, sequential process: overall impressions were noted, data were reduced and coded into initial themes, we searched for patterns and interconnections, final themes were mapped and built, and conclusions were drawn [27]. The first author read the transcriptions to acquire a comprehensive understanding. The selected quotes were then compared between the authors, and agreement was reached on the quotes to be included. Statements that were not clearly in line with the purpose of this study were excluded. Themes were identified using an iterative process of reading and rereading the transcripts. Patterns were searched for, and coding into themes was initiated by the first author. Next, the themes were presented and discussed among all authors, and boundaries for themes were established jointly. Excerpts from the interview transcripts are presented to support and exemplify the categorization. The interviewees' fictitious names are given after their quotes, followed by gender and age.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Regional Ethical Committee in Linköping, Sweden (Dnr: 2018/269-31).

Results

Quantitative Data From the Stress Test

Overview

A total of 149 high school students—107 female and 42 male students—completed the stress test and were, therefore, invited to complete the questionnaire; 68 participants, all between 16 and 19 years old, completed the questionnaire. Overall, there were 67 free-text comments distributed across the items. Most comments related to perceived benefits of the intervention (n=18).

Ability to Manage Stress

The majority of the participants (55/68, 81%) stated that they coped with stress better or in the same way after engaging in the stress test, 2 participants (3%) stated that they handled stress worse after than before, and 11 (16%) stated that they did not know. Data showed that participants perceived stress differently and had learned how to prioritize their time:

I remember to think about the tips in certain situations I notice that I start to get stressed [about] and perhaps choose to say "No" to something I didn't have to do so that I get to do something else, which lowers my stress.

I have noticed that I have started to see stress from a different perspective. If, for example, I am anxious about something and start stressing, I think, for example, that this will also pass.

```
XSL•FO
```

In contrast, data showed that learning about stress and raising participants' awareness could elevate stress levels:

I experience that I become more aware of stress and feel stressed about being stressed.

A total of 12 free-text answers concerned the reasons why participants handled stress better now than before the intervention (eg, time management, dialogue with others, and self-refection); a few representative quotes are shown:

I believe it's probably because I try to plan my time better.

That I think more about what makes me stressed. I find it easier to let go of things. I have tried to follow some of your advice. It has worked well and calmed me down; it has also helped me to minimize problems that I previously had blown up out of proportion, specifically because I feel life is easier when I stop and think about how I feel.

I have talked with others and thought more about how I handle stress. I therefore think that I unconsciously handle stress in a better way.

Perceptions About the Feedback Given

A total of 40 participants out of 68 (59%) found the feedback—tips, advice, and exercises—given to reduce stress to be *Good* or *Very good*. Among those who left free-text comments for this question, some stated that being screened for stress symptoms led to an awakening and increased awareness; they perceived not only that they were not as stressed as they thought, but also that they needed to manage stress differently:

It was like an "Aha" moment that I am too stressed, when I got a number put on it, because I have always thought that it was normal and that everybody else was just as stressed as me, but the number meant that I have started to think about it, and that I should learn how to handle my stress better.

It made me realize that I do not stress as much as I think I do. That I can categorize my stress as necessary and unnecessary.

However, only 14 participants out of 68 (21%) claimed that they had benefitted from the stress test. The participants underlined the need for tips and exercises to reduce stress in everyday life but pointed out the difficulty in following the given tips and asked for more tangible advice:

They were excellent tips, but [I] think the problem is actually putting those nine tips into practice.

The feedback was good, but to have an effect perhaps we need more concrete tips.

A total of 54 participants out of 68 (79%) answered *No* or *Don't know* to the question "Did you find the feedback usable?" Suggestions for improvements concerned the need to be able to revisit the feedback:

For me, the exercises have worked well; however, I thought it was a great shame that you couldn't go back and see the exercises and advice again after the test was finished. That is something that could definitely be improved.

I did not have too much time to do them or test them.

Furthermore, participants reported that the intervention content (ie, tips and advice) were redundant, well-known, and already available on the internet. Similarly, specific expert feedback was requested:

[I] didn't get any tips that I didn't already know about or used.

These are comments that you can easily search for on the internet. [I] would have liked more tips from a professional who is an expert on all of this.

Additional Support

Out of 68 participants, 30 (44%) indicated that they would recommend the test to a friend and 12 (18%) would not. A total of 14 (21%) participants contributed with suggestions for additional support. The following suggestions are examples given in the free-text comments:

- 1. "Planning and how to prioritize your work."
- 2. "Perhaps a video clip where you can listen to somebody who has had a problem and has solved it."
- 3. "I am less stressed after being physically active if it is a type of exercise I enjoy."
- 4. "Reminders on your mobile [phone] to destress."
- 5. "A hobby is very good, like painting, dancing, singing, etc."

Qualitative Data From the Interviews

Overview

A total of 4 participants out of 68 (6%)—3 female students (75%) and 1 male student (25%)—took part in telephone interviews. Three main themes were identified in the data: (1) perceptions of stress, (2) design features, and (3) intervention features (see Textbox 1).



Textbox 1. Three main themes and their subthemes identified from the thematic analysis.

Perceptions about stress:

- Experiences
- Consequences

Design features:

- Content characteristics
- Stress education
- Coping strategies

Reaching young adults:

- Duration and timing of support
- Enrollment
- Delivery

Perceptions About Stress

Perceptions about stress included both experiences and perceived consequences of stress.

Experiences

Participants described stress as a condition caused by high demands set by oneself, the school, and the social environment. High expectations of coping with stress in multiple settings emerged as a prominent trigger of actual stress and something that further contributed to a perceived imbalance in life:

But the type of stress I experience is very much linked to school, friends, and all the demands around this, the context, such as you must be slim, you must get good grades, you must exercise a lot, go to lots of parties, and, you know, all the pieces, that everything falls into place...I feel demands from my family that I have to behave in a certain way; I must be nice, help with the food, washing, and chores. [Carl, 16 years, male]

School, schoolwork, trying to balance life with school, get good grades. It's not possible. [Greta, 16 years, female]

Experiences of stress were also described as something positive, forcing one to get things done:

For me, stress is like both good and bad, when you know that there is something that must be handed in soon, and then you get stressed and so you do the things that have to be done; then it is a good thing and you actually do the things you have to. [Carl, 16 years, male]

Consequences

Consequences of stress included feelings of frustration, being overwhelmed, and being unproductive when unable to prioritize. Furthermore, participants expressed that stress impacted their physical health, personal relationships, school performance, and emotional well-being. For example, students described health issues, such as migraine and sleep difficulties. Others

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e17044

explained that their school performance suffered due to the loss of concentration and not being able to prioritize. Regarding personal relationships, participants described difficulties remaining connected with friends:

When I have a lot to do and when I don't know what to prioritize, then I feel I get stressed. When I don't know what to start on first. And then it can end up with me not doing any of it; that can be the consequence of it...[I] often get quite frustrated when I don't know how to tackle it. So I have problems focusing on one thing. [Maria, 17 years, female]

You can become so stressed that you just shut down, you can't manage any more, you're just too stressed, you can't even think...Sometimes I got so stressed that I got a migraine. [Greta, 16 years, female]

I have had an awful lot of difficulty sleeping...You just carry the crap inside you and do not have the energy to keep up contacts with everybody. [Carl, 16 years, male]

Design Features

Overview

Participants described what they thought would be important and valuable components of an mHealth intervention targeting mental health among high school students. Design features could be divided into three subthemes: content characteristics, stress education, and coping strategies.

Content Characteristics

Characteristics that the participants highlighted included that the content should be clearly tailored to a young age group, be evidence based, and offer varied types of support. For example, one participant stressed the importance of involving high school students in intervention development and creating a product that young people could relate to:

It's good that you keep in contact with, like, young people who, like, calls and talks with them, really have young people involved who keep track of this process, because I can promise you that if you want

XSL•FO RenderX

to have good contact with young people and reach them, having their opinions will really help. [Greta, 16 years, female]

Furthermore, the value of interventions being evidence based was emphasized in the interviews; for instance, participants expressed that interventions and guidance grounded in research and best practice increase users' confidence to participate. Further, the need for recommended dedicated literature was also expressed as important to include in future interventions. References to other literature and support by an expert competent in the specific field of knowledge would help to screen the large volume of information available:

I listen a lot to things that are scientifically proven. I would think it was great to hear facts...you know, what is important and what you should listen to...it would be fantastic if somebody, an expert, who knows about these things could make recommendations. [Carl, 16 years, male]

The importance of providing varied support to reach the many different personalities and needs was further highlighted by participants:

That it should be easily explained, and then that it should work for many people, as many as possible. That it isn't just text messages, but that perhaps, yes, but one could vary it a lot, I think that would be good. [Maria, 17 years, female]

I think that you must be able to provide many different things in it, but that you have selected out that which is good. [Susanne, 17 years, female]

When asked about the preferred style and an appropriate tone for the text messages, the clear response was that text should not be overly positive or optimistic:

Don't just be super positive and optimistic!..."Oh—keep fighting, after the rain comes the sun"; nobody wants to hear this, I can tell you...because if I get that sort of message, I just, like, delete that contact and block them, I don't want to hear that. Many, many, many of us are like that. [Greta, 16 years, female]

Stress Education

Providing information about stress appeared to be fundamental. Participants stated that being provided with relevant information would help them to cope with stress and anxiety. Some described the need for access to information on how stress manifests and how to normalize stress. They also emphasized the importance of having a deeper understanding of their own reactions as a coping tool:

I think get knowledge about how it works, how it can affect you, at least for me I have got a good understanding and I have been able to manage it better. But then I've got help, that I now know how it works and what you can do about it. [Maria, 17 years, female]

That there are different ways of looking at stress, so that you don't get stuck in your own bubble that "Oh,

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e17044

I have so much to do now," because I think I get even more stressed from that now, because one should get, I don't know what it could be, but something that gets you to open up a little and understand a little more that "Yes, but OK, it isn't only me that is stressed." [Susanne, 17 years, female]

Following their need for information, participants suggested the inclusion of self-assessment in a future intervention to estimate their level of stress and to get to know their own stress triggers. Participants welcomed messages that included a link to a self-assessment survey and that gave regular feedback on their stress levels. They believe that such content could support self-reflection and make it easier to navigate when searching for the most useful support:

Exactly this with a test, that can also be good...just to be able to self-assess. Because then you reflect over yourself...it is important to know where you lie, that you get, so that you get the right type of relaxation and support. [Carl, 16 years, male]

Participants stressed their need for recommendations of other useful websites, literature, blogs, self-help books, or role models. Some proposed that the intervention could have an accessible platform where they could choose various types of support from a range of resources with recommendations to relevant literature. The data showed that teenagers want quick results and consequently request shortcuts to useful support:

Honestly, I think you can send out recommendations to pages, recommendations to other things that you know are good, books...links to self-help books and other websites or blogs or such things. No, but you know, all teenagers want fast results so they can get on or something or be better at things quickly. [Greta, 16 years, female]

Using people who had been in a similar situation and who had benefited from similar support as role models was suggested as a recommendation for other forms of support:

Yes, but perhaps it could present people who have been stressed but have perhaps gone through a similar program and feel less stressed. That you have a role model sort of. That it works so long as you don't stop. And that it isn't the same all the time, you have to have something new that isn't complicated. [Carl, 16 years, male]

Coping Strategies

Time constraints and an inability to meet targets and organize time schedules were burning issues that triggered students' stress. All participants underlined the need for support to structure and organize tasks that had to be done at school and in daily living. They wanted advice and exercises to help organize tasks. Regarding the difficulties in structuring and prioritizing tasks, participants requested support in practicing how to take on one thing at a time. Furthermore, reminders or notifications to take time out and to do something else to relax were proposed:

Well I would like someone who says "Yes, but do this task now, then after you have done this task, then we move on to the next one." Like someone who, I know organizes it, or what one should say, very clearly with "Everything you are to do now is important, but you must start with one task so that you move forward," because I feel that I don't do that, I get stuck in what I have to do first...one needs to slow down a little so that you can test these exercises and see if you can remember how you should think and things like that. [Maria, 17 years, female]

Definitely advice. So that you do something that breaks what you are stressed about and it doesn't spin out of control. [Greta, 16 years, female]

Like, OK to be stressed now, but you can do something about it and then you can do this like, yes, but a little bit. Have a support, like. [Maria, 17 years, female]

Some participants suggested recommendations for relaxation exercises and meditation. Others claimed that any kind of activity that decreases stress would be useful and proposed that a future intervention should encourage taking up a hobby or leisure activity:

What I really like is meditation, for relaxing, if you come home from school or have problems sleeping, putting on a meditation video and just listening to it, that is fantastic to do...important with advice on how to relax, anything...and just a reminder to take two seconds for yourself. [Greta, 16 years, female]

Yes, but like get a hobby so you get away from it all for a little while, so to speak...but some people, they, like, want to go out and run, some want to sit and paint, some want to do yoga, find something. [Carl, 16 years, male]

Reaching Young Adults

Overview

Participants described ways and preferences on how the target group could be reached and supported in their stress management. The data included suggestions on the methods for recruitment and delivery that would optimize a future mHealth intervention.

Duration and Timing of Support

The data showed that preferences regarding the length of a proposed intervention, the number of text messages sent per week, and the timing of messages differ from person to person:

It depends on the person. But a couple of months. I think, that for it to have an effect that it would have to be for more than a month...I wouldn't appreciate getting it every day. Because then I think I would feel a little overwhelmed. That isn't how you want it. Not continuously all the time. That would be too much. Then you'd just ignore it. But perhaps every third day. [Carl, 16 years, male]

I think, like, every other day, because you don't want to get too much information about it or you wouldn't

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e17044
```

want it to feel forced, or I would at least...Then I think perhaps three weeks or thereabouts, three perhaps four. [Maria, 17 years, female]

Participants indicated that simple messages, such as reminders sent a couple of times per week, with the aim of encouraging them to take a break, might be helpful in creating a sense of being supported by someone who cares about their situation:

But like, perhaps twice a week or something, not often but just a reminder every so often. [Greta, 16 years, female]

The importance of being able to make one's own decision regarding the amount of support and duration of the intervention was stressed in the interviews:

So perhaps, say that you can have different types, if you can sign up say for a month or two months or whatever it is...Yeah, but I think that is best, because then it also gives you a feeling of having more control, which everybody wants to have, they want to be in control, because nobody wants [to] be completely out of control, without feeling "Yes, but I can choose whether I will have more or less." [Greta, 16 years, female]

Concerning the timing of the delivery of the text messages, participants suggested delivery during the afternoon or evening:

And at the times perhaps when people are most stressed, I don't really know when that is, but perhaps some time in the afternoon when you get home from school and have to cram. Or in the evening, in the evening perhaps it would be good to get a reminder that you should go to bed early...not in lectures and such and on breaks when you have other things to do, I think, than listen to a program; you have to focus on what needs to be done. [Susanne, 17 years, female]

Enrollment

The data showed that preferences regarding recruitment channels varied, indicating that high school students are a heterogeneous group and that employing multiple recruitment strategies is optimal. Strategies such as school staff advertising with posters in the assembly rooms and meeting halls, digital advertising through emails, and information in the classrooms were described as successful. Furthermore, social media was highlighted as a recruitment channel (eg, Instagram or Snapchat):

The teachers mean a lot, and things that they are behind, you listen to...If our teachers talk with us, we have mentoring every Monday, for example, then we sit and listen to what they are saying and they, that was when this test thing came up, the whole class did it. I think via the notice board in the school is best, because if we see it on Instagram, it is easy to just, once again, to just scroll down or ignore it. The school will always be a very good way to reach young people about things like this. [Greta, 16 years, female]

That is a good way [via the school], but I think perhaps it could be good in some way to show oneself

on social media. Instagram and Snapchat. But, as I said, the school is also a good way to go. [Carl, 16 years, male]

Delivery

Participants found mobile phones to be a feasible and acceptable platform for the delivery of an intervention. Text messages, especially, seemed to be an appreciated method:

Well I thought it was a great idea that you get it directly to your mobile phone...I think it would be nice with SMS because otherwise it is easier to avoid doing anything about it, choosing not to go in and open the app and things. [Maria, 17 years, female]

Discussion

Principal Results

This mixed methods study investigated how high school students perceive stress and their preferences regarding support for stress management. Our aim was to increase our knowledge in the area to develop an mHealth intervention aiming to promote psychological well-being among high school students. The questionnaire data showed that the stress test format (ie, screening and feedback) offered good stress-management support and increased the awareness about stress among participants. However, the data also showed that future interventions would benefit from more tangible advice and the ability for users to revisit advice and tips.

Three main themes were found in the interview data: perceptions about stress, design features, and intervention features. In general, the qualitative data showed that this population is a fairly heterogeneous group with varied support preferences and needs (eg, in regard to the timing and duration of an intervention). Also, the data showed that high demands from various life areas contribute to stress and that this group expects quick, easily accessible support and guidance on how to cope with stress. Finally, interview data suggested that mobile phones are useful as a platform for stress management but that specific features need to be considered for optimal reach.

Comparison With Prior Work

In this study, stress was described as a condition caused by high demands set by oneself and the social environment (eg, by the school and by people significant to the students). The most prominent cause of stress was high expectations of coping with stress in multiple settings. Previous research has stressed that young persons are actors in a social context in which they interact with, for example, peers, technology, social norms, and body ideals. Research points out that these cultural and social contexts need to be considered if we are to understand and approach mental health among young adults [30]. Furthermore, our data indicated that stress impacted on various life areas, such as physical health, personal relationships, school performance, and emotional well-being. Our findings highlighted the interest and curiosity among high school students regarding evidence-based information on how stress manifests and how to normalize stress among young adults. Following the need for information, some participants suggested the inclusion of self-assessment in a future intervention to estimate

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e17044
```

their level of stress. However, recent research problematizes the picture of youth mental health and points out the difficulty of measuring students' well-being in general, and stress in particular, based on symptom frequency.

A growing discussion in society concerns a need to distinguish in-depth problems from those of a more everyday nature. There is currently a major emphasis on diagnosis: a goal to provide a medical diagnosis and subsequently offer treatment [3,31]. For young people suffering from mental health problems but who are not "ill enough," there are no easy inroads to receiving scientifically reliable help for problems such as anxiety, sleeping difficulties, feeling down, and stress-related psychosomatic problems [3]. Thus, there is a need for future research to develop interventions targeting subclinical populations.

The findings from this study highlight the potential difficulty in accommodating a fairly heterogenous group with mHealth interventions. Although the challenge of tailoring intervention content and structure is relevant for any mHealth intervention, certain elements may be specific for the young adult age group. Our findings showed that high school students value specific features, such as evidence-based content that is aesthetically pleasing and easy to navigate. Furthermore, the findings showed that this group expects quick, easily accessible support, and they down-prioritize support that does not meet these criteria. Considering the vast number of mHealth interventions that are commercially available, this group could be challenging to reach if interventions are not specifically tailored to their age group and accommodating to these aspects [6,13,17,22,32].

High school students seemed to have a great amount of trust in the school staff, and they recommended recruitment via school health services. The results confirm the declaration made from the World Health Organization that the education sector can play an important role in health promotion among youths [13]. Furthermore, participants found mobile phones to be a feasible and acceptable platform for the delivery of an intervention. Text messages, especially, seemed to be an appreciated way to deliver the intervention, which is in line with the growing body of evidence supporting the significance of mHealth interventions to help people modify health behaviors [14].

Strengths and Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, a relatively short questionnaire was used to explore the views of the participants. Second, the interviews were few (n=4). As in all qualitative studies, the sample size was not based on power calculations, but rather on data saturation. When and how saturation is reached varies from study design to study design; hence, there is no one-size-fits-all method to reach data saturation. However, according to previous research using qualitative design [27], one way to think of data is in terms of rich and thick, rather than the size of the sample; that is, to differentiate between rich and thick data is to think of *rich* as high quality and *thick* as high quantity. One can have a lot of thick data that is not rich; conversely, one can have rich data but not a lot of it. In this study, we chose to conduct the research in a manner allowing us to reach data saturation by collecting rich (ie, high-quality) and thick (ie, high-quantity) data. We account for multiple sources of data and perspectives to ensure that the study results

XSL•FO RenderX

demonstrate validity through data saturation. Hence, strengths in this study were the use of a mixed methods design; analyses of the questionnaire data were enhanced when the quantitative data were viewed in relation to the patterns found in the qualitative interview data. Findings not captured or understood through numeric answers alone were exposed through the variations in data. Several steps have been taken to ensure the validity of the results. Regarding the questionnaire data, two authors read the free-text comments independently many times. The first author selected a variety of the most crucial free-text comments, and then the chosen free-text comments were presented and discussed with the other authors; comments that captured the main content of the specific question regarding the aim of the study were chosen. Free-text comments that were not agreed on by all authors were excluded. A similar procedure was taken when analyzing the interview data; two authors independently coded and analyzed the transcripts to improve the trustworthiness of the findings.

demands and influence from peers, school, and wider society. Including young people's own perspectives is of relevance to psychosocial health. Youths' experiences of feeling psychosocially well or not need to be heard and collected as basic information in scientific studies, including in the development of new interventions. This mixed methods study demonstrated the advantages of conducting a formative appraisal early in the process to guide the development of a prototype mHealth intervention aiming to promote psychological well-being. These findings will become imperative when designing a forthcoming mHealth intervention based on high school students' needs, perspectives, and recommendations.

The findings can contribute to a deepened understanding on how high school students experience stress and on important aspects of future stress-management support targeting this population. Indeed, the findings were helpful in learning about our intended target group, in assessing the health issue, in starting to identify the components of possible contents, in exploring the natural settings, and in how to reach young adults.

Conclusions

The adolescent period is characterized by rapid physical and psychological changes in the individual, together with increasing

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the study participants for their participation in this project. This study is not supported by any grants or funding.

Conflicts of Interest

MB and PB own a private company (Alexit AB) that develops and distributes lifestyle interventions to be used in health care settings. Alexit AB had no part in funding or planning of this study.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Follow-up questionnaire. [DOCX File, 12 KB - pediatrics v3i2e17044 app1.docx]

References

- 1. Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2013. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/</u> iris/bitstream/handle/10665/89966/9789241506021_eng.pdf?sequence=1 [accessed 2020-06-23]
- 2. Schraml K, Perski A, Grossi G, Makower I. Chronic stress and its consequences on subsequent academic achievement among adolescents. J Educ Dev Psychol 2012 May;2(1):69-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5539/jedp.v2n1p69]
- Ahrén JC. Skolan och Ungdomars Psykosociala Hälsa [School and Adolescents' Psychosocial Health]. SOU 2010:80. Stockholm, Sweden: Government of Sweden; 2010. URL: <u>https://www.regeringen.se/49b719/contentassets/</u> a0ccc4a748f44af795cb96169ff426dd/skolan-och-ungdomars-psykosociala-halsa-sou-201080 [accessed 2020-06-23]
- 4. Hagquist C. Discrepant trends in mental health complaints among younger and older adolescents in Sweden: An analysis of WHO data 1985-2005. J Adolesc Health 2010 Mar;46(3):258-264. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.07.003</u>] [Medline: <u>20159503</u>]
- Lillevoll KR, Vangberg HCB, Griffiths KM, Waterloo K, Eisemann MR. Uptake and adherence of a self-directed internet-based mental health intervention with tailored e-mail reminders in senior high schools in Norway. BMC Psychiatry 2014 Jan 21;14:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-14] [Medline: 24443820]
- Mason M, Ola B, Zaharakis N, Zhang J. Text messaging interventions for adolescent and young adult substance use: A meta-analysis. Prev Sci 2015 Feb;16(2):181-188. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11121-014-0498-7</u>] [Medline: <u>24930386</u>]
- Haraldsson KS, Lindgren EM, Fridlund BG, Baigi AM, Lydell MC, Marklund BR. Evaluation of a school-based health promotion programme for adolescents aged 12-15 years with focus on well-being related to stress. Public Health 2008 Jan;122(1):25-33. [doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2007.04.016] [Medline: 17719616]
- 8. Kraag G, Zeegers MP, Kok G, Hosman C, Abu-Saad HH. School programs targeting stress management in children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. J Sch Psychol 2006 Dec;44(6):449-472. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2006.07.001]

- 9. de Anda D, Baroni S, Boskin L, Buchwald L, Morgan J, Ow J, et al. Stress, stressors and coping among high school students. Child Youth Serv Rev 2000 Jun;22(6):441-463. [doi: 10.1016/s0190-7409(00)00096-7]
- 10. SBU. Methods to Prevent Mental III-Health in Children: A Systematic Review. Stockholm, Sweden: Swedish Council on Health Technology Assessment (SBU); 2010. URL: <u>https://www.sbu.se/contentassets/8d0fa0ced6ed48de9aa129c7ba2b7d83/eng_smf_psykisk_ohalsa_110520.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-06-23]
- Merry S, Hetrick SE, Cox GR, Brudevold-Iversen T, Bir JJ, McDowell H. Psychological and educational interventions for preventing depression in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011 Dec 07(12):CD003380. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003380.pub3] [Medline: 22161377]
- 12. Kraag G, Zeegers MP, Kok G, Hosman C, Abu-Saad HH. School programs targeting stress management in children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. J Sch Psychol 2006 Dec;44(6):449-472. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2006.07.001]
- 13. WHO Global Observatory for eHealth. mHealth: New Horizons for Health Through Mobile Technologies. Second Global Survey on eHealth. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44607/9789241564250_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u> [accessed 2020-06-23]
- Mason M, Ola B, Zaharakis N, Zhang J. Text messaging interventions for adolescent and young adult substance use: A meta-analysis. Prev Sci 2015 Feb;16(2):181-188. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11121-014-0498-7</u>] [Medline: <u>24930386</u>]
- Conley CS, Durlak JA, Shapiro JB, Kirsch AC, Zahniser E. A meta-analysis of the impact of universal and indicated preventive technology-delivered interventions for higher education students. Prev Sci 2016 Aug;17(6):659-678. [doi: 10.1007/s11121-016-0662-3] [Medline: 27225631]
- 16. Gliddon E, Barnes SJ, Murray G, Michalak EE. Online and mobile technologies for self-management in bipolar disorder: A systematic review. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2017 Sep;40(3):309-319. [doi: <u>10.1037/prj0000270</u>] [Medline: <u>28594196</u>]
- 17. Rathbone AL, Prescott J. The use of mobile apps and SMS messaging as physical and mental health interventions: Systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Aug 24;19(8):e295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7740] [Medline: 28838887]
- Versluis A, Verkuil B, Spinhoven P, van der Ploeg MM, Brosschot JF. Changing mental health and positive psychological well-being using ecological momentary interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 27;18(6):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5642] [Medline: 27349305]
- Donker T, Petrie K, Proudfoot J, Clarke J, Birch M, Christensen H. Smartphones for smarter delivery of mental health programs: A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 15;15(11):e247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2791] [Medline: 24240579]
- 20. Riley W, Rivera DE, Atienza AA, Nilsen W, Allison SM, Mermelstein R. Health behavior models in the age of mobile interventions: Are our theories up to the task? Transl Behav Med 2011 Mar;1(1):53-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-011-0021-7] [Medline: 21796270]
- 21. Maar MA, Yeates K, Toth Z, Barron M, Boesch L, Hua-Stewart D, et al. Unpacking the black box: A formative research approach to the development of theory-driven, evidence-based, and culturally safe text messages in mobile health interventions. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jan 22;4(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4994] [Medline: 26800712]
- 22. Badawy SM, Kuhns LM. Texting and mobile phone app interventions for improving adherence to preventive behavior in adolescents: A systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 19;5(4):e50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6837] [Medline: 28428157]
- 23. Ricci-Cabello I, Bobrow K, Islam SMS, Chow CK, Maddison R, Whittaker R, et al. Examining development processes for text messaging interventions to prevent cardiovascular disease: Systematic literature review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Mar 29;7(3):e12191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12191] [Medline: 30924790]
- 24. Abroms LC, Whittaker R, Free C, Mendel Van Alstyne J, Schindler-Ruwisch JM. Developing and pretesting a text messaging program for health behavior change: Recommended steps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Dec 21;3(4):e107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4917] [Medline: 26690917]
- 25. US Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute. Making Health Communication Programs Work: A Planner's Guide. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2002. URL: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/publications/health-communication/pink-book.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-06-23]
- 26. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385. [doi: 10.2307/2136404]
- 27. Patton MQ. Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods: Integrating Theory and Practice. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2015.
- 28. Leavy P. Research Design: Quantitative, Qualitative, Mixed Methods, Arts-Based, and Community-Based Participatory Research Approaches. New York, NY: Guilford Press; 2017.
- 29. Miles MB, Huberman AM. Qualitative Data Analysis: An Expanded Sourcebook. 2nd edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 1994.
- 30. Wickström A, Zetterqvist Nelson K. Psykisk hälsa ur barns och ungdomars perspektiv: De sociala relationernas avgörande betydelse [Psychological health from children's and young people's perspectives: The meaning of social relationships]. In: Johansson T, Sorbring E, editors. Barn- och Ungdomsvetenskap: Grundläggande Perspektiv [Child and Adolescent Science: Basic Perspectives]. Stockholm, Sweden: Liber; 2018:350-362.

- Schraml K, Perski A, Grossi G, Simonsson-Sarnecki M. Stress symptoms among adolescents: The role of subjective psychosocial conditions, lifestyle, and self-esteem. J Adolesc 2011 Oct;34(5):987-996. [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2010.11.010] [Medline: 21147499]
- 32. Hetrick S, Cox GR, Witt KG, Bir JJ, Merry SN. Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), third-wave CBT and interpersonal therapy (IPT) based interventions for preventing depression in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016 Aug 09(8):CD003380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003380.pub4] [Medline: 27501438]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 13.11.19; peer-reviewed by D Rahib, A Bedendo, C Nadal; comments to author 20.03.20; revised version received 21.04.20; accepted 27.04.20; published 09.07.20.

Please cite as:

 Trease cite as.

 Müssener U, Thomas K, Bendtsen P, Bendtsen M

 High School Students' Preferences and Design Recommendations for a Mobile Phone–Based Intervention to Improve Psychological

 Well-Being: Mixed Methods Study

 JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e17044

 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e17044

 doi:10.2196/17044

 PMID:32673268

©Ulrika Müssener, Kristin Thomas, Preben Bendtsen, Marcus Bendtsen. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 09.07.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Smart Indigenous Youth: The Smart Platform Policy Solution for Systems Integration to Address Indigenous Youth Mental Health

Tarun Reddy Katapally¹, PhD

¹Johnson Shoyama Graduate School of Public Policy, University of Regina, Regina, SK, Canada ²Community Health and Epidemiology, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

Corresponding Author: Tarun Reddy Katapally, PhD Johnson Shoyama Graduate School of Public Policy University of Regina 3737 Wascana Parkway Regina, SK, S4S 0A2 Canada Phone: 1 3065854544 Email: <u>tarun.katapally@uregina.ca</u>

Abstract

Indigenous youth mental health is an urgent public health issue, which cannot be addressed with a one-size-fits-all approach. The success of health policies in Indigenous communities is dependent on bottom-up, culturally appropriate, and strengths-based prevention strategies. In order to maximize the effectiveness of these strategies, they need to be embedded in replicable and contextually relevant mechanisms such as school curricula across multiple communities. Moreover, to engage youth in the twenty-first century, especially in rural and remote areas, it is imperative to leverage ubiquitous mobile tools that empower Indigenous youth and facilitate novel Two-Eyed Seeing solutions. Smart Indigenous Youth is a 5-year community trial, which aims to improve Indigenous youth mental health by embedding a culturally appropriate digital health initiative into school curricula in rural and remote Indigenous communities in Canada. This policy analysis explores the benefits of such upstream initiatives. More importantly, this article describes evidence-based strategies to overcome barriers to implementation through the integration of citizen science and community-based participatory research action.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21155) doi:10.2196/21155

KEYWORDS

Indigenous youth; mental health; school policies; health policy; digital health interventions; mHealth; systems integration; land-based learning; physical activity

Indigenous Youth Mental Health: A Historical and Cultural Perspective

According to the World Health Organization, suicide is the second leading cause of mortality among individuals aged between 15 to 29 years [1]. Although suicide rates vary between and within countries across various subpopulations, evidence clearly indicates that youth—especially Indigenous youth in settler nations such as Australia, Canada, and the United States—have significantly higher rates of mental illness and suicide [2]. The United Nations identifies Indigenous Peoples as inheritors and practitioners of unique cultures and ways of relating to people and the environment, and state that they are arguably among the most disadvantaged and vulnerable groups of people in the world [3].

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21155/

RenderX

Indigenous Peoples' culture, language, subsistence, and ways of life have been adversely affected by a history of colonization and forced assimilation [4,5]. The resultant intergenerational trauma continues to influence the health status of Indigenous communities [6-8]. This history of dispossession is particularly challenging for Indigenous youth due to a loss of identity, which is reflected in significant health disparities, high suicide rates, and poverty [9].

Although Indigenous Peoples were historically a healthy population [10,11], inter-generational inequities have resulted in poor holistic health [12], which encapsulates physical, mental, social/emotional, and spiritual/cultural aspects. As Indigenous Knowledge emphasizes that these varied aspects of holistic health are interdependent and interrelated, an imbalance across the spectrum of holistic health is detrimental to Indigenous Peoples [11,13].

With respect to youth mental health challenges, although there are indications of significant differences in prevalence across Indigenous communities [14], a common pattern is the dearth of Indigenous Knowledge use in facilitating youth mental health. This is disconcerting because evidence indicates that Indigenous Peoples possess the knowledge to enable culturally rich environments for youth to thrive. More importantly, while Indigenous Knowledge can be transferred across communities to enable Indigenous Ways of Knowing so that struggling communities can benefit from the success of thriving communities, this approach is rarely incorporated into policy or program decisions [14].

The push for preventive mental health policies and programs across settler nations is commendable, yet there is a risk of taking a one-size-fits-all approach in scalable interventions that are focused on top-down implementation rather than bottom-up, culturally appropriate, and strengths-based prevention strategies [15]. A potential key to the success of these strategies is the transfer of Indigenous Knowledge across communities by ensuring cultural connectedness that is specific to each community [14].

Culture incorporates spirituality, identity (individual, family, community, and nation), and traditions [16]. Strong cultural identity and cultural connectedness have been associated with better health, higher self-esteem, positive mental health, and lower rates of binge drinking [16-21]. Cultural connectedness can also act as a coping mechanism to deal with historical trauma, thus increasing personal and community health [21].

With such strong evidence of culture playing a role in holistic health, there is a need to normalize culturally appropriate policies and programs to facilitate Indigenous youth mental health [22]. However, these approaches need to be embedded in replicable and contextually appropriate mechanisms such as school curricula across multiple communities to ensure the exchange of Indigenous Knowledge [14]. In order to engage the youth of the twenty-first century, especially in rural and remote Indigenous communities, it is also imperative to leverage ubiquitous mobile tools for digital health interventions to not only address access gaps, but also to empower Indigenous youth. This approach will facilitate innovative Two-Eyed Seeing solutions [23-25], which incorporate Western digital epidemiological methods with Indigenous Knowledge.

Smart Indigenous Youth: An Innovative Systems Integration Policy Solution

Smart Indigenous Youth embeds a land-based, culturally appropriate, active living digital health initiative into school curricula to promote mental health, minimize substance abuse, and prevent suicide among Indigenous youth (13-18 years old) in rural and remote areas of the Canadian province of Saskatchewan. In implementing Smart Indigenous Youth, we are integrating services supported by the Saskatchewan ministries of health, education, and sport, thus enabling a policy of systems integration. The initiative uses the Smart Platform [26,27], which is the first citizen science and digital epidemiological platform for ethical population health surveillance, integrated knowledge translation, and policy and real-time interventions.

Citizen science approaches range from contributory and collaborative methods (data collection and analysis) to cocreation of knowledge (conceptualization and knowledge translation), where all participants contribute as citizen scientists [23,27,28]. The Smart Platform is informed by an evidence-based framework that integrates citizen science, community-based participatory research, and systems science through digital tools to conduct population health research in the digital age—the Smart Framework (Figure 1) [23]. In implementing Smart Indigenous Youth, our team combines the Smart Framework with Traditional Indigenous Knowledge to ensure Two-Eyed Seeing for participatory action research [24,25]. This approach aligns with the concept of citizen science, where knowledge is cocreated with Indigenous Peoples as equal partners.



Figure 1. The Smart Framework.



Smart Indigenous Youth is a mixed-methods 5-year longitudinal active living community trial. The initial pilot was conducted in 2019 with 2 schools located within 2 rural First Nations reserves in Saskatchewan, Canada. In Canada, Indigenous Peoples consist of 3 groups: First Nations, Inuit, and Métis. The discriminatory categorization of Indigenous Peoples in Canada is a complex subject, which is beyond the scope of this policy analysis but could be perused in Smylie and Allan's report, "First Peoples, Second Class Treatment" [29].

A reserve is a piece of land allotted to First Nations bands under the Indian Act, where First Nations band members have the right to live, and band administrative and political structures are located. First Nations do not have title to reserve lands, which are held in trust for bands by the British Crown [30]. Reserves often consist of less valuable land and are located outside the traditional territories of First Nations. Traditional hunting and gathering, which was the livelihood of many First Nations Peoples, was severely affected by the relocation away from First Nations' traditional territories, which were usually rich in natural resources [31].

Before the implementation of the Smart Indigenous Youth initiative, our team built strong partnerships with the communities based on equity, respect, and co-ownership. This partnership articulates not only study coconceptualization and cocreation of knowledge, but also co-ownership of data and integrated knowledge translation. Ethics approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Boards of Universities of Regina and Saskatchewan through a synchronized review protocol (REB # 2017-29).

In 2019, the study pilot year, 76 Indigenous youth citizen scientists (n=50 from School 1, n=20 from School 2), aged between 13-18 years, engaged with us in real time via a custom-built smartphone app using their own smartphones during their winter school term (ie, the intervention period). At baseline, Indigenous youth citizen scientists provided quantitative data using a combination of traditional validated measures and ecological momentary assessments via their smartphones. This quantitative data captured their physical activity, sedentary behavior, mental health, and substance abuse, among other behaviors and outcomes.

Before any engagement and data collection, Indigenous youth provided informed consent via the app (Figure 2) and had the option to drop out of the study (Figure 3) or pause data collection (Figure 4) at any time they wished. From the original cohort of 76 youth, 34 youth citizen scientists (n=16 from School 1, n=18 from School 2) became part of the Youth Citizen Scientist Council, which participated in baseline focus groups. Moreover, 2 school principals became educator citizen scientists to provide data on school policies and programs using the same custom-built smartphone app.



Figure 2. Citizen scientist informed consent via the smartphone app.



Q 2 229/ P

Figure 3. Study dropout option for citizen scientists.

I conffwould Ethica I have asser By choosing this option, all data collection related to this study will be stopped immediately, and you will not receive any notification related to this study anymore. Note that the data you have collected so far will not be deleted. To delete your collected data, please refer to the Profile section of the website. III website. I undi take visudy Are you sure you want to drop out of this study? III website. I undi mach Yes Cancel DROP OUT OF THE STUDY	SMA ① Uni ① Fro	NRT Indigenou iversity of Regina m May 4, 2020 (c	s Youth: Paskwa, S	2020
Mach Yes Cancel	I conf ^{ir} would I have asser I have quest I undi witho I undi take v study	By choosing to collection related be stopped im will not recei related to th Note that th collected so fai To delete your of refer to the Pri W Are you sure y of th	thica this option, all data ted to this study will mediately, and you ve any notification is study anymore. he data you have r will not be deleted. collected data, please rofile section of the rebsite. ou want to drop out his study?	this ts. my on. ill
	mach	Yes DROP OU	Cancel	



Figure 4. Data pause option for citizen scientists.

<			
	Se	ttings	
6			
	ි SYNC DATA	(II) P <i>4</i>	AUSE
+ ,	oin Study		
	My Studies		>
\oplus	Language		>
	Report		>
企	Data Upload		>
¢	Sign Out		
	User Ethica	ID: 13521 version: 320	

Thereafter, each school initiated separate 4-month (winter term) land-based active living programs that were specific to their culture, community, geography, and language (Cree and Soto). Land-based activities included traditional hunting, trapping, fishing, foraging, and plant identification, as well as recreational activities such as canoeing and hiking. After the winter term, follow-up focus groups were conducted with the Youth Citizen

Scientist Council to evaluate the impact of the culturally appropriate land-based intervention. Moreover, during the 4-month intervention period, youth and educator citizen scientists engaged with researchers in real time using their smartphones to capture the perception and impact of land-based activities through time and user-triggered ecological momentary assessments (Figure 5).

Figure 5. Ecological momentary assessments enabling citizen reporting of culturally appropriate land-based activities.

		×		
User ID	23710			
Question ID	Q_11		-	-
Location	N/A			- Alina
Response Time	May. 6, 2020 09:23		619	
Record your AUDIO or	use the TEXT option	in the second		
1. List the land-based	activities that you did last week.			がわり
2. Tell us what you like you feel	ed about doing these activities and how it made	1.1	a to	
Last week we went ice	fishing on the ice it was a good experience and I		1	

The initial findings from the analysis of mixed-methods data depict the overarching importance of culture, identity, history, and language, where land-based activities such as canoeing and setting traps played a role in improved youth mental health by providing youth a sense of purpose and identity. More importantly, Indigenous youth citizen scientists continue to play a critical part in integrated knowledge translation, as evidenced by our first round of knowledge mobilization, which provides a voice to Indigenous youth to contribute to the systems





RenderX

integration of the Smart Platform through digital engagement [32].

Benefits

Digital Health Interventions Enabling Systems Integration

The primary significance of the Smart Indigenous Youth initiative is systems integration (health, education, and sport)

to develop health policies that are embedded into school curricula. Current evidence clearly indicates that although Indigenous youth in rural and remote regions across the globe are more susceptible to poor mental health outcomes, existing healthcare policies do not meet the needs of Indigenous youth [33,34]. The World Health Organization's Mental Health Action Plan 2013–2020 has a global target of a 10% reduction in suicides by 2020 by strengthening information systems [35]. It is not evident if we are closer to achieving this goal, but addressing youth mental health—especially challenges faced by Indigenous youth—should be part of long-term plans to improve global mental health.

A recent systematic review that evaluated the evidence of intersectoral interventions addressing Indigenous child and youth mental health not only recommended novel responses, but also indicated that the success of these interventions will depend on the collaboration, cultural sensitivity, and empowerment of participants [36]. Moreover, this review recommends further research on the impact on social determinants of health, the extent of participant engagement, and Indigenous voices.

Smart Indigenous Youth enables an intersectoral intervention by bringing together health, education, and sports-related policies through a culturally sensitive and land-based initiative that empowers Indigenous youth by providing them a voice. The key to the success of Smart Indigenous Youth's systems integration is the innovation of combining citizen science, community-based participatory research, and systems science through ubiquitous devices [23]. This integration facilitates digital health interventions for mental health equity among Indigenous youth. The participatory approach of Smart Indigenous Youth creates opportunities for scalable and replicable digital health interventions since it is based on the implementation of a global digital citizen science policy [37].

Holistic Health Benefits, Including Mental Health

Evidence is well-established that active living not only combats the effects of chronic diseases but also interconnects and balances the 4 aspects of holistic health, recognized as physical, mental, social/emotional, and spiritual/cultural, within Indigenous worldviews [38-40]. The existing mainstream structure of active living access in schools, where the focus is on competitive sports, leads to cultures of privilege, exclusivity, and isolation [39]. Such an approach to physical activity goes against established evidence that the emphasis of healthy, active living should go beyond participation in structured competitive sports [41].

Land-based active living initiatives are a conduit for connecting with cultural roots to counter the impact of historical colonization and for providing holistic healing mechanisms that facilitate Indigenous youth mental health [42]. Smart Indigenous Youth is the first initiative to utilize digital citizen science approaches to focus on culture and local Indigenous Knowledge in understanding the pathways through which land-based active living influences mental health. This initiative builds on previous research on Indigenous youth engagement with nature using photovoice and the Two-Eyed Seeing framework [43]. This nature-based research concluded that urban Indigenous youth

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21155/
```

found nature to be a calming place that enables them to cope with stress, anger, and fear, among other difficulties they face in everyday life.

Indigenous Youth Empowerment

Given the burden of historical trauma and continued marginalization that affects the well-being of Indigenous youth, Smart Indigenous Youth uses a strengths-based approach that shifts the perceived deficits away from the individual. Instead, the emphasis is on placing health problems in the appropriate context, such as the oppression of residential schools [44]. Becoming citizen scientists allows youth to focus on their strengths and build resilience to face challenges related to anxiety, depression, and even substance abuse. Smart Indigenous Youth expands this approach to rural and remote Indigenous youth who are currently underserved by existing healthcare systems [33,34]. In implementing Smart Indigenous Youth, we focus on holistic health benefits by empowering youth with digital tools, where they engage with researchers in real time.

A key component of facilitating empowerment is building capacity among Indigenous youth for integrated knowledge translation. Smart Indigenous Youth is based on the Smart Framework's integrated knowledge translation approach [23], which is strengthened by the Youth Citizen Scientist Council with representation from varied genders and socioeconomic groups. The evidence that is generated by this initiative is disseminated and translated in collaboration with the Youth Citizen Scientist Council, which provides a voice to Indigenous youth as depicted by our first round of knowledge mobilization [32].

Barriers to Implementation

The primary barriers to implementation of Smart Indigenous Youth include systemic issues such as school principal employment term limits, participant burden in terms of citizen scientist compliance, and technological constraints such as internet inequity.

Systemic Issues: Limits on School Leadership

In implementing this complex digital health initiative into school curricula, a key component is relationship building with school leadership. The school principals who co-lead this initiative are the community champions that drive the implementation along with the research lead. Without the establishment of a strong partnership with school principals, this initiative would not succeed. Moreover, building partnerships takes time, as the research lead needs to understand not only the challenges of Indigenous youth but also the historical, cultural, and socioeconomic context of the communities within which the schools exist.

The school principals ensure the successful implementation of the initiative by coordinating and integrating the initiative into existing school protocols. Thus, the current term limit of 1 year for school principals places a major barrier in implementation as there is a risk that existing school principals, with whom strong partnerships have been established, will be replaced with new leadership. Such a scenario will not only result in the loss of valuable partnerships but also slow down the continuity of

XSL•FO RenderX

implementation, as new relationships would have to be established with new principals.

Participant Burden: The Role of Citizen Scientists

Indigenous youth and educators in each participating school participate and contribute to the Smart Indigenous Youth initiative as citizen scientists. This can cause substantial participant burden, as the expectation of citizen scientists is to play an equitable role in the initiative. This scenario varies significantly from studies where the expectation from participants ends with the provision of data. Citizen scientists in the Smart Indigenous Youth initiative have to longitudinally engage with the research team to provide not only quantitative and qualitative data using their own mobile devices but also participate in consultations for implementation and knowledge translation. As such, participation requires considerable commitment and investment in terms of time and energy, and could thus lead to considerable participant burden.

Technological Constraints: Internet Inequity

The most significant barrier to digital health interventions, especially in rural and remote communities, is internet inequity. Internet inequity is defined as differential internet access based on wealth, location (urban, rural, or remote), gender, age, or ethnicity [23]. In our experience of working with rural and remote schools, our team has observed that although more than 90% of youth and educators own smartphones, access to Wi-Fi or cellular data plans varies widely between communities, and it is not always the case that remote communities have lower access. For example, the most remote school in our initiative provided better Wi-Fi access to their students as part of their school curricula. However, it cannot be assumed that students from more remote schools will have better access to Wi-Fi outside of school hours, especially in their homes. That is, individual socioeconomic status plays a major role in internet access outside of school hours.

Evidence-Based Strategies to Address Barriers

Integrating Citizen Science and Community-Based Participatory Research Action

To circumvent school principal term limits and minimize citizen scientist burden, we employ the integration of citizen science and community-based participatory research action. As citizen science can range from contributory (data collection) and collaborative approaches (analysis and interpretation of data) to cocreation of knowledge (conceptualizing research and translating knowledge) [23,27,28], it has a natural overlap with community-based participatory research action. Moreover, as community-based participatory research action is entrenched in human rights and social justice, it can be applied to promote local policy change by bringing together community needs, scientific evidence, and political power [45,46]. By taking this approach, and by turning the challenge of school principals' 1-year terms into an opportunity, we are working to potentially expand Smart Indigenous Youth to new schools to which principals may be transferred. Thus far, we have been able to

successfully expand the initiative to 1 more rural school in 2020 due to the transfer of a school principal from the 2019 pilot.

To tackle citizen scientist burden, we established the Youth Citizen Scientist Council, which provides a voice to Indigenous youth to inform and influence school policies that are relevant to their holistic health [32]. This has maximized compliance as we have structured citizen science endeavors using community-based participatory research action principles, where citizens co-design studies and cocreate knowledge with researchers by contributing to all aspects of the research process. The integration of citizen science and community-based participatory research action is being catalyzed by the ubiquitous presence of smartphones that we are leveraging to overcome traditional constraints in terms of participant recruitment and retention, data collection and analysis, interventions, and knowledge translation [27].

Indigenization of Academia

In implementing initiatives such as Smart Indigenous Youth, strategic support from academic institutions, where the research is based, is critical for the ultimate success of these collaborative projects that are intensive in terms of human resources, time, and logistics. For instance, engaging Indigenous youth and educator citizen scientists requires recognizing their contribution with culturally appropriate incentives. This research is being conducted with a federally funded grant that earmarks participant incentives in the budget; however, there was a need to indigenize the financial processes to ensure the timely delivery of incentives.

For instance, our team had to influence purchasing and reimbursement processes so that citizen scientists received incentives before they participated in the initiative. Similarly, we also had to influence financial regulations to ensure that the relevance of incentivizing Indigenous citizen scientists is not questioned at the institutional level. Ultimately, the success of this difficult bureaucratic task depended on academic leadership in engaging citizens, communities, and institutional management to address population health issues that are of concern to citizens, communities, policymakers, and researchers.

Local Solutions to Tackle Internet Inequity

As part of the Smart Indigenous Youth initiative, we are engaging with policymakers, communities, schools, and citizens to develop bottom-up approaches for improving internet access to Indigenous youth. We are addressing this complex issue at 2 levels: (1) by engaging schools to provide participating youth access to school Wi-Fi before, during (class breaks), and after school hours; (2) by budgeting funds to provide mobile data plans to the most disadvantaged youth. In our experience, individual data plans are better suited than mobile Wi-Fi hotspots because they provide continuous data access to enable data capture in free-living conditions, without changing behavior patterns.

Conclusion

Digital health interventions have a tremendous potential to bridge geographic, economic, and social disparities by leveraging ubiquitous tools that are accessible to Indigenous

youth in rural and remote communities of the world. The Smart Indigenous Youth initiative embeds a digital health intervention into school curricula to integrate policies across systems. Moreover, this initiative empowers youth through culturally appropriate, land-based active living that is critical for their mental health. The Smart Indigenous Youth initiative provides a scalable and replicable model for digital health approaches that could be particularly effective in eventually developing policies to address the risk of mental illness in real time.

Acknowledgments

The principal knowledge users of the Smart Indigenous Youth initiative are the school principals, the File Hills Qu'Appelle Tribal Council, and the Saskatchewan Ministries of Health, Education, and Sport. The Youth Citizen Scientist Council is involved in implementing Smart Indigenous Youth, and in shaping school policies and programs. I am grateful to the youth and educator citizen scientists, and the staff and trainees of the Digital Epidemiology and Population Health Laboratory (DEPtH Lab) for their continuous support. I acknowledge the Canadian Institutes of Health Research for their support to the DEPtH Lab and the Smart Platform. The funding for this research is being provided by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research's Project Grant (#153226).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Suicide Internet. World Health Organization (WHO). 2019. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/suicide</u> [accessed 2020-05-15]
- Pollock N, Naicker K, Loro A, Mulay S, Colman I. Global incidence of suicide among Indigenous peoples: a systematic review. BMC Med Internet. 2018. URL: <u>https://bmcmedicine.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12916-018-1115-6</u> [accessed 2020-05-15]
- 3. Department OEA. Indigenous Peoples at the United Nations | United Nations For Indigenous Peoples Internet. 2020. URL: https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/about-us.html [accessed 2020-05-15]
- 4. United Nations OEA. State of the World's Indigenous Peoples. Department of Economic and Social Affairs. URL: <u>https://social.un.org/unpfii/sowip-vol4-web.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-15]
- 5. National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health. Culture and Language as Social Determinants of First Nations, Inuit and Metis Health. National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health. URL: <u>https://www.ccnsa-nccah.ca/docs/determinants/</u> FS-CultureLanguage-SDOH-FNMI-EN.pdf [accessed 2020-05-15]
- 6. Bombay A, Matheson K, Anisman H. The intergenerational effects of Indian Residential Schools: Implications for the concept of historical trauma. Transcult Psychiatry 2013 Sep 24;51(3):320-338. [doi: 10.1177/1363461513503380]
- 7. Menzies P, Clinical HR. Intergenerational Trauma from a Mental Health Perspective. Vol. 7, Native Social Work Journal. Phillips 1995.
- 8. Sherwood J. Intergenerational trauma isn?t just another determinant of Indigenous Peoples? health. J Ethics Ment Heal 2015.
- 9. Kirmayer L, Brass G, Holton T, Paul K, Simpson C, Tait C. Suicide Among Aboriginal People in Canada Internet. Aboriginal Healing Foundation. 2007. URL: <u>http://www.ahf.ca/downloads/suicide.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-15]
- LaBoucane-Benson P, Sherren N, Yerichuk D. Trauma, Child Development, Healing and Resilience A Review of Literature with Focus on Indigenous Peoples and Communities. PolicyWise for Children and Families. 2017. URL: <u>https://aventa.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Trauma-Child-Development-Healing-Resilience.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-15]
- 11. First NHA. Our History, Our Health Internet. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.fnha.ca/wellness/our-history-our-health</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 12. Wesley-Esquimaux C, Smolewski M. Historic Trauma and Aboriginal Healing. The Aboriginal Healing Foundation. 2004. URL: <u>http://www.ahf.ca/downloads/historic-trauma.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 13. Holistic Balance Overview from the First Nations Pedagogy Online Project Internet. First Nations Pedagogy Online. 2009. URL: <u>https://firstnationspedagogy.ca/holistic.html</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- Boksa P, Joober R, Kirmayer LJ. Mental wellness in Canada's Aboriginal communities: striving toward reconciliation. J Psychiatry Neurosci 2015 Nov 1;40(6):363-365. [doi: <u>10.1503/jpn.150309</u>]
- 15. Mental health and wellness in First Nations and Inuit communities Internet. Government of Canada. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1576089278958/1576089333975</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 16. Fleming J, Ledogar RJ. Resilience and Indigenous Spirituality: A Literature Review. Pimatisiwin 2008;6(2):47-64 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20963185]
- 17. Snowshoe A, Crooks CV, Tremblay PF, Hinson RE. Cultural Connectedness and Its Relation to Mental Wellness for First Nations Youth. J Primary Prevent 2016 Nov 2;38(1-2):67-86. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10935-016-0454-3</u>]
- 18. Improving the Health of Canadiansxploring Positive Mental Health Internet. Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2009. URL: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/improving_health_canadians_en.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]

- 19. The NAOS. Roundtable on the Promotion of Health Equity and the Elimination of Health Disparities; Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice; Institute of Medicine. Leveraging Culture to Address Health Inequalitiesxamples from Native Communities: Work 2013. [doi: 10.17226/18496]
- 20. Williams A, Clark T, Lewycka S. The Associations Between Cultural Identity and Mental Health Outcomes for Indigenous M?ori Youth in New Zealand. Front Public Heal Internet. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00319/full</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 21. Intersections: Indigenous Language, Health and Wellness First Peoples? Cultural Council Deliverable for FNIS UBC Practicum 2016 Statement of Intent Internet. Beek S van. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.fpcc.ca/files/PDF/Language/</u> <u>Intersections Indigenous Language Health and Wellness WebVersion.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 22. Harfield S, Davy C, McArthur A, Munn Z, Brown A, Brown N. Characteristics of Indigenous primary health care service delivery models: a systematic scoping review. Global Health Internet. 2018. URL: <u>https://globalizationandhealth.</u> <u>biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12992-018-0332-2</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 23. Katapally TR. The SMART Framework: Integration of Citizen Science, Community-Based Participatory Research, and Systems Science for Population Health Science in the Digital Age. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 30;7(8):e14056. [doi: 10.2196/14056]
- 24. Peltier C. An Application of Two-Eyed Seeing: Indigenous Research Methods With Participatory Action Research. Int J Qual Methods Internet. 2018. URL: <u>http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1609406918812346</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 25. Martin D. Two-Eyed Seeing: A Framework for Understanding Indigenous and Non-Indigenous Approaches to Indigenous Health Research. Canadian Journal of Nursing Research 2012;44(2):20-42.
- 26. Katapally T. Smart Platform: A Digital Epidemiological and Citizen Science Initiative Internet. 2020. URL: <u>https://smartstudysask.com/smart-indigenous-youth/</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 27. Katapally TR, Bhawra J, Leatherdale ST, Ferguson L, Longo J, Rainham D, et al. The SMART Study, a Mobile Health and Citizen Science Methodological Platform for Active Living Surveillance, Integrated Knowledge Translation, and Policy Interventions: Longitudinal Study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2018 Mar 27;4(1):e31. [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.8953]
- 28. Bonney R, Cooper C, Ballard H. The Theory and Practice of Citizen Science: Launching a New Journal. CSTP 2016 May 20;1(1):1. [doi: <u>10.5334/cstp.65</u>]
- 29. Allan B, Smylie J. First Peoples, Second Class Treatment: The Role of Racism in the Health and Well-being of Indigenous Peoples in Canad. Wellesley Institute. First Peoples, Second Class Treatment: The Role of Racism in the Health and Well-being of Indigenous Peoples in Canada, Discussion Paper. Wellesley Institute; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Summary-First-Peoples-Second-Class-Treatment-Final.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 30. Reserves Internet. Hanson E. 2009. URL: <u>https://indigenousfoundations.arts.ubc.ca/reserves/</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 31. The Reserve System ? Pulling Together: Foundations Guide Internet. Kory Wilson. 2018. URL: <u>https://opentextbc.ca/indigenizationfoundations/chapter/the-reserve-system/</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 32. Katapally T. Knowledge Mobilization. Smart Platform: A Digital Epidemiological and Citizen Science Initiative Internet. URL: <u>https://smartstudysask.com/knowledge-mobilization/</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 33. Chapter 16 Services for rural, remote and indigenous Australians ? Parliament of Australia Internet. Parliament of Australia. URL: <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Former_Committees/mentalhealth/report/c16</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 34. Rural and Northern Community Issues in Mental Health Internet. Canadian Mental Health Association. 2009. URL: <u>https://ontario.cmha.ca/documents/rural-and-northern-community-issues-in-mental-health/</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- Saxena S, Setoya Y. World Health Organization?s Comprehensive Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci Internet. 2014. URL: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/pcn.12207</u> [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 36. Williams L, Mumtaz Z. Being alive and well: Aboriginal youth and evidence-based approaches to promoting mental well-being. Saskatoon, SK: Prairie Region Health Promotion Centre 2007:A.
- 37. Katapally T. Global Digital Citizen Science Policy for Pandemics. J Med Internet Res Internet. URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/</u> 2020/5/e19357/ [accessed 2020-05-20]
- 38. Lévesque L, Janssen I, Xu F. Correlates of physical activity in First Nations youth residing in First Nations and northern communities in Canada. Can J Public Health 2015 Jan 1;106(2):e29-e35. [doi: 10.17269/cjph.106.4567]
- 39. First NHA. Healthy Living Internet. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.fnha.ca/what-we-do/healthy-living</u> [accessed 2020-05-25]
- 40. Ironside A, Ferguson LJ, Katapally TR, Foulds HJ. Cultural connectedness as a determinant of physical activity among Indigenous adults in Saskatchewan. Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab 2020 Sep;45(9):937-947. [doi: 10.1139/apnm-2019-0793]
- Sallis JF, Cervero RB, Ascher W, Henderson KA, Kraft MK, Kerr J. AN ECOLOGICAL APPROACH TO CREATING ACTIVE LIVING COMMUNITIES. Annu. Rev. Public Health 2006 Apr;27(1):297-322. [doi: 10.1146/annurey.publhealth.27.021405.102100]
- 42. Walsh R, Danto D, Sommerfeld J. Land-Based Intervention: a Qualitative Study of the Knowledge and Practices Associated with One Approach to Mental Health in a Cree Community. Int J Ment Health Addiction 2018 Oct 4;18(1):207-221. [doi: 10.1007/s11469-018-9996-3]

- 43. Hatala A, Njeze C, Morton D, Pearl T, Bird-Naytowhow K. Land and nature as sources of health and resilience among Indigenous youth in an urban Canadian context: A photovoice exploration. BMC Public Health Internet. URL: <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-020-08647-z</u> [accessed 2020-05-25]
- 44. Smith D, Varcoe C, Edwards N. Turning around the intergenerational impact of residential schools on Aboriginal people: Implications for health policy and practice. Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive Dec 1 2005;37(4).
- Cacari-Stone L, Wallerstein N, Garcia AP, Minkler M. The Promise of Community-Based Participatory Research for Health Equity: A Conceptual Model for Bridging Evidence With Policy. Am J Public Health 2014 Sep;104(9):1615-1623. [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2014.301961]
- 46. Promoting Healthy Public Policy through Community-Based Participatory Research: Ten Case Studies Internet. Minkler M, Vásquez VB, Chang C, Miller J. 2008. URL: <u>https://www.ccphealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/CBPR_final.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-25]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 08.06.20; peer-reviewed by AS Aslam; comments to author 29.06.20; revised version received 01.07.20; accepted 11.09.20; published 25.09.20.
Please cite as:
Katapally TR
Smart Indigenous Youth: The Smart Platform Policy Solution for Systems Integration to Address Indigenous Youth Mental Health
JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21155
URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21155/
doi:10.2196/21155
PMID:32975527

©Tarun Reddy Katapally. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.09.2020. This is open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License an (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Repeated Psychosocial Screening of High School Students Using YouthCHAT: Cohort Study

Hiran Thabrew^{1*}, BSc, BM, FRACP, FRANZCP; Harshali Kumar^{1*}, BSc, GDip (Psychotherapy); Mary Goldfinch^{2*}, BN; Alana Cavadino^{3*}, PhD; Felicity Goodyear-Smith^{4*}, MD, MB CHB, MGP, FRNZCGP, FFFLM (RCP)

¹Department of Psychological Medicine, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

²Tamaki College, Auckland, New Zealand

³Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

Corresponding Author:

Hiran Thabrew, BSc, BM, FRACP, FRANZCP Department of Psychological Medicine The University of Auckland Building 507, 22-30 Park Avenue Grafton Auckland, 1023 New Zealand Phone: 64 21402055 Email: h.thabrew@auckland.ac.nz

Abstract

Background: Psychosocial problems are common during adolescence and can have long-lasting effects on health and on academic and social functioning. YouthCHAT, an electronic HEEADSSS (home, education, eating, activities, drugs and alcohol, suicide and depression, sexuality and safety)-aligned instrument, has recently been demonstrated to be an acceptable and effective school-based psychosocial screener for 13-year-old (Year 9) high school students.

Objective: This study aims to compare acceptability and detection rates with repeated YouthCHAT screenings of high school students when they are 13 years old (Year 9) and 14 years old (Year 10).

Methods: We invited all Year-10 students to complete a YouthCHAT screening in 2018. Rates of positively identified issues were compared between the subset of students screened in both 2017 and 2018. Student acceptability toward YouthCHAT was investigated through focus group sessions. Onward clinical referral rates in 2018 were also investigated to explore the potential referral burden following screening. Data analysis for rates of positively identified issues were conducted with the McNemar test. Chi-square, Fisher exact test, and Kruskal-Wallis test were used to analyze the focus group data.

Results: Of 141 eligible Year-10 students, 114 (81%) completed a YouthCHAT screening during 2018, and 97 (85%) of them completed it for a second time. Apart from depression, which increased (P=.002), and perceived life stress, which decreased (P=.04), rates of identified issues were broadly similar between 13 and 14 years of age. Repeated screenings via YouthCHAT was acceptable to students and time-efficient (mean, 6 minutes and 32 seconds) but did not reduce the overall number of individuals with identified issues. Onward clinical referrals from positive screens were mostly managed by school-based health services without the need for external referrals.

Conclusions: Although further evaluation is needed, our results support the value of YouthCHAT as an acceptable and effective instrument with which to achieve routine identification of psychosocial issues and early intervention within a high school environment.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e20976) doi:10.2196/20976

KEYWORDS

RenderX

mass screening; mental health; school health services; eHealth

⁴Department of General Practice and Primary Healthcare, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

^{*}all authors contributed equally
Thabrew et al

Introduction

Adolescence is a period of great change and new challenges, when young people aged 13-18 years may experience psychological challenges that result in either distress or disorder [1]. These challenges can have a short-term impact on their general health, academic functioning, and relationships, and a longer-term impact on their adult functioning [2-4]. Almost half of adult mental health issues originate during adolescence, and early intervention can make a difference to their long-term trajectories [5,6]. Young people often find it hard to seek help, partly due to limited health literacy and the stigma of attending mental health services [7,8]. Many clinicians have also been found to lack the resources to identify psychosocial problems due to a lack of time, a lack of confidence, and concerns about the over-identification of problems for which personal management skills and access to services may be limited [9]. Although routine screening for psychosocial problems has been recommended for many years [10], until recently, this has not been feasible, primarily due to the lack of a suitable instrument that could identify the range of psychosocial issues faced by young people. Instead, opportunistic screening has been undertaken in schools and clinical settings using cumbersome and psychometrically invalidated face-to-face assessments such as the HEEADSSS (home, education, eating, activities, drugs and alcohol, sexuality, suicide and depression, safety) interview [11].

In New Zealand, routine psychosocial screening of high school students is undertaken using the HEEADSSS assessment. However, due to financial constraints, this is restricted to Year-9 students (13 year olds) in low decile schools [12]. In a typical high school, one or two school nurses take 6-12 months to complete these assessments [12]. Although completion rates are reported to the New Zealand Ministry of Health, outcomes of these assessments are neither reported nor published.

Our research group in Auckland, New Zealand, developed an electronic psychosocial screener called YouthCHAT (Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool) to be used with young people (aged between 13-25 years), based on the adult screener CHAT [13] and its electronic version, eCHAT [14]. It comprises 13 modules designed to align with the HEEADSSS interview and includes 3 validated screeners, for anxiety [the GAD-7 (7-item instrument for Generalized Anxiety Disorder)] [15]; depression [PHQ-A (Patient Health Questionnaire–Adolescents)] [16]; and substance misuse, such as smoking, drinking, and recreational drug use [SACS (Substances and Choices Scale)] [17]. Other domains covered by YouthCHAT are problematic gambling, general stresses, behavior problems, eating problems, exposure to abuse, sexual health, anger management problems, and physical activity [14]. For each positive screen within a domain, a help question appears, which asks participants if they would like help today or later. The help question provides an opportunity for young people and their health providers to further discuss any issues that young people may want to address, thereby enhancing mutual decision-making. YouthCHAT is designed to be accessed as a website by health providers who have secure access to it.

XSL•FO

Once a YouthCHAT screen is completed, a summary report is generated for the health provider to review [12].

A counter-balanced randomized trial comparing YouthCHAT and the HEEADSSS assessment was conducted in a low decile Auckland high school with 13-year-old (Year 9) students in 2017. The study was registered with the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR) ACTRN12616001243404p and was approved by the New Zealand Northern Region Ethics Committee (16/CEN/137/AM03). The study found that YouthCHAT was twice as fast to complete as the HEEADSSS assessment, as effective at identifying key psychosocial problems, and acceptable to both students and school nurses [12].

Due to the emergence of psychosocial problems across the whole of adolescence, it is likely that single episode screening, particularly when focused at its onset, will fail to identify the majority of problems faced by young people. We have previously proposed routine school-based screening as part of an annual health check to maximize the chance of early identification of psychosocial problems and normalize psychosocial screening within the context of a holistic health assessment. While YouthCHAT has shown promise as a psychosocial screener, its suitability for repeated use within a high school or other settings is currently unclear. Therefore, we decided to use YouthCHAT to rescreen the same cohort of 14-year-old (Year 10) students who were previously screened with YouthCHAT at 13 years of age in 2017, in the same high school [12]. Due to concerns about the potential burden on health services from positively screened individuals, we also planned to explore the nature of onward clinical referrals required by the group in 2018.

This study was designed to (1) provide novel insights into the acceptability of repeated screenings of high school students using an electronic screener such as YouthCHAT; (2) provide information on differing rates of psychosocial problems between 2 consecutive years (to see if rates increase with age, as might be expected during adolescence, and to see if being positively screened or receiving early intervention in 2017 was associated with a reduction in the severity of symptoms in 2018); and (3) provide information about resulting clinical referrals.

Our specific aims were to (1) compare acceptability and detection rates with repeated YouthCHAT screenings of high school students when they were 13 years of age (Year 9) and 14 years of age (Year 10), and (2) examine where onward clinical referrals were provided to those with identified needs.

Methods

Participants

All Year-10 (14- to 15-year-old) students at a low decile high school in Auckland, New Zealand, who had previously taken part in a YouthCHAT study in 2017 in Year 9 (at 13 to 14 years of age) [12] were invited to participate in this study, following the provision of paired informed individual assent and parental consent. No students were excluded. A subset of 20 students was invited to participate in a series of focus groups, during

which verbal and written feedback regarding their use of YouthCHAT was obtained.

Procedure and Instrumentation

Written informed consent from students and paired assent from parents were obtained using paper forms. As some students had left and others had arrived between 2017 and 2018, only a subgroup of the total sample consisted of paired participant data from the same students screened in both years. Differences in acceptability of repeated screenings and changes in rates of identified psychosocial problems were analyzed in this subgroup.

YouthCHAT screening was completed on a tablet device with a Wi-Fi connection to the YouthCHAT website in the school health center over an 8-month period, between April and November 2018. A series of 4 focus groups with between 5-10 participants each was conducted on school premises in November 2018 to obtain written and verbal feedback from a subset of students who had been invited to take part by the school nurse, based on their interest and availability.

Encrypted YouthCHAT results were manually extracted and securely stored on a University of Auckland server as per New Zealand Northern Region Ethics Committee (16/CEN/137/AM03) requirements. Student demographic and postscreening referral data were also manually extracted from Medtech (a locally utilized patient management software system) and securely stored on the University server. Written feedback from focus group participants was collected on paper forms and securely stored on University premises. Audiotaped feedback from focus group participants was transcribed by an agent who had signed a confidentiality agreement, and electronic audio-files were securely stored on the University server.

Outcomes

Psychosocial problems from YouthCHAT were measured by positive responses to any items. Substance misuse was measured by positive responses to A Stop Smoking In Schools Trial (ASSIST) [18] or the Substances and Choices Scale (SACS). Problems with eating were determined by positive responses to any items in the eating module. Mental health and distress were measured by positive screens to the PHQ-A or GAD-7 scale. Life stresses were measured by positive responses to questions regarding different stresses such as the following: issues at home, school, or work; money; or relationships with specific people in one's life. Sexual health was measured by positive responses to concerns regarding sexual orientation, risky sexual behavior, or exposure to unwanted sex. Safety was determined by positive responses to either the anger or abuse modules, and to being bullied or exposed to violence in the stress module. Physical inactivity was measured by negative responses to regular physical activity engagement.

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using Microsoft Excel (version 15.0; Microsoft) and Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS; version 25; IBM Corp). The YouthCHAT screening was considered positive if any items were acknowledged within each module. The depression, anxiety, and substance misuse

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20976/

modules were further examined to ascertain the severity of the results (rated as subthreshold, mild, moderate, or severe, according to the developers of the PHQ-A, GAD-7, and SACS). Analysis of paired data (for those who completed YouthCHAT in both 2017 and 2018) was conducted using the McNemar test for categorical variables. Focus group data from 2017 and 2018 were treated as independent groups. Responses to items regarding YouthCHAT and its use were analyzed using chi-square or Fisher exact tests to compare categorical variables; the Fisher exact test was used where there were any expected cell counts less than 5 [19]. The Kruskal-Wallis test was used for continuous or ordinal variables.

Results

Description of Participants

Of 141 eligible students, 114 (80%) were screened in 2018; incomplete data for 1 screening provided a total sample size of 113 for analysis in 2018 and 129 (93%) out of 139 in 2017. None of the invited students declined to take part in the study. A subset of 97 students who completed YouthCHAT screenings in both years were compared. In regard to participant ethnicity, of the paired subset, 60 (62%) students were Pacific Island, 24 (25%) were Maori, 1 (1%) was New Zealand European, 1 (1%) was Middle Eastern/Latin American/African, and 11 (11%) were of other ethnicities. The number of men (50/97, 52%) and women (45/97, 46%) in the paired subset were relatively similar, with 2 students (2%) identifying as gender diverse (which was an additional option in the 2018 YouthCHAT screener). Of the 20 participants invited to take part in focus groups, 16 agreed to do so. The self-reported demographic details of the 16 students who attended the focus groups were as follows: 5 men (31%), 9 women (56%), and 1 gender-diverse individual (6%); 7 (44%) were of Maori descent, 5 (31%) were of Pacific Island descent, and 3 (19%) were of other ethnic descent. Demographic details for 1 participant are unknown as they did not complete the attendance sheet.

Time Taken to Complete YouthCHAT and Time Period Between Screens in Paired Subset

The average time taken to complete YouthCHAT in 2018 was 6 minutes and 32 seconds (range, 2 minutes and 13 seconds to 16 minutes and 45 seconds). This was similar to the 8 minutes and 57 seconds (range, 1 minute and 45 seconds to 54 minutes and 15 seconds) taken by students in 2017. The Wi-Fi connection was lost for some students in 2017, which may explain the outlier of 54 minutes and 15 seconds. The average time period between the YouthCHAT screens in 2017 and 2018 was 11.4 months (range 6-18 months), with the time periods varying for each student from the paired subset.

Overall Detection Rates and Comparison of Results in a Paired Subset Between 2017-2018

Overall rates of detection of psychosocial problems and a comparison of results between 2017 and 2018 are presented in Table 1. The table displays the number of students who were positive for psychosocial problems in both years and the number of students who remained positive for the particular psychosocial problem in the repeated screening. It also represents the number

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

of new positive screens for psychosocial problems in the following year of YouthCHAT screening. There was a statistically significant reduction in the rate of perceived life stress (-13%; 95% CI -25.1% to -1.0%; P=.04), a statistically nonsignificant increase in the rate of substance misuse, and a statistically significant increase in the rate of depression (18.8%; 95% CI 6.8-30.7; P=.002) between the 2 years. According to the 2018 PHQ-A scores, of the 96 respondents, 25 students had subthreshold depression, 3 students had mild depression, 4 had moderately severe depression, and 1 had severe depression. Otherwise, rates of psychosocial problems between these screening events were broadly similar, with concerns about weight and eating, and behavior and anger, being the most reported issues. Of the 90 students who

self-identified with anxiety via the GAD-7 in 2018, 7 had subthreshold anxiety, 11 had mild anxiety, 7 had moderate anxiety, and 1 had severe anxiety. In regard to SACS scores, 8 students had scores greater than 2, indicating they required further assessment; 3 had scores greater than 4, indicating clinically significant problems; and 3 had scores greater than 6, indicating serious problems. Of the 5 students who screened positive for depression in 2017 and 2018, 3 had changed from severe to moderately severe symptoms, 1 remained unchanged with mild symptoms, and 1 had changed from moderate to moderately severe symptoms. Of the 8 students who screened positive for anxiety in both 2017 and 2018, 3 had changed from severe to moderate/mild, and 6 remained unchanged with either mild or subthreshold symptoms.

Table 1. Change in detection rates between 2017 and 2018 for students who completed found fractional screenings in both years (
--

YouthCHAT do- main	Total respons- es, N (%)	Total positive in 2017 ^a , n (%)	Total positive in 2018 ^a , n (%)	Remained positive in 2018 (% of those positive in 2017) ^b , n (%)	New positive screens in 2018 (% of those not posi- tive in 2017) ^a , n (%)	Difference in propor- tions positive in 2017 & 2018 (95% confidence inter- val)	P value ^c
Smoking	94 (97)	9 (10)	13 (14)	6 (67)	7 (7)	4.3 (-3.4 to 11.9)	.34
Drinking	92 (95)	5 (5)	10 (11)	3 (60)	7 (8)	5.4 (-2.0 to 12.8)	.18
Drugs	92 (95)	6 (7)	12 (13)	5 (83)	7 (8)	6.5 (-0.4 to 13.5)	.07
Eating disorder	95 (98)	93 (98)	94 (99)	92 (99)	2 (2)	1.1 (-3.6 to 5.7)	>.99
Depression	96 (99)	12 (13)	30 (31)	5 (42)	25 (26)	18.8 (6.8 to 30.7)	.002
Self-harm	93 (96)	6 (6)	5 (5)	2 (33)	3 (3)	-1.1 (-7.7 to 5.6)	>.99
Anxiety	90 (93)	20 (22)	19 (21)	8 (40)	11 (12)	-1.1 (-12.7 to 10.4)	>.99
Stress	92 (95)	29 (32)	17 (19)	9 (31)	8 (9)	-13.0 (-25.1 to -1.0)	.04
Behavior	92 (95)	53 (58)	48 (52)	36 (68)	12 (13)	-5.4 (-17.9 to 7.1)	.46
Sexual health	92 (95)	21 (23)	16 (17)	9 (43)	7 (8)	-5.4 (-15.7 to 4.9)	.36
Abuse	85 (88)	19 (22)	12 (14)	5 (26)	7 (8)	-8.2 (-19.8 to 3.4)	.19
Anger	85 (88)	33 (39)	32 (38)	19 (58)	13 (15)	-1.2 (-14.3 to 12.0)	>.99
Physical inactivity	88 (91)	37 (42)	26 (30)	17 (46)	9 (10)	-12.5 (-25.3 to 0.34)	.06

^aThe denominators (N) are represented in the "Total responses" column.

^bThe denominators for this column vary, as they are the total individuals screened positive to the YouthCHAT domains in 2017.

^c*P* value from the McNemar test.

Acceptability of Repeated Screening Using YouthCHAT

In 2018, the 16 students who took part in the focus group gave YouthCHAT a rating of 7.8 (range 5-10) on a point scale from "lame" to "awesome;" they also said it had been helpful for discussing psychosocial issues with their school nurse or doctor at a rating of 7.8 (range 5-10) on a 10-point scale from "not helpful at all" to "helpful." Although many (10/16, 63%) denied disliking any YouthCHAT questions, 6 of the 16 students (38%) said they did not like answering questions related to sexual health, substance misuse, exercise, anger, gambling, and depression. The results of student rating scores from both 2017 (n=10) and 2018 (n=16) are presented in Tables 2 and 3; they were not paired, as different groups of students attended the focus groups in each year. Overall, there were no major differences in the acceptability of YouthCHAT from one year to the next. Although fewer students said they had time to think about their responses in 2018, there was a notable reduction in feelings of embarrassment about discussing results with the school nurse, and a similar number of students reported comfort with disclosing things they would otherwise have not mentioned in both years.



Table 2. Comparison of student acceptability of YouthCHAT in 2017 (n=21) and 2018 (n=16).

Thabrew et al

Rated item	YouthCHAT in 2017 (n=21), n (%)	YouthCHAT in 2018 (n=16), n (%)	Change 2017- 2018, <i>P</i> value
Works for people my age	18 (86)	10 (63)	.14 ^a
I have time to think about my responses	16 (76)	7 (44)	.04
I felt safe answering the questions	14 (67)	9 (56)	.52
I talked about the things I wouldn't have mentioned	11 (52)	2 (13)	.01
It's easier to open up about my unhealthy behaviors and feelings	13 (62)	12 (75)	.40
It helped me identify the unhealthy behaviors and feelings I need help with	14 (67)	7 (44)	.16
Allowed my nurse to know about the unhealthy behaviors and feelings	13 (62)	8 (50)	.47
Has too many questions	6 (29)	3 (19)	.70 ^a
Questions are too personal	5 (24)	1 (6)	.21 ^a
I worried about the privacy of my information	9 (43)	3 (19)	.12
Takes too long	4 (19)	4 (25)	.71 ^a
Questions were difficult to understand	2 (10)	2 (13)	.37
Questions did not relate to me	1 (5)	0 (0)	>.99 ^a
Is boring	2 (10)	3 (19)	.63 ^a
I felt embarrassed to talk to my nurse about my answers	6 (29)	0 (0)	.03 ^a
My nurse was judgemental about things I opened up about	1 (5)	0 (0)	>.99 ^a
Objected to specific questions			
Substance misuse	9 (43)	7 (44)	.96
Sexual health	8 (38)	6 (38)	.97
Safety	6 (29)	1 (6)	.11 ^a
Physical inactivity	2 (10)	1 (6)	>.99 ^a
Gambling	0 (0)	1 (6)	.43 ^a
Depressed or low	0 (0)	2 (13)	.57 ^a
Anger control	0 (0)	1 (6)	.43 ^a

 ^{a}P value for YouthCHAT items from Fisher exact test; the remaining P values are from the Pearson chi-square test.

Table 3. Focus group ratings of YouthCHAT in 2017 (n=10) and 2018 (n=16).

Rated item on a 10-point scale	YouthCHAT in 2017 (n=10), mean (range)	YouthCHAT in 2018 (n=16), mean (range)	Change 2017- 2018, <i>P</i> value ^a
YouthCHAT helpfulness: "not helpful at all" to "helpful"	8.2 (5-10)	7.3 (3-10)	.57
YouthCHAT appraisal: "lame" to "awesome"	9.0 (8-10)	7.8 (5-10)	.33

^aP value for YouthCHAT rating from Kruskal-Wallis H test.

Onward Clinical Referrals From YouthCHAT Screening

Table 4 presents the number of students who were referred to internal school health staff, health services, and programs following the YouthCHAT screening in 2018. Onward clinical referrals were made by the school nurse based on the severity of the psychosocial issue (eg, a concerning score from the

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20976/

PHQ-A questionnaire) and whether school health staff were already seeing the student who screened positive for any psychosocial problems prior to the YouthCHAT screening. As evident from Table 4, most students with positive YouthCHAT screens who received onward clinical referrals following school nurse review of their results were seen by school-based practitioners, particularly nurses and counselors. Only a few required assistance from external community-based or specialist



health services. All students referred for onward clinical referrals had positive YouthCHAT screens, and most of those with depression (12/113, 11%), anxiety (19/113, 17%), and substance

misuse (11/113, 10%) had clinically significant levels of symptoms.

Table 4. Referrals to school staff or youth development services for 113 students screened with YouthCHAT in 2018. (Note: some onward clinical referrals to school health staff or external services overlap due to multiple referrals for some students.)

Psychosocial issue	No onward clinical re- ferral required, n (%)	Referrals to internal school staff			Referrals to external agencies and programs	
		Nurse, n (%)	Counselor, n (%)	Social worker, n (%)	n (%)	Type of referral
Depression	100 (88)	1(1)	13 (12)	N/A ^a	2 (2)	Specialist mental health service
Self-harm	104 (92)	1 (1)	9 (8)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Anxiety	97 (86)		16 (14)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Substance misuse	96 (85)	1 (1)	8 (7)	N/A	11 (10)	Addiction program
Sexual health	89 (79)	11 (10)	17 (15)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Eating/ exercise	95 (84)	1 (1)	3 (2.6)	N/A	15 (13)	Fitness program
Behavior concerns	95 (84)		17 (15)	N/A	1 (1)	Behavior support ser- vice
Safety	77 (68)	1 (1)	34 (30)	N/A	2 (2)	Anger management counseling agency
Stress	85 (75)		21 (19)	11 (10)	N/A	N/A

^aN/A: Not applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our results demonstrate that YouthCHAT remains an acceptable, efficient, and effective HEEADSSS-aligned instrument for undertaking repeated psychosocial screenings with high school students. They also suggest that most identified problems can be managed within the school environment. Overall rates of identified issues at 14 years of age were not that different from those identified at 13 years of age, which may be unsurprising given the fact that most significant mental health issues emerge between midadolescence and early adulthood [20]. However, the relatively high rates of anxiety (21%, compared to 13% in a 15-year-old youths sample from a previous New Zealand study) and depression (31%, compared to 3% in 2017 and 6% from the same previous New Zealand study of 15-year-old adolescents [21]) in this study are interesting to note. These may partly be explained by the predominance of students of Pacific Island ethnicity and their known propensity to experience twice the rates of these issues as other New Zealand youth [22]. Reasons for higher rates of these conditions in this group are not fully understood but may bear some relationship to culturally mediated values [23], status incongruity [24], and nonculturally related sociodemographic factors (such as social deprivation) [25].

Many of those identified with depression (42%), anxiety (40%), substance misuse (60-83%), and eating concerns (99%) at 13 years of age also screened positive at 14 years of age. Although it might seem like screening did not make a difference to later rates of these problems, the truth is probably more complex. This was a relatively small sample, and most students who screened positive for depression and anxiety experienced a

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20976/
```

RenderX

maintenance or improvement in symptoms, which, in the context of naturally increasing rates and severity of these conditions, may indicate that earlier intervention had some clinical effect. Certainly, larger, more detailed, and longitudinal studies are needed to more accurately evaluate the value of routine screening in reducing the long-term prevalence of psychosocial problems and their associated disability. The fact that most onward clinical referrals were undertaken by school nurses and counselors underscores the role of YouthCHAT in supporting early intervention within students' natural environments. It also assuages the concern that routine screening increases the risk of further burdening stretched specialist mental health services [12].

Limitations

This study was conducted at the same high school as a previous study so that results between both years could be compared. However, this remained a convenience sample, and the generalizability of study results to other high schools remains to be proved. The inclusion of primarily Pacific Island and Maori students, who comprised the bulk of students in the examined class, is both a strength and a weakness. Although they comprise 11% and 20% of the New Zealand population, respectively, Pacific Island and Maori youth have higher rates of psychological issues, including depression and suicide [22]. They are also usually harder to reach, accessing specialist services at lower rates than other ethnicities [26,27]. Due to funding limitations, feedback was not collected from school nurses or counselors regarding their satisfaction with receiving referrals following repeated YouthCHAT screenings.

Conclusions

This study demonstrates the acceptability and effectiveness of the repeated use of YouthCHAT for students. The fact that the

majority of positive screens to YouthCHAT were manageable within the school health setting supports the feasibility of routine psychosocial screening in the school environment and the likelihood of earlier intervention. YouthCHAT is available for use by schools and can be easily implemented by school nurses and counselors for opportunistic and routine psychosocial screening. Routine screening via YouthCHAT may lead to reduced costs compared with lengthy face-to-face clinical assessments and more timely interventions for students within the school environment. Recommendations for immediate research include trialing YouthCHAT with older (15- to 18-year-old) students within the same high school to examine age-related trends, and evaluating differing acceptability and rates of psychosocial problems between low and high decile, urban and rural, and English and Maori immersion schools. International studies, with or without culturally relevant adaptation, and longitudinal studies to gauge the impact of earlier intervention following routine screening, would also be worthwhile. For the moment, YouthCHAT remains the only electronic psychosocial screener with evidence of its acceptability and feasibility for repeated use in any type of setting.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the Starship Foundation, New Zealand (SF: 7353). We thank Margot Darragh, Research Fellow for YouthCHAT, and Jim Warren, Professor of Health Informatics, University of Auckland, for their contributions to this project.

Conflicts of Interest

FGS is the developer of YouthCHAT. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Collishaw S. Annual Research Review: Secular trends in child and adolescent mental health. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2014 Dec 12;56(3):370-393. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12372]
- Smith JP, Smith GC. Long-term economic costs of psychological problems during childhood. 2010 Jul;71(1):110-115. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.02.046</u>]
- 3. Pine DS, Cohen P, Gurley D, Brook J, Ma Y. The Risk for Early-Adulthood Anxiety and Depressive Disorders in Adolescents With Anxiety and Depressive Disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1998 Jan 01;55(1):56. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpsyc.55.1.56</u>]
- Lopez A, Mathers C, Ezzati M, Jamison D, Murray C. Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data. The Lancet 2006 May;367(9524):1747-1757. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68770-9]
- 5. Patel V, Flisher AJ, Hetrick S, McGorry P. Mental health of young people: a global public-health challenge. The Lancet 2007 Apr;369(9569):1302-1313. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60368-7]
- 6. Kieling C, Baker-Henningham H, Belfer M, Conti G, Ertem I, Omigbodun O, et al. Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. The Lancet 2011 Oct;378(9801):1515-1525. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60827-1]
- Yap MBH, Reavley NJ, Jorm AF. Associations between stigma and help-seeking intentions and beliefs: Findings from an Australian national survey of young people. Psychiatry Research 2013 Dec;210(3):1154-1160. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.08.029]
- Coles ME, Ravid A, Gibb B, George-Denn D, Bronstein LR, McLeod S. Adolescent Mental Health Literacy: Young People's Knowledge of Depression and Social Anxiety Disorder. Journal of Adolescent Health 2016 Jan;58(1):57-62. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.09.017]
- Thabrew H, McDowell H, Given K, Murrell K. Systematic Review of Screening Instruments for Psychosocial Problems in Children and Adolescents With Long-Term Physical Conditions. Global Pediatric Health 2017 Feb 10;4:2333794X1769031. [doi: 10.1177/2333794x17690314]
- Organization W. Global accelerated action for the health of adolescents (AA-HA!). Geneva: WHO. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/topics/adolescence/framework-accelerated-action/en/</u> [accessed 2020-01-01]
 [WebCite Cache ID https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/topics/adolescence/framework-accelerated-action/en/]
- 11. Goldenring JM, Rosen DS. Getting into adolescent heads: an essential update. Contemp Pediatr 2004;21(1) [FREE Full text]
- Thabrew H, D'Silva S, Darragh M, Goldfinch M, Meads J, Goodyear-Smith F. Comparison of YouthCHAT, an Electronic Composite Psychosocial Screener, With a Clinician Interview Assessment for Young People: Randomized Trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 3;21(12):e13911. [doi: 10.2196/13911]
- Goodyear-Smith F, Coupe NM, Arroll B, Elley CR, Sullivan S, McGill A. Case finding of lifestyle and mental health disorders in primary care: validation of the 'CHAT' tool. Br J Gen Pract 2008 Jan 01;58(546):26-31. [doi: <u>10.3399/bjgp08x263785</u>]
- 14. Goodyear-Smith F, Warren J, Bojic M, Chong A. eCHAT for Lifestyle and Mental Health Screening in Primary Care. The Annals of Family Medicine 2013 Sep 09;11(5):460-466. [doi: 10.1370/afm.1512]

- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092. [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092</u>]
- 16. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. JAMA 1999 Nov 10;282(18):1737-1744. [doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737] [Medline: 10568646]
- 17. Christie G, Marsh R, Sheridan J, Wheeler A, Suaalii-Sauni T, Black S, et al. The substances and choices scale (SACS)--the development and testing of a new alcohol and other drug screening and outcome measurement instrument for young people. Addiction 2007 Sep;102(9):1390-1398. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01916.x] [Medline: 17645425]
- 18. Group W. A. W. The alcohol, smoking and substance involvement screening test (ASSIST): development, reliability and feasibility. Addiction 2002;97(9):1183-1194. [doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00185.x]
- 19. Bolboacă SD, Jäntschi L, Sestraş AF, Sestraş RE, Pamfil DC. Pearson-Fisher Chi-Square Statistic Revisited. Information 2011 Sep 15;2(3):528-545. [doi: 10.3390/info2030528]
- 20. Series B. ABC of Adolescence. Viner, R, Patton, G, Michaud, PA, Sawyer, S, Macfarlane, A 2005.
- 21. Group N. Identification of Common Mental Disorders and Management of Depression in Primary Care. An Evidence-based Best Practice Guideline. In. Wellington: New Zealand Guidelines Group; 2008.
- 22. Zealand S. Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs. Health and Pacific peoples in New Zealand 2010;31.
- 23. Goldston DB, Molock SD, Whitbeck LB, Murakami JL, Zayas LH, Hall GCN. Cultural considerations in adolescent suicide prevention and psychosocial treatment. American Psychologist 2008;63(1):14-31. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.63.1.14]
- 24. McDade TW. Status Incongruity in Samoan Youth: A Biocultural Analysis of Culture Change, Stress, and Immune Function. Medical Anthropology Quarterly 2002 Jun;16(2):123-150. [doi: <u>10.1525/maq.2002.16.2.123</u>]
- 25. Maré DC, Mawson P, Timmins J. Deprivation in New Zealand: Regional Patterns and Changes. 2001. URL: <u>https://motu.nz/our-work/population-and-labour/individual-and-group-outcomes/</u> deprivation-in-new-zealand-regional-patterns-and-changes/
- 26. Crengle S, Clark T, Robinson E. The health and wellbeing of Māori New Zealand secondary school students in. Auckland: Youth 2000 Survey Series; 2012.
- Clark TC, Robinson E, Crengle S, Fleming T, Ameratunga S, Denny SJ, et al. Risk and Protective Factors for Suicide Attempt Among Indigenous Māori Youth in New Zealand: The Role of Family Connection. IJIH 2013 Jun 07;7(1):16. [doi: 10.18357/ijih71201112350]

Abbreviations

GAD-7: 7-item instrument for Generalized Anxiety Disorder
HEEADSSS: home, education, eating, activities, drugs and alcohol, sexuality, suicide and depression, safety
PHQ-A: Patient Health Questionnaire–Adolescents
SACS: Substances and Choices Scale
Youth CHAT: Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool

Edited by C Ahlers-Schmidt; submitted 03.06.20; peer-reviewed by B Nievas Soriano, A Wickersham, A Teles, A Seeley, MI Cajita; comments to author 30.06.20; revised version received 28.07.20; accepted 06.08.20; published 26.10.20.

Please cite as:

Thabrew H, Kumar H, Goldfinch M, Cavadino A, Goodyear-Smith F Repeated Psychosocial Screening of High School Students Using YouthCHAT: Cohort Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e20976 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20976/ doi:10.2196/20976 PMID:<u>33104007</u>

©Hiran Thabrew, Harshali Kumar, Mary Goldfinch, Alana Cavadino, Felicity Goodyear-Smith. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 26.10.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Short Paper

Parents' Perceptions of Their Children's Engagement in a Consumer-Based Meditation Mobile App: Cross-Sectional Survey Study

Megan Puzia¹, MS; Breanne Laird², MS; Jeni Green², PhD; Jennifer Huberty², PhD

¹Behavioral Research and Analytics LLC, Salt Lake City, UT, United States ²College of Health Solutions, Arizona State University, Phoenix, AZ, United States

Corresponding Author:

Megan Puzia, MS Behavioral Research and Analytics LLC 154 S Street Salt Lake City, UT, 84103 United States Phone: 1 7046043782 Email: meganpuzia@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: In the United States, nearly half (48%) of school-aged children experience sleep disturbance that results in less than the recommended sleep duration, which may negatively impact mental health and behavior. Mindfulness interventions may improve sleep and mental health in youth. However, there are gaps in the literature regarding how children (2-12 years) and adolescents (13-17 years) practice mindfulness and the extent to which they benefit from these practices.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to determine parents' perceptions of their children's engagement with a consumer-based mindfulness meditation app and the extent to which they believe their children have benefitted from using the app, particularly with regard to sleep.

Methods: This study is a secondary analysis of a cross-sectional survey in adult subscribers (N=11,108) to the mindfulness meditation mobile app Calm. Participants who indicated that they had a child or children younger than 18 years (2944/11,108) who used the Calm app were asked additional questions related to their perceptions of their children's engagement with Calm. Descriptive statistics were used to assess children's app engagement, and chi-square tests and binary logistic regression models were used to assess differences in children's usage based on gender and age.

Results: Among the survey respondents, approximately half of the parents (1537/2944, 52.21%) reported that their children used Calm. Children used Calm mostly for (1) sleep (1168/1537, 75.99%), (2) stress (491/1537, 31.95%), (3) depression or anxiety (430/1537, 27.98%), and (4) improvement of overall health (215/1537,13.99%). Older children were more likely to begin using Calm to reduce stress, depression, or anxiety, whereas younger children were more likely begin using Calm to improve sleep. Most children used Calm when lying down to go to bed (1113/1529, 72.79%). Children were most likely to use sleep stories at night (1144/1207, 94.78%), followed by music and soundscapes (749/1114, 67.24%), meditations (736/1120, 65.71%), and breathing exercises (610/1092, 55.86%). Nearly all parents believed that using sleep stories was helpful for their children's sleep (1090/1128, 96.63%), and the majority of parents felt that the other components were also helpful for their children's sleep (music and soundscapes [570/728, 78.30%], meditations [445/696, 63.94%], and breathing exercises [610/1092, 55.86%]).

Conclusions: To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore parents' perceptions of how their children or adolescents use a popular consumer-based mindfulness mobile app (ie, Calm). As the majority of children use the app for sleep, mindfulness meditation mobile apps should consider incorporating age-appropriate sleep content to meet the needs of this audience. More research is needed to confirm the feasibility and effectiveness of mindfulness meditation apps for improving sleep and mental health in children and adolescents.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e24536) doi:10.2196/24536

KEYWORDS mindfulness; meditation; children; mental health; sleep; mHealth

Introduction

In the United States, half (48%) of school-aged children (6-14 years) experience sleep disturbance (eg, insomnia, nightmares, sleep walking) most nights of the week that results in less than the recommended sleep duration (ie, 9 hours) [1,2], which is an important public health problem [3,4]. Sleep difficulties often persist from early and middle childhood through adolescence and early adulthood [5], and they are predictive of neurodevelopmental, psychosocial, and behavioral health concerns in later life [1,6]. There is a need for tools that have the potential to improve children's sleep and downstream effects that poor sleep may have on emotional and behavioral outcomes.

Mindfulness is the practice of being intentionally engaged in the present moment with nonjudgmental awareness of one's thoughts, feelings, and sensations [7]. Studies have suggested that mindfulness interventions can lead to improvements in stress, mental health, and sleep in both adults [8] and youth [9-11]. Although there is growing interest in mindfulness-based activities for children (2-12 years) and adolescents (13-17 years) [12], especially in schools [13], there are substantial knowledge gaps in the ways that children and adolescents practice mindfulness and the extent to which they benefit from these practices, particularly in regard to sleep.

The increasing use of technology (eg, smartphones, tablets) in children's lives makes mobile apps a convenient way to deliver mindfulness-based interventions that support health and well-being [10]. Though the current evidence related to the engagement and efficacy of mindfulness-based mobile apps in children and adolescents is lacking, research suggests that mindfulness-based mobile apps may be beneficial for mental health in adolescents [14,15], and the online delivery of

mindfulness interventions are often better attended or preferred than in-person delivery [15,16]. However, a recent review of 36 free mindfulness-based apps for children reported that most failed to achieve a good quality rating score [10]. There is clearly room for improvement in mindfulness apps for the benefit of children and adolescents. Considering the potential for mindfulness apps to help improve sleep and mental health, more research is needed to better understand how children and adolescents engage with popular mindfulness apps in order to better meet the needs of this audience. Therefore, the purpose of this study is to determine parents' perceptions of their children's engagement with a commercially available mindfulness-based app and the extent to which they believed their children benefitted from using the app, particularly with regard to sleep.

Methods

Overview

The findings presented in this paper were part of a survey conducted in adult subscribers to the mindfulness meditation app Calm (N=11,108) [17]. Subscribers were eligible for the survey if they (1) were at least 18 years old, (2) could read and understand English, and (3) had used at least one sleep component of the Calm app in the previous 90 days. Subscribers received an email inviting them to answer a survey regarding their use of Calm. Participants who had children younger than 18 years were also asked about whether and in what ways their child or children used Calm.

Measures

An investigator-developed survey was used to obtain information from parents about how their children used Calm (see Textbox 1 for a complete list of questions).

Textbox 1. Survey questions for parents.

Г

1. Do your children use Calm?	
- Yes	
- No	
2. What are the gender(s) of your children who use Calm?	
- Boys	
- Girls	
- Other	
3. How old are your children who use Calm?	
4. Why do your children use Calm?	
- Improve overall health	
- Reduce stress	
- Reduce depression or anxiety	
- Improve sleep	
- Other	
5. When do your children use Calm?	
- Within the 30 minutes after waking	
- In the morning, but not within 30 minutes of waking	
- In the afternoon	
- In the evening	
- At night, but not within 30 minutes of going to bed	
- Within 30 minutes before lying down to go to bed at night	
- While lying down to go to bed at night	
- When I wake up during the night and I can't fall back asleep	
6. Which best describes how your children use Calm at night?	
- I try to use Calm on a regular basis	
- I sometimes/occasionally use Calm	
- I use Calm only when I need it	
7. How many times per week do your children use each component at night or in order to help with sleep?	
- Sleep Stories	
- Music/soundscapes	
- Sleep meditations	
- Meditations	
- Breathing exercises	
- None of the above	
8. [Of selected components] Do you think that using each of the following components has been helpful for your children's sleep?	
- Very much helpful	
- Somewhat helpful	
- Not noticeably helpful	
	I

Statistical Analyses

XSL•FO RenderX

All analyses were conducted in IBM SPSS Statistics version 26.0 (IBM Corp). Descriptive statistics were used to assess children's app engagement. Differences in children's usage

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24536/

based on gender and age were assessed using chi-square tests and binary logistic regression models.

Results

Of the 11,108 survey respondents, 2944 (26.50%) reported having children younger than 18. Half of the parents (1537/2940, 52.28%) reported that their children used Calm (see Table 1).

On average, children who used Calm were aged 9.66 (SD 4.11) years (see Figure 1). Approximately 60.83% (935/1537) of parents had boys and 66.95% (1029/1537) had girls who used Calm. Boys using Calm tended to be younger than girls ($F_{1.710}$ =19.91; P<.001; d=0.34).

Parents most often reported that the reason that their children started using Calm was to improve sleep (1174/1537, 76.38%), followed by reducing stress (493/1537, 32.08%), reducing depression or anxiety (427/1537, 27.78%), and improving overall health (216/1537, 14.05%). Parents of older children were more likely to report that their children began using Calm

to reduce stress, depression, or anxiety, whereas parents of younger children were more likely to report that their children began using Calm to improve sleep (see Table 2). There were no gender differences in the reasons for using Calm.

Most parents reported that their children used Calm when lying down to go to bed (1113/1529, 72.79%). When using Calm at night, children were most likely to use sleep stories (1144/1207, 94.78%), followed by music and soundscapes (749/1114, 67.24%), meditations (736/1120, 65.71%), and breathing exercises (610/1092, 55.86%). Nearly all parents believed that sleep stories were helpful for their children's sleep (1090/1128, 96.63%), and the majority felt the other components were also helpful (music and soundscapes [570/728, 78.30%], meditations [445/696, 63.94%], breathing exercises [322/576, 55.90%]). Older children used meditations and breathing exercises more often than younger children, and girls used breathing exercises more often than boys (see Table 3).

Table 1. Characteristics of parents whose children used Calm.

Characteristic	Participants, n (%)
Gender	
Male	141 (10.14)
Female	1250 (89.86)
Ethnicity	
Hispanic	89 (6.46)
Non-Hispanic	1288 (93.54)
Race	
White or European American	1166 (78.31)
Asian or Asian American	49 (3.29)
Black or African American	35 (2.35)
American Indian or Alaskan Native	20 (1.34)
Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	6 (0.40)
Biracial or multiracial	58 (3.90)
Other race	66 (4.43)
Sleep difficulties	
Falling asleep	993 (64.61)
Staying asleep	631 (41.05)
Waking up too early	170 (11.06)
Getting a restful night's sleep	604 (39.30)
None	221 (14.38)

Puzia et al

Figure 1. Age distribution of children using Calm.



Table 2. Reasons for starting Calm by age (n=751).^a

Reason	Coefficient (95% CI)	<i>P</i> value
Improve sleep		
Constant	5.73	<.001
Age	0.93 (0.90-0.97)	<.001
Reduce stress		
Constant	0.09	<.001
Age	1.18 (1.13-1.22)	<.001
Reduce depression or anxiety		
Constant	0.64	<.001
Age	1.20 (1.16-1.26)	<.001
Improve overall health		
Constant	0.11	<.001
Age	1.01 (0.96-1.06)	.82

^aIn all models, coefficients for constants reflect intercepts in the logistic regression models, which can be interpreted as the odds that parents endorsed the outcome (reason for using Calm) when the predictor (age) is equal to 0. Age was a continuous variable.



Table 3. Frequency of component usage by age and gender.^a

Model	Coefficient	SE	P value
Component usage by age (n=751)			
Sleep stories			
Constant	3.58	0.26	<.001
Age	-0.4	0.03	.17
Music			
Constant	2.56	0.30	<.001
Age	-0.03	0.03	.29
Meditations			
Constant	0.57	0.25	.02
Age	0.09	0.03	<.001
Breathing exercises			
Constant	0.38	0.25	.13
Age	0.09	0.02	.001
Component usage by gender (n=717)			
Sleep stories			
Constant	3.14	0.16	<.001
Gender=female	0.28	0.22	.20
Music			
Constant	2.25	0.20	<.001
Gender=female	0.05	0.26	.84
Meditations			
Constant	1.29	0.16	<.001
Gender=female	0.26	0.21	.23
Breathing exercises			
Constant	0.91	0.16	<.001
Gender=female	0.48	0.22	.03

^aIn all models, coefficients for constants reflect intercepts in the regression models, which can be interpreted as the expected values of the outcome (weekly usage frequency) when the predictor (age, gender) is equal to 0. Age was a continuous variable. Gender was a dichotomous variable in which male was coded as 0, and female was coded as 1 (therefore, the intercept can be interpreted as the expected value for boys).

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first study to assess children's engagement with the popular mindfulness app Calm and the potential benefits associated with its use. Most children who used Calm were elementary school aged (ie, 4 to 11 years), with similar rates of use in boys and girls. Older children were more likely to use Calm to reduce stress, anxiety, or depression compared with younger children, who were more likely to use Calm for better sleep. According to parents, children mostly used Calm at night, with sleep stories being the most popular component and the component perceived as the most helpful for their child's sleep.

Parents reported similar rates of app usage for boys and girls, but girls used the app longer (continued to use it with age).

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24536/

RenderX

Research has shown that in adults, women meditate more, find it more enjoyable, and report greater benefits from it than do men [18]. Given that younger boys appear to be just as likely to meditate as younger girls, mindfulness-based apps may consider content that engages boys and will continue to engage them with age, given their needs and preferences as they get older.

Interestingly, older children and adolescents were more likely to begin using Calm to reduce stress, depression, or anxiety, while younger children were more likely to begin using Calm to improve sleep. Marked increases in stressors have been observed in children and adolescents as they age [19], which may also explain the greater likelihood of older children and adolescents using Calm for their mental health. Additionally, our data suggest that parents reported the usage of Calm in their children to decline around the age of 11 years, which also highlights the need for consumer-based mindfulness mobile

apps to better meet the needs of children and adolescents (eg, age-appropriate content, peer support, resources).

Although this app was not exclusively designed for children, Calm provides child-specific content, and many parents use this app. This survey revealed that children use Calm for sleep, and potential positive effects in mental health may be observed. Future research should include randomized controlled trials to test the app's effectiveness in children.

Finally, as the majority of parents indicated that sleep was a primary reason their children used Calm and that their children used Calm when lying down to go to bed, these data highlight the need for mobile apps to target sleep in children and adolescents. Although sleep stories were appealing and helpful, older children were also likely to use meditations and breathing exercises to help them sleep. This suggests that app developers may want to create content appropriate for a teenage or adolescent audience and that mindfulness-based apps developed for children should incorporate strategies to improve sleep specifically.

Limitations

Though this was one of the first studies that explored parents' perceptions of their children's engagement with a commercially available mindfulness-based app, there are limitations. First,

most of our sample was White and well educated. There is a need to explore perceptions in more diverse populations. Second, parents' perceptions of their children's engagement in the Calm app may be biased, especially in parents who used Calm for sleep, were generally satisfied with Calm, and reported it to be helpful for their sleep, as they may have perceived Calm to be more helpful compared with what their children believed. However, studies suggest that children, especially those younger than 7, are not able to respond accurately to self-reported behavior, and parents' perceptions may be more useful data [20]. Although children in this sample were older than 7, age was unknown before the survey was administered. Third, this was a cross-sectional survey, and therefore, we do not know the true effects of the Calm app for improving sleep in children.

Conclusions

This is the first study to explore how children and adolescents use consumer-based mindfulness mobile apps. These data are important, as they suggest that children, especially younger children, and adolescents of parents who engage in a mindfulness-based apps often use these apps for sleep and that as children get older, they are more likely to use these apps to for their mental health. However, more research is needed to confirm the feasibility and effectiveness of these apps for improving sleep and mental health in children and adolescents.

Conflicts of Interest

JH has been conducting investigator-driven research with Calm for over 5 years and is currently consulting as the Director of Science at Calm. As Director of Science, JH directs the Scientific Advisory Board, whose role is to ensure the quality of Calm's science. JH has no equity or stock in Calm and receives no financial incentives from the sales of Calm. All other authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Williamson AA, Mindell JA, Hiscock H, Quach J. Longitudinal sleep problem trajectories are associated with multiple impairments in child well-being. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2020 Oct;61(10):1092-1103. [doi: <u>10.1111/jcpp.13303</u>] [Medline: <u>32713013</u>]
- 2. Owens J. Classification and Epidemiology of Childhood Sleep Disorders. Sleep Med Clin 2007 Sep;2(3):353-361. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsmc.2007.05.009]
- 3. Hafner M, Stepanek M, Taylor J, Troxel WM, van Stolk C. Why sleep matters-the economic costs of insufficient sleep: a cross-country comparative analysis. Rand Health Q 2017 Jan;6(4):11 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>28983434</u>]
- 4. American Academy of Pediatrics. Only half of US children get enough sleep during the week. Science Daily. 2019 Oct 25. URL: <u>https://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2019/10/191025075604.htm</u> [accessed 2020-09-21]
- Sivertsen B, Harvey AG, Pallesen S, Hysing M. Trajectories of sleep problems from childhood to adolescence: a population-based longitudinal study from Norway. J Sleep Res 2017 Feb;26(1):55-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jsr.12443] [Medline: 27530929]
- 6. Gregory AM, Sadeh A. Annual Research Review: Sleep problems in childhood psychiatric disorders a review of the latest science. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2016 Mar;57(3):296-317. [doi: <u>10.1111/jcpp.12469</u>] [Medline: <u>26412255</u>]
- 7. Kabat-Zinn J. Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future. Clin Psychol Sci Pract 2006 May 11;10(2):144-156. [doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bpg016]
- Lau WKW, Leung M, Wing Y, Lee TMC. Potential mechanisms of mindfulness in improving sleep and distress. Mindfulness (NY) 2018;9(2):547-555 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-017-0796-9] [Medline: 29599851]
- Mendelson T, Greenberg MT, Dariotis JK, Gould LF, Rhoades BL, Leaf PJ. Feasibility and preliminary outcomes of a school-based mindfulness intervention for urban youth. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2010 Oct;38(7):985-994. [doi: 10.1007/s10802-010-9418-x] [Medline: 20440550]
- Nunes A, Castro SL, Limpo T. A review of mindfulness-based apps for children. Mindfulness 2020 May 23;11(9):2089-2101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-020-01410-w]

- Biegel GM, Brown KW, Shapiro SL, Schubert CM. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for the treatment of adolescent psychiatric outpatients: A randomized clinical trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2009 Oct;77(5):855-866. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0016241</u>] [Medline: <u>19803566</u>]
- 12. Whitworth C, Currie JL. Children's perceptions of mindfulness classes. J Educ Hum Dev 2019;8(2):41. [doi: 10.15640/jehd.v8n2a5]
- 13. Rempel KD. Mindfulness for children and youth: A review of the literature with an argument for school-based implementation. Can J Counselling Psychother 2012;46(3):201-220 [FREE Full text]
- Donovan E, Rodgers RF, Cousineau TM, McGowan KM, Luk S, Yates K, et al. Brief report: Feasibility of a mindfulness and self-compassion based mobile intervention for adolescents. J Adolesc 2016 Dec;53:217-221. [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.09.009] [Medline: 27814499]
- Tunney C, Cooney P, Coyle D, O'Reilly G. Comparing young people's experience of technology-delivered v. face-to-face mindfulness and relaxation: two-armed qualitative focus group study. Br J Psychiatry 2017 Apr;210(4):284-289. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.115.172783] [Medline: 27765773]
- Chadi N, Weisbaum E, Vo DX, Ahola Kohut S. Mindfulness-Based Interventions for Adolescents: Time to Consider Telehealth. J Altern Complement Med 2020 Mar;26(3):172-175. [doi: <u>10.1089/acm.2019.0302</u>] [Medline: <u>31765222</u>]
- 17. Huberty J, Puzia M, Larkey L, Irwin M, Vranceanu A. Use of the consumer-based meditation app Calm for sleep disturbances: A cross-sectional survey. JMIR Form Res. Preprint posted online October 26, 2020. [doi: <u>10.2196/19508</u>]
- Upchurch DM, Johnson PJ. Gender Differences in Prevalence, Patterns, Purposes, and Perceived Benefits of Meditation Practices in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2019 Feb;28(2):135-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2018.7178] [Medline: 30543475]
- 19. Eiland L, Romeo R. Stress and the developing adolescent brain. Neuroscience 2013 Sep 26;249:162-171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.10.048] [Medline: 23123920]
- 20. Norwood S. Validity of self-reports of psychopathology from children of 4–11 years of age. Vulnerable Child Youth Stud 2007 Jul 10;2(2):89-99. [doi: 10.1080/17450120701403136]

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 23.09.20; peer-reviewed by N Kaur, H Henriksson, S Butler; comments to author 09.10.20; revised version received 14.10.20; accepted 20.10.20; published 13.11.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Puzia M, Laird B, Green J, Huberty J Parents' Perceptions of Their Children's Engagement in a Consumer-Based Meditation Mobile App: Cross-Sectional Survey Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e24536 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24536/</u> doi:10.2196/24536 PMID:<u>33185564</u>

©Megan Puzia, Breanne Laird, Jeni Green, Jennifer Huberty. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Qualitative Evaluation of Web-Based Digital Intervention to Prevent and Reduce Excessive Alcohol Use and Harm Among Young People Aged 14-15 Years: A "Think-Aloud" Study

Laura Elizabeth Tinner¹, BA, MSc, PhD; Eileen Kaner², BSc, MSc, PhD; Claire Garnett³, BSc, MSc, PhD; Siobhan Mitchell⁴, MSc, PhD, MRES; Matthew Hickman¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Rona Campbell¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Georgina MacArthur¹, BSc, MPH, PhD

- ²Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle, United Kingdom
- ³Department of Behavioural Science and Health, UCL, London, United Kingdom

⁴University of Exeter Medical School, Exeter, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Laura Elizabeth Tinner, BA, MSc, PhD Department of Population Health Sciences Bristol Medical School University of Bristol Canynge Hall, 39 Whatley Road Bristol United Kingdom Phone: 44 117 33 13401 Email: <u>laura.tinner@bristol.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: In the United Kingdom, despite some downward trends in alcohol use among young people, over one-fifth of young people reported excessive alcohol use in the past month, which is associated with short- and long-term harm to health. Digital interventions to reduce alcohol use, such as websites, among young people present an appealing and cost-effective mode of intervention that can be integrated into the education system. However, relatively few school-based digital alcohol-focused interventions have been developed and evaluated for young people in the United Kingdom.

Objective: This study aims to develop a novel web-based intervention, *Rethink Alcohol*, to prevent and reduce excessive alcohol use and related harm among young people aged between 14 and 15 years, and explore the views of young people, teachers, and youth workers in relation to the content, design, and usability of the intervention.

Methods: Intervention development followed the person-based approach, using theories of social norms and social influence. Qualitative "Think-Aloud" interviews, either one-to-one or paired, were conducted while participants perused and worked through the web-based intervention, talking aloud. Participants included 20 young people (12 female, 8 male), 5 youth workers (4 female, 1 male), 3 teachers (2 male, 1 female), and 1 (male) clinical professional, recruited via youth groups and professional networks. Interviews were audio recorded, transcribed verbatim, and analyzed thematically.

Results: The prototype web-based intervention included normative feedback, information, a quiz, interactive activities, and scenarios. On a rating scale of impressions from poor (1) to excellent (5), participants gave an average score of 3.6/5. A total of 5 themes were identified: content, credibility of the website, making the website easy to understand, design and navigation, and suitability for the audience. These themes reflected views that the content was interesting, credible, informative, and embodied a neutral and nonjudgmental tone, but stronger messaging was needed regarding social pressures and short-term risks regarding safety and risk behavior alongside clarity around pathways of risk; credibility and trustworthiness of information were critical features, determined in part, by the professionalism of design and referencing of sources of information provided; and messages should be succinct and come to life through design and interactive features.

Conclusions: Together, the data illustrated the importance and challenge of communicating nuanced alcohol-focused public health messages to young people in concise, clear, nonjudgmental, and appealing ways. Young people report interest in clear,

¹Department of Population Health Sciences, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

credible, neutral, and interactive messages regarding social pressures and short-term risks of alcohol use via a web-based intervention. There is scope for optimization and feasibility testing of the *Rethink Alcohol* intervention.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19749) doi:10.2196/19749

KEYWORDS

public health; adolescent; mobile phone; alcoholic intoxication; internet

Introduction

Background

Although downward trends have been observed in alcohol use among young people aged between 16 and 24 years in the United Kingdom, consumption is higher than for other age groups [1] and over one-fifth report being drunk, in the past month [2]. Digital technologies, such as smartphones, are increasingly integrated into behavior, lifestyle, and education. Approximately 90% of young people in the United Kingdom aged between 16 and 24 years, and 41% of those aged between 5 and 15 years own a smartphone [3,4]. As such, digital interventions could play an important role in changing behavior and reducing alcohol consumption in this group, thus contributing to preventing a range of alcohol-associated short- and long-term harm to health [5-10].

Evidence highlights that universal digital alcohol and other drug prevention interventions can be beneficial in reducing the frequency of alcohol or drug use among both young people and adults [11-18]. One systematic review demonstrated that engagement with personalized digital interventions that aim to reduce hazardous and harmful alcohol use among adults was associated with reduced consumption per week and one less binge drinking session per month, compared with controls [14]. Another review showed that alcohol-focused interventions reduced consumption among college students screening positive for hazardous alcohol use [13]. Across reviews, small but beneficial impacts have been demonstrated within universal and targeted interventions across a range of outcomes including number of drinks per drinking day, number of heavy drinking days, average weekly consumption, and frequency of binge drinking for participants from schools, health care settings, and the community [11,13,14,18,19].

Digital interventions may provide an appealing mode of intervention for young people, while being flexible, adaptable, person-centered, and cost-effective when delivered at scale over time [14,20]. In addition, technology and digital engagement are increasingly integrated into education, with evidence indicating a beneficial impact on educational outcomes if used appropriately to support learning and teaching [21]. The UK government recently published a strategy highlighting the ambition of integrating innovative technology into education to improve efficiency, remove barriers to education, and drive improvement [22].

To date, however, studies have mostly targeted young adults or the general population, and comparatively fewer digital interventions have aimed to reduce alcohol consumption among adolescents [23]. In addition, few universal school- or youth group-based digital interventions have been developed and tested using randomized controlled trials. Globally, 8 have focused on alcohol alone, but none were tested in the United Kingdom [15]. Although a digital intervention for young adults has been developed in England and acceptability was investigated [24], effectiveness has not been established [25,26] and none, to our knowledge, have investigated the development of a digital alcohol-focused intervention designed specifically for use in school and youth group settings.

Objectives

We aimed to develop a web-based intervention (*Rethink Alcohol*) to reduce excessive alcohol use among young people aged between 14 and 15 years. The intervention aimed to: (1) delay initiation of alcohol use (primary prevention) and (2) reduce the average amount of alcohol consumed per month (secondary prevention). Secondary aims were to reduce risky single occasion drinking, frequency of alcohol-related negative consequences, and changes in perceived injunctive and descriptive peer norms. Here, we report the theoretical basis and stages of intervention development, and the views of young people, teachers, professional experts, and clinicians regarding design, content, acceptability, usability, and implementation of the intervention in practice.

Methods

Development of the Digital Intervention

Development of the intervention Rethink Alcohol followed the person-based approach [27]. First, a scoping literature review of alcohol-focused digital interventions was conducted. Intervention components, content, duration, theory, and outcomes of alcohol-focused digital interventions for young people were examined, and behavior change techniques (BCTs) shown to be effective were noted [18]. BCTs form part of the modelling phase of complex intervention development, which involves hypothesizing what to target (behavioral determinants) and how to do this (techniques to change these determinants; [28]). Our previous qualitative studies with young people aged between 14 and 15 years, and 18 and 20 years [29,30] highlighted the peer, family, and socio-cultural influences of alcohol use, the behavior change required, and the behavioral and attitudinal challenges to be addressed by the intervention. Figure 1 shows our logic model for the intervention.



Figure 1. Logic model for intervention development. BCT: behavior change technique; PSHE: Personal, Social, Health, and Economic.



Throughout the process of intervention development, we engaged with 3 young people advisory groups (YPAGs): Generation R, ALPHA (Advice Leading to Public Health Advancement), and YPAG north east (YPAGNE). YPAGs provided feedback at each stage, which, alongside qualitative research findings, shaped the written content, activities included, design and layout of the prototype website, and considerations about implementation and use in practice. For instance, in workshops, young people highlighted content that should be included (eg, social pressures, drink driving, managing parties, injury, violence), design features that would be appealing (eg, using a unit calculator, voting on the types of images to include), and the appropriate tone to be used (eg, nonjudgmental, accepting language). Contribution from our steering group, which included 2 young people, also shaped the content. These processes informed the guiding principles of the intervention and its content, theoretical perspective, and design.

Rethink Alcohol was based on social cognitive theory, social norms theory, and the social influence model. Intervention components were designed to incorporate these theoretical perspectives and map BCTs to each component. The first version of the prototype website (v1.0) was created using the UXPin software (UXPin Inc). Feedback regarding v1.0 was obtained from YPAGs on topics covered, the written content, name of the website, activities to be included, design, layout and the types of images to use, navigability, tone, and how the website could be used in a classroom setting, enabling the development of a second-stage website (v1.1). Exemplar screenshots of the intervention website are shown in Multimedia Appendix 1.

In terms of content, the prototype website was structured around 4 themes: (1) Reality check: do people my age really drink alcohol? This section included questions regarding the perceived frequency of alcohol intake and getting drunk and feedback based on data from a survey of young people in England. An

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19749/
```

XSL•FO

opportunity for goal setting was included. In addition, a quiz, including questions about alcohol content of different drinks, sugar content, mixing drinks, health consequences, and drink driving. (2) A "Get the facts" page provided information about alcohol and the law, drink driving, action of alcohol in the body, and health consequences. Facts were also included by theme, as advised by young people, so that information could be identified quickly, related to the themes of alcohol and health (addiction, accident and injury, sex and consent, hangovers, cancer, alcohol, and the brain); units, strength, and alcohol by volume; drinking and friendships (including social pressure, first aid); and guidelines for alcohol intake. (3) Top tips for staying safe included content regarding how to look after a friend whose had too much alcohol, the recovery position, guidelines, managing pressures, and sources of information and support (eg, addiction support). (4) Real life, which included scenarios that could be played out by choosing different options for action, such as a house party involving injury and sharing of photos, and outdoor drinking and violence. Our intention was to include videos prepared by young people, but this was not possible within the available timeframe; thus, a format representing messages communicated via social media was used.

Think-Aloud Study

Qualitative interviews were intended to gain an understanding of views regarding the breadth and relevance of content as well as views regarding navigability and design, hence guiding refinement and thus optimization of the prototype website. The findings will inform a second stage process of altering design and updating content to reflect the views obtained.

Participants

Young people, teachers, and youth workers were recruited purposively from youth groups and schools in Bristol and the

surrounding area, aiming for diversity in socioeconomic status and alcohol use. Snowball sampling was employed to quickly access the target population. Young people were eligible for participation if they were between 14 and 18 years of age at the time of the study. Data from 3 paired interviews could not be included in the analysis owing to an error during fieldwork and individuals outside of the eligible age range (ie, older than 18 years) being included in these interviews. Although the intervention is targeted to young people aged between 14 and 15 years in the school environment, we anticipate that the website could be used in youth groups and other settings, which might include young people with a broader age range. We were also keen to recruit young people from youth groups to include a range of demographic groups from different geographical areas within the timescales of the study. Young people attending youth groups were typically aged between 16 and 18 years. In addition, we considered that it would be helpful to hear from those who are able to reflect on previous experiences and provide helpful feedback about information or support that would have been helpful at that time point in adolescence. The professional participants were approached through existing networks and contacted by email or telephone with an electronic copy of the information leaflet and summary of the study aim.

Procedures

Semistructured interviews guided by the Think-Aloud method [24,27,31] were conducted by the principal investigator (GM; female), SM (female), or other study staff, all of whom had experience of qualitative interviewing. Interviews were guided by a flexible topic guide and lasted approximately one hour, with the Think-Aloud component included at the start of the interview. The development of the topic guide was informed by related studies [25,31] and our focus was on understanding young people's views regarding content, design, and usability, as per feedback from YPAGs. Paired interviews (ie, between friends) were conducted if participants preferred. Although the think-aloud section of the interview aimed to identify participants' views and impressions while they used the website, what they were thinking about and feeling through the process, the semistructured section aimed to provide an opportunity to explore views around aspects of the website, such as perceived accuracy, presentation, appropriateness, and completeness of information provided, if these points had not been covered. The interviewer's role was to prompt the participant to keep verbalizing their thoughts on the website [24] to explore views on content (eg, the information on the website useful, clear, comprehensive), design (eg, views on the style, font, colors, layout of the website), and usability (eg, is the website easy to navigate). Participants were also asked what they thought of the interactive components included, such as quizzes, scenarios, and personal feedback. Interviews with teachers aimed to explore the applicability of the Personal, Social, Health, and Economic (PSHE) curriculum (eg, educational content, timing) and feasibility of implementation. Participants were made aware of the reason for conducting the study and the research team's interest in the topic.

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and parental consent and a young person's assent obtained for those aged under 16. Adolescent participants were offered a

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19749/
```

£15 (US \$19.88) gift voucher, and teachers and youth workers were offered a £25 (US \$33.14) gift voucher to account for their time contribution. The disparity in payment between young people and teachers and professionals reflected the fact that teachers and professionals contributed their time in working hours. Ethical approval was obtained from the University of Bristol Faculty of Health Sciences Ethics Committee (Ref: 74270).

Analysis

Interviews were audio recorded using an encrypted recorder and transcribed verbatim. We undertook thematic analysis guided by Braun and Clarke [32], adopting a framework approach to organizing the data [33]. The coding framework was developed following the initial reading of a selection of transcripts by 2 researchers (Multimedia Appendix 2). One researcher then applied these codes to the transcripts, refining the codes, and adding new ones as data analysis progressed. Line by line open coding was used to assign qualitative codes to sections of the data that were reflective of that code [34]. The codes were discussed to determine if any extracts needed to be moved, if codes needed more refinement or additional codes should be considered, with disagreements resolved through discussion. Participants did not provide feedback on the findings. The themes presented in the results section represent the cumulation of the coding process. Coding and data management were conducted on NVivo 12.0 (QSR International).

Results

Think-Aloud Study

We interviewed 12 participants through single interviews and 17 participants in paired interviews (n=29). The core themes identified in the Think-Aloud study were (1) content, (2) credibility of the website, (3) make the website easy to understand, (4) design and navigation, and (5) suitability for the audience. A total of 26 participants, across all participant groups, gave an overall score out of five for the website ranging from scoring 5 (excellent) and scoring 1 (terrible) with a mean score of 3.63, indicating that they thought the website was good, but some improvements were required. The design of the website was not as anticipated, and many participants appeared to let down by this aspect, which was reflected in their scores. The data obtained from paired interviews did not appear to differ substantially from the data obtained from single interviews. The themes in this section draw upon suggestions for improvement as well as insights about adolescence and alcohol use that were relevant for the development of the intervention prototype.

Content

In general, participants felt that there was an appropriate amount of content, that the content was accurate and interesting, and that the website was informative. Most of the comments about the content related to how it could be more engaging, if the content should be moved to a different area of the website and ideas for additional content.

Although the content included in the website had been strongly informed by YPAGs, several participants thought there should be more on the website about the consequences of being drunk

XSL•FO RenderX

beyond health implications, such as engagement in risky behaviors (such as taking drugs or swimming in a canal), potential dangers of sexual assault, drink spiking, and getting home safely. This was connected to the idea of preparing young people for what to expect if they choose to get drunk for the first time. Several participants thought there should be signing to support information related to these wider issues in addition to those already included. A common suggestion was to incorporate information about wider risks in the *scenario* section, which many participants engaged with:

Maybe you could have a scenario about someone's drunk, and they're about to have sex or kiss, or something like that. Having a scenario about that, asking, 'Is this appropriate when they have drunk stuff and I have drunk stuff, or they have drunk loads and I have not?' [Participant RO4, young person]

Probably, a little bit more around risky behavior, and that just the increases of risky behavior...Your risky behavior, but also the behaviors of other people that can become risky. [Participant R03, youth worker]

These comments about additional content are mostly related to being drunk and social situations. Addiction was mentioned by some participants, which while included on the website, indicated that young people think an alcohol intervention should have an awareness of a range of risks. Some participants thought that *scenarios* on the website could form a broader discussion in the classroom around more complex issues such as decision impairment and risky behaviors. These topics are already discussed in PSHE lessons and are perhaps more immediate concerns of young people than the long-term impacts of alcohol on health:

You say, "Well, it's happened more than you'd think," and it's not like you want to show them CCTV, but sometimes there are incidents where they have the movements of that person, and they were on their own. Then that starts another conversation, "Well, why were they on their own? Okay, what happened? Why were they making the wrong decisions, what made them think it would be alright to go in the water?" You know, and then you might get onto, "Oh, well, they were showing off because they were drinking alcohol," [Participant R09, teacher]

In addition to wider risks, most participants saw peer pressure and social influence as important considerations. Some thought that enhancing peer pressure sections on the website would be useful:

It gives you the information, but it does not really say what you can do. It just says 'your friends will respect you for being true to yourself,' that's not always the case. Maybe write an alternative like, 'if they do not, it's not healthy. Get out of the group," sort of thing. If they stay in the group thinking their friends will respect them, that is not always the case. [Participant RO20, young person]

I like the little bit of text at the top that sort of summarises the concept of peer pressure... do not

Tinner et al

want to drink but I feel like I need to fit in with everyone. [Participant RO27, young person]

Most participants had positive comments about the quiz section of the website, with almost all participants taking the quiz first. Some suggested that discussing the sugar content of alcohol was a good approach to engaging young people, who may be health conscious but may not have associated alcohol with high levels of sugar. A few participants thought that this section should go further to talk about calories and how alcohol can affect muscle mass.

Overall, participants were generally positive about the content of the website. There were comments about additional areas of importance that could be included, which centered around wider risks and peer pressure. Such issues were thought to be best addressed through interactive elements of the website, such as the scenarios and the quiz.

Credibility of Website

The credibility, accuracy, and trustworthiness of the website appeared to be crucial for the sample. Most participants thought that the website was a credible and trustworthy source of information based on positive comments about the homepage and fact pages. However, some participants assumed that the information was accurate and from a credible source as it *comes from the university*, indicating that their involvement in the study had resulted in some preconceived ideas. Several participants thought the *look* of the website was critical for credibility, suggesting that a *professional* and *consistent* design would make a website more trustworthy. Simple design elements such as having the same font throughout, the same style of images and using *modern* colors were thought to add a sense of professionalism and therefore enhance trustworthiness and credibility:

I think you have got a lot of relevant stuff here, not all of it relevant, and I think the presentation just could be a bit more professional. I think it's coming along quite nicely. [Participant RO1, young person]

If you clicked on different things, it was not different colours or themes. I thought that it also adds to it. Like trustworthiness, like thought has been put into its design. [Participant RO5, young person]

References with links and source information after facts were mentioned by a few participants as things they looked for when establishing the credibility. Some also mentioned the idea of a kite mark or logos of sources from which the information was gathered, as these are things they would generally look out for when viewing a website:

I think there is also a slight bit of distrust if things have not been referenced. [Participants RO11 and RO12, young people]

The professional interviewees stated that young people question all the information they receive and are typically critical of where information comes from. Referencing is even more crucial if the facts or statistics are surprising to the young people, such as "23% of 15-year-olds have been drunk in the last month" [35]. One professional participant mentioned that they would expect young people to ask for the source of facts during

classroom discussion. Having an easily accessible source reference allows the session to flow better and gives the teacher or youth worker confidence in referencing the facts:

If I was using this resource with young people, it might just be nice to know where that came from, from a professional angle. So young people might come and ask that question and say, "Well, where have they got that from? How do they know that?" So we can just say, "Oh, it was a study by X, Y, Z." [Participant R03, youth worker]

Maintaining these elements thought to enhance credibility could help young people engage with the content easily, as no time is spent questioning the sources and trustworthiness of the website. Overall, trustworthiness, credibility, and accuracy are important to young people and can be achieved through consistent and professional design elements as well as clear transparency around where information comes from.

Make the Website Easy to Understand

This theme was organized around 3 subthemes: (1) clarity, (2) levels of complexity, and (3) quantity.

Clarity was important to participants, as discussed by both young people and professionals. Clarity might be achieved through wording, phrasing, and consistency of units, such as for alcohol strength:

Obviously, a big bottle of a cider, depending on the size, will have more units of alcohol in than a single shot, so that's a little bit of a confusing message, perhaps. [Participant R03, youth worker]

I feel like the question is somewhat unclear. This could mean whether they had too much alcohol this one specific time and they're drunk, or if they frequently have too much alcohol and they have a problem. [Participant RO15, young person]

Using specific brands or sizes of bottles may be one strategy to limit misinformation. Here participants highlighted the potential for confusion by using generic terms such as *alcopops* or *bottle of cider* as there is a wide range of types, sizes, and alcohol strengths. If participants are clear about which drink is being referred to, young people may be able to engage with the content better and learn how drinks compare in terms of alcohol strength, with less time spent questioning what the drink is. One professional mentioned that *alcopops* are not very popular with young people, which was reflected in a few young participants not knowing what *alcopops* are.

There were also examples of complex ways in which alcohol could affect people, with careful thought needed to describe them to avoid giving the wrong information. An example of this is outlining diseases that can result from alcohol consumption. One professional participant addressed how wording could be misleading around the risk of sexually transmitted infections (STIs). They highlighted the need to outline how alcohol-associated behaviors could increase risk rather than the alcohol itself being the direct cause of STIs. Other examples include the need for clarity around the connection between energy drinks and alcohol, and how mixing

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19749/

these drinks may lead to other risky behaviors, as young people may not have considered them to be linked. Finally, more explanation was suggested around how alcohol may increase the likelihood of engaging in a fight, which was a source of confusion for a few participants. One suggestion for adding clarity here was to discuss how alcohol can affect how people make choices, as this is frequently discussed in PSHE lessons.

The quantity of information, namely instances where there was too much written information on a page, was important to both young and professional participants. Although repetition might not impact understanding and some repetition allows information to be received quicker, some participants noted too much repetition would mean that users lose interest. Similarly, *text heavy* pages may discourage young people from reading anything on the page at all. Several participants valued text boxes or bullet points broken up with images:

I think just the smaller quantity of text made it easier to understand for 14- and 15-year-olds. [Participants RO18, young person]

This theme of quantity in turn links to getting the information quickly, which participants felt was important for some kinds of information more than others. For instance, finding out what to do if a friend is drunk is more time-sensitive than current statistics on age-group drinking.

The most mentioned concept in relation to the present theme was clarity. The quantity of text should be carefully considered, with text broken up by boxes, bullet points, or images. However, this should be balanced with clear descriptions of more complex pathways between alcohol use and outcomes.

Design and Navigation

Design was important to young people, with many providing positive comments about the design of the intervention, most commonly about the colors, fonts, and the home page. The most frequently mentioned design elements that young people valued were images and videos. Specifically, more *boring* or *serious* elements of the intervention, such as information pages, should have more images or diagrams than other pages. One participant suggested using an image of the body that users could click on to get facts:

Yes, again, more images rather than lots and lots of texts. Break it up a bit more. You know, maybe having pictures of a body and being able to draw lines off it saying stuff that's affecting this. Being able to click on different parts of the body...It just makes it a little bit more dynamic, I think. [Participant R06, a youth worker]

Participants thought it was a combination of aesthetics as well as interactivity that engages young people in delivering health information. Others noted the importance of not having too many different things *going on* within one page. For instance, in contrast to feedback from YPAGs, it was considered that fact boxes should not interfere with their interaction with the quiz or scenarios. Participants also noted the importance of the website being easy to navigate, being able to reach where you wanted to with minimal clicks and with an understanding of where every link would take you. Many of the participants

thought the home page was clear and it was easy to see where everything was. Participants also liked having the top ribbon visible on every page.

Suitability for the Audience

Interactivity was noted by most participants as something that would make the website appropriate for young people. A common suggestion was the use of videos to show the scenarios or to show how to put someone in the recovery position. Participants thought that this would not only be engaging for young people, but it might improve accuracy and clarity of information. Some participants said that some young people have functional literacy issues, so a video would be a better medium for them. Some participants felt that the scenarios section would benefit from being made more engaging, age-appropriate, and fun:

Yes, just a little bit engaging or something, you know? Yes, almost like that little video in the... "They're on the street outside the club or something, they've passed out, so you turn them over like this, and then you do this to get help." [Participant R05, clinical professional]

You know the text message shown? It might be worth doing another option next to it. You know on the first bit where you could click it? [Participant RO19, young person]

Wording and tone are crucial for communicating health messages with young people. The youth participants highlighted that they did not want health information to come across as patronizing or too much *from an adult*, although this should be balanced with the trustworthiness and credibility of the information sources. Participants were also mindful of wording that might make them overly worried about alcohol or that tried to imitate the adolescent language. Therefore, information should be delivered with a neutral and nonjudgmental tone. In the main, participants felt that the website embodied this tone. However, some did highlight a few areas that could be perceived as patronizing:

I do think this bit, about how not to get a hangover: 'It's easy, do not drink anything' is a bit condescending. If you're saying, 'How to stop a stab wound,' and it's like, 'Easy, just don't get stabbed,' you'd be like, "That doesn't help me." [Participants RO15, young person]

Generally, participants felt that the website was age appropriate; however, including interactive elements would engage young people for longer.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our web-based intervention for young people has the potential to be usable and informative for young people, and to address the determinants of behavior (eg, peer effects) and perceptions around alcohol-associated risk. The key requirements for engagement and usability include professional and consistent design, succinct, text-light messages that clarify pathways of

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19749/
```

risk, interactive and audio-visual components, and trustworthy information. Our findings are consistent with those of studies exploring the usability of alcohol-focused apps for adults and young adults [31,36], which similarly reported the importance ascribed by users to design, interface, and clarity, with low user input (ie, short blocks of text, videos), and credibility and trustworthiness of the information provided. The importance of trustworthiness is also supported by recent systematic reviews, which have highlighted that a *credible source* was one of the BCTs that predicted alcohol consumption [14]. In addition, although we sought user views before this study and regarding an earlier prototype, we nevertheless identified divergent views around content and design, demonstrating, as for others [36], the challenge of developing a digital intervention that is appealing and/or engaging to all.

In part, this is related to the central consideration apparent throughout the interviews, which is the complexity of alcohol use among young people, the multiplicity of situations where it might occur, and the wide range of types and brands of alcoholic drinks. There is a tension here in that participants acknowledge the complexity around alcohol use, while also wanting limited text on the website in favor of images or videos. Balancing nuance, accuracy, and engagement is thus a second key challenge in communicating about harmful alcohol use with young people.

Using the correct tone seemed to be paramount when communicating about alcohol with young people. Participants were mindful of not wanting to be patronized, judged, scared, or told what to do. Although most participants felt the website embodied the correct tone, this further highlights the difficulty in attempting to reduce harmful alcohol drinking while also providing nonjudgmental information about intoxication and alcohol use. As such, the web-based intervention is balancing the dual aims of maintaining the rejection of harmful alcohol behavior before it starts as well as altering it where it exists [37], which is reflected in the website's primary and secondary prevention objectives. In the main, participants thought this balance was achieved by preparing young people for potential situations related to alcohol use as well as delivering facts through neutral language. However, any further enhancements to the website should maintain this consideration of tone, which is informative about the negative consequences of harmful alcohol use while also being nonjudgmental.

There is also a wide range of potential consequences or wider risks associated with alcohol use that young people saw as important for a web-based alcohol intervention. This is noteworthy, since systematic reviews have reported no association between the behavior change technique *information on consequences* and reduced drinking frequency [14,18]. This highlights how perspectives on digital intervention are shaped by individual experiences and thus the importance of personalization. It further reiterates the challenge of communicating information to reduce harms alongside that aimed at reducing consumption.

Many young people indicated that alcohol was embedded within more general concerns, such as what they conceived of as peer influence. This is consistent with previous work that found peers

XSL•FO RenderX

play a central role in young people's drinking behavior and the social contexts within which it occurs [30,38]. The nature of peer influence alters throughout adolescence, with younger adolescents experiencing a greater focus on experimentation, intoxication, and social conformity [29], and may be more susceptible to peer influence [39]. Our findings are consistent with this idea, as participants were interested in sections of the website that addressed peer influence and social situations where they may encounter alcohol use and intoxication. Therefore, health messages related to alcohol use, such as disease and injury, may seem less relevant to younger adolescents, as their more immediate concerns relate to new social situations. Interestingly, young people did not specifically suggest including content regarding the impact of family context, so this was not included. Nevertheless, a parallel qualitative study that explored the views of parents or guardians in relation to adolescent alcohol use (Mitchell S, unpublished data, 2020) will inform the next steps, such as the possibility of a parent-focused section or related resources.

It was apparent that young people had the expectation that websites should be engaging, interactive, and have a contemporary aesthetic. This is unsurprising given how embedded the internet is in people's everyday lives [40], with young people being high users of new technologies. Increases in smartphone availability and affordability mean instant access to the internet for young people in the West [3]. Horvath et al [41] recommend planning adequate budgets for design elements, and teams should be expanded to include experts in learning technologies or web-based intervention development. As many participants noted the difficulty in keeping young people engaged, attention to interactive media such as videos should be considered for delivering health messages, which in turn may need greater expertise and resources. This corroborates previous work with young people who found that web-based health interventions should be presented in an attractive and interactive way to improve the efficacy of the intervention [42]. We included a range of sections and activities in the web-based

intervention so that participants would have the opportunity to engage with different components, incorporating the distinct BCTs outlined in the logic model. In the next phase of this work, we will also develop a clear teaching guide and lesson plan, and guide youth group settings to increase the likelihood that young people will engage with all components.

Limitations

We had a small sample in 1 geographical area; thus, the findings cannot necessarily be generalized across geographical regions. The sample also covered a broader age range than the intervention was designed so that older participants could reflect on their recent experience. A larger sample of young people aged between 14 and 15 years would have enabled more extensive analysis around the viewpoints of this age group and differences by age and sex, which was not possible in this study. Interestingly, by including this wider age range, we identified that such a resource could be useful for a broader group. Our sample size was pragmatic and limited by the timescales of our study. However, we found that similar themes were raised by young people and consider our sample size sufficient to enable development and optimization of the prototype website [43]. Finally, we did not gather data regarding participants' alcohol use; thus, we cannot ascertain how alcohol behavior may have shaped perspectives relating to the intervention.

Conclusions

In this study, we have identified the importance of appealing design, low-input interface, interactivity, and credibility in an alcohol-related web-based intervention and the need for involvement of young people at all stages of design and development to ensure that content, tone, usability, and appeal are optimized. Our study also demonstrated the promise of the web-based intervention *Rethink Alcohol*. The next steps will involve optimization and testing of the feasibility of implementing the intervention in schools and youth group settings.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) School for Public Health Research (PD-SPH-2015) and NIHR Post-Doctoral Fellowship (PDF; PDF-2013-06-026). GM was supported by a NIHR PDF award (PDF-2013-06-026). This is an independent research supported by the NIHR. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the National Institute for Health Research or the Department of Health and Social Care. GM is also supported by the South West Public Health Training Scheme, UK. LT is a PhD student within the Centre for the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions for Public Health Improvement, a UK Clinical Research Collaboration Public Health Research Centre of Excellence. Joint funding (MR/KO232331/1) from the British Heart Foundation, Cancer Research UK (CRUK), Economic and Social Research Council, Medical Research Council, the Welsh Government, and the Wellcome Trust, under the auspices of the UK Clinical Research Collaboration, is gratefully acknowledged. LT is also funded by the Medical Research Council. CG is funded by CRUK and the NIHR School for Public Health Research. Professor Eileen Kaner is a National Institute for Health Research Senior Investigator. Professor Rona Campbell is an NIHR Senior Investigator and Deputy Director of the NIHR School for Public Health Research. The views expressed in this study are those of the authors and not necessarily those of NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care. The authors thank the individuals, youth groups, schools, and professionals for their involvement and contribution to this study, and gratefully acknowledge the young people advisory groups (ALPHA, Generation R, and YPAGNE) for their feedback and contribution to this research. The authors also thank the REACH Online Steering Group for their advice and guidance regarding intervention development and Dr David Troy and Tricia Jessiman for assistance with data collection.

Authors' Contributions

GM developed the concept for this study, developed the first *Rethink Alcohol* prototype and contributed to data collection, analysis, and interpretation. SM contributed to recruitment, data collection, and analysis. CG, EK, MH, and RC contributed to prototype development and study design. LT analyzed the transcripts and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors read and commented on the manuscript before submission.

Conflicts of Interest

MH has received a payment for unrelated activity from Gilead Sciences Inc, Bristol Myers-Squibb, and Jannsen, UK. CG is involved in the development and testing of the Drink Less app that is unrelated to this work. EK was the lead author of a Cochrane review regarding personalized digital interventions for reducing hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption in community dwelling populations [14]. All other authors have no conflicts to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Screenshots of the intervention website. [DOCX File, 947 KB - pediatrics v3i2e19749 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Themes and subthemes used to code the interview transcripts during data analysis. [DOCX File, 13 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e19749_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Adult Drinking Habits in Great Britain. Office for National Statistics. 2018. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/yya2yb4r</u> [accessed 2020-11-12]
- 2. Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use among Young People in England. NHS Digital. 2019. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y6gyfrwn</u> [accessed 2020-02-07]
- 3. Communications Market Report. OfCom. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0022/20668/</u> <u>cmr_uk_2015.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-03-01]
- 4. Children and Parents: Media Use and Attitudes Report. OfCom. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/research-and-data/</u> media-literacy-research/children-parents-nov16 [accessed 2020-03-01]
- McCambridge J, McAlaney J, Rowe R. Adult consequences of late adolescent alcohol consumption: a systematic review of cohort studies. PLoS Med 2011 Feb 8;8(2):e1000413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000413] [Medline: 21346802]
- 6. Ellickson PL, Tucker JS, Klein DJ. Ten-year prospective study of public health problems associated with early drinking. Pediatrics 2003 May;111(5 Pt 1):949-955. [doi: 10.1542/peds.111.5.949] [Medline: 12728070]
- 7. Hall WD, Patton G, Stockings E, Weier M, Lynskey M, Morley KI, et al. Why young people's substance use matters for global health. Lancet Psychiatry 2016 Mar;3(3):265-279. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)00013-4] [Medline: 26905482]
- Behrendt S, Wittchen H, Höfler M, Lieb R, Beesdo K. Transitions from first substance use to substance use disorders in adolescence: is early onset associated with a rapid escalation? Drug Alcohol Depend 2009 Jan 1;99(1-3):68-78. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.06.014] [Medline: 18768267]
- 9. Hingson RW, Heeren T, Winter MR. Age at drinking onset and alcohol dependence: age at onset, duration, and severity. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2006 Jul;160(7):739-746. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpedi.160.7.739</u>] [Medline: <u>16818840</u>]
- Dawson DA, Goldstein RB, Chou SP, Ruan WJ, Grant BF. Age at first drink and the first incidence of adult-onset DSM-IV alcohol use disorders. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2008 Dec;32(12):2149-2160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00806.x] [Medline: 18828796]
- 11. Fowler LA, Holt SL, Joshi D. Mobile technology-based interventions for adult users of alcohol: a systematic review of the literature. Addict Behav 2016 Nov;62:25-34. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.06.008] [Medline: 27310031]
- 12. Rooke S, Thorsteinsson E, Karpin A, Copeland J, Allsop D. Computer-delivered interventions for alcohol and tobacco use: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2010 Aug;105(8):1381-1390. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.02975.x] [Medline: 20528806]
- Dedert EA, McDuffie JR, Stein R, McNiel JM, Kosinski AS, Freiermuth CE, et al. Electronic interventions for alcohol misuse and alcohol use disorders: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2015 Aug 4;163(3):205-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M15-0285] [Medline: 26237752]
- 14. Kaner EF, Beyer FR, Garnett C, Crane D, Brown J, Muirhead C, et al. Personalised digital interventions for reducing hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption in community-dwelling populations. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Sep 25;9:CD011479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011479.pub2] [Medline: 28944453]
- 15. Champion KE, Newton NC, Teesson M. Prevention of alcohol and other drug use and related harm in the digital age: what does the evidence tell us? Curr Opin Psychiatry 2016 Jul;29(4):242-249. [doi: <u>10.1097/YCO.000000000000258</u>] [Medline: <u>27153124</u>]

- Newton NC, Champion KE, Slade T, Chapman C, Stapinski L, Koning I, et al. A systematic review of combined studentand parent-based programs to prevent alcohol and other drug use among adolescents. Drug Alcohol Rev 2017 May;36(3):337-351. [doi: 10.1111/dar.12497] [Medline: 28334456]
- Bhochhibhoya A, Hayes L, Branscum P, Taylor L. The use of the internet for prevention of binge drinking among the college population: a systematic review of evidence. Alcohol Alcohol 2015 Sep;50(5):526-535. [doi: <u>10.1093/alcalc/agv047</u>] [Medline: <u>26047832</u>]
- Black N, Mullan B, Sharpe L. Computer-delivered interventions for reducing alcohol consumption: meta-analysis and meta-regression using behaviour change techniques and theory. Health Psychol Rev 2016 Sep;10(3):341-357. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2016.1168268] [Medline: 26999311]
- 19. Riper H, Hoogendoorn A, Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Boumparis N, Mira A, et al. Effectiveness and treatment moderators of internet interventions for adult problem drinking: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 19 randomised controlled trials. PLoS Med 2018 Dec;15(12):e1002714 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002714] [Medline: 30562347]
- 20. Wood SK, Eckley L, Hughes K, Hardcastle KA, Bellis MA, Schrooten J, et al. Computer-based programmes for the prevention and management of illicit recreational drug use: a systematic review. Addict Behav 2014 Jan;39(1):30-38. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.09.010] [Medline: 24144590]
- 21. Using Digital Technology to Improve Learning. Education Endowment Foundation. 2019. URL: <u>https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/tools/guidance-reports/using-digital-technology-to-improve-learning/</u> [accessed 2020-03-01]
- 22. Realising the Potential of Technology in Education: A Strategy for Education Providers and the Technology Industry. Department for Education UK. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/</u> realising-the-potential-of-technology-in-education [accessed 2020-03-01]
- 23. Field M, Campbell F, Hock E, Wong R. Digital Interventions to Reduce Alcohol-Related Harm: A Rapid Horizon-Scanning Review. Alcohol Change UK. 2019. URL: <u>https://alcoholchange.org.uk/publication/</u> digital-interventions-to-reduce-alcohol-related-harm-a-rapid-horizon-scanning-review [accessed 2020-03-01]
- Davies EL. Feasibility of the prototype willingness model as the basis for school-delivered alcohol misuse prevention: a qualitative think-aloud study to explore acceptability of 'the alcohol smart quiz' with adolescents and teachers. J Health Psychol 2018 Aug;23(9):1196-1210. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316648481] [Medline: 27247092]
- Davies EL, Martin J, Foxcroft DR. Development and acceptability of a co-produced online intervention to prevent alcohol misuse in adolescents: a think aloud study. JMIR Hum Factors 2015 Jul 29;2(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.4452] [Medline: 27025403]
- 26. Davies EL, Lonsdale AJ, Hennelly SE, Winstock AR, Foxcroft DR. Personalized digital interventions showed no impact on risky drinking in young adults: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Alcohol Alcohol 2017 Nov 1;52(6):671-676. [doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agx051] [Medline: 29016711]
- Yardley L, Morrison L, Bradbury K, Muller I. The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 30;17(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4055] [Medline: 25639757]
- 28. Michie S, Johnston M, Francis J, Hardeman W, Eccles M. From theory to intervention: mapping theoretically derived behavioural determinants to behaviour change techniques. Appl Psychol 2008 Jul 8;57(4):660-680 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00341.x]
- 29. MacArthur GJ, Jacob N, Pound P, Hickman M, Campbell R. Among friends: a qualitative exploration of the role of peers in young people's alcohol use using Bourdieu's concepts of habitus, field and capital. Social Health Illn 2017 Jan;39(1):30-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.12467] [Medline: 27573161]
- 30. MacArthur GJ, Hickman M, Campbell R. Qualitative exploration of the intersection between social influences and cultural norms in relation to the development of alcohol use behaviour during adolescence. BMJ Open 2020 Mar 16;10(3):e030556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030556] [Medline: 32184301]
- Crane D, Garnett C, Brown J, West R, Michie S. Factors influencing usability of a smartphone app to reduce excessive alcohol consumption: think aloud and interview studies. Front Public Health 2017;5:39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00039] [Medline: 28421175]
- 32. Braun V, Clarke V, Hayfield N. Thematic analysis. In: Handbook of Research Methods in Health Social Sciences. Singapore: Springer; 2019:843-860.
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Sep 18;13:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117] [Medline: 24047204]
- 34. Glaser BG. Doing Grounded Theory: Issues & Discussion. California, USA: Sociology; 1998.
- 35. Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England. NHS digital. 2016. URL: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/</u> <u>data-and-information/publications/statistical/smoking-drinking-and-drug-use-among-young-people-in-england/2016</u> [accessed 2020-03-01]

- Milward J, Deluca P, Drummond C, Watson R, Dunne J, Kimergård A. Usability testing of the BRANCH smartphone app designed to reduce harmful drinking in young adults. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 8;5(8):e109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7836] [Medline: 28790022]
- 37. Rundle-Thiele S, Schuster L, Dietrich T, Russell-Bennett R, Drennan J, Leo C, et al. Maintaining or changing a drinking behavior? GOKA's short-term outcomes. J Bus Res 2015 Oct;68(10):2155-2163. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.03.015]
- de Visser RO, Wheeler Z, Abraham C, Smith JA. 'Drinking is our modern way of bonding': young people's beliefs about interventions to encourage moderate drinking. Psychol Health 2013;28(12):1460-1480. [doi: <u>10.1080/08870446.2013.828293</u>] [Medline: <u>23947783</u>]
- 39. Mercken L, Steglich C, Knibbe R, Vries HD. Dynamics of friendship networks and alcohol use in early and mid-adolescence. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2012 Jan;73(1):99-110. [doi: 10.15288/jsad.2012.73.99] [Medline: 22152667]
- 40. Marton C, Choo CW. A review of theoretical models of health information seeking on the web. J Doc 2012 Apr 20;68(3):330-352. [doi: 10.1108/00220411211225575]
- Horvath KJ, Ecklund AM, Hunt SL, Nelson TF, Toomey TL. Developing Internet-based health interventions: a guide for public health researchers and practitioners. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 23;17(1):e28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3770] [Medline: 25650702]
- 42. Jander A, Crutzen R, Mercken L, de Vries H. A Web-based computer-tailored game to reduce binge drinking among 16 to 18 year old Dutch adolescents: development and study protocol. BMC Public Health 2014 Oct 9;14:1054 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1054] [Medline: 25301695]
- 43. Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How many interviews are enough?: an experiment with data saturation and variability. Field Methods 2006 Feb 1;18(1):59-82. [doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903]

Abbreviations

ALPHA: Advice Leading to Public Health Advancement BCT: behavior change techniques CRUK: Cancer Research UK NIHR: National Institute for Health Research PDF: Post-Doctoral Fellowship PSHE: Personal, Social, Health, and Economic STI: sexually transmitted infection YPAG: young people advisory group YPAGNE: young people advisory group north east

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.04.20; peer-reviewed by E Davies, E Dedert; comments to author 12.06.20; revised version received 13.08.20; accepted 28.10.20; published 15.12.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Tinner LE, Kaner E, Garnett C, Mitchell S, Hickman M, Campbell R, MacArthur G Qualitative Evaluation of Web-Based Digital Intervention to Prevent and Reduce Excessive Alcohol Use and Harm Among Young People Aged 14-15 Years: A "Think-Aloud" Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19749 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19749/</u> doi:10.2196/19749 PMID:33320100

©Laura Elizabeth Tinner, Eileen Kaner, Claire Garnett, Siobhan Mitchell, Matthew Hickman, Rona Campbell, Georgina MacArthur. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 15.12.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Harnessing Phones to Target Pediatric Populations with Socially Complex Needs: Systematic Review

Colleen Stiles-Shields¹, PhD; Lauren M Potthoff², PhD; Dawn T Bounds^{3*}, PhD; Maureen T S Burns^{4*}, BA, BS; Janel M Draxler^{1*}, MSN; Caitlin H Otwell^{5*}, MA; Emily D Wolodiger^{5*}, PhD; Jennifer Westrick⁶, MSLIS; Niranjan S Karnik¹, MD, PhD

¹Section of Community Behavioral Health, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States
 ²Department of Gastroenterology, Pritzker Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Health, Ann & Robert H Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States
 ³Sue & Bill Gross School of Nursing, University of California Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States
 ⁴Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, IL, United States
 ⁵Autism Assessment, Research, Treatment & Services Center, Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States

⁶Library of Rush University Medical Center, Chicago, IL, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Colleen Stiles-Shields, PhD Section of Community Behavioral Health Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences Rush University Medical Center 1645 W Jackson Blvd Chicago, IL, 60612-3227 United States Phone: 1 3129429998 Email: <u>colleen_stiles-shields@rush.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Mobile and smartphones are owned and accessed by many, making them a potentially optimal delivery mechanism to reach pediatric patients with socially complex needs (ie, pediatric populations who face overlapping adversities).

Objective: To address the specialized needs of youth from such groups, this review synthesized the literature exploring the use of phone-based delivery to access pediatric populations with socially complex needs, targeting mental and behavioral health outcomes. The purpose of this synthesis was to provide recommendations for future research developing phone-based interventions for youth with socially complex needs.

Methods: A trained medical librarian conducted the search strategy in the following databases: PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, PsycINFO, Cochrane CENTRAL Register of Controlled Trials, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, and Google Scholar. Studies targeting youth with socially complex needs were defined by recruiting samples that were primarily from traditionally underserved populations (ie, sex/gender minorities, racial/ethnic background, low socioeconomic status, rural/remote location, and sexual orientation). A systematic narrative framework was utilized and the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines were followed (registration number CRD42020141212).

Results: A total of 14 studies met the inclusion criteria, with 3 depicting the use of phones to complete assessment and tracking goals and 11 to intervene on mental and behavioral health targets.

Conclusions: The literature indicates important directions for future research, including (1) involving diverse and representative teens (ie, the likely users of the interventions), stakeholders, and clinical/research staff; (2) integrating evidence-based therapies with minority-focused theories; (3) harnessing mobile device capabilities; and (4) considering and assessing for potential costs in phones as delivery mechanisms.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO CRD42020141212; https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=141212

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19269) doi:10.2196/19269

KEYWORDS

underserved youth; digital mental health; mHealth; telehealth; health disparities

Introduction

Background

Pediatric populations with socially complex needs are likely to have their behavioral health negatively impacted-from having a lower health status than peers to being less likely to receive appropriate physical and mental health diagnoses [1]. The term "socially complex needs" is used to describe pediatric populations that face overlapping adversities [2]. Such youth may endure adverse childhood experiences, physical symptoms (eg, pain), or be from traditionally underserved populations (eg, low socioeconomic status [SES], belonging to a minority racial/ethnic or gender/sexual minority group, or living in isolation from accessible services [3]). The behavioral health disparities associated with having socially complex needs have lasting detrimental effects, including a higher likelihood of chronic illness in adulthood [4]. For these reasons, repeated calls to promote the behavioral health needs of such pediatric populations have been made [5-10].

The ubiquity of mobile and smartphone access has promoted refrains about the promise of digital mental health tools to overcome access barriers to pediatric behavioral health interventions [11]. While some populations are less likely to adopt computer use and are more likely to lack home broadband access [12], nearly all American adults report owning a mobile phone (96%) [13] and 95% of teens report owning or having access to a smartphone [14]. Therefore, pediatric interventions that harness phones as a delivery mechanism (ie, mobile health [mHealth] and telehealth) may be more likely to successfully access pediatric patients with socially complex needs [13]. However, due to issues such as data plan costs, service lapses, and lower phone literacy, a "digital divide" is occurring that could further perpetuate disparities in the use of phones as a delivery mechanism [15-19]. Indeed, if not appropriately evaluating tools with socially complex populations and adapting designs to fit their user and access needs [20], researchers and clinicians are missing the opportunity to reach pediatric populations through a medium that young people are already using for other purposes (eg, using a smartphone to interact with social media).

Purpose

XSL•F() RenderX

While more research is critically needed, some work to harness phones as a delivery mechanism specifically for socially complex populations has begun. As the field shifts to adapt such tools to be more inclusive, synthesis of the small but existing literature may be beneficial. Indeed, this synthesis may promote increasing adaptations of such tools for pediatric populations with socially complex needs and avoid potentially superfluous evaluations that would delay deployment to youth in need of support and care. Therefore, to provide recommendations for future research developing inclusive interventions, this study systematically reviewed the literature for multiple criteria. First,

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19269/

a focus on phone-based interventions (mHealth and telehealth) was made. While the field has moved toward a focus on digital health technologies (eg, harnessing mobile or smartphones to deliver monitoring or intervention activities), telehealth interventions that involve calling participants-even on landlines-were included. These criteria were used because interventions using telephone calls to reach youth may still be applicable as smartphones have phone call capabilities. Second, this review focused on mental (eg, mood) and behavioral health targets (eg, physical activity) for pediatric patients with socially complex needs. As any pediatric patient is likely to have socially complex needs (eg, managing symptoms associated with acute or chronic conditions), we operationalized studies that targeted pediatric patients with socially complex needs as those that recruited samples primarily comprising (ie, \geq 50%) youth from traditionally underserved populations (eg, low SES, belonging to a minority racial/ethnic or gender/sexual minority group, or living in isolation from accessible services [3]). The synthesis of these findings was used to define (1) uses of phone-based delivery practices; (2) culturally specific tailoring practices; (3) applications of evidence-based skills and grounded theories to inform design; and (4) additional supports that promote comfort, use, or intended intervention outcomes for pediatric populations with socially complex needs.

Methods

Search Strategy

The review was conducted and reported following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement and checklist [21] and was registered prior to data extraction in PROSPERO (registration number CRD42020141212). No limitations were put on the search in terms of language, date of publication, or geographic area. The search strategy included controlled vocabulary (ie, MeSH terms) and keywords in the title or abstract fields. Seven electronic databases were searched, including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL, PsycINFO, Cochrane CENTRAL Register of Controlled Trials, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, and Google Scholar. The search strategy was conducted collaboratively by the lead author (CS-S) and a trained medical librarian (JW) and the literature search was conducted by a trained medical librarian (JW) in August 2019 (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

For inclusion in the review, studies were required to (1) specifically target a pediatric population with socially complex needs (as noted above, this was operationalized by the majority [>50%] of the sample belonging to an underserved group [eg, minority population, low SES, rural geographical location] [3]); (2) utilize a phone (ie, smartphone, cellphone, landline, SMS text messages, push notifications, gathering passive data, or have a user access an app[s]) as a means of targeting youth (phones could be used as the sole delivery mechanism or as part

of a multimethod intervention delivery); (3) report outcomes related to mood (eg, depression, sadness, low mood), anxiety/stress, or wellness (eg, exercise, diet, sleep, treatment adherence); (4) include samples that were at least 50% under the age of 18; and (5) be written in English. Technical validation papers reporting on the development of digital mental health interventions, conference abstracts, review papers, and samples fewer than 20 were excluded.

Study Selection

Literature search results were uploaded into Covidence, a not-for-profit, online systematic review service partnered with Cochrane [22]. From the initial search results, all titles and abstracts were independently screened by 2 reviewers against the inclusion criteria. Following this, full-text articles were also reviewed by 2 independent reviewers. Any discrepancies about inclusion at either stage were resolved through consensus with a third reviewer.

Data Extraction

Reviewer teams (CS-S, LP, DB, MB, JD, CO, EW) extracted data (eg, sample characteristics, use of phone, primary outcomes) independently and in duplicate from each eligible study using an online extraction form designed by the lead author (CS-S) using Google Forms. Discrepancies were, again, resolved through consensus.

Quality Assessment

The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomized trials was used to assess the risk of bias for selection, performance, detection, attrition, and reporting [23]. Specifically, each study that was included in the final review was independently rated in duplicate for each form of bias.

Data Synthesis

Because of the variability in outcome measures and methodologies, a meta-analytic approach was deemed inappropriate for the current review. Alternatively, a systematic narrative framework was utilized, with results classified under "Tracking and Assessment" or "Intervention." To best inform the design of future interventions for pediatric populations with socially complex needs delivered through phones, the systematic narrative synthesis included population-specific tailoring, evidence-based skills and theories (interventions only), use of phones for delivery, and additional support. These categories were selected prior to data collection as they would provide key insights from the literature into development decisions made for specific user needs relating to pediatric populations with socially complex needs. Finally, to contextualize the findings, study characteristics, primary outcomes, and usage and acceptability were also included.

Results

Included Studies

Following the removal of duplicates identified by Covidence, 4626 titles and abstracts were independently reviewed in duplicate by 2 reviewers. A total of 69 full-text articles were reviewed in duplicate for inclusion, with 14 articles selected for data extraction. See Figure 1 for the PRISMA flow diagram. Of the 14 studies, 3 focused on tracking and assessment and 11 were intervention based. Findings from the 3 *Tracking and Assessment* studies will be discussed, followed by findings from the 11 *Intervention* studies, and finally, the outcomes of the quality of all included studies will be presented.



Figure 1. PRISMA flow diagram for study inclusion. aAdapted from "Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement," by D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, D. G. Altman, and The PRISMA Group, 2009, PLoS Med. 6(7), e1000097.





XSL•FO RenderX

Table 1. Study characteristics.

Classification and authors (year) [Reference]	Target condition, pop- ulation/outcome	Name	Modality	Additional support	N (Intervention)	Age, % Fe- male
Tracking and Assessment						
Bakshi et al (2017) [18]	SCD ^a /Pain symptoms management tracking	Not applicable	SMS text mes- sage, Web EMA ^b	$PRN^{c}(A)^{d}$	20	12-22, 75
Jacob et al (2012) [19]	SCD/Pain symptoms management tracking	Wireless Pain Intervention Program	Mobile Web Page	PRN (A)	67	10-17, 54
Odgers and Russell (2017) [20]	At-risk, low SES ^e /vio- lence exposure + be- havioral health	miLife	Mobile EMA	No	151	11-15, 48
Intervention						
DiClemente et al (2014) [21]	African American teen girls/Safe sex be- haviors	HORIZONS	Phone call ^f	Yes	701 (342)	14-20, 100
Leonard et al (2018) [22]	Homeless moms/Emotion regula- tion	Calm Mom	App ^f	Yes + A	49	13-21, 100
Nollen et al (2014) [23]	Low SES, minority Girls/Obesity-related behaviors	NR ^g	App ^f	No	51 (26)	9-14, 100
Perry et al (2017) [24]	Low SES, minority teens/Asthma	NR	$\operatorname{App}^{\mathrm{f}}$	No (A)	34 (17)	14-16, 38
Reid et al (2011) [25]	Rural primary care/emotional self- awareness, mood, anxiety	mobiletype	App, EMA ^f	PRN	114 (68)	14-24, 72
Rokicki and Fink (2017) [26]	At-risk teen girls/Safe sex behavior knowl- edge	NR	SMS text mes- sage ^f	No (A)	498 (205)	14-24, 100
Schatz et al (2015) [27]	SCD/Pain coping	NR	App, phone call	Yes	46 (23)	8-21, 59
Seid et al (2011) [28]	Low SES, minority teens/Asthma	NR	SMS text mes- sage ^f	Yes + A	26 (14)	12-18, 69
Smith et al (2014) [29]	Low SES teen boys/Obesity-related behaviors	ATLAS	App ^f	Yes	361 (181)	12-14, 0
Thompson et al (2016) [30]	Minority teens/Obesi- ty-related behaviors	NR	SMS text mes- sage ^f	Yes + A	160 (120)	14-17, 52
Ybarra et al (2017) [31]	Sexual minority teen boys/Safe Sex behav- ior, HIV prevention	Guy2Guy	SMS text mes- sage ^f	Yes + A	320 (150)	14-18, 0

^aSCD: sickle cell disease.

^bEMA: ecological momentary assessment.

^cPRN: as needed.

XSL•FO RenderX

^dA: automated support.

^eSES: socioeconomic status.

^fExplicitly detailed use of population-specific tailored messaging or design practices. ^gNR: not reported.

Tracking and Assessment

Study Characteristics

Three studies targeted mood, anxiety, or wellness outcomes for socially complex pediatric populations through tracking and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19269/

assessment. Specifically, 2 studies focused on pain tracking for African American youth with sickle cell disease (SCD) [24,25]. The third study focused on violence exposure and psychosocial factors for adolescents from low SES neighborhoods who also presented with at least three parent-reported risk factors (ie,

Stiles-Shields et al

behavioral difficulties, inattention and hyperactivity, early initiation of substance use, or having a parent with a substance misuse issue) [26]. All of the samples were recruited from the United States of America and ranged in size from 20 to 151. Two samples were primarily female [24,25] and 1 was minority female [26]. See Table 1 for study characteristics.

Population-Specific Tailoring

Of the 3 studies, only Bakshi et al [24] directly reported or cited prior work discussing the use of tailoring the study to a particular population's needs. Specifically, cognitive interviewing techniques were used to ensure content validity of the messaging (eg, removing fatigue from assessment queries, as it not associated with experience of patients with SCD), semistructured interviews were conducted for feedback on content and design layout (eg, change the workflow so as to not assess the impact of pain on schoolwork if there were no assignments that day), and user reviews following site creation (eg, demonstrated acceptability) were completed with adolescents and young adults with SCD for a web-based multidimensional pain diary [38]. In addition, participants who might be unable to use/access the web-based platform had the option to transmit pain reports via SMS text message [24].

Use of Phones for Delivery

The 3 studies utilized mobile phones or smartphones in some way to deliver their assessment. Bakshi et al [24] employed a web-based ecological momentary assessment (EMA) platform for their pain intensity diary; however, they included SMS text messaging of pain reports to overcome barriers to accessing the webpage. While Jacob et al [25] also utilized a web-based diary system, they provided smartphones with wireless packages to all participants to enter data. Similarly, Odgers and Russell [26] provided smartphones preprogrammed to alert three times within each participant's schedule.

Additional Support

Support beyond the described use of phones was included in the methodology of 2 studies. First, Bakshi et al [24] described having study staff contact participants with SCD if a pain report surpassed a predetermined rating threshold. This support was intended to promote pain management assistance from a provider or hospital [24]. Second, Jacob et al [25] reported having (1) participants with SCD attend an in-person information session on utilizing smartphones to access the e-Diary; (2) an advanced practice registered nurse monitor symptoms and contact participants if reports reached clinical elevations; (3) unlimited SMS text message and phone call support options for participants to contact the advanced practice registered nurse; and (4) technology support as needed.

Primary Outcomes

The primary outcome for the studies tracking SCD symptoms was pain. However, the 2 studies reported these findings differently. Bakshi et al [24] reported that their participants with SCD endorsed having pain on the majority of days (76.2%); 30% of participants had all of their entries indicating pain, whereas another 30% primarily denied having pain for most of the time. Jacob et al [25] reported that over half of all diary entries included pain (55%) and that their participants with SCD

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19269/
```

had a mean pain rating of 4.1 (SD 2.2; range 1-10, with 10 being highest), with no evidence to suggest differences from morning and evening pain, nor by age (10-13 vs 14-17 years). Odgers and Russell [26] identified that 75% of their sample was exposed to violence on at least one day, and reported depressive symptoms about a quarter of the time, anger or irritability nearly 15% of the time, conduct problems about 7% of the time, and health-risk behaviors about 13% of the time. In addition, anger, depression, and conduct problems were more likely to be reported on violence-exposed days and depressive symptoms were more common on days following violence exposure [26]. See Multimedia Appendix 2 for study outcome details.

Usage and Acceptability

Usage and acceptability reports were also variable across studies. EMA was completed the majority of time for Bakshi et al [24], with more than 85% of study days associated with 2 or more completed EMAs. During focus groups, participants reported positive experiences and improved pain communication with their providers [24]. The other two studies indicated total number of reports completed (9216 entries [25] and >13,000 assessments and 4329 person days [26]) without any description of participant acceptability. See Multimedia Appendix 2 for usage and acceptability outcomes.

Intervention

Study Characteristics

Eleven studies reported interventions targeting mood, anxiety, or wellness outcomes for pediatric populations with socially complex needs. Specifically, interventions targeted (1) sexual risk behaviors in (i) African American adolescent females [27], (ii) at-risk adolescent females from a remote area in West Africa (Ghana) [32], and (iii) sexual minority adolescent males [37]; (2) obesity-related behaviors in (i) racial/ethnic minority adolescent females from low SES homes [29], (ii) adolescent males from low SES homes [35], and (iii) adolescents from diverse racial/ethnic backgrounds [36]; (3) asthma adherence in racial/ethnic minority adolescents from low SES homes [30,34]; (4) emotion regulation in homeless adolescent mothers [28]; (5) emotional self-awareness and mood symptoms in adolescents and young adults treated in rural primary care settings [31]; and (6) pain coping in racial/ethnic minority adolescents with SCD [33]. All samples were American, with the exception of 2 from Australia [31,35] and 1 from Ghana [32]. Samples ranged in size from 26 to 701, and nearly half consisted entirely of one sex [28,30-32,36,37]. See Table 1 for study characteristics.

Population-Specific Tailoring

Four studies explicitly described tailoring of the intervention to the targeted population. DiClemente and colleagues [27] utilized health educators matched by race and sex to the participants for the in-person session (ie, African American females) and described specifically tailoring the telephone counseling strategies to address sexual risk factors as prioritized by the participants (eg, a partner declining to wear a condom). Using participants themselves to tailor the intervention, Seid and colleagues [34] reported that participants created their own messages that would be sent as SMS text message during the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

intervention period. Examples included behavioral cues (eg, "Take your meds and go exercise."), motivational messages based on personal reasons for change (eg, "Don't quit. You can do it."), and general queries (eg, "Doing okay with your asthma? If not, call..."). Thompson et al [36] depicted both in text and through reference of an earlier work [39] an iterative approach to developing 84 SMS text message prompts (12 goal prompts, 72 promoting psychological needs; equally grounded in autonomy, competence, and relatedness) with 160 adolescents who were primarily racial/ethnic minorities. Examples included SMS text messages grounded in autonomy (eg, "You're in charge! Make the choice to meet your step goal today!"), competence (eg, "You can meet your step goal; just keep steppin'!"), and relatedness (eg, "Meeting your step goal shows you have what it takes to be successful!) [36]. Finally, Ybarra and colleagues [37] tailored messages based on sexual experience. For example, sexually experienced teens received an SMS text message such as "When you're in a healthy relationship and start having sex...," whereas sexually inexperienced teens would view: "When you have sex..." [37].

Three studies cited previous work depicting iterative design input from potential end users. While Leonard et al [28] reported qualitative feedback from their participants about their system, they cited a prior pilot conducted with 4 African American or Latinx adolescent mothers from low SES families at high risk for school dropout. Findings indicated participants' desire to make the sensor bands that measured electrodermal activity (a physiological stress indicator) more comfortable and fashionable in appearance [40]. Nollen et al [29] cited previous work that formed a community advisory board (CAB) of adolescent girls, who were primarily racial/ethnic minorities, to provide feedback on the use of the technology platform and to test 2 iterations of prototypes of the intervention. The CAB requested more reminders, accountability monitoring, and free music as an incentive for use; these were incorporated in later iterations of the design [41]. Reid and colleagues [31] cited previous focus groups with high-school students to tailor their app question prompt language (eg, make it less repetitive) [42].

Four studies provided vague or no descriptions of tailoring the intervention to a specific population. While Perry et al [30] provided limited detail on tailoring (eg, colorful graphics), they described seeking input from community stakeholders (teens with asthma and their parents). Rokicki and Fink [32] reported integrating feedback from adolescent focus groups and health providers to design the intervention language; however, no examples were provided. Smith and colleagues [35] described using tailored informational and motivational SMS text messages that were pushed to participants without providing details of this tailoring. Finally, to the best of our knowledge, Schatz and colleagues [33] did not describe tailoring in any way.

Evidence-Based Skills and Theories

The included studies reported the use of evidence-based skills and grounding in multiple theories. The most common evidence-based treatments were cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) [28,33], skills related to CBT (eg, behavior modification through goal setting and self-monitoring) [29,41], mindfulness [28], problem-solving skills training [34], and motivational interviewing [34]. Disease-specific interventions and models of change were also noted for asthma (asthma action plans) [30] and HIV (Information-Motivation-Behavior Model of HIV) [37]. Finally, self-determination theory [35,36], social cognitive theory [27,35], and the theory of gender and power [27] were used to inform several interventions. These theories were not necessarily used in isolation. For example, DiClemente and colleagues [27] grounded their intervention (HORIZONS) in both evidence-based treatment [43,44] and minority-based theory [45,46].

Use of Phones for Delivery

Consistent with the inclusion criteria, all studies used phones for some means of intervention delivery. Included in 5 studies, smartphone apps were the most commonly reported phone-based delivery mechanism [29-31,33,35], followed by the use of SMS text messaging, in 4 studies [32,34,36,37]. A total of 5 studies described providing some or all of their participants with a mobile phone or smartphone for the duration of the study [31,35–38]; 1 study did not clarify whether participants used their own devices [35]. Two studies required that participants have their own mobile phone with unlimited SMS text message/data plans [36,37]. Finally, DiClemente and colleagues [27] described the delivery of brief, tailored telephone-delivered counselling sessions following a single, in-person training session.

Additional Support

With one exception [29], all studies included some form of additional support to participants. Five studies included at least one in-person therapy or skills training session [27,28,33-35], with one additional study including training for teachers who would be interacting with participants throughout the intervention [35]. Four studies utilized automated support in the form of SMS text messages or reminders [29,34–36]. Three studies provided remote support with telephone-delivered counseling or check-ins [27,33] or being paired with a "text buddy"—another participant matched on sexual experience (ie, experienced or inexperienced) within 1 time zone but at least 500 mi away [37]. Finally, 3 studies reported using "as needed" remote human support via telephone calls [31,33] or SMS text messaging [36], which was activated when there were concerns for safety or poor adherence.

Primary Outcomes

The primary outcome measures and results varied considerably across the 11 intervention studies. Three studies reported using intent-to-treat analyses [27,31,37]; 2 studies reported nonsignificant primary outcomes [36,37] and 2 reported changes in knowledge or behaviors without noting significance values [28,32]. For pediatric condition-specific interventions, those with (1) uncontrolled asthma had improved asthma control test scores following use of the asthma action plan app (P=.04) [30]; (2) asthma that had received tailored SMS text messages had medium to large effect size changes in asthma symptoms and health-related quality of life [34]; and (3) SCD demonstrated a group (CBT training and app vs waitlist control) × time interaction for coping attempts (P=.03) [33]. For obesity-related

```
XSL•FO
```

behavior interventions reporting significant findings, the use of an app targeting obesity-related behaviors in racial/ethnic minority adolescent females from low SES homes was associated with less sweetened beverage consumption (P=.01) [29], whereas use of an app with a school-based program was related to changes in screen time (P=.03), lowered sweetened beverage consumption (P=.01), increased muscular fitness (P=.04), and increased resistance training skills (P=.001) [35]. To target sexual risk behaviors in adolescent females, those receiving telephone counseling were less likely to have a chlamydial infection (P=.02) or report having sex while high (P < .001), and more likely to use a condom (P = .04) [27]. Finally, in an app targeting emotional self-awareness and mood symptoms in adolescents and young adults treated in rural primary care settings, there was a group (monitoring mood symptoms vs daily activity monitoring) × time interaction effect for emotional self-awareness (P=.048) and main effects for depression and anxiety symptoms (P < .02 for both) [31]. See Multimedia Appendix 2 for primary outcomes.

Usage and Acceptability

One study did not report usage data [34] and 5 did not report acceptability [28–30,37,38]. Usage was reported in variable ways, including percentage of sample that used or reported using the SMS text messages/app [32,35,36], percentage of completed entries [33], average daily SMS text messages [37], total number of calls [27], duration of app use [28], percentage of days used [29], and frequency (eg, days per week or times per week) [30]. Three studies reported a numeric rating for acceptability or satisfaction with the intervention [28,29,36]. Two studies provided the percentages of their sample who agreed with statements such as "I would recommend the app to a friend with asthma" [30,35]; one study described participants as finding the intervention to be "appealing" [34]. See Multimedia Appendix 2 for usage and acceptability outcomes.

Quality of Studies

The included studies ranged from tracking and assessment to interventions, indicating that different methodologies were anticipated. Indeed, the 3 tracking and assessment studies, by the very nature of their purpose, were deemed high risk for selection, performance, and detection biases (Multimedia Appendix 3) [23]. Further, allocation concealment as well as performance and detection biases were variable, likely due to the nature of frequently involving technological delivery mechanisms (eg, knowing which arm a participant is assigned because they have access to an app or not). Attrition bias was high for 1 tracking and assessment study [24], but low (11/14, 79%) or unclear (2/14, 14%) for all other studies. Finally, all studies had a low reporting bias.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study synthesized the literature on the use of phones (ie, mHealth and telehealth) as a mental and behavioral health delivery mechanism for pediatric populations with socially complex needs. There was high variability in methodological approaches and reporting of data, negating the possibility of a

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19269/
```

meta-analytic approach to this systematic review. The studies that met the inclusion criteria were primarily intervention based and occurred mainly in 2005-2007 (we assumed that these studies primarily used landline calls) [27]. Samples included targeting typically underserved populations by gender [28–32,36], racial/ethnic background [24,25,28,33–35], low SES status [26,31,32,34–36], rural/remote location [31,32], and sexual orientation [37]. Usage and acceptability of the delivery mechanisms were inconsistently reported and therefore difficult to generalize. Finally, given the nature of the included studies, risk of bias to issues such as blinding was generally high.

The purpose of this synthesis of the literature was to provide recommendations for future research developing phone-based interventions for youth with socially complex needs. The following sections will therefore be used to discuss implications of the current findings for the development of future interventions targeting such pediatric groups. Specifically, we discuss (1) uses of phone-based delivery practices, (2) culturally specific tailoring practices, (3) applications of evidence-based skills and grounded theories to inform design, and (4) additional supports that promote comfort, use, or intended intervention outcomes for pediatric populations with socially complex needs.

Phone-Based Delivery

Given the ubiquity of mobile phones and smartphones [14], the use of these devices to reach socially complex pediatric populations has great merit. This focus on mobile devices stands in contrast to previous efforts to deliver evidence-based treatments via computer-based platforms [47,48] and may more accurately reflect the device and broadband access of underserved communities [12]. Further, phones are now equipped with multiple access capabilities, such as the ability to provide context sensing and just-in-time interventions (ie, acting when youth are most likely to be in need of in-the-moment intervention) [49,50]. It is possible that more interventions for socially complex pediatric populations will be entirely encompassed within mobile platforms, including multimethod (eg, context sensing, calls, SMS text messages, and an app), just-in-time, or stepped care designs (eg, early nonresponders step up care from SMS text messaging only to SMS text messaging + app, to SMS text messaging + app + telephone-administered CBT).

Apps and SMS text messaging were the most commonly employed method to access youth. This is consistent with current usage trends, such that youth are more likely to use SMS text messaging or social media to communicate than phone calls [51]. While apps are numerous and widely accessible, adoption is often poor [52] and there appear to be gaps in coverage across development (eg, apps aimed primarily at children or adults, but fewer for teens). Further, pediatric clinical-scientists are unlikely to develop, evaluate, and disseminate apps in pace with industry-driven apps [53], making the development of future apps targeted specifically for unique pediatric conditions or samples less feasible without industry support. Therefore, despite apps and SMS text messaging both being the most frequently used within the studies included in this review, we venture that there may be benefit in also focusing on using SMS text messages to assess and intervene with pediatric samples

with socially complex needs. Indeed, SMS text messaging interventions are (1) low cost (for interventionists; please see below about discussion of potential costs for users); (2) consistent with technology practices identified within several underserved population groups [14]; (3) not as easily ignored as push notifications and do not require a user to open a specific or potentially "identifiable" app (eg, a teen might fear that a specific app would be recognized by a peer for treating depression); (4) and associated with improvements in behavioral health behaviors for general pediatric and pediatric populations from underserved communities [16,54–56]. While the future of phone-based delivery of pediatric interventions may be multifaceted, apps and SMS text messaging appeared frequently in the current literature. We posit that SMS text messaging may be a particularly viable option for engaging populations with socially complex needs in pediatric assessments and interventions.

Relevant to the use of phones, potential costs associated with the use of phones as mental and behavioral health delivery mechanisms are also worth noting. Indeed, this consideration is particularly crucial in trying to access certain socially complex populations who are more likely to be impacted by lapses in service or burdened by the cost of data packages/SMS text messaging plans [15,18]. Several studies provided phones or data/SMS text messaging plans to participants, whereas others required that participants already own a smartphone with unlimited data/SMS text messaging plans. Previous work has already described design recommendations to avoid hidden costs to users (eg, data downloads when connected to Wi-Fi) [54]. However, ongoing assessments relating to the costs or burdens of mHealth, telehealth, and other use of future digital mental health tools should be conducted with representative pediatric populations and their families.

Culturally Specific Tailoring

Informing design with the feedback and preferences of likely end users is an integral aspect of user-centered design practices [55]. Cultural tailoring should therefore not be a unique practice. However, as there is limited literature targeting pediatric patients with socially complex needs (ie, only 14 studies meeting inclusion criteria for this review), such tailoring has rare representation. Involvement of representative end users in the design process was described in varying detail across studies. Given the paucity of direction for designing for specialty populations, papers specific to development (eg, [40–42]) or more explicit depictions of culturally specific tailoring are critically necessary for future publications.

Involving representative end users (eg, pediatric populations with socially complex needs) in design decisions may be achieved through multiple means. For example, the current literature detailed the use of semistructured individual interviews, focus groups, membership in a CAB, and stakeholder involvement. Recruiting youth to participate in such activities likely requires multimethod strategies, including flyers or targeted electronic chart messaging from pediatric primary care, school-based health centers, or specialty clinics. Engaging community organizations in partnership to engage youth will also increase the likelihood of receiving input from populations who have been historically less involved in research. Examples from the current literature depicted recruitment through specialty clinics (eg, SCD treatment site) or community settings to aid in tailoring messages or determining workflow of the interventions. Message tailoring was achieved through engaging representative groups, using messages authored by individuals for themselves [34], or by altering language based on membership to a given category (eg. sexually experienced vs inexperienced) [37]. As noted above, the authors posit that SMS text messaging stands as a viable means to engage underserved pediatric populations in assessment and interventions. Language utilized in such messages must be appropriate for the youth's needs, requiring brevity, clarity, minimal jargon, inclusive language choices, and the avoidance of a condescending tone—particularly for adolescent users [20,56,57]. It seems unlikely that such goals for language could be achieved without the direct input of the populations who would be using the tools. Indeed, as intervention design is inherently led by adults, the authors venture that beyond user-centered design practices, all pediatric interventions should have some form of input from youth. Regarding workflow, flexibility appears to be critical. Indeed, welcoming input from potential users about what they view as their top priorities and needs likely promotes engagement and usability.

Applications of Evidence-Based Skills and Grounded Theories

Also integral to the methodologies of interventions targeting pediatric populations with socially complex needs is grounding the design in evidence-based treatments. Skills grounded in CBT were most commonly employed to achieve the intended behavioral change in the studies meeting inclusion criteria. However, theories relating to minority populations (eg, promoting power, equity) were also used to guide the interventions. As members of underserved populations tend to have intersectional identities (eg, individual identification with minority status in sex/gender [female], ethnicity [Latinx], and SES [low SES]), grounding in theory likely also requires an intersectional approach. For example, in targeting sexual risk behaviors in African American adolescent females, the HORIZONS intervention was grounded in multiple theories, incorporating both an evidence-based treatment [43,44] and a minority-based theory [45,46]. Future interventions for underserved pediatric populations will likely benefit from similar integrative models of theory.

Additional Supports

Additional supports, whether automated, human, or both, also appear to be important for interventions targeting pediatric populations with socially complex needs. The potential for automated responses promotes the scalability of interventions for specific population targets. However, relating to the specialty needs of varying pediatric populations who may also be from underrepresented groups, the ability to have support as needed or ongoing human support may also be important. Fortunately, the incorporation of human support further opens up the possibility of increased diversity in the workforce that designs and deploys such interventions. Indeed, the US Department of Health and Human Services' Office of Minority Health argues

```
XSL•FO
```

that one way to improve health disparities is by increasing clinical workforce diversity [58]. Ideally, human support staff (eg, health educators, clinicians, researchers) should therefore include demographic membership that is in some way representative of the patients being served. For example, DiClemente and colleagues [27] ensured that all in-person contacts (ie, recruitment, health education sessions) were staffed by professionals matched by gender (female) and race (African American) to the participants [27]. Such inclusive hiring and collaborative processes likely enhance patient engagement and further promote cultural-tailoring practices highlighted above.

Limitations

This systematic review should be interpreted in light of specific limitations. First, the studies meeting inclusion criteria were incredibly variable in their methodologies and reporting strategies. This variability precluded a meta-analytic data approach to data synthesis and we were hesitant to overinterpret outcomes and usage patterns. Related to the variability in the studies, the search for research about "pediatric populations with socially complex needs" comprises a broad group. The current findings should be interpreted in terms of broad application to these pediatric populations. Second, the inclusion criteria for this systematic review led to the exclusion of more broad applications of mHealth and telehealth interventions for pediatric populations (eg, samples that included primarily majority population participants). It is unclear how larger reviews of the literature for pediatric populations may generalize to the populations targeted in this review, and vice versa [59]. Third, the included studies were conducted in the context of specific research trials. It is unclear how the findings generalize to open deployment and if there are specialty concerns for

specific underserved groups (eg, regional differences). Further, a number of studies did not report postintervention follow-up data. It is therefore difficult to identify potential long-term impacts of the interventions. Finally, and as previously noted, we were also limited in our ability to synthesize cultural-tailoring practices, as multiple included studies did not explicitly report these methodologies. Indeed, future detailed depictions of design practices identified with and for specific underserved pediatric populations are needed going forward—in both primary outcome reports and reviews.

Conclusions

Repeated calls have been made to better target the behavioral health needs of pediatric patients with socially complex needs. Mobile devices are often owned and utilized, and therefore may be an optimal delivery mechanism to access youth from such groups. Given the need to focus such interventions to the specialized needs of socially complex youth, this study systematically reviewed the literature of phone-based interventions (mHealth and telehealth) aimed at mental and behavioral health targets for pediatric populations. The synthesis highlighted the importance and potential opportunities of (1) the involvement of representative end users, stakeholders, and clinical/research staff; (2) integration of evidence-based therapies with minority-focused theories; (3) harnessing the capabilities of mobile devices, including SMS text messaging; and (4) considering and assessing for potential costs related to phones as delivery mechanisms. Future research should promote such practices and explicitly detail population-specific tailoring, usage, and acceptability of interventions delivered via mobile devices.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported in part by grants from the National Institute on Drug Abuse (No. R01-DA041071), the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (No. UL1-TR002398), and the Cynthia Oudejans Harris Endowment at Rush University. NK has additional research support from the National Institutes of Health (Grant Nos UG1-DA049467 and KL2-TR002387). At the time of the study, DB was a Scholar with the HIV/AIDS, Substance Abuse, and Trauma Training Program (HA-STTP) at the University of California, Los Angeles, supported through an award from the National Institute on Drug Abuse (No. R25DA035692) and National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATS) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) through Grant Number 5KL2TR002387-02 that funds the Institute for Translational Medicine (ITM). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategy and terms. [DOCX File, 14 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e19269_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Study outcomes. [DOCX File, 20 KB - pediatrics v3i2e19269 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Study risk of bias.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19269/
[DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e19269_app3.docx]

References

- Flores G, Committee On Pediatric Research. Technical report--racial and ethnic disparities in the health and health care of children. Pediatrics 2010 Apr 29;125(4):e979-e1020. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2010-0188</u>] [Medline: <u>20351000</u>]
- Bounds DT, Otwell CH, Melendez A, Karnik NS, Julion WA. Adapting a family intervention to reduce risk factors for sexual exploitation. Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health 2020 Feb 18;14(1):8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13034-020-00314-w] [Medline: 32099581]
- 3. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act 42 2010 p. H.R. 3590-683. 2010 Mar 23. URL: <u>https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/patient-protection-and-affordable-care-act/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 4. Braveman P, Barclay C. Health Disparities Beginning in Childhood: A Life-Course Perspective. Pediatrics 2009 Oct 27;124(Supplement 3):S163-S175. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2009-1100d</u>]
- 5. Arora PG, Godoy L, Hodgkinson S. Serving the underserved: Cultural considerations in behavioral health integration in pediatric primary care. Professional Psychology: Research and Practice 2017;48(3):139-148. [doi: 10.1037/pro0000131]
- Beck AF, Tschudy MM, Coker TR, Mistry KB, Cox JE, Gitterman BA, et al. Determinants of Health and Pediatric Primary Care Practices. Pediatrics 2016 Mar 23;137(3):e20153673 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2015-3673</u>] [Medline: <u>26933205</u>]
- 7. Herbst RB, Margolis KL, Millar AM, Muther EF, Talmi A. Lost in Translation: Identifying Behavioral Health Disparities in Pediatric Primary Care. J Pediatr Psychol 2016 May 02;41(4):481-491. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsv079</u>] [Medline: <u>26338958</u>]
- Cheng TL, Emmanuel MA, Levy DJ, Jenkins RR. Child Health Disparities: What Can a Clinician Do? Pediatrics 2015 Nov 12;136(5):961-968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-4126] [Medline: 26459644]
- 9. Hughes-Reid C. Commentary: Pediatric Primary Care Psychology: 40 Years of Addressing Gaps in Healthcare. J Pediatr Psychol 2019 Aug 01;44(7):882-884. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsz057] [Medline: 31290961]
- Teachman BA, McKay D, Barch DM, Prinstein MJ, Hollon SD, Chambless DL. How psychosocial research can help the National Institute of Mental Health achieve its grand challenge to reduce the burden of mental illnesses and psychological disorders. Am Psychol 2019 May;74(4):415-431. [doi: <u>10.1037/amp0000361</u>] [Medline: <u>30265019</u>]
- 11. Academy of Medical Sciences. Our Data-Driven Future in Healthcare: People and Partnerships at the Heart of Health Related Technologies. 2018. URL: <u>https://acmedsci.ac.uk/file-download/74634438</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 12. Internet/Broadband Fact Sheet. Washington, D.C: Pew Research Center; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/internet-broadband/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 13. Mobile Fact Sheet. Washington, D.C: Pew Research Center; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 14. Anderson M, Jiang J. Teens, Social Media & Technology. Washington, D.C: Pew Research Center; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewinternet.org/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- Anderson M, Kumar M. Digital Divide Persists as Lower-Income Americans Make Gains In Tech Adoption. Washington, D.C: Pew Research Center; 2019. URL: <u>https://pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/05/07/</u> <u>digital-divide-even-as-lower-income-americans-make-gains-in-tech-adoption/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- Anderson-Lewis C, Darville G, Mercado RE, Howell S, Di Maggio S. mHealth Technology Use and Implications in Historically Underserved and Minority Populations in the United States: Systematic Literature Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 18;6(6):e128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8383] [Medline: 29914860]
- Kumar D, Hemmige V, Kallen M, Giordano T, Arya M. Mobile Phones May Not Bridge the Digital Divide: A Look at Mobile Phone Literacy in an Underserved Patient Population. Cureus 2019 Feb 20;11(2):e4104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.4104] [Medline: 31057998]
- Perrin A. Smartphones Help Blacks, Hispanics Bridge Some-But Not All-Digital Gaps With Whites. Washington, D.C: Pew Research Center; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearchcenter.org/fact-tank/2017/08/31/</u> smartphones-help-blacks-hispanics-bridge-some-but-not-all-digital-gaps-with-whites/ [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 19. Smith A. U.S. Smartphone Use in 2015. Washington, D.C: Pew Research Center; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2015/04/01/us-smartphone-use-in-2015/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 20. Schueller SM, Hunter JF, Figueroa C, Aguilera A. Use of Digital Mental Health for Marginalized and Underserved Populations. Curr Treat Options Psych 2019 Jul 5;6(3):243-255. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40501-019-00181-z</u>]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009 Jul 21;6(7):e1000097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097] [Medline: 19621072]
- 22. Covidence Systematic Review Software. Melbourne: Veritas Health Innovation URL: <u>http://www.covidence.org</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, Cochrane Bias Methods Group, Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011 Oct 18;343(oct18 2):d5928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.d5928] [Medline: 22008217]

- 24. Bakshi N, Smith ME, Ross D, Krishnamurti L. Novel Metrics in the Longitudinal Evaluation of Pain Data in Sickle Cell Disease. The Clinical Journal of Pain 2017;33(6):517-527. [doi: 10.1097/ajp.00000000000431]
- Jacob E, Duran J, Stinson J, Lewis MA, Zeltzer L. Remote monitoring of pain and symptoms using wireless technology in children and adolescents with sickle cell disease. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract 2013 Jan 12;25(1):42-54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7599.2012.00754.x] [Medline: 23279278]
- 26. Odgers CL, Russell MA. Violence exposure is associated with adolescents' same- and next-day mental health symptoms. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2017 Dec 13;58(12):1310-1318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12763] [Medline: 28703312]
- 27. DiClemente RJ, Wingood GM, Sales JM, Brown JL, Rose ES, Davis TL, et al. Efficacy of a telephone-delivered sexually transmitted infection/human immunodeficiency virus prevention maintenance intervention for adolescents: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Pediatr 2014 Oct 01;168(10):938-946 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.1436] [Medline: 25155070]
- 28. Leonard NR, Casarjian B, Fletcher RR, Praia C, Sherpa D, Kelemen A, et al. Theoretically-Based Emotion Regulation Strategies Using a Mobile App and Wearable Sensor Among Homeless Adolescent Mothers: Acceptability and Feasibility Study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Mar 01;1(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.9037] [Medline: 30637376]
- 29. Nollen NL, Mayo MS, Carlson SE, Rapoff MA, Goggin KJ, Ellerbeck EF. Mobile technology for obesity prevention: a randomized pilot study in racial- and ethnic-minority girls. Am J Prev Med 2014 Apr;46(4):404-408 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.12.011] [Medline: 24650843]
- Perry TT, Marshall A, Berlinski A, Rettiganti M, Brown RH, Randle SM, et al. Smartphone-based vs paper-based asthma action plans for adolescents. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2017 Mar;118(3):298-303. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.anai.2016.11.028</u>] [Medline: <u>28111110</u>]
- Reid SC, Kauer SD, Hearps SJ, Crooke AH, Khor AS, Sanci LA, et al. A mobile phone application for the assessment and management of youth mental health problems in primary care: a randomised controlled trial. BMC Fam Pract 2011 Nov 29;12(1):131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-12-131] [Medline: 22123031]
- 32. Rokicki S, Fink G. Assessing the reach and effectiveness of mHealth: evidence from a reproductive health program for adolescent girls in Ghana. BMC Public Health 2017 Dec 20;17(1):969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4939-7] [Medline: 29262823]
- 33. Schatz J, Schlenz AM, McClellan CB, Puffer ES, Hardy S, Pfeiffer M, et al. Changes in Coping, Pain, and Activity After Cognitive-Behavioral Training. The Clinical Journal of Pain 2015;31(6):536-547. [doi: <u>10.1097/ajp.00000000000183</u>]
- Seid M, D'Amico EJ, Varni JW, Munafo JK, Britto MT, Kercsmar CM, et al. The in vivo adherence intervention for at risk adolescents with asthma: report of a randomized pilot trial. J Pediatr Psychol 2012 May 13;37(4):390-403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsr107] [Medline: 22167121]
- Smith JJ, Morgan PJ, Plotnikoff RC, Dally KA, Salmon J, Okely AD, et al. Smart-phone obesity prevention trial for adolescent boys in low-income communities: the ATLAS RCT. Pediatrics 2014 Sep 25;134(3):e723-e731. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1012] [Medline: 25157000]
- 36. Thompson D, Cantu D, Ramirez B, Cullen KW, Baranowski T, Mendoza J, et al. Texting to Increase Adolescent Physical Activity: Feasibility Assessment. Am J Hlth Behav 2016 Jul 01;40(4):472-483. [doi: <u>10.5993/ajhb.40.4.9</u>]
- Ybarra ML, Prescott TL, Phillips GL, Bull SS, Parsons JT, Mustanski B. Pilot RCT Results of an mHealth HIV Prevention Program for Sexual Minority Male Adolescents. Pediatrics 2017 Jul 28;140(1):e20162999 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2999] [Medline: 28659456]
- Bakshi N, Stinson JN, Ross D, Lukombo I, Mittal N, Joshi SV, et al. Development, Content Validity, and User Review of a Web-based Multidimensional Pain Diary for Adolescent and Young Adults With Sickle Cell Disease. The Clinical Journal of Pain 2015;31(6):580-590. [doi: 10.1097/ajp.00000000000195]
- Thompson D, Cantu D, Bhatt R, Baranowski T, Rodgers W, Jago R, et al. Texting to Increase Physical Activity Among Teenagers (TXT Me!): Rationale, Design, and Methods Proposal. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 Mar 12;3(1):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3074] [Medline: 24622344]
- 40. Rajan S, Leonard N, Fletcher R, Casarjian B, Casarjian R, Cisse C, et al. Ambulatory Autonomic Activity Monitoring Among At-Risk Adolescent Mothers. J Mob Technol Med 2012 Sep 12;1(3):25-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7309/jmtm.19] [Medline: 23626657]
- 41. Nollen NL, Hutcheson T, Carlson S, Rapoff M, Goggin K, Mayfield C, et al. Development and functionality of a handheld computer program to improve fruit and vegetable intake among low-income youth. Health Educ Res 2013 Apr 04;28(2):249-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cys099] [Medline: 22949499]
- 42. Reid SC, Kauer SD, Dudgeon P, Sanci LA, Shrier LA, Patton GC. A mobile phone program to track young people's experiences of mood, stress and coping. Development and testing of the mobiletype program. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2009 Jun 14;44(6):501-507. [doi: 10.1007/s00127-008-0455-5] [Medline: 19011723]
- 43. DiClemente RJ, Wingood GM, Harrington KF, Lang DL, Davies SL, Hook EW, et al. Efficacy of an HIV prevention intervention for African American adolescent girls: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2004 Jul 14;292(2):171-179. [doi: 10.1001/jama.292.2.171] [Medline: 15249566]
- 44. DiClemente RJ, Wingood GM, Rose ES, Sales JM, Lang DL, Caliendo AM, et al. Efficacy of sexually transmitted disease/human immunodeficiency virus sexual risk-reduction intervention for african american adolescent females seeking

sexual health services: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2009 Dec 07;163(12):1112-1121. [doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.205] [Medline: 19996048]

- 45. Wingood GM, Scd, DiClemente RJ. Application of the theory of gender and power to examine HIV-related exposures, risk factors, and effective interventions for women. Health Educ Behav 2000 Oct 30;27(5):539-565. [doi: 10.1177/109019810002700502] [Medline: 11009126]
- 46. Wingood G, DiClemente R. The theory of genderpower: a social structural theory for guiding public health interventions. In: Emerging Theories in Health Promotion Practice and Research: Strategies for Improving Public Health. San Francisco: Jossey Bass/Wiley; 2002:313-346.
- 47. Stiles-Shields C, Ho J, Mohr DC. A review of design characteristics of cognitive behavioral therapy-informed behavioral intervention technologies for youth with depression and anxiety. Digit Health 2016 Nov 22;2:2055207616675706 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207616675706] [Medline: 29942571]
- 48. Cushing CC, Steele RG. A meta-analytic review of eHealth interventions for pediatric health promoting and maintaining behaviors. J Pediatr Psychol 2010 Oct 14;35(9):937-949. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsq023</u>] [Medline: <u>20392790</u>]
- Nahum-Shani I, Smith S, Spring B, Collins L, Witkiewitz K, Tewari A, et al. Just-in-Time Adaptive Interventions (JITAIs) in Mobile Health: Key Components and Design Principles for Ongoing Health Behavior Support. Ann Behav Med 2018 May 18;52(6):446-462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8] [Medline: 27663578]
- 50. Cushing CC, Fedele DA, Riley WT. Introduction to the Coordinated Special Issue on eHealth/mHealth in Pediatric Psychology. J Pediatr Psychol 2019 Apr 01;44(3):259-262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsz010] [Medline: 30806658]
- 51. Anderson M. For Teens, Phone Calls Are Reserved for Closer Relationships.: Pew Research Center; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2015/08/17/for-teens-phone-calls-are-reserved-for-closer-relationships/</u> [accessed 2020-08-15]
- 52. Torous J, Wisniewski H, Liu G, Keshavan M. Mental Health Mobile Phone App Usage, Concerns, and Benefits Among Psychiatric Outpatients: Comparative Survey Study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Nov 16;5(4):e11715 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11715] [Medline: 30446484]
- Mohr DC, Schueller SM, Riley WT, Brown CH, Cuijpers P, Duan N, et al. Trials of Intervention Principles: Evaluation Methods for Evolving Behavioral Intervention Technologies. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 08;17(7):e166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4391] [Medline: 26155878]
- 54. Stiles-Shields C, Montague E, Lattie EG, Kwasny MJ, Mohr DC. What might get in the way: Barriers to the use of apps for depression. Digit Health 2017 Jun 08;3:2055207617713827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207617713827] [Medline: 29942605]
- 55. Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and Promoting Effective Engagement With Digital Behavior Change Interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>27745683</u>]
- 56. Jones K, Williams J, Sipsma H, Patil C. Adolescent and emerging adults' evaluation of a Facebook site providing sexual health education. Public Health Nurs 2019 Jan 01;36(1):11-17. [doi: <u>10.1111/phn.12555</u>] [Medline: <u>30272378</u>]
- Bakker D, Kazantzis N, Rickwood D, Rickard N. Mental Health Smartphone Apps: Review and Evidence-Based Recommendations for Future Developments. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Mar 01;3(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4984] [Medline: 26932350]
- 58. Jackson CS, Gracia JN. Addressing Health and Health-Care Disparities: The Role of a Diverse Workforce and the Social Determinants of Health. Public Health Rep 2014 Jan;129(1_suppl2):57-61. [doi: 10.1177/00333549141291s211]
- Fedele DA, Cushing CC, Fritz A, Amaro CM, Ortega A. Mobile Health Interventions for Improving Health Outcomes in Youth: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2017 May 01;171(5):461-469 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0042] [Medline: 28319239]

Abbreviations

CAB: community advisory board CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy EMA: ecological momentary assessment mHealth: mobile health PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses SCD: sickle cell disease SES: socioeconomic status



Edited by A Radovic-Stakic; submitted 10.04.20; peer-reviewed by C Figueroa, T Coker; comments to author 19.06.20; revised version received 20.07.20; accepted 11.08.20; published 26.08.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Stiles-Shields C, Potthoff LM, Bounds DT, Burns MTS, Draxler JM, Otwell CH, Wolodiger ED, Westrick J, Karnik NS Harnessing Phones to Target Pediatric Populations with Socially Complex Needs: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19269 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19269/ doi:10.2196/19269 PMID:32845244

©Colleen Stiles-Shields, Lauren M Potthoff, Dawn T Bounds, Maureen T S Burns, Janel M Draxler, Caitlin H Otwell, Emily D Wolodiger, Jennifer Westrick, Niranjan S Karnik. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 26.08.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

eHealth and mHealth Psychosocial Interventions for Youths With Chronic Illnesses: Systematic Review

Nancy Lau^{1,2}, PhD; Shayna Waldbaum³, BSc; Ryan Parigoris⁴, BA; Alison O'Daffer¹, BA; Casey Walsh^{5,6}, MSW, PhD; Susannah F Colt⁷, MA; Joyce P Yi-Frazier¹, PhD; Tonya M Palermo^{8,9}, PhD; Elizabeth McCauley^{2,9}, PhD; Abby R Rosenberg^{1,10,11}, MA, MSc, MD

⁶Clinical Research Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, United States

¹⁰Cambia Palliative Care Center of Excellence, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Nancy Lau, PhD Palliative Care and Resilience Lab Center for Clinical and Translational Research Seattle Children's Research Institute 1920 Terry Ave Seattle, WA, 98101 United States Phone: 1 206 884 0569 Email: nancy.lau@seattlechildrens.org

Abstract

Background: An estimated 12.8% of children and adolescents experience chronic health conditions that lead to poor quality of life, adjustment and coping issues, and concurrent mental health problems. Digital health deployment of psychosocial interventions to support youth with chronic illness has become increasingly popular with the advent of the technological advances in the digital age.

Objective: Our objectives were to systematically review published efficacy studies of eHealth and mHealth (mobile health) psychosocial interventions for youths with chronic illnesses and review intervention theory and treatment components.

Methods: PubMed, Embase, Web of Science, PsycInfo, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews were searched for studies published from 2008 to 2019 of eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions designed for children and adolescents with chronic illnesses in which efficacy outcomes were reported. We excluded studies of interventions for caregivers, healthy youth, disease and medication management, and telehealth interventions that function solely as a platform to connect patients to providers via phone, text, or videoconference.

Results: We screened 2551 articles and 133 relevant full-text articles. Sixteen efficacy studies with psychosocial and health outcomes representing 12 unique interventions met the inclusion criteria. Of the included studies, 12 were randomized controlled trials and 4 were prospective cohort studies with no comparison group. Most interventions were based in cognitive behavioral theory and designed as eHealth interventions; only 2 were designed as mHealth interventions. All but 2 interventions provided access to support staff via text, phone, email, or discussion forums. The significant heterogeneity in intervention content, intervention structure, medical diagnoses, and outcomes precluded meta-analysis. For example, measurement time points ranged from immediately postcompletion of the mHealth program to 18 months later, and we identified 39 unique outcomes of interest. The

¹Palliative Care and Resilience Lab, Center for Clinical and Translational Research, Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

²Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

³Chicago Medical School, Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science, North Chicago, IL, United States

⁴Department of Psychology, University of Massachusetts Boston, Boston, MA, United States

⁵Department of Health Services, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

⁷Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁸Department of Anesthesiology and Pain Medicine, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

⁹Center for Child Health, Behavior, and Development, Seattle Children's Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

¹¹Department of Pediatrics, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

majority of included studies (11/16, 69%) reported significant changes in measured health and/or psychosocial posttreatment outcomes, with small to large effect sizes.

Conclusions: Although the available literature on the efficacy of eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions for youth with chronic illnesses is limited, preliminary research suggests some evidence of positive treatment responses. Future studies should continue to evaluate whether digital health platforms may be a viable alternative model of delivery to traditional face-to-face approaches.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e22329) doi:10.2196/22329

KEYWORDS

pediatrics; chronic illness; mHealth; eHealth; psychosocial interventions; mental health

Introduction

An increasing number of youths (ie, children and adolescents aged 18 years and younger) are diagnosed with a chronic condition in the United States, with an estimated prevalence rate of 12.8% [1-3]. Chronic illness in childhood negatively impacts quality of life [4,5]. Chronic health conditions can lead to emotional challenges and heighten coping difficulties [6]. Up to 60% of children with a chronic illness have at least one co-occurring psychological disorder [7], compared with 10% to 20% of the general pediatric population [8]. Across illness type, stressors associated with chronic disease are vastly similar. Burdens to these populations include treatment-related stress, changes to daily life and routines, and uncertainty about the future [7,9].

Face-to-face psychosocial interventions such as cognitive behavioral therapy are designed to teach and bolster coping skills and improve psychological adjustment [10]. Such interventions have been developed for various illness populations to improve psychosocial outcomes and quality of life [11]. However, barriers to in-person treatment include limited availability of and access to psychosocial clinicians and high costs of treatment [12,13]. A majority of youths screened in school and primary care settings with elevated mental health symptoms do not follow-up with referrals to mental health clinicians, especially those who are racial/ethnic minorities, have public insurance, or come from low-income households [14]. Additionally, there are workforce shortages in proportion to demand and need, with wait times for psychiatric care appointments exceeding that of pediatricians [15]. A potential solution is leveraging technological advances and digital media to deploy behavioral health interventions on a larger scale. Internet-based interventions (otherwise known as eHealth interventions) confer the advantages of instant availability, anonymity, self-pacing, the ability to reach patients in remote areas, and cost-effectiveness due to reduced personnel and infrastructure requirements [16,17].

Internet-based interventions may be particularly appealing to younger generations who are digital natives accustomed to interacting on smartphones and the internet [16-18]. The internet serves as a primary means of health-related and mental health-related information-seeking and communication for youths [19,20]. Additionally, young people endorse reluctance to seek psychological services due to social stigma, discomfort discussing personal problems, and a preference for self-help [16,17,19,21]. Thus, there has been a rapid growth in the use

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22329/

of eHealth platforms to deploy skills-based behavioral health programs for youths. Moreover, in recent years with the increased use of smartphones there has been a corresponding increase in mobile health (mHealth) apps for symptom self-management on smartphone devices [22,23].

Previous systematic reviews have examined digital interventions in pediatric populations for disease self-management and alleviation of mental health symptoms. Examples include remote management of pediatric chronic pain [24] and technological interventions for asthma self-management in children and adolescents [25-27]. Other reviews have focused on digital health interventions for youth mental health problems [28,29] and internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy for children and adolescents [17,30]. The literature has addressed the benefits of eHealth interventions for anxiety and depression [31], technological tools for disease self-management [32], and technology-based family interventions for improving family functioning [33].

To our knowledge, no existing systematic review has been conducted to critically review the literature on eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions for youths with chronic illnesses. Previous reviews in this topic area have focused more narrowly on specific chronic conditions, constellations of mental health symptoms, or types of psychotherapy. Our study objectives were to systematically review the efficacy of eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions for youths with chronic illnesses and review underlying intervention theory and treatment components.

Methods

Literature Search

The search was executed by a research librarian in five databases for articles published from 2008 to 2019: PubMed/MEDLINE, Embase, Web of Science, PsycINFO, and Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. We used keywords and Boolean operators [34] to identify original articles on eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions designed for youths or young adults with chronic illnesses. Inclusion criteria were (1) available in English; (2) published in peer-reviewed journal; (3) experimental, quasi-experimental, and observational studies in which efficacy outcome(s) were reported; (4) eHealth or mHealth psychosocial interventions (with technology as the primary mode of content delivery, either entirely self-guided or human-assisted); and (5) designed for children and

adolescents aged 18 years and younger with chronic disease (ie, a long-term medical condition lasting 3 months or longer [35]).

The original primary search strategy with generic chronic illness search terms is shown in Multimedia Appendix 1. Cancer is a specific condition of interest for our research group for which we were aware of existing digital intervention literature. Based on our primary search strategy, the authors identified several known published studies on digital interventions related to 10 specific chronic illnesses. To ensure all relevant articles were captured, a supplemental search strategy related to the specific chronic illnesses identified was then conducted to generate systematic reviews to search some of the more advanced digital intervention science in pediatrics (Multimedia Appendix 2). Our search strategy was guided and conducted by a medical librarian with extensive experience with systematic reviews; the list of search terms for specific chronic illnesses was modeled after published Cochrane reviews (eg, Law et al [36] on caregiver interventions for children with chronic illness). We excluded studies of interventions that target caregivers or health care providers only, interventions that target mental health problems/disorders not in the context of a chronic medical condition, prevention programs for healthy controls, disease and medication management programs, and programs in which the telehealth platform is only used to connect patients to providers via phone, text, or videoconference.

Selection of Studies

First, we screened titles and abstracts of studies retrieved for inclusion and exclusion. We then obtained full texts of articles designated as potentially meeting inclusion criteria to assess for eligibility. Screening of all titles, abstracts, and full-text articles was first independently double-coded by authors in pairs (NL, SW; NL, RP; NL, SFC); each dyad coded a subset of articles and NL coded all articles. Then, disagreements between the authors in each dyad were resolved through discussion while referencing the original source material to reach consensus. Finally, for articles meeting inclusion criteria, we independently double-coded relevant information from each study in pairs (NL, SW; NL, RP; NL, SFC), including study design, sample size, target illness, intervention characteristics (eg, intervention theory and components, eHealth or mHealth platform), and treatment outcomes data.

For intervention characteristics, we relied on authors' descriptions, either provided in the articles themselves or in prior publications of the intervention referenced in the included articles, and standard norms for psychosocial interventions. For example, if authors described an intervention as being based on cognitive behavioral theory, we coded the theory as cognitive behavioral; if the intervention followed a prespecified order mirroring the stepwise progression of traditional manualized evidence-based psychotherapies, it was coded as a modular treatment session per clinical norms [37]; and if patients could connect with research or psychosocial staff for support, we coded the intervention as human-assisted.

Unsurprisingly, measures collected in studies incorporated both psychosocial outcomes and physical health/disease-related outcomes. In the context of chronic medical conditions, physical and psychological consequences are intertwined and physical

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22329/
```

health/disease-related outcomes tend to improve alongside emotional and psychological functioning [38]. Outcome measures were categorized as either psychosocial (depression, social problem solving, fear and worry about symptoms, anxiety sensitivity, perceived stress, rewarding pain behavior, quality of life, social acceptance, family conflict, pain catastrophizing, psychological well-being, emotional functioning, parental protectiveness, anxiety, school attendance, self-efficacy, posttraumatic stress symptoms, somatic symptoms, coping strategies) or physical health/disease-related (fatigue, physical functioning, energy, disease symptoms, pain intensity and frequency, pain interference, pain reactivity, sleep, disease knowledge, activity limitations, functional disability). Categorizations were based on the psychosocial background literature [39-41] and agreed upon internally by our interdisciplinary research team which includes intervention science researchers, health services researchers, physicians, and psychologists; we acknowledge that some outcomes such as aspects of pain management, sleep, and functional impairments may fit either categorization. For study design, we used author designations. For example, a study was categorized as a pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT) if described as such in the article. We referred to the articles to resolve any discrepancies during consensus conversations and did not make inferences beyond authors' definitions and descriptions.

After review of the articles, the team determined that heterogeneity in outcome variables and measurement time points precluded meta-analysis. Thus, we described the data systematically.

Quality Assessment

We independently assessed study quality in pairs (NL, SW; NL, RP; NL, SFC) using the Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias [42] to evaluate random sequence generation (selection bias), allocation concealment (selection bias), blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias), blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias), incomplete outcome data (attrition bias), selective reporting (reporting bias), and other biases. We coded each category as low, high, or unclear risk of bias according to established standards in the Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions [43]. We resolved discrepancies in coding during regularly scheduled consensus meetings by referring to the journal articles themselves.

Results

Literature Search

The results of the search and selection of studies are described in the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA) flow diagram (Figure 1). We screened 2551 articles; 2418 were initially excluded because they did not meet selection criteria. Evaluation of the remaining 133 relevant full-text articles resulted in the exclusion of 117 articles, leaving us with 16 articles that met criteria for inclusion. We provide a synthesis of the findings from the included studies structured around the type of intervention, target population characteristics, intervention content, and type of outcomes.

Figure 1. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses diagram.



Intervention Characteristics

We found 12 [44-60] unique digital interventions that were developed and tested in the United States [51,55,58], Australia [44], Canada [49,60], Germany [48,54], the Netherlands [47], and Sweden [45,61] (Table 1). Ten were eHealth interventions [44-48,51-59,61] and 2 mHealth interventions [49,60]. We found that over half (7/12, 58%) [45-48,53-58,61] were based

on cognitive behavioral therapy principles [62,63]. Other treatment frameworks represented included disease self-management, problem solving, psychoeducation, and social-emotional learning. The interventions varied in length, duration, and number of sessions. All but two interventions incorporated modular treatment sessions that follow a prespecified order (Table 1).



Lau et al

Table 1. Interventions targeted for youth chronic illness populations.

Intervention name	Targeted illness	Age range ^a	Country of origin	Platform	Standalone intervention or supplement	Iterative design process	Modular or unstructured sessions	or Intervention theory red	
Breathe Easier On- line [44]	Chronic res- piratory con- dition	10-17	Australia	eHealth	Standalone		Modular	Evidence-based social sup- port and problem-solving program following PACE ^b principle	
Fatigue in Teenagers on the InterNET [45]	Chronic fa- tigue syn- drome	12-18	Nether- lands	eHealth	Standalone		Modular	Evidence-based CBT ^c	
iCanCope [60]	Chronic pain	15-18	Canada	mHealth	Standalone	х	Unstructured	Evidence-based psychologi- cal pain management, symptom monitoring	
iCBT ^d for adoles- cents with FGID ^e [46,61]	Pain-promi- nent FGID	13-17	Sweden	eHealth	Standalone	X	Modular	Evidence-based iCBT	
Move It Now [47]	Chronic pain	12-17	Nether- lands	eHealth	Standalone		Modular	Evidence-based CBT	
Onco-STEP [48]	Survivors of pediatric cancer	≥15	Germany	eHealth	Standalone		Modular	Evidence-based CBT	
PainSquad+ [49,50]	Cancer pain management	12-18	Canada	mHealth	Standalone	Х	Unstructured	Evidence-based pharmaco- logical and psychological pain management strategies	
TeenCope [51]	Type 1 dia- betes	11-14	US	eHealth	Standalone	X	Modular	Evidence-based psychoedu- cational intervention based on coping skills training	
Teens Taking Charge: Managing Arthritis Online [52]	Juvenile idio- pathic arthri- tis	12-18	Canada	eHealth	Standalone	X	Modular	Evidence-based self-manage- ment strategies	
Trautmann self-help programs: internet- based CBT, internet- based applied relax- ation [53,54]	Recurrent headache	10-18 ^a	Germany	eHealth	Standalone	x	Modular	Evidence-based CBT, relax- ation	
Web-based manage- ment of adolescent pain [55-57]	Chronic pain, recur- rent headache, sickle cell disease	11-18 ^a	US	eHealth	Standalone	x	Modular	Evidence-based CBT	
Web-based treat- ment for adolescents with IBD ^f [58]	Inflammato- ry bowel dis- ease	12-17	US	eHealth	Supplement to face-to-face	х	Modular	Evidence-based CBT	

^aAge range represents lowest and highest age range across all studies for the same intervention.

^bPACE: problem identification, alternative solution generation, consequences of each alternative solution, execute solution and evaluate.

^cCBT: cognitive behavioral therapy.

^diCBT: internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy.

^eFGID: functional gastrointestinal disorder.

^fIBD: inflammatory bowel disease.

All except two were human-assisted (10/12, 83%); human-assisted interventions allowed patients to connect with research or psychosocial staff (ie, psychologist, psychology trainee, nurse, peer counselor) for support via emails, texts, phone calls, private online messaging centers, or message boards

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22329/

XSL•FO

(Multimedia Appendix 3). Half of the interventions (6/12, 50%) had some element of caregiver involvement [45-47,52,55-58,61]. Skills practice was notably the only component shared across all interventions. Other components incorporated that lend themselves well to digital intervention platforms include

ecological momentary assessment, which allows symptom tracking in real time (4/12, 33%) [64]; tailoring of content to individual users (6/12, 50%); didactic videos (4/12, 33%); online discussion forums (6/12, 50%); and gamification to increase engagement (3/12, 25%).

Participants and Study Characteristics

Participant ages ranged from 10 to 18 years. The targeted chronic illnesses included diabetes, chronic pain, juvenile arthritis, cancer, chronic fatigue syndrome, recurrent headache, chronic respiratory condition, sickle cell disease, and gastrointestinal disorders (Table 1).

Of the 16 included efficacy studies (Tables 2 and 3), there were 3 single-site prospective cohort studies [44,53,57], 1 multisite prospective cohort study [52], 5 pilot RCTs (3 single-site [46,48,58], 2 multisite [49,60]), and 7 phase 2-3 RCTs (4 single-site [45,46,54,56,61], 3 multisite [47,55,59]). The 4 non-RCT prospective cohort studies were pilot studies with small sample sizes ranging from 2061 to 4049 participants with no comparison groups. For the pilot RCTs, sample sizes ranged from 1853 to 8357; one was described as powered for between-groups analyses [57]. The majority had an active treatment comparison condition, with only one using a wait-list control [56]. For the RCTs, sample sizes ranged from 4856 to 32,059; five were described as powered for between-groups

analyses [45,55,56,59,61]. A little over half (4/7, 57%) [45,53-55,57,59,61] were compared with an active treatment condition, and the rest were compared with a wait-list control group.

Measures of psychosocial outcomes were collected across all studies, and physical health outcomes were collected in 88% (14/16) of studies [45-47,49,52-61] (Tables 2 and 3). However, outcomes assessed were heterogeneous, which prevents holistic synthesis across studies. At posttreatment, 56% (9/16) of the reviewed studies reported significant improvements in psychosocial outcomes (eg, anxiety, depression) [46,48,49,55,58,61]; effect sizes, where reported, ranged from small to large for RCTs and non-RCTs alike [46-49,55,58,61]. At posttreatment, half (8/16, 50%) [45-47,49,52,53,56] of the reviewed studies reported significant improvements in health-related outcomes (eg, physical functioning, disease knowledge); effect sizes, where reported, ranged from small to large for RCTs and non-RCTs alike [46,47,49,52,55,56,61]. In combination, a majority (11/16, 69%) of included studies reported some evidence of efficacy on psychosocial outcomes and/or health-related outcomes at posttreatment [45-49,52,53,55,56,58,59]. Findings across RCTs and non-RCTs were similar, with the exception that all non-RCTs reported some improvements in psychosocial outcomes.



 Table 2. Original research publications with quantitative outcomes: randomized controlled trials only.

Intervention	Type of study	Control group	Sample	Powered	Posttreatment outcomes ^{a.b}	Longitudinal outcomes ^{a.b}	
			5.2.0	analyses?			
Breathe Easier Online [44]	Pilot RCT ^c	Wait-list control	42	-	Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for depression or social problem solving	N/A ^d	
Fatigue in Teenagers on the InterNET [45]	RCT	Usual care	135	х	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved school atten- dance ($P \le .01$, 95% CI 2.7 to 8.9)	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved school attendance at 12 months	
					Physical health outcomes: inter- vention improved fatigue ($P \le .01, 95\%$ CI 2.1 to 4.9) and physical functioning ($P \le .01,$ 95% CI 2.3 to 6.3)	Physical health outcomes: intervention improved fa- tigue and physical function- ing at 12 months	
iCanCope [60]	Pilot multisite RCT	iCanCope version A (symptom tracking	59		Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for mood	N/A	
		only)			Physical health outcomes: no significant results for pain inten- sity and interference, physical activity, sleep quality, or ener- gy		
ICBT ^e for adoles- cents with FGID ^f [61]	RCT	Wait-list control	101	x	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved fear and worry about symptoms (95% CI 0.39 to 1.09, d^{g} =0.74), and anxiety sensitivity (95% CI -0.07 to 0.47, d =0.20) No significant results for perceived stress or depressive symptoms Physical health outcomes: intervention improved gastrointestinal symptoms (95% CI 0.16 to 0.84, d =0.50) and pain intensity and frequency (95% CI 0.11 to 0.61, d =0.36)	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved fear and worry about symptoms (95% CI 0.59 to 1.59, d=1.05) and anxiety sensi- tivity (95% CI 0.10 to 1.04, $d=0.57$) at 6 months No significant results for perceived stress (95% CI -0.10 to 0.73, $d=0.31$) or depressive symptoms (95% CI -0.14 to 0.46, d=0.16) at 6 months Physical health outcomes: intervention improved gastrointestinal symptoms (95% CI 0.24 to 1.02, d=0.63) and pain intensity and frequency (95% CI 0.41 to 1.12, $d=0.76$) at 6 months	
Move It Now [47]	Multisite RCT	Wait-list control	69		Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved rewarding pain behavior by parents ($P \le .01$) and quality of life ($P \le .01$ to $.04$, $d = -0.87$ to 0.34) Physical health outcomes: intervention improved pain intensity ($P = .03$, $d = -0.42$), pain interference ($P = .03$, $d = -0.46$) and sleep problems ($P \le .01$, $d = -0.60$)	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved quality of life (besides mental health subdomain) at 3 months No significant results for rewarding pain behavior by parents at 3 months Physical health outcomes: no significant results for pain intensity, pain interfer- ence, or sleep problems at 3 months	

Lau et al

Intervention name	Type of study	Control group	Sample size	Powered for analyses?	Posttreatment outcomes ^{a.b}	Longitudinal outcomes ^{a.b}
TeenCope [59]	Multisite RCT	eHealth managing diabetes psychoedu- cation for self-man- agement	320	x	Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for quality of life, social acceptance, self-effi- cacy, perceived stress, or dia- betes family conflict Physical health outcomes: no significant results for HbA _{1c} ^h	Psychosocial outcomes: no significant results for quality of life, social accep- tance, self-efficacy, per- ceived stress, or diabetes family conflict at 18 months Physical health outcomes: no significant results for HbA _{1c} at 18 months
Teens Taking Charge: Manag- ing Arthritis On- line [52]	Pilot multisite RCT	Attentional control	46		Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for quality of life, self-efficacy, or stress Physical health outcomes: inter- vention improved disease knowledge ($P \le .01, d=1.32$) and pain intensity ($P=.03, d=0.78$)	N/A
Trautmann self- help programs: internet-based CBT, internet- based applied re- laxation [54]	3-arm RCT	Internet psychoedu- cation intervention	65		Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for pain catastro- phizing or psychological well- being Physical health outcomes: no significant results for headache frequency and duration	Psychosocial outcomes: no significant results for pain catastrophizing or psycho- logical well-being at 6 months Physical health outcomes: no significant results for headache frequency and duration at 6 months
Trautmann's inter- net-based CBT [53]	Pilot RCT	Internet psychoedu- cation intervention	18		Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved pain catastro- phizing ($P \le .05$) Physical health outcomes: intervention improved headache frequency ($P \le .05$) No significant results for headache intensity or headache duration	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved pain catastrophizing ($P \le .05$) at 6 months Physical health outcomes: intervention improved headache frequency ($P \le .05$) at 6 months No significant results for headache intensity or headache duration at 6 months
Web-based manag	gement of adolescen	nt pain				
	Multisite RCT [55]	Internet education control	273	Χ	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved emotional functioning (P =.04, d =-0.09) Physical health outcomes: no significant results for activity limitations, pain intensity, or sleep quality	Psychosocial outcomes: no significant results for emotional functioning at 6 months Physical health outcomes: intervention improved ac- tivity limitations (P =.03; d=-0.25) and sleep quality (P =.04, d =0.16) at 6 months No significant results for pain intensity at 6 months
	RCT [56]	Wait-list control	48	x	Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for depression or parental protectiveness Physical health outcomes: inter- vention improved activity limi- tations ($P \le .01$, $\eta^{2i} = .17$) and pain intensity ($P = .03$, $\eta^{2} = .11$)	Psychosocial outcomes: no significant results for de- pression and parental pro- tectiveness at 3 months Physical health outcomes: intervention improved ac- tivity limitations and pain intensity at 3 months



RenderX

JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 | vol. 3 | iss. 2 |e22329 | p.120 (page number not for citation purposes)

Lau et al

Intervention name	Type of study	Control group	Sample size	Powered for	Posttreatment outcomes ^{a.b}	Longitudinal outcomes ^{a.b}
				analyses?		
	Pilot RCT [57]	Specialized headache treatment	83	 x Psychosocial outcomes: n nificant results for anxiet depression Physical health outcomes significant results for head frequency, pain intensity, ity limitations, sleep dura or sleep efficiency 	Psychosocial outcomes: no sig- nificant results for anxiety or depression	Psychosocial outcomes: no significant results for anxiety or depression at 3
					Physical health outcomes: no significant results for headache frequency, pain intensity, activ- ity limitations, sleep duration, or sleep efficiency	months Physical health outcomes: no significant results for headache frequency, pain intensity, activity limita- tions, sleep duration, or sleep efficiency at 3 months

^aOnly analyses of between-group differences comparing the intervention and control arms are reported.

^bInformation regarding confidence intervals, effect size, and *P* values is included when reported in the original research publication. ^cRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eiCBT: internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy.

^fFGID: functional gastrointestinal disorder.

^g*d*: Cohen *d*.

^hHbA_{1c}: hemoglobin A_{1c}.

 ${}^{i}\eta^{2}$: eta squared.



Table 3. Original research publications with quantitative outcomes: nonrandomized controlled trials.

Intervention name	Type of study	Sample size	Posttreatment outcomes ^a	Longitudinal outcomes ^a		
ICBT ^b for adoles- cents with FGID ^c [46]	Pilot study	29	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved stress (P <.05, 95% CI 0.02 to 0.69, d^{d} =0.35) at posttreatment	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved anxiety (P <.05, 95% CI 0.08 to 0.81, d =0.44) at 6 months		
			No significant results for anxiety or depression at posttreatment	No significant results for depression or stress at 6 months		
			Physical health outcomes: intervention improved gastrointestinal symptoms (P <.05, 95% CI 2.37 to 10.58, d =0.50), pain interference (P <.05, 95% CI 0.11 to 0.61, d =0.36), and pain reactivity (P <.05, 95% CI 0.39 to 1.09, d =0.74) at posttreatment	Physical health outcomes: intervention improved gastrointestinal symptoms (95% CI 3.43 to 12.21, $d=0.63$), pain interference ($P<.05$, 95% CI 0.41 to 1.12, $d=0.76$), pain reactivity ($P<.05$, 95% CI 0.59 to 1.59, $d=1.05$), and functional disability ($P<.05$, 95% CI 0.104, 1.04, 1.05,		
			No significant results for functional disability at posttreatment	(P < .05, 95% C10.10 to 1.04, a=0.56) at 6 months		
PainSquad+ [49]	Multisite pilot study	40	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved emotional functioning ($P \le .01$, $d=0.66$), social func-	N/A		
			tioning ($P \le .01$, $d = 0.46$), and overall HRQOL ^e ($P = .02$, $d = 0.43$) at posttreatment			
			No significant results for self-efficacy, or school functioning at posttreatment			
			Physical health outcomes: intervention improved pain intensity ($P \le .01$, $d = 0.67$) and pain interference ($P = .03$, $d = 0.38$) at posttreatment			
			No significant results for physical functioning at posttreatment			
Onco-STEP [48]	Pilot study	study 20	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved post- traumatic stress symptoms ($P \le .01$, $d=0.63$), anxiety ($P \le .01$, $d=0.74$), fear of progression/relapse ($P < .05$, $d=0.48$), and depression ($P \le .01$, $d=1.0$) at posttreat-	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved posttraumatic stress symptoms (P <.01), fear of progression/relapse (P <.01), and anxiety (P <.01) at 3 months		
			ment	No significant results for depression at 3 months		
Web-based treat-	Pilot study	24	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved somat-	Psychosocial outcomes: intervention improved		
cents with IBD ^f			ic symptoms ($P \le .01$, $\eta^{2g} = .41$), approach coping strategies ($P \le .01$, $\eta^{2} = .43$), distraction techniques	protective parenting behaviors (P =.01, η^2 =.44) at 6 months		
[58]			($P \le .01$, $\eta^2 = .35$), protective parenting behaviors ($P = .03$, $\eta^2 = .27$) at posttreatment	No significant results for somatic symptoms, ap proach coping strategies, or distraction technique at 6 months		
			Physical health outcomes: no significant results for abdominal pain at posttreatment	Physical health outcomes: no significant results for abdominal pain at 6 months		

^aICBT: internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy.

^bInformation regarding confidence intervals, effect size, and *P* values are included when reported in the original research publication.

^cFGID: functional gastrointestinal disorder.

^d*d*: Cohen *d*.

^eHRQOL: health-related quality of life.

^fIBD: inflammatory bowel disease.

 ${}^{g}\eta^{2}$: eta squared.

A subset of 75% (12/16) of studies [45-48,53-59,61] evaluated longer term assessment time points ranging from 3 to 18 months (Tables 2 and 3). Nine studies (9/16, 56%) [45-48,53,55,56,58,61] showed promise of longer term gains from the intervention.

Risk of Bias

Risk of bias was evaluated for all included studies (Figure 2). Of the 16 studies, 12 reported random sequence generation and allocation concealment (ie, the pilot RCTs and RCTs). For the blinding of participants and personnel domain, 10 were high

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22329/

risk and 6 low risk; high-risk studies consisted of study designs with no control group or a wait-list control group. For the blinding of outcome assessment domain, 9 were high risk and 7 low risk. For attrition bias, 8 were low risk, 5 high risk, and 3 unclear; note that attrition rates for internet-based interventions (with an anchor point of around 50%) tend to be higher than traditional face-to-face psychosocial interventions [65]. For selective reporting bias, studies were split in half between low risk and unclear; studies were rated as unclear due to a lack of clinical trial registration or published protocol. For other biases, 12 were considered low risk and 4 high risk.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Figure 2. Risk of bias.





Discussion

Overview

A majority of youth with chronic illnesses struggle with issues that psychosocial interventions effectively manage such as anxiety, stress, depression, maladjustment, pain, and poor coping skills [4,7]. Within the past decade, digital health interventions have been increasingly popular with widespread access to the internet and smartphones. To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review summarizing the research evidence in support of the efficacy of eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions for youth chronic illnesses. Each of the interventions identified was designed for a specific chronic illness population. The state of the science is still in its nascent stages, with only 16 published efficacy studies of 12 unique interventions identified. We provided information on the structure and content of included interventions and relationships between each of the interventions and various psychosocial and health outcomes. Given the substantial number of studies in which full articles were reviewed for eligibility (n=133, Figure 1), this points to growing interest in digital interventions for youth with chronic illnesses. Few digital interventions have advanced to the stages of efficacy testing (n=16), and even fewer in an RCT with an active comparison condition (n=8). This

RenderX

systematic review suggests that disseminating traditional evidence-based psychotherapies via novel digital health technologies may be efficacious.

Consistent with evidence-based digital health practices and recent systematic reviews of digital interventions with youth chronic illness and mental health populations [17,24,25,28,33], our systematic review of eHealth and mHealth psychosocial interventions for youth chronic illness populations found (a) early evidence of improvements in psychosocial and physical health outcomes immediately posttreatment; (b) early evidence of the maintenance of treatment gains at longer term follow-up extending to 3+ months; (c) a prevalence of computerized cognitive behavioral therapy interventions; (d) varying levels of psychosocial staff support via text, email, phone, online discussion forums, or private online messaging centers; and (e) key methodological limitations for a majority of included studies such as lack of blinded outcomes assessment, limited number of RCTs, and few studies with active treatment comparison groups.

This review also suggests several gaps in the existing literature. Future research should focus on optimizing digital intervention design and implementation, namely how to efficiently streamline resource-intensive personnel assistance and encourage self-direction in order to sustain intervention efficacy and

engagement while minimizing costs [66]. Notably, only two of the included interventions did not involve some form of contact with providers or research staff. In addition to clinician involvement, given that half of the interventions reviewed included caregiver support, new digital intervention research should continue to explore the additive value of caregiver involvement where appropriate with unique content designed for parent caregivers [55,56]. Next, as each of the interventions included in our review was designed for a specific chronic illness, further research is needed to ascertain whether a disease nonspecific transdiagnostic approach [67,68] to designing digital psychosocial interventions applicable across heterogeneous disease groups is warranted. In particular, online mindfulness-based interventions have been shown to be successful in chronic illness and other populations [69-71]. Interventions also had multiple components, which may benefit from dismantling studies to identify which active therapeutic ingredients lead to positive outcomes [72]. Similarly, emphasis should be placed on identifying and targeting the aspects of digital engagement that lead to the intended behavior change rather than just encouraging more frequent use [73]. The use of analytics in eHealth and mHealth can provide invaluable insights into active therapeutic ingredients, aspects of effective digital engagement, treatment moderators (for whom interventions work), and treatment mediators (how treatments work) [74,75]. Finally, future studies might assess the value of more novel technologically enabled features such as just-in-time adaptive intervention designs (JITAIs). Indeed, JITAIs use causal modeling to identify the appropriate type and dose of intervention at the optimal point in time by measuring and responding to an individual's changing health states [76,77]. These innovative programs have the potential to meet evolving real-time needs of youth at risk.

Given the interest in and rapidly changing landscape of digital health, it is likely that new publications have been released during the typical time frame it had taken us to rigorously complete our systematic review. We intend to publish a 5-year systematic review update populated with new efficacy studies and trials. The median timing of Cochrane systematic review updates is greater than 5 years [78]. Although previous research suggests only 4% of systematic review updates report a change in conclusions [79], our overarching findings may be subject to change given the limited number of included studies and the quickly evolving digital health landscape.

Limitations

Limitations to consider are as follows. First, most of the interventions were designed and tested as web-based eHealth

interventions, with only two mHealth intervention designed for use on smartphone devices. We anticipate that more mHealth interventions will be tested for efficacy and come down the pipeline in the years to come as smartphones become more and more ubiquitous. Previous research suggests that mHealth apps are widely accepted by the general public for coping skills and stress management, and beliefs and attitudes toward mHealth are positive [80]. Second, the majority of studies were not powered to detect meaningful changes in health outcomes of interest nor did they designate primary versus secondary outcomes in their research designs. Third, only half of the studies used an active treatment comparison condition or blinded participants to assigned treatment condition, and findings of favorable treatment response may be susceptible to the placebo effect [81]. Fourth, there exists the possibility of publication bias because nonsignificant findings are often difficult to publish. Fifth, although our search was executed by a medical librarian in five well-established library databases, other databases to which our university does not have access (eg, Scopus) may have uncovered additional relevant publications. Finally, given the heterogeneity of disease groups, measurement time points, and study outcomes measures, it was not possible to conduct a meta-analysis and provide synthesized results of the efficacy studies included in our systematic review.

Conclusions

The strengths of this paper include the systematic approach to synthesizing the great breadth of literature across pediatric illness populations and the eHealth and mHealth focus increasingly popular among youths. This publication is especially timely given heightened psychological distress and exacerbating mental health symptoms for youth in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, in-home confinement, school closures, social distancing, and a shift toward online and telehealth services [82-85]. We found intervention features unique to digital platforms such as gamification, ecological momentary assessment, and machine learning algorithms. Such features capitalize on technological advances to intervene during distressing situations in real time and tailor content to individual preferences and needs. Leveraging such technological advances allows movement toward a data-driven and personalized approach to precision mental health [86]. The state of the science is still in its early stages, and further clinical trials research is needed to confirm whether evidence-based psychosocial interventions traditionally delivered in-person may be successfully translated to digital formats for a range of youth chronic illness populations.

Acknowledgments

NL is funded as an Implementation Science Scholar through the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health (grant number: 5K12 HL137940-02).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Primary search strategy. [DOCX File , 22 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e22329_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplemental search strategy. [DOCX File , 20 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e22329_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Intervention and personnel-supported components. [DOCX File, 21 KB - pediatrics v3i2e22329 app3.docx]

References

- 1. Van Cleave J, Gortmaker SL, Perrin JM. Dynamics of obesity and chronic health conditions among children and youth. JAMA 2010 Feb 17;303(7):623-630. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.104] [Medline: 20159870]
- van Dyck PC, Kogan MD, McPherson MG, Weissman GR, Newacheck PW. Prevalence and characteristics of children with special health care needs. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004 Sep;158(9):884-890. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpedi.158.9.884</u>] [Medline: <u>15351754</u>]
- Miller GF, Coffield E, Leroy Z, Wallin R. Prevalence and costs of five chronic conditions in children. J Sch Nurs 2016 Oct;32(5):357-364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1059840516641190] [Medline: 27044668]
- 4. Wallander JL, Varni JW. Effects of pediatric chronic physical disorders on child and family adjustment. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1998 Jan;39(1):29-46. [Medline: <u>9534085</u>]
- Yeo M, Sawyer S. Chronic illness and disability. BMJ 2005 Mar 26;330(7493):721-723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7493.721] [Medline: 15790645]
- Warschburger P, Hänig J, Friedt M, Posovszky C, Schier M, Calvano C. Health-related quality of life in children with abdominal pain due to functional or organic gastrointestinal disorders. J Pediatr Psychol 2014;39(1):45-54. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jst070</u>] [Medline: <u>24055816</u>]
- Butler A, Van Lieshout RJ, Lipman EL, MacMillan HL, Gonzalez A, Gorter JW, et al. Mental disorder in children with physical conditions: a pilot study. BMJ Open 2018 Dec 03;8(1):e019011. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019011</u>] [Medline: <u>29301763</u>]
- Kieling C, Baker-Henningham H, Belfer M, Conti G, Ertem I, Omigbodun O, et al. Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. Lancet 2011 Oct 22;378(9801):1515-1525. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60827-1] [Medline: 22008427]
- 9. Compas BE, Jaser SS, Dunn MJ, Rodriguez EM. Coping with chronic illness in childhood and adolescence. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2012;8:455-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032511-143108] [Medline: 22224836]
- 10. Ruiz F. Acceptance and commitment therapy versus traditional cognitive behavioral therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of current empirical evidence. In J Psychol Psychologic Ther 2012;12(3):333-358 [FREE Full text]
- Tark R, Metelitsa M, Akkermann K, Saks K, Mikkel S, Haljas K. Usability, acceptability, feasibility, and effectiveness of a gamified mobile health intervention (Triumf) for pediatric patients: qualitative study. JMIR Serious Games 2019 Sep 30;7(3):e13776 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13776] [Medline: 31573904]
- Pai ALH, McGrady M. Systematic review and meta-analysis of psychological interventions to promote treatment adherence in children, adolescents, and young adults with chronic illness. J Pediatr Psychol 2014 Sep;39(8):918-931. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsu038</u>] [Medline: <u>24952359</u>]
- Barlow JH, Ellard DR. Psycho-educational interventions for children with chronic disease, parents and siblings: an overview of the research evidence base. Child Care Health Dev 2004 Nov;30(6):637-645. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2214.2004.00474.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15527474</u>]
- Mojtabai R, Olfson M. National trends in mental health care for US adolescents. JAMA Psychiatry 2020 Jul 01;77(7):703-714. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.0279</u>] [Medline: <u>32211824</u>]
- Cama S, Malowney M, Smith AJB, Spottswood M, Cheng E, Ostrowsky L, et al. Availability of outpatient mental health care by pediatricians and child psychiatrists in five U.S. cities. Int J Health Serv 2017 Oct;47(4):621-635. [doi: 10.1177/0020731417707492] [Medline: 28474997]
- 16. Ybarra ML, Eaton WW. Internet-based mental health interventions. Ment Health Serv Res 2005 Jun;7(2):75-87. [Medline: 15974154]
- 17. Ebert DD, Zarski A, Christensen H, Stikkelbroek Y, Cuijpers P, Berking M, et al. Internet and computer-based cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression in youth: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled outcome trials. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0119895 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119895] [Medline: 25786025]

- Granger D, Vandelanotte C, Duncan MJ, Alley S, Schoeppe S, Short C, et al. Is preference for mHealth intervention delivery platform associated with delivery platform familiarity? BMC Public Health 2016 Jul 22;16:619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3316-2] [Medline: 27450240]
- 19. Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. BMC Psychiatry 2010;10:113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-113] [Medline: 21192795]
- 20. Gray NJ, Klein JD, Noyce PR, Sesselberg TS, Cantrill JA. Health information-seeking behaviour in adolescence: the place of the internet. Soc Sci Med 2005 Apr;60(7):1467-1478. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.010] [Medline: 15652680]
- Spek V, Cuijpers P, Nyklícek I, Riper H, Keyzer J, Pop V. Internet-based cognitive behaviour therapy for symptoms of depression and anxiety: a meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2007 Mar;37(3):319-328. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291706008944</u>] [Medline: <u>17112400</u>]
- 22. Clarke AM, Kuosmanen T, Barry MM. A systematic review of online youth mental health promotion and prevention interventions. J Youth Adolesc 2015 Jan;44(1):90-113. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-014-0165-0</u>] [Medline: <u>25115460</u>]
- Proudfoot J, Parker G, Hadzi PD, Manicavasagar V, Adler E, Whitton A. Community attitudes to the appropriation of mobile phones for monitoring and managing depression, anxiety, and stress. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(5):e64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1475] [Medline: 21169174]
- 24. Fisher E, Law E, Dudeney J, Eccleston C, Palermo TM. Psychological therapies (remotely delivered) for the management of chronic and recurrent pain in children and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019 Apr 02;4:CD011118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011118.pub3] [Medline: 30939227]
- 25. Ramsey RR, Plevinsky JM, Kollin SR, Gibler RC, Guilbert TW, Hommel KA. Systematic review of digital interventions for pediatric asthma management. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2020 Apr;8(4):1284-1293. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.12.013] [Medline: 31870809]
- 26. Nickels A, Dimov V. Innovations in technology: social media and mobile technology in the care of adolescents with asthma. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2012 Dec;12(6):607-612. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11882-012-0299-7</u>] [Medline: <u>22976493</u>]
- 27. Alquran A, Lambert KA, Farouque A, Holland A, Davies J, Lampugnani ER, et al. Smartphone applications for encouraging asthma self-management in adolescents: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 Dec 29;15(11) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15112403] [Medline: 30380692]
- 28. Hollis C, Falconer CJ, Martin JL, Whittington C, Stockton S, Glazebrook C, et al. Annual research review: digital health interventions for children and young people with mental health problems: a systematic and meta-review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2016 Dec 10;58(4):474-503. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12663] [Medline: 27943285]
- 29. Grist R, Porter J, Stallard P. Mental health mobile apps for preadolescents and adolescents: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 25;19(5):e176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7332] [Medline: 28546138]
- 30. Vigerland S, Lenhard F, Bonnert M, Lalouni M, Hedman E, Ahlen J, et al. Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2016 Dec;50:1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.09.005] [Medline: 27668988]
- Thabrew H, Stasiak K, Hetrick SE, Wong S, Huss JH, Merry SN. E-Health interventions for anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with long-term physical conditions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Aug 15;8:CD012489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012489.pub2] [Medline: 30110718]
- 32. Low JK, Manias E. Use of technology-based tools to support adolescents and young adults with chronic disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jul 18;7(7):e12042 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12042] [Medline: 31322129]
- Canter KS, Christofferson J, Scialla MA, Kazak AE. Technology-focused family interventions in pediatric chronic illness: a systematic review. J Clin Psychol Med Settings 2018 Apr 20;26(1):68-87. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10880-018-9565-8</u>] [Medline: <u>29679264</u>]
- Rousseau GK, Jamieson BA, Rogers WA, Mead SE, Sit RA. Assessing the usability of on-line library systems. Behav Inf Technol 1998 Jan;17(5):274-281. [doi: <u>10.1080/014492998119346</u>]
- 35. Bernell S, Howard SW. Use your words carefully: what is a chronic disease? Front Public Health 2016;4:159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00159] [Medline: 27532034]
- Law E, Fisher E, Eccleston C, Palermo TM. Psychological interventions for parents of children and adolescents with chronic illness. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019 Mar 18;3:CD009660 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009660.pub4] [Medline: 30883665]
- 37. Scaturo DJ. The evolution of psychotherapy and the concept of manualization: an integrative perspective. Prof Psychol Res Pract 2001;32(5):522-530. [doi: 10.1037/0735-7028.32.5.522]
- 38. McFarlane AC. The long-term costs of traumatic stress: intertwined physical and psychological consequences. World Psychiatry 2010 Feb;9(1):3-10. [doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2010.tb00254.x] [Medline: 20148146]
- 39. Vannatta K, Gerhardt C. Pediatric oncology: psychosocial outcomes for children and families. In: Roberts MC, editor. Handbook of Pediatric Psychology. New York: Guilford Press; 2003:342-357.
- 40. Hanson CL, Henggeler SW, Burghen GA. Model of associations between psychosocial variables and health-outcome measures of adolescents with IDDM. Diabetes Care 1987;10(6):752-758. [doi: <u>10.2337/diacare.10.6.752</u>] [Medline: <u>3428051</u>]

- 41. Livneh H. Psychosocial adaptation to chronic illness and disability. Rehabil Couns Bull 2016 Aug 13;44(3):151-160. [doi: 10.1177/003435520104400305]
- 42. Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011;343:d5928 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22008217]
- 43. Higgins J, Thomas J, Chandler J. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2019.
- 44. Newcombe PA, Dunn TL, Casey LM, Sheffield JK, Petsky H, Anderson-James S, et al. Breathe Easier Online: evaluation of a randomized controlled pilot trial of an Internet-based intervention to improve well-being in children and adolescents with a chronic respiratory condition. J Med Internet Res 2012 Feb 08;14(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1997] [Medline: 22356732]
- 45. Nijhof SL, Bleijenberg G, Uiterwaal CSPM, Kimpen JLL, van de Putte EM. Effectiveness of internet-based cognitive behavioural treatment for adolescents with chronic fatigue syndrome (FITNET): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2012 Apr 14;379(9824):1412-1418. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60025-7] [Medline: 22385683]
- 46. Bonnert M, Ljótsson B, Hedman E, Andersson J, Arnell H, Benninga MA, et al. Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for adolescents with functional gastrointestinal disorders: an open trial. Internet Interv 2014 Jul;1(3):141-148. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.07.002]
- 47. Voerman JS, Remerie S, Westendorp T, Timman R, Busschbach JJV, Passchier J, et al. Effects of a guided internet-delivered self-help intervention for adolescents with chronic pain. J Pain 2015 Nov;16(11):1115-1126. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2015.07.011] [Medline: 26281947]
- Seitz DCM, Knaevelsrud C, Duran G, Waadt S, Loos S, Goldbeck L. Efficacy of an internet-based cognitive-behavioral intervention for long-term survivors of pediatric cancer: a pilot study. Support Care Cancer 2014 Aug;22(8):2075-2083. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2193-4] [Medline: 24639036]
- 49. Jibb LA, Stevens BJ, Nathan PC, Seto E, Cafazzo JA, Johnston DL, et al. Implementation and preliminary effectiveness of a real-time pain management smartphone app for adolescents with cancer: a multicenter pilot clinical study. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017 Oct;64(10). [doi: 10.1002/pbc.26554] [Medline: 28423223]
- 50. Jibb LA, Stevens BJ, Nathan PC, Seto E, Cafazzo JA, Johnston DL, et al. Perceptions of adolescents with cancer related to a pain management app and its evaluation: qualitative study nested within a multicenter pilot feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Apr 06;6(4):e80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9319] [Medline: 29625951]
- 51. Whittemore R, Jaser SS, Faulkner MS, Murphy K, Delamater A, Grey M. Type 1 diabetes eHealth psychoeducation: youth recruitment, participation, and satisfaction. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(1):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2170] [Medline: 23360729]
- 52. Stinson J, McGrath P, Hodnett E, Feldman B, Duffy C, Huber A, et al. Usability testing of an online self-management program for adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(3):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1349] [Medline: 20675293]
- 53. Trautmann E, Kröner-Herwig B. Internet-based self-help training for children and adolescents with recurrent headache: a pilot study. Behav Cogn Psychother 2008 Apr 15;36(2):241-245. [doi: <u>10.1017/s1352465808004219</u>]
- 54. Trautmann E, Kröner-Herwig B. A randomized controlled trial of Internet-based self-help training for recurrent headache in childhood and adolescence. Behav Res Ther 2010 Jan;48(1):28-37. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2009.09.004] [Medline: 19782343]
- 55. Palermo TM, Law EF, Fales J, Bromberg MH, Jessen-Fiddick T, Tai G. Internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral treatment for adolescents with chronic pain and their parents: a randomized controlled multicenter trial. Pain 2016 Jan;157(1):174-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.0000000000348] [Medline: 26335910]
- 56. Palermo TM, Wilson AC, Peters M, Lewandowski A, Somhegyi H. Randomized controlled trial of an Internet-delivered family cognitive-behavioral therapy intervention for children and adolescents with chronic pain. Pain 2009 Nov;146(1-2):205-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2009.07.034] [Medline: 19695776]
- 57. Law EF, Beals-Erickson SE, Noel M, Claar R, Palermo TM. Pilot randomized controlled trial of internet-delivered cognitive-behavioral treatment for pediatric headache. Headache 2015;55(10):1410-1425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/head.12635] [Medline: 26316194]
- 58. McCormick M, Reed-Knight B, Lewis JD, Gold BD, Blount RL. Coping skills for reducing pain and somatic symptoms in adolescents with IBD. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2010 Dec;16(12):2148-2157. [doi: 10.1002/ibd.21302] [Medline: 20848505]
- Grey M, Whittemore R, Jeon S, Murphy K, Faulkner MS, Delamater A, et al. Internet psycho-education programs improve outcomes in youth with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2013 Sep;36(9):2475-2482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-2199] [Medline: 23579179]
- 60. Lalloo C, Hundert A, Harris L, Pham Q, Campbell F, Chorney J, et al. Capturing daily disease experiences of adolescents with chronic pain: mhealth-mediated symptom tracking. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 17;7(1):e11838 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11838] [Medline: 30664472]
- 61. Bonnert M, Olén O, Lalouni M, Benninga MA, Bottai M, Engelbrektsson J, et al. Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for adolescents with irritable bowel syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Gastroenterol 2017 Jan;112(1):152-162. [doi: 10.1038/ajg.2016.503] [Medline: 27845338]

- Hofmann SG, Asnaani A, Vonk IJJ, Sawyer AT, Fang A. The efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy: a review of meta-analyses. Cognit Ther Res 2012 Oct 1;36(5):427-440 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10608-012-9476-1] [Medline: 23459093]
- 63. Sperry L. Treatment of Chronic Medical Conditions: Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy Strategies and Integrative Treatment Protocols. Washington: American Psychological Association; 2009.
- 64. Firth J, Torous J, Yung AR. Ecological momentary assessment and beyond: the rising interest in e-mental health research. J Psychiatr Res 2016 Sep;80:3-4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.05.002] [Medline: 27236099]
- 65. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- Mohr DC, Burns MN, Schueller SM, Clarke G, Klinkman M. Behavioral intervention technologies: evidence review and recommendations for future research in mental health. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2013 Aug;35(4):332-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2013.03.008] [Medline: 23664503]
- 67. Barlow DH, Farchione TJ, Bullis JR, Gallagher MW, Murray-Latin H, Sauer-Zavala S, et al. The unified protocol for transdiagnostic treatment of emotional disorders compared with diagnosis-specific protocols for anxiety disorders: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Psychiatry 2017 Aug 02;74(9):875-884. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2164</u>] [Medline: <u>28768327</u>]
- Steele SJ, Farchione TJ, Cassiello-Robbins C, Ametaj A, Sbi S, Sauer-Zavala S, et al. Efficacy of the unified protocol for transdiagnostic treatment of comorbid psychopathology accompanying emotional disorders compared to treatments targeting single disorders. J Psychiatr Res 2018 Sep;104:211-216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.08.005] [Medline: 30103069]
- 69. Abujaradeh H, Safadi R, Sereika SM, Kahle CT, Cohen SM. Mindfulness-based interventions among adolescents with chronic diseases in clinical settings: a systematic review. J Pediatr Health Care 2018;32(5):455-472. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2018.04.001] [Medline: 29941236]
- 70. Zou L, Yeung A, Quan X, Boyden SD, Wang H. A systematic review and meta-analysis of mindfulness-based (Baduanjin) exercise for alleviating musculoskeletal pain and improving sleep quality in people with chronic diseases. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 Jan 25;15(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15020206] [Medline: 29370149]
- 71. Ahmad F, Wang J, El Morr C. Online mindfulness interventions: a systematic review. In: Ahmad F, Wang J, El Morr C, editors. Novel Applications of Virtual Communities in Healthcare Settings. Hershey: IGI Global; 2018:1-27.
- 72. Papa A, Follette W. Dismantling studies of psychotherapy. In: Papa A, Follette W, editors. The Encyclopedia of Clinical Psychology. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2014:1-6.
- 73. Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015] [Medline: 27745683]
- 74. El Morr C, Ali-Hassan H. Analytics in Healthcare: A Practical Introduction. Berlin: Springer; 2019.
- 75. El Morr C, Ritvo P, Ahmad F, Moineddin R. Effectiveness of an 8-week web-based mindfulness virtual community intervention for university students on symptoms of stress, anxiety, and depression: randomized controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Jul 17;7(7):e18595 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18595] [Medline: 32554380]
- 76. Nahum-Shani I, Smith SN, Spring BJ, Collins LM, Witkiewitz K, Tewari A, et al. Just-in-time adaptive interventions (JITAIs) in mobile health: key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support. Ann Behav Med 2018 May 18;52(6):446-462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8] [Medline: 27663578]
- Klasnja P, Hekler EB, Shiffman S, Boruvka A, Almirall D, Tewari A, et al. Microrandomized trials: an experimental design for developing just-in-time adaptive interventions. Health Psychol 2015 Dec;34 Suppl:1220-1228. [doi: <u>10.1037/hea0000305</u>] [Medline: <u>26651463</u>]
- 78. Bashir R, Surian D, Dunn AG. Time-to-update of systematic reviews relative to the availability of new evidence. Syst Rev 2018 Nov 17;7(1):195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-018-0856-9] [Medline: 30447694]
- 79. French SD, McDonald S, McKenzie JE, Green SE. Investing in updating: how do conclusions change when Cochrane systematic reviews are updated? BMC Med Res Methodol 2005 Oct 14;5:33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-5-33] [Medline: 16225692]
- Apolinário-Hagen J, Hennemann S, Fritsche L, Drüge M, Breil B. Determinant factors of public acceptance of stress management apps: survey study. JMIR Ment Health 2019 Nov 07;6(11):e15373 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15373] [Medline: 31697243]
- 81. Price DD, Finniss DG, Benedetti F. A comprehensive review of the placebo effect: recent advances and current thought. Annu Rev Psychol 2008;59:565-590. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.59.113006.095941] [Medline: 17550344]
- 82. Ho CS, Chee CY, Ho RC. Mental health strategies to combat the psychological impact of COVID-19 beyond paranoia and panic. Ann Acad Med Singapore 2020 Jan;49(1):1-3 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>32200399</u>]
- 83. Liu S, Yang L, Zhang C, Xiang Y, Liu Z, Hu S, et al. Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Apr;7(4):e17-e18. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30077-8] [Medline: 32085841]

- 84. Wang G, Zhang Y, Zhao J, Zhang J, Jiang F. Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet 2020 Mar 21;395(10228):945-947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30547-X] [Medline: 32145186]
- 85. Golberstein E, Wen H, Miller BF. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and mental health for children and adolescents. JAMA Pediatr 2020 Apr 14. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.1456] [Medline: 32286618]
- Bickman L, Lyon AR, Wolpert M. Achieving precision mental health through effective assessment, monitoring, and feedback processes: introduction to the special issue. Adm Policy Ment Health 2016 May;43(3):271-276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-016-0718-5] [Medline: 26887937]

Abbreviations

JITAI: just-in-time adaptive intervention design mHealth: mobile health apps PRISMA: preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 08.07.20; peer-reviewed by A Chen, C El Morr, S Ouhbi; comments to author 11.08.20; revised version received 02.10.20; accepted 16.10.20; published 10.11.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lau N, Waldbaum S, Parigoris R, O'Daffer A, Walsh C, Colt SF, Yi-Frazier JP, Palermo TM, McCauley E, Rosenberg AR eHealth and mHealth Psychosocial Interventions for Youths With Chronic Illnesses: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e22329 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22329/ doi:10.2196/22329 PMID:33075743

©Nancy Lau, Shayna Waldbaum, Ryan Parigoris, Alison O'Daffer, Casey Walsh, Susannah F Colt, Joyce P Yi-Frazier, Tonya M Palermo, Elizabeth McCauley, Abby R Rosenberg. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Usability of eHealth and Mobile Health Interventions by Young People Living With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: Systematic Review

Sonia Butler^{1*}, BN (Hons), MEd, GradCertTeriaryEd; Dean Sculley^{1*}, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD; Derek Santos Santos^{2*}, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD; Antoni Fellas^{3*}, BHSc (Hons); Xavier Gironès^{4*}, PhD; Davinder Singh-Grewal^{5,6,7,8*}, MBBS, MMedSci, PhD, FRACP; Andrea Coda^{3*}, BSc (Hons), PhD

¹School of Bioscience and Pharmacy, University of Newcastle, Ourimbah, New South Wales, Australia

- ⁴Director of Research and Innovation, University of Vic-Central University of Catalonia, Manresa (Barcelona), Spain
- ⁵Department of Rheumatology, Sydney Children's Hospitals Network, Randwick and Westmead, Sydney, New South Wales, Australia
- ⁶Department of Rheumatology, John Hunter Children's Hospital, Newcastle, Australia
- ⁷Discipline of Child and Adolescent Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia
- ⁸School of Women's and Children's Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Sonia Butler, BN (Hons), MEd, GradCertTeriaryEd School of Bioscience and Pharmacy University of Newcastle 10 Chittaway Rd Ourimbah, New South Wales, 2258 Australia Phone: 61 421945914 Email: <u>sonia.butler@newcastle.edu.au</u>

Abstract

Background: Considering the changing landscape of internet use and rising ownership of digital technology by young people, new methods could be considered to improve the current model of juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) management.

Objective: This systematic review aims to evaluate the usability of eHealth and mobile health (mHealth) interventions currently available for young people living with JIA.

Methods: The PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines were used to oversee this review. We systematically searched 15 databases for 252 potential studies; 2 authors independently screened all quantitative studies reporting the use of eHealth and mHealth interventions for young people (aged 1-18 years) diagnosed with JIA. Studies were excluded if they did not report outcome measures or were reviews, commentaries, or qualitative studies. Study methodological quality was scored using the Down and Black (modified) checklist. A narrative descriptive methodology was used to quantify the data because of heterogeneity across the studies.

Results: A total of 11 studies were included in this review, reporting 7 eHealth and mHealth interventions for young people (aged 4-18 years) living with JIA, targeting health issues such as pain, health-related quality of life, physical activity, and chronic disease self-management. The usability of the interventions was facilitated through training and ongoing support. The engagement was promoted by a combination of persuasive influences, and barriers preventing adherence were removed through personal reminders and flexible program schedules to cater to JIA and non-JIA illnesses or other commonly seen activities in childhood. The feedback obtained was that most young people and their parents liked the interventions.

Conclusions: The results of this review need to be considered cautiously because of the lack of rigorous testing and heterogeneity, which limits the detailed descriptions of data synthesis. Further research is needed to consider gender differences, associated costs, and the effectiveness of the interventions on health outcomes to better support young people living with JIA.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e15833) doi:10.2196/15833

²School of Health Sciences, Queen Margaret University, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

³School of Health Sciences, University of Newcastle, Callaghan, New South Wales, Australia

KEYWORDS

juvenile idiopathic arthritis; child; adolescence; eHealth; mHealth; systematic review; mobile phone; pain; physical activity; self-management; quality of life

Introduction

Background

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) is the most common type of arthritis in young people [1,2] with an incidence rate of 1.6 to 42.5 per 100,000, varying across different geographical locations and ethnic groups [3-6]. Symptoms include an unpredictable trajectory of joint inflammation [7], stiffness [8], pain [9], and fatigue [10] that can persist into adulthood. The active disease can impair functional ability [11,12], school attendance [13], and sleep [14], increasing the risk of poor psychosocial health [13], social isolation, reduced exam performance [15] and career prospects [16], affecting the quality of life [10,17,18]. At present, there is no definitive cure; instead, the current best practice supports timely interventions customized to manage inflammation, thus controlling pain, improving quality of life, and preventing long-term disability [18,19].

Improving the JIA Model of Care

Responding to the needs of young people living with JIA is a challenge because of the problems in the current model of care [19,20]. A worldwide shortage of pediatric rheumatologists (PR) has limited most pediatric rheumatology services to tertiary children's hospitals, typically based in major capital cities. Services are also based on a retrospective method of health care delivery, where appointments are made 3 to 6 months in advance, which is slow to react to a patient's changing conditions [20-25].

Feedback from parent and carer surveys also suggests that pediatric rheumatology services need to improve the quality of their service and the patients' experience. Responses suggest they need to optimize their efficiency, improve information exchange [26,27], promote ongoing interdisciplinary support networks [26-28], and improve access to a JIA experienced clinician when needing urgent advice [27] or experiencing an unpredictable flare of disease, complications, adverse reactions [26], or illness [28].

Improving Self-Management Behavior

Good self-management behavior has a positive effect on health outcomes [29]. Young people with JIA and their families need to be encouraged to take an active role in their disease management [30] and be provided with meaningful opportunities to develop the skills they need to support self-management [29]. This is important because young people do not automatically develop these skills [31], and they are not overly concerned about their long-term health outcomes. Instead, they are more concerned with the present [32], making disease management secondary to their school and social activities [33].

Digital Solutions

An innovative way to improve the current care model and foster self-management skills could be through eHealth or mobile health (mHealth) interventions [34-36], in particular, when

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15833/
```

considering the changing landscape of internet usage [37] and rising ownership of digital technology by young people [38]. A growing generation of digital natives is inadvertently turning to digital solutions to support their daily lives [34,39]. From a young person's viewpoint, digital technology can promote a better understanding of their disease, support self-management, and remove the need for constant supervision by parents and clinicians [36]. From a clinician's perspective, digital technology can facilitate health promotion and allow real-time symptom monitoring [34,36], potentially enabling timely changes to treatments and the prevention of flare-ups, thereby improving health outcomes and decreasing health care costs.

Critical to the success of any digital intervention is the manner in which young people accept and interact with the technology [38,40,41]. This understanding is often uncovered in usability testing. In recent years, usability testing has shifted from traditional technology testing to understanding and optimizing the users' experience [41-43] because user feedback can be different from the planned use of the intervention [43]. Usability testing that pursues a user-led design [35,41], particularly for specific populations, uncovers problems related to acceptability, perceived level of usefulness, and adherence. Aiding the delivery, uptake, and retention of an accessible intervention that fits into a young person's lifestyle and meets the needs of a wide and diverse range of users [44-47].

Definition of eHealth and mHealth

eHealth is described by the World Health Organization (WHO) as an activity that delivers health-related information, resources, and services through electronic technology and internet connectivity [48]. mHealth is described as a mobile and wireless form of technology for medical and public health practices [41].

Aim and Rationale

This systematic review presents the first of 2 steps in evaluating the clinical use of eHealth and mHealth interventions for young people (aged 1-18 years) living with JIA. This review aims to evaluate quantitative studies examining the usability of eHealth and mHealth interventions to understand how young people interact with the technology. The following 3 areas were considered:

- 1. Identification of the digital health intervention.
- 2. Usability (delivery of the intervention) [47,48].
- 3. Costs associated with the intervention [48].

It is anticipated that such information will improve our understanding of the mechanisms that support the use of these interventions by young people living with JIA and inform future development. The second step of this review aims to evaluate the effectiveness of interventions. These results will be published subsequently in another review.

Methods

Overview

The PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement [49] guided this review (Multimedia Appendix 1). The protocol for this systematic review was registered on PROSPERO (International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews; ID CRD42018108985) [50].

Eligibility Criteria

Participants

All young people (aged 1-18 years) diagnosed with JIA using the International League of Associations for Rheumatology criteria [51] were considered eligible.

Interventions

Any eHealth or mHealth interventions (see definition in the *Introduction*) delivered through an electronic device with internet connectivity [46] or wireless capacity were eligible [52].

Comparator/Control

No comparator was used.

Outcomes

We considered an outcome as any quantifiable measure specifically targeting the pediatric population or pediatric rheumatology.

Study Design

All quantitative studies reporting the use of eHealth and mHealth interventions for young people (aged 1-18 years) diagnosed with JIA were included. Studies were excluded if they did not report outcome measures or were reviews, commentaries, or qualitative studies.

Search Strategy

To develop search terms, MEDLINE and CINAHL were initially searched by SB to identify keywords in the titles, abstracts, and indexed terms. In October 2018, the search terms were adapted to suit the controlled vocabulary, Boolean operators, truncation, and wildcards in MEDLINE/PubMed, the Cochrane Library, Joanna Briggs Institute, AMED (Allied and Complementary Medicine Database), CINAHL complete, EMBASE, JAMA (Journal of the American Medical Association), Informit Health, ProQuest database, PsycINFO, IEEE (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers and Institution of Engineering and Technology) Xplore, SAGE Publishing, ScienceDirect, Scopus, and Web of Science. Further studies were retrieved from Google Scholar and arthritis-related organizations (Arthritis Australia, Arthritis Foundation, and Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance funded projects and conferences) and by hand searching reference lists. The search strategy was not restricted by language or year of publication. The database search was repeated in November 2019 (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Study Selection

Two authors (SB and AC) independently reviewed all studies retrieved by the search strategy via individual log-in systems on the web-based platform Covidence [53]. Titles and abstracts were reviewed against the inclusion and exclusion criteria and full-text versions. Authorship and results were not masked, and any disagreements were discussed and resolved by SB and AC. To gain access to all full-text studies, corresponding authors were contacted by email, or the full text was retrieved by the University of Newcastle library interlibrary request service *Get It*. There was no need for translation sources; only 1 study was retrieved in a language other than English (Dutch), and an English version of the same study was attained through ResearchGate.

Data Collection

A data extraction Excel (Microsoft) form was designed to collect all relevant information from the studies, including participant demographics, eHealth or mHealth characteristics, study design, study outcomes, and costs. Conclusions were drawn from the outcomes reported by study authors. Data extraction was completed by SB and checked by all reviewers.

Risk of Bias

Using the Down and Black (modified) checklist for randomized and nonrandomized studies [54,55], studies were rated independently by 2 reviewers (SB and AF). This checklist has a high correlation with similar tools for validity (r=0.90) and reliability (r=0.69-0.90) [54,55]. The checklist considers 5 main assessment areas: (1) reporting; (2) external validity; (3) internal validity, bias; (4) internal validity, cofounding and selection bias; and (5) power; it provides an overall score out of 28 [56]. Across the studies, a disagreement rate of only 7.6% arose (13 of 170 questions), which was resolved through discussion (SB and AF) and re-examination of the studies.

Summary Measures

To summarize the participants' characteristics, the mean scores reported by the study authors were averaged. The range of data was determined by the reported highest and lowest values. Individual JIA subtypes were combined and expressed as the total number (n) and the proportion of each subtype as a percentage (%). The total number of studies including the information required was stated (ie, "4 studies reported...") to account for missing data.

Synthesis of Results

Meta-analysis was considered unsuitable for this systematic review because of the heterogeneity across the studies and the different intervention development stages. Instead, a narrative synthesis methodology was used to allow the data to be organized, explored, and presented in a logical way [57] to uncover potential similarities and differences, associations, and patterns within the results [57,58]. The 4 stages of analysis suggested by Popay et al [58] were adapted and used to guide this review.

- 1. Develop a theoretical model to understand how the intervention works.
- 2. Conduct a preliminary synthesis to:

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

- identify factors supporting implementation and barriers;
- consider relationships among studies.
- 3. Perform a content analysis (translation of data) to:
 - report characteristics among studies;
 - identify moderator variables;
 - develop numerical/statistical rubrics.
- 4. Draw a conclusion by critically reflecting on methodology synthesis.

Results

Study Selection Process

A total of 252 studies were identified using the search strategy. After removing 70 duplicates, 127 studies that did not meet the inclusion criteria based on their title or abstract and 44 based on the full-text screening, a total of 11 studies met the inclusion criteria for this review (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Summary of the study selection process using the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) diagram.



Study Characteristics

Participants

This review included 634 participants [59-67]; 57.1% (362/634) of participants were recruited from either pediatric rheumatology departments or clinics affiliated to a hospital, and 42.9% (272/634) of participants from pediatric tertiary care centers. Study sample sizes ranged from 13 to 176 participants and

varied in age (mean 12 years, SD 2.5; range 4-18.6 years), gender (female: 429/602, 71.3%; mean 42.9, SD 31.6), and JIA subtypes (Table 1) [59-67]. To avoid duplication, a total of 2 studies were excluded from this analysis [68,69], because the participant characteristics were reported in another study included in this review [61,67]; furthermore, 3 studies did not report participants characteristics when participants were lost in follow-up (32/634, 5.0%), reducing the age and gender analysis to 602 of 634 participants [60,61,63].



Butler et al

Table 1. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis subtypes, based on the International League of Associations for Rheumatology criteria.

Juvenile idiopathic arthritis subtypes	Value
Oligoarthritis ^a , n (%)	195 (30.8)
Polyarthritis ^b , n (%)	172 (27.1)
Polyarthritis (rheumatoid factor positive), n (%)	41 (6)
Enthesitis related, n (%)	54 (8)
Systemic, n (%)	46 (7)
Psoriatic, n (%)	33 (5)
Undifferentiated, n (%)	7 (1)
Unknown or not yet diagnosed or other, n (%)	39 (6)
Chronic arthritis with other/or other forms of rheumatic disease ^c , n (%)	13 (2)
Not recorded, n (%) ^d	34 (5)
Disease activity (cm), mean (range) ^e	1.8 (0.2-3.7)
Disease duration, mean (range) ^f	5 years (<1 month-15.65 years)

^aIncludes the subcategories of oligoarthritis: persistent and extended [60,62-64,66].

^bIncludes 2 studies not reporting positive or negative rheumatoid factor. [63,67].

^cJuvenile dermatomyositis, systemic lupus erythematosus [62,63].

^dReasons: drop-out, loss of follow-up (n=32) [60,61,64] and missing subtypes (n=2) [64]

^eA total of 8 studies reported disease activity [59,60,62,63,65-68].

^fA total of 7 studies reported disease duration [60,62,64-68].

Intervention

The 11 studies included in this review reported 7 interventions, describing varying stages of development (preprototype to maturity); 4 interventions were web-based programs [61-65,68], 1 intervention was a computer-mediated electronic peer mentoring program (e-mentoring) [60], and 2 interventions used mobile technology for real-time monitoring [66,67,69]. The clinical significance of interventions aimed at improving self-management behavior [59-61,64,65,68] or supporting clinical decisions [62,66,67,69]. These interventions included the following:

- 1. *Misfit Flash*, a commercially available wearable tracker to improve physical activity [59].
- 2. *Rheumates*@*Work*, a web-based educational and cognitive behavioral program to improve self-management and physical activity [61,64,68].
- 3. *iPeer2Peer Program*, an online peer mentoring program to facilitate positive role modeling and social support through video calls [60].
- 4. *eOuch*, a customized electronic pain diary to self-report real-time pain [66,67,69].
- 5. *ePROfile* a web-based assessment (Kwaliteit van leven in kaart, or, quality of life map [KLIK] website) to self-report health-related quality of life (HRQoL) issues [62].

- 6. *SUPER-KIDZ*, a web-based pain assessment to self-report real-time pain [63].
- 7. *Teens Taking Charge: Managing Arthritis Online*, a web-based program to provide disease-specific information and self-management strategies [65].

Custom-designed programs designed by the research team were used in 5 interventions [61-69], and 2 interventions were commercially available [59,60]. The equipment necessary to operate these interventions included computers, laptops, handheld PDAs, an Apple iPod touch, and a wearable accelerometer synchronized to a smartphone. This allowed the interventions to be used at the participants' home [59-62,64-69] or clinic [62,63] (Multimedia Appendix 3).

Outcomes

Study outcomes considered feasibility, usability, efficiency, and/or effectiveness. To align usability outcomes with research questions 2 and 3, usability outcomes were synthesized to form 4 themes: (1) user engagement (promotional activities and adherence), (2) barriers preventing usability (personal, technical, and device barriers), (3) user feedback (acceptability and satisfaction), and (4) cost assessment (basic financial costs). Themes were based on 5 of 16 areas of reporting by Agarwal et al [41] to improve the quality of evidence being extracted. The remaining areas of reporting are beyond the scope of this review (Table 2).



Butler et al

Table 2. Formation of themes, evaluation criteria, and main outcomes supporting the delivery of the eHealth and mobile health interventions for juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

Research question, theme, and evaluation criteria	Outcomes				
Research question 2					
User engagement					
Promotional activities	Adoption inputs [59-61,64-69]				
Adherence	Activity log, dropout [59] participation rate [68], program adherence [60,64], commitment, level of interaction [61], program compliance [65-67,69], and safety [59,60,64]				
Barriers preventing usability					
Personal barriers, technical barriers, or device barriers	Device malfunction rate [59], barriers preventing engagement [59], technical problems [61,63,66], missed responses [63], or errors [67]				
User feedback					
Acceptability	Questionaries [60,63,65] and evaluation questionnaire [66,67]				
Satisfaction	Questionaries [60-63,65], semistructured phone interview [60], and evaluation of use [62]				
Research question 3					
Cost assessment					
Basic financial cost (owing to no comparator)	Cost (adding together development of the program, staff costs, financial consequences ie, traveling expenses and babysitters) [61]				

Study Design

The study design included 4 descriptive studies, 3 pilot randomized controlled trials (RCTs), 1 multicenter RCT, 1 preand postintervention design, 1 correlational research design, and 1 sequential cohort study—studies reported from 2 high-infrastructure countries, Canada [59,60,63,65-67,69] and the Netherlands [61,62,64,68] (Multimedia Appendix 4).

Methodological Quality of Studies

The methodological quality of study scores ranged from 15 to 21 out of 28 (mean score 18.6, SD 1.9), a fair to good score [54]. Convenience sampling and/or selection bias meant that study participants may not fully represent the JIA population.

Participants were selected according to disease activity, pain, the unlikelihood of medication changes, level of physical activity, owning a computer/tablet/interactive mobile phone, availability of the internet, and literacy levels ([59-69]) Multimedia Appendix 5.

Results of Studies-Delivery of the Intervention

Theme 1: User Engagement

Promotional Activities

All studies reported promotional activities to support engagement with the intervention. The top 2 included training [59-63,65] and ongoing human communication [60,61,64-66] (Table 3).

Table 3. Promotional activities used to support engagement with the intervention for juvenile idiopathic arthritis.

	11	00		5 1			
Promotional activity	Misfit flash	Rheumates@Work	ePROfile	iPeer2Peer	eOuch	SUPER- KIDZ	Teens taking charge
Training	Y ^a	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
Instruction manual	Y	b	—	_	Y	—	—
Goals set by users	Y	Y	_	_	_	_	Y
Ongoing technical support	_	Y	_	_	Y	_	Y
Personal reminders	_	_	_	_	Y	_	_
Ongoing human communication	_	Y	_	Y	Y	_	Y
Reactive feedback loop	_	Y	_	_		_	_
Linear design	_	Y	_	_	Y	_	Y
Interactive content	_	Y	_	_		_	Y
Flexibility in length of the pro- gram	_	Y	_	Y		_	Y

^aY: yes.

RenderX

^bThe promotional activity listed was not used.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15833/

Training

All interventions provided participants and/or parents with training (range <5-20 min) [59-63]. Training sessions included how to use the software [69], functionality [59,69], demonstration and practice using pain vignettes [66,69], and instruction on completing learning modules and pain entries [61,66]; 3 interventions also provided training for those supporting the intervention: PRs, peer mentors, and a coach [60,62,65]. One study reported flexibility in training, delivering training at the participant's home or clinic [67] (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Ongoing Human Communication

Throughout the study period, 4 interventions provided ongoing human communication [60,61,64-66,68]. Human communication included telephone support [60,61,64-66], emails [60,64,65], face-to-face group sessions [64,68], daily monitoring of discussion boards [60,65], peer support [60, 65], and an online chat room [61]. A good-quality study, *Teens taking charge: managing arthritis online*, considered the use of a coach, providing weekly telephone calls as a necessary part of the intervention, reporting 1.6 calls (mean duration 17.3 min, range 7-30 min) each week for the intervention group (IG) [65]. After the study period, the control group (CG) was given access to the intervention, without the coach and telephone support. Website engagement dropped compared with the IG, from 436.9 to 6.42 hours. Similarly, interaction by parents of the CG reduced from 458 to 19 hits [65].

Safety Support

A total of 3 fair to good–quality studies monitored participants' safety [59,60,64]. The *iPeer2Peer Program* reported that all Skype calls were recorded and reviewed within 24 hours by a research team member. The peer mentor was also trained to flag concerns [60]. For *Rheumates@Work*, the PR maintained disease activity and medication usage records, reporting disease flare-ups for 3 participants (IG, n=1/17; CG, n=2/16), and no adverse events [64]. *Misfit Flash*, reported illness, injury, or pain for 9 participants due to being active (n=9/28) and arthritis-related pain for 1 participant (n=1/28). However, no significant difference was reported for pain, functionality, or disease activity during the study period [59].

Adherence Rates

All interventions had an expected level of engagement, ranging from minutes to 17 weeks [59,60,62-69]. A total of 8 fair to good–quality studies monitored adherence rates (range 70%-82.1%) [59-61,63-67,69]; 4 studies increased adherence by allowing more time to complete the intervention [60,61,64,65], and 1 study increased adherence to 100% (n=46) [65] ([59-61,64-67,69] Multimedia Appendix 6).

Week to Week and Time of Day Adherence

A significant difference was seen in adherence in pain reporting, using the eOuch pain diary, by 2 fair to good quality studies, week to week and according to the time of day (Multimedia Appendix 6) [66,67]. Adherence rates were increased 10% across the day by adjusting the preset pain reporting reminder alarms (morning, on waking, after school, and evening, before bed) according to age, 1.5 hours later on weekend mornings for

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15833/

older participants and 30 min earlier in the evenings for younger participants [66].

Gender and/or Age Adherence

The impact of gender and/or age on adherence was considered by 2 high-quality studies [60,67]. *eOuch* (n=112) reported gender or age had no effect [67]. Conversely, the *iPeer2Peer Program* reported that male participants (n=2/18) had lower adherence [60]. The 2 male participants completed 5 and 7 video calls, respectively, instead of the expected 10 as per protocol, and call length was nearly half that of female participants (12/16) [60].

Content Adherence

The most common topics raised/learning modules visited by participants in self-management programs were reported by 3 high-quality studies. The most common were *understanding arthritis* and *management issues* [60,61,65] (Multimedia Appendix 6).

Theme 2: Barriers Preventing Usability

Personal Barriers

Personal barriers preventing adherence were reported qualitatively by 6 fair to good–quality studies. The main barrier was illness, both JIA- and non-JIA-related [59-61,65,68]. In the *iPeer2Peer Program*, illness affected both the participants and peer mentors [60]. Other barriers included hospitalization [61,65], injury and pain [59], and common childhood activities such as study time/assessments [59,60,65,66,69], school trips [61], extracurricular activities [59], holidays [61,66], a party, a sports tournament [61], loss of mobile phone privileges, loss of activity tracker [59], death in the family, being too busy, weather, no babysitter for siblings [61], no longer interested [61,68], and no specific reason [61,64,68].

Technical Barriers

Technical barriers preventing adherence were reported by 7 fair to good–quality studies [59,61,63,65-67]. Barriers included log-in [61,65], software [59,66,67], hardware [59], device [59,66], and network problems [63,66,67]. This resulted in participants dropping out of the study [65] and lost data [63,67]. Future problems were eliminated through software changes, consultation with network providers, instructions on how to reset the device [66], and data back-up [66,67] ([59,61,63,65-67,69] Multimedia Appendix 7).

Device Barriers

Overall, 3 fair to good–quality studies compared electronic *eOuch* pain diary entries [66,67,69] with the paper-based pain assessment—brief pain inventory (BPI), short-form [70]. In 1 study, participants made no errors using *eOuch* compared with 90.8% (69/76) of errors using the BPI [67]. Most errors were related to how they marked the visual analog scale—77% (55/76) were confused by the order of least, average, and worst pain ratings. Participants with higher pain levels made more errors. There was no statistical difference in age (*P*=.51) or sex (*P*=.40) [67].

In another fair-quality study, 3 different devices were compared by children (aged 4-7 years), adolescents (aged 8-18 years), and

XSL•FO RenderX

parents when completing the web-based pain assessment *SUPER-KIDZ* [63]. These devices included paper, a handheld Apple iPod touch (second generation), and a computer/laptop. The study reported a significant difference in the number of missed responses by adolescents using the iPod (P=.047) compared with parents (P=.16) and children (P=.37) [63]. The iPod also required the most amount of time for adolescents and parents (P<.001), followed by computer (P<.001) and paper (P<.001). There was no significant difference in the device used by children completing a 2-item survey (P=.64) [63].

In the same study, children preferred the computer to paper or iPod because it was simple and fun to use (P=.008) [63]. Adolescents least liked the iPod because of size, unfamiliarity, and increased time to complete responses (P=.001). Adolescents also described paper assessments as the most inappropriate for their age group (P=.004) [63].

Theme 3: User Feedback

Acceptability and Satisfaction

All 7 interventions gained positive feedback from young people [59-63,65-67]. A total of 8 fair to good–quality studies reported that young people liked being physically active [59], making new friends [61], meeting someone with JIA whom they could relate to, or who had already experienced what they were going through (JIA- and non-JIA related) [60], how the intervention looked [66,67], the intervention's content [65], getting information about JIA [60], personalization through interactive features [65], and an email character called Buddy [61]. Four studies reported that young people would continue to use or recommend interventions [59,65-67]. Improvements were also suggested in exercise programs and the age range of the content [61].

Parental feedback was also considered by 2 interventions [61-63]. *Rheumates*@*Work*, a good-quality study, reported that parents liked the interventions (63/64, 99%) [61] and learned something (48/64, 75%) [61]. Parents also provided high evaluation scores (median 8/10, range 4-10) for *ePROfile*, reporting *ePROfile* as useful (t1=57/65, 88%; t2=37/46,80%); however, the satisfaction of parents and young people did not differ between IG and CG [62] ([59-63,65-67] Multimedia Appendix 8).

Theme 4: Cost of Delivering the Intervention

Only 1 of the 7 interventions reported the cost of establishing and maintaining the intervention [61]. *Rheumates@Work*, a good-quality study, reported on program content $\leq 10,000$ (US \$ 11,888); web design, language adaption for young people ≤ 1500 (US \$ 1783); staff numbers (n=1-2 part-time and/or physician/psychologist) for facilitating group sessions; the time needed to monitor the participants' progress and sending emails (30 min/week); and the participants' time (1 hour/week) [61].

Overall, 4 studies reported that they provided participants with a device to enable access to the intervention [59,66,67,69]; 3 fair to good–quality studies supplied a PDA [66,67,69], and 1 fair-quality study provided a wearable accelerometer [59]. All devices were to be returned at the conclusion of the study. Only half of the participants (15/28, 55%) returned the wearable accelerometer [59]. These studies did not report on these costs, and a request for further information was unsuccessful.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review to evaluate the usability of eHealth and mHealth interventions targeting young people living with JIA (aged 4-18 years). Guided by our 3 research questions, this review identified 7 interventions: *Misfit Flash, Rheumates@Work, iPeer2Peer Program, eOuch, ePROfile, SUPER-KIDZ, and Teens taking charge: managing arthritis online.* The methodological quality of the studies supporting these interventions ranged from fair [59,62,63,66,69] to good [60,61,64,65,67,68]. The dropout rate across 9 studies was low (49/634, 7.7%; mean 5, SD 6.1) [59-67].

Identification of the Digital Health Interventions

Interventions to Improve JIA Model of Care

Of the interventions, 3 allowed participants to self-report pain [63,66,67,69] or HRQoL [62]. One intervention aimed to generate a computer-based pain summary [63] Another, to improve HRQoL communication during the PR consultation [62]. This form of real-time data collection has the potential to improve data processing [71] and patient monitoring, allowing well-informed, person-centered health care decisions to be made [72].

Interventions to Improve Self-Managing Behavior

In total, 3 interventions aimed to improve self-management behavior [61,65,68] and 2 interventions aimed to improve physical activity [59,64,68]. Participants focused their educational needs on understanding arthritis and disease management issues [60,61,65]. Understanding these needs from a young person's perspective is important because there is often a difference in opinion by young people, parents, and health professionals to what self-management programs should include [34]. Research shows that by correctly strengthening a young person's personal knowledge, their motivation and competence to make well-informed health decisions improve [73], reducing their long-term health risks [29].

Usability

User Engagement

A range of promotional activities was used to facilitate the engagement of the participants with the interventions. These promotional activities are referred to in the literature as persuasive influences [74,75]. Although the studies in this review did not evaluate their effectiveness, notably other systematic reviews have reported their importance [74-76] and supported their inclusion in the intervention design to promote adherence [74]. In fact, for web-based health interventions, a combination should be used, for example, tailored interactive health information, reminders, and incentives to promote active engagement [75], and weekly website updates to increase log-ins [76].

The interventions in this review used, on average, 4 persuasive influences (range 1-7), the 2 most common being training [59-63,65] and ongoing human communication [60,61,64-66]. Other studies support the use of human communication through face-to-face segments, peer-to-peer support, a health professional, or counseling to increase website usage [74-76]. In this review, telephone contact was the most common type of human communication. *Teens taking charge: managing arthritis online* reported how the use of a coach providing telephone support improved website engagement [65]. Interestingly, this study did not employ a health professional, as other systematic reviews have suggested [75,76]. Instead, an undergraduate student studying psychology followed a standardized script to review homework and goals [65], possibly reducing the cost of the intervention.

However, not all forms of human communication identified in this review were supported. A systematic review identified 9 studies where discussion boards only provided a moderate level of peer support for young people [75]. Similarly, *Rheumates@Work* reported low engagement rates with chat sessions (17/64, 27%) [61], reinforcing the need to include young people in the design and development.

In this review, to improve the young person's experience and ensure that the interventions were achieving the intended interactions, personal barriers were removed [59-61,63-68]. Pain diary reporting times were adjusted according to age, and program schedules were flexible to cater for JIA- and non-JIA-related illnesses [59-61,65], school, and social activities [59-61,65,66]. Technical barriers were also overcome by most interventions that store their data on an external server, rather than the electronic device being used [60-62,65,66]. The privacy of health information was further maintained through secure participant accounts with restricted access [61-63,65,66]. For example, the PR could only see their own patients' results [62]. Similar measures are reflected in other studies, supporting the use of certified servers and data security, despite being costly and requiring a technical team to set up and maintain it [77,78].

User Feedback

All interventions in this review gained positive feedback from young people [59-63,65-67] and parents [61-63], although some improvements were identified [60,61,65]. *Rheumates@Work* participants, for example, requested more specific exercise programs and age-appropriate content. The targeted age range of 8 to 13 years was too broad—slightly difficult for younger participants, and too childish for older participants [61]. The transparency of the intervention content is also important because the WHO suggests that content needs to align with national guidelines or regulatory statutes; if the intervention is successful, it may be considered as a medical device [41]. Only 4 interventions in this review aligned their content with either guidelines or regulations [61,64], validated tools [62,66,67,69], a research methodology (Delphi technique) [63], and/or learning theory [61,64].

Cost Associated With the Intervention

Only 1 study in this review reported costs related to the implementation of their intervention [61], despite the WHO

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15833/
```

strongly suggesting this [48]. Costs should include long-term direct and indirect costs, starting from software development to training, implementation, and the end benefits for patients and the health care system [79]. For example, a recent systematic review of the utilization of mHealth interventions reported reduced travel time and fuel costs for health care workers and patients, and increased working time for health care workers [80]. Considering costs early, during prototype development, may help inform strategic decisions to ensure the intervention, if successful, is cost-effective, easily accessible, and sustainable when translated into the community [79].

Future Research to Consider Gender Differences

Only 3 studies in this review considered gender differences [59,60,67]. This is probably because the JIA population is predominantly female, with 3 to 6.6 females to every 1 male [81]. Although the findings were not significant, gender differences have been reported on internet use by men, women [82], and college students [83]. This indicates the need to include gender differences in future research to identify different support needs and/or gender-specific persuasive influences that could be adopted to promote adherence for young people.

Limitations

The findings of this systematic review need to be considered cautiously because of the limited number of studies included. Our methodology could have been improved by including qualitative studies in our selection criteria and individually handing searching journals relevant to digital health to ensure no usability issues were omitted and reduce publication bias from the database search.

Meta-analysis was also not possible in this review because all interventions considered different outcomes measures, depending on their stage of development. Instead, this systematic review largely relied on descriptive summaries to organize and clarify the data from formal and informal assessments. This form of analysis can be subjective; participants may have been influenced by the novelty of the intervention, boosting their engagement and feedback. There is also a risk of reporting bias by the author. To reduce this risk and improve transparency, all authors reviewed each stage of the data analysis.

The generalizability of our findings may also be limited. Participants were included in this review with other forms of rheumatic disease, or their diagnosis was unknown or not recorded (86/634, 13.6%; Table 1) [62,63,66,67]. Dissecting the results for young people, specifically living with JIA, was not possible.

This review also only focused on 3 of our 4 protocol questions: (1) identification of the intervention, (2) usability, and (4) cost, rather than (3) effectiveness, to allow us to capture a more detailed description of the interventions and usability problems faced by participants. The effectiveness of the interventions will be covered in a follow-up publication.

Conclusions

Using a narrative, descriptive methodology, our review identified 7 interventions for JIA, targeting health issues such as pain, HRQoL, physical activity, and chronic disease

self-management. The usability of the interventions was facilitated through training and ongoing human communication. Engagement was promoted by a combination of persuasive influences, and barriers preventing adherence were removed through personal reminders and flexible program schedules to cater to JIA- and non-JIA illness or other activities commonly seen in childhood. The feedback obtained was that most young people and their parents liked the interventions. Although too premature to support the effectiveness of our claims, this review will add to the growing body of evidence influencing the development of future eHealth and mHealth interventions. Further research is needed to consider gender differences, associated costs, and the effectiveness of interventions on health outcomes to better support young people living with JIA.

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to the conceptual design, methodology, data extraction, manuscript development, and final manuscript approval.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) checklist. [DOC File, 63 KB - pediatrics v3i2e15833 app1.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Search terms and database search strategy. [DOCX File , 119 KB - pediatrics v3i2e15833 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Overview of the seven eHealth and mHealth interventions for JIA. [DOCX File , 17 KB - pediatrics v3i2e15833 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Overview of the eleven eHealth and mHealth studies targeting Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. [DOCX File, 26 KB - pediatrics v3i2e15833 app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Methodological scores of the eleven studies using the Down and Black. [DOCX File , 16 KB - pediatrics v3i2e15833 app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Intervention adherence rates, including week to week, time of day and content adherence by young people with JIA. [DOCX File, 16 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e15833_app6.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 7

Summary of the technical problems experienced by users with JIA, obstructing the adoption of the intervention. [DOCX File, 14 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e15833_app7.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 8 User feedback: Results of Acceptability and Satisfaction questionnaires. [DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics v3i2e15833 app8.docx]

References

RenderX

- 1. Juvenile Arthritis. Arthritis Foundation. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.arthritis.org/getmedia/</u> 73a9f02d-7f91-4084-91c3-0ed0b11c5814/abtn-2020-final.pdf [accessed 2020-11-14]
- Palman J, Shoop-Worrall S, Hyrich K, McDonagh JE. Update on the epidemiology, risk factors and disease outcomes of Juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2018 Apr;32(2):206-222. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.berh.2018.10.004</u>] [Medline: <u>30527427</u>]
- 3. Thierry S, Fautrel B, Lemelle I, Guillemin F. Prevalence and incidence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review. Joint Bone Spine 2014 Mar;81(2):112-117. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2013.09.003] [Medline: 24210707]

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15833/

- 4. Harrold LR, Salman C, Shoor S, Curtis JR, Asgari MM, Gelfand JM, et al. Incidence and prevalence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis among children in a managed care population, 1996-2009. J Rheumatol 2013 Jul;40(7):1218-1225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.120661] [Medline: 23588938]
- 5. Abdwani R, Abdalla E, Al Abrawi S, Al-Zakwani I. Epidemiology of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in Oman. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2015 Aug 1;13:33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-015-0030-z] [Medline: 26232056]
- 6. Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. US National Library of Medicine. 2019. URL: <u>https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/condition/juvenile-idiopathic-arthritis#resources</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- Guzman J, Oen K, Huber AM, Watanabe Duffy K, Boire G, Shiff N, ReACCh-Out investigators. The risk and nature of flares in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: results from the reacch-out cohort. Ann Rheum Dis 2016 Jun;75(6):1092-1098. [doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-207164] [Medline: 25985972]
- 8. Porth C, Gaspard K. Disorders of the skeletal system, metabolic and rheumatic disorders, juvenile idiopathic arthritis. In: Essentials of Pathophysiology, Concepts of Altered Health States. Fourth Edition. Philadelphia, USA: Wolters Kluwer; 2015:1133-1134.
- 9. Giancane G, Alongi A, Rosina S, Calandra S, Consolaro A, Ravelli A. Open issues in the assessment and management of pain in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2017;35(Suppl 107):123-126 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28967364]
- Armbrust W, Siers NE, Lelieveld OT, Mouton LJ, Tuinstra J, Sauer P. Fatigue in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review of the literature. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2016 Apr;45(5):587-595. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.semarthrit.2015.10.008</u>] [Medline: <u>26656031</u>]
- 11. What is arthritis? Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/basics/childhood.</u> <u>htm</u> [accessed 2020-11-14]
- 12. Dunkin MA. Is JIA Really an Autoimmune Disease? Arthritis Foundation. 2017. URL: <u>http://www.kidsgetarthritistoo.org/about-ja/the-basics/ja-autoimmunity.php</u> [accessed 2019-02-01]
- 13. Haverman L, Grootenhuis MA, van den Berg JM, van Veenendaal M, Dolman KM, Swart JF, et al. Predictors of health-related quality of life in children and adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: results from a Web-based survey. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2012 May;64(5):694-703 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/acr.21609] [Medline: 22238240]
- Stinson JN, Hayden JA, Ahola Kohut S, Soobiah C, Cartwright J, Weiss SK, et al. Sleep problems and associated factors in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a systematic review. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2014;12:19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1546-0096-12-19] [Medline: 24940168]
- 15. Bouaddi I, Rostom S, El Badri D, Hassani A, Chkirate B, Amine B, et al. Impact of juvenile idiopathic arthritis on schooling. BMC Pediatr 2013 Jan 7;13:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-13-2] [Medline: 23289498]
- Díaz-Mendoza AC, Modesto Caballero C, Navarro-Cendejas J. Analysis of employment rate and social status in young adults with childhood-onset rheumatic disease in Catalonia. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2015 Jul 11;13:29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-015-0026-8] [Medline: 26162373]
- Rashid A, Cordingley L, Carrasco R, Foster HE, Baildam EM, Chieng A, et al. Patterns of pain over time among children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arch Dis Child 2018 May;103(5):437-443 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2017-313337] [Medline: 29175824]
- Moorthy LN, Peterson MG, Hassett AL, Lehman TJ. Burden of childhood-onset arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2010 Jul 8;8:20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1546-0096-8-20] [Medline: 20615240]
- Cox A, Piper S, Singh-Grewal D. Pediatric rheumatology consultant workforce in Australia and New Zealand: the current state of play and challenges for the future. Int J Rheum Dis 2017 May;20(5):647-653. [doi: <u>10.1111/1756-185X.12802</u>] [Medline: <u>26864133</u>]
- 21. Foster H, Rapley T. Access to pediatric rheumatology care -- a major challenge to improving outcome in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol 2010 Nov;37(11):2199-2202. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.100910] [Medline: 21041261]
- 22. Al Maini M, Adelowo F, Al Saleh J, Al Weshahi Y, Burmester G, Cutolo M, et al. The global challenges and opportunities in the practice of rheumatology: white paper by the World Forum on Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Diseases. Clin Rheumatol 2015 May;34(5):819-829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10067-014-2841-6] [Medline: 25501633]
- 23. Khawaja K, Al-Maini M. Access to pediatric rheumatology care for juvenile idiopathic arthritis in the United Arab Emirates. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2017 May 16;15(1):41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-017-0170-4] [Medline: 28511684]
- 24. Ooi PL, Shek LP. Paediatric rheumatology: a subspecialty in its infancy that is making leaps and bounds. Singapore Med J 2014 May;55(5):242-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11622/smedj.2014074] [Medline: 24862745]
- 25. Spencer C. Why should pediatric rheumatology be recognized as a separate subspecialty: an open letter to medical councils and government agencies. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2007 Nov 21;5:21. [doi: 10.1186/1546-0096-5-21] [Medline: 18031581]
- Tong A, Jones J, Speerin R, Filocamo K, Chaitow J, Singh-Grewal D. Consumer perspectives on pediatric rheumatology care and service delivery: a qualitative study. J Clin Rheumatol 2013 Aug;19(5):234-240. [doi: 10.1097/RHU.0b013e31829d4e82] [Medline: 23872547]

- 27. van Dijkhuizen EH, Egert T, Egert Y, Costello W, Schoemaker C, Fernhout M, et al. Patient's experiences with the care for juvenile idiopathic arthritis across Europe. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2018 Feb 8;16(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-018-0226-0] [Medline: 29422094]
- 28. Coda A, Jones J, Grech D, Grewal DS. Survey of parent and carer experiences and expectations of paediatric rheumatology care in New South Wales. Aust Health Rev 2017 Aug;41(4):372-377. [doi: 10.1071/AH16061] [Medline: 27467400]
- 29. Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, Blakemore S, Dick B, Ezeh AC, et al. Adolescence: a foundation for future health. Lancet 2012 Apr 28;379(9826):1630-1640. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5] [Medline: 22538178]
- 30. Munro J, Murray K, Boros C, Chaitow J, Allen RC, Akikusa J, Australian Paediatric Rheumatology Group. Australian paediatric rheumatology group standards of care for the management of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Paediatr Child Health 2014 Sep;50(9):663-666. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.12462] [Medline: 25156704]
- Sawyer SM, Aroni RA. Self-management in adolescents with chronic illness. What does it mean and how can it be achieved? Med J Aust 2005 Oct 17;183(8):405-409. [Medline: <u>16225444</u>]
- 32. Sawyer S. Asthma in young people. In: Silverman M, editor. Childhood Asthma and Other Wheezing Disorders. Second Edition. New York, USA: Oxford University Press; 2002:351-358.
- Beacham BL, Deatrick JA. Children with chronic conditions: perspectives on condition management. J Pediatr Nurs 2015;30(1):25-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2014.10.011] [Medline: 25458105]
- 34. Waite-Jones JM, Majeed-Ariss R, Smith J, Stones SR, van Rooyen V, Swallow V. Young people's, parents', and professionals' views on required components of mobile apps to support self-management of juvenile arthritis: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 19;6(1):e25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9179] [Medline: 29351898]
- 35. Meskó B, Drobni Z, Bényei E, Gergely B, Győrffy Z. Digital health is a cultural transformation of traditional healthcare. Mhealth 2017;3:38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.08.07] [Medline: 29184890]
- 36. Sendra S, Parra L, Lloret J, Tomás J. Smart system for children's chronic illness monitoring. Inform Fusion 2018 Mar;40:76-86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.inffus.2017.06.002]
- 37. Individuals Using the Internet (% of Population). International Telecommunication Union, World Telecommunication/ICT Development Report and Database. 2019. URL: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.NET.USER.ZS</u> [accessed 2020-11-14]
- 38. The Australian Cut. Deloitte's Technology Media Telecommunications (TMT) Industry Group. 2017. URL: <u>https://www2.</u> <u>deloitte.com/au/mobile-consumer-survey-2017</u> [accessed 2018-12-10]
- Cohen SB, Grote KD, Pietraszek WE, Laflamme F. Increasing consumerism in healthcare through intelligent information technology. Am J Manag Care 2010 Dec;16(12 Suppl HIT):SP37-SP43 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21314219]
- 40. Hesse BW, Shneiderman B. eHealth research from the user's perspective. Am J Prev Med 2007 May;32(5 Suppl):S97-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.01.019] [Medline: 17466825]
- 41. Agarwal S, LeFevre AE, Lee J, L'Engle K, Mehl G, Sinha C, WHO mHealth Technical Evidence Review Group. Guidelines for reporting of health interventions using mobile phones: mobile health (mHealth) evidence reporting and assessment (mERA) checklist. Br Med J 2016 Mar 17;352:i1174. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.i1174] [Medline: 26988021]
- 42. Law E, Abrahão S. Interplay between User Experience (UX) evaluation and system development. Int J Hum Comput Stud 2014 Jun;72(6):523-525. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2014.03.003]
- 43. Barnum CM. Usability Testing Essentials: Ready, Set...Test!. In: Kaufmann M, editor. Usability Testing Essentials. Elsevier, BV: Science Direct; 2011:53-81.
- 44. Nikolaus S, Bode C, Taal E, Vonkeman HE, Glas CA, van de Laar MA. Acceptance of new technology: a usability test of a computerized adaptive test for fatigue in rheumatoid arthritis. JMIR Hum Factors 2014 Dec 4;1(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.3424] [Medline: 27025404]
- 45. Alwashmi MF, Hawboldt J, Davis E, Fetters MD. The iterative convergent design for mobile health usability testing: mixed methods approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 26;7(4):e11656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11656] [Medline: 31025951]
- 46. Third A, Bellerose D, Diniz DO, Lala G. Young and Online: Children's Perspectives on Life in the Digital Age. Western Sydney University. 2017. URL: <u>https://apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2017-12/apo-nid139346.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-02-10]
- 47. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and Evaluating Complex Interventions: Following Considerable Development in the Field Since 2006, MRC and NIHR Have Jointly Commissioned an Update of This Guidance to Be Published in 2019. Medical Research Council. URL: <u>https://mrc.ukri.org/documents/pdf/</u> <u>complex-interventions-guidance</u> [accessed 2020-03-05]
- 48. Monitoring and Evaluating Digital Health Interventions: a Practical Guide to Conducting Research and Assessment. World Health Organization. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/mhealth/digital-health-interventions/en/</u> [accessed 2018-12-10]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Br Med J 2009 Jul 21;339:b2535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535] [Medline: 19622551]
- 50. Butler S, Sculley D, Fellas A, Santos D, Singh-Grewal D, Girones X, et al. Ehealth and Mhealth Interventions Supporting Children and Adolescents Living With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA): a Systematic Review. National Institute for

Health Research. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=108985</u> [accessed 2019-08-04]

- Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, International League of Associations for Rheumatology. International league of associations for rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol 2004 Feb;31(2):390-392. [Medline: <u>14760812</u>]
- 52. Mhealth: New Horizons for Health Through Mobile Technologies. World Health Organization. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/goe/publications/goe_mhealth_web.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-08-04]
- 53. Better Systematic Review Management. Covidence. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.covidence.org/home</u> [accessed 2018-12-10]
- 54. Downs SH, Black N. The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health 1998 Jun;52(6):377-384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.52.6.377] [Medline: 9764259]
- 55. Quality Checklist for Health Care Intervention Studies. National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools. URL: <u>https://www.nccmt.ca/knowledge-repositories/search/9</u> [accessed 2019-02-25]
- 56. O'Connor SR, Tully MA, Ryan B, Bradley JM, Baxter GD, McDonough SM. Failure of a numerical quality assessment scale to identify potential risk of bias in a systematic review: a comparison study. BMC Res Notes 2015 Jun 6;8:224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1181-1] [Medline: 26048813]
- 57. Ryan R. Data Synthesis and Analysis. Cochrane Consumers and Communication Review Group. 2013. URL: <u>https://cccrg.cochrane.org/files/public/uploads/Analysis.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-02]
- 58. Popay J, Robert H, Sowden A, Petticrew M, Arai L. Guidance on the Conduct of Narrative Synthesis in Systematic Reviews: a Product From the ESRC Methods Programme. Lancaster University. 2006. URL: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.178.3100&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> [accessed 2018-12-10]
- 59. Heale LD, Dover S, Goh YI, Maksymiuk VA, Wells GD, Feldman BM. A wearable activity tracker intervention for promoting physical activity in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a pilot study. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2018 Oct 22;16(1):66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-018-0282-5] [Medline: 30348203]
- 60. Stinson J, Ahola Kohut S, Forgeron P, Amaria K, Bell M, Kaufman M, et al. The iPeer2Peer program: a pilot randomized controlled trial in adolescents with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2016 Sep 2;14(1):48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-016-0108-2] [Medline: 27590668]
- 61. Armbrust W, Bos JJ, Cappon J, van Rossum MA, Sauer PJJ, Wulffraat N, et al. Design and acceptance of Rheumates@Work, a combined internet-based and in person instruction model, an interactive, educational, and cognitive behavioral program for children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2015 Jul 23;13:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12969-015-0029-5] [Medline: 26202161]
- Haverman L, van Rossum MA, van Veenendaal M, van den Berg JM, Dolman KM, Swart J, et al. Effectiveness of a web-based application to monitor health-related quality of life. Pediatrics 2013 Feb;131(2):e533-e543. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-0958] [Medline: 23296436]
- 63. Stinson JN, Connelly M, Jibb LA, Schanberg LE, Walco G, Spiegel LR, et al. Developing a standardized approach to the assessment of pain in children and youth presenting to pediatric rheumatology providers: a Delphi survey and consensus conference process followed by feasibility testing. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2012 Apr 10;10(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1546-0096-10-7] [Medline: 22490427]
- 64. Lelieveld OT, Armbrust W, Geertzen JH, de Graaf I, van Leeuwen MA, Sauer PJ, et al. Promoting physical activity in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis through an internet-based program: results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2010 May;62(5):697-703 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/acr.20085] [Medline: 20191468]
- 65. Stinson JN, McGrath PJ, Hodnett ED, Feldman BM, Duffy CM, Huber AM, et al. An internet-based self-management program with telephone support for adolescents with arthritis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Rheumatol 2010 Sep;37(9):1944-1952. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.091327] [Medline: 20595280]
- 66. Stinson JN, Petroz GC, Stevens BJ, Feldman BM, Streiner D, McGrath PJ, et al. Working out the kinks: testing the feasibility of an electronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. Pain Res Manag 2008;13(5):375-382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2008/326389] [Medline: 18958308]
- 67. Stinson JN, Stevens BJ, Feldman BM, Streiner D, McGrath PJ, Dupuis A, et al. Construct validity of a multidimensional electronic pain diary for adolescents with arthritis. Pain 2008 Jun;136(3):281-292. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2007.07.002] [Medline: 17723279]
- 68. Armbrust W, Bos GJ, Wulffraat NM, van Brussel M, Cappon J, Dijkstra PU, et al. Internet program for physical activity and exercise capacity in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a multicenter randomized controlled trial. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2017 Jul;69(7):1040-1049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/acr.23100] [Medline: 27696793]
- Stinson JN, Jibb LA, Lalloo C, Feldman BM, McGrath PJ, Petroz GC, et al. Comparison of average weekly pain using recalled paper and momentary assessment electronic diary reports in children with arthritis. Clin J Pain 2014 Dec;30(12):1044-1050. [doi: <u>10.1097/AJP.000000000000072</u>] [Medline: <u>24535055</u>]
- 70. Cleeland CS. Breif Pain Inventory Short form. University of Texas. 2003. URL: <u>http://www.npcrc.org/files/news/</u> <u>briefpain_short.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-04-10]

- Fernandes CO, de Lucena CJ. An internet of things application with an accessible interface for remote monitoring patients. In: Marcus A, editor. User Experience, and Usability: Interactive Experience Design, DUXU 2015, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 9188. Cham, UK: Springer; 2015.
- 72. WHO Global Strategy on People-centred and Integrated Health Services: Interim Report. World Health Organization. 2016. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/155002/WHO_HIS_SDS_2015.6_eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-05-02]
- 73. Bröder J, Okan O, Bauer U, Bruland D, Schlupp S, Bollweg TM, et al. Health literacy in childhood and youth: a systematic review of definitions and models. BMC Public Health 2017 Apr 26;17(1):361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4267-y] [Medline: 28441934]
- 74. Kelders SM, Kok RN, Ossebaard HC, Van Gemert-Pijnen J. Persuasive system design does matter: a systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. J Med Internet Res 2012 Nov 14;14(6):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2104] [Medline: 23151820]
- 75. Crutzen R, de Nooijer J, Brouwer W, Oenema A, Brug J, de Vries NK. Strategies to facilitate exposure to internet-delivered health behavior change interventions aimed at adolescents or young adults: a systematic review. Health Educ Behav 2011 Feb;38(1):49-62. [doi: 10.1177/1090198110372878] [Medline: 21189422]
- 76. Brouwer W, Kroeze W, Crutzen R, de Nooijer J, de Vries NK, Brug J, et al. Which intervention characteristics are related to more exposure to internet-delivered healthy lifestyle promotion interventions? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2011 Jan 6;13(1):e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1639] [Medline: 21212045]
- 77. Müthing J, Brüngel R, Friedrich CM. Server-focused security assessment of mobile health apps for popular mobile platforms. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jan 23;21(1):e9818 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.9818</u>] [Medline: <u>30672738</u>]
- 78. Spigel L, Wambugu S, Villella C. Mhealth Data Security, Privacy, and Confidentiality: Guidelines for Program Implementers and Policymakers. MEASURE Evaluation. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.measureevaluation.org/resources/publications/</u> <u>ms-17-125a</u> [accessed 2020-11-17]
- 79. The MAPS Toolkit: Mhealth Assessment and Planning for Scale. World Health Organization. 2015. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/185238</u> [accessed 2018-12-10]
- 80. White A, Thomas DS, Ezeanochie N, Bull S. Health worker mhealth utilization: a systematic review. Comput Inform Nurs 2016 May;34(5):206-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000231] [Medline: 26955009]
- Cattalini M, Soliani M, Caparello MC, Cimaz R. Sex differences in pediatric rheumatology. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2019 Jun;56(3):293-307. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12016-017-8642-3</u>] [Medline: <u>28849549</u>]
- 82. Bidmon S, Terlutter R. Gender differences in searching for health information on the internet and the virtual patient-physician relationship in Germany: exploratory results on how men and women differ and why. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 22;17(6):e156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4127] [Medline: 26099325]
- 83. Hu T, Zhang X, Dai H, Zhang P. An examination of gender differences among college students in their usage perceptions of the internet. Educ Inf Technol 2011 Apr 13;17(3):315-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10639-011-9160-1]

Abbreviations

BPI: brief pain inventory
CG: control group
HRQoL: health-related quality of life
IG: intervention group
JIA: juvenile idiopathic arthritis
mHealth: mobile health
PDA: personal digital assistant
PR: pediatric rheumatologists
RCT: randomized controlled trial
WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.08.19; peer-reviewed by D Leightley, A Wickersham; comments to author 14.10.19; revised version received 27.01.20; accepted 03.10.20; published 01.12.20.

Please cite as:

Butler S, Sculley D, Santos DS, Fellas A, Gironès X, Singh-Grewal D, Coda A Usability of eHealth and Mobile Health Interventions by Young People Living With Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e15833 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15833/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/15833</u>

PMID:<u>33258786</u>



©Sonia Butler, Dean Sculley, Derek Santos Santos, Antoni Fellas, Xavier Gironès, Davinder Singh-Grewal, Andrea Coda. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.12.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.
Original Paper

Pediatric Asthma Action Plans: National Cross-Sectional Online Survey of Parents' Perceptions

Karen H Pletta¹, MD; Bradley R Kerr¹, MS; Jens C Eickhoff², PhD; Gail S Allen¹, MD; Sanjeev R Jain¹, MD; Megan A Moreno¹, MSED, MD, MPH

¹Department of Pediatrics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

²Department of Biostatistics & Medical Informatics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Corresponding Author: Karen H Pletta, MD Department of Pediatrics University of Wisconsin-Madison 2870 University Ave STE 200 Madison, WI, 53705 United States Phone: 1 6088772660 Email: karen.pletta@uwmf.wisc.edu

Abstract

Background: Asthma Action Plans (AAPs) are recommended for pediatric patients to help improve asthma control. Studies have shown variable results for unscheduled doctor and emergency room visits. AAPs may have an impact on parental self-efficacy for asthma management as well as on other daily living factors that are valuable for patients and families, such as the number of missed school days and parental workdays, and on school and caregiver management.

Objective: The purpose of this study is to understand parent perceptions of AAPs. The goals of this analysis were threefold, including examining (1) the association between pediatric AAPs and parental self-efficacy, (2) parent perceptions of the helpfulness of an AAP for daily living factors, and (3) associations with the type of provider who gave the AAP (a primary care provider or an asthma specialist).

Methods: A national cross-sectional online survey was completed in October 2018 by parents of children with asthma aged 0-17 years. Survey questions included the presence or absence of a pediatric AAP, the Bursch Parental Self-efficacy for Asthma scale, parental perceptions of the AAP's helpfulness with regard to daily living factors ranked on a 5-point Likert scale, and the provider type who gave the AAP. Survey responses were summarized in terms of percentages or means and standard deviations. A 2-sample *t* test and analysis of covariance were used to compare self-efficacy for asthma and parental-perception-of-helpfulness scores between subjects with an AAP versus subjects without an AAP. All reported *P* values were 2-sided.

Results: A total of 704 parents with a child with asthma completed the survey. The parents had a mean age of 37.5 years (SD 10.9), and 82% (577/704) were women and 18% (127/704) were men. Most (564/704, 80%) parents had an AAP for their child; 65% (367/564) were written, 51% (286/564) were online, and 84% (474/564) were available at school. The Bursch Self-efficacy scale was significantly higher for parents with an AAP (mean 57.7, SD 8.6) versus no AAP (mean 55.1, SD 9.9; P<.001). Parents reported that they agreed/strongly agreed that an AAP was helpful for daily living factors, including managing asthma (446/544, 82%), decreased parental missed workdays (367/544, 68%), decreased child missed-school days (396/542, 73%), and for when a child is at school (422/541 78%), with other caregivers (434/543, 80%), doing normal activities (421/540 78%), and leading a normal life (437/540 81%). Parents agreed/strongly agreed that an AAP was helpful from all provider types: a pediatric provider (583/704, 82.8%), a family practice provider (556/704, 79%), and an asthma specialist (594/704, 84.4%). There was no significant difference (P=.53) between the type of provider who gave the AAP.

Conclusions: Parents who had pediatric AAPs for their children reported increased parental self-efficacy compared to those who did not have AAPs. Parents found AAPs helpful for decreasing missed time from work and school, and for asthma management when at home, school, and with other caregivers. Significant AAP helpfulness was seen regardless of the provider who gave the AAP, the parent's education, and income level. Findings support the usefulness of pediatric AAPs for families and the development of easily sharable electronic AAPs for children.

KEYWORDS

pediatric asthma; asthma action plan; parent; online survey; self-efficacy; daily living factors; parental work; school absence; school management; caregiver management; child activity; primary care provider; pediatrician; asthma specialist

Introduction

Background

Asthma is the most common chronic condition of childhood [1], affecting 7 million children in the United States [2]. Pediatric asthma can result in severe breathing distress [3], causes over a half million hospitalizations each year, and is the leading reason for hospitalization for children aged 1-17 years [4]. Further, caring for a child with asthma can lead to negative impacts on daily living for patients and families. Factors of daily living that may be negatively impacted by asthma include children missing days from school, parents missing days from work, and challenges in coordinating care with caregivers and schools [5].

To reduce health risks and quality of life impairments associated with asthma, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Academy of Pediatrics recommend providing pediatric asthma patients with an Asthma Action Plan (AAP). An AAP is a written plan for the daily control of asthma symptoms, including steps for a family to follow if asthma symptoms develop or worsen [6,7]. The AAP may be on paper, online, or both, and can be provided to a family by a primary care provider (PCP) or an asthma specialist as part of routine asthma care. An AAP is intended to increase child and parental knowledge as well as child self-efficacy and parental self-efficacy (ie, parental perception of one's ability to provide appropriate care) in managing the child's asthma. Parents and children are instructed about AAPs during clinic visits with older children and adolescents who are increasingly managing their symptoms independently. Thus, an AAP may lead to better control of asthma symptoms, reduce unplanned medical visits, and improve the consistency of asthma care that children receive at school and with caregivers.

Despite these potential benefits, studies measuring the impact of AAPs on asthma complications have shown variable results. Some studies have not supported that providing AAPs to children is associated with a decrease of symptom-free days, urgent care visits, or unscheduled doctor visits [8-10], while other studies on AAP use found a decrease in missed school days, emergency room use, and unscheduled doctor visits [11-13], as well as improved confidence in parents caring for children with asthma [11]. AAP effectiveness may be influenced by income and literacy. There are several factors that may create challenges for those with lower income and asthma, including access to medical care, an urban environment, and lower literacy [14]. Lower-income families are less likely to have an AAP [14] and have an increased risk for asthma treatment failure and exacerbations [15]. Low literacy has been linked to misunderstandings of AAP medications and instructions [16], as well as greater asthma severity [17]. Thus, additional research is needed to elucidate the role of AAPs in reducing asthma complications.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21863

Pediatric asthma exacerbations can negatively impact daily living factors for pediatric patients and families. These factors may be influenced by parental asthma self-efficacy, parental perception of AAP helpfulness, and which type of provider supplies the AAP. Parental asthma self-efficacy may influence whether parents feel able to take steps at home to manage their child's asthma. Further, the perception of AAP helpfulness may influence whether parents decide to use the AAP in the event of an asthma exacerbation, and the perception may vary depending on income and college education. Finally, patients may be provided an AAP by their PCP or an asthma specialist. Referral to an asthma specialist may depend on several factors, including the PCP's comfort level with managing asthma, the severity of asthma, and limitations of access and geography. Parents may view the AAP differently if provided in a primary-care versus specialty setting.

Objectives

The purpose of this study is to understand parent perceptions of pediatric AAPs. The goals of this analysis were threefold, including examining (1) the association between pediatric AAP provision and parental asthma self-efficacy, (2) parents' perceptions of the helpfulness of an AAP for daily living factors, and (3) associations with the type of provider who gave the AAP (PCP or asthma specialist).

Methods

In October 2018, we conducted a cross-sectional survey using a national online panel (Qualtrics; version 102018); the Institutional Board at the University of Wisconsin-Madison approved this study.

Participants and Recruitment

We recruited parents using Qualtrics. Qualtrics was chosen as the platform because surveys deployed to Qualtrics panels allow for a focus on participants meeting specific criteria. The online survey platform allowed for the identification of parents and, particularly, the oversampling of children with chronic diseases. Further, Qualtrics panels typically demonstrate demographic characteristics that fall within a 10% range of values observed in the US population [18]. Qualtrics recruits participants using online advertisements on platforms such as social media, inviting survey participants to earn credit toward rewards such as gift cards, in-application purchases, or airline miles. A background check is conducted to verify identity before the participant becomes part of a panel and eligible for recruitment.

Qualtrics sent survey invitations to existing US panel members who were English-speaking parents of children 0-17 years old in order to obtain a group consisting of 25% of parents with a child with a chronic illness. This asthma analysis was part of a larger survey of 3000 parents. The design was planned to include at least 25% of parents with children with chronic disease toward

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

appropriate sample sizes for studies of children with and without chronic disease. A recruitment message was emailed to potentially eligible individuals notifying them of a survey opportunity, describing the estimated survey length (15 minutes), and informing them that up to \$20 in e-Rewards credit could be obtained in return for participation. All participants provided informed consent. Parents who noted that their child had asthma were included in analyses.

Survey Measures

Demographic variables included age, gender identity, race, ethnicity, parental education level, household income, residential setting (rural, suburban, or urban), and geographic region (Midwest, Northeast, South, West) [19].

Asthma Action Plan Presence

Participants were asked if they had an AAP for their child. If they did, they were asked if the AAP was written, online, and available at their school ("yes" or "no"). Participants were then asked which type of provider gave the AAP to the parent. Response options included "pediatric provider," "family practice provider," "asthma specialist," or "other." Responses were mutually exclusive.

Parental Asthma Self-Efficacy

Parental asthma self-efficacy was assessed using the Bursch Parental Self-efficacy for Asthma scale [20]. This survey includes 13 questions such as "How sure are you that you would know which medications to use when your child is having a serious breathing problem?" and "How sure are you that you can help your child to prevent a serious breathing problem?" Participants provided responses using a 6-point Likert scale, from 1 = "Not at all sure" to 5 = "Completely sure" and 6 ="Does not apply," per the Bursch Parental Self-efficacy scale protocol. The total score ranged from 13 to 65, with a higher score indicating a higher level of self-efficacy.

Parent Perceptions of Helpfulness of the AAP for Daily Living Factors

Participants were asked to indicate their perceptions of the AAP with regard to its helpfulness for daily living factors by

indicating their agreement with a series of statements. These included a general statement, "the Asthma Action Plan has been helpful for managing my child's asthma," as well as statements for specific factors, such as "the Asthma Action Plan decreases the number of days that I miss work due to my child's asthma," "the Asthma Action Plan decreases the days that my child misses school due to asthma," "the Asthma Action Plan action Plan is helpful for when my child is at school," and "the Asthma Action Plan is helpful when my child is with another caregiver." Responses used a 5-point Likert scale, which ranged from 1 = "Strongly disagree" to 5 = "Strongly agree."

Analysis

Descriptive analyses were summarized in terms of means and standard deviations or proportions. For the helpfulness of daily living factors, results were combined to report on the proportion who agreed or strongly agreed and summarized in terms of frequencies and percentages. A 2-sample t test was used to compare self-efficacy for asthma and parental-perceptions-of-helpfulness scores between subjects with an AAP versus subjects without an AAP. An analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was conducted to adjust for comparison by parents' age, gender, education, household income, and provider type. All reported P values were 2-sided, and P < .05was used to define statistical significance. Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS software (version 9.4; SAS Institute).

Results

Participants

A total of 704 parents reported having a child with asthma and completed the survey. Participants had a mean age of 37.5 (SD 10.9) years; 82.1% (578/704) were women and 17.9% (126/704) were men; 65% (458/704) had a college degree. The majority of participants (429/704, 61%) had an income below the national median (<\$75,000), and 68.2% (480/704) lived in suburban or urban settings. Table 1 displays demographic data.



Table 1. Demographic data of the parent participants (n=704).

Pa	ticipant characteristics	Values, n (%)		
Ge	nder			
	Male	122 (17.4)		
	Female	575 (82.1)		
Ra	ce			
	White	546 (77.5)		
	Hispanic	111 (15.9)		
	Black	80 (11.4)		
	Asian	21 (2.9)		
	American Indian	15 (2.1)		
	Native Hawaiian	7 (1.0)		
	Multiracial	24 (3.4)		
Ed	ucation			
	No college degree	238 (34)		
	College degree	464 (65)		
Ho	usehold income			
	<\$75,000	431 (61)		
	>\$75,000	272 (39)		
Re	sidential setting			
	Rural	223 (31.9)		
	Suburban	291 (41.6)		
	Urban	186 (26.6)		
Ge	ographic region			
	Midwest	163 (23.8)		
	Northeast	135 (19.7)		
	South	264 (38.5)		
	West	124 (18.1)		

Asthma Action Plan Presence

Most participants (564/704, 80%) reported that they had an AAP for their child. AAPs were available to 65% (367/564) of participants in written form and 51% (288/564) online. Most participants (474/564, 84%) reported that the AAP was available at school.

Association of AAP with Parental Asthma Self-Efficacy

Parental asthma self-efficacy was significantly higher for parents with an AAP (mean 57.7, SD 8.6) compared to parents who did not have an AAP (mean 55.1, SD 9.9, P<.001). After adjusting for parents' age, education, household income, gender, and provider type, the adjusted mean for parents with an AAP was 58.3 (95% CI 52.2-64.4) versus 54.8 (95% CI 48.7-60.9) for parents without an AAP (p=0.0005).

Helpfulness of the AAP for Daily Living Factors

Among the 564 parents who had an AAP, 82% (462/564) agreed or strongly agreed with the general statement, "the Asthma Action Plan has been helpful in managing my child's asthma." Most parents agreed or strongly agreed that having an AAP was helpful for individual daily living factors, including the management of asthma (446/544, 82%), decreased parental missed workdays (367/544, 68%), decreased child missed school days (396/542, 73%), and for times when the child is at school (422/541, 78%), with other caregivers (434/543, 80%), doing normal activities (421/540, 78%), and leading a normal life (437/540, 81%). Table 2 shows the participant ratings of the helpfulness of the AAP.

Table 2.	Participant	ratings of	the helpfulness	of Asthma	Action Plans	(AAPs)
----------	-------------	------------	-----------------	-----------	--------------	--------

Asthma management factors	N	Mean agreement rating ^a of AAP helpfulness, Mean (SD)
Management of the child's asthma	544	4.2 (0.9)
Comfort with managing the child's asthma	541	4.2 (0.9)
Decrease in parental missed workdays	544	3.9 (1.1)
School asthma management	541	4.1 (1.0)
Decrease in the child's missed school days	542	4.0 (1.0)
Caregiver asthma management	543	4.2 (0.9)
Ability for the child to have normal activity	540	4.1 (1.0)
Ability for the child to lead a normal life	540	4.1 (0.3)

^aA Likert scale was used, ranging from 1="Strong disagree" to 5="Strong agree."

Helpfulness of the AAP and Provider Type, Household Income, and Education

The proportion of participants who reported agreement/strong agreement for the question "The Asthma Action Plan has been helpful in managing my child's asthma" were compared between provider type (pediatric provider, family practice provider, and asthma specialist), household income (\geq \$75,000 versus <\$75,000), and education level (college education versus no college education). There was no significant difference (*P*=.53) observed in the rates of participants who reported agreement/strong agreement for the question "The Asthma Action Plan has been helpful in managing my child's asthma" when comparing between provider types: 83% (583/704) for a pediatric provider, 79% (556/704) for a family practice provider,

and 84% (594/705) for an asthma specialist. For participants with a household income of \geq \$75,000, the rate of participants who agreed/strongly agreed with the question "The Asthma Action Plan has been helpful in managing my child's asthma" was 85% (598/704), as compared to 80% (563/704) for participants with a household income of <\$75,000 (*P*=.20). Furthermore, there was no significant difference (*P*=.48) detected in the rates of participants who reported agreement/strong agreement with the question "The Asthma Action Plan has been helpful in managing my child's asthma" between participants with a college degree or above (570/704, 81%) versus participants without a college degree (591/704, 84%). Table 3 displays the logistic regression analysis results for the prediction of whether the AAP is helpful at managing asthma.

Table 3. Results of the logistic regression analysis for predicting whether an Asthma Action Plan (AAP) is helpful for managing asthma.

Participant variable		Rate of respondents who answered "agree" or "strongly agree" to the question "AAP is helpful at managing my child's asthma," % (95% CI)	Odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Provi	ider who gave AAP			.53
F	Pediatrics	82.8 (78.2%-87.3%)	0.89 (0.46-1.69)	.72
F	Family practice	79.0 (72.4%-85.6%)	0.69 (0.34-1.41)	.30
A	Asthma specialist	84.4 (76.5%-92.2%)	Reference	
Hous	ehold income			
2	≥ \$75,000	84.5 (79.1%-90.0%)	1.41 (0.83-2.40)	.20
<	< \$75,000	79.6 (74.2%-85.0%)	Reference	
Pare	nt education			
C	College degree	80.7 (74.5%-86.8%)	0.82 (0.48-1.42)	.48
N	No college degree	83.5 (78.6%-88.3%)	Reference	

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study sought to understand associations of pediatric AAP provision with parental self-efficacy for asthma, perceptions of the AAP's helpfulness for managing daily living factors for families, and whether the helpfulness of the AAP differed based on the type of provider who gave the plan. We found that parents who had an AAP had higher parental self-efficacy than parents

RenderX

who did not have an AAP, and that most parents viewed the AAP as helpful for many daily living factors. Further, there was no difference in parental perceptions of AAP helpfulness, whether provided by a PCP or asthma specialist.

Our first finding was that parents who had AAPs had slightly, but statistically significant, higher asthma parental self-efficacy than parents who did not have AAPs. Our finding is consistent with a recent study suggesting that AAP use is associated with improved confidence for parents caring for children with asthma

[11]. The asthma self-efficacy questions included measures for comfortableness for, understanding of, and feelings of the ability to care for a child's asthma symptoms, which can contribute to confidence. Taken together, these studies support that AAPs can lead to (in the very least, small) improvements in parents' abilities to care for their children with asthma. Of note, all our participants, both with and without an AAP, had high mean scores, so there may have been a ceiling effect. As the surveyed parent population participated in the study via the Qualtrics format, they had access to, and the ability to use, the internet, and they may have used the internet to access supportive health information. Thus, they may have higher self-efficacy than parents who are not able to use or do not have internet access. Further investigation of AAP experiences among parents with limits on internet use or access is warranted.

Our second finding was that most parents perceived the AAP to help daily living factors, regardless of income and education. Parents perceived that AAP use helped decrease their time missed from work and their child's time missed from school due to asthma. This contrasts with a finding in which parents who used AAPs did not report a significant decrease of child symptom-free days compared to parents who did not use an AAP; those authors considered that perhaps AAP users have more symptoms and, thus, worse outcomes [8]. However, another study found that AAP use was associated with reduced school absence days due to asthma [11]. Our findings of parents' perceptions of a decreased need for work absences and school absences is consistent with this; it may indicate that AAP use decreased the severity of symptoms in at least some children, such that time away from work and school were reduced. Overall, this analysis of parent perceptions of AAP helpfulness for daily living factors supports that parents perceive benefits from having a plan and a sense of control for managing their child's asthma. Areas that involve an easing of child care, such as management during school time and time with caregivers, may be important to maintaining regular daily activities. AAPs may be useful for others beyond parents, helping teachers, school personnel, and other caregivers during school, daycare, and after-school activity hours. Further studies directly assessing asthma control and AAP use by parents, school personnel, and caregivers would be valuable.

Finally, a high percentage of parents reported the AAP to be helpful regardless of the provider who distributed the plan. These findings were consistent even with adjustments for income and education. This result implies that an AAP can be a beneficial tool for children with asthma when distributed through an asthma specialist or primary care provider for the management of childhood asthma.

Limitations

A limitation of this analysis is that the survey was conducted online and for English-speaking participants. Therefore, families who do not have internet access or are non-English-speaking are not represented. Future studies are needed for these populations. Survey response options for providers who gave AAPs were mutually exclusive; there may have been parents who received an AAP both from their PCP and specialist. If parents received an AAP from both sources, this may have influenced their self-efficacy and feeling of helpfulness. Further, participants were asked about their perceptions of the AAP's helpfulness rather than the number of actual missed school days and workdays; measures of helpfulness were not validated, and asthma control and AAP use were not measured with validated instruments. However, parents' perceptions of not missing work and school may still offer a relevant measure of a sense of disruption due to asthma. Future studies could consider examining whether parents with higher parental self-efficacy and increased confidence in their child's asthma care are associated with a decrease in measured office visits and sick days off school. Direct, quantified measurement of asthma control and AAP by specified users could also be evaluated.

Conclusions

Overall, this study supports the use of AAPs as a valuable tool associated with numerous practical daily benefits that improve the management of pediatric asthma. Further, these benefits were consistently reported across parents who received AAPs from different provider types and who had varied socioeconomic backgrounds. These findings reinforce the recommendations of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American Academy of Pediatrics to provide AAPs to children. AAPs should be offered as standard asthma care for children by all providers. Technology advancements can be used to further improve asthma control for children, such as online or app-based AAPs. The development and promotion of easily sharable AAPs with school nurses, coaches, and caregivers through laptops and cell phones would help eliminate barriers for families and children with asthma from fully participating in and enjoying school, family, and childhood activities.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Ali Diaz-Caballero and Christine Richards at the Department of Pediatrics at the University of Wisconsin-Madison.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

1. Asthma Fact sheets 2017 May 20 2020 cited 2020;. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/</u> <u>fact-sheets/detail/asthma</u> [accessed 2020-10-13]

- 2. Viswanathan M, Lux L, Lohr KN, Evans TS, Rojas Smith L, Woodell C, et al. Translating Evidence-Based Interventions Into Practice. Health Promotion Practice 2016 Dec 21;12(6_suppl_1):9S-19S. [doi: <u>10.1177/1524839911412594</u>]
- 3. Moorman J. National surveillance of asthma 2001., National surveillance of asthma: United States-2001 2001;2012(35):1-58.
- Bloom B, Jones LI, Freeman G. Summary health statistics for U.S. children: National Health Interview Survey, 2012. Vital Health Stat 10 2013 Dec(258):1-81 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>24784481</u>]
- 5. American Lung Association. Asthma Trends and Burden. https://www.lung.org/research/trends-in-lung-disease/asthma-trends-brief/trends-and-burden 2020.
- 6. Ducharme FM, Bhogal SK. The role of written action plans in childhood asthma. Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2008;8(2):177-188. [doi: 10.1097/aci.0b013e3282f7cd58]
- Bateman ED, Hurd SS, Barnes PJ, Bousquet J, Drazen JM, FitzGerald M, et al. Global strategy for asthma management and prevention: GINA executive summary. European Respiratory Journal 2008 Jan 01;31(1):143-178. [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00138707]
- 8. Sunshine J, Song L, Krieger J. Written action plan use in inner-city children: is it independently associated with improved asthma outcomes? 2011 Sep;107(3):207-213. [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2011.04.015]
- 9. Wong SS, Nathan AM, de Bruyne J, Zaki R, Mohd Tahir SZ. Does a Written Asthma Action Plan Reduce Unscheduled Doctor Visits in Children? Indian J Pediatr 2012 Jul 15;80(7):590-595. [doi: 10.1007/s12098-012-0839-0]
- Khan R, Maharaj R, Seerattan N, Babwah F. Effectiveness of Personalized Written Asthma Action Plans in the Management of Children with Partly Controlled Asthma in Trinidad: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 2013 Jul 31;60(1):17-26. [doi: 10.1093/tropej/fmt063]
- 11. Lakupoch K. The effectiveness of newly developed written asthma action plan in improvement of asthma outcome in children. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 2017. [doi: 10.12932/ap-010217-0002]
- 12. Shechter J, Roy A, Naureckas S, Estabrook C, Mohanty N. Variables Associated with Emergency Department Utilization by Pediatric Patients with Asthma in a Federally Qualified Health Center. J Community Health 2019 Mar 23;44(5):948-953. [doi: 10.1007/s10900-019-00653-6]
- Ducharme FM, Zemek RL, Chalut D, McGillivray D, Noya FJD, Resendes S, et al. Written Action Plan in Pediatric Emergency Room Improves Asthma Prescribing, Adherence, and Control. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2011 Jan 15;183(2):195-203. [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201001-0115oc]
- 14. Harrison P, Duggan W, Preddy J, Moline A. Asthmatic children from lower income families are less likely to own an individualised asthma action plan. J Paediatr Child Health 2019 Jun 26;56(2):194-200. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.14553]
- 15. Cardet JC, Louisias M, King TS, Castro M, Codispoti CD, Dunn R, et al. Income is an independent risk factor for worse asthma outcomes. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 2018 Feb;141(2):754-760.e3. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.04.036]
- 16. Williams MV, Baker DW, Honig EG, Lee TM, Nowlan A. Inadequate Literacy Is a Barrier to Asthma Knowledge and Self-Care. Chest 1998 Oct;114(4):1008-1015. [doi: 10.1378/chest.114.4.1008]
- 17. DeWalt DA, Dilling MH, Rosenthal MS, Pignone MP. Low Parental Literacy Is Associated With Worse Asthma Care Measures in Children. Ambulatory Pediatrics 2007 Jan;7(1):25-31. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ambp.2006.10.001</u>]
- 18. Heen, MSJ J. A Comparison of different online sample approaches for generating national samples. Lieberman, and TD. Miethe. A Comparison of different online sample approaches for generating national samples 2014.
- 19. Engebreth, B. US Household Income. http://www.deptofnumbers.com/income/us. 2017. URL: <u>http://www.deptofnumbers.com/income/us</u> [accessed 2020-10-31]
- Bursch B, Schwankovsky L, Gilbert J, Zeiger R. Construction and Validation of Four Childhood Asthma Self-Management Scales: Parent Barriers, Child and Parent Self-Efficacy, and Parent Belief in Treatment Efficacy. Journal of Asthma 2009 Jul 02;36(1):115-128. [doi: 10.3109/02770909909065155]

Abbreviations

AAP: Asthma Action Plan **PCP:** primary care provider

Edited by C Ahlers-Schmidt; submitted 29.06.20; peer-reviewed by L Hynes, M Antoniou; comments to author 19.08.20; revised version received 08.10.20; accepted 22.10.20; published 09.11.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Pletta KH, Kerr BR, Eickhoff JC, Allen GS, Jain SR, Moreno MA Pediatric Asthma Action Plans: National Cross-Sectional Online Survey of Parents' Perceptions JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21863 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21863</u> doi:<u>10.2196/21863</u> PMID:<u>33164900</u>



©Karen H Pletta, Bradley R Kerr, Jens C Eickhoff, Gail S Allen, Sanjeev R Jain, Megan A Moreno. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 09.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

An Interactive Smartphone App, Nenne Navi, for Improving Children's Sleep: Pilot Usability Study

Arika Yoshizaki¹, MA; Ikuko Mohri^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Tomoka Yamamoto¹, MA; Ai Shirota³, PhD; Shiho Okada¹, MA; Emi Murata¹, PhD; Kyoko Hoshino⁴, MD; Kumi Kato-Nishimura^{2,5}, MD, PhD; Shigeyuki Matsuzawa¹, MD, PhD; Takafumi Kato³, DDS, PhD; Masako Taniike^{1,2}, MD, PhD

⁵Ota Memorial Sleep Center, Kawasaki, Kanagawa, Japan

Corresponding Author:

Ikuko Mohri, MD, PhD United Graduate School of Child Development Osaka University 2-2-D5 Yamadaoka Suita, Osaka, 567-0876 Japan Phone: 81 6 6879 3863 Fax: 81 6 6879 3863 Email: <u>ikuko@kokoro.med.osaka-u.ac.jp</u>

Abstract

Background: Healthy sleep is important not only for physical health but also for brain development in children. Several reports have revealed that Japanese adults and children have later bedtimes and shorter sleep durations compared with those in other countries, possibly because of Japanese culture and lifestyles. Therefore, an intervention tool that is suitable to the Japanese sociocultural environment is urgently needed to improve children's sleep problems in their early years.

Objective: To provide appropriate sleep health literacy to caregivers and change their parenting behavior, we developed a smartphone app that allows reciprocal interaction between caregivers and pediatric sleep experts. This paper describes a preliminary study to examine the app's basic design and functions and to establish its acceptability and usability in a small sample.

Methods: A total of 10 caregivers and 10 infants (aged 18-28 months; 4/10, 40% boys) living in Japan participated in the study. At the start of the trial, the e-learning content regarding sleep health literacy was delivered via a smartphone. Thereafter, caregivers manually inputted recorded data about their own and their infant's sleep habits for 8 consecutive days per month for 2 months. After pediatric sleep experts retrieved this information from the Osaka University server, they specified the problems and provided multiple sleep habit improvement suggestions to caregivers. Caregivers then selected one of the feasible pieces of advice to practice and reported their child's sleep-related behaviors via the app. Actigraphy was used to monitor children's sleep behaviors objectively. The concordance between the information provided by caregivers and the actigraphy data was assessed. The acceptability and usability of the app were evaluated using self-report questionnaires completed by caregivers; qualitative feedback was obtained via semistructured interviews after the intervention.

Results: There was no significant difference between the information provided by the caregivers and the actigraphy data for bedtimes and wake-up times (P=.13 to P=.97). However, there was a difference between the actigraphy data and the caregivers' reports of nighttime sleep duration and nighttime awakenings (P<.001 each), similar to prior findings. User feedback showed that 6 and 5 of the 10 caregivers rated the app easy to understand and easy to continue to use, respectively. Additionally, 6 of the 10 caregivers rated the app's operativity as satisfactory. Although this was a short-term trial, children's sleep habits, caregivers' sleep health consciousness, and parenting behaviors improved to some extent.

Conclusions: The present findings suggest that the app can easily be used and is acceptable by Japanese caregivers. Given the user feedback, the app has the potential to improve children's sleep habits by sending individualized advice that fits families' backgrounds and home lives. Further studies are needed to confirm the efficacy of the app and facilitate social implementation.

¹Molecular Research Center for Children's Mental Development, United Graduate School of Child Development, Osaka University, Suita, Osaka, Japan

²United Graduate School of Child Development, Osaka University, Suita, Osaka, Japan

³Department of Oral Physiology, Graduate School of Dentistry, Osaka University, Suita, Osaka, Japan

⁴Segawa Memorial Neurological Clinic for Children, Chiyoda, Tokyo, Japan

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e22102) doi:10.2196/22102

KEYWORDS

infant sleep; app; mHealth; behavioral intervention; sleep health, PDCA cycle

Introduction

Sleep Problems in Childhood

Sleep problems in children is one of the most common caregiver concerns, regardless of cultural origins [1-3]. Previous research has shown that a good quantity of high-quality sleep during early childhood is crucial for later development [4]. For example, shorter sleep duration during the first 3 years of life has been identified as a risk factor for hyperactivity and lower cognitive performance in later childhood [5,6]. Additionally, children's sleep problems are associated with parental stress [7] and maternal depressive symptoms [8].

Sleep specialists, including pediatricians and psychologists, have long been responsible for educating caregivers of infants with sleep problems, such as sleep-onset insomnia and night waking, in pediatric sleep clinics.

Sleep Problems in Families and Impact on Children's Sleep

In a previous study comparing sleep habits and problems in 16 countries [9], Japanese children were found to have the shortest sleep times. More recently, using a validated questionnaire developed for screening children's sleep problems and the sleep-related lifestyles in Japanese families [10-12], researchers found that the mean sleep time in Japanese preschoolers was as short as 9.7 hours. Interestingly, 55% of caregivers whose children slept less than 9 hours believed that their children had good sleep [13]. Furthermore, children's sleep time was found to be strongly affected by their families' lifestyles, including watching television near bedtime and being out after 8:00 PM.

Several reports revealed that Japanese adults also have shorter sleep times [14,15], probably due to Japanese cultural notions that value hard work over sleep. These findings highlight both children's shorter sleep times and caregivers' low awareness of the issues involved. Given the known consequences of insufficient sleep for children and parents, there is an urgent need to develop an intervention for improving caregivers' lifestyles in order to positively impact children's sleep habits in the early years while also considering sociocultural factors, such as increasing dual-income and nuclear families, and Japanese sleep-related cultural factors, such as co-sleeping habits.

In Japan, parenting guidance for caregivers has traditionally been provided on a face-to-face basis during children's regular checkups at regional public health centers [16]. However, sleep problems are often overlooked at these checkups because of a paucity of sleep specialists. Even if these problems are addressed, it is difficult for caregivers to visit public health centers for repeated consultations and follow-up, as double-income families now account for the majority of the Japanese population. It is difficult to deliver appropriate sleep hygiene information to caregivers because of their lack of

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22102/
```

adequate sleep literacy, poor motivation to make behavioral changes, or difficulty identifying improvements that they can apply in their own homes.

Sadeh et al [2] suggested a transactional model that emphasizes the ongoing bidirectional links between parenting and infant sleep, such as parental, infant, intrinsic, and sociocultural factors, among others. Besides the changes in Japanese families' lifestyles, children's sleep environments have also been worsening considerably in recent years. Smartphones are very popular, and infants' exposure to such media is a major issue affecting sleep hygiene [17,18].

Some studies have examined online or mobile health education or interventions for infants' sleep [19-21]. However, interactive interventions could be more effective, given the variance in families' socioeconomic status, bedroom environments, and caregiver beliefs regarding sleep. Sviggum et al [22] showed that early, customized guidance for caregivers that focuses on revealing and acknowledging their experiences of sleep problems in their children is essential in helping caregivers cope with such challenges. Recent findings suggest that parental factors both predict and are predicted by behavioral interventions for infant sleep problems [23]. To improve children's sleep habits effectively, individualized care is desirable, such as care supported by an interactive plan-do-check-act (PDCA) cycle for caregivers.

Against this background, we developed a smartphone app that facilitates interaction between caregivers and pediatric sleep experts to improve infants' sleep habits in Japan. Using the app, caregivers reported their children's sleep and sleep-related schedules for 8 consecutive days in a month, and the sleep team provided various types of advice after analyzing the children's sleep habits. Educational content was also delivered via smartphone. Recent reviews have highlighted the need for further evaluation of mobile health interventions in children [24,25].

The aim of the present study was to describe the app's developmental design; check the system's operation, acceptability, and usability; and determine the overall potential of the app to change infants' sleep habits or parental cognition and behavior via user feedback in a small trial.

A Priori Hypotheses

We hypothesize that the app would work well and with little discomfort for Japanese caregivers, since its concept and design required minimal effort. We also predict that the caregivers' input information regarding sleep-related habits will be reliable compared with the data from the actigraph.

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

This study was approved by the Osaka University Clinical Research Review Committee (CRB5180007) on January 23, 2017, prior to the start of the study. All study procedures were conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written consent was obtained from all participants on an individual basis. All participants received a coupon for books valued at US \$20 upon completion of the trial.

Participants

The study targeted only caregivers with infants aged 18 to 36 months, as the app was designed for this age group. A total of 10 participants and 10 infants were recruited from the university community over a 2-week period using a bulletin board in the nursery. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) fluency in Japanese, (2) possession of a mobile device (iOS or Android) with internet access, and (3) willingness to install the Nenne Navi app on the mobile device. Supported devices included the iPhone, iPad, and iPod touch with iOS 8.0 or later and Android devices with Android OS 4.3 or later.

The ratio of iOS (all iPhones) to Android devices was 6:4. The mean age of the infants was 22.6 months (range 18-28 months;

4/10, 40% boys). The mean age of the caregivers (8 mothers and 2 fathers) was 36.1 years (range 31-41 years), and the ratio of family care (children at home) to professional childcare was 2:8. A total of 7 caregivers worked at Osaka University (4 medical professionals, 1 medical research assistant, and 2 office workers), and 1 caregiver was a graduate student. One caregiver was a homemaker. One caregiver (medical professional) was from another Asian country, had lived in Japan for several years, and had sufficient Japanese communication skills for participation.

Measures

App: Nenne Navi

The app, Nenne Navi, was developed by pediatric sleep experts at the pediatric sleep clinic at Osaka University Hospital. The system design was outsourced to a domestic information technology company. The Japanese word *nenne* means "sleep." The e-learning content regarding sleep health education was delivered via narrated animations. The narrated animation lasted for 3 minutes and included the following: (1) tips for better ways to spend time during the day to ensure good sleep and (2) tips on how to spend time in the evening and nighttime to ensure good sleep. In the animation, a professional character describes the daily activities of 2 boys (a good sleeper, Taro, and a poor sleeper, Jiro; Figure 1).

Figure 1. Nenne Navi screenshots, including the page used to enter lifestyle information and provide users with messages and advice from pediatric sleep experts and the page for data input.



The caregivers' input information regarding sleep-related habits included waking time, nap time, bedtime, screen time, outdoor activity time, bathing time, dinner time, how time was spent before retiring to bed, and sleep latency (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for details) for their infants for 8 consecutive days in a month (Figure 1). They also inputted information about their own sleep and wake times, as well as their stress levels and feelings about parental care. Participants continued the PDCA cycle shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Plan-do-check-act cycle to improve children's sleep habits via the interactive app Nenne Navi. Univ: university.



All the input data were sent to the Osaka University virtual server hosting service developed at Cybermedia Center, Osaka University, which is equipped with network security measures such as access restrictions, encrypted communication, monitoring of unauthorized access, and backup to withstand cyber attacks. The system configuration was as follows: (1) Ubuntu 18+ Apache 2.7, (2) PHP 7, and (3) PostgreSQL 9.

The registration number of the trademark (606435 Nenne Navi, Osaka University; Taniike M, Mohri I, Aoi Y, Yoshizaki A) was registered on July 20, 2018. The patent application number was 2017-202916.

Strategy for Intervention: Individualized Small Steps, Autonomous Choice of Behavioral Experiment, and Encouragement to Support Motivation

The pediatric sleep expert team consisted of 3 pediatricians and 2 psychologists who analyzed the information entered by the caregivers and sent various types of practical advice to each caregiver. The app was designed to set personalized goals in accordance with individual users' home lives; for example, the app sent personalized advice such as "Try to have dinner before 8:00 PM" instead of "Try to have dinner earlier" to deliver specific and optimal goals to caregivers in small steps, based on behavioral therapy concepts. The app did not intend to instruct caregivers to obey the advice. Rather, it was designed to send various pieces of advice (suggestions), from which caregivers chose one suggestion. We expected that if caregivers chose one suggestion, thinking they would try it for a while without much effort, they would try the app and follow the advice willingly.

Advice categories, which comprised approximately 60 suggestions, included how to spend time before going to bed,

RenderX

how to spend time in the bedroom, establishing a regular sleep rhythm, increasing daytime activity, fixing nap schedules, and fixing dinner and bathing times. Participants were asked to indicate, using the app, which suggestion they chose to try so that the pediatric sleep experts could check their degree of compliance with the advice (Figure 2). At the same time, a feedback message was sent to each caregiver (approximately 200-300 letters in Japanese) through the app. We intended to provide positive feedback on the improvement of lifestyle habits compared with the previous month, empowering caregivers and supporting their motivation.

Actigraphy

To collect objective data regarding children's sleep and check the accuracy of the data input by caregivers, the children's activity levels were measured using an actigraph (MTB-220; Acos Co Ltd) during the data input period (from days 1 to 8 in the first and second months). The actigraph used was modified to be connectable to the smartphone via Bluetooth instead of FeliCa. This actigraph is a small and light (weight of 9 g) coin-shaped device (external dimensions of 27 mm in diameter and 9.8 mm in depth, including clip) that records amount of physical activity by using an internal 3-axis accelerometer. Every 0.125 seconds, the number of times that acceleration exceeds a reference value is summed, and the value is recorded as the activity value over 2-minute bins. The activity intensity is calculated from the activity value as a value from 0 to 63 (64 levels). An activity intensity of 0 means the participant did not move, and larger values indicate higher levels of activity. The caregivers could attach the actigraph to their infant's clothes with the clip on the back of the device. Caregivers were asked to press the relevant button on the app to send the actigraph data to the Osaka University server.

Questionnaires and Interviews

After the trial, a questionnaire was administered and semistructured interviews regarding the usability and operability of the app were conducted individually to collect information for system improvement. The questionnaire consisted of the following items: ease of continuation of the app, easiness of understanding the app, changes in the child's sleep habits after using the app, changes in the child's daytime behavior after using the app, and changes in the easiness of putting the child to sleep after using the app. Responses were provided using 5-point scales (5=satisfied, 4=moderately satisfied, 3=neutral, 2=moderately dissatisfied, 1=dissatisfied) and free-text comments. In the interviews, participants were also asked what motivated their continued use, their impressions of the e-learning content and advice, and how the app system could be improved. To check the feasibility of the app, we asked participants to report that if they had followed the advice.

Data Analysis

Actigraphy data were sent to the Osaka University server described above and was read by the program Sleep Sign Act (Kissei Comtec Co). After the extraction of CSV data, we determined the wake and sleep times manually using the method described by Nakasaki et al [26]. Briefly, a five-dimensional linear model was hypothesized that uses activity intensity at an evaluation epoch, as well as at two epochs before and two epochs after (total of 10 minutes). Using the activity intensity at 4 minutes and 2 minutes before the evaluation epoch, at the evaluation epoch, and at 2 minutes and 4 minutes after the epoch ($x_{-2}, x_{-1}, x, x_{+1}, x_{+2}$), each with a weighting coefficient ($\alpha_{-2}, \alpha_{-1}, \alpha, \alpha_{+1}, \alpha_{+2}$), we can determine *z*:

 $z = (0.24669)x_{-2} + (0.2562)x_{-1} + (0.408771)x + (0.155046)x_{+1} + (0.136728)x_{+2}$

Here, $z \ge 1$ denotes wake and z < 1 denotes sleep.

To compare the number of caregiver-reported nighttime awakenings (defined as those lasting for more than roughly 5 minutes) in the app with those reported by the actigraphy device, we extracted the number of events of wakefulness for 6 minutes or more from the actigraphy data. For the data entered via the app, nighttime sleep was calculated by subtracting sleep latency from the duration of time from bedtime to wake-up. For each value relating to sleep habits and sleep-related lifestyles, the mean, standard deviation, and basic statistics of each participant were calculated for both the app data and the actigraphy data.

To check the reliability of the data caregivers entered via the app, a 2-tailed paired-samples t test was used to compare the differences between the actigraphy data and the data entered by caregivers via the app to record children's sleep habits (ie, bedtime, wake-up time, nighttime sleep, and waking at night). The differences between sleep time duration, mean bedtime, and night awakenings for the first and second months were also assessed (using 2-tailed paired t tests). Analyses of these sleep habits were conducted separately for weekdays and weekends, since there could be differences in lifestyle, considering most of the caregivers worked on weekdays. To calculate the correlation value between data entered by the caregivers and actigraphy data for sleep-wake rhythms, the Pearson correlation coefficient was used. Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics (v 26.0; IBM Corp).

Results

Safety in Use

All 10 caregivers completed the 2-month trial use of the app. No major problems, such as connection errors, were reported. One caregiver discontinued the use of the actigraph because of their fear of accidental ingestion. One participant was excluded from the data analysis for sleep habits because the child was using medication that could have affected sleep during the second month of the study period.

Usability of Nenne Navi

The results of the questionnaire regarding usability and operability showed that only 1 out of 10 caregivers rated the app as unsatisfactory; 6 and 5 of the 10 caregivers rated it as easy to understand and easy to continue to use, respectively. In addition, 6 out of 10 caregivers indicated that they were satisfied in the reactivity of the app's operation (Figure 3). One caregiver who was unsatisfied with the responsiveness of the app's operation reported that the screen froze repeatedly; however, the caregiver was able to continue to use the app throughout the trial after restarting the smartphone once. The results of the interviews with caregivers informed functional improvements, such as the addition of a button to save data temporarily.



Figure 3. Participants' feedback regarding the usability of the app.



Feasibility of Interactive Advice

The advice sent to caregivers by the pediatric sleep expert team consisted of various types of advice concerning children's daily lives, including increasing daytime activities, controlling media exposure, changing nap schedules, and changing ways to spend time at bedtime. When providing advice to caregivers, the expert team presented goals as clearly as possible (eg, "When your child has a nap, try to wake them before 3:00 PM"). The rate at which caregivers attempted to follow advice (ie, were able to perform advised behavior) was 76.8%.

Reliability of the Data Entered on the App

To check the reliability of the data entered by the caregivers, we analyzed the difference between entered data and actigraphy data. As shown in Table 1, there was no significant difference between the data entered by the caregivers and the actigraphy data for bedtime and wake-up time (Figures 4 and 5). However, although the caregivers correctly reported the bedtime of their children (R^2 =0.676; r=0.822; P<.001), the reported wake-up time was less precise than the bedtime (R^2 =0.195; r=0.442; P<.001). In addition, the duration of children's sleep was found to be significantly shorter in the actigraphy data (approximately 2 hours on average), as the number of night awakenings was significantly higher than that reported by caregivers.

Table 1.	Children's slee	p habits accord	ing to actigra	ohy and entered	data by caregivers.
Table 1.	Cilliaren 5 siee	p nuono uccora	mg to actigita	piny and entered	a data by caregivers.

1	0 01	5 5 6			
Measure and month	Participants, n	Actigraphy, mean (SD)	Entered, mean (SD)	t test (df)	P value
Bedtime					
1	10	9:05 PM (0:37)	8:58 PM (0:36)	1.62 (9)	.14
2	9	9:07 PM (0:42)	8:58 PM (0:43)	1.70 (8)	.13
Wake-up time					
1	10	6:30 AM (0:19)	6:29 AM (0:44)	0.08 (9)	.94
2	9	6:35 AM (0:31)	6:35 AM (0:38)	-0.04 (8)	.97
Nighttime sleep (min)					
1	10	432 (68.61)	548 (72.88)	-7.06 (9)	<.001
2	9	433 (62.80)	556 (78.48)	-8.20 (8)	<.001
Nighttime awakenings (times)					
1	10	9.02 (2.78)	0.41 (0.67)	10.13 (9)	<.001
2	9	8.83 (2.73)	0.47 (0.55)	9.56 (8)	<.001



Figure 4. Scatter diagram for the entered data and actigraphy data for bedtimes.



Figure 5. Scatter diagram for the entered data and actigraphy data for wake-up times.



Caregivers' Perceptions of the Effectiveness of the App

According to the results of the interviews conducted after the trial, positive changes were reported in all cases, and no caregivers reported worse sleep habits or childcare burden with the use of the app. The caregivers' reports regarding the efficacy of the app are shown in Table 2. Overall, the interactive function of the app was evaluated positively by caregivers, as shown in

statements such as "It was great that I could receive advice that fit my infant and family." In addition to the positive feedback, infants' sleep time was longer on weekends (paired *t* test, P=.02), and bathing was finished ahead of schedule on the weekends, but the result was not significant (Multimedia Appendix 2).

A mother reported that her infant showed greater interest in various aspects of the natural world, such as birds and grass.

Table 2. Caregivers' perceived effectiveness of the app.

Yoshizaki et al

Perceived effectiveness of the app	Example of feedback by caregivers	Participants, n ^a
Changes in caregivers' awareness of time	- Began to think "Let my child go to bed earlier"	7
	- Began to be more aware of time in daily life	
Changes in parenting behavior related to sleep	- Limiting nighttime media use	8
habits	- Creating positive bedtime routines preferred by their infants (eg, reading picture books)	
	- Attempting to let their infant go to bed earlier	
Improvement of infants' sleep-related behavior	- "My child started going to bed more willingly and earlier than before"	4
	- "My child began to fall asleep sooner after going to bed"	
Cessation of nighttime awakenings	- "My child has fewer nighttime awakenings than before"	2
Perceived reduction of childcare burden	- "It became more comfortable to take care of my infant since they sleep better than before"	4
	- "When my infant's sleep got better, their behavior got better"	

^aOut of 10 participants.

Discussion

Main Findings

This pilot trial showed that there were no major problems with the system and the usability and acceptability of the app. High user dropout rates is one of the main issues of remote sleep interventions delivered via the internet and apps; results of one review study indicated a mean dropout rate as high as 78% for 5- to 6-week interventions [27]. These data showed that no participant dropped out during the 2 months of the trial. This might have occurred because (1) we included a convenience sample from a university community; (2) the study involved a reciprocal intervention, the encouragement of caregivers, and motivated users; (3) adequate sleep literacy via e-learning content contributed to motivating the caregivers; and (4) the app could have a better design in comparison with the previously tested ones. To better understand these issues, long-term interventions should be implemented in community-based trials.

Findings from the analysis of the reliability of the data entered by the caregivers were compatible with previous reports documenting the comparison of the sleep time recorded by actigraphy and the time recorded by parents [28-30].

The comparison between the actigraphy and the entered data showed that the latter were sufficiently reliable, particularly with respect to bedtime, which is also consistent with previous findings [28]. Regarding the discrepancies in the sleep duration and number of nighttime awakenings between the actigraphy data and the entered data, previous findings suggest that actigraphy could overestimate the number of awakenings depending on levels of body movement, especially in children whose body movement increases during sleep [30].

These results confirm that the modified actigraphy in this study resulted in findings similar to those of previous studies. Although it was not realistic that all the children wore the actigraphy device during the intervention, it is still a valuable data source for cases in which the caregiver report was judged to be unreliable. On the other hand, caregivers' evaluations of the children's bedtime and wake-up time were reliable in this

RenderX

study, as all the participants were educated and motivated. Taking this into account, the observed improvements in sleep habits, even in this short trial, are likely to reflect reality. The trial use of this app demonstrated the possible effectiveness of reciprocal interaction between caregivers and pediatric sleep experts. Furthermore, it could be effective in alleviating parenting burden among Japanese caregivers. As children's bedtime refusal increases childcare burden for their caregivers, reductions in bedtime refusal are thought to alleviate the psychological and physical burden of caregiving on family life [31].

Although shorter sleep durations in Japanese children are well documented [9], few studies have focused on means to increase caregivers' awareness and change parenting behavior effectively in Japan [32,33]. In addition, the factors that inhibit improvements in sleep literacy and changes in parenting behavior remain unclear. Although evidence demonstrating the importance of children's sleep has accumulated, little attention has been paid to the circumstances and problems faced by caregivers who experience difficulty in improving their children's sleep habits. Mindell et al [34] showed that lifestyle and living circumstances were related to sleep-related conditions in children. Allen et al [35] conceptualized the elements of adequate and good sleep in children in a review of studies examining sleep regularity, bedtime routines, quietness and noise comfort, lights, media use, activities, and family conflict. Fukumizu et al [36] suggested that co-sleeping habits and bedtime irregularity were associated with sleep-related nighttime crying in Japanese children. Changes in childcare practices that improve children's sleep problems sometimes require considerable effort from caregivers, as many factors are associated with healthy sleep in children. For busy caregivers or caregivers who do not receive help with or appropriate advice regarding childcare, it is necessary to not only achieve appropriate levels of sleep literacy but also receive positive feedback regarding their efforts to change their behavior to improve children's sleep habits. In this respect, the interactivity of the app functioned effectively.

From the rate at which caregivers attempted to follow advice (76.8%), we assume that sending advice to caregivers via the app was considered feasible.

The app could have contributed to changes in caregivers' awareness of sleep and their parenting behavior using the PDCA cycle, throughout which they attempted to follow one piece of advice that they themselves chose. These changes in their awareness and parenting behavior could have led to changes in sleep habits and lifestyle (Multimedia Appendix 2). Although this was a short-term trial in which advice was provided only once, bathing time was earlier on weekends with the use of the app. As most of the caregivers who participated in this study worked on weekdays, changing their lifestyles on weekends may have been easier, as they had only one chance to get advice. Further research will include long-term trials that determine the effectiveness of this app in sleep habits on both weekdays and weekends. Future research may also measure caregivers' awareness and behaviors that contribute to infants' healthy sleep before and after the intervention.

Study Strengths

This study shows that the app was successfully designed for reciprocal interaction between caregivers and pediatric sleep experts, which allowed all caregivers to receive personalized and appropriate information and advice. Additionally, the app allowed pediatricians to check caregivers' intervention adherence.

Limitations

This study was subject to some limitations. For example, as participation was voluntary and the participants were recruited from a university community, participants could have been healthier or possessed higher education levels relative to the general population, which could have led to selection bias. In addition, this study was conducted as a single-arm pilot study with a small sample because it aimed to check the usability and acceptability of the app. Furthermore, the intervention was implemented over a short period and it did not focus on the background factors of each family. Further studies should be conducted in consideration of these limitations.

Conclusion

The results of this pilot study showed that the app developed for the intervention was acceptable and usable for Japanese caregivers. In addition, even though this was a preliminary trial, the app showed the scope of changes in children's sleep habits, caregivers' sleep health consciousness, and caregivers' parenting behaviors in Japan. According to the users' feedback, the caregivers welcomed the opportunity to obtain individualized advice that fit the backgrounds and home lives of each family based on the data participants entered via the app. This interactive system is the core feature of Nenne Navi.

Further studies need to be conducted to examine the app's efficacy in improving sleep habits and its effects on follow-up maintenance in order to ensure social implementation of the app. Therefore, we will examine whether users maintain their motivation and high levels of compliance in long-term interventions in subsequent community-based trials. This app is expected to be used in sleep medicine and parental education in Japan and contribute to the expansion of sleep health literacy in families with infants. Moreover, the app could ultimately contribute to improvements in sleep habits and healthy development in Japanese children. Further research with a neuroscientific basis should be done to confirm whether this early sleep intervention leads to desirable brain development.

Acknowledgments

The study was supported by the Japan Science and Technology Agency, the Osaka University Center of Innovation program (JPMJCE1310), the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (grant No. 16H03273 to MT and 17K17855 to AY), and the commissioned research by National Institute of Information and Communications Technology, Japan. We would like to thank all the families who participated in the research, the Osaka University on-site nursery school, Dr Yoko Aoi (Department of Oral Physiology, Osaka University Graduate School of Dentistry), Dr Masaya Tachibana, Dr Ryuzo Hanaie (United Graduate School of Child Development, Osaka University), Dr Ikuko Hirata (Department of Developmental Medicine (Pediatrics), Osaka University), and Professor Yuko Ohno (Department of Health Science, Osaka University).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 List of items for data entry via the app. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 24 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e22102_app1.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 (A) Mean bedtime, (B) mean sleep duration, (C) mean time of finishing infant bathing. [DOCX File, 79 KB - pediatrics v3i2e22102 app2.docx]

References

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22102/

- 1. Sadeh A, Anders TF. Infant sleep problems: Origins, assessment, interventions. Infant Ment Health J 1993;14(1):17-34. [doi: <u>10.1002/1097-0355(199321)14:1<17::aid-imhj2280140103>3.0.co;2-q</u>]
- 2. Sadeh A, Tikotzky L, Scher A. Parenting and infant sleep. Sleep Med Rev 2010 Apr;14(2):89-96. [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2009.05.003] [Medline: 19631566]
- Sadeh A, Mindell J, Rivera L. "My child has a sleep problem": a cross-cultural comparison of parental definitions. Sleep Med 2011 May;12(5):478-482. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sleep.2010.10.008</u>] [Medline: <u>21478050</u>]
- 4. Urrila AS, Artiges E, Massicotte J, Miranda R, Vulser H, Bézivin-Frere P, IMAGEN Consortium. Sleep habits, academic performance, and the adolescent brain structure. Sci Rep 2017 Feb 09;7:41678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep41678] [Medline: 28181512]
- Touchette E, Petit D, Séguin JR, Boivin M, Tremblay RE, Montplaisir JY. Associations between sleep duration patterns and behavioral/cognitive functioning at school entry. Sleep 2007 Sep;30(9):1213-1219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/sleep/30.9.1213] [Medline: 17910393]
- 6. Touchette E, Côté SM, Petit D, Liu X, Boivin M, Falissard B, et al. Short nighttime sleep-duration and hyperactivity trajectories in early childhood. Pediatrics 2009 Nov;124(5):e985-e993. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-2005] [Medline: 19841107]
- Byars KC, Yeomans-Maldonado G, Noll JG. Parental functioning and pediatric sleep disturbance: an examination of factors associated with parenting stress in children clinically referred for evaluation of insomnia. Sleep Med 2011 Oct;12(9):898-905. [doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2011.05.002] [Medline: 21940206]
- Lam P, Hiscock H, Wake M. Outcomes of infant sleep problems: a longitudinal study of sleep, behavior, and maternal well-being. Pediatrics 2003 Mar;111(3):e203-e207. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.111.3.e203</u>] [Medline: <u>12612272</u>]
- Mindell JA, Sadeh A, Wiegand B, How TH, Goh DYT. Cross-cultural differences in infant and toddler sleep. Sleep Med 2010 Mar;11(3):274-280. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sleep.2009.04.012</u>] [Medline: <u>20138578</u>]
- Shimizu S, Kato-Nishimura K, Mohri I, Kagitani-Shimono K, Tachibana M, Ohno Y, et al. Psychometric properties and population-based score distributions of the Japanese Sleep Questionnaire for Preschoolers. Sleep Med 2014 Apr;15(4):451-458. [doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2013.05.020] [Medline: 24636002]
- Kuwada A, Mohri I, Asano R, Matsuzawa S, Kato-Nishimura K, Hirata I, et al. Japanese Sleep Questionnaire for Elementary Schoolers (JSQ-ES): validation and population-based score distribution. Sleep Med 2018 Jan;41:69-77. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sleep.2017.07.025</u>] [Medline: <u>29425580</u>]
- Momoda M, Yoshizaki A, Nagatani F, Nishimura T, Taniike M, Mohri I. Impaired executive function in junior high school students with excess sleep time. Vulnerable Child Youth Stud 2019 Feb 22;14(2):116-128. [doi: 10.1080/17450128.2019.1580404]
- 13. Mitsuhoshi T, Kato K, Shimizu S. The factors which have an influence on a sleep habits and the sleep of Japanese infants [in Japanese]. Pediatr Health Res 2012;71:808-816.
- 14. OECD gender data portal. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.oecd.org/gender/data/OECD_1564_TUSupdatePortal.xlsx</u> [accessed 2020-11-03]
- Walch OJ, Cochran A, Forger DB. A global quantification of "normal" sleep schedules using smartphone data. Sci Adv 2016 May;2(5):e1501705 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1501705] [Medline: 27386531]
- 16. Tsuzuki C, Murashima S. [Activities of public health nurses during routine health check-ups for 18-month-old children in Japan]. Nihon Koshu Eisei Zasshi 2009 Feb;56(2):111-120. [Medline: <u>19351015</u>]
- 17. Garrison MM, Liekweg K, Christakis DA. Media use and child sleep: the impact of content, timing, and environment. Pediatrics 2011 Jul;128(1):29-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-3304] [Medline: 21708803]
- Chindamo S, Buja A, DeBattisti E, Terraneo A, Marini E, Gomez Perez LJ, et al. Sleep and new media usage in toddlers. Eur J Pediatr 2019 Apr;178(4):483-490. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00431-019-03318-7</u>] [Medline: <u>30652219</u>]
- Mindell JA, Du Mond CE, Sadeh A, Telofski LS, Kulkarni N, Gunn E. Efficacy of an internet-based intervention for infant and toddler sleep disturbances. Sleep 2011 Apr 01;34(4):451-458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/sleep/34.4.451] [Medline: 21461323]
- 20. Mindell JA, Du Mond CE, Sadeh A, Telofski LS, Kulkarni N, Gunn E. Long-term Efficacy of an Internet-based Intervention for Infant and Toddler Sleep Disturbances: One Year Follow-Up. J Clin Sleep Med 2011 Oct 15;07(05):507-511. [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.1320]
- 21. Leichman ES, Gould RA, Williamson AA, Walters RM, Mindell JA. Effectiveness of an mHealth Intervention for Infant Sleep Disturbances. Behav Ther 2020 Jul;51(4):548-558. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.beth.2019.12.011</u>] [Medline: <u>32586429</u>]
- 22. Sviggum G, Sollesnes R, Langeland E. Parents' experiences with sleep problems in children aged 1-3 years: a qualitative study from a health promotion perspective. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being 2018 Dec;13(1):1527605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17482631.2018.1527605] [Medline: 30289029]
- Kahn M, Livne-Karp E, Juda-Hanael M, Omer H, Tikotzky L, Anders TF, et al. Behavioral interventions for infant sleep problems: the role of parental cry tolerance and sleep-related cognitions. J Clin Sleep Med 2020 Aug 15;16(8):1275-1283. [doi: <u>10.5664/jcsm.8488</u>] [Medline: <u>32279703</u>]
- 24. Radovic A, Badawy SM. Technology Use for Adolescent Health and Wellness. Pediatrics 2020 May;145(Suppl 2):S186-S194. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2019-2056G</u>] [Medline: <u>32358210</u>]

- 25. Weekly T, Walker N, Beck J, Akers S, Weaver M. A Review of Apps for Calming, Relaxation, and Mindfulness Interventions for Pediatric Palliative Care Patients. Children (Basel) 2018 Jan 26;5(2):16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children5020016] [Medline: 29373515]
- 26. Nakazaki K, Kitamura S, Motomura Y, Hida A, Kamei Y, Miura N, et al. Validity of an algorithm for determining sleep/wake states using a new actigraph. J Physiol Anthropol 2014 Oct 04;33:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1880-6805-33-31] [Medline: 25282356]
- 27. Takeshima N, Watanabe N. Computerized/Internet psychotherapy for mental disorder: qualitative review. Jpn J Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2014;26(3):245-254 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11258/jjghp.26.245]
- 28. Werner H, Molinari L, Guyer C, Jenni OG. Agreement rates between actigraphy, diary, and questionnaire for children's sleep patterns. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2008 Apr;162(4):350-358. [doi: 10.1001/archpedi.162.4.350] [Medline: 18391144]
- 29. Sadeh A. Assessment of intervention for infant night waking: Parental reports and activity-based home monitoring. J Consult Clin Psychol 1994 Feb;62(1):63-68. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.62.1.63]
- 30. Hall WA, Liva S, Moynihan M, Saunders R. A comparison of actigraphy and sleep diaries for infants' sleep behavior. Front Psychiatry 2015;6:19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2015.00019] [Medline: 25729371]
- Mindell JA, Kuhn B, Lewin DS, Meltzer LJ, Sadeh A, American Academy of Sleep Medicine. Behavioral treatment of bedtime problems and night wakings in infants and young children. Sleep 2006 Oct;29(10):1263-1276. [Medline: <u>17068979</u>]
- 32. Adachi Y, Sato C, Nishino N, Ohryoji F, Hayama J, Yamagami T. A brief parental education for shaping sleep habits in 4-month-old infants. Clin Med Res 2009 Sep;7(3):85-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3121/cmr.2009.814] [Medline: 19251583]
- Furutani M, Yamao M, Tanaka H. Importance of the sleep education for parents on delayed bedtime infant [in Japanese]. Pediatr Health Res 2008;67(3):504-512 [FREE Full text]
- Mindell JA, Meltzer LJ, Carskadon MA, Chervin RD. Developmental aspects of sleep hygiene: findings from the 2004 National Sleep Foundation Sleep in America Poll. Sleep Med 2009 Aug;10(7):771-779. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.sleep.2008.07.016</u>] [Medline: <u>19285450</u>]
- 35. Allen SL, Howlett MD, Coulombe JA, Corkum PV. ABCs of SLEEPING: A review of the evidence behind pediatric sleep practice recommendations. Sleep Med Rev 2016 Oct;29:1-14. [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.08.006] [Medline: 26551999]
- 36. Fukumizu M. Sleep-Related Nighttime Crying (Yonaki) in Japan: A Community-Based Study. Pediatrics 2005 Jan 01;115(1):217-224. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2004-0815c]

Abbreviations

PDCA: plan-do-check-act

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 03.07.20; peer-reviewed by D Saleh, S Badawy; comments to author 24.07.20; revised version received 29.09.20; accepted 27.10.20; published 01.12.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Yoshizaki A, Mohri I, Yamamoto T, Shirota A, Okada S, Murata E, Hoshino K, Kato-Nishimura K, Matsuzawa S, Kato T, Taniike M An Interactive Smartphone App, Nenne Navi, for Improving Children's Sleep: Pilot Usability Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e22102 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e22102/</u> doi:10.2196/22102 PMID:<u>33122163</u>

©Arika Yoshizaki, Ikuko Mohri, Tomoka Yamamoto, Ai Shirota, Shiho Okada, Emi Murata, Kyoko Hoshino, Kumi Kato-Nishimura, Shigeyuki Matsuzawa, Takafumi Kato, Masako Taniike. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.12.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Development of a Web-Based Resource for Parents of Young Children Newly Diagnosed With Autism: Participatory Research Design

Aspasia Stacey Rabba^{1,2}, MEdPsych, PhD; Cheryl Dissanayake^{1,2}, PhD; Josephine Barbaro^{1,2}, PhD

¹Olga Tennison Autism Research Centre, La Trobe University, Melbourne, Australia

²Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC), Brisbane, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Cheryl Dissanayake, PhD Olga Tennison Autism Research Centre La Trobe University Kingsbury Drive Melbourne Australia Phone: 61 3 9479 1162 Email: c.dissanayake@latrobe.edu.au

Abstract

Background: The internet provides an ideal avenue to share information, advice, and support regarding autism. However, many websites lack quality control and rarely provide a one-stop resource for families to access necessary, evidence-based information.

Objective: This study aims to use participatory action research (PAR) with end users (ie, parents) and clinicians to develop a web-based resource (Pathways Beyond Diagnosis) to improve timely access to quality, evidence-based information, and support for families after their child is diagnosed with autism.

Methods: The PAR approach involves 4 phases: (1) cooperative researcher-stakeholder planning, (2) cooperative researcher-stakeholder–based action, (3) stakeholder observation, and (4) cooperative researcher-stakeholder reflection. A total of 15 participants (parents, n=3; clinicians, n=9; and researchers, n=3) attended individual or group participatory design workshops. This was followed by the translation of knowledge and ideas generated during the workshops to produce mockups of webpages and content, rapid prototyping, and one-on-one consultations with end users to assess the usability of the website developed.

Results: A total of 3 participatory design workshops were held with the participants, each followed by a knowledge translation session. At the end of the PAR cycle, an alpha prototype of the website was built and a series of one-on-one end user consultation sessions were conducted. The PAR cycle revealed the importance of 6 key topic areas (understanding autism, accessing services, support, gaining funding, putting it all together, and looking into the future) associated with the time of diagnosis, which were incorporated into the beta version of the website.

Conclusions: The development of the Pathways Beyond Diagnosis website using PAR ensures that families have ready access to practical and evidence-based information following a young child's diagnosis. The website guides families to access relevant, reputable, and evidence-based information in addition to summarizing key challenges encountered after diagnosis (ie, grief, sharing the diagnosis) and the importance of self-care.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e15786) doi:10.2196/15786

KEYWORDS

autism; diagnosis; parents; support; co-design; eHealth

Introduction

RenderX

In the last 5 years, the proportion of users accessing the internet for health services or health research has increased two-fold from 22% in 2014 to 2015 to 46% in 2016 to 2017 [1]. For

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15786/
```

parents of children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD), the internet is the most frequently used approach to obtain information [2,3]. Unfortunately, the plethora of web-based information about ASD can be overwhelming and daunting for families [3]. Thus, knowing where to look and what to read is one of the greatest challenges in today's web-based world.

When parents receive their child's diagnosis of ASD, they are often left to navigate the world after the diagnosis on their own without much clarity on next steps. The receipt of a diagnosis often elicits strong emotional reactions from parents and can have detrimental effects on their stress, well-being, and quality of life [4-6]. As a result, it is important to ensure that families know where to turn for more information and support. Although the internet is the preferred medium for sourcing autism information, there are currently no guidelines for finding high-quality websites [7].

With ASD becoming increasingly prevalent, so is the amount of information available. In 1999, Charman [8] reported 104,950 results from a search of the term "autism," and in 2009, the search by Reichow et al [7] (2012) produced 19,900,000 results. After 7 years, (July 4, 2019, 11:38 AM AEST), our search of "autism" returned 176,000,000 results using the Google search engine. This substantial increase in web-based information mirrors the increased awareness and interest in ASD over the last two decades, which also coheres with its increased prevalence [9] over this time. Such an increase makes it even more challenging for individuals, especially parents, to sieve through and determine useful, accurate, and reliable information to guide their journey with their newly diagnosed child. Existing research demonstrates that parents prefer to access information that can be tailored to the child's and family's specific needs [10]. Furthermore, parents rely heavily on local sources of information and value easier access to internet sources that they trust, indicating the need to provide customizable (and locally relevant) web-based information [11,12].

The availability of web-based information and support can enable families with immediate and free access to important and appropriate knowledge and services to assist them. However, web-based information can also confuse families, primarily owing to the sheer volume of information. It is therefore essential that parents are guided toward high-quality and reputable websites. To make this easier for families, our aim was to develop a web-based resource that provides useful postdiagnostic information about ASD and to guide parents to the appropriate web-based websites or services that may benefit them and their child. To develop this resource, we undertook a collaborative approach together with parents and clinicians to identify the necessary support for families soon after their young child's diagnosis of ASD.

Previous studies [13-15] have identified that effective partnerships between researchers, service providers, and key stakeholders, in addition to encouraging individuals' participation in research, can increase the quality of investigations and findings. Furthermore, there is a growing demand for neurotypical researchers to engage with the autistic community to increase the meaningfulness, applicability, and sustainability of research by taking into consideration the ethics, values, and beliefs held by the community [15].

Incorporating knowledge from the autistic community within a participatory action research (PAR) framework can be transformative for participants and researchers. PAR is based on 3 overarching principles: (1) reflection, (2) data collection, and (3) action. A unique method used to develop interventions

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15786/
```

with the direct input of stakeholders, PAR uses a research strategy aimed at improving health and reducing health inequities by involving people who, in turn, take action to improve their own health [16,17]. PAR seeks to empower individuals who are most affected by the research outcome and involves the collaboration of researchers with the population of interest to solve a problem or develop an intervention [16]. A key element of this process involves collective, self-reflective inquiry for both researchers and participants to understand and improve on practices in which they participate and situations in which they are engaged. PAR is linked to action, which ideally leads to communities having increased control over their lives [17]. This reflects and echoes the overarching principle of inclusion highlighted by the Disability Rights Movement: "nothing about us without us" [18]. Thus, PAR promotes a partnership model that is fundamental to participants holding equal power in research teams and enables local knowledge to be used to achieve relevant, appropriate, and high-quality end goals [17].

Previous studies have effectively used PAR to develop a range of web-based resources, including electronic learning and health promotion materials, an asthma self-management app, an electronic Individual Care Plan for children with disabilities, and a mental health e-Clinic [19-22]. All studies shared similar features where reflection, data collection, and action were used to co-design and build these resources with important insights and expectations brought to the forefront by end-user involvement. This research reinforces the benefits of end-user involvement in the development of web-based resources.

The rationale behind the use of PAR in the development of web-based resources about autism may indicate that active engagement of end users can reduce the 17-year gap that is common in translational research [23]. This paper reports the developmental process of a web-based resource for parents of newly diagnosed children with ASD. The aim of this study was to use PAR with end users (ie, parents of children with autism) and clinicians together with our research team to co-design and build a website to improve timely access and provide better guidance to evidence-based high-quality autism information and resources following a diagnosis of ASD within the Australian context.

PAR

Participatory design methodologies, which were developed in the late 1960s and early 1970s, emphasize the importance of involving all stakeholders (including end users, developers, and researchers) in the design and development of resources to ensure that the end product meets everyone's needs. It also improves usability and increases the engagement of users [19,21,24] with the end product. In collaboration with study participants and a professional advisory group, PAR was identified as the most appropriate participatory design methodology for the development of a website for families of newly diagnosed children with ASD.

The development process was based on the following steps: planning, action, observation, reflection, and using the new learning to inform further action planning [25,26]. Although PAR shares similarities with traditional research (ie, design,

XSL•FO RenderX

implementation, and evaluations), it differs in that the stakeholders are integral to all parts of the research process. Participants' active role in the outcome sets PAR apart from traditional research methods where the participants tend to be more passive in their receipt of research outcomes [17]. A key component of PAR is flexibility; the observation and reflection steps promote cumulative learning, which enables modification to the outcome and encourages participant empowerment. Furthermore, PAR also enables participants to be realistic and specific about the practicality of the proposed intervention model.

Objective

Our overall objective was to develop a web-based information model that empowers parents by providing them with timely access to high-quality evidence-based information and support following the diagnosis of their child with ASD. Using an informational model to improve parental and family outcomes, parents can be better prepared and more confident as they tackle their new journey in raising their child with autism. Furthermore, providing families with one key website that redirects them to other relevant high-quality resources can help them easily navigate the plethora of autism-specific information available on the (often confusing) World Wide Web.

We used the theoretical foundation of self-efficacy, which has been demonstrated to predict and promote behavior change and improve health outcomes in a range of conditions (eg, diabetes mellitus) [27]. Self-efficacy refers to an individual's belief in their capabilities to organize and execute a course of action to produce given attainments [28]. Furthermore, the use of behavior change theory itself in intervention development has been associated with greater intervention effectiveness [27]. This, in combination with evidence-based content and strategies as well as key stakeholder input, serves to optimize individual and family outcomes.

In this study, data obtained from PAR informed the development of the abovementioned website for parents of young children newly diagnosed with ASD. Specifically, PAR was used to gather information about what parents need to know after receiving a child's diagnosis and how to best provide this information within a web-based format to enhance accessibility and usability. The aim was to establish a *self-contained* website that does not require regular input by a health care provider or other third party. This information model can provide an efficient and economic avenue for health and government bodies and allow families to gain timely and ready access to relevant information to support their child and family's well-being in the critical time after diagnosis.

Methods

Participants

The target population was recruited via convenience sampling through email invitation to autism industry partners and parents from a previous qualitative study [10]. As outlined in the PAR methodology, collaborative partnerships were formed between key stakeholders (ie, participants), including parents of children with autism, health professionals, and researchers. A total of 13 parents, who previously received their child's early diagnosis of ASD (<36 months), were invited to provide knowledge and feedback regarding postdiagnostic support. Two mothers and one father (3/17, 23%) agreed to participate. Their demographic details are presented in Table 1. A total of 17 senior health professionals in the autism field were invited to participate in an advisory group for the development of this resource (Table 2). From these health professionals, 53% (9/17) agreed to participate, comprising 3 pediatricians, 3 psychologists, 1 psychiatrist, 1 social worker, and 1 occupational therapist.

In partnership with autism researchers (n=3), the health professionals (n=9) and parents (n=3) comprised the overall participant sample of 15 individuals. As participants progressed through each PAR phase, some participant attrition was observed: Phase 1: n=15; Phase 2: n=10; Phase 3: n=9; and Phase 4: n=8, with an attrition rate of 46% from Phase 1 to 4. None of the participants received compensation for their contribution to this research.



Table 1. Parent participant profile.

Characteristics	Parent 1	Parent 2	Parent 3
Parenting role	Father	Mother	Mother
Age (years)	46	42	54
Marital status	Married	Married	Separated
Place of birth	Australia	Australia	Lebanon
Time elapsed since child's diagnosis (years)	1.5	1	7
Child's diagnosis	ASD ^a , LD ^b	ASD	AD ^c , ID ^d
Child's age at diagnosis (months)	17	31	22
Gender of the child	Male	Female	Male
Household income, Aus \$ (US \$)	>175,000 (127,015)	95,000-115,000 (68,951-83,467)	35,001-55,000 (25,404-39,919)

^aASD: autism spectrum disorder.

^bLD: language delay.

^cAD: autism disorder.

^dID: intellectual disability.

Table 2. Professional participant profile.

Professions	Sex	Years of experience in autism	Specific area of expertise
Pediatrician	Male	15	Early diagnosis, comorbidities, teaching
Pediatrician	Female	28	Prevalence, cause, diagnosis, prognosis, intervention, research
Pediatrician	Female	38	Diagnosis, intervention, research
Psychologist	Male	22	Research
Psychologist	Male	12	Diagnosis, intervention
Psychologist	Female	10	Diagnosis, intervention
Psychiatrist	Female	20	Diagnosis, intervention, research
Social worker	Female	15	Child development, intervention, family well-being
Occupational therapist	Female	20	Intervention, diagnosis
Researcher	Female	35	Research in early diagnosis, early intervention, social cognition, parental experience, employment
Researcher	Female	14	Research in early identification and diagnosis
Researcher	Female	11	Diagnosis, intervention, family well-being, mental health, parenting, research

Phase 1

The initial participatory design workshop (n=15) was held with parents of children with autism (n=3), health professionals who work with families affected by autism (n=9), and researchers in the field of autism (n=3). The majority of these participants were female (11/15, 73%).

Phase 2

RenderX

A total of 10 participants engaged in Phase 2, which consisted of parents (n=3), health professionals (n=4; 2 psychologists, 1 occupational therapist, and 1 pediatrician), and researchers (n=3), with the majority being female (80%).

Phase 3

A total of 9 participants remained involved in Phase 3, the observation phase, where a tentative website structure was developed (ie, alpha prototype). A group meeting of health professionals and researchers was then held (3 researchers, 2 psychologists, and 1 occupational therapist).

Phase 4

A total of 8 individuals participated in Phase 4 (one-on-one end user consultation sessions), who were predominantly female (7/8, 88%), comprising 2 mothers, 1 father, 1 psychologist, 1 occupational therapist, and 3 researchers.

Procedure

Ethics approval was obtained from the University Human Ethics Committee. The meetings or workshops were conducted either face-to-face or virtually at La Trobe University in Melbourne, Australia in a secure, private room to ensure confidentiality. Participants who engaged virtually were advised to remain in a quiet and confidential space for the duration of the meeting. Given the plethora of autism information available on the web, it was important that this resource be optimized within the current web-based arena to ensure easy accessibility by parents, given all other available websites. On the basis of the literature on search engine optimization, there are several key features distinguishing good versus poor website optimization: (1) use of key phrases, (2) consistent web theme, (3) organized content, (4) optimized links, (5) professional communicators (ie, practitioners or researchers), and (6) web-based promotion through various reputable sources [29,30]. A qualitative research design using the PAR cycle guided the development of an informational model for parents after diagnosis. Features of website optimization were encountered, reflected upon, and discussed throughout the phases of development.

The PAR cycle involves 4 major phases: (1) action planning, (2) taking action, (3) observation, and (4) reflection and evaluation. These phases are depicted within the PAR model in Figure 1 and have been adapted from previous research by Munns and colleagues [31]. In this study, Phases 1 to 3 included participatory design workshops, where participants attended individual and/or group meetings. This was followed by knowledge translation sessions where cooperative researcher-stakeholder ideas generated during workshops were used to produce mockups of webpages and content. Finally, in Phase 4, rapid prototyping of the end product occurred and one-on-one consultations with end users assessed and informed the usability of the website.

A total of 4 participatory design workshops, 4 knowledge translation sessions and 3 one-on-one end user consultations were conducted over a period of 6 months. Throughout Phases 1 to 3, health professionals predominantly chose to participate in group meetings, whereas parents preferred individual meetings with the lead author or researcher.

Figure 1. Model of participatory action research.



Action Planning (Phase 1)

A total of 4 participatory design workshops (1 group meeting for health professionals and 3 individual meetings for parents) were conducted as part of the *Action Planning* stage, each lasting 30 to 60 min. During Phase 1, researchers presented examples of current web-based information about autism, how it was

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15786/

being utilized by families, and where the gaps were regarding

postdiagnostic support. Through consultation and cooperative

researcher-stakeholder planning, ideas were generated for the

development of a postdiagnostic resource for families of newly

diagnosed children.

XSL•FO RenderX

Taking Action (Phase 2)

The knowledge and ideas generated in Phase 1 were translated into mockups of webpages. A total of 4 knowledge translation sessions (1 group meeting and 3 individual meetings) were conducted where structured presentations were given to stakeholders (health professionals and parents). Following the structured presentations, participants engaged in a guided discussion about what type of web-based resource would be beneficial and how it could be utilized to meet a family's needs after diagnosis. Following these guided discussions, participants were asked to respond to 2 open-ended questions or requests: "Please list any recommendations you have for the development and dissemination of this online resource for parents" and "Please list any barriers you foresee in the development and use of such a resource."

Observation (Phase 3)

Qualitative results were compiled for the observation phase (Phase 3) and presented to all participants, including parents, health professionals, and researchers. A final meeting was held with the health professionals and researchers where the key stakeholders collaborated to develop a tentative structure for a website utilizing evidence-based information. In addition, the 3 parents also participated in individual meetings, with the lead author providing recommendations and identifying foreseeable barriers to the development and usability of this resource. On the basis of these results and through collaboration with the researchers, a plan was formulated by all participants to guide the alpha build of the website. On observation, participants emphasized the need for adaptations to this, with specific content added to accommodate parents of newly diagnosed children (ie, various topics added: grief or loss, family support, and funding information).

Reflection and Evaluation (Phase 4)

Participants were provided with a hard and/or electronic copy of the beta version of the website for reflection and evaluation. Stakeholders were asked to reflect and evaluate the layout, contents, and utilization of the resource. One-on-one consultations were conducted with the 3 parents who also provided general written feedback detailing the pros and cons of the resource, together with suggestions for improvement. This participatory data collection strategy is described as beneficiary assessment (BA) and involves asking participants, specifically those who will be the intended beneficiaries, about their use of a resource, satisfaction with that resource, and ideas for changes that might be needed [32]. The BA process enables researchers to gain insights from the beneficiaries to improve the quality of development of an intervention or resource.

Data Analysis

To address the specific research objective, an inductive approach to content analysis was adopted as an efficient process to categorize raw data and generate an information model. A moderator guide, including a series of questions, was used and revised during the research process [33] to guide discussion through each phase and development of the resource. Data from the participatory design workshops, knowledge translation sessions, and one-on-one consultations were collected. Examples of questions in the moderator guide are presented in Textbox 1. Prompts related to participant responses were used to guide the ensuing discussion.

Textbox 1. Examples of questions in the moderator guide.

- What gaps do you see in post-diagnostic support for families of children diagnosed with autism?
- What questions do you receive from parents immediately after diagnosing their child?
- In retrospect, what would have been most valuable to you after receiving your child's diagnosis?
- What barriers do you foresee in the development and use of a post-diagnostic resource?
- What do you consider essential information for families post diagnosis?
- How do you see this resource standing apart from what already exists on the web?

Thematic analysis [34] was used to interpret the qualitative data according to the following key themes: (1) website content, (2) user interface, (3) referral to existing resources, and (4) interaction of the website with stakeholders or end users. Data were thematically analyzed through categorization, clustering, and identification of the common subthemes that emerged through phases 1 to 4 [34-36]. Records of all information including meeting discussions, written feedback, and comments obtained in phases 1 to 4 were then grouped and interpreted by the lead author. Individual themes and related content were discussed by the researchers, rationale was given for grouping and interpretation of data, and differences in opinion were

discussed until consensus was reached. A codebook was developed following data collection to guide the thematic analysis. The codebook was referenced throughout the data analysis to maintain consistency. Mechanisms such as peer debriefings and member checks were used for credibility, along with an acknowledgment of known research limitations to ensure trustworthiness of the data [37]. Information to be contained within this resource was evaluated based on 5 guiding principles (Textbox 2), which were used to determine the inclusion or exclusion of any links and key information within the proposed website model.



Textbox 2. Guidelines used to determine website inclusion.

Standards for website inclusion:

- Peer-reviewed research literature (evidence based)
- Information developed by a tertiary institution •
- Information developed by an academic or clinical expert in the autism field •
- Details from a government organization
- Details from a leading not-for-profit autism organization •

Results

Iterative participatory design workshops, which formed the basis of the PAR cycle, were utilized for the co-design and building of this resource. The workshops revealed the importance of 8 key components that would be fundamental to the development of a user-friendly website:

- 1. A clear and succinct homepage.
- 2. An easy-to-read description of autism.

Figure 2. Component 1: Website Home Page.

3. Information about how to access services to help the child.

4. Various supports that are available and links to existing websites or resources.

5. A summary of funding avenues.

6. A snapshot of practical strategies to help with child behavior.

summary of how to make sense 7. of the Α information-"putting it all together."

8. A brief summary of information about the future.

These specific components (Figures 2-8) informed the development and the alpha build of the Pathways Beyond Diagnosis website. Each of these 8 components can be accessed directly, providing the parent or primary caregiver with the option to access the information most relevant to them and their family at the time. The entire site can also be accessed sequentially, if preferred.



Figure 3. Component 2: Understanding Autism page.



http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15786/

Figure 4. Component 3: Accessing Services to Help Your Child page.

STEP 2: Accessing Services to Help Your Child

It is important that you do as much as you can for your child, as early as you can. But if you're still trying to come to terms with the diagnosis, it can be very hard to think clearly about where and how to start. Be sure to take the time you and your family may need to understand ASD, and adjust to the diagnosis before jumping into action. Before you begin, it is important to recognise that working through the ASD services "maze" can be very overwhelming at times, and while you may be faced with many bumps in the road ahead, try to take these one at a time. You will get there.

The <u>Raising Children Network</u> website is a valuable resource for parents. The <u>'autism</u>' tab on this website provides information about ASD, behaviour, communicating and relationships, development, health and daily care, school, play and work, therapies and services, a service pathfinder, parent forums, and importantly an A-Z index of therapies and the evidence behind them. The 'Raising Children Network' Mobile App, <u>'Children with ASD & Disability</u> is a useful resource. The <u>Australian Advisory Board on Autism Spectrum Disorders</u> also provides detailed information about funding, research, and various guidelines to better understand autism and the supports available.

Another good resource to guide your understanding of intervention and assist in choosing appropriate therapies is the Therapy Connect' website.

- What help will my child need?
- Does my child require additional testing/assessments?

Figure 5. Component 4: Supporting You and Your Family page.

STEP 3: Supporting You and Your Family

The impact of an ASD diagnosis can take many shapes and forms. While you may be solely focused on taking the best possible care of your child at this stage, in order to do so, you need to also be taking care of yourself. There is no right way to cope, and each family will deal with receiving the diagnosis in their own unique way. However, each family will benefit from being informed about the type of help and support available to make the process that little bit easier.

- The impact of a diagnosis
- How will I adjust to my child's diagnosis? What is this feeling?
- How can I look after myself and my family?
- Support groups
- Respite Care Services

Figure 6. Component 5: Gaining Funding page.

STEP 4: Gaining Funding

Caring for a child with ASD can become expensive, particular once your child begins early intervention. However, to help with these costs you are entitled to all sorts of financial support from federal, state, and local governments. Below we have summarised the funding options available to you, including the Medicare rebates you may be eligible to claim, and we have noted the use of insurance to further subsidise costs of services for your child.

"There are many different sources of funding, and you may be eligible for all or many of them. You will need to apply for each type of funding individually. Unfortunately, there is no central funding body or point of access. Two years after my child's diagnosis I am still learning about what else is available. If unsure, don't be scared to ask."

- Father of a child with autism

- Federal funding
- Medicare
- Centrelink



Figure 7. Component 6: Putting it all Together page.



Figure 8. Component 7: Looking into the Future page.

STEP 6: Looking into the Future								
Recreational activities for my child								
Preschool education								
?	*	T A		CO	*			
STEP 1 Understanding Autism	STEP 2 Accessing services to help your child	STEP 3 Support	STEP 4 Gaining Funding	STEP 5 Putting it all Together	STEP 6 Looking into the Future	Resources		

Component 1: Website Home Page

In relation to the user interface of the homepage, parents and health professionals agreed that it should be easy to navigate without using "too much text." Thus, short and concise subheadings were used to direct individuals to the relevant content area. As most participants preferred icons instead of text, they were adopted as illustrated in Figure 2. Participants suggested the removal of a "contents style" page and lengthy instructions, opting instead to provide parents the opportunity to self-explore the website and navigate to the subtopics of their choice. Participants also proposed that "diagrams and tables" be used to describe ideas and summarize information instead of blocks of text to ease comprehension and reduce the common experience of parents "feeling overwhelmed" with information after diagnosis.

Component 2: Understanding Autism

Participants suggested the use of realistic and practical examples when describing characteristics of autism, allowing those who access the resource to easily make sense of the definitions. In addition, participants noted that some of the language describing autism was not user friendly, describing it as "autism-expert speak." Descriptions were therefore simplified using lay language to ensure clarity and comprehension, as participants emphasized that the reader, who is new to the autism world, "may not yet understand this" terminology, causing additional stress in trying to make sense of it.

Component 3: Accessing Services to Help Your Child

All participants reported that there is "so much information available online," the website should be focused on redirecting parents to the "best information" that already exists. In addition, they recommended ensuring that parents of young children are educated on "selecting an intervention that is right for them." Participants also stressed the importance of defining terminology and the careful use of language. Parents stated that "the term early intervention means absolutely nothing to someone outside the field, until they are familiar" and suggested that specific examples be given. They also suggested that the website note that "parents do not need to do all the interventions available to them," but instead they "can try various approaches to see what their child responds to and suits the family best."

Component 4: Finding Support

Finding support was centered on parental self-care, adjustment to diagnosis, access to support groups, where to get help, and how a parent can help their child in their everyday interactions. Initially, the section on *finding support* focused heavily on parent support and self-care. However, parents expressed that although it was important to include information about parental self-care, following a diagnosis, a parent's first focus is "What will help my child? How can I find support for them?" rather than on how to help themselves. Taking participant feedback into account, the section on *finding support* was restructured to include information for parents on how to support themselves, their family, *and* their child.

Component 5: Gaining Funding

Given the different sources of funding provided by various bodies, participants noted that families need to be made aware of these sources and their eligibility for them. It was also emphasized that the application process may be challenging as parents may have to apply for each type of funding individually; thus, the information provided within the website should highlight the specific funding and support available, with help regarding how parents access it.

Component 6: Putting It All Together

Participants emphasized the need for a component that brings all relevant information together. To move onto the next steps, families need to have the knowledge of how to assemble a team, stay organized, and advocate for their child. Although having a primary service provider or key worker as a central point of contact may be ideal, participants commented that this is unrealistic as it is often difficult to find the right person and one who also has the capacity to do this. Participants noted that it is much more likely that the "parents will be fulfilling this role." Furthermore, they stated that it is important to communicate this reality to parents of newly diagnosed children to prepare them for various tasks, such as organizing appointments with therapists and managing intervention schedules. To assist with this, participants suggested an example schedule be included within the website that families can utilize as a template, as this visual representation is helpful to "maintain focus."

Advocacy was also highlighted by participants as an important element of the postdiagnostic journey. Parents are in the best position to advocate for their child, but many never have had to take on this role in the past. As a parent of a newly diagnosed child, they are faced with the new reality of becoming an *autism advocate* overnight. Therefore, participants felt it was essential that the website provide families with guidance on how to become a successful and effective advocate.

Component 7: Looking into the Future

Finally, in relation to future-oriented activities (such as preschool, playgroups, and other recreational activities), participants suggested that autism-specific examples and resources be provided to families "because often parents aren't aware these services even exist." Participants also emphasized that parents should be made aware of "inclusion support," support that may help their child and family transition into intervention and other early childhood environments and further help them feel a sense of belonging in the chosen setting. Participants also expressed the importance of sharing the reality that there is inconsistency regarding support services, such that parental expectations can be managed, and emphasizing the need for their advocacy skills that will benefit them. For example, some families may receive inclusion support in some services (ie, preschool) but not in others (ie, child care). Participants were also warned from focusing too far into the future as this may hinder the parent's ability to focus on the present.

Discussion

Principal Findings

As stated previously, the aim of PAR is to develop interventions that take into account the ideas and perceptions of those directly affected by the circumstances [38]. Importantly, the PAR process emphasizes the involvement of all stakeholders (ie, parents, health professionals, researchers) and acknowledges the key roles they play in the development of the end product to help ensure that it meets everyone's needs, improves usability, and increases engagement of end users. This study specifically aimed to develop an information model that described the critical domains or topic areas that parents would benefit from following a child's diagnosis of ASD. Together, the key stakeholders (ie, parents, health professionals, researchers) identified the critical domains that should be addressed in this information model. Following participant feedback, a web-based resource was suggested as the preferred delivery mode of postdiagnostic information.

The Pathways Beyond Diagnosis website aims to provide a one-stop resource for families of newly diagnosed young children, including a summary of important postdiagnostic information: autism education, services and support, funding, and practical strategies. It will also redirect families to other useful and reputable websites already available on the web. On the basis of the existing literature and participant feedback, 6 components were identified as the most pertinent for families after diagnosis. Although the key factors are documented in the literature and available on various websites [39-41], there is no single website that addresses them in one place. Having access to a web-based resource, such as Pathways Beyond Diagnosis, provides families and clinicians with a unique navigation or information model that addresses many of the initial questions raised after a child's diagnosis of autism, either via the website itself or by redirecting individuals to other relevant sources.

As the internet continues to be the most frequently used method of accessing information and support by families of children with ASD, there is an increasing need for high-quality evidence-based websites [2,7]. By engaging with end users to drive the development of *Pathways Beyond Diagnosis*, we are addressing the needs of families and clinicians and engaging with the autistic community to increase the meaningfulness and applicability of the end product [15].

Strengths

A key strength of developing the *Pathways Beyond Diagnosis* website is that information was gained from key stakeholders for a range of perspectives. Importantly, the parent perspective was combined with that of relevant clinicians to inform development. Furthermore, this resource will be freely available on the web as well as be accessible as a printable PDF document. This means that it does not discriminate based on families' socioeconomic status or geographical location. Furthermore, it was intended as a one-stop resource such that families can promptly be redirected to appropriate websites rather than reinventing the wheel and repeating information that already exists elsewhere.

There is great value in the use of PAR methodology as it allows participants to provide in-depth descriptions of the issues raised by parents and health professionals when accessing web-based information about autism. In addition, participants also had the opportunity to provide realistic advice around the development of practical web-based resources to support parents. Furthermore, the funding and service pages are tailored to the geographical location but can easily be adapted to suit other areas, contexts, and cultures.

Limitations

Engaging a larger sample of parents whose child had previously been diagnosed with autism proved to be a significant challenge. As a result, the data collected were explored qualitatively and each participant's feedback was examined individually. It is important to note this as a limitation as additional data may have further informed program development and improvement. However, there is value in the lived experience that was communicated in the 3-parent descriptive responses. The lived experience gives credence to the useful and practical elements of the parent data. One parent revealed that their child was diagnosed 7 years before the study and, although the child was diagnosed early (<36 months), the time elapsed as diagnosis was significantly longer than the other 2 parents (12-18 months). Hence, this is a limitation whereby the information and knowledge shared by this parent about postdiagnostic support may differ from the other parents with more recent child diagnoses. However, on examination of this parent's data, this was not the case.

A further limitation includes the language barrier, as the website has not been translated into other languages, limiting the population it can benefit to those who only understand English. In future versions, consideration should be given to culturally and linguistically diverse populations to allow for greater equity in accessing such web-based resources. For example, provision for a translating option on the homepage. An evaluation of the website by parents who have used it following the diagnosis of their child will be an important next step to determine its usefulness, accessibility, and impact on parental well-being.

Although the web-based information platform may prove to be beneficial for many, it is important to note that the absence of a built-in blog or forum for parents to interact was identified as a limitation by participants. This is an important element to consider for future versions, particularly given the strength identified in social support as a moderator of stress in parents of children with autism and the benefits of *networked empowerment*, the term used to describe how parents find other parents and facilitate each other's access to resources and support [42,43]. When parents connect with other parents experiencing similar challenges, they discover new ways to promote advocacy, access support, and maintain their well-being. Furthermore, limited access to developers and researchers meant that data could only be analyzed by 1

researcher and then reviewed by a team of researchers. Although this approach allowed research insights to inform design and development, additional analysts would provide greater reliability in the findings. Future iterations of the website should aim to address some of these limitations by including a built-in blog that gives families the opportunity to share experiences, learn from each other, and access peer support. Including a team of developers and researchers from the outset to focus exclusively on data analytics may also strengthen future website development. Despite these limitations, given that this website development is pioneering work, it is important that the academic community understands the process behind its creation.

A good website should be an ever-changing platform. Websites offer the flexibility to update information to accommodate simultaneous changes in knowledge and services as they occur in the real world. With this in mind, limitations of this research should be viewed instead as new learning that will help enhance future iterations of the *Pathways to Diagnosis* website.

Conclusions

Our web-based information model is based robustly on a theoretical foundation of self-efficacy, which has been demonstrated to predict and promote behavior change and improve health outcomes in a range of conditions [27]. In addition, evidence-based content and strategies, together with stakeholder input and usability testing through PAR methodology, resulted in an optimally designed website to improve access to relevant information for parents of newly diagnosed children with ASD and complement health care delivery, particularly during the stressful time after diagnosis.

Consumers' increasing use of the internet for health information and ongoing revolutions in social media are strong indicators that consumers are primed to welcome a new era of technology where new knowledge is available at their fingertips in the comfort of their own home. However, the full potential of web-based interventions and information models is hindered by limited knowledge regarding their efficacy and effectiveness, high prevalence of usability errors, and high attrition rates [27]. We intend to address these limitations by assessing the efficacy and effectiveness of the Pathways Beyond Diagnosis website, identifying characteristics associated with website use and attrition, including whether it is helpful and easy to navigate, website optimization, and understanding the benefits or disadvantages associated with such a resource. A summative evaluation of the website will examine implementation through a usability study and evaluation surveys to determine the impact on family quality of life and parents' self-efficacy, empowerment, and improved knowledge following wide access to this resource. With appropriate information and resources, parents can work toward understanding the diagnosis, coping with their own emotions, and adapting positively to maximize personal psychological and family outcomes.



Acknowledgments

The first author received a scholarship from the Cooperative Research Centre for Living with Autism (Autism CRC) to undertake this research.

Authors' Contributions

Aspasia Stacey Rabba: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal Analysis, Writing - Original Draft. Cheryl Dissanayake: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - Review and Editing, Supervision. Josephine Barbaro: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing - Review and Editing, Supervision.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Household Use of Information Technology, Australia, 2016-17. Australian Bureau of Statistics, Australian Government. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/8146.0</u> [accessed 2020-08-12]
- 2. Chowdhury J. Content analysis of online autism specific sites. J Dev Disabil 2002;9(2):157-165.
- 3. Mackintosh VH, Myers BJ, Goin-Kochel RP. Sources of information and support used by parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. J Dev Disabil 2005;12(1):41-51 [FREE Full text]
- 4. McStay RL, Trembath D, Dissanayake C. Maternal stress and family quality of life in response to raising a child with autism: from preschool to adolescence. Res Dev Disabil 2014 Nov;35(11):3119-3130. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2014.07.043] [Medline: 25145805]
- McStay RL, Trembath D, Dissanayake C. Stress and family quality of life in parents of children with autism spectrum disorder: parent gender and the double ABCX model. J Autism Dev Disord 2014 Dec;44(12):3101-3118. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2178-7] [Medline: 24997633]
- 6. Banach M, Iudice J, Conway L, Couse LJ. Family support and empowerment: post autism diagnosis support group for parents. Soc Work Groups 2010 Jan 12;33(1):69-83. [doi: 10.1080/01609510903437383]
- 7. Reichow B, Halpern JI, Steinhoff TB, Letsinger N, Naples A, Volkmar FR. Characteristics and quality of autism websites. J Autism Dev Disord 2012 Jun;42(6):1263-1274. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1342-6] [Medline: 21822761]
- 8. Charman T. Autism resources and information on the internet or world wide web. Autism 2016 Jun 30;3(1):97-100. [doi: 10.1177/1362361399003001008]
- Baio J, Wiggins L, Christensen DL, Maenner MJ, Daniels J, Warren Z, et al. Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years - autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2014. MMWR Surveill Summ 2018 Apr 27;67(6):1-23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6706a1] [Medline: 29701730]
- 10. Rabba AS, Dissanayake C, Barbaro J. Parents' experiences of an early autism diagnosis: insights into their needs. Res Autism Spectr Disord 2019 Oct;66:101415. [doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2019.101415]
- 11. Gibson AN, Kaplan S, Vardell E. A survey of information source preferences of parents of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord 2017 Jul;47(7):2189-2204. [doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3127-z] [Medline: 28451948]
- 12. Khoo K, Bolt P, Babl FE, Jury S, Goldman RD. Health information seeking by parents in the internet age. J Paediatr Child Health 2008;44(7-8):419-423. [doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.2008.01322.x] [Medline: 18564080]
- 13. Cargo M, Mercer SL. The value and challenges of participatory research: strengthening its practice. Annu Rev Public Health 2008;29:325-350. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.091307.083824] [Medline: 18173388]
- 14. Bailey S, Boddy K, Briscoe S, Morris C. Involving disabled children and young people as partners in research: a systematic review. Child Care Health Dev 2015 Jul;41(4):505-514. [doi: <u>10.1111/cch.12197</u>] [Medline: <u>25323964</u>]
- 15. Pellicano E, Stears M. Bridging autism, science and society: moving toward an ethically informed approach to autism research. Autism Res 2011 Aug;4(4):271-282. [doi: 10.1002/aur.201] [Medline: 21567986]
- Ostmeyer K, Scarpa A. Examining school-based social skills program needs and barriers for students with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders using participatory action research. Psychol Schs 2012 Oct 5;49(10):932-941. [doi: 10.1002/pits.21646]
- 17. Baum F, MacDougall C, Smith D. Participatory action research. J Epidemiol Community Health 2006 Oct;60(10):854-857 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.028662] [Medline: 16973531]
- Leighty CA, Shapiro JP. No pity: people with disabilities forging a new civil rights movement. Michigan Law Rev 1994 May;92(6):1953. [doi: <u>10.2307/1289622</u>]
- Bjerkan J, Hedlund M, Hellesø R. Patients' contribution to the development of a web-based plan for integrated care a participatory design study. Inform Health Soc Care 2015 Mar;40(2):167-184. [doi: <u>10.3109/17538157.2014.907803</u>] [Medline: <u>24786524</u>]
- 20. Ospina-Pinillos L, Davenport TA, Ricci CS, Milton AC, Scott EM, Hickie IB. Developing a mental health eclinic to improve access to and quality of mental health care for young people: using participatory design as research methodologies. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 28;20(5):e188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9716] [Medline: 29807878]

- 21. Peters D, Davis S, Calvo RA, Sawyer SM, Smith L, Foster JM. Young people's preferences for an asthma self-management app highlight psychological needs: a participatory study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Apr 11;19(4):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6994] [Medline: 28400353]
- 22. Schober DJ, Sella AC, Fernandez C, Ferrel C, Yaroch AL. Participatory action research to develop nutrition education videos for child care providers. Health Promot Pract 2016 Jun 21;2(4):244-250. [doi: 10.1177/2373379915627669]
- 23. Morris ZS, Wooding S, Grant J. The answer is 17 years, what is the question: understanding time lags in translational research. J R Soc Med 2011 Dec;104(12):510-520 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1258/jrsm.2011.110180] [Medline: 22179294]
- 24. Rothgangel A, Braun S, Smeets R, Beurskens A. Design and development of a telerehabilitation platform for patients with phantom limb pain: a user-centered approach. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2017 Feb 15;4(1):e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/rehab.6761] [Medline: 28582249]
- 25. Hegney DG, Francis K. Action research: changing nursing practice. Nurs Stand 2015 Jun 3;29(40):36-41. [doi: 10.7748/ns.29.40.36.e8710] [Medline: 26036404]
- 26. McDowell T. Applying Critical Social Theories to Family Therapy Practice. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2015.
- 27. Yu CH, Parsons J, Mamdani M, Lebovic G, Shah BR, Bhattacharyya O, et al. Designing and evaluating a web-based self-management site for patients with type 2 diabetes--systematic website development and study protocol. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012 Jun 24;12:57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-57] [Medline: 22726578]
- 28. Bandura A. The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. J Soc Clin Psychol 1986 Sep;4(3):359-373. [doi: 10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359]
- 29. Killoran JB. How to use search engine optimization techniques to increase website visibility. IEEE Trans Profess Commun 2013 Mar;56(1):50-66. [doi: 10.1109/tpc.2012.2237255]
- 30. King A. Website Optimization. O'Reilly Media, Inc. 2008. URL: <u>https://www.oreilly.com/library/view/website-optimization/</u> 9780596515089/ [accessed 2020-08-19]
- Munns A, Toye C, Hegney D, Kickett M, Marriott R, Walker R. Peer-led Aboriginal parent support: program development for vulnerable populations with participatory action research. Contemp Nurse 2017 Oct;53(5):558-575. [doi: 10.1080/10376178.2017.1358649] [Medline: 28738761]
- 32. Mertens D. Research Methods in Education and Psychology: Integrating Diversity with Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches. Fourth Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2015.
- 33. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet 2001 Aug 11;358(9280):483-488. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6] [Medline: 11513933]
- 34. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Raspa M, Levis DM, Kish-Doto J, Wallace I, Rice C, Barger B, et al. Examining parents' experiences and information needs regarding early identification of developmental delays: qualitative research to inform a public health campaign. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2015 Oct;36(8):575-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/DBP.00000000000205] [Medline: <u>26414090</u>]
- 36. Thomas DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2016 Jun 30;27(2):237-246. [doi: <u>10.1177/1098214005283748</u>]
- 37. Polit DF, Beck CT. Essentials of Nursing Research: Appraising Evidence for Nursing Practice. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2010.
- Löfman P, Pelkonen M, Pietilä AM. Ethical issues in participatory action research. Scand J Caring Sci 2004 Sep;18(3):333-340. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1471-6712.2004.00277.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15355529</u>]
- Woodgate RL, Ateah C, Secco L. Living in a world of our own: the experience of parents who have a child with autism. Qual Health Res 2008 Aug;18(8):1075-1083. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732308320112</u>] [Medline: <u>18650563</u>]
- 40. Hennel S, Coates C, Symeonides C, Gulenc A, Smith L, Price AM, et al. Diagnosing autism: contemporaneous surveys of parent needs and paediatric practice. J Paediatr Child Health 2016 May;52(5):506-511. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.13157] [Medline: 27144642]
- 41. Wachtel K, Carter AS. Reaction to diagnosis and parenting styles among mothers of young children with ASDs. Autism 2008 Sep;12(5):575-594. [doi: 10.1177/1362361308094505] [Medline: 18805948]
- 42. Ammari T, Schoenebeck S. Networked Empowerment on Facebook Groups for Parents of Children with Special Needs. In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2015 Presented at: CHI'15; April 18-23, 2015; Seoul, Republic of Korea. [doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702324]
- 43. Dunn ME. Moderators of stress in parents of children with autism. Community Ment Health J 2001;37(1):39-52 [FREE Full text]

Abbreviations

ASD: autism spectrum disorder BA: beneficiary assessment PAR: participatory action research



Edited by G Rigney; submitted 12.01.20; peer-reviewed by C Smith, S Moodie, S Kirchner; comments to author 18.02.20; revised version received 27.06.20; accepted 20.07.20; published 30.09.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Rabba AS, Dissanayake C, Barbaro J Development of a Web-Based Resource for Parents of Young Children Newly Diagnosed With Autism: Participatory Research Design JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e15786 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e15786/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/15786</u> PMID:<u>32996890</u>

©Aspasia Stacey Rabba, Cheryl Dissanayake, Josephine Barbaro. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.09.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Availability and Quality of Web Resources for Parents of Children With Disability: Content Analysis and Usability Study

Anabel Buteau-Poulin¹, MSc; Camille Gosselin¹, MSc; Andréa Bergeron-Ouellet¹, MSc; Jocelyne Kiss², PhD; Marie-Ève Lamontagne¹, PhD; Désirée Maltais¹, PhD; Christiane Trottier³, PhD; Chantal Desmarais¹, PhD

¹Rehabilitation Department, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

²Music Department, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

³Physical Education Department, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author: Chantal Desmarais, PhD Rehabilitation Department Université Laval 2325 rue de l'Université Québec, QC, G1V 0A6 Canada Phone: 1 418 656 2131 ext 404632 Email: chantal.desmarais@rea.ulaval.ca

Abstract

Background: The internet is a valuable resource for parents of typical children, who are looking for information about their children's growth and development and how to boost them. However, for parents of children with special needs, especially for non–English-speaking parents, there are anecdotal reports stating that specific and accurate information is not available on the internet.

Objective: This study aims to describe the type of information available on the internet for French-speaking parents of children with disability as well as assess the quality of the information collected.

Methods: We carried out a search of the existing relevant websites targeted at parents of children with disability. We used a validated instrument to extract structural, textual, and visual characteristics of these websites and evaluate their usability.

Results: In all, 42 websites were analyzed; of these, the information had been validated by a trustworthy source in only 18 (43%) websites. Networking opportunities for parents were available in only 7 (17%) websites. Most websites provided information related to autism spectrum disorder (20/42, 42%) and learning disabilities (19/42, 45%), and only a few websites discussed other disability types such as behavorial disorders and developmental language disorders (4/42, 10% each). Community, social, and civic life (9/42, 22%); domestic life (12/42, 29%); and mobility (15/42, 36%) were the less frequently covered topics. With regard to the usability evaluation, 22 of the 42 (52%) websites received a global score <70%, whereas 20 (48%) scored \geq 70%

Conclusions: Although the internet is an infinite source of information, it is not necessarily actionable for parents of children with disability. Some information remains difficult to find online, and networking opportunities with other parents dealing with similar challenges are scarce.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19669) doi:10.2196/19669

KEYWORDS

disabled child; parents; health knowledge; internet-based intervention; validation study

Introduction

RenderX

Parents of children with disability, such as those with impairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions [1] (eg, autism spectrum disorder [ASD], cerebral palsy, and Down syndrome), have a greater need for support because of the additional responsibilities related to their child's care [2]

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19669/

than do parents of children with typical development [3-5]. The child's condition may considerably affect the parents' routines, priorities, and social network [6]. This may lead to increased stress levels [7] and emotional distress, partly due to insufficient social support [6,8]. Given these constraints, parents of children with disability tend to have greater needs for information and networking [9-11].

When parents receive the initial diagnosis of their child's disability, they may have difficulty assimilating all the information provided by professionals, especially because of the emotional upheaval they experience [12]. Moreover, they may encounter new challenges (eg, how to bathe a growing child with paraplegia, or how to educate a teenager with cognitive impairment about certain sexually inappropriate behaviors in public) any time, but professionals may not be available at all times to advise them. This is one of the primary reasons why these parents turn to the internet for information [9,10,13,14]. However, considering the individualized profile of each family of children with disability, the information available online does not necessarily meet all their specific needs [15,16].

Such parents also often seek emotional support from other parents who have had a similar experience [9,17]; they believe maintaining a good, supportive social network helps them find tangible solutions to emerging issues as well as receive significant emotional reassurance [18,19]. This sharing of information is important to help them relieve the stress and alleviate the feeling of burden that may be associated with their challenges [15,19-21]. Parents find such networking and interaction as important as finding relevant information on the internet [22]. Although the internet could conceivably offer an opportunity for resourceful networking, to our knowledge, no study has examined this dimension of the use of internet. Moreover, given that most of the information available on the internet is in English, parents who do not read English may not always be able to readily access relevant information.

Finally, little is known about the format and characteristics of existing internet pages that parents of children with disability access. Only 62% of parents pay attention to whether the health care information available on websites is reliable [23], and only half of them consider themselves to be able to accurately assess the quality of the information found online [24]. These findings suggest that parents could blindly use any information found on the internet and might, in the worst case, endanger their child or themselves. Given that safety of the child is important and considerable amounts of knowledge is readily available about the descriptive characteristics that enhance usability of websites [25], it thus appears timely to provide an in-depth portrait of such internet resources.

Therefore, in this study, we aimed to (1) identify existing websites aimed at providing information to parents of children with disability, (2) summarize the content of such websites, and (3) evaluate the quality of information they provide.

Methods

This study was conducted in a French-speaking region of Canada, within an integrated knowledge translation framework [26-28]. The study included an advisory committee comprising 2 parents (the knowledge holders) and 2 researchers (the emissaries who have the authority to disseminate this knowledge). The researchers delineated the research question and subsequently discussed the methodology as well as the interpretation of the results to ensure that the project fulfilled the parents' initial needs (ie, to evaluate the quality of websites

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19669/
```

they use to access information). The question was brought forward by the parents on the advisory committee (ie, parents of children with disability) who believed that the content on the internet could be improved to address their information needs more adequately.

Accordingly, in the first step of this study, these parents suggested 10 websites in French that they accessed frequently. The following selection criteria were used to select the websites: (i) publicly available, (ii) written in French or in English, and (iii) intended for parents of children with disability, aged between 3 and 12 years (with the exception of one site, "Portail Enfance," aimed at health professionals and students, but its content was, in our opinion, relevant and usable by parents). Websites presenting information about disabilities with a high prevalence (ie, ASD, cerebral palsy, intellectual disability, and learning disabilities) were first explored [29]. In the second round, websites were identified using common vocabulary search terms (eg, French counterparts of "autism spectrum disorder tips and tools," and "special needs in cerebral palsy") on Google. Finally, we also included websites that were found in the resources linked to the previously selected websites that were considered relevant and coherent with our selection criteria. We stopped searching for new websites when the structural, textual, and visual characteristics of the most recent websites identified were similar to at least one of the other already analyzed websites. In all, 42 websites were selected for the analyses.

The data extraction process aimed to collect descriptive characteristics of the websites (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Two research assistants first extracted data independently from 10 websites and, after comparing their procedures, they wrote a manual to systematize the data extraction process. Next, the reviewers extracted data from 9 other websites to validate the manual's documented procedure. Then, the data extraction tasks from the remaining 23 websites were equally distributed between them.

Thereafter, understandability and actionability of the website content were evaluated using the Patient Educational Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) [30] available online [31]. According to this tool, "understandability" refers to the ease in understanding what is written with regard to content, word choice and style, use of numbers, organization, layout and design, and use of visual aids. "Actionability" refers to the ease of putting into action the information presented or implementing it in real life. A single trained evaluator completed the evaluation of the selected websites. The evaluation results included both printable and audiovisual material versions. The scoring process was straightforward for all 26 items: for instance, "the material uses active voice" (item #5) or "the material provides a summary" (item #11). One (1) point was assigned if the item was fulfilled and zero (0) point, if not [31]. The COUNTIF function in Microsoft Excel was used to produce the statistics of the PEMAT scores from our extraction table. The minimum PEMAT score required for a website to be qualified as adequately understood and actionable was 70% [31]. Scores higher than 70% were further categorized as follows: 70%-79%, acceptably understandable and actionable; 80%-89%, easily understandable and actionable; and 90%-100%, perfectly

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Buteau-Poulin et al

understandable and actionable. One of the PEMAT subcriteria, that is, the presence of instructions or examples to explain how to perform calculations if any, was excluded from further analysis because no occurrence was found.

Results

Of the 42 websites selected for the analysis, 39 (93%) contained information mostly in a textual format, whereas 32 (76%) also used a video format. Moreover, 25 (60%) of the 42 websites used visual aids but most did not considerably enrich the textual content (eg, an image of a father holding a book in his hands with his two children in their bed was placed next to a paragraph describing how to help children with sleep disturbance). The information presented in these websites had been reviewed either by professionals or a scientific or advisory committee for only 18 (43%) websites, whereas information was not verified for 8 (19%) websites. Moreover, we found that 19 (45%) of the 42 websites were updated within the last month, 5 (12%) were updated within the last 1-3 months, 5 (12%) were updated within the last 4-6 months, 1 (2%) was updated within the last 7-12 months, and 5(12%) had not been updated in the previous year. Information about the last update was not determinable for 7 (17%) of all websites studied.

With regard to the type of disability, 20 (48%) of the 42 websites contained information about ASD and 19 (45%) had information about learning disabilities. Behavioral disorders and developmental language disorder were each discussed in 4 (10%) websites. Mental health issues, including anxiety, bipolar disorder, depression, and eating and personality disorders were discussed in 6 (14%) websites. Other disabilities such as cerebral lesion or palsy, Down syndrome, epilepsy, and spina bifida were discussed in 6 (14%) websites.

With regard to the activity domains of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health, 9 domains were examined: learning and applying knowledge; general tasks and demands; communication; mobility; self-care; domestic life; interpersonal interactions and relationships; major life areas; and community, social, and civic life [32]. Most the websites addressed topics related to communication (35/42, 83%), learning and knowledge application (33/42, 79%), and relationships and interactions with others (31/42, 74%). Topics pertaining to community, social, and civic life (9/42, 21%); domestic life (12/42, 29%); and mobility (15/42, 36%) were not as frequently covered in the websites examined.

Most websites examined presented tips and advice (37/42, 88%), explanatory material (35/42, 83%), and references to similar or additional resources (32/42, 76%). Printable documents and testimonies were each found in 23 (55%) websites. Moreover, 14 (33%) websites included workshops; activity ideas for development of specific skills; personalized newsletters; or scientific articles, advertisements, questionnaires, and game platforms. Only 7 (17%) of the 42 websites examined offered networking opportunities such as comment boxes, chat, forums, and a "frequently asked questions" zone.

Based on the PEMAT usability evaluation scoring system, 22 (52%) websites received a global score <70%, whereas the remaining 20 (48%) received a score $\geq70\%$ (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

In the understandability category, 20 (48%) of the 42 websites (Figure 1) scored <70%, whereas 22 (52%) scored \geq 70%. In the actionability category, 27 (64%) websites scored <70%, no website scored between 70% and 79%, 6 (14%) scored between 80% and 89%, and 9 (22%) scored \geq 90%. When combining understandability and actionability, only 14 websites (33%) websites scored \geq 70% in both categories.

Results for the *understandability* subcriterion are presented in Figure 2, where we can see that not many websites scored over 70% for 4 aspects (content: 8/42, 19%; organization: 10/42, 24%; layout and design: 14/42, 33%; and use of visual aids: 9/14, 22%).


Figure 1. Understandability and Actionability scores based on PEMAT evaluation. PEMAT: patient educational materials assessment tool.



Figure 2. Scores per criteria in the Understandability category.



Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Findings

The objective of this study was to describe the type of information available on the internet for parents of children with disability as well as to assess the understandability and actionability of the web content. As a result, we recorded and

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19669/

studied the descriptive characteristics and PEMAT scores of 42 websites. Of these 42 websites, 39 (93%) presented information primarily in an encyclopedic textual format, which is not the most efficient format according to recently published recommendations [25], and even when websites contained visuals aids, those did not always add to the textual information.

Moreover, more than half of the websites were regarded as insufficiently understandable and actionable according to the PEMAT evaluation. These findings suggest that some parents, especially those of children with a less common disability [33], do not find adequate information on the internet that may help them address all of the child's needs.

The type of information available on websites is mostly written (textual format) and often organized in an encyclopedic style. Although the information on these websites may be useful to the parents, the encyclopedic format is not optimal for fast and effective learning [34,35]. Similar studies have also reported that most websites rarely offer relevant visual aids to support the written information [14,22,36-38]. This finding, however, is not consistent with current technological resources that allow easy integration of multiple formats (audio, video, etc.) into websites. The websites that facilitate the most user-friendly reading experience are those that provide simple and explanatory visual aids and short texts with emphasized keywords (eg, bold characters, different character font and color, and summary boxes).

Our analysis also highlights an important message that direct access to information on the web does not necessarily imply trustable information [39,40]. In fact, approximately 57% of the websites analyzed in this study had information that was not reviewed by professionals or experts prior to publication. Nevertheless, parents searching for information or advice would not necessarily think about the trustworthiness of the source [23], or they may have difficulty determining, with certainty, which information to trust [41,42]. In such cases, people are likely to choose the information that is easier to understand or that better fits their current knowledge and understanding of the topic [43,44]. This situation is potentially problematic because there could be some risk in applying tips that are controversial. For example, a website may be promoting participation in regular physical activity but may not indicate that such activity could be dangerous for a child with epilepsy or severe osteoporosis [45]. To address this problem, we recommend that parents consult websites that publish content that has been reviewed by experts. Informational websites should also consider offering parents an online platform to discuss the content. It could be helpful for some parents to know that other parents found certain information useful and practical in a real-life situation [9,10].

Another disadvantage of more than half of the websites (55%) analyzed was that they were not frequently updated. Unavailability of up-to-date quality content was a perceived concern for 61% of the parents looking for health-related information on the internet [46]; however, other parents reported they did not verify whether the information was current or not. Lack of up-to-date content would imply that obsolete advice may be put into practice. Moreover, parents may not be able to verify information found online in a timely manner during appointments with their health professional team due to time constraints. Furthermore, parents are not necessarily prepared to address all subjects of concern during a clinical appointment [9,17,47]. The internet has thus become parents' source of information for "pressing needs."

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19669/

XSL•FO

More importantly, the content of the websites we analyzed mostly focused on the disability itself instead of on the child's functioning. As a result, these websites only partially address the concerned parents' needs and do not cover the several questions and challenges they may have [17,48]. If it were possible to search for information pertaining to various developmental disorders (eg, sleep problems), access to information that addresses parents' needs might be easier, especially for parents of children with developmental challenges that have not yet received a definitive diagnosis. Our study findings reinforce the importance of having credible websites that are easily accessible and can be adapted to the changing needs and real-time requirements of parents of children with disability.

Finally, we also searched for websites with an added feature for opportunities for networking, but we did not find them among in the websites we examined. However, considering that technology to include such a feature on websites exists and that parents of children with disability express a pressing need for networking, it thus seems timely to consider developing such networking channels for this population.

With regard to the usability of the websites, the results of the PEMAT evaluation showed high variability among the quality of websites. The small proportion of true high scores (white: 2/42, 5%) and the large proportion of moderate (grey: 18/42, 43%) and weak scores (black: 22/42, 52%) can be interpreted as lack of relevant visual aids or clear instructions that aid the users to apply the textual information in their lives. This situation is problematic because it means that users put in place the presented advice without being sure that it is correctly executed.

Limitations and Strengths

First, in coherence with our local context and health policies, one of the limitations of the procedures used in this study was that they were focused on Canadian resources and on French language websites. Second, our study is exploratory in nature because we did not find published recommendations for procedures to conduct the website review in a systematic manner. Thus, we proceeded in an iterative fashion, reflecting at every decisional stage and stopped the review when we concluded that we had reached content saturation.

The most important strength of this study is the patient-oriented research approach. We closely collaborated with two parents, each of whom have children with disability. This ascertains that our results are in line with the preoccupations of our target audience. Second, the juxtaposition of the PEMAT system to our data extraction table allows us to focus on the criteria that ease understandability and actionability.

Conclusions

This study analyzed 42 existing websites on the internet intended for parents of children with disability, with an aim to determine the type of information presented, its usability, and the opportunity for networking available. Our results suggest that there is a need for websites that have expert-reviewed content, to provide accurate and accessible information at least for non–English-speaking parents of children with disability.

Moreover, the results of our study highlight the need to design in other words, provide opportunities for networking. websites that consider usability and actionability of content or,

Acknowledgments

This study received financial support from the Chaire de Recherche en Paralysie Cérébrale (Cerebral Palsy research chair of l'Université Laval).

We would like to thank the two parent partners, Élisabeth Déry and Julie Bergeron, for their collaboration in this project.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Descriptive characteristics extracted from the websites analyzed. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 358 KB - pediatrics v3i2e19669 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Total Patient Educational Materials Assessment Tool score for each website analyzed. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 293 KB - pediatrics v3i2e19669 app2.pdf]

References

- 1. International classification of functioning, disability and health: children and youth version: ICF-CY. In: World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2007.
- Smith J, Cheater F, Bekker H. Parents' experiences of living with a child with a long-term condition: a rapid structured review of the literature. Health Expect 2015 Aug;18(4):452-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12040] [Medline: 23311692]
- Guide sur le parcours scolaire pour les parents d'un enfant handicapé. Bibliothèque et Archives nationales du Québec. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.ophq.gouv.qc.ca/fileadmin/centre_documentaire/Guides/Guide_Parcours_Scolaire.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-01-31]
- 4. Schilling RF, Kirkham MA, Snow WH, Schinke SP. Single mothers with handicapped children: different from their married counterparts? Family Relations 1986 Jan;35(1):69. [doi: 10.2307/584285]
- 5. Wang P, Michaels CA. Chinese families of children with severe disabilities: family needs and available support. Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities 2010 Jun;34(2):21-32. [doi: <u>10.2511/rpsd.34.2.21</u>]
- 6. Barroso NE, Mendez L, Graziano PA, Bagner DM. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2018 Apr;46(3):449-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10802-017-0313-6] [Medline: 28555335]
- 7. Gupta RK, Kaur H. Stress among parents of children with intellectual disability. Asia Pacific Disability Rehabilitation Journal 2010;21(2):118-126 [FREE Full text]
- Thurston S, Paul L, Loney P, Ye C, Wong M, Browne G. Associations and costs of parental symptoms of psychiatric distress in a multi-diagnosis group of children with special needs. J Intellect Disabil Res 2011 Mar;55(3):263-280. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2010.01356.x] [Medline: 21199042]
- Alsem MW, Ausems F, Verhoef M, Jongmans MJ, Meily-Visser JMA, Ketelaar M. Information seeking by parents of children with physical disabilities: An exploratory qualitative study. Res Dev Disabil 2017 Jan;60:125-134. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2016.11.015] [Medline: 27914304]
- DeHoff BA, Staten LK, Rodgers RC, Denne SC. The role of online social support in supporting and educating parents of young children with special health care needs in the United States: a scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 22;18(12):e333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6722] [Medline: 28007689]
- 11. Pelentsov LJ, Laws TA, Esterman AJ. The supportive care needs of parents caring for a child with a rare disease: A scoping review. Disabil Health J 2015 Oct;8(4):475-491 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.03.009] [Medline: 25959710]
- 12. Kim UO, Basir MA. Informing and educating parents about the risks and outcomes of prematurity. Clin Perinatol 2014 Dec;41(4):979-991. [doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2014.08.015] [Medline: 25459785]
- 13. Mackintosh V, Myers B, Goin-Kochel R. Sources of information and support used by parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. Journal on Developmental Disabilities 2005;12(1):41-51 [FREE Full text]
- Agarwal N, Kommana SS, Hansberry DR, Kashkoush AI, Friedlander RM, Lunsford LD. Accessibility, reliability, and usability of neurosurgical resources. J Neurosurg 2017 Apr;126(4):1263-1268. [doi: <u>10.3171/2015.12.JNS151102</u>] [Medline: <u>27257833</u>]
- 15. Heiman T, Berger O. Parents of children with Asperger syndrome or with learning disabilities: family environment and social support. Res Dev Disabil 2008;29(4):289-300. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2007.05.005] [Medline: 17604952]

- 16. Guralnick MJ. Why Early intervention works: a Systems perspective. 2011;24(1):6-28. [doi: 10.1097/iyc.0b013e3182002cfe]
- 17. Pelchat D, Lefebvre H, Levert MJ, David C. [Information needs of families of children with a disability: the viewpoint of parents and health professionals]. Rech Soins Infirm 2008 Mar(92):59-67. [Medline: <u>18500117</u>]
- 18. Luszczynska A, Boehmer S, Knoll N, Schulz U, Schwarzer R. Emotional support for men and women with cancer: Do patients receive what their partners provide? Int J Behav Med 2007 Sep;14(3):156-163. [doi: 10.1007/bf03000187]
- Bertule D, Vetra A. The family needs of parents of preschool children with cerebral palsy: the impact of child's gross motor and communications functions. Medicina (Kaunas) 2014;50(6):323-328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.medici.2014.11.005] [Medline: 25541264]
- 20. Kirk S, Fallon D, Fraser C, Robinson G, Vassallo G. Supporting parents following childhood traumatic brain injury: a qualitative study to examine information and emotional support needs across key care transitions. Child Care Health Dev 2015 Mar;41(2):303-313. [doi: 10.1111/cch.12173] [Medline: 25039833]
- 21. Shepherd KG, Kervick CT. Enhancing collaborative leadership among parents of children with disabilities. Journal of Disability Policy Studies 2015 Apr 17;27(1):32-42. [doi: <u>10.1177/1044207315576081</u>]
- 22. Kirby PL, Reynolds KA, Walker JR, Furer P, Pryor TAM. Evaluating the quality of perinatal anxiety information available online. Arch Womens Ment Health 2018 Dec;21(6):813-820. [doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0875-5] [Medline: 29931445]
- 23. Allen K, Rainie L. Parents Online. Washington, DC; 2002 Nov 17. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2002/11/</u> 17/parents-online/ [accessed 2019-11-01]
- 24. Knapp C, Madden V, Wang H, Sloyer P, Shenkman E. Internet use and eHealth literacy of low-income parents whose children have special health care needs. J Med Internet Res 2011 Sep 29;13(3):e75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1697] [Medline: 21960017]
- 25. Devine T, Broderick J, Harris LM, Wu H, Hilfiker SW. Making quality health websites a national public health priority: toward quality standards. J Med Internet Res 2016 Aug 02;18(8):e211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5999] [Medline: 27485512]
- 26. Gagliardi AR, Berta W, Kothari A, Boyko J, Urquhart R. Integrated knowledge translation (IKT) in health care: a scoping review. Implement Sci 2016 Mar 17;11:38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0399-1] [Medline: 26988000]
- Gagliardi AR, Dobrow MJ. Identifying the conditions needed for integrated knowledge translation (IKT) in health care organizations: qualitative interviews with researchers and research users. BMC Health Serv Res 2016 Jul 12;16:256. [doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1533-0] [Medline: 27405465]
- 28. Guide to knowledge translation planning at CIHR: Integrated end-of-grant approaches. Canadian IOHR. URL: <u>http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/documents/kt_lm_ktplan-en.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-21]
- 29. Camirand J, Dugas L, Cardin J, Dubé G, Dumitru V, Fournier J. Vivre avec une incapacité au Québec Un portrait statistique à partir de l?Enquête sur la participation et les limitations d? activités de et. Institut De La Statistique Du Québec.: Institut de la statistique du Québec; 2010. URL: <u>https://www.stat.gouv.qc.ca/statistiques/sante/etat-sante/incapacite/incapacite-quebec.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-21]
- 30. Shoemaker SJ, Wolf MS, Brach C. Development of the Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT): a new measure of understandability and actionability for print and audiovisual patient information. Patient Educ Couns 2014 Sep;96(3):395-403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2014.05.027] [Medline: 24973195]
- 31. Shoemaker S, Wolf M, Brach C. The Patient Education Materials Assessment Tool (PEMAT) and User's Guide. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. URL: <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/ncepcr/tools/self-mgmt/pemat.html</u> [accessed 2018-04-30]
- 32. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health: ICF. In: World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press; 2001:315.
- Walker A, Alfonso ML, Colquitt G, Weeks K, Telfair J. "When everything changes:" Parent perspectives on the challenges of accessing care for a child with a disability. Disabil Health J 2016 Jan;9(1):157-161. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.06.002</u>] [Medline: <u>26215893</u>]
- 34. Oprescu F, Campo S, Lowe J, Andsager J, Morcuende JA. Online information exchanges for parents of children with a rare health condition: key findings from an online support community. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jan 22;15(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2423] [Medline: 23470259]
- 35. Cross A, Rosenbaum P, Grahovac D, Kay D, Gorter JW. Knowledge mobilization to spread awareness of the 'F-words' in childhood disability: lessons from a family-researcher partnership. Child Care Health Dev 2015 Nov;41(6):947-953. [doi: 10.1111/cch.12249] [Medline: 25865031]
- 36. Graham ID, Logan J, Harrison MB, Straus SE, Tetroe J, Caswell W, et al. Lost in knowledge translation: time for a map? J Contin Educ Health Prof 2006;26(1):13-24. [doi: 10.1002/chp.47] [Medline: 16557505]
- 37. Balakrishnan V, Chandy Z, Hseih A, Bui T, Verma SP. Readability and understandability of online vocal cord paralysis materials. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016 Mar;154(3):460-464. [doi: 10.1177/0194599815626146] [Medline: 26861227]
- Balakrishnan V, Chandy Z, Verma SP. Are online Zenker's diverticulum materials readable and understandable? Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2016 Nov;155(5):758-763. [doi: <u>10.1177/0194599816655302</u>] [Medline: <u>27329416</u>]
- Craigie M, Loader B, Burrows R, Muncer S. Reliability of health information on the internet: an examination of experts' ratings. J Med Internet Res 2002;4(1):e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4.1.e2] [Medline: 11956034]

RenderX

- 40. Seçkin G, Yeatts D, Hughes S, Hudson C, Bell V. Being an informed consumer of health information and assessment of electronic health literacy in a national sample of internet users: validity and reliability of the e-HLS instrument. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 11;18(7):e161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5496] [Medline: 27400726]
- 41. Carpenter DM, Geryk LL, Chen AT, Nagler RH, Dieckmann NF, Han PKJ. Conflicting health information: a critical research need. Health Expect 2016 Dec;19(6):1173-1182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12438] [Medline: 26709206]
- 42. Lambert K, Mullan J, Mansfield K, Koukomous A, Mesiti L. Evaluation of the quality and health literacy demand of online renal diet information. J Hum Nutr Diet 2017 Oct;30(5):634-645. [doi: 10.1111/jhn.12466] [Medline: 28211108]
- 43. Han PKJ. Conceptual, methodological, and ethical problems in communicating uncertainty in clinical evidence. Med Care Res Rev 2013 Feb 06;70(1 Suppl):14S-36S [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1077558712459361] [Medline: 23132891]
- 44. Kunda Z. The case for motivated reasoning. Psychol Bull 1990 Nov;108(3):480-498. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.108.3.480] [Medline: 2270237]
- 45. van Brussel M, van der Net J, Hulzebos E, Helders PJM, Takken T. The Utrecht Approach to Exercise in Chronic Childhood Conditions. Pediatric Physical Therapy 2011;23(1):2-14. [doi: <u>10.1097/pep.0b013e318208cb22</u>]
- 46. Nicholl H, Tracey C, Begley T, King C, Lynch AM. Internet use by parents of children with rare conditions: findings from a study on parents' web information needs. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 28;19(2):e51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5834] [Medline: 28246072]
- 47. Dionne C, Rousseau N, Drouin C, Vézina C, McKinnon S. Expérience des familles dont un enfant présente une incapacité : perceptions et besoins actuels. ss 2007 Jun 18;52(1):65-77. [doi: <u>10.7202/015955ar</u>]
- Maciolek KA, Jarrard DF, Abel EJ, Best SL. Systematic assessment reveals lack of understandability for prostate biopsy online patient education materials. Urology 2017 Nov;109:101-106. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.urology.2017.07.037</u>] [Medline: <u>28780302</u>]

Abbreviations

ASD: autism spectrum disorder PEMAT: Patient Educational Materials Assessment Tool

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 27.04.20; peer-reviewed by D Reinwand, C Camden; comments to author 06.06.20; accepted 03.10.20; published 10.11.20.

Please cite as:

Buteau-Poulin A, Gosselin C, Bergeron-Ouellet A, Kiss J, Lamontagne MÈ, Maltais D, Trottier C, Desmarais C Availability and Quality of Web Resources for Parents of Children With Disability: Content Analysis and Usability Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19669 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19669/</u> doi:10.2196/19669 PMID:<u>33170127</u>

©Anabel Buteau-Poulin, Camille Gosselin, Andréa Bergeron-Ouellet, Jocelyne Kiss, Marie-Ève Lamontagne, Désirée Maltais, Christiane Trottier, Chantal Desmarais. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Social Media Use Among Young Adults With Connective Tissue Disorders: Cross-Sectional Pilot Study

Erin F Kelleher¹, MSc; Philip F Giampietro², MD, PhD; Megan A Moreno³, MD, MSED, MPH

¹Chicago Medical School, Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science, North Chicago, IL, United States

²Division of Medical Genetics, Department of Pediatrics, Rutgers Robert Wood Johnson School of Medicine, New Brunswick, NJ, United States ³Department of Pediatrics, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Corresponding Author: Erin F Kelleher, MSc Chicago Medical School Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science 3333 Green Bay Rd North Chicago, IL United States Phone: 1 8479329259 Email: <u>erin.kelleher6@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Young people with genetic conditions often face challenges coping with their health condition. It can be difficult for them to meet someone with a similar condition, which is important for reinforcement of chronic illness management recommendations. Social media is used by 97% of young people in the United States and may provide those with these disorders a space for emotional expression and support. However, there is a scarcity of literature related to the use of social media among adolescents with genetic conditions as an indicator of their perception regarding their own condition.

Objective: The purpose of this pilot study was to obtain preliminary data to assess and understand social media use by young people with connective tissue disorders and determine whether they use social media to connect with patients with similar conditions or whether they would be interested in doing so.

Methods: We undertook a pilot study of selected connective tissue disorders occurring in young people between the ages of 11 and 25 years, including Marfan syndrome; Ehlers-Danlos syndrome subtypes classical, classical-like, cardiac-valvular, and vascular; Beals congenital contractual arachnodactyly; and Alport hereditary nephritis. The study took place within one pediatric clinical system. Patients were identified through electronic medical record search and International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, coding at a Midwest university–based clinical system. Study subjects completed a short survey describing their experiences with their connective tissue disorders, their means of self-expression, their existing network of persons to communicate with, and their use of social media. Data analysis included nominal and bivariate regressions to compare social media use in relation to age.

Results: Our 31 participants (42% response rate) were 55% female (17/31) and their average age was 18 years (SD 5). All participants used social media and there were no statistically significant differences between social media use and age. The majority of participants (25/30, 83%) reported that they never used social media to discuss their condition (P=.09), and only 17% (5/30) knew someone online with a similar condition (P=.50). Most participants (19/30, 63%) said they would communicate with someone with a similar disorder (P=.64).

Conclusions: We found that young individuals with connective tissue disorders use at least one type of social media. A majority did not use social media to discuss their condition or know someone online with a similar condition. However, many persons were interested in finding others similarly affected. Social media could serve as a platform for young people with connective tissue disorders to connect. Peer support is important in disease management and adolescent development. Future studies should aim at understanding social media use among young people with connective tissue disorders and helping them connect with other people who have similar conditions.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e16367) doi:10.2196/16367



KEYWORDS

connective tissue disorders; social media; adolescents; young adults; Marfan syndrome; Ehlers-Danlos syndrome; Alport hereditary nephritis; Beals congenital contractual arachnodactyly; internet

Introduction

Connective tissue disorders refer to a group of uncommon and heterogeneous conditions that are associated with pathogenic defects in the extracellular matrix [1-6]. As a consequence of these defects, affected individuals may have alterations in the development of bone, skin, vasculature, and other related organs [1-6]. A majority of connective tissue disorders are inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion [1-6].

Living with a genetic condition can lead to feelings of stigmatization and emotional pain due to being different from peers, in addition to social, emotional, and financial stress [7-9]. In particular, young adults with chronic illnesses often experience more social isolation compared to their peers [7]. Young people with Marfan syndrome have reported "difficulties in keeping up with peers" in school, sports, activities, relationships, and work because of their condition [9]. Time-consuming medical visits and treatments, fatigue, pain, and fear of injury were contributing factors to the difficulties associated with "keeping up with peers" [9]. Young people with Marfan syndrome also feel different from their peers due to their appearance, fatigue, pain, and disability. Many individuals with connective tissue disorders have to limit physical activities and sports to prevent life-threatening injuries [1-5]. Some adolescents and young adults experienced bullying, and individuals with lower self-esteem were more likely to avoid social activities, such as going to the beach or parties [9]. Previous research has found that having Marfan syndrome can lead to a lower quality of life mentally, due to emotional and psychological impairment [8-10].

Social media is used by 97% of US youth [11] and is recognized as an influential determinant of their health maintenance [12-14]. Social media can be used as an outlet to display people's feelings and experiences regarding a health condition as well as foster social connection [14-16]. Additionally, social media makes it possible for teens to connect with new friends as well as maintain existing friendships [15,16]. The Pew Research Center found that 57% of teens between the ages of 13 and 17 years have made a new friend online [15].

Currently, social media sites provide support groups and/or posts for patients with connective tissue disorders included in this study. Posts and groups can be found by searching for the connective tissue disorder via the search bar on a social media site. There are groups and posts related to the more prevalent connective tissue disorders, such as Marfan syndrome and Ehlers-Danlos syndrome (Ehlers-Danlos), on Facebook, Twitter, Reddit, and Tumblr [17-20]. Less prevalent conditions, such as Alport hereditary nephritis (Alport syndrome) and Beals congenital contractual arachnodactyly (Beals syndrome), maintain smaller circles and have posts and groups on Facebook, Twitter, and Reddit [17-20].

Previous research has provided evidence that communicating about one's condition can help individuals cope with their

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e16367/
```

diagnosis, increase knowledge about their condition, and increase involvement in their own medical care [9,21-23]. Individuals with chronic illnesses who use social media to share and exchange information and experiences report an "enhanced feeling of self-worth and validation, often inhibited by living with chronic illness" [23]. For a majority, providing and receiving support through social media can decrease feelings of isolation and loneliness by bringing people together, especially when someone is not feeling well [23]. One individual with chronic pain explained, "social network sites have allowed me to have a social life...when the pain is bad, which is frequent, I cannot leave my house and spend time with friends" [23]. However, some individuals report that social media can have a negative impact due to feelings of withdrawal or frustration [23].

There is an increase in social media use among individuals with chronic illnesses to connect with others similar to them and learn information regarding their condition [12,13,24]. However, most young people with chronic conditions are particular about the content they publicly share on their social media accounts regarding their chronic condition [23,25,26]. Some adults with chronic illnesses feel a sense of control and an increase in self-worth when posting about their condition on social media, while others worry about the psychological and physical consequences of sharing personal information publicly [23].

Although a majority of young people receive positive feedback when posting about their condition, many chose not to post about their condition because they fear stigmatization and rejection [25,27]. Currently, there is a scarcity of literature regarding the number of young people with rare chronic illnesses that use social media to communicate about their condition.

Due to the rarity of connective tissue disorders, it can be challenging to meet other individuals with similar conditions. Social media allows users to find support globally by decreasing geographical and time barriers [23]. Some even use social media to connect individuals with health care providers around the world [23]. This is important for the treatment of individuals with rare conditions who do not have a specialist for their condition in their area. A prior study investigating Marfan syndrome social media references found that a majority of posts displayed personal experiences and symptoms regarding Marfan syndrome [28]. This study also found that Marfan syndrome was discussed across different public social media platforms. However, there is a scarcity of literature related to the use of social media among young people with genetic conditions as a window to their perception regarding their own condition. Based on this previous study, we hypothesized that young people with connective tissue disorders used social media to communicate their perceptions, experiences, and concerns regarding their condition.

The purpose of this pilot study was to obtain preliminary data to assess social media use, understand how social media was used, and determine whether patients with connective tissue

XSL•FO RenderX

disorders use social media to connect with other individuals with similar conditions or whether they would be willing to do so. With the understanding of how young people with selected connective tissue disorders communicate online, future research can be done on improving online support, since online communication keeps growing.

Methods

Overview

This cross-sectional pilot study was approved by the University of Wisconsin Health Sciences Institutional Review Board and took place from September 2013 to May 2015. The data were collected and analyzed at the University of Wisconsin-Madison, School of Medicine and Public Health, in the Department of Pediatrics, Division of Genetics and Metabolism.

Table 1. Summary of connective tissue disorders and associated features.

A prior content analysis study investigating Marfan syndrome social media references found references to Marfan syndrome across public social media platforms, such as Instagram, Pinterest, Reddit, Tumblr, and Twitter [28]. However, there is a scarcity of literature regarding how young people with chronic genetic conditions, such as connective tissue disorders, use social media with regard to their condition.

Participants

We identified young people between the ages of 11 and 25 years with connective tissue disorders, including Marfan syndrome, Ehlers-Danlos, Alport syndrome, and Beals syndrome; see Table 1 [1-6] for connective tissue disorder characteristics. Ehlers-Danlos subtypes include classical, classical-like, cardiac-valvular, and vascular Ehlers-Danlos. These connective tissue disorders were chosen due to their association with significant medical consequences.

Condition (gene)	Worldwide prevalence	Non-life-threatening features	Life-threatening features	Key references
Marfan syndrome (FBN1)	1:5000-1:10,000	Tall stature Scoliosis Pectus excavatum or carinatum Lens dislocation Flat feet	Aortic root enlargement and dissection	[1]
Ehlers-Danlos syndrome ^a (COL5A1, COL5A2, and COL3A1)	Classical: 1:20,000 Vascular: 1:50,000- 1:200,000	Joint hypermobility Joint pain Soft velvety and/or elastic skin Easy bruising and poor wound healing	Aneurysms throughout the vas- cular tree (vascular subtype)	[2-4]
Alport hereditary nephritis (COL4A5)	1:50,000	Hearing loss Eye abnormalities (lenticonus) Edema in extremities	Loss of kidney function result- ing in kidney failure	[6]
Beals congenital contractual arachnodactyly (FBN2)	Unknown	Contracted joints Scoliosis Crumpling of ear Pectus excavatum or carinatum Long, tall stature Mild aortic root enlargement	Aortic dissection (rarely seen) Rare, lethal cases can result in severe cardiovascular and gas- trointestinal symptoms	[5]

^aCombination of the four types: classical, classical-like, cardiac-valvular, and vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome; the prevalence for classical-like and cardiac-valvular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome is unknown.

Participants were queried in the University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics electronic medical record to identify patients who were classified in the different connective tissue diagnosis categories; see Figure 1 for the methods flowchart. The following information from medical records was reviewed by a coauthor and clinical geneticist (PG) for accuracy of diagnosis and qualification for enrollment in the study: medical complications related to connective tissue disorders related to the eye, heart, body skeleton, vascular system, skin, and spine as well as DNA testing that validates the diagnosis of Marfan syndrome and related connective tissue disorders. Charts were reviewed for patients between the ages of 11 and 25 years with Marfan syndrome; Loeys-Dietz syndrome; Ehlers-Danlos subtypes classical, classical-like, cardiac-valvular, and vascular; MASS (mitral valve, myopia, aorta, skin, and skeletal features) phenotype; Stickler syndrome; Alport syndrome; Beals syndrome; and dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa, regardless of gender and ethnicity. The patients with Loeys-Dietz syndrome, MASS phenotype, Stickler syndrome, and dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa with International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision (ICD-9) diagnosis codes did not meet the diagnostic criteria for the condition and, therefore, were excluded from this study. After reviewing medical charts, 72 patients met the inclusion criteria. All patients that met the study requirements were approached for possible enrollment.

RenderX

Figure 1. Study methods flowchart. Alport syndrome: Alport hereditary nephritis; Beals syndrome: Beals congenital contractual arachnodactyly; Ehlers-Danlos: Ehlers-Danlos syndrome; ICD-9: International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision.



Survey Instrument

We reviewed previous literature to identify validated questions to assess social media use and created a self-developed survey [29]. The categories were developed with an adolescent health physician, a clinical geneticist, and adaptations from a Pew Research Center study [29]. In 2010, the Pew Research Center asked adolescents and young adults about social networking sites, gaming, and creative websites. We separated photo and video sharing from the Pew Research Center's creativity section. Instagram was created in 2010 and, therefore, was not included in the Pew Research Center report. We felt that it was an important platform to include. We also wanted to include music sharing in the survey. The survey was piloted to genetic counselors at the institution and feedback was provided. The survey categories included the following: demographics,

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e16367/
```

RenderX

personal life (eg, hobbies, self-expression, and goals), basic information about their connective tissue disorder (eg, age of diagnosis, surgery and medication, and concerns), and social media use. To assess social media use, we asked participants about the number of hours per week spent on specific types social media sites; see Multimedia Appendix 1 for the survey.

The categories of social media included, and were described as, social networking sites (eg, Facebook, Twitter, etc), online gaming (eg, World of Warcraft), music sharing (eg, Pandora), video sharing or streaming (eg, YouTube and Hulu), photo sharing (eg, Instagram), and creative sites (eg, Pinterest and Tumblr). To understand how social media was used, we asked an open-ended question about how participants used social media. To determine whether participants used social media to connect with others with similar disorders, we asked participants

about the frequency with which they discussed their condition and whether they received support from posting about their condition. To determine whether participants were willing to connect, we asked whether and how they would like to communicate with someone similar to them online.

Recruitment

A data security analyst reviewed the electronic medical record to identify patients with connective tissue disorders. A clinical geneticist then reviewed records of potentially eligible patients to validate their fulfillment of the clinical criterion of having one of the connective tissue disorders being studied. Each patient was assigned a study code. After surveys were complete, the document linking the name of the patient with the study number was destroyed. All clinical data were kept under lock and key, and only the principal investigator and research assistant had access to the study.

A letter inviting each patient to participate in the study was signed by one of the patient's physicians who participated in care for his or her underlying connective tissue disorder. Along with the letter, a consent and assent document, a survey, and a stamped and addressed return envelope were then mailed to the patient and their family. Participants who did not respond received a follow-up phone call several weeks after the initial letter of invitation. A follow-up letter and phone call was sent to participants several weeks after the first phone call. Participants were subsequently reminded about the study and informed that they could opt to take the survey on the phone. If there was no response, two additional follow-up letters were mailed home after the phone call. If at that time there was no response, no further contact was attempted.

Data Analysis

Survey responses were recorded in a Microsoft Excel 2007 spreadsheet as a secure file on a protected server. Surveys were analyzed to determine descriptive outcomes described above.

Table 2. Demographic	characteristics	of the	participants.
----------------------	-----------------	--------	---------------

Survey questions that were not answered were not included in the analysis. Due to the wide age range and small sample size, responses between participants of differing connective tissue disorders were grouped together and analyzed by age group. The following categories were created: early adolescents (11-14 years), middle to late adolescents (15-21 years), and young adults (22-25 years) [30]. Data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 26.0 (IBM Corp) [31]. A nominal regression was conducted to assess the relationship between age and whether participants would like to communicate with someone with a similar condition. Separate bivariate logistic regressions were used to analyze the relationship between age and discussing questions and concerns on social media, age and knowing someone offline, and age and knowing someone online. A Pearson correlation was calculated to determine the strength of the relationship between age and discussion of questions or concerns on social media.

Results

Participants

Of the 73 surveys sent to eligible patients, 31 surveys were completed and returned (42% response rate). The average age of nonrespondents was 18.4 years (SD 4.0), with a median age of 19 years. Among respondents who completed surveys, 55% (17/31) were female and 90% (28/31) were Caucasian, with an average age of 18 years (SD 5); see Table 2 for demographic characteristics. Out of 31 participants, 2 (6%) were Mexican and 1 (3%) was Lebanese. Over a quarter of the sample (9/31, 29%) were early adolescents, 35% (11/31) were middle to late adolescents, and 35% (11/31) were young adults. Only 2 participants out of 31 (6%) completed the survey over the phone. Out of 31 participants, 1 (3%) did not answer questions regarding social media use and was not included in the social media analysis.

• ·				
Characteristic	Early adolescents (n=9)	Middle to late adolescents (n=11)	Young adults (n=11)	Total (N=31)
Gender, n (%)				
Male	4 (44)	5 (45)	5 (45)	14 (45)
Female	5 (56)	6 (55)	6 (55)	17 (55)
Age (years)				
Mean (SD)	13 (1)	17 (2)	24 (1)	18 (5)
Median	13	17	24	17
Race, n (%)				
White	7 (78)	10 (91)	11 (100)	28 (90)
Other	2 (22)	1 (9)	0 (0)	3 (10)

Survey

RenderX

All participants indicated using at least one type of social media and 97% (29/30) used more than one type of social media. The most common social media types used were social networking sites (24/30, 80%) and video sharing (25/30, 83%). Creative sites (6/30, 20%), online gaming (8/30, 27%), music sharing

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e16367/
```

(15/30, 50%), and photo sharing (15/30, 50%) were less popular social media sites. Although participants were not asked to specify which specific sites they used, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and YouTube were mentioned by participants throughout the survey. The most common way participants used social media was to maintain relationships (19/30, 63%), learn

new information (7/30, 23%), and watch entertaining videos and photos (7/30, 23%).

There were no statistically significant differences in social media use based on age—age and discussion of questions or concerns about condition on social media: r=.32, P=.09 (N=30); age and knowing someone offline: $\chi^2_1=1.1$, P=.30 (N=30); age and knowing someone online: $\chi^2_1=0.5$, P=.50 (N=30); and age and wanting to communicate with someone: $\chi^2_1=0.9$, P=.64 (N=30). Although there was statistical significance between age and frequency of posting online, there was a medium to moderate correlation. With a larger sample size, we hypothesize there could be a statistical significance in the frequency of posting about one's condition at different ages.

Over one-third (11/30, 37%) of participants communicated their condition with a family member, 23% (7/30) with a health care professional, and 13% (4/30) with anyone (see Table 3). Only 17% (5/30) of participants discussed their questions and concerns on social media and 17% (5/30) used social media to communicate with someone with a similar condition. Only

middle to late adolescents and young adults discussed concerns or communicated about their condition online. Of note, 3 of the 5 participants (60%) that discussed their condition on social media also used social media to communicate with someone with a similar condition. Over half (16/30, 53%) of participants knew someone with the same or a similar condition offline and only 17% (5/30) knew someone online with a similar or the same condition. Only 2 participants out of 30 (7%) knew someone both online and offline with a similar condition. However, 63% (19/30) of the participants answered that they would communicate with someone with a similar condition if they had the opportunity. Of those participants, 84% (16/19) suggested email or social media as a potential means of communication. Other suggestions included talking and meeting in person (6/19, 32%).

Ehlers-Danlos participants were the only 5 participants out of 30 (17%) that posted about their condition online, and all of them received support at least some of the time (3/5, 60%) or a majority of the time (2/5, 40%). A majority (4/5, 80%) of these participants that posted about their condition also knew someone online and communicated through email and texting.



Table 3. Online and social media survey results.

Question and responses	Early adolescents ^a (n=9), n (%)	Middle to late adoles- cents (n=11), n (%)	Young adults (n=11), n (%)	Total (N=30), n (%)
Who do you feel most comfortable talking to	with regard to your condition?		-	
Family	4 (44)	2 (18)	5 (45)	11 (37)
Health care professional	1 (11)	4 (36)	2 (18)	7 (23)
Friend or significant other	1 (11)	2 (18)	1 (9)	4 (13)
Anyone	1 (11)	1 (9)	2 (18)	4 (13)
No one	0 (0)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (3)
Other	2 (22)	2 (18)	1 (9)	5 (17)
Do you discuss your questions or concerns al	oout your condition on social medi	a?		
Never	8 (89)	9 (82)	8 (73)	25 (83)
Rarely	0 (0)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (3)
Sometimes	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (27)	3 (10)
Always	0 (0)	1 (9)	0 (0)	1 (3)
Do you use social media to communicate with	h people with similar conditions as	you?		
No	8 (89)	8 (73)	9 (82)	25 (83)
Yes	0 (0)	3 (27)	2 (18)	5 (17)
Do you know anyone else from offline with the	ne same or similar conditions?			
No	3 (33)	6 (55)	7 (64)	16 (53)
Yes	5 (56)	5 (45)	4 (36)	14 (47)
Do you know anyone else from online website	es with the same or similar conditi	ons?		
No	7 (78)	9 (82)	9 (82)	25 (83)
Yes	1 (11)	2 (18)	2 (18)	5 (17)
If you could, would you communicate with se	omeone with the same or similar co	onditions?		
No	2 (22)	2 (18)	3 (27)	7 (23)
Maybe	1 (11)	1 (9)	2 (18)	4 (13)
Yes	5 (56)	8 (73)	6 (55)	19 (63)

^aOne participant did not answer all questions.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study examined social media use of young people with connective tissue disorders. We ascertained that all of the participants used social media, and a majority used more than one type of social media site. Participants used social media to connect with friends and family, to learn new information, and as a source of entertainment. These findings support previous studies regarding social media use and motivations in young people without chronic conditions [15,16,32].

Young, middle, and older adolescents and young adults used social media similarly. A majority of young people utilized offline relationships, such as family or health care providers, rather than social media to discuss their concerns or questions regarding their condition. Early adolescents did not use social media to discuss their condition or communicate with other individuals with similar conditions. This supports a previous study that found that healthy young people aged 12-14 years

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e16367/

XSL•FO RenderX were less likely to post about their health on social media compared to older adolescents and young adults [32]. Middle to late adolescents and young adults with Ehlers-Danlos were the only participants who used social media to discuss their condition.

A majority of participants that posted about their condition also used social media to communicate with someone with a similar condition. One explanation could be that individuals who have friends with similar conditions online may feel more comfortable posting about their condition. If young people see peers posting about their condition online, it may encourage them to post about their own condition. Participants who chose to post about their condition described receiving positive feedback from their online interactions. Previous studies have also found that positive feedback is received among the majority of the few young adults with chronic illnesses that post about their condition [25,27].

Social media allows users to communicate intimately and immediately, which has been shown to be an important

component in social support [27]. Many individuals with chronic illnesses prefer to seek social support from someone with a similar illness [25,27]. Social media sites offer unprecedented opportunities for this type of support [23,25,27]. In order to successfully intervene with young people with connective tissue disorders to improve social connections, it is important to learn about the different ways young people use social media in regard to their condition. It is possible that young people with connective tissue disorders do not want to publicly post about their condition, but would be more willing to communicate about their condition in an anonymous or private way via private chatting or anonymous usernames [23]. Many young people with chronic illnesses are protective of their health information and do not disclose their health to extended family members and peers that are not close friends [25]. Therefore, many might not be comfortable publicly posting about their condition online.

Almost half of participants did not know another individual with a similar condition in their offline or online lives. However, we found a majority of participants were interested in communicating with other individuals with connective tissue disorders via email or social media. Our findings were consistent with previous studies that found that young people with chronic illnesses use social media, but not to discuss their condition [25,26]. Yet, a majority were interested in discussing their condition online with peers with similar conditions [25,26]. Young people may be more willing to meet individuals through social media in a private setting without sharing their health information with their entire social media circle [23]. Although we did not specifically inquire, a follow-up to this study could be to identify what would be necessary for these young people to connect with others regarding their disorder via social media.

We found that a majority of young people did not post about their condition online. This may be because many young people are scared of facing rejection, pity, or isolation when discussing their chronic condition online [25]. Previous research has found that few young people received negative feedback when posting online [25]. Perceived stigma felt by individuals with chronic disease can affect their willingness to post about their condition online [25]. Young adults are selective in the information they share and many want to seem like "regular young adults" among peers [26,32].

Young adults without chronic conditions are also concerned about their privacy when posting about their health on social media [32]. However, unlike young people with chronic conditions, healthy individuals are more likely to post about their health on social media [32]. Mood was the most common health topic discussed, followed by wellness and acute medical conditions [32]. These topics were discussed with the intention of finding peers with similar conditions, seeking advice, and receiving support [32].

Individuals with Marfan syndrome and related connective tissue disorders were polled at the 2019 Marfan Foundation Annual Conference about their favorite way to keep in touch with the Marfan syndrome and related connective tissue disorders community, and the majority of patients prefer communication through Facebook (unpublished data, 2019). This seems to be inconsistent with the survey findings reported in this

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e16367/
```

XSL•FC

communication. We speculate that patients feel less motivated to discuss their specific cases but are willing to discuss concerns related to the Marfan community as a whole using social media.

Due to the variety of social media platforms, it seems possible for individuals to find the type of connection or support they want without exposing their condition publicly. Different platforms offer varying levels of anonymity and different types of content. Platforms such as Reddit, Tumblr, and Twitter offer greater anonymity compared to Facebook. One way individuals are able control how much information is shared on their social media profiles is through privacy settings. In one study regarding social media use in teens with chronic illnesses, teens reported that they regularly check their privacy settings and feel confident in their privacy settings [26]. Having a sense of control over what information is shared is important to many young people with chronic illnesses [26]. Young people that post about their condition online have emphasized that they feel as though they are in control of what is shared [26].

Previous research has demonstrated that building relationships and networking with other individuals with a similar disorder has psychological and emotional benefits for people with connective tissue disorders [9,21-23,26]. Many young people do not think social media is helpful in obtaining health information [32]. Therefore, young people may prefer social media platforms that allow users to develop relationships and communities rather than sites that provide educational content. However, further research is needed to understand what barriers teens face or what processes would be helpful to connect them to others via social media.

Several studies have highlighted the importance of support among individuals experiencing stigmatization due to chronic illnesses [7,9,25,33,34]. A previous study found that 1 in 4 (25%) internet users with a chronic illness have gone online to find someone with a similar condition [35]. Peer support can increase peer interaction and participation and also offer authentic empathy and validation that professionals may not be able to offer [7,9,23,34]. Due to the rarity of connective tissue disorders, meeting someone offline with a similar condition may be challenging [1-6]. Social media could be used to overcome this challenge and bring together individuals with connective tissue disorders.

Young people without chronic illnesses use social media to meet new people with similar interests and maintain friendships [16]. Individuals with connective tissue disorders can use social media to identify other individuals with similar experiences [28]. However, young people with chronic conditions are less likely to publicly post about their condition and experiences on social media, which could make it difficult to find peers with similar conditions [25,26]. Young people with connective tissue disorders may need help finding spaces where they can connect with peers while maintaining their privacy regarding their condition.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. This pilot study was conducted from 2013 to 2015. The internet and social media are constantly changing and, therefore, social media patterns in

this study may be different than current social media trends. This study was performed using a single hospital network. Our study was composed of a small sample size of individuals with a limited number of connective tissue disorders. A majority of the sample was Caucasian and, therefore, results cannot be generalized to all individuals with connective tissue disorders. We realize there is clinical genetic heterogeneity among these conditions, especially among the Ehlers-Danlos subtypes. Future studies should be aimed at surveying young people among the different Ehlers-Danlos subtypes. It is also possible that there was selection bias in this sample population. However, regardless of race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status, a majority of young people are on social media already and are, therefore, familiar with using it [16]. Despite these limitations, social media relationships are becoming more common in young people and, therefore, could be used to form relationships for young people with connective tissue disorders [15].

Future Studies

In this pilot study, we did not directly survey why participants may have chosen not to communicate online about their diagnosis or whether they passively use social media in regard to their condition. Future research can address possible reasons for this, such as lack of participation with health care professional–approved sites, lack of patient interest, or passive social media use, etc. Future studies may also address what would be necessary in order for patients to use social media as a vehicle to communicate individual perceptions regarding their condition. Further research efforts should focus on whether young people would be interested in private social media settings to meet and interact with peers. Future studies could also focus on comparing adults and children with genetic conditions and their social media use.

Conclusions

Although there are social media spaces for individuals with connective tissue disorders to post on and follow, we found that a majority of young people in this study did not use social media to discuss or communicate with others about their genetic condition. However, a majority of participants were interested in communicating with individuals with similar conditions. Due to the rarity of connective tissue disorders, many young people do not know someone with a similar condition. For many individuals, having social support can be instrumental in coping with a chronic illness. Peer mentorship regarding a chronic disease not only aids in disease management and social isolation reduction, but is also a positive factor for adolescent development.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Ms Lisa Risberg for performing data searches to find potential participants for this study. We acknowledge the support of the University of Wisconsin-Madison, Department of Pediatrics. We would also like to acknowledge Eileen Masciale and Taylor Beecroft for providing the communication poll from The Marfan Foundation Annual Conference.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey mailed to participants. [DOCX File , 19 KB - pediatrics v3i2e16367 app1.docx]

References

- 1. Dietz H. Marfan syndrome. GeneReviews. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 2001 Apr 18. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1335/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK1335.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- 2. Malfait F, Wenstrup R, De Paepe A. Classic Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. GeneReviews. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 2007 May 29. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1244/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK1244.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- 3. Byers PH. Vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. GeneReviews. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 1999 Sep 02. URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1494/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK1494.pdf [accessed 2020-10-23]
- 4. Levy HP. Hypermobile Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. GeneReviews. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 2004 Oct 22. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1279/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK1279.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- 5. Callewaert B. Congenital contractural arachnodactyly. GeneReviews. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 2001 Jan 23. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1386/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK1386.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- 6. Kasthan CE. Alport syndrome. GeneReviews. Seattle, WA: University of Washington; 2001 Aug 28. URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1207/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK1207.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- Ahola Kohut S, Stinson J, Forgeron P, van Wyk M, Harris L, Luca S. A qualitative content analysis of peer mentoring video calls in adolescents with chronic illness. J Health Psychol 2018 May;23(6):788-799. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316669877] [Medline: 27682341]
- Handisides JC, Hollenbeck-Pringle D, Uzark K, Trachtenberg FL, Pemberton VL, Atz TW, Pediatric Heart Network Investigators. Health-related quality of life in children and young adults with Marfan syndrome. J Pediatr 2019 Jan;204:250-255.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.08.061] [Medline: <u>30270167</u>]

RenderX

- 9. Warnink-Kavelaars J, Beelen A, Goedhart TMHJ, de Koning LE, Nollet F, Alsem MW, et al. Marfan syndrome in adolescence: Adolescents' perspectives on (physical) functioning, disability, contextual factors and support needs. Eur J Pediatr 2019 Dec;178(12):1883-1892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00431-019-03469-7] [Medline: 31620888]
- Moon JR, Cho YA, Huh J, Kang I, Kim D. Structural equation modeling of the quality of life for patients with Marfan syndrome. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2016 Jun 02;14:83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0488-5] [Medline: 27249938]
- 11. Villanti AC, Johnson AL, Ilakkuvan V, Jacobs MA, Graham AL, Rath JM. Social media use and access to digital technology in US young adults in 2016. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 07;19(6):e196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7303] [Medline: 28592394]
- 12. Fox S, Duggan M. The diagnosis difference. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2013 Nov 26. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/science/2013/11/26/the-diagnosis-difference/</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- Ventola CL. Social media and health care professionals: Benefits, risks, and best practices. P T 2014 Jul;39(7):491-520 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25083128]
- 14. Yonker LM, Zan S, Scirica CV, Jethwani K, Kinane TB. "Friending" teens: Systematic review of social media in adolescent and young adult health care. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 05;17(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3692] [Medline: 25560751]
- Lenhart A, Smith A, Anderson M, Duggan M, Perrin A. Teens, Technology and Friendships. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2015 Aug. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2015/08/</u> <u>Teens-and-Friendships-FINAL2.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-09-09]
- 16. Anderson M, Jiang J. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2018 May 31. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/05/31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/</u> [accessed 2019-06-06]
- 17. Facebook. URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- 18. Twitter. URL: https://twitter.com/ [accessed 2019-07-07]
- 19. Reddit. URL: http://www.reddit.com [accessed 2019-08-07]
- 20. Tumblr. URL: <u>https://www.tumblr.com/</u> [accessed 2019-07-07]
- Parrott R, Peters KF, Traeder T. Uncertainty management and communication preferences related to genetic relativism among families affected by down syndrome, Marfan syndrome, and neurofibromatosis. Health Commun 2012;27(7):663-671. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2011.629408</u>] [Medline: <u>22168461</u>]
- 22. Grosberg D, Grinvald H, Reuveni H, Magnezi R. Frequent surfing on social health networks is associated with increased knowledge and patient health activation. J Med Internet Res 2016 Aug 10;18(8):e212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5832] [Medline: 27511272]
- 23. Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F. Therapeutic affordances of social media: Emergent themes from a global online survey of people with chronic pain. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 22;16(12):e284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3494] [Medline: 25533453]
- 24. Patel R, Chang T, Greysen SR, Chopra V. Social media use in chronic disease: A systematic review and novel taxonomy. Am J Med 2015 Dec;128(12):1335-1350. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>26159633</u>]
- 25. Kaushansky D, Cox J, Dodson C, McNeeley M, Kumar S, Iverson E. Living a secret: Disclosure among adolescents and young adults with chronic illnesses. Chronic Illn 2017 Mar;13(1):49-61. [doi: 10.1177/1742395316655855] [Medline: 27343016]
- 26. van der Velden M, El Emam K. "Not all my friends need to know": A qualitative study of teenage patients, privacy, and social media. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013 Jan 01;20(1):16-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-000949] [Medline: 22771531]
- 27. Lee RL, Kvasny LM. Understanding the role of social media in online health: A global perspective on online social support. First Monday 2013 Dec 26;19(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/fm.v19i1.4048]
- 28. Kelleher E, Giampietro PF, Moreno MA. Marfan syndrome patient experiences as ascertained through postings on social media sites. Am J Med Genet A 2015 Nov;167A(11):2629-2634. [doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37255] [Medline: 26272787]
- 29. Lenhart A, Purcell K, Smith A, Zickuhr K. Social media and young adults. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2010 Feb 03. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2010/02/03/social-media-and-young-adults/</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- Hardin AP, Hackell JM, AAP Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine. Age limit of pediatrics. Pediatrics 2017 Sep;140(3):e20172151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-2151] [Medline: 28827380]
- 31. IBM SPSS Statistics 26 Documentation. IBM. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp; 2019 Apr 09. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/support/pages/node/874712?mhsrc=ibmsearch_a&mhq=26</u> [accessed 2020-10-21]
- Hausmann JS, Touloumtzis C, White MT, Colbert JA, Gooding HC. Adolescent and young adult use of social media for health and its implications. J Adolesc Health 2017 Jun;60(6):714-719 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.025] [Medline: 28259620]
- Major B, O'Brien LT. The social psychology of stigma. Annu Rev Psychol 2005;56:393-421. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070137] [Medline: 15709941]
- 34. Mead S, MacNeil C. Peer support: What makes it unique? Int J Psychosoc Rehabil 2006;10(2):29-37 [FREE Full text]

RenderX

35. Fox S. Peer-to-peer health care. Pew Research Center. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2011 Feb 28. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2011/02/28/peer-to-peer-health-care-2/</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]

Abbreviations

Alport syndrome: Alport hereditary nephritis Beals syndrome: Beals congenital contractual arachnodactyly Ehlers-Danlos: Ehlers-Danlos syndrome ICD-9: International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision MASS: mitral valve, myopia, aorta, skin, and skeletal features

Edited by A Serlachius; submitted 30.09.19; peer-reviewed by G Velvin, E Warner, M Välimäki; comments to author 21.11.19; revised version received 16.03.20; accepted 14.07.20; published 30.10.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kelleher EF, Giampietro PF, Moreno MA Social Media Use Among Young Adults With Connective Tissue Disorders: Cross-Sectional Pilot Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e16367 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e16367/</u> doi:10.2196/16367 PMID:33124992

©Erin F Kelleher, Philip F Giampietro, Megan A Moreno. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.10.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Impact of a Smartphone App on the Quality of Pediatric Colonoscopy Preparations: Randomized Controlled Trial

James Brief^{1*}, MD; Anupama Chawla^{1*}, MD; Diana Lerner^{2*}, MD; Bernadette Vitola^{2*}, MD; Robert Woroniecki^{3*}, MD; Jeffrey Morganstern^{1*}, MD

¹Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Stony Brook Children's Hospital, Stony Brook, NY, United States

²Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Medical College of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, WI, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

James Brief, MD Department of Pediatric Gastroenterology Stony Brook Children's Hospital 4 Technology Drive Stony Brook, NY, 11733 United States Phone: 1 6469644210 Email: jamesbrief2@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Smartphone apps have been successfully used to help adults prepare for colonoscopies. However, no study to date has investigated the effect of a smartphone app on pediatric colonoscopy preparation.

Objective: The aim of this study is to determine if an app (*SB Colonoscopy Prep*) designed to educate and guide patients through their colonoscopy preparation will yield benefits over paper-based instructions and information.

Methods: In total, 46 patients aged 5-18 years received either app-based or written material with instructions on how to take their prep medications as well as information about the colonoscopy procedure. Prep quality, the number of calls to the gastroenterology service, and patient arrival time were recorded. After the procedure, a questionnaire was given to each patient through which they graded their knowledge of the procedure both before and after receiving the app or written material.

Results: App users had higher mean Boston scores versus control subjects receiving written instructions (7.2 vs 5.9, P=.02), indicating better colonoscopy preps. In total, 75% (15/20) of app users and 41% (9/22) of written instruction users had preps categorized as "excellent" on the Boston scale. We found no significant differences in knowledge about the procedure (app users: 10/20 [50%], written instruction users 8/22 [36%]; P=.37), phone calls to the gastroenterology clinic (n=6 vs n=2; P=.27), or arrival times at the endoscopy suite (44 min vs 46 min before the scheduled procedure time; P=.56).

Conclusions: Smartphone app use was associated with an increased number of colonoscopy preps classified as "excellent" on the Boston scale. There was no significant difference between app users and the control group regarding the number of calls to the gastroenterology clinic, patient arrival time, or patient knowledge about the procedure.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04590105; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04590105

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e18174) doi:10.2196/18174

KEYWORDS

colonoscopy; app; pediatrics; prep; smartphone; mobile phone; mHealth

Introduction

RenderX

Pediatric colonoscopy is integral for diagnosis and treatment of a number of pediatric gastrointestinal conditions including hematochezia, inflammatory bowel disease, and colonic polyps.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18174

Up to one-third of children undergoing these procedures are reported to have suboptimal colon preparation [1]. Poor-quality preparation can increase the risk and length of the procedure, the rate of missed diagnosis, and the cost of the procedure if it is repeated or rescheduled. Studies in adult patients from Pillai et al [2], Hayat et al [3], and Park et al [4] have shown that

³Department of Pediatric Nephrology, Stony Brook Children's Hospital, Stony Brook, NY, United States

video-assisted instructions are superior to verbal or standard paper instructions for cleanout quality.

Studies by Lorenzo-Zúñiga et al [5] and Kang et al [6] have shown that instructions delivered via interactive smartphone apps provide superior preparation for adult patients undergoing colonoscopy prep. Health care apps have been successfully used in other fields of medicine, including apps for asthma control [7] and smoking cessation [8].

We created a smartphone app (*SB Colonoscopy Prep*) that informs patients about their colonoscopy procedure, alerts them when to take their medications throughout the hours-long colonoscopy prep process, and tells them when to arrive at the endoscopy suite. We designed a study to determine if this app will yield improved colonoscopy cleanouts, better patient understanding of the procedure, fewer calls to the gastroenterology (GI) clinic, and more punctual arrival times to the endoscopy suite compared to patients who receive noninteractive written instructions.

Methods

In total, 46 patients aged 5-18 years scheduled to undergo a diagnostic and/or therapeutic colonoscopy were recruited for the study. Subjects were volunteers recruited from Stony Brook Children's Hospital's pediatric GI service who were already scheduled to have a colonoscopy.

Exclusion criteria included patients who had undergone a colonoscopy within the past 1 year, patients admitted for a nasogastric cleanout, patients requiring colonoscopy preparation medication other than polyethylene glycol, or patients with a poor understanding of English. Subjects who had undergone a colonoscopy within the previous year were excluded as their prep quality may be influenced by information gathered from their previous procedure rather than the instructions provided to them in our study. Ownership of a smartphone was not required for inclusion in this study. A device was made available for subjects if they did not have a smartphone.

With a grant provided by NASPGHAN (North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition), we developed, to our knowledge, the first pediatric-focused smartphone app (that is also compatible for use on a tablet) aimed to help children and their parents prepare for a colonoscopy. The app delivers the same content as the written colonoscopy preparation instructions previously given to patients at our institution but utilizes the advantages inherent to an interactive, multimedia, and patient-operated app.

Subjects were assigned via block randomization to receive either app-based (intervention) or written (control) prep instructions. Subjects in the control group were given a 3-page document that described the procedure and instructed users on how to take the preparation medications. Both groups were provided with an identical list of frequently asked questions about colonoscopies. A link to a website where users could view an animated video was included in the written instructions. The written instructions also contained the time and date of the procedure. All subjects were instructed to arrive 1 hour before their scheduled procedure.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18174

For their colonoscopy prep, patients in both the intervention and control groups were instructed to first take bisacodyl at a specified dosage. Following the bisacodyl, they took a specified amount of polyethylene glycol and mixed it into a specified amount of liquid. Patients drank half of the mixture over 4 hours, took a 2-hour break, and then finished the second half of the prep over the course of another 4 hours. Specific dosages of bisacodyl and polyethylene glycol were based on the patient's weight.

Patients in the intervention group downloaded a free app from the iOS App or Google Play stores called SB Colonoscopy Prep. Upon opening the app, users were directed to a home screen containing 8 icons (Figure 1). Users began by clicking the "Start Here!" icon, introducing them to the app and its functions. "Medication Instructions" contains the same instructions the control users received via paper format. "Interactive Prep" walks the patient through the colonoscopy prep process in real time, reminding them what medications to take and when to take them. Subjects received either an audible or vibrating alarm on their smartphones alerting them when it was time to take a new medication, when to take a 2-hour break, and when their prep was complete. For simplicity, the app only provides instructions pertaining to the most commonly used colonoscopy preparation medications at our institution (ie, bisacodyl and polyethylene glycol). "Video Tutorial" contains a short, animated video of a young boy walking the patient through the colonoscopy process using easy-to-understand vocabulary (Multimedia Appendix 1). The boy explains what a colonoscopy is, why prep is important, and what patients can expect when they arrive at the colonoscopy suite. The video also features an animated, smiling colonoscope named "Scopey" designed to be a lighthearted but accurate portrayal of the colonoscopy procedure itself (Figure 2). The video was written and directed by authors DL and BD and animated by CI Design.

"My Colonoscopy" gives users the time and date of their procedure as well as instructions to arrive 1 hour prior to their procedure. Patients are provided with driving, walking. or public transportation directions to our institution. Directions were generated using Google Maps and the patient's current GPS location. Before generating directions, the smartphone asked subjects to grant permission to allow the app to access the user's current location. "Weight & Date" allows users to enter their weight and time and date of their colonoscopy. "FAQs" provides a list of frequently asked questions. Lastly, "Credits" lists the people and institutions responsible for creating the app.

Prep quality was measured with the validated Boston Scoring Scale [9]. A score of 0, 1, 2, or 3 is given to the right, transverse, and left colon based on the amount and consistency of stool visualized as well as the ease or difficulty of guiding endoscopic instrumentation during a colonoscopy. Higher scores indicate a cleaner colon and a Boston score of 7 or above indicates an "excellent" prep. To eliminate bias, the 4 grading gastroenterologists in our study did not know whether subjects had used written or app instructions for their preps.

Patient arrival time at the hospital was taken from their electronic medical record as the time the patient signed in at

XSL•FO RenderX

the endoscopy suite. The number of telephone calls to the GI service from subjects was recorded.

A written questionnaire was given to subjects' parents on the day of the colonoscopy using validated questions from in two previous studies on colonoscopy prep [10,11]. In the questionnaire, parents were asked to grade their knowledge about the procedure both before and after receiving either the app or written information. The patients were allowed to participate in the survey with their parents.

Of the 46 patients recruited, 23 were assigned to receive app instructions and 23 were assigned to receive traditional paper-based instructions. In total, 42 patients completed the study. Three subjects withdrew from the study. Two subjects

Figure 1. The home screen of the SB Colonoscopy Prep app.

forgot about their enrollment in the study and called our service for paper-based instructions. One subject who has been randomly assigned to receive app-based instructions became nervous about using the app and decided against using an experimental prep process. One control subject consented but was withdrawn after his prep was changed to another laxative formulation. Our final subject sample comprised 22 control and 20 experimental subjects. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 24.0 (IBM Corporation).

The study was approved by the Stony Brook University Hospital Institutional Review Board (#1132702) on November 15, 2014. All study data were collected between July 15, 2015, and May 1, 2020.



Figure 2. The animated colonoscope "Scopey" featured in the app's video.



Results

RenderX

App users had a mean Boston Scoring Scale score of 7.2 (range 3-9) versus a mean score of 5.9 (range 3-9) for users with written

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18174

instruction (P=.02) (Table 1). In the app group, 75% (15/20) of users' Boston scores were 7 or above and therefore labeled as "excellent" preps. In the control group, 41% (9/22) of written users' Boston scores were categorized as "excellent" with scores of 7 or above (Table 2). On average, app users arrived 46

minutes and control users arrived 44 minutes prior to their procedure, with no significant difference between the two groups (P=.56). Based on questionnaire results obtained from subjects, 50% (10/20) of app users had improved knowledge of the colonoscopy versus 36.4% (8/22) of control subjects (P=.37).

All 20 app users were able to download, install, and operate the software without technical difficulties. Based on their survey answers, all app users completed the prep within the recommended time whereas only 18 patients (81.8%) in the control group managed to do this (P=.45). In total, 6 phone calls were made to the GI service by controls versus 2 calls from app users (P=.27).

Table 1. Study results.

Variable	Control subjects (written, n=22)	Experimental subjects (app, n=20)	P value
Age range (years)	6-18	5-18	a
Average Boston score	5.9	7.2	.02
Patient arrival time to endoscopy suite (minutes before procedure)	44	46	.56
Calls to gastroenterology service, n	2	6	.27
Subjects with improved knowledge after receiving materials, n (%) $$	9 (36)	10 (50)	.37

^aNot applicable

Table 2. Boston scores for app and written instruction users.

Boston score	Subjects		
	Written (n=22), n (%)	App (n=20), n (%)	
3	1 (5)	1 (5)	
4	5 (23)	0 (0)	
5	5 (23)	2 (10)	
6	2 (9)	2 (10)	
7	4 (18)	6 (30)	
8	3 (14)	4 (20)	
9	2 (9)	5 (25)	

Discussion

Principal Findings

Subjects who used an app to guide them through their colonoscopy prep had better prepped colons compared with patients who used paper-based instructions for their prep. App users had higher Boston scores, indicating better preps, and a higher percentage of scores classified as "excellent cleanout" than patients who used written instructions. This is similar to studies in adults comparing colonoscopy prep quality in subjects using app versus paper-based instructions. In a study by Lorenzo-Zúñiga et al [5], 100% (N=108) of the subjects using an interactive app for colonoscopy prep had a successful bowel prep compared to 96.1% (146/152) of those in the control group receiving written instructions for their preps (P=.037). Kang et al [6] demonstrated the benefits of app-based instructions, with 82.2% (318/387) of preps deemed adequate in adult subjects who used an interactive app vs 69.5% (266/383) of preps deemed adequate in control subjects who received written instructions (P=.001).

While both groups in our study received the same instructions about colonoscopy prep, including medication names, dosages, and when to take each medication, the app had features that reduced the chances of missed or delayed medications. The app

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18174
```

users had this information continually given to them throughout the prep process. For example, 4 hours after app users began to take the polyethylene glycol mixture, the app alerted them that it was time to take a 2-hour break. Two hours later, the app alerted users to begin the second half of the prep. Sixty minutes before the patient was supposed to finish their prep, the app alerted users that they had 1 hour left to finish taking their medications. There was a countdown clock visible to the user throughout the prep process, informing them how much time was left in each part of the prep process. Even when their smartphone display screens were off, the app caused the smartphone to sound an audible alarm or vibrate and flash information on the screen about the next step in the prep process.

Limitations

Patient knowledge, the number of phone calls to the GI clinic, and punctuality did not show statistical differences between the 2 study groups. This may be due to the small number of subjects in the study. Future studies with a larger sample size may be needed to increase study power to investigate if an interactive app could affect these variables.

The use of a mobile phone–based health aid does not always result in improved outcomes, and the availability of such apps does not mean patients will want to use them. A study by Ting et al [12] on 70 adolescents with systemic lupus erythematous

failed to show improvement with their hydroxychloroquine adherence while using a mobile phone–based reminder system. Perski et al [13] demonstrated that nonmedical factors such as the color scheme, design, and user ratings influence whether users will choose to use an app [13]. There is still insufficient economic data supporting the use of mobile health apps. Many smartphone app studies to date have been pilot studies with limited data [14]. Reviews of these studies also suggest there may be a lack of data on the benefits of smartphone-based health apps in low-income communities [15].

Conclusions

This is the first study to demonstrate significant improvement in colonoscopy prep in pediatric patients with the use of a smartphone or tablet app in a typical clinical setting. Future studies will continue to investigate the benefits of mobile health software in the management of pediatric patients and their families.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Arlen Raisbeck for his contributions to this study.

Conflicts of Interest

DL is a cofounder of Lerner Media Inc. This company helps with multimedia production. No payment or royalties were collected for the creation of the Scopey video.

Multimedia Appendix 1

"Upper and Lower Colonoscopy" video by the Children's Hospital of Wisconsin. [MP4 File (MP4 Video), 23487 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e18174_app1.mp4]

Multimedia Appendix 2 CONSORT-eHEALTH Checklist (V1.6.2). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 99 KB - pediatrics_v3i2e18174_app2.pdf]

References

- Pall H, Zacur GM, Kramer RE, Lirio RA, Manfredi M, Shah M, et al. Bowel preparation for pediatric colonoscopy: report of the NASPGHAN endoscopy and procedures committee. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2014 Sep;59(3):409-416. [doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000447] [Medline: 24897169]
- Pillai A, Menon R, Oustecky D, Ahmad A. Educational Colonoscopy Video Enhances Bowel Preparation Quality and Comprehension in an Inner City Population. J Clin Gastroenterol 2018 Jul;52(6):515-518. [doi: 10.1097/MCG.0000000000893] [Medline: 28742732]
- Hayat U, Lee PJW, Lopez R, Vargo JJ, Rizk MK. Online Educational Video Improves Bowel Preparation and Reduces the Need for Repeat Colonoscopy Within Three Years. Am J Med 2016 Nov;129(11):1219.e1-1219.e9. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.06.011] [Medline: 27393880]
- 4. Park J, Kim MS, Kim H, Kim SI, Shin CH, Lee HJ, et al. A randomized controlled trial of an educational video to improve quality of bowel preparation for colonoscopy. BMC Gastroenterol 2016 Jun 17;16(1):64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12876-016-0476-6] [Medline: 27317249]
- Lorenzo-Zúñiga V, Moreno DVV, Marín I, Barberá M, Boix J. Improving the quality of colonoscopy bowel preparation using a smart phone application: a randomized trial. Dig Endosc 2015 Jul;27(5):590-595. [doi: <u>10.1111/den.12467</u>] [Medline: <u>25708251</u>]
- Kang X, Zhao L, Leung F, Luo H, Wang L, Wu J, et al. Delivery of Instructions via Mobile Social Media App Increases Quality of Bowel Preparation. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016 Mar;14(3):429-435.e3. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cgh.2015.09.038</u>] [Medline: <u>26492848</u>]
- Cook KA, Modena BD, Simon RA. Improvement in Asthma Control Using a Minimally Burdensome and Proactive Smartphone Application. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2016;4(4):730-737.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2016.03.005] [Medline: 27107690]
- Iacoviello BM, Steinerman JR, Klein DB, Silver TL, Berger AG, Luo SX, et al. Clickotine, A Personalized Smartphone App for Smoking Cessation: Initial Evaluation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 25;5(4):e56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7226] [Medline: 28442453]
- Lai EJ, Calderwood AH, Doros G, Fix OK, Jacobson BC. The Boston bowel preparation scale: a valid and reliable instrument for colonoscopy-oriented research. Gastrointest Endosc 2009 Mar;69(3 Pt 2):620-625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2008.05.057] [Medline: 19136102]
- 10. Voiosu A, Tanţău A, Garbulet C, Tanţău M, Mateescu B, Băicuş C, et al. Factors affecting colonoscopy comfort and compliance: a questionnaire based multicenter study. Rom J Intern Med 2014;52(3):151-157. [Medline: 25509558]

- 11. Sagawa T, Sato K, Tomizawa T, Mizuide M, Yasuoka H, Shimoyama Y, et al. A prospective randomized controlled trial of AJG522 versus standard PEG+E as bowel preparation for colonoscopy. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:521756 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/521756] [Medline: 25688357]
- Ting TV, Kudalkar D, Nelson S, Cortina S, Pendl J, Budhani S, et al. Usefulness of cellular text messaging for improving adherence among adolescents and young adults with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol 2012 Jan;39(1):174-179. [doi: 10.3899/jrheum.110771] [Medline: 22089460]
- Perski O, Blandford A, Ubhi HK, West R, Michie S. Smokers' and drinkers' choice of smartphone applications and expectations of engagement: a think aloud and interview study. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Dec 28;17(1):25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0422-8] [Medline: 28241759]
- Badawy SM, Kuhns LM. Economic Evaluation of Text-Messaging and Smartphone-Based Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence in Adolescents with Chronic Health Conditions: A Systematic Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Oct 25;4(4):e121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6425] [Medline: 27780795]
- Iribarren SJ, Cato K, Falzon L, Stone PW. What is the economic evidence for mHealth? A systematic review of economic evaluations of mHealth solutions. PLoS One 2017;12(2):e0170581 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170581] [Medline: 28152012]

Abbreviations

GI: gastroenterology NASPGHAN: North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition

Edited by A Serlachius; submitted 09.02.20; peer-reviewed by B Nievas Soriano, S Badawy; comments to author 24.03.20; revised version received 05.06.20; accepted 07.06.20; published 10.11.20.

Please cite as:

Brief J, Chawla A, Lerner D, Vitola B, Woroniecki R, Morganstern J The Impact of a Smartphone App on the Quality of Pediatric Colonoscopy Preparations: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e18174 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e18174</u> doi:10.2196/18174 PMID:<u>33170131</u>

©James Brief, Anupama Chawla, Diana Lerner, Bernadette Vitola, Robert Woroniecki, Jeffrey Morganstern. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.11.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Jiancheng Ye¹

Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author: Jiancheng Ye Feinberg School of Medicine Northwestern University 633 N Saint Clair St Chicago, IL, United States Phone: 1 312 503 3690 Email: jiancheng.ye@u.northwestern.edu

Abstract

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic has spread rapidly throughout the world and has had a long-term impact. The pandemic has caused great harm to society and caused serious psychological trauma to many people. Children are a vulnerable group in this global public health emergency, as their nervous systems, endocrine systems, and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axes are not well developed. Psychological crises often cause children to produce feelings of abandonment, despair, incapacity, and exhaustion, and even raise the risk of suicide. Children with mental illnesses are especially vulnerable during the quarantine and social distancing period. The inclusion of psychosocial support for children and their families are part of the health responses to disaster and disaster recovery. Based on the biopsychosocial model, some children may have catastrophic thoughts and be prone to experience despair, numbness, flashbacks, and other serious emotional and behavioral reactions. In severe cases, there may be symptoms of psychosis or posttraumatic stress disorder. Timely and appropriate protections are needed to prevent the occurrence of psychological and behavioral problems. The emerging digital applications and health services such as telehealth, social media, mobile health, and remote interactive online education are able to bridge the social distance and support mental and behavioral health for children. Based on the psychological development characteristics of children, this study also illustrates interventions on the psychological impact from the COVID-19 pandemic. Even though the world has been struggling to curb the influences of the pandemic, the quarantine and social distancing policies will have long-term impacts on children. Innovative digital solutions and informatics tools are needed more than ever to mitigate the negative consequences on children. Health care delivery and services should envision and implement innovative paradigms to meet broad well-being needs and child health as the quarantine and social distancing over a longer term becomes a new reality. Future research on children's mental and behavioral health should pay more attention to novel solutions that incorporate cutting edge interactive technologies and digital approaches, leveraging considerable advances in pervasive and ubiquitous computing, human-computer interaction, and health informatics among many others. Digital approaches, health technologies, and informatics are supposed to be designed and implemented to support public health surveillance and critical responses to children's growth and development. For instance, human-computer interactions, augmented reality, and virtual reality could be incorporated to remote psychological supporting service for children's health; mobile technologies could be used to monitor children's mental and behavioral health while protecting their individual privacy; big data and artificial intelligence could be used to support decision making on whether children should go out for physical activities and whether schools should be reopened. Implications to clinical practices, psychological therapeutic practices, and future research directions to address current effort gaps are highlighted in this study.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19867) doi:10.2196/19867

KEYWORDS

RenderX

pediatrics; mental health; stay-at-home orders; health technology; digital interventions; social distancing; COVID-19

Introduction

Due to the spread of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19), people in many counties such as the United States, China, and Italy are restricted from leaving homes for anything other than essential activities [1-4]. The long-term home confinement has adverse effects on children's physical and mental health to a certain degree [5]. Studies have shown that children who experienced quarantine are more likely to report high depressive and stress symptoms [6,7]. Longer duration of home confinement may result in poor mental health and avoidance behaviors [5]. Since children are not engaged in their "normal" class schedules, they may be experiencing fewer physical activities, irregular sleep rhythm and unhealthy diets, and longer smartphone screen exposure, resulting in physical problems such as increased body mass and decreased cardiopulmonary fitness [8]. Children's mental and behavioral health are vulnerable to risks from the external environment, which will impact their development when they grow up [9]. Limited outdoor activities and lack of interaction with peers have a psychological impact on children as well. Lacking face-to-face contact with classmates and friends, and having a lack of personal space may also be detrimental to children's overall health [5,8]. These negative influences have been reported to be as risky as other traumatic experiences [10], so it is warranted to address children's mental and behavioral health.

Psychogenic and Stress Reduction

Stress response [11] refers to the human body's physical and mental response to an awareness of major changes or threats. Emotional states and clinical symptoms are influenced by the crisis, requiring psychological assistance and care. Anxiety and depression are common emotional reactions [12-14]. Specifically, preschool children may cry more and become clingy to others; school-aged children may be more nervous and scared, and repeatedly ask parents about the situation of the pandemic. Adolescents may have worries, irritability, and tantrums; some adolescents spend a lot of time watching the news about the pandemic [15]. Children of different ages may all experience poor appetite, insomnia, nightmares, etc [16,17].

Psychological and Behavioral Changes Caused by Stress Response

Mild stress or chronic stress response is manifested as mild emotional, cognitive, and physical symptoms, which has little effect on daily life [18]. Moderate stress response can last for a few hours, and it affects physical, emotional, and cognitive functions [19]. There may be increased alertness, mainly manifested as being easily frightened, accompanied by inattention, increased irritability, and anxiety. Even slight sounds can result in children's emotional instability and startled reactions. In this case, children need to seek professional psychological counseling for help. Severe stress [20] response seriously affects the life and learning abilities of children, which may lead to a series of psychotic manifestations [21]. If children have an emotional and behavioral stress reaction over 2 weeks, then they should go to the hospital for examination, diagnosis,

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19867/
```

and treatment, as well as psychiatric treatment as soon as possible to avoid prolonged illness [8].

Mild stress could increase attention, memory, and cognition in children, allowing them to adapt to changes in the external environment, which could be treated as a positive psychological response [22]. However, excessively intense stress can cause negative mental stress, such as dim consciousness; narrowed scope of consciousness; impaired attention; decreased memory, thinking, and imagination; and weakened learning ability [23]. Under stressful situations, children's attitudes toward outside could also be distorted. The narrowed scope of cognitive ability may cause children to just focus on pandemic situations, disease, and other related negative contents, and no longer care about other positive things in the surrounding environment. They are likely to pay more attention to negative consequences or bad news. Only with the recovery of the psychological disorder and ceasing to worry about the crisis can most children gradually return to a normal thinking mode and cognitive state [24].

Along with psychological stress response, the children's behaviors also seem to have changed [24]. This is the corresponding response that the body adopts to buffer the impact of stress and get rid of physical and mental tension, and adapt to the needs of the environment. Some children may have behavior inhibition reactions, such as a sense of loss and stupor, reduction of daily activities, unwillingness to communicate with others, and laziness in personal life [25]. They may also have anger, impatience, disobedience, and antagonism with families; experience interpersonal tension; and even behave with impulsive aggression [15].

For children who are infected, strict isolation in hospitals increases the distance between them and other people, which makes them feel helpless and desperate [26]. In these unfamiliar settings, children may not be able to control anxiety, cowardice, and stubbornness, thus showing resistance to treatment due to the environmental changes and fear of death. Some children with serious illness may even have symptoms such as a feeling of near-death, panic and despair, etc. Even when recovered, some children may continue to recall the details of the unpleasant experiences of being quarantined during the pandemic [27].

The Roles of Communities and Schools

Communities, neighborhoods, and schools need to be aware of this negative impact on children and take timely and effective actions to deal with these problems [28]. Online interactive courses that provide a better learning experience can promote children's healthy lifestyle while ensuring the content meets the educational needs without overburdening them. Communities or neighborhoods are usually important social resources to assist families and serve as a bridge between students and schools. Communities could invite psychologists to provide online services to cope with family conflicts, parent-child tensions, and mental health problems caused by concerns about the pandemic. Social workers in the neighborhoods play an active role in helping parents deal with family problems. This kind of social safety network is particularly useful for families in need or single-parent families.

XSL•FO RenderX

Parents Are the Closest Providers for Children

The main cause of panic during the public health crisis is that it destroys the daily life [29] that people are familiar with; in other words, it destroys the sense of security. The state of mental health is not only a bridge and link between the body and mind but also an important factor closely related to child immunity. Children's stable emotions are the most powerful protection against viruses, so it is important to pay attention to children's emotions and to manage, counsel, and intervene symptomatically.

With the premise of safety, parents should try to maintain children's daily life rhythms such as work and rest balance and regular activities. Children should focus more on adequate daily activities such as reading, indoor sports, games, and handicrafts rather than paying too much attention to information about the pandemic. Entertainment activities can effectively relax their mind and brain. Parents should ensure that children have regular meals and nutrients, a comfortable family environment, and adequate sleep. Relieving psychological stress is the premise to ensuring a stable physiological state. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, medical resources are limited to common mild diseases or chronic diseases. Meanwhile, going to health care settings may expose children to higher risks of getting infected. Point-of-care systems such as portable smart devices, [30] diagnosis technologies at home with the Internet of Things [31], and other digital interventions [32,33] play crucial roles to protect children during this period.

Families Are the Frontline Psychological Counselors for Children

Parents are the first and best teachers for children, and good educational style becomes particularly important during the period of the pandemic. In addition to monitoring children's performance and behavior, parents also need to respect children's sense of identity and needs, and help them improve self-management capabilities. During the public health emergency, adolescents who have a certain degree of education will be exposed to a large amount of information related to the pandemic [24]. Parents should actively communicate with adolescents with effective ways to help them relieve anxiety and avoid panic. A good parenting style can strengthen family bonds and satisfy children's psychological needs [34,35]. On

the other hand, staying at home instead becomes a wonderful opportunity to strengthen parent-child relationships, facilitating children to actively participate in housework and improve abilities to take care of themselves.

During this special period, many parents are also prone to emotional instability and some of them even have quarrels and conflicts. These tensions and insecurity may be transmitted to the children with increased stress response [35]. Relieving stress helps children feel the safety and harmony of the family environment. Parents need to learn to perceive and adjust their emotions. For preschool children, when the child is crying and clings to others, parents could comfort them by touching and hugging, and could play games with them to relax and divert their attention; for school-age children and adolescents, parents need to listen patiently and accept their emotions when they are nervous. The attitudes of parental acceptance could help children restore calm. In contrast, if parents cannot listen patiently, but are eager to refute, reason, or even rebuke, this may only escalate the children's negative emotions.

Receiving scientific and objective information can reduce children's anxiety and promote their emotional stability. Many teenagers have access to relevant information but may be emotionally fluctuated by some misleading information on the internet. If they are too aggressive or indifferent, then parents should take actions to discuss and help them identify scientific and objective information by referring to official and authoritative sources. Paying more attention to the positive information in the news could increase the sense of hope.

The panic caused by the disease stems from the worst result it may cause; however, health care researchers and scientists from around the world have provided people with a large amount of scientifically feasible prevention knowledge and information [36,37]. Parents are supposed to work with children to develop disease prevention approaches based on their family's characteristics. Children should be encouraged to communicate with friends and families by phone or internet, which could increase their sense of connection with the same situation—an effective psychological protection against the feeling of isolation and helplessness.

The COVID-19 pandemic has become a new normal around the world [38]. Quarantine and social distancing are becoming regular features of people's daily life. Textbox 1 illustrates the negative influences of the long-term effects of physical and social isolation, and interventions for children.

Textbox 1. Impacts of the global public health emergency on children's mental and behavioral health and possible interventions.

Loneliness and relevant sequelae [39]
Using social media to bridge social distance [40,41]
Distress [42]
Open communication and discussions should be encouraged in case parents are underestimating children's concerns [12,42].
Anxiety, depression [43]
Tracking and reducing sustained feelings of loneliness [44]
Self-harm or suicide [45]
Promoting children's sense of belonging [46]

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19867/

Implications to Clinical Practice

The emerging technologies have been playing an increasingly more crucial role during the COVID-19 pandemic [47]. Providers should take timely actions to ensure children's immediate health care needs are addressed, and children's families are supposed to be actively engaged. Since face-to-face care has become less accessible, remote consultation and diagnosis are more suitable. Telehealth has the capacity and is appropriate for pediatric specialists to provide services during the pandemic, but health care providers need clear evidence-based guidelines to support children's mental and behavioral health [48]. Children with mental illnesses are especially vulnerable during the quarantine and social distancing period. The inclusion of psychosocial support for children and

Figure 1. Psychological therapeutic interventions and approaches.

their families are part of the health responses to disaster and disaster recovery. Pediatric clinical practices should reserve inpatient facilities for those children and adolescents for whom outpatient measures are not an adequate clinical option while using outpatient treatment options to the greatest extent possible. Adopting telehealth and telemedicine services enables the increased reliance on remote consultation and diagnosis, which further ramps up other necessary health care deliveries at children's homes.

Meanwhile, psychological therapeutic practices could be alternative intervention approaches for children's mental and behavioral health. Figure 1 demonstrates five common therapeutic approaches that could be applied to children with the guidance of health care providers and assistance from families.



Bibliotherapy involves storytelling and reading specific texts with the purpose of healing; through these cost-effective activities, children who have severe mental conditions could be adjusted to moderate or mild symptoms [49]. Chromotherapy leverages the color spectrum of light to balance energy on an emotional, physical, or spiritual level, thus aiding children with mental illnesses [50]. Children could also listen to music to promote wellness and manage stress, since this evidence-based intervention has been shown to improve emotional, cognitive, and communicative health and quality of life [51,52]. Additionally, with the guidance of health care professionals, parents may use aromatherapy to improve the physical health and spirits of children. Aromatherapy is a complementary treatment that uses essential oils medicinally to improve psychological, or behavioral health physical, [53]. Emotion-focused therapy (EFT) provides therapeutic approaches to connect parents and children, therefore improving problematic psychological states and interpersonal relationships. Meanwhile, EFT could consolidate the security gained through these new patterns of connection and restructure family's interactions [54].

Discussion

Families are the warmest havens for children. Parents are the closest supporters and protectors of children during the global pandemic. Maintaining close and open communication with children is the key to identifying their physical and mental health problems, and it provides corresponding actions and support. Psychological crisis interventions targeted to different psychological problems for different age groups should be conducted to reduce the psychological traumas and subsequent psychosocial problems caused by the pandemic. Communities and schools are playing unique and vital roles in supporting children by providing effective interventions with high efficacy. Parents and families should take more care of children's mental health in their early life pathways, as good educational strategies are particularly important during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Even though the world has been struggling to curb the influences of the pandemic, the quarantine and social distancing policies will have long-term impacts on children. Innovative digital solutions and informatics tools are needed more than ever to

RenderX

support the health care systems, thus mitigating the negative consequences on children. Diverse works have been introduced and mobilized around the world. For instance, interactive data visualization tools have been used to display the pandemic information [55], mobile health apps have been used to track symptoms and contact tracing [56], and data-driven models and advanced algorithms have been employed to predict pandemic situations, which helps different parties and departments to make responses [47].

Future research on mental and behavioral health of pediatrics should pay more attention to novel solutions that incorporate interdisciplinary interactive technologies and digital approaches; leveraging considerable advances in pervasive or ubiquitous computing, human-computer interaction, and health informatics among many others. Health care delivery and services should envision and implement innovative paradigms to meet broad well-being needs and children's health as the quarantine and social distancing over a longer term becomes a new reality [57]. Digital approaches, health technologies, and informatics are supposed to be designed and implemented to support public health surveillance and critical responses to children's growth and development. For instance, human-computer interactions, augmented reality, and virtual reality could be incorporated to remote psychological supporting services for children's health; mobile technologies could be used to monitor children's mental and behavioral health while protecting their individual privacy; big data and artificial intelligence could be used to support decision-making on whether children should go out for physical activities and whether schools should be reopened.

Conclusions

The physical and mental health of pediatrics directly affect their growth. Paying attention to the children and adolescents during the global public health emergency is of special social significance and clinical value for preventing the occurrence of mental disorders and adverse events. Humanistic care and psychological interventions for children should be included in the response strategies for the COVID-19 pandemic. The emerging digital applications and health services such as telehealth, social media, mobile health, and remote interactive online education are able to bridge the social distance and support mental and behavioral health for child populations. Health care delivery and services should envision and implement innovative paradigms to meet broad well-being needs and children's health as the guarantine and social distancing over a longer term become a new reality. Digital approaches, health technologies, and informatics should be designed and implemented to support public health surveillance and critical responses to children's growth and future development.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Gostin LO, Wiley LF. Governmental public health powers during the COVID-19 pandemic: stay-at-home orders, business closures, and travel restrictions. JAMA 2020 Apr 02. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.5460] [Medline: 32239184]
- 2. Fowler JH, Hill S, Levin R, Obradovich N. The effect of stay-at-home orders on COVID-19 cases and fatalities in the United States [preprint]. arXiv 2020.
- Sjödin H, Wilder-Smith A, Osman S, Farooq Z, Rocklöv J. Only strict quarantine measures can curb the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak in Italy, 2020. Euro Surveill 2020 Apr;25(13) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.13.2000280] [Medline: 32265005]
- 4. Tang B, Xia F, Tang S, Bragazzi NL, Li Q, Sun X, et al. The effectiveness of quarantine and isolation determine the trend of the COVID-19 epidemics in the final phase of the current outbreak in China. Int J Infect Dis 2020 Jun;95:288-293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.03.018] [Medline: 32171948]
- Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. Lancet 2020 Mar;395(10227):912-920. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30460-8]
- Liu X, Kakade M, Fuller CJ, Fan B, Fang Y, Kong J, et al. Depression after exposure to stressful events: lessons learned from the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic. Compr Psychiatry 2012 Jan;53(1):15-23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2011.02.003] [Medline: 21489421]
- Sprang G, Silman M. Posttraumatic stress disorder in parents and youth after health-related disasters. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2013 Feb;7(1):105-110. [doi: <u>10.1017/dmp.2013.22</u>] [Medline: <u>24618142</u>]
- Wang G, Zhang Y, Zhao J, Zhang J, Jiang F. Mitigate the effects of home confinement on children during the COVID-19 outbreak. Lancet 2020 Mar;395(10228):945-947. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30547-x</u>]
- Clark H, Coll-Seck AM, Banerjee A, Peterson S, Dalglish SL, Ameratunga S, et al. A future for the world's children? A WHO-UNICEF-Lancet Commission. Lancet 2020 Feb 22;395(10224):605-658. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32540-1</u>] [Medline: <u>32085821</u>]
- Xie X, Xue Q, Zhou Y, Zhu K, Liu Q, Zhang J, et al. Mental health status among children in home confinement during the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak in Hubei Province, China. JAMA Pediatr 2020 Apr 24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.1619] [Medline: 32329784]

- 11. Horowitz M. Stress response syndromes. Character style and dynamic psychotherapy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1974 Dec;31(6):768-781. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1974.01760180012002] [Medline: 4441245]
- 12. Dalton L, Rapa E, Stein A. Protecting the psychological health of children through effective communication about COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 May;4(5):346-347. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30097-3]
- Corbett GA, Milne SJ, Hehir MP, Lindow SW, O'connell MP. Health anxiety and behavioural changes of pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2020 Jun;249:96-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejogrb.2020.04.022</u>] [Medline: <u>32317197</u>]
- Chen Y, Zhou H, Zhou Y, Zhou F. Prevalence of self-reported depression and anxiety among pediatric medical staff members during the COVID-19 outbreak in Guiyang, China. Psychiatry Res 2020 Jun;288:113005 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113005] [Medline: 32315886]
- Jiao WY, Wang LN, Liu J, Fang SF, Jiao FY, Pettoello-Mantovani M, et al. Behavioral and emotional disorders in children during the COVID-19 epidemic. J Pediatr 2020 Jun;221:264-266.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.03.013] [Medline: 32248989]
- Clore J, Dean S, Kumral AV, Manthe E, Ertl S. Teenager with abdominal pain and decreased appetite. Pediatrics 2020 May;145(5). [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2019-2233</u>] [Medline: <u>32350022</u>]
- Li X, Yu H, Bian G, Hu Z, Liu X, Zhou Q, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and clinical correlates of insomnia in volunteer and at home medical staff during the COVID-19. Brain Behav Immun 2020 Jul;87:140-141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.008] [Medline: 32380272]
- 18. Willner P, Muscat R, Papp M. Chronic mild stress-induced anhedonia: a realistic animal model of depression. Neurosci Biobehavioral Rev 1992 Jan;16(4):525-534. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0149-7634(05)80194-0</u>]
- Reeves T, Stace JM. Improving patient access and choice: Assisted Bibliotherapy for mild to moderate stress/anxiety in primary care. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 2005 Jun;12(3):341-346. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2850.2005.00845.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15876242</u>]
- 20. Folkman S. Positive psychological states and coping with severe stress. Soc Sci Med 1997 Oct;45(8):1207-1221. [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(97)00040-3]
- Niinemets Ü. Mild versus severe stress and BVOCs: thresholds, priming and consequences. Trends Plant Sci 2010 Mar;15(3):145-153. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.tplants.2009.11.008</u>] [Medline: <u>20006534</u>]
- 22. Vogel S, Schwabe L. Learning and memory under stress: implications for the classroom. NPJ Sci Learn 2016;1:16011 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/npjscilearn.2016.11] [Medline: 30792896]
- 23. Staal M. Stress, cognition, and human performance: A literature review and conceptual framework. NASA Ames Research Center 2004.
- 24. Zhang J, Shuai L, Yu H, Wang Z, Qiu M, Lu L, et al. Acute stress, behavioural symptoms and mood states among school-age children with attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder during the COVID-19 outbreak. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Apr 09;51:102077 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102077] [Medline: 32315967]
- 25. Sarto F, Impellizzeri FM, Spörri J, Porcelli S, Olmo J, Requena B, et al. Impact of potential physiological changes due to COVID-19 home confinement on athlete health protection in elite sports: a call for awareness in sports programming. Sports Med 2020 May 28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40279-020-01297-6] [Medline: 32468329]
- 26. Liu JJ, Bao Y, Huang X, Shi J, Lu L. Mental health considerations for children quarantined because of COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 May;4(5):347-349. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30096-1]
- 27. Orgilés M, Morales A, Delvecchio E, Mazzeschi C, Espada JP. Immediate psychological effects of the COVID-19 quarantine in youth from Italy and Spain. PsyArXiv 2020. [doi: <u>10.31234/osf.io/qaz9w</u>]
- 28. Ebrahim SH, Ahmed QA, Gozzer E, Schlagenhauf P, Memish ZA. Covid-19 and community mitigation strategies in a pandemic. BMJ 2020 Mar 17;368:m1066. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1066] [Medline: 32184233]
- 29. Polizzi C, Lynn SJ, Perry A. Stress and coping in the time of COVID-19: pathways to resilience and recovery. Clin Neuropsychiatry 2020;17(2). [doi: 10.36131/CN20200204]
- Zhang J, Fu R, Xie L, Li Q, Zhou W, Wang R, et al. A smart device for label-free and real-time detection of gene point mutations based on the high dark phase contrast of vapor condensation. Lab Chip 2015 Oct 07;15(19):3891-3896. [doi: 10.1039/c5lc00488h] [Medline: 26266399]
- 31. Ye J, Li N, Lu Y, Cheng J, Xu Y. A portable urine analyzer based on colorimetric detection. Analytical Methods 2017;9(16):2464-2471. [doi: 10.1039/c7ay00780a]
- Berbyuk Lindström N, Rodríguez Pozo R. Perspectives of nurses and doulas on the use of information and communication technology in intercultural pediatric care: qualitative pilot study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Mar 17;3(1):e16545 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16545] [Medline: 32181748]
- Tozzi F, Nicolaidou I, Galani A, Antoniades A. eHealth interventions for anxiety management targeting young children and adolescents: exploratory review. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 May 10;1(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.7248] [Medline: 31518330]
- Coyne LW, Gould ER, Grimaldi M, Wilson KG, Baffuto G, Biglan A. First things first: parent psychological flexibility and self-compassion during COVID-19. Behav Anal Pract 2020 May 06:1-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s40617-020-00435-w</u>] [Medline: <u>32377315</u>]

RenderX

- 35. Cluver L, Lachman JM, Sherr L, Wessels I, Krug E, Rakotomalala S, et al. Parenting in a time of COVID-19. Lancet 2020 Apr;395(10231):e64. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30736-4]
- 36. Duan L, Zhu G. Psychological interventions for people affected by the COVID-19 epidemic. Lancet Psychiatry 2020 Apr;7(4):300-302. [doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30073-0]
- 37. Lewnard JA, Lo NC. Scientific and ethical basis for social-distancing interventions against COVID-19. Lancet Infect Dis 2020 Jun;20(6):631-633. [doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30190-0]
- Bowdle A, Munoz-Price LS. Preventing infection of patients and healthcare workers should be the new normal in the era of novel coronavirus epidemics. Anesthesiology 2020 Jun;132(6):1292-1295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ALN.00000000003295] [Medline: 32195701]
- Galea S, Merchant RM, Lurie N. The mental health consequences of COVID-19 and physical distancing: the need for prevention and early intervention. JAMA Intern Med 2020 Apr 10. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1562</u>] [Medline: <u>32275292</u>]
- 40. Merchant RM. Evaluating the potential role of social media in preventive health care. JAMA 2020 Jan 10. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.21084] [Medline: 31922532]
- Merchant RM, Lurie N. Social media and emergency preparedness in response to novel coronavirus. JAMA 2020 Mar 23. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2020.4469</u>] [Medline: <u>32202611</u>]
- 42. Pfefferbaum B, North CS. Mental health and the Covid-19 pandemic. N Engl J Med 2020 Apr 13. [doi: 10.1056/nejmp2008017]
- 43. Elovainio M, Hakulinen C, Pulkki-Råback L, Virtanen M, Josefsson K, Jokela M, et al. Contribution of risk factors to excess mortality in isolated and lonely individuals: an analysis of data from the UK Biobank cohort study. Lancet Public Health 2017 Jun;2(6):e260-e266. [doi: 10.1016/s2468-2667(17)30075-0]
- 44. Crawley E, Loades M, Feder G, Logan S, Redwood S, Macleod J. Wider collateral damage to children in the UK because of the social distancing measures designed to reduce the impact of COVID-19 in adults. BMJ Paediatr Open 2020;4(1):e000701 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjpo-2020-000701] [Medline: 32420459]
- 45. Matthews T, Danese A, Caspi A, Fisher HL, Goldman-Mellor S, Kepa A, et al. Lonely young adults in modern Britain: findings from an epidemiological cohort study. Psychol Med 2018 Apr 24;49(2):268-277. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291718000788]
- 46. Loades ME, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, Reynolds S, Shafran R, Brigden A, et al. Rapid systematic review: the impact of social isolation and loneliness on the mental health of children and adolescents in the context of COVID-19. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020 Jun 03 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.05.009] [Medline: 32504808]
- 47. Ye J. The role of health technology and informatics in a global public health emergency: practices and implications from the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Jun 21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19866] [Medline: 32568725]
- Badawy SM, Radovic A. Digital approaches to remote pediatric health care delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic: existing evidence and a call for further research. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Jun 25;3(1):e20049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20049] [Medline: 32540841]
- 49. Ackerson J, Scogin F, McKendree-Smith N, Lyman RD. Cognitive bibliotherapy for mild and moderate adolescent depressive symptomatology. J Consult Clin Psychol 1998;66(4):685-690. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.66.4.685]
- 50. Zola N, Fadli R, Ifdil I. Chromotherapy to reducing stress. Open Science Framework 2018. [doi: 10.31219/osf.io/dvwer]
- Yinger OS, Gooding L. Music therapy and music medicine for children and adolescents. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2014 Jul;23(3):535-553. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chc.2013.03.003</u>] [Medline: <u>24975624</u>]
- 52. McCaffrey T, Edwards J, Fannon D. Is there a role for music therapy in the recovery approach in mental health? Arts Psychother 2011 Jul;38(3):185-189. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.aip.2011.04.006</u>]
- 53. Solomons S. Using aromatherapy massage to increase shared attention behaviours in children with autistic spectrum disorders and severe learning difficulties. Br J Special Education 2005 Aug 31;32(3):127-137. [doi: 10.1111/j.0952-3383.2005.00385.x]
- 54. Johnson S. Attachment Theory in Practice: Emotionally Focused Therapy (EFT) with Individuals, Couples, and Families. New York City: Guilford Publications; 2019.
- Dong E, Du H, Gardner L. An interactive web-based dashboard to track COVID-19 in real time. Lancet Infect Dis 2020 May;20(5):533-534. [doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30120-1]
- 56. Cho H, Ippolito D, Yu YW. Contact tracing mobile apps for covid-19: privacy considerations and related trade-offs [preprint]. arXiv 2020.
- 57. Ye J. Identifying significant practice facilitation delays and barriers in primary care quality improvement. J Am Board Fam Med 2020 [FREE Full text]

Abbreviations

COVID-19: coronavirus disease **EFT:** emotion-focused therapy



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 04.05.20; peer-reviewed by S Badawy, C Reidy; comments to author 05.06.20; revised version received 16.06.20; accepted 07.07.20; published 28.07.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ye J Pediatric Mental and Behavioral Health in the Period of Quarantine and Social Distancing With COVID-19 JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19867 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19867/ doi:10.2196/19867 PMID:32634105

©Jiancheng Ye. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.07.2020. This is an article distributed under of the Creative Commons open-access the terms Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Management and Treatment of Concussions via Tele-Concussion in a Pediatric Setting: Methodological Approach and Descriptive Analysis

Todd Caze II^{1,2}, PhD; Gregory P Knell^{1,3,4}, MS, PhD; John Abt¹, PhD; Scott O Burkhart¹, PsyD

¹Children's Health Andrew's Insitute, Plano, TX, United States

²University of Texas-Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, United States

⁴Center for Pediatric Population Health, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Todd Caze II, PhD Children's Health Andrew's Insitute Unit T1200 7211 Preston RD Plano, TX United States Phone: 1 4802968847 Email: todd.caze@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Approximately 2 million children in the United States sustain a concussion annually, resulting in an economic impact as high as US \$20 billion. Patients who receive treatment at concussion specialty clinics, versus primary care, experience faster recovery, thereby reducing patient burden and subsequent medical-related costs. Accessibility to specialty clinics is typically limited by the availability of in-office visits. This is particularly relevant in light of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 pandemic and subsequent guidance to eliminate all non-medically necessary in-clinic visits. Telehealth has been used to effectively deliver in-clinic care across several disciplines including psychiatry, psychology, and neuropsychology. However, a model of telehealth delivered concussion assessment, treatment, and management has not been established.

Objective: The purposes of this paper are to describe a pediatric concussion specialty clinic's experiences in delivering telehealth concussion services and to provide preliminary descriptive data on a sample of pediatric telehealth patients with concussions.

Methods: The specialty pediatric concussion clinic described here began providing telehealth services in 2019 and is part of the largest and fastest-growing telehealth hospital network in the United States. The clinical care process will be described, including accessing the telehealth platform, assessment during the initial appointment, injury management including communication with relevant patient stakeholders (eg, parent or guardians, athletic trainers), dissemination of rehabilitation exercises, and nature of follow-up visits. Descriptive data will include patient demographics, the radius of care, the time between the date of injury and initial visit, the average number of follow-up visits, and days until medically cleared for return-to-learn and return-to-play.

Results: The analytic sample included 18 patients with concussions who were seen for all of their visits via telehealth between August 2019 and April 2020. The mean age of the sample was 14.5 (SD 2.5) years. The radius of care was a median of 17 (IQR 11.0-31.0) miles from the clinic with a median time between injury and the first visit of 21 (IQR 6.0-41.5) days. The mean number of visits was 2.2 (SD 0.8) with a median days between visits of 5.4 (IQR 3.0-9.3) to manage and treat the concussion. Of the 18 patients, 55.6% (n=10) were medically cleared for return-to-learn or -play in a median of 15.5 (IQR 11.0-29.0) days.

Conclusions: Limited access to health care is a well-understood barrier for receiving quality care. Subsequently, there are increasing demands for flexibility in delivering concussion services remotely and in-clinic. This is the first paper to provide a clinically relevant framework for the assessment, management, and treatment of acute concussion via telehealth in a pediatric population.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19924) doi:10.2196/19924



³Department of Epidemiology, Human Genetics, and Environmental Sciences, The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

KEYWORDS

brain concussion; athletic injuries; sports injuries; telemedicine; eHealth; mHealth; telehealth; mobile health; adolescent; child; COVID-19

Introduction

Background

Sport-related concussions (SRCs) are a significant public health concern in the United States [1]. The prevalence rate of SRCs among US children (<18 years) is approximately 1400-2400 per 100,000 children, amounting to 1.9 million annual cases [2]. Pediatric SRCs increase the risk of short-term health problems including neurobehavioral changes (eg, fatigue, nervousness or irritability), cognitive impairment (eg, slowed reaction times, difficultly in concentrating), sleep disturbances, somatic symptoms (eg, nausea, vomiting, dizziness), or emotional symptoms [3]. Long-term problems include psychosocial outcomes (eg, hyperactivity, inattention) [4] during later childhood years and psychiatric disorders and premature mortality in adulthood [5]. These poor health outcomes related to concussions lead to a staggering economic impact on society [6]. There is evidence, however, that early diagnosis and treatment decrease symptom severity and reduce recovery time, diminishing the risk of short- and possibly long-term health outcomes [4,7].

Current Status

Recent advancements in the understanding of concussion management have resulted in better outcomes for patients. Beginning in 2001 the Concussion in Sport Group began releasing international consensus statements with recommended guidelines for the identification and management of concussions [8]. Over the past four consensus statements, return-to-learn (RTL) and return-to-play (RTP) guidelines have become more prescriptive and step-wise. RTL currently includes systematic progression from minimum academic activity with accommodations to a gradual increase in performing all academic activities equivalent to before injury [9]. RTP currently includes systematic progression from minimum physical activity to eventual full-return of sport-specific activity, including full-contact practice [9]. This step-wise progression for RTP has resulted in an increase in average days of recovery in high school and collegiate athletes, as well as a significant reduction in the number of repeated concussions and duration between multiple concussions [10]. Additionally, international and national consensus statements advocate for targeted referrals to specialty clinics (eg, physical, vestibular, or cervical therapy). These specialty clinics then hold the responsibility to determine RTP and RTL [10-12]. Accordingly, there has been an increase in referrals to specialty multidisciplinary concussion clinics based on the evolution of concussion consensus statements and guidelines [13].

Challenges

Despite an increased need for specialty concussion clinics, access is limited. It is well documented [14] that the physical distance between patients and clinics limits patient accessibility. This assumes the patient has access to a reliable mode of personal or public transportation. Given that concussion

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19924
```

specialty clinics are relatively rare in the United States and typically only located in major metropolitan areas [15,16], access for the majority of US residents including those residing in rural areas is particularly limited. The scarcity of specialty concussion clinics further limits the availability of appointments and makes it difficult to receive appropriate care in the acute phase of injury [17,18]. This is important because early symptom burden is often the strongest predictor of recovery [19], with targeted interventions being more effective than rest and graded-exertion alone [20].

A possible mechanism to overcome the issue of accessibility is remotely delivered care or telehealth. Telehealth platforms have been used to effectively deliver in-clinic care across several disciplines including primary care, neurology, behavioral health, psychiatry, and neuropsychology [21-25]. Research shows no difference in patient ratings of therapeutic alliance and treatment satisfaction of in-clinic visits versus telehealth platforms, including concussion care and management delivered through telehealth (tele-concussion) specifically [26]. Despite some preliminary evidence on the efficacy of tele-concussion, few providers offer these services. However, the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) outbreak in March 2020 forced many providers to offer telehealth services to slow transmission by limiting person-to-person exposures [27]. This recent rise in tele-services and general overall client satisfaction will likely lend itself to a further increase in use of telemedicine [28].

Solutions

However, best practices for telehealth delivery for the assessment, treatment, and management of concussions have not been established. The primary purpose of this paper is to describe the methodological approaches of one pediatric concussion clinic's transition to tele-concussion. We will also provide preliminary descriptive data on a sample of pediatric telehealth patients with concussions. Providing an example of how one clinic implements tele-concussion services can spur other providers to work through concerns and implementation logistics. In addition, preliminary descriptive data can help the field in discerning what are important variables to consider in future empirical validation studies on tele-concussion.

Methods of Service Delivery

Children's Health Andrews Institute

Children's Health Andrews Institute (CHAI) is a pediatric sports medicine and orthopedic clinic located in the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. Within CHAI, there are several specialty clinics including a concussion clinic. This multidisciplinary concussion clinic saw over 600 new pediatric concussions in 2019 with a portion of those seen via telehealth for follow-up visits only. Following the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak, CHAI began a transition to an all telehealth setting for all patient visits in March 2020. To have an understanding of the clinic's

XSL•FO RenderX

methodological approach to tele-concussion, we will provide a brief overview of the in-person approach.

In-Person Clinic Methods

Consistent with consensus guidelines [9], once a patient is suspected of sustaining a concussion, they are evaluated in-clinic and provided targeted recommendations for RTL and RTP. This initial evaluation includes a brief clinical interview along with symptom, vestibular, ocular motor, and cognitive screening. Once concussion diagnosis is confirmed, the patient is given paperwork outlining individualized RTL and RTP progressions that the patient disseminates to necessary school personnel. Outside specialty referrals are made as necessary (eg, physical therapy, vestibular therapy) and follow-up visits scheduled.

During the follow-up visit, progress and recovery are re-evaluated through a brief clinical interview; symptom screening; and vestibular, ocular motor, and cognitive functioning screening. This aggregate data informs modifications to recovery protocols for RTL and RTP. If recovery is not progressing or symptoms are worsening, a referral is made (eg, physical therapy). Depending on progression of RTL and RTP protocols, patients may require additional follow-up visits.

At a patient's clearance and final visit, the treating provider determines if the patient has successfully completed RTL and RTP protocols. During the final visit, a clinical interview; symptom endorsement; and vestibular, ocular motor, and cognitive functioning screening are conducted to determine if the patient has returned to their baseline levels. Once cleared by treatment provider, the patient is provided a medical clearance note for school and sports. Although the total number of visits vary, the average is 2-3 visits spanning over several weeks.

Tele-Concussion Clinic Methods

The first step in transitioning an in-clinic concussion management program to a telehealth delivered program is to establish a video delivery platform accessible to patient and provider. There are various telehealth platforms that can serve as this communication tool. It is important to discuss with your organization which platforms are compliant with their institutional policies and standards such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPPA). The CHAI concussion clinic uses an internal entity, which patients can access via a website or mobile app (requires downloading to a mobile device), though other HIPPA compliant telehealth videoconferencing platforms can be used.

The second step that should be considered in transitioning an in-clinic concussion management program to a telehealth delivered program is to convert all patient materials that are typically delivered or provided to the patient in hard copies into digital copies. At CHAI, this includes a patient handout describing what a concussion is and general tips to help maximize recovery. These materials are delivered to patients at CHAI through an internal patient portal, but they could also be delivered via email or other patient portals if available through a hospital network. The third step in this transition is to convert all testing delivered to the patient in-clinic to a virtual delivery. In the CHAI concussion clinic, this included the Post-Concussive Symptom Checklist (PCSS) [29], the Vestibular Ocular Motor Screener (VOMS) [30], and computerized neurocognitive testing. The PCSS is a self-reported symptom checklist that was converted to a digital form that can be delivered to the patient via email or patient portal. If administered on a digital platform (eg, RedCap, My Patient Portal), the patient can receive, complete, and return the form online. Otherwise, the patient may have to print the document, complete it, and scan or return it to the provider. In the CHAI concussion clinic, patients fill out the PCSS online via patient portal at the beginning of their virtual visit. For the VOMS, there are several steps necessary to administer this screening tool virtually. First, patients are informed prior to their visit that the following materials are needed: a ruler with centimeters, a pencil, and a metronome (this can be through a mobile phone app or online). Prior to administration of the VOMS, patients are instructed to have their cameras positioned so the clinician can see their eye movements during the screening. Second, similar to in-person administration, a baseline for symptoms (Likert-scale 0-10) of headache, dizziness, nausea, and fatigue are collected. After a baseline of symptoms are collected, in-person administration of the VOMS requires the clinician to provide the stimulus to guide the patient in performing the vestibular and ocular movements of the screening while noting if any of these movement patterns provoke symptoms (an increase from baseline symptoms collected). For telehealth, the clinician is still guiding the patient through movements, but they are now directing the patient on how they can do these movements on their own. This requires the clinician to first demonstrate how to use a pencil to perform the movements of the ocular screening portion of the VOMS: smooth pursuits, vertical and horizontal saccades, and convergence with the additional use of a ruler in centimeters. Each portion of the ocular motor screening is demonstrated by the clinician and then practiced by the patient to ensure accuracy. Once the patient is able to perform a specific portion of the ocular screening, such as smooth pursuits, the patient then rerates symptoms of headache, dizziness, nausea, and fatigue to note if that movement pattern resulted in symptom provocation. The clinician then demonstrates with pencil and metronome how the patient is to perform movements of the vestibular screening of the VOMS: horizontal and vertical vestibular-ocular reflex, and visual motion sensitivity test. Similar to the ocular motor section of the VOMS, each portion of the vestibular screening is demonstrated by the clinician and then practiced by the patient to ensure accuracy. Once the patient is able to perform a specific portion of the vestibular screening, such as vestibular-ocular reflex, the patient then rerates symptoms of headache, dizziness, nausea, and fatigue to note if that movement pattern resulted in symptom provocation. For computerized neurocognitive testing, similar to in-person visits, supervision of testing is provided during telehealth visits.

The fourth step in this process is to prepare any other materials for a postclinic visit that may be needed to supplement care. Similar to in-person visits, individualized paperwork outlining RTL and RTP are provided to the patient but through the patient

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19924
```

XSL•FO

portal. This paperwork is then disseminated to necessary school personnel by the patient.

Finally, the actual patient visit requires some steps to successfully transition an in-clinic concussion management program to a telehealth delivered program. Although patient clinical care in the tele-concussion clinic is similar to the in-person clinic, an important difference is the previsit preparation. Before the initial visit or assessment the patient's parents or guardians are emailed instructions on how to access the virtual health platform. Patients are instructed to log into the telehealth app prior (approximately 15 minutes) to all appointments to troubleshoot any technical difficulties that may arise. A member of the concussion clinical team is made available to the patient via telehealth, if necessary, to assist with any problems connecting. All other elements of the tele-concussion visits remain the same as the in-person (referrals to specialty clinics, etc).

concussions. Descriptive statistics on patient demographics (age, sex, race or ethnicity, and patient location), patient visits (time to first visit, total number of visits, time between visits), and patient recovery (recovery time, medical clearance) were evaluated for missingness and normality, and reported appropriately as proportions, means, medians, and ranges.

All data were collected from a deidentified clinical database and received exempt status from the Children's Health Institutional Review Board.

Evaluation Outcomes

Participants' (N=18) age ranged from 9-20 years, with a mean of 14.5 (SD 2.5) years. The majority of patients (n=14, 77.8%) were female, non-Hispanic White (n=14, 77.8%), located in-state (n=17, 94.4%), and medically cleared for RTP or RTL (n=10, 56.6%). Participants were located in a median of 17 (IQR 11.0-31.0) miles from the CHAI and required a mean of 2.2 (SD 0.8) visits. There was a median of 5.4 (IQR 3.0-9.3) days between visits, and patients took a median of 15.5 (IQR 11.0-29.0) days to recover fully (see Table 1 for more details).

Preliminary Data

A secondary objective of this paper is to provide preliminary descriptive data on a sample of pediatric telehealth patients with

 Table 1. Descriptive statistics on patients using a pediatric tele-concussion clinic, 2019-2020 (N=18).

Characteristic	Value	
Age (years), mean (SD)	14.5 (2.5)	
Sex, n (%)		
Male	4 (22.2)	
Female	14 (77.8)	
Race/ethnicity, n (%)		
Non-Hispanic White	14 (77.8)	
Hispanic	3 (16.7)	
Non-Hispanic Black	1 (5.6)	
Patient location		
In state, n (%)	17 (94.4)	
Distance from clinic (miles), median (IQR)	17 (11.0-31.0)	
Distance from clinic (miles), range	2-863	
Patient visits		
Time to first visit (days), median (IQR)	21 (6.0-41.5)	
Time between visits (days), median (IQR)	5.4 (3.0-9.3)	
Total number of visits, mean (SD)	2.2 (0.8)	
Total number of visits, range	1-4	
Patient recovery		
Recovery time (days), median (IQR)	15.5 (11.0-29.0)	
Medically cleared, n (%)	10 (55.6)	

Discussion

RenderX

Telehealth for Concussion Care

In the wake of the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak, general medicine and specialty clinics are rapidly adapting delivery of clinical care. Consistent with the primary objective of this paper, the

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19924

methodology of converting a specialty clinic's in-person visit to a telehealth visit were described. Telehealth for concussion care was initially implemented at this clinic starting in 2019. This previous experience in telehealth delivery allowed for an easier transition to all telehealth visits when mandated by the

hospital system on March 17, 2020, in response to the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak.

Potential Challenges of Telemedicine

This study demonstrates how to administer tele-concussion services effectively. However, this does not come without challenges. First, adapting administration of measures such as VOMS to telehealth took time and practice. At CHAI concussion clinic, providers practiced telehealth administration multiple times with one another to ensure familiarity and to troubleshoot administrative difficulties. Clinics will have to consider similar preliminary exercises for any measures delivered via telehealth.

Second, technical issues were unavoidable. Internet bandwidth and Wi-Fi quality varies for patients and can result in connectivity issues. In our experiences, having the patient log-in to their visit prior to the appointment provides opportunities for troubleshooting including log-in assistance. This also provides opportunities to remind patients to minimize distractions, use a larger screen (ie, computer or tablet), and maximize internet speed (ie, have others log-off shared Wi-Fi, using a phone's Wi-Fi hotspot for the device used for the visit). Other technical difficulties will inevitably arise and keeping a log of issues with resolutions as a quick reference will prove valuable. Additionally, providing the patient with a one-page document, in simple language, with visual instructions on how to access the telehealth platform and information on materials needed for the visit, such as items to assist with VOMS administration, is useful. Some telehealth platforms, including the one used in this study, may automatically disseminate this information. Although most technical difficulties can be resolved through troubleshooting, there are times a visit will simply have to be rescheduled.

Finally, outside referrals may need to be made in areas beyond your typical referral network radius, requiring a widening of known specialty providers such as physical or vestibular therapy. In rare instances, an outside referral may require the patient to travel. It is important to highlight that patients from rural areas are often accustomed to occasionally traveling longer distances for specialty care.

Future Research

The results presented herein found the average recovery time was within the expected 28-day window [19], and the number of average visits was consistent with the number of in-person clinic visits. These preliminary data demonstrate the potential utility of tele-concussion services; however, future research is needed to expand upon and validate these findings. Future studies should also include examining potential differences in access to clinic and average recovery time of tele-concussion versus in-person clinic treatment. The measures delivered via telehealth should also be validated before being widely disseminated.

Conclusions

The recent SARS-CoV-2 pandemic created unprecedented alterations to the delivery of medical care. As such, there has been an increase in specialty clinic providers transitioning treatment platforms to telemedicine. Despite the unfortunate circumstances, patient accessibility to specialty concussion clinics will increase, thus providing the opportunity for a reduction in health care costs associated with concussion management [31]. This paper highlights how one clinic transitioned tele-concussion delivery, to providing considerations for how others might embark on a similar transition. Though initial adaption to technology will present challenges, this paper presented some suggestions to facilitate the transition to telehealth. Preliminary data shows promise that the average number of visits and average recovery time are comparable to in-person clinic treatment, with future research needed to confirm these findings. To our knowledge, this is the first paper to provide a clinically relevant framework for the assessment, management, and treatment of acute concussion via telehealth in a pediatric population.

Authors' Contributions

TC II and GPK had full access to all of the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity and accuracy of the data analysis. TC II, JA, and SOB were responsible for the conceptualization and design of the study. TC II and GPK were responsible for the acquisition, statistical analysis, and interpretation of the data. All authors were responsible for the drafting and critical revision for intellectual content of the manuscript. SOB was responsible for the supervision of the study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Rivara FP, Graham R. Sports-related concussions in youth: report from the Institute of Medicine and National Research Council. JAMA 2014 Jan 15;311(3):239-240. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.282985] [Medline: 24185195]
- Bryan MA, Rowhani-Rahbar A, Comstock RD, Rivara F, Seattle Sports Concussion Research Collaborative. Sports- and recreation-related concussions in US youth. Pediatrics 2016 Jul;138(1) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-4635] [Medline: 27325635]
- 3. Willer B, Leddy JJ. Management of concussion and post-concussion syndrome. Curr Treat Options Neurol 2006 Sep;8(5):415-426. [doi: 10.1007/s11940-006-0031-9] [Medline: 16901381]

- 4. McKinlay A, Dalrymple-Alford JC, Horwood LJ, Fergusson DM. Long term psychosocial outcomes after mild head injury in early childhood. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002 Sep;73(3):281-288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jnnp.73.3.281] [Medline: 12185159]
- Sariaslan A, Sharp DJ, D'Onofrio BM, Larsson H, Fazel S. Long-term outcomes associated with traumatic brain injury in childhood and adolescence: a nationwide Swedish cohort study of a wide range of medical and social outcomes. PLoS Med 2016 Aug;13(8):e1002103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002103] [Medline: 27552147]
- 6. Humphreys I, Wood RL, Phillips CJ, Macey S. The costs of traumatic brain injury: a literature review. Clinicoecon Outcomes Res 2013;5:281-287. [doi: <u>10.2147/CEOR.S44625</u>] [Medline: <u>23836998</u>]
- Iverson GL, Gioia GA. Returning to school following sport-related concussion. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2016 May;27(2):429-436. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pmr.2015.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>27154854</u>]
- Aubry M, Cantu R, Dvorak J, Graf-Baumann T, Johnston K, Kelly J, Concussion in Sport Group. Summary and agreement statement of the First International Conference on Concussion in Sport, Vienna 2001. Recommendations for the improvement of safety and health of athletes who may suffer concussive injuries. Br J Sports Med 2002 Feb;36(1):6-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsm.36.1.6] [Medline: 11867482]
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvořák J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5 international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med 2017 Jun;51(11):838-847. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699] [Medline: 28446457]
- McCrea M, Broglio S, McAllister T, Zhou W, Zhao S, Katz B, CARE Consortium Investigators. Return to play and risk of repeat concussion in collegiate football players: comparative analysis from the NCAA Concussion Study (1999-2001) and CARE Consortium (2014-2017). Br J Sports Med 2020 Jan;54(2):102-109. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2019-100579] [Medline: 31036562]
- 11. Broglio SP, Collins MW, Williams RM, Mucha A, Kontos AP. Current and emerging rehabilitation for concussion: a review of the evidence. Clin Sports Med 2015 Apr;34(2):213-231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.csm.2014.12.005] [Medline: 25818710]
- 12. Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S, Barth J, Getchius TSD, Gioia GA, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: evaluation and management of concussion in sports: report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology 2013 Jun 11;80(24):2250-2257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd] [Medline: 23508730]
- Mitchell SH, Hildenbrand K, Pietz K. Emergency physicians' knowledge of sports-related concussion, referral patterns, and use of return to play guidelines. Athletic Training Sports Health Care 2016 Jul 27;8(5):209-215. [doi: 10.3928/19425864-20160617-01]
- Marmot M, Allen J, Bell R, Bloomer E, Goldblatt P, Consortium for the European Review of Social Determinants of Healththe Health Divide. WHO European review of social determinants of health and the health divide. Lancet 2012 Sep 15;380(9846):1011-1029. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61228-8] [Medline: 22964159]
- Rosenthal MB, Zaslavsky A, Newhouse JP. The geographic distribution of physicians revisited. Health Serv Res 2005 Dec;40(6 Pt 1):1931-1952 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00440.x] [Medline: 16336557]
- Rosenblatt RA, Andrilla CHA, Catlin M, Larson EH. Geographic and specialty distribution of US physicians trained to treat opioid use disorder. Ann Fam Med 2015;13(1):23-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1735] [Medline: 25583888]
- Cama S, Malowney M, Smith AJB, Spottswood M, Cheng E, Ostrowsky L, et al. Availability of outpatient mental health care by pediatricians and child psychiatrists in five U.S. cities. Int J Health Serv 2017 Oct;47(4):621-635. [doi: 10.1177/0020731417707492] [Medline: 28474997]
- Miller AR, Armstrong RW, Mâsse LC, Klassen AF, Shen J, O'Donnell ME. Waiting for child developmental and rehabilitation services: an overview of issues and needs. Dev Med Child Neurol 2008 Nov;50(11):815-821. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.03113.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18811706</u>]
- Iverson GL, Gardner AJ, Terry DP, Ponsford JL, Sills AK, Broshek DK, et al. Predictors of clinical recovery from concussion: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 2017 Jun;51(12):941-948 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/bjsports-2017-097729</u>] [Medline: <u>28566342</u>]
- Schneider KJ, Leddy JJ, Guskiewicz KM, Seifert T, McCrea M, Silverberg ND, et al. Rest and treatment/rehabilitation following sport-related concussion: a systematic review. Br J Sports Med 2017 Jun;51(12):930-934. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097475] [Medline: 28341726]
- Davis LE, Coleman J, Harnar J, King MK. Teleneurology: successful delivery of chronic neurologic care to 354 patients living remotely in a rural state. Telemed J E Health 2014 May;20(5):473-477. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2013.0217</u>] [Medline: <u>24617919</u>]
- 22. Fortney JC, Pyne JM, Turner EE, Farris KM, Normoyle TM, Avery MD, et al. Telepsychiatry integration of mental health services into rural primary care settings. Int Rev Psychiatry 2015;27(6):525-539. [doi: <u>10.3109/09540261.2015.1085838</u>] [Medline: <u>26634618</u>]
- Lindsay JA, Kauth MR, Hudson S, Martin LA, Ramsey DJ, Daily L, et al. Implementation of video telehealth to improve access to evidence-based psychotherapy for posttraumatic stress disorder. Telemed J E Health 2015 Jun;21(6):467-472 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0114] [Medline: 25714664]

RenderX
- Munro Cullum C, Hynan LS, Grosch M, Parikh M, Weiner MF. Teleneuropsychology: evidence for video teleconference-based neuropsychological assessment. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2014 Nov;20(10):1028-1033 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1355617714000873] [Medline: 25343269]
- 25. Wechsler LR. Advantages and limitations of teleneurology. JAMA Neurol 2015 Mar;72(3):349-354. [doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.3844] [Medline: 25580942]
- 26. McElroy M, Stephenson-Brown K, Mohler S, Elbin RJ. Comparing patient satisfaction between face-to-face and telehealth clinical visits for sport-realted concussion. Int J Exerc Sci: Conference Proc 2016;11(4):23 [FREE Full text]
- 27. Patel PD, Cobb J, Wright D, Turer R, Jordan T, Humphrey A, et al. Rapid development of telehealth capabilities within pediatric patient portal infrastructure for COVID-19 care: barriers, solutions, results. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Apr 17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa065] [Medline: 32302395]
- 28. Keshvardoost S, Bahaadinbeigy K, Fatehi F. Role of telehealth in the management of COVID-19: lessons learned from previous SARS, MERS, and Ebola outbreaks. Telemedicine and e-Health 2020 Apr 23. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2020.0105</u>]
- 29. Lovell MR, Collins MW. Neuropsychological assessment of the college football player. J Head Trauma Rehabil 1998 Apr;13(2):9-26. [doi: 10.1097/00001199-199804000-00004] [Medline: 9575253]
- Mucha A, Collins MW, Elbin RJ, Furman JM, Troutman-Enseki C, DeWolf RM, et al. A Brief Vestibular/Ocular Motor Screening (VOMS) assessment to evaluate concussions: preliminary findings. Am J Sports Med 2014 Oct;42(10):2479-2486 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0363546514543775] [Medline: 25106780]
- Silverberg ND, Gardner AJ, Brubacher JR, Panenka WJ, Li JJ, Iverson GL. Systematic review of multivariable prognostic models for mild traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma 2015 Apr 15;32(8):517-526. [doi: <u>10.1089/neu.2014.3600</u>] [Medline: <u>25222514</u>]

Abbreviations

CHAI: Children's Health Andrews Institute HIPPA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act PCSS: Post-Concussive Symptom Checklist RTL: return-to-learn RTP: return-to-play SARS-CoV-2: severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 SRC: sport-related concussions VOMS: Vestibular Ocular Motor Screener

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 06.05.20; peer-reviewed by K Tavakol, S Badawy, E Franco, E Sezgin; comments to author 21.05.20; revised version received 12.06.20; accepted 06.07.20; published 13.08.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Caze II T, Knell GP, Abt J, Burkhart SO Management and Treatment of Concussions via Tele-Concussion in a Pediatric Setting: Methodological Approach and Descriptive Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e19924 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e19924</u> doi:10.2196/19924 PMID:32634106

©Todd Caze II, Gregory P Knell, John Abt, Scott O Burkhart. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 13.08.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Patient and Clinician Perspectives on Adolescent Opioid Use Disorder Treatment During a Pandemic: One Step Back, but Two Forward?

Samuel W Stull^{1,2}, BA; Erin R McKnight^{2,3}, MPH, MD; Andrea E Bonny^{2,3,4}, MD

¹Department of Biobehavioral Health, The Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA, United States

²Division of Adolescent Medicine, Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States

³Department of Pediatrics, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

⁴Center for Clinical and Translational Research, The Research Institute at Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States

Corresponding Author:

Samuel W Stull, BA Department of Biobehavioral Health The Pennsylvania State University Biobehavioral Health Building University Park, PA, 16802 United States Phone: 1 6145518640 Email: <u>sws6084@psu.edu</u>

Abstract

Opioid use disorder (OUD) is one of the most pressing public health problems in the United States and is highly prevalent among adolescents and young adults (AYAs). However, only a small percentage of AYAs with OUD ever receive treatment. Further, among those that do receive treatment, a substantial proportion of patients continue to struggle with OUD, and many prematurely drop out of treatment. These challenges have only been heightened in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, but greater utilization of telehealth and mobile technologies by OUD patients may help counter these barriers, which ultimately may improve AYA OUD treatment in the postpandemic period. This viewpoint presents the perspective of a person in OUD recovery using online and mobile technology to support his own OUD recovery combined with thoughts from two clinicians supporting AYAs with OUD. Their perspectives may provide insights to help counter COVID-19–related consequences and offer clues to improving AYA OUD treatment in the long term.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e23463) doi:10.2196/23463

KEYWORDS

adolescent; opioid use disorder; treatment; telehealth; drug; perspective; opioid; COVID-19; young adult

Introduction

Over the last decade, opioid use disorder (OUD) has been among the most pressing public health problems for adolescents and young adults (AYAs) in the United States [1,2]. Now, matters have become even more challenging in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Treatment is more difficult to access, widening the already large treatment gap for AYAs with OUD [3]. Fatal overdoses appear to be on the rise likely as a result of social isolation (fewer bystanders available to administer overdose reversal medication) [4]. Furthermore, there is increased risk of severe COVID-19 illness among AYAs with OUD because many are immunocompromised due to smoking, chronic hepatitis, and HIV [5].

RenderX

Recent changes in the OUD treatment landscape may help counter the negative impact of COVID-19, including federal policy changes decreasing restrictions on buprenorphine prescribing [6] and increased availability of online OUD recovery services. In understanding the implications of these policy-level changes, it is important to garner the perspective of stakeholders on the "ground level," including clinicians providing OUD treatment and individuals in recovery.

We focus our viewpoint piece on the implications of changes in treatment from in-person to online clinical care, telehealth, and peer support, as well as specific aspects of entering versus maintaining OUD recovery.

Patient Perspective

My journey on the OUD recovery path, beginning as a young adult, has been built upon frequent contact with in-person social supports. I've had the privilege of supportive parents and a sober recovery environment that many AYAs with OUD do not have. I also recognize, however, that I have been consistently one of the youngest members of nearly all the mutual-support recovery meetings I have attended. This reality was only heightened when I re-enrolled in college in a small rural Ohio town, with only a few available meetings and the average age of meeting attendees was nearly 50 years old. Today, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the in-person meetings are certainly missed, but the opportunity to connect with young adults is no longer limited by geography. A plethora of online mutual support recovery meetings exist (worldwide) online. This may not only aid AYAs who are in small numbers at most mutual support recovery meetings, but also any other subpopulation that might be underrepresented.

Of course, there are likely unique benefits to in-person meetings that might otherwise be suboptimal online. For example, accountability to other members in recovery may become less salient or harder to maintain. Recently, an AYA shared in a mutual support meeting that he had gone "cold turkey" and had not "used" for 13 days. He was passing his time walking up and down his block compulsively to distract himself from his cravings and general angst. He stated he would return to join the group again next week...he did not show. Perhaps online meetings lacked the accountability he needed, and in-person meetings would have been better. Alternatively, maybe he would have never attended in-person meetings, and the online format was his first step toward recovery. It is hard to know. For online mutual support, the barriers to recovery support may be lowered, but maintaining recovery may be more challenging in some respects, particularly in terms of accountability.

The timing of OUD recovery, whether initiating or maintaining recovery, may be critical for the usefulness of online versus in-person supports. Early OUD treatment and recovery is complex as one navigates postinpatient treatment and transition to outpatient OUD medications. After inpatient treatment, my transition to outpatient care was complicated by various medication side effects and withdrawal symptoms, requiring frequent communication with my physician. I now realize this was a critical moment in my recovery, where any misstep could have had serious consequences. Initiation and management of OUD medication in the early phases of recovery during COVID-19 may be particularly tricky to navigate. Medication modifications may be needed, providers may not be able to give timely support, and patients may run out of their prescription if they have contracted COVID-19. Now, I also recognize that if online supports were specifically made available for family members supporting those in recovery, it may lower the barriers for them to receive support as well.

Maintaining OUD recovery during COVID-19 has presented me a unique set of challenges. One of the most salient has been the transition from in-person to online recovery support meetings. Social connections with people in OUD recovery have been a mainstay of my own recovery. Online communities have changed the quality of my social interactions in ways that are both helpful and unhelpful. I often feel more comfortable being vulnerable online, partly because the pixelated live stream of my webcam provides a cloak of anonymity. However, social exchanges feel less poignant, lacking a degree of joy, collective empathy, and physical contact. Another ongoing support for recovery I've explored is the use of mobile health addiction apps, which offer features ranging from mutual support "meeting locators" to coping and psychological well-being exercises. The potential usefulness of these apps seems particularly important given the lack of in-person resources during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, despite a large increase in the prevalence of these apps over the past few years, I have yet to find one that is consistently useful and engaging. But I am holding out hope that I will find an app that I will use consistently, as some apps are already showing efficacy [7]. Overall, I am hopeful that both online social supports and mobile apps can increase access and support for AYAs in addiction recovery.

Clinician Perspective

Our experience of collectively providing almost two decades of office-based opioid treatment (OBOT) to AYAs with OUD has been challenged with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Under normal circumstances, initiation of OBOT in an AYA requires a comprehensive in-person evaluation including urine drug screening. However, in light of the extraordinary circumstances presented by the COVID - 19 public health emergency, providers should feel free to prescribe buprenorphine to new patients with OUD following an evaluation via telephone-based voice calls without first performing an in - person or telemedicine evaluation [6].

Since the onset of Ohio's shelter-in-place order, our clinic has seen some increase in the number of AYA seeking OBOT services, although our numbers are small. In the 3 months after the shelter-in-place order (April-June), 5 AYAs presented for treatment compared to 2 patients in the 3 months prior (January-March) (historically, we saw no difference in new patient intakes between quarter 1 to quarter 2 during the years 2017-2019). Traditionally, our practice is to perform an in-person initial evaluation with our multidisciplinary team, as well as provide education on medication use, risk of relapse and overdose, and proper use of overdose reversal medications for the patient and support person. A full medical evaluation, including a complete physical examination, serology testing for hepatitis, screening for sexually transmitted infections and HIV are also performed. Although we offered telephone- and video telehealth-based initial evaluations for AYA entering treatment (with the changing insurance landscape, only video telehealth is now available), we have continued to recommend in-person visits, feeling that the benefits outweigh potential risks for most. We have had concerns that the collective social support of the treatment team would be less palpable in a telehealth setting and less likely to alleviate distrust one might have based on previous negative medical interactions. Precautions put in place in the clinical setting to minimize risk include universal masking of patients/visitors, limit of one support person for AYAs <18 years, decreased overall clinic in-person volume, general

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

disinfection/hygiene procedures, and appropriate personal protective equipment for patients and providers based on institutional protocol. To date, encouragement of in-person visits for treatment initiation and the early phases of recovery has not appeared to impact care. Patient engagement with services seems similar to the previous year, with 80% of new patients returning for a follow-up visit post pandemic as compared to 75% in the year prior. However, it is worth considering whether we would have achieved a 100% follow-up rate had we been equally as supportive of telehealth and in-person follow-up for those in the early stages of recovery.

For patients maintaining recovery, we worked to transition them initially to telephone- and now to video telehealth-based care. Although there is concern of potential impact on the lack of urine drug screening accountability, given the safety profile of buprenorphine, the benefits of providing extended prescriptions and refills via telehealth are greater than the risk of severe adverse events like fatal overdoses [8]. To date, all our patients in early remission or sustained recovery (N=35) have remained engaged in treatment, and none have been lost to follow-up. Many patients have found safe, confidential spaces to have their telehealth visits and feel this continues to aid them in their recovery. One patient who struggled to connect during in-person visits, as she needed to bring her children to all appointments, has now been able to engage in lengthy telehealth sessions. However, some still request in-person treatment as the best option for ongoing care, stating that the human connection and

increased accountability are beneficial. Furthermore, patients undergoing relapse or those who do not have reliable access to a telephone or video device may also benefit from being seen in person. Patients have been advised to notify us if they are under quarantine to ensure continued access to their medications.

Overall, our initial experience suggests that telehealth is a viable alternative to OBOT for AYA with OUD. Clinic metrics such as return for follow-up visits do not appear to have been negatively impacted. We have been somewhat reluctant to fully embrace telehealth for new patient visits; however, our assumptions on this could be wrong. It is worth exploring whether telehealth treatment initiation increases access without losing any of the benefits of in-person treatment support for those early in recovery.

Conclusion

Support and management of OUD recovery have been complicated with the arrival of COVID-19. Recent changes in the treatment landscape, including growing telehealth options and decreased restrictions on medication provision, have been directly in response to these current challenges. Although unique considerations may be needed for those entering versus maintaining OUD recovery, from a patient and provider perspective, these changes increase access to care, are helpful elements in the OUD treatment toolbox, and should remain an integral part of treatment after the pandemic.

Authors' Contributions

SWS, ERM, and AEB conceptualized the manuscript, wrote the initial draft, and reviewed and revised the final manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Gaither JR, Shabanova V, Leventhal JM. US National Trends in Pediatric Deaths From Prescription and Illicit Opioids, 1999-2016. JAMA Netw Open 2018 Dec 07;1(8):e186558 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.6558] [Medline: 30646334]
- Martins SS, Sarvet A, Santaella-Tenorio J, Saha T, Grant BF, Hasin DS. Changes in US Lifetime Heroin Use and Heroin Use Disorder: Prevalence From the 2001-2002 to 2012-2013 National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. JAMA Psychiatry 2017 May 01;74(5):445-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0113] [Medline: 28355458]
- Alinsky RH, Hadland SE, Matson PA, Cerda M, Saloner B. Adolescent-Serving Addiction Treatment Facilities in the United States and the Availability of Medications for Opioid Use Disorder. J Adolesc Health 2020 Oct;67(4):542-549. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.03.005] [Medline: 32336560]
- 4. Reports of increases in opioid related overdose and other concerns during COVID pandemic. American Medical Association. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.ama-assn.org/system/files/2020-06/issue-brief-increases-in-opioid-related-overdose.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-06-02]
- 5. People Who Are at High Risk for Severe Illness (COVID-19). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019. URL: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-at-higher-risk.html [accessed 2020-06-02]
- 6. COVID-19-Supporting Access to Buprenorphine. American Society of Addiction Medicine. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.asam.org/Quality-Science/covid-19-coronavirus/access-to-buprenorphine</u> [accessed 2020-06-02]
- Scott CK, Dennis ML, Johnson KA, Grella CE. A randomized clinical trial of smartphone self-managed recovery support services. J Subst Abuse Treat 2020 Oct;117:108089. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsat.2020.108089</u>] [Medline: <u>32811628</u>]

 Paone D, Tuazon E, Stajic M, Sampson B, Allen B, Mantha S, et al. Buprenorphine infrequently found in fatal overdose in New York City. Drug Alcohol Depend 2015 Oct 01;155:298-301. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.08.007</u>] [Medline: <u>26305073</u>]

Abbreviations

AYA: adolescent and young adult **OBOT:** office-based opioid treatment **OUD:** opioid use disorder

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 21.08.20; peer-reviewed by D Pförringer, M Popovic; comments to author 08.09.20; revised version received 18.09.20; accepted 25.09.20; published 09.10.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Stull SW, McKnight ER, Bonny AE Patient and Clinician Perspectives on Adolescent Opioid Use Disorder Treatment During a Pandemic: One Step Back, but Two Forward? JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e23463 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e23463/</u> doi:10.2196/23463 PMID:33016885

©Samuel W Stull, Erin R McKnight, Andrea E Bonny. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 09.10.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Psychosocial Challenges and Opportunities for Youth With Chronic Health Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Anna Serlachius¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Sherif M Badawy^{2,3}, MS, MBBCh, MD; Hiran Thabrew¹, BSc, BM, FRACP, FRANZCP

¹Department of Psychological Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand ²Department of Pediatrics, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

³Division of Hematology, Oncology and Stem Cell Transplant, Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Anna Serlachius, BSc, MSc, PhD Department of Psychological Medicine Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences University of Auckland Private Bag 92019 Victoria Street West Auckland, 1142 New Zealand Phone: 64 9 923 3073 Email: a.serlachius@auckland.ac.nz

Abstract

School closures, altered access to health services, and economic stress during the COVID-19 pandemic have likely had an impact on the mental and physical well-being of youth worldwide, particularly among those with chronic health conditions (CHCs). A number of challenges and opportunities have emerged during the COVID-19 pandemic for youth with CHCs. Challenges include heightened anxiety, disrupted routines, academic and social stresses associated with school closure, increased risk of domestic violence and abuse, and reduced access to physical and psychosocial support. On the other hand, opportunities include reduced academic and social stress, increased time with families, reduced access to substances, easier access to health care using technology, and opportunities to build resilience. This viewpoint paper highlights both challenges and opportunities for youth with CHCs during the pandemic and offers recommendations for further research and clinical care.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e23057) doi:10.2196/23057

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; coronavirus; pandemic; chronic illness; youth; adolescents; children; psychosocial; anxiety

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the daily routines and peer interactions of millions of youth worldwide via mandated social distancing, rapid and sometimes repeated lockdowns, and prolonged school closures. Although little has been formally reported and the full impact of these measures may not be apparent for some time, it is likely that those with chronic health conditions (CHCs) who already face a disproportionate psychosocial burden will experience additional consequences [1]. Some of these consequences are likely similar to the general population and others will relate to their existing health issues. As not all effects of the pandemic are likely to be detrimental, we outline both the potential challenges and opportunities for

RenderX

youth with CHCs as well as recommendations for further research and clinical care.

Psychosocial Challenges

Some of the key challenges likely to be faced by children and young people with CHCs during the COVID-19 pandemic include heightened anxiety regarding health and well-being; stress of disrupted routines; academic and social challenges associated with school closures; increased risk of family stress, domestic violence, and abuse; and reduced access to physical and psychosocial support. We discuss these challenges in this section in detail, and a summary of the challenges and strategies to address them is included in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Psychosocial challenges and strategies for children with chronic health conditions during COVID-19.

Heightened health anxiety
Encourage developmentally appropriate communication with children about emotions and concerns
Disrupted routines
Establish predictable new routines
School closures
Encourage social/peer connection via technology
Family stress/risk of domestic violence
Prioritize monitoring and support of at-risk families and ensure the availability of safe houses for victims of domestic violence
Reduced physical and psychosocial support
Encourage families to use tele-health/digital therapies offered by health care providers

Heightened Anxiety Regarding Health and Well-Being

For multiple reasons, including the demands of ill health, treatment, and readjustment to usual life following periods of medical treatment, children and young people with CHCs are at greater risk of developing psychological problems, especially anxiety [2]. Currently, services for these patients are limited, as are face-to-face and eHealth interventions, particularly those targeted toward health anxiety [3,4]. Partly due to the real dangers associated with the virus, the rapidity of lockdown, and the immediacy of social media, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significantly increased rates of anxiety in the general population. Among those with life-threatening illnesses such as cancer, worries about social isolation, catastrophization about personal health, and guilt about family support have been even greater [5-7]. Studies of children from China have also identified clinginess, distraction, irritability, and fear of asking questions about the pandemic, more so in those who reside in highly affected regions [8]. It is not just those with physical health issues who are vulnerable. A recent UK survey of over 2000 young people with a history of mental health problems found that 51% of participants believed that their mental health had deteriorated due to the pandemic, and many reported increased psychological distress and loneliness [9]. Fortunately, there is emerging evidence suggesting that effective communication and distraction can help to protect children's psychological health [8,10].

Stress of Disrupted Routines

There is some evidence that children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and autism spectrum disorder (ASD), who usually thrive with predictability and routine, have been more affected by the disruption to routines during the pandemic than other groups. Children with ADHD have been found to display a greater level of symptoms that are related to family stress and can be reduced by establishing predictable new routines [11]. Those with ASD have also been found to exhibit greater behavioral concerns, especially in the face of pre-existing issues [12]. Increased physical activity has been suggested as one mechanism by which increased symptoms can be managed in these patients [13].

Academic and Social Challenges Associated With School Closure

Children and young people spend a large proportion of their weekdays at school. Schools provide structure, intellectual stimulation, peer interaction, reliable meals, and access to recreational facilities and health care. Despite attempts to maximize online learning during lockdown, school closures are likely to have many unintended and potentially serious consequences on the psychological and physical health of children and young people [14,15]. Thousands, if not millions, of children from lower socioeconomic backgrounds may be disproportionately affected by school closures and experience food insecurity and inadequate or limited access to online learning [16,17]. Others are likely to engage in increased screen time and sedentary behaviors, just as during longer school holidays [18], placing themselves at risk of unhealthy weight gain [19]. Youth with pre-existing mental health conditions are especially reliant on psychological support services offered through schools and will be unable to access school counsellors, nurses, and social workers [20].

Increased Risk of Family Stress, Domestic Violence, and Abuse

It is well established that increased family stress, financial insecurity, and cumulative risk exposure in childhood are associated with worse mental and behavioral outcomes in children [21,22]. Of particular concern, it is well documented that domestic violence is more likely in the face of chronic family stress such as caring for a child with a CHC. Moreover, chronic family stress further increases following crises such as natural disasters or disease outbreaks associated with economic stress [23-25]. Due to the focus on competing issues, vulnerable children including those with CHCs are often less likely to be identified via routine child health checks and by personnel such as health care professionals or school teachers. Coupled with the significantly reduced number of child protection assessments conducted during lockdown [26], it is likely that COVID-19-associated lockdown, school closures, and family financial insecurity will compound family stress levels and increase the incidence of domestic violence and child abuse [14,27], many of whom unfortunately may not be recognized to receive appropriate support.

Reduced Access to Physical and Psychosocial Support

During the past few months, a significant decline in general practitioner appointments, specialized care, and pediatric emergency department attendance has been reported in many countries including the United Kingdom, Ireland, Germany, Canada, Australia, China, and Italy [28-35]. In some cases, delays in seeking treatment and lack of specialized care have had devastating effects on children with serious and life-threatening health complications including those of a psychological nature [36,37].

Other reported disruptions to health care services include disruptions to routine child health services, such as developmental screening, vaccinations, and well-child visits, that support psychosocial well-being [31,33]. There is also accumulating evidence to suggest that children with certain CHCs have been negatively impacted by changes to health care systems prioritizing the response to the pandemic, such as inflammatory bowel disease [38], pediatric cancer [39,40], and type 1 diabetes [41].

Previously limited psychological services for children and young people with CHCs are also likely to have been affected by

COVID-19–related disruptions. Countries such as Singapore have reported diverting psychological resources for youth with eating disorders to only those considered most urgent and forging partnerships with community services to manage the decrease in access to psychological therapies [42], while other countries such as New Zealand have restricted face-to-face pediatric consult liaison services to inpatients at low risk of COVID-19. In the United Kingdom, 26% of young people with pre-existing mental health problems reported being unable to access psychological support services during the lockdown period [9].

Psychosocial Opportunities

Although children and young people with CHCs are at risk of all the previously mentioned challenges, they may also benefit in the following ways: reduced academic and social stress, increased time with families, reduced access to substances, easier access to health care using technology, and opportunities to build resilience. We discuss these opportunities in more detail in the following sections and a summary is included in Figure 1 along with related challenges.

Figure 1. Opportunities and challenges for children with chronic health conditions during COVID-19.



Reduced Academic and Social Stress

Although some degree of academic pressure may be essential for learning, the chronic stress of regular assignments, presentations, and examinations can have negative effects on students' physical and psychological health, including precipitating conditions such as anxiety, depression, and eating disorders [43,44]. Associated with the developmentally congruent drive toward conformity, adolescent peer-related stress can also affect students' health in a gender-related manner [45]. Youth with CHCs experience additional stresses related to disrupted education and peer relationships, readjustment

during transitions in and out of the hospital, and the physical limitations of ill health [46]. During lockdown, all these issues are likely to occur less frequently. Additionally, for some, such as children with cystic fibrosis, the normalization of wearing masks may reduce the sense of difference and associated stigma [47].

Increased Time With Families

Many children will be forced to spend weeks, if not months, with their families during lockdown. Given that domestic *social capital* has been shown to be more influential than school-related social capital and that it is associated with a reduced incidence

of behavior problems [48], including in people with chronic illness [49], it is possible that many children and young people with CHCs will benefit from their parents being more available, being more involved in health care routines, and supporting them to deal with COVID-19–related or other health concerns. Family-based therapies for eating disorders [50] and other conditions may also be more effective in the context of greater parental availability. Additionally, evidence from Austria indicates that social connectedness can increase during lockdown and that it is associated with reduced distress and fatigue [51].

Reduced Access to Substances

Up to 40% of young people with CHCs have issues related to substance abuse [52]. Pandemic-related anxiety, fear, and boredom are likely to increase the drive toward substance-related coping in this subgroup. Smoking and inhaling substances are particularly likely to increase the risk of contracting COVID-19 [53]. Fortunately, these risks are likely to be offset by reduced access to substances and, to a lesser extent, by lower financial independence and greater parental connection [54].

Easier Access to Health Care Using Technology

Due to disruptions to routine services, health professionals worldwide have had to rapidly adopt or expand digital health care via Zoom (Zoom Video Communications, Inc), Skype (Skype Technologies), and other servers or platforms. Regulatory barriers to telemedicine have also been amended due to the urgency caused by the pandemic [55]. Despite some of the limitations associated with engagement and physical examination, the necessity for patients to have access to digital devices, and the potential loss of privacy for young people, digital health care is likely to have equitably increased access to health care for many families, especially those living rurally and with limited financial means. It is also likely to have reduced the anxiety experienced by some children in medical settings and allowed health professionals to gain a better understanding of their patients' living circumstances. The pandemic may provide an additional opportunity to expand the use of existing eHealth interventions such as evidence-based internet cognitive behavioral therapy (iCBT)-based applications, medical support, and self-management interventions [56], and to identify ways for future interventions to improve outcomes for youth with CHCs.

Opportunities to Build Resilience

Resilience has been defined as the ability of an individual to withstand adversity [57]. Despite the medically and socially related stresses they experience on a day-to-day basis, most children and adolescents with CHCs manage to live productive and effective lives, thereby demonstrating their inherent resilience [52]. The current pandemic is likely to provide them with additional opportunities to withstand novel concerns about their health; alterations to health care and other routines; increased family stress; and disappointment about missing out on schooling, peer interactions, and leisure activities. With adequate family, social, and health professional support, previous studies have proved that children with CHCs can surmount significant periods of difficulty [58].

Recommendations for Future Research and Clinical Care

We offer the following recommendations and considerations for future research:

- Longitudinal studies of physical and psychosocial well-being, including rates of common mental health problems such as anxiety, depression, self-harm, and substance use disorders as well as rates of hospitalization and suicide, should be conducted across all age groups. Although a number of these studies are already underway and listed on websites such as Covid Minds [59], we noted that few studies are specifically targeted toward youth with CHCs.
- Prospective or retrospective analyses of high-risk subgroups including those with ADHD and ASD should be undertaken.
- Examination of the short- and long-term effects of school closure on personal stress, social relationships, and health care should occur.
- Analysis of the impact of the naturalistic increase in time spent with families, especially in regard to conditions such as eating disorders where social capital is integral to treatment, should be considered.
- Investigation of rates of domestic violence and abuse, particularly in families already experiencing chronic health-related stress, is necessary.
- In-depth qualitative analysis should be conducted regarding the views of patients of all ages, families, and health professionals regarding the use of digital health care, with a view to informing future service design and workforce development.
- Evaluation of the effectiveness of existing digital interventions should be planned as well as the co-design and development of locally and culturally acceptable new interventions for addressing COVID-19–related issues.
- Specific examination of resilience should be carried out using validated outcome measures, not merely assuming its existence in the absence of pathology.
- Economic analyses should be conducted to ascertain the direct and indirect costs of pandemic-related disruption and inform planning for future events of a similar nature.

In the meantime, to optimize the clinical care of children and young people with CHCs, we provide some resources and recommend readers to:

- Support families to access generic advice on how best to care for children and young people during the pandemic from organizations such as the World Health Organization [60] and, where available, more specific health-related advice via sources such as the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes [61], immunology and cancer services [62-64], and the Cystic Fibrosis Trust [65]
 Encourage families to maintain essential health care routines and to present early via appropriate channels when they
- have concerns about their children's well-being
 Opportunistically screen for psychological issues, especially anxiety and depression, during clinical contacts using paper-based instruments such as the Generalized Anxiety

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e23057/
```

Disorder scale-7 items and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 item or electronic methods such as YouthCHAT [66,67]

- Refer those with identified issues early to available psychological services, either face-to-face or via tele-health
- Recommend the use of evidence-based digital self-help, iCBT, and peer support interventions; for an up-to-date list of these, refer to websites such as One Mind PsyberGuide [68]
- Encourage parents and health professionals to engage in self-care to reduce the likelihood of burnout and to sustain effective support of children and young people with CHCs during and following the pandemic

Conclusion

Although the full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and young people with CHCs might not be understood for a long time to come, increased awareness of the likely challenges and opportunities faced by this group and an integrated approach to their care [1] are likely to optimize their psychosocial well-being. Leveraging digital health interventions is key to addressing some of these challenges and opportunities in this vulnerable population [69]. The current circumstance also offers a unique opportunity to examine and improve a range of aspects pertaining to their care, and we sincerely hope that it provides the silver lining to a long dark cloud.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Auckland Medical Research Foundation (1720008) (PI: AS, HT) and the Starship Foundation (grant SF 8473) (PI: HT). This project was also supported by the National Institute of Health (NIH) (K23HL150232) (PI: SMB) from the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute of Health (NIH) or the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kang C, Yang S, Yuan J, Xu L, Zhao X, Yang J. Patients with chronic illness urgently need integrated physical and psychological care during the COVID-19 outbreak. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Jun;51:102081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102081] [Medline: 32289729]
- 2. Pinquart M, Shen Y. Anxiety in children and adolescents with chronic physical illnesses: a meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2011 Aug;100(8):1069-1076. [doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2011.02223.x] [Medline: 21332786]
- Thabrew H, Stasiak K, Hetrick SE, Donkin L, Huss JH, Highlander A, et al. Psychological therapies for anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with long - term physical conditions. Cochrane Database Systematic Rev 2018 Dec 22. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd012488.pub2]
- Thabrew H, Stasiak K, Hetrick SE, Wong S, Huss JG, Merry SN. E Health interventions for anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with long - term physical conditions. Cochrane Database Systematic Rev 2018 Aug 15. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd012489.pub2]
- Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. Lancet 2020 Mar;395(10227):912-920. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30460-8]
- Ng DWL, Chan FHF, Barry TJ, Lam C, Chong CY, Kok HCS, et al. Psychological distress during the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic among cancer survivors and healthy controls. Psychooncology 2020 Jun 04 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5437] [Medline: 32497353]
- Tsamakis K, Gavriatopoulou M, Schizas D, Stravodimou A, Mougkou A, Tsiptsios D, et al. Oncology during the COVID-19 pandemic: challenges, dilemmas and the psychosocial impact on cancer patients. Oncol Lett 2020 Jul;20(1):441-447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3892/ol.2020.11599] [Medline: 32565968]
- Jiao WY, Wang LN, Liu J, Fang SF, Jiao FY, Pettoello-Mantovani M, et al. Behavioral and emotional disorders in children during the COVID-19 epidemic. J Pediatr 2020 Jun;221:264-266.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.03.013] [Medline: 32248989]
- 9. Coronavirus: impact on young people with mental health needs. YoungMinds. 2020. URL: <u>https://youngminds.org.uk/</u> about-us/reports/coronavirus-impact-on-young-people-with-mental-health-needs/
- 10. Dalton L, Rapa E, Stein A. Protecting the psychological health of children through effective communication about COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 May;4(5):346-347. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30097-3]
- Zhang J, Shuai L, Yu H, Wang Z, Qiu M, Lu L, et al. Acute stress, behavioural symptoms and mood states among school-age children with attention-deficit/hyperactive disorder during the COVID-19 outbreak. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Jun;51:102077 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102077] [Medline: 32315967]

- Colizzi M, Sironi E, Antonini F, Ciceri ML, Bovo C, Zoccante L. Psychosocial and behavioral impact of COVID-19 in autism spectrum disorder: an online parent survey. Brain Sci 2020 Jun 03;10(6) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/brainsci10060341] [Medline: 32503172]
- Yarımkaya E, Esentürk OK. Promoting physical activity for children with autism spectrum disorders during coronavirus outbreak: benefits, strategies, and examples. Int J Developmental Disabilities 2020 Apr 22:1-6. [doi: 10.1080/20473869.2020.1756115]
- Green P. Risks to children and young people during covid-19 pandemic. BMJ 2020 Apr 28;369:m1669. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1669] [Medline: 32345583]
- 15. Viner R, Russell S, Croker H, Packer J, Ward J, Stansfield C, et al. School closure and management practices during coronavirus outbreaks including COVID-19: a rapid narrative systematic review. SSRN J 2020. [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3556648]
- 16. Van Lancker W, Parolin Z. COVID-19, school closures, and child poverty: a social crisis in the making. Lancet Public Health 2020 May;5(5):e243-e244. [doi: 10.1016/s2468-2667(20)30084-0]
- 17. Dunn CG, Kenney E, Fleischhacker SE, Bleich SN. Feeding low-income children during the COVID-19 pandemic. N Engl J Med 2020 Apr 30;382(18):e40. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmp2005638</u>]
- Rundle AG, Park Y, Herbstman JB, Kinsey EW, Wang YC. COVID-19-related school closings and risk of weight gain among children. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2020 Jun;28(6):1008-1009. [doi: <u>10.1002/oby.22813</u>] [Medline: <u>32227671</u>]
- 19. Brazendale K, Beets MW, Weaver RG, Pate RR, Turner-McGrievy GM, Kaczynski AT, et al. Understanding differences between summer vs. school obesogenic behaviors of children: the structured days hypothesis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Jul 26;14(1):100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0555-2] [Medline: 28747186]
- 20. Lee J. Mental health effects of school closures during COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 Jun;4(6):421. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30109-7]
- 21. Appleyard K, Egeland B, van Dulmen MHM, Sroufe LA. When more is not better: the role of cumulative risk in child behavior outcomes. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2005 Mar;46(3):235-245. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00351.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15755300</u>]
- 22. Bøe T, Serlachius AS, Sivertsen B, Petrie KJ, Hysing M. Cumulative effects of negative life events and family stress on children's mental health: the Bergen Child Study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2018 Jan;53(1):1-9. [doi: 10.1007/s00127-017-1451-4] [Medline: 29090324]
- 23. Parkinson D. Investigating the increase in domestic violence post disaster: an Australian case study. J Interpers Violence 2019 Jun;34(11):2333-2362. [doi: 10.1177/0886260517696876] [Medline: 29294681]
- 24. Onyango MA, Resnick K, Davis A, Shah RR. Gender-based violence among adolescent girls and young women: a neglected consequence of the West African Ebola outbreak. In: Schwartz DA, Anoko JN, Abramowitz SA, editors. Pregnant in the Time of Ebola. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2019:121-132.
- 25. Renzetti CM. Economic stress and domestic violence. CRVAW Faculty Research Reports and Paper 2009:1.
- Bhopal S, Buckland A, McCrone R, Villis AI, Owens S. Who has been missed? Dramatic decrease in numbers of children seen for child protection assessments during the pandemic. Arch Dis Child 2020 Jun 18. [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-319783] [Medline: 32554510]
- 27. Bradbury-Jones C, Isham L. The pandemic paradox: the consequences of COVID-19 on domestic violence. J Clin Nurs 2020 Jul;29(13-14):2047-2049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jocn.15296] [Medline: 32281158]
- 28. Thornton J. BMJ 2020 Apr 06;369:m1401. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1401] [Medline: 32253175]
- 29. Crawley E, Loades M, Feder G, Logan S, Redwood S, Macleod J. Wider collateral damage to children in the UK because of the social distancing measures designed to reduce the impact of COVID-19 in adults. BMJ Paediatr Open 2020;4(1):e000701. [doi: 10.1136/bmjpo-2020-000701] [Medline: 32420459]
- Dann L, Fitzsimons J, Gorman KM, Hourihane J, Okafor I. Disappearing act: COVID-19 and paediatric emergency department attendances. Arch Dis Child 2020 Aug;105(8):810-811 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-319654] [Medline: 32518141]
- Jansen M, Irving H, Gillam L, Sharwood E, Preisz A, Basu S, et al. Ethical considerations for paediatrics during the COVID-19 pandemic: a discussion paper from the Australian Paediatric Clinical Ethics Collaboration. J Paediatr Child Health 2020 Jun;56(6):847-851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jpc.14946] [Medline: 32471008]
- Isba R, Edge R, Jenner R, Broughton E, Francis N, Butler J. Where have all the children gone? Decreases in paediatric emergency department attendances at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic of 2020. Arch Dis Child 2020 Jul;105(7):704. [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-319385] [Medline: 32376695]
- 33. Chanchlani N, Buchanan F, Gill PJ. Addressing the indirect effects of COVID-19 on the health of children and young people. CMAJ 2020 Aug 10;192(32):E921-E927. [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.201008] [Medline: 32586838]
- Dopfer C, Wetzke M, Zychlinsky Scharff A, Mueller F, Dressler F, Baumann U, et al. COVID-19 related reduction in pediatric emergency healthcare utilization - a concerning trend. BMC Pediatr 2020 Sep 07;20(1):427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-020-02303-6] [Medline: 32894080]
- 35. Li H, Yu G, Duan H, Fu J, Shu Q. Changes in children's healthcare visits during coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic in Hangzhou, China. J Pediatr 2020 Sep;224:146-149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.05.013] [Medline: 32416087]

- 36. Leoni C, Giorgio V, Onesimo R, Tarani L, Celli M, Selicorni A, et al. The dark side of COVID-19: the need of integrated medicine for children with special care needs. Am J Med Genet A 2020 Jun 24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.61722] [Medline: 32578344]
- 37. Lazzerini M, Barbi E, Apicella A, Marchetti F, Cardinale F, Trobia G. Delayed access or provision of care in Italy resulting from fear of COVID-19. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 May;4(5):e10-e11. [doi: <u>10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30108-5</u>]
- Martinelli M, Strisciuglio C, Fedele F, Miele E, Staiano A. Clinical and psychological issues in children with inflammatory bowel disease during COVID-19 pandemic. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2020 Aug 20;26(9):e95-e96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ibd/izaa136] [Medline: 32440675]
- Parasole R, Stellato P, Conter V, De Matteo A, D'Amato L, Colombini A, et al. Collateral effects of COVID-19 pandemic in pediatric hematooncology: fatalities caused by diagnostic delay. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2020 Aug;67(8):e28482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.28482] [Medline: 32525616]
- 40. Vasquez L, Sampor C, Villanueva G, Maradiegue E, Garcia-Lombardi M, Gomez-García W, et al. Early impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on paediatric cancer care in Latin America. Lancet Oncol 2020 Jun;21(6):753-755. [doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(20)30280-1]
- 41. Dayal D, Gupta S, Raithatha D, Jayashree M. Missing during COVID-19 lockdown: children with new-onset type 1 diabetes. Res Square 2020 May 13. [doi: <u>10.21203/rs.3.rs-28594/v1</u>]
- 42. Davis C, Ng KC, Oh JY, Baeg A, Rajasegaran K, Chew CSE. Caring for children and adolescents with eating disorders in the current coronavirus 19 pandemic: a Singapore perspective. J Adolesc Health 2020 Jul;67(1):131-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.03.037] [Medline: 32381385]
- 43. Macgeorge E, Samter W, Gillihan S. Academic stress, supportive communication, and health. Commun Education 2005 Oct;54(4):365-372. [doi: 10.1080/03634520500442236]
- 44. Kristanto T, Chen WS, Thoo YY. Academic burnout and eating disorder among students in Monash University Malaysia. Eat Behav 2016 Aug;22:96-100. [doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2016.03.029] [Medline: 27131097]
- 45. Conley CS, Rudolph KD. The emerging sex difference in adolescent depression: interacting contributions of puberty and peer stress. Dev Psychopathol 2009 Apr 01;21(2):593-620. [doi: <u>10.1017/s0954579409000327</u>]
- 46. Shaw SR, McCabe PC. Hospital-to-school transition for children with chronic illness: meeting the new challenges of an evolving health care system. Psychol Schs 2007 Jan;45(1):74-87. [doi: <u>10.1002/pits.20280</u>]
- 47. Ladores S. The unique challenges and lessons imparted by the cystic fibrosis community in the time of COVID-19 pandemic. J Patient Experience 2020 May 19;7(4):442-443. [doi: 10.1177/2374373520926360]
- 48. McPherson KE, Kerr S, McGee E, Morgan A, Cheater FM, McLean J, et al. The association between social capital and mental health and behavioural problems in children and adolescents: an integrative systematic review. BMC Psychol 2014;2(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2050-7283-2-7] [Medline: 25566380]
- 49. Sanders C, Rogers A. Theorising inequalities in the experience and management of chronic illness: Bringing social networks and social capital back in (critically). In: Jacobs Kronenfeld J, editor. Inequalities and Disparities in Health Care and Health: Concerns of Patients, Providers and Insurers (Research in the Sociology of Health Care, Vol. 25). Bingley: Emerald Group Publishing Limited; 2007:15-42.
- 50. Le Grange D. The Maudsley family-based treatment for adolescent anorexia nervosa. World Psychiatry 2005 Oct;4(3):142-146. [Medline: <u>16633532</u>]
- Nitschke J, Forbes P, Ali N, Cutler J, Apps M, Lockwood P, et al. Resilience during uncertainty. Greater social connectedness during COVID-19 lockdown is associated with reduced distress and fatigue. PsyArXiv 2020 Jun 12. [doi: 10.31234/osf.io/9ehm7]
- 52. Sawyer SM, Drew S, Yeo MS, Britto MT. Adolescents with a chronic condition: challenges living, challenges treating. Lancet 2007 Apr;369(9571):1481-1489. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60370-5]
- 53. Vardavas C, Nikitara K. COVID-19 and smoking: a systematic review of the evidence. Tob Induc Dis 2020;18:20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18332/tid/119324] [Medline: 32206052]
- 54. Stagman S, Schwarz SW, Powers D. Adolescent substance use in the U.S. facts for policymakers. National Center for Children in Poverty. 2011 May. URL: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED522774.pdf</u>
- 55. Notification of enforcement discretion for telehealth remote communications during the COVID-19 nationwide public health emergency. HHS.gov. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/special-topics/emergency-preparedness/</u>notification-enforcement-discretion-telehealth/index.html [accessed 2020-07-05]
- 56. Badawy SM, Radovic A. Digital approaches to remote pediatric health care delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic: existing evidence and a call for further research. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Jun 25;3(1):e20049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20049] [Medline: 32540841]
- 57. Jackson D, Firtko A, Edenborough M. Personal resilience as a strategy for surviving and thriving in the face of workplace adversity: a literature review. J Adv Nurs 2007 Oct;60(1):1-9. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04412.x] [Medline: 17824934]
- Pettoello-Mantovani M, Pop TL, Mestrovic J, Ferrara P, Giardino I, Carrasco-Sanz A, et al. Fostering resilience in children: the essential role of healthcare professionals and families. J Pediatr 2019 Feb;205:298-299.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.10.069</u>] [Medline: <u>30684982</u>]
- 59. COVID-MINDS. 2020. URL: https://www.covidminds.org/ [accessed 2020-07-31]

- 60. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) advice for the public: advocacy. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public/healthy-parenting</u> [accessed 2020-07-31]
- 61. COVID-19 in children with diabetes Resources. International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes. 2020. URL: https://www.ispad.org/page/COVID-19inchildrenwithdiabetesResources [accessed 2020-07-31]
- 62. Bouffet E, Challinor J, Sullivan M, Biondi A, Rodriguez-Galindo C, Pritchard-Jones K. Early advice on managing children with cancer during the COVID-19 pandemic and a call for sharing experiences. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2020 Jul;67(7):e28327. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.28327] [Medline: 32239747]
- 63. Sullivan M, Bouffet E, Rodriguez-Galindo C, Luna-Fineman S, Khan MS, Kearns P, et al. The COVID-19 pandemic: a rapid global response for children with cancer from SIOP, COG, SIOP-E, SIOP-PODC, IPSO, PROS, CCI, and St Jude Global. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2020 Jul;67(7):e28409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.28409] [Medline: 32400924]
- 64. Brough HA, Kalayci O, Sediva A, Untersmayr E, Munblit D, Rodriguez Del Rio P, et al. Managing childhood allergies and immunodeficiencies during respiratory virus epidemics the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic: a statement from the EAACI-section on pediatrics. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2020 Apr 22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/pai.13262] [Medline: 32319129]
- 65. Mental and physical health and coronavirus. Cystic Fibrosis Trust. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/</u> <u>life-with-cystic-fibrosis/coronavirus/mental-and-physical-health</u> [accessed 2020-07-31]
- 66. Quon BS, Bentham WD, Unutzer J, Chan Y, Goss CH, Aitken ML. Prevalence of symptoms of depression and anxiety in adults with cystic fibrosis based on the PHQ-9 and GAD-7 screening questionnaires. Psychosomatics 2015;56(4):345-353. [doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2014.05.017] [Medline: 25556569]
- 67. Thabrew H, Goodyear-Smith F. Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool (YouthCHAT): an electronic, psychosocial screener for young people with long-term physical conditions. J Paediatr Child Health 2020 Jan;56(1):102-106. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.14503] [Medline: 31140675]
- 68. One Mind PsyberGuide. URL: <u>https://onemindpsyberguide.org/</u> [accessed 2020-07-31]
- Radovic A, Badawy SM. Technology use for adolescent health and wellness. Pediatrics 2020 May;145(Suppl 2):S186-S194. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2019-2056G</u>] [Medline: <u>32358210</u>]

Abbreviations

ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder ASD: autism spectrum disorder CHC: chronic health condition iCBT: internet cognitive behavioral therapy

Edited by A Radovic-Stakic; submitted 30.07.20; peer-reviewed by W Hansen, Y Virella Pérez; comments to author 04.09.20; revised version received 07.09.20; accepted 09.09.20; published 12.10.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Serlachius A, Badawy SM, Thabrew H Psychosocial Challenges and Opportunities for Youth With Chronic Health Conditions During the COVID-19 Pandemic JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e23057 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e23057/</u> doi:10.2196/23057 PMID:<u>33001834</u>

©Anna Serlachius, Sherif M Badawy, Hiran Thabrew. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 12.10.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Social Media Use and Monitoring for Adolescents With Depression and Implications for the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study of Parent and Child Perspectives

Candice Biernesser¹, PhD, MSW, MPH; Gerald Montano², DO, MS; Elizabeth Miller², MD, PhD; Ana Radovic^{2,3}, MD, MSc

¹Department of Psychiatry, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

²Department of Pediatrics, Division of Adolescent and Young Adult Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

³Center for Behavioral Health, Media, and Technology, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Candice Biernesser, PhD, MSW, MPH Department of Psychiatry University of Pittsburgh BFT 313, 3811 O'Hara St Pittsburgh, PA, 15213 United States Phone: 1 412 586 9064 Email: lubbertcl@upmc.edu

Abstract

Background: Although youth report many positive experiences with social media (SM) use in their daily lives, adolescents with depression are more vulnerable to the risks of SM use than adolescents without depression. Parents protect adolescents with depression from the risks of SM use by monitoring their child's SM activity; however, this comes into conflict with the adolescent's need for autonomy in their web-based communication. The implications of SM use and monitoring for adolescents with depression and their parents are of particular relevance to the COVID-19 pandemic, as rates of SM use have increased in response to physical distancing measures.

Objective: This study aims to explore parent and child perspectives regarding the use and function of SM in the daily lives of adolescents with depression and parents' perceptions of and experience with monitoring their child's SM use.

Methods: We conducted qualitative interviews with adolescents with depression (n=23) and one parent of each adolescent (n=23) between July 2013 and September 2014. The adolescents were patients seeking treatment for depression in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Data analysis included dyadic analysis of the adolescents' and parents' perspectives and qualitative descriptions of individual parent interviews to explore their experiences with SM use and monitoring. The construct of parental knowledge and factors hypothesized to contribute to parental knowledge, including adolescent disclosure, parental solicitation, and parental control, were used to guide the codebook and dyadic data analysis.

Results: Dyadic analyses showed that parents and their children disagreed on the use and function of SM in the daily lives of adolescents with depression, with adolescents viewing SM as a forum for honest expression of their emotions, whereas parents felt that their children's posts were inconsequential and interfered with the adolescents' lives. Furthermore, parents reported using a wide range of strategies to gain knowledge of their child's SM use to monitor their safety on SM, including direct solicitation and indirect solicitation, such as keeping the child's passwords, asking friends or siblings about their child's SM use, and restricting SM behavior and access to devices.

Conclusions: Clinicians should support adolescents with depression and their parents in finding common ground for an effective and acceptable monitoring approach. Resources are provided for clinicians navigating conversations about SM use and monitoring with adolescents with depression and their parents during the COVID-19 pandemic.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21644) doi:10.2196/21644

KEYWORDS

RenderX

social media; adolescent; parents; depression; disclosure; qualitative research; COVID-19

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/

Introduction

Background

Adolescents are widely reported to be ubiquitous users of social media (SM). As of 2018, 70% of US adolescents reported using SM multiple times per day, a rate that has doubled from reports in 2012 (34%) [1]. More than half of parents are concerned that their children spend too much time on their mobile phones and worry about the potential negative effects of screen time in their children's daily lives [2]. Parents of adolescents with depression may have unique concerns regarding their children's ongoing consumption of SM, as they perceive heightened susceptibility to harmful experiences [3].

Adolescent SM Use During the COVID-19 Outbreak

The use of SM during the COVID-19 pandemic is estimated to have increased substantially. In their analysis of SM use from web-based data providers, TheNew York Times reported that the use of the popular SM sites Facebook and YouTube increased by 27% and 15%, respectively [4]. Increasing rates of SM use may be especially meaningful to young people, as physical distancing measures limit face-to-face interaction. Deprivation of peer interactions, in particular, is challenging during adolescence, a developmental stage during which peer influence and acceptance are important [5]. In the face of these concerns, SM may play an influential role. Studies of adolescent SM use show that aspects of prosocial face-to-face interactions that are protective to adolescent mental health, such as social support, social reward, and reduction of feelings of social exclusion, can be mirrored through active engagement on SM [5]. Although SM may play an important role in mitigating limitations to social interaction during the pandemic, there are also concerns associated with higher rates of SM activity. Prevention groups have raised concern that stress associated with the pandemic could contribute to higher rates of negative SM experiences, such as cyberbullying [6]. The potential for harmful SM interactions is complicated by reduced access to counseling and mentorship from educators [6]. In the current context, considering adolescents' SM use and the ways in which parents monitor their use is significantly important.

Use of SM in Adolescents With Depression

Adolescents with depression face vulnerabilities that place them at a higher risk of having negative SM experiences and unique opportunities for social support and connection than youth who are not depressed. Adolescents with depression use SM in positive ways; for example, engaging in entertainment, humor, or content generation can act as a distraction from depressed mood [7], and these adolescents can also reach out to others for support in coping with depression or for social connection [8]. With regard to vulnerability to negative SM experiences, adolescents with depression are more likely to engage in risky SM behavior, such as talking to strangers and disclosing personal information [9], and to be exposed to potentially harmful SM content, such as self-harming behaviors [10,11]. In addition, youth with depression are more likely to report internet harassment [12], cyberbullying [13,14], and addictive internet use [15] experiences that have been associated with fluctuations in mood states and heightened suicidal risk among

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/
```

adolescents [16-20]. Parents of adolescents in treatment for depression or suicidal risk have reported awareness of their child's heightened vulnerability to negative SM experiences and describe an urge to stay informed about their child's SM use to protect them from harm [3].

Parent and Adolescent Perceptions Toward SM Use and Monitoring

Adolescents and parents often exhibit different perspectives regarding SM use [2]. Adolescents tend to view SM in a more positive light, citing benefits of social connection, social support, and opportunities to express themselves [21]. In contrast, parents report more negative views toward SM considering its potential detrimental effects on youth [21]. The shifting parent-adolescent relationship that is typical of adolescent development may also contribute to these differences in perspectives on SM use. Adolescents seek freedom of expression on SM, whereas parents balance their child's desire for independence with their own desire to protect their child from risks on SM [22]. Discrepancies in these views are likely to be unique when considering adolescents with depression and their parents. For example, adolescents with depression may value support they receive through SM and autonomy in privately engaging with trusted peers. Parents of adolescents with depression may be more attuned to potential negative aspects of SM use on their child's depression and may also perceive a strong need to monitor.

Parental Monitoring and Knowledge of Adolescent's SM Use

Parental monitoring has been defined as the tracking or surveillance of a child's behavior and is often assessed through measures of parental knowledge [23]. Kerr and Stattin [23,24] hypothesize 3 primary sources of parental knowledge. These sources include (1) adolescents' voluntary sharing of information with their parents; (2) parents' solicitation of information from their child; and (3) parents' use of control, meaning setting rules and restrictions to limit their child's ability to engage in activities without informing their parents [23,24]. Thus, information sharing between parents and adolescents can occur through dialogue (eg, informal or formal monitoring discussions) or through behaviors (eg, parents' engagement in mediation of SM as a means to gain control). Of these sources, parental knowledge is most strikingly informed by adolescent disclosure.

Voluntary adolescent disclosure is considered to be a strong and consistent predictor of parental knowledge above and beyond parents' solicitation of information [25]. By the time of adolescence, youth are developmentally capable of making choices to voluntarily offer private information [26]. Keeping secrets, particularly when negative consequences are perceived, is also developmentally typical and impacted by contextual factors within the family, such as the degree of trust present between parents and adolescents and overall relationship quality [26,27]. Supportive parenting styles exhibited by warmth, affection, and responsiveness to adolescents' needs are more likely to facilitate voluntary disclosure [28,29]. Unsupportive styles of parenting, such as parenting that involves the use of psychological control or manipulation techniques such as love withdrawal, shaming, or guilt induction, act as barriers to voluntary disclosure [28,29].

Some methods of parental solicitation and control have been associated with reductions in parents' knowledge of their child's SM behavior. Parents' engagement in privacy invasions or the covert solicitation of a child's private information often act as impediments to open parent-child communication. Privacy invasions have been associated with increased adolescent secrecy and deficits in family functioning, for example, problematic communication, behavior, and relationships [30-32]. Engaging in methods of parental control that adolescents may see as a restriction to their freedom of expression also hinders adolescent disclosure and, in turn, increases secrecy [33].

These long-standing trends toward parental knowledge and control remain consistent within media studies. In their meta-analysis, Chen and Shi [34] showed that parents' active engagement with their child's media use, namely, through openly discussing media use or parental co-use of media with their child, was effective in reducing SM risk behaviors. They also found that parental restriction alone was not associated with a reduction in risky behaviors.

Context of Parental Knowledge of SM Use Among Adolescents With Depression

Parental knowledge of SM use is of critical importance for the discussion of depression in adolescents. Open parent-child communication that is fostered through adolescents' voluntary disclosure is associated with reductions in depressed mood, improvements in self-esteem, and positive and realistic expectations toward media use [23,24]. Conversely, parents' engagement in unsupportive communication or deployment of control strategies (eg, setting rules that require their child to share information about their SM use) has been linked to increased depressive symptoms and poorer adjustment among adolescents [23,24,35]. When parents' lack of support takes the form of negative reactions to adolescents' disclosures, adolescents are left feeling disconnected to their parent and respond by engaging in secrecy [33]. Secrecy could be detrimental in situations when a parent may need to intervene to address their child's depressed mood or suicidal thoughts.

Research Gaps

Parents' attempts to understand and explore their child's SM use may be especially challenging in the current era in which SM activity is ubiquitous and trends toward use among adolescents are increasing in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic. Little is known, however, about the context of parental monitoring of SM use among adolescents with depression. Understanding the context of how parents of adolescents with depression balance the unique challenges in weighing their child's unique vulnerabilities toward negative SM experiences and unique opportunities for social support and connection could offer important contributions for clinicians who are partnering with families to support youth with depression. First, similarities and differences in perspectives of adolescents with depression and their parents toward SM use and monitoring have not been explored. Considerations toward monitoring among youth with depression, who are more vulnerable to negative SM experiences, may be distinct from adolescents who are not depressed. Second, strategies that parents of adolescents with depression use to stay informed of their child's SM use are not well understood and may offer helpful guidance to parents of adolescents with depression on how to protect their child while supporting their emerging independence.

The exploration of these findings may be especially beneficial to providers engaged in the mental health care of adolescents who are recommended to assess the harmful and helpful influences of adolescents' digital lives [36]. Providers' ability to accurately assess the SM context is likely to be influenced by parent and child perceptions toward the use and function of SM. Furthermore, providers who wish to partner with parents to observe and protect adolescents' SM environments may face challenges if the child's and parent's preferences toward SM monitoring strategies are discrepant.

Aims

To offer insights for clinical practice with adolescents with depression and their families, we sought to explore the perspectives of youth with depression and their parents toward SM use and monitoring. Through interviews with adolescent and parent dyads, we aim to compare parent and child views toward the use and function of SM use in the daily lives of adolescents with depression. Through interviews with individual informants, we aim to explore parents' strategies and experiences with gaining knowledge of their child's SM use.

Methods

Recruitment and Sampling

As part of a larger qualitative study to inform an intervention using SM for adolescents with depression and their parents [7], a convenience sample of adolescents aged 13 to 20 years diagnosed with depression and currently receiving treatment in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, and one parent of each adolescent were invited to participate in interviews. From July 2013 to September 2014, potential participants were informed about the study by clinicians treating patients for depression at 2 sites: (1) an academic adolescent and young adult medicine clinic with mental health services available or (2) a specialty psychiatric clinic for adolescents with depression and suicidality. Of the 31 adolescent-parent pairs (of which there were 31 adolescents and 30 parents because 1 mother had 2 children in the study) who filled out an interest form, 8 adolescents and 7 parents could not be reached for an interview; thus, 23 adolescents and 23 parents completed the study. Of these, there were 21 adolescent-parent matched pairs. One parent had 2 children in the study. Reporting of data collection and analytic methods follows the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research [37].

Data Collection

All interviews were conducted by the senior author, who was trained and experienced in qualitative data collection and analysis. She introduced herself to adolescents as a researcher and physician in Adolescent Medicine. Semistructured interviews were conducted over telephone (n=17 adolescents and n=17 parents) or in person in a private patient room in the clinical setting (n=6 adolescents and n=6 parents). Parent and child interviews were conducted separately. We obtained verbal

consent from parents for themselves and from adolescents aged 18 years and older; for those aged 18 years and younger, we obtained parental permission and adolescent assent. The interviewer assured participants that the research team would guard confidentiality, specifically not sharing phrases said on SM, which could potentially be searched to identify them.

A 30- to 60-minute semistructured interview, facilitated through an interview guide while remaining open to topical trajectories that broadened the understanding of participants' perspectives, was conducted individually with the adolescent alone and then with the parent alone. These interviews were used to obtain information about SM use characteristics and positive and negative experiences with SM use for both adolescents and parents-pertaining to parents' personal use of SM and whether the parent uses SM or the internet to learn more about their child's depression or to connect with other parents. Parents were also asked (1) whether their child uses SM and to describe their positive and negative SM experiences, (2) their opinion of and experiences with their child sharing personal thoughts with others via SM, and (3) their experience communicating with their child through SM. Adolescents were asked about how the type and extent of their SM use varies with their mood. Both adolescents and parents were also asked to provide demographic information, including age, gender and race, length of depression treatment, mobile phone ownership, and primary device for internet use. Questions on SM use characteristics were adopted from Pew Research Center studies on adolescent SM behavior [38,39]. As compensation for study participation, adolescents received a book about adolescent with depression or bipolar disorder [40], and parents received a book about being a parent of an adolescent with depression or a bipolar disorder [41]. The study protocol was approved by the University of Pittsburgh Human Research Protection Office.

Data Analysis

We analyzed interviews of both individual informants and dyads to explore adolescent and parent perspectives toward SM use and monitoring. Such an approach offers the potential to investigate rich contextual factors associated with concordant and discrepant family experiences [42]. Individual interviews are well suited for offering a contextual analysis that sheds light on perspectives from a specified group [43]. Exploration among dyads can enrich findings from individual interviews by offering an ability to compare across multiple perspectives, which is known to improve the trustworthiness of findings [43] and to identify discrepancies and disagreements. All interviews were audiotaped; transcribed verbatim, removing any participant identifiers; and coded using ATLAS.ti version 7, a qualitative analysis program manufactured by Scientific Software Development [44].

Dyadic Analysis of Interviews With Parents and Adolescents

As the original focus of this study did not include dyadic-level analyses, a direct comparison approach could not be used because of differences in questions asked of adolescents and their parents. However, during the analysis of parent and adolescent interviews, similar descriptions of events or ideas by parents and their children created an organic opportunity to

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/
```

examine dyadic-level themes by way of content analysis. Using the Eisikovits and Koren model of dyadic analysis [43], matched adolescent-parent dyadic transcripts were reviewed by horizontalization and cross-analysis for overlaps and contrasts between text, subtext, descriptive, and interpretive levels, with the description of an event that occurred in SM (eg, cyberbullying of the adolescent from the perspective of the adolescent and from the perspective of the parent) as the unit of analysis. Dyadic transcripts were reviewed by independent coders (the first and second authors) who noted these horizontal themes, and discrepancies were settled by team consensus.

Analysis of Individual Interviews With Parents

The data analytic approach to the description of parents' experiences with their child's SM use used the technique of qualitative description. As described by Sandelowski [45], qualitative description refers to a thematic content analysis where findings aimed to stay close to the data as opposed to being overly interpretative. Using a content analysis approach [46], the first 4 interviews were reviewed independently by 2 investigators using an initial codebook based on the interview script. An updated list of codes focusing on key areas of interest was generated, with additional review by a senior member of the research team. Subsequently, the rest of the interviews were coded by 1 investigator and then reviewed by the senior author who made additions and/or changes. Additions of new codes or changes in code definitions were determined via consensus among the research team. The final sample size was determined by content saturation, which refers to the point at which adequate information is gathered to meet the purposes and goals of the research [47].

Results

Participant Characteristics

Of those who completed the study (23 parents and 23 adolescents), the average age for adolescents was 16 years (range 13-20 years) and the average age for parents was 46 years (range 37-55 years). Most adolescents (18/23, 78%) and most parents (19/23, 83%) were female, and most adolescents (20/23, 87%) and parents (21/23, 91%) were White (3/23 adolescents, 13%, and 2/23 parents, 9%, were African American), which reflects the demographics of patients seeking care for depression at the 2 sites. At the time of enrollment, adolescents on average had received treatment for depression over 25.4 months (range 3-84 months). Most parents (19/23, 83%) and adolescents (22/23, 96%) used SM. Parents most frequently reported using Facebook (18/23, 78%), whereas adolescents' SM use was more diverse across platforms (10/23, 43%, used Facebook and 4/23, 17%, used Twitter, Tumblr, and Instagram).

Dyadic Analysis of Parent and Adolescent Interviews

We first summarized themes based on dyadic analysis of the interviews, on which we directly compared child and parent interpretations of shared events. This analysis aimed to understand parents' and adolescents' mutual and divergent interpretations of adolescents' use of SM in their daily lives. These themes included SM as a form of expression, the function of SM, SM as a space to discuss depression with others,

interacting with strangers on SM, and parental monitoring of adolescents' SM use.

SM as a Form of Expression

Parents and adolescents generally disagreed on SM being a medium for individual expression. Adolescents viewed SM as a forum for honest expression of themselves and their emotions, whether positive or negative. Adolescents elected to express themselves through song lyrics that capture their emotions or what adolescents described as ranting about an event that happened to them. Parents, however, saw much of what their adolescent was posting on SM as inconsequential or something to do when they felt bored and that it could interfere with other activities in the adolescent's life. These themes are demonstrated in the following quotes from a parent and child dyad who had divergent views on adolescents' SM expression:

Just to post like whatever you want. Because it's your Twitter, so you can just say how you feel, like what you're doing that day. Just anything in general really. Like anything that you want. So, it shouldn't matter like what you post. [Child perspective; age 16 years] But when I saw what she—all the song lyrics she was putting on there, that caused me to have concern

and... I just brought it up. And she thought it was funny. And she's, and you know—I said, 'I don't understand why you want to put these lyrics out there,' because they weren't good lyrics. And she says, 'Well, I'm expressing myself.' And I say, 'But why do you have to tell everybody? Like why'—I don't get it. I just don't get the whole thing. I'm just old-fashioned. [Parent perspective]

Positive and Negative Functions of SM

Some parents and adolescents mutually described the potential of SM to be a protective, healing, or supportive space or a place to seek positive content. In other cases, parents and adolescents both offered clear examples of and reflections on the harms of SM use. For example, one parent was concerned about posts or forums that encourage self-harm behaviors (eg, cutting), which aligns with her daughter's concerns—who had a history of intentional self-harm—and was worried that such forums or posts would encourage her daughter to cut herself. Other examples had greater discrepancy, which typically occurred when one member of the pair was more ambivalent and the other had a stronger point of view. The following quotes present discrepant perspectives between a parent and child dyad on the use and utility of SM:

So I think that if I do something on that website, like if I make an edit to just something that I enjoy and I'm interested in, that's something that's good, and I can read the feedback that I get from it. And so as long as I'm busy rather than if I look up the tag of #sad, that might make me more sad. But it's kind of like, I get some sort of satisfaction from looking at sad pictures because it's something I can relate to, which is kind of weird. [Child perspective, age 14 years] She spends an inordinate amount of time. And while the people on there, cool, some of them have the same experiences and stuff, she's also not getting the face-to-face social stuff that I think she really needs, especially somebody going through what she's going through as far as the depression. [Parent perspective]

SM as a Problematic Space to Discuss Depression With Others

Some parents and adolescents agreed that it was safer, more private, and more authentic to talk about depression with trusted friends offline; however, their reasoning was not always the same. Parents were concerned about negative consequences and expressed distrust with others on SM, or they preferred that their child talk to them directly. Adolescents, on the other hand, expressed worry about what others would think—that posting on SM would draw unwanted attention, be burdening to others, or simply felt it was not others' business. These viewpoints are demonstrated by the following parent and child dyad:

I don't want everybody to know my business, like what I'm dealing with on like a really personal level...a family member might see it and, well, they might tell another family member about it and it would just go around the whole family. [Child perspective; age 17 years]

My thought's that if they feel that way, he should come to his mother and father and talk to them about it instead of putting it out there for everybody else. Some people is cruel, and they'll end up saying something that'll make him worse. [Parent perspective]

Risks and Benefits of Anonymous Interactions on SM

Parents and adolescents had differing opinions about talking with strangers or interacting anonymously on SM. Parents expressed concern over their child being friends or having followers that were strangers or the lack of privacy in SM. In contrast, adolescents perceived that having strangers as friends on SM was not problematic and normative. These divergent perspectives are described by the following parent and child dyad:

I think it's because I was just younger and I didn't care who I was friends with, or you know, like you want to have so many friends on there so you just add whoever, type of thing. [Child perspective; age 17 years]

How dangerous it is, and, you know, some of these people are older, 20s, 30s, they 're men. How she doesn't need to be, they don't need to see her pictures, they don't need to know anything about her, they don't know her period, that people are dangerous, you can't trust any, you know, everybody. You know, that people can find out anything they want to know. [Parent perspective]

Parents' Monitoring of Adolescents' SM Use

Parent and adolescent perspectives on monitoring were predominantly divergent. In some cases, parents' attempts to view their child's SM content to prevent negative experiences

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/
```

left adolescents feeling resentful, particularly when the adolescent was excluded from this process (eg, a parent looking though their child's phone without the adolescent's permission). Furthermore, when parents restricted SM use, some adolescents defied their parents' wishes by creating secret accounts on SM or by engaging with strangers. In other cases, parents considered monitoring strategies that would protect the parent-child relationship, which might include having honest conversations with their child about privacy or safety issues surrounding sharing of information on SM. These efforts corresponded with adolescents citing examples of choosing not to disclose private matters on SM; however, adolescents rarely contributed their decisions regarding privacy to their parents' monitoring efforts, as is exemplified in the following quotes from a parent and adolescent dyad:

I really do think that she's too smart to share it with strangers. I mean, I really think I've educated her in that, you know, strangers are never your friends, and they're not who they say are—I think she's wiser than her years when it comes to that, but I'm sure a lot of parents think that and then something tragic happens. [Parent perspective]

If it's something private, I think—I mean just from my opinion, I think, I just keep it to myself...I think that people would see it and just kind of like, maybe feel bad or like—and I just feel that they would know my personal business. And it's just like not necessary. [Child perspective]

Analysis of Individual Parent Interviews

Drawing from the frequent divergent interpretation of adolescents' SM use and behaviors, themes were explored to identify the ways in which parents of youth with depression within this sample gain knowledge of their child's SM use and parents' attitudes and experiences with SM monitoring.

Parental Expectations

Parents had a variety of expectations both toward their adolescents' capacity to use SM in a healthy manner and in the potential of monitoring to have an impact on their child's SM use. Parents generally expected their child to use SM in a way that was healthy. As described in the following quote, some parents felt that their expectations were met, describing a sense of trust in their child to create and maintain prosocial SM relationships and to express their opinions and experiences of depression in a way that is healing:

I trust her, you know, quite a bit, really—I mean, fully—with the use of it. I think she's got a good head on her shoulders, and, so, yeah, I think she's managing her own positive experience of it.

Alternatively, other parents' expectations were unmet. They also had concerns that their adolescent was engaging in maladaptive behaviors such as oversharing (or being too trusting of sharing personal information on SM), which parents believed may have negative consequences, such as bullying, embarrassment, or future impact, on employment opportunities. Some informants were surprised to find their child's peers discussing risky behavior on SM (eg, sharing sexually explicit

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/

content). One parent offered an example of discomfort with photos shared by her child's friends:

...my daughters have a lot of friends with inappropriate photographs, and I don't think that they think they're inappropriate, but...I don't think teenage girls should be in bathing suits on the internet.

In addition, parents expressed both positive and negative expectations that their monitoring efforts would actually have an impact on their adolescents' engagement with SM. Some felt capable of intervening to improve their adolescent's SM interactions, for example, having an open conversation about cyberbullying. Alternatively, others were concerned that SM was too difficult to regulate or control and that intervening would be ineffective. The following quote offers an example of a parent's negative expectation:

...it's not a battle I choose to fight. I'm not going to—you can't—the internet in general is basically an unlimited freedom. You can see and do just about whatever your imagination can come up with.

Adolescent's Disclosure to Their Parents

Descriptions or perceptions that adolescents are telling their parents about their SM use or the impact of SM use on their mood varied. In some cases, when adolescents accepted their parent's monitoring, they were willing to openly discuss their SM use and its impact on them with their parents. One parent offered an example of her child openly disclosed information about her SM use:

...she's pretty—[name] is I would say much more open with me than, than I, than certainly I ever was with my parents...I just felt like my mom was so far, you know, like way into my business in the first place, that I didn't share, but [name] and I have a, have a pretty good relationship, I think and like she has no problem. Like she'll come to me for advice and say, 'What should I say to this person?'

Selective disclosure of behaviors was also observed, meaning that adolescents hid some aspects of their SM use from their parents in fear of a negative consequence. In these cases, adolescents feared that negative SM experiences may lead to parents deactivating their SM accounts, or they fear their parents will respond with rejection or disapproval.

Parental Knowledge

Several parents found it difficult to be knowledgeable about their children's SM behavior. As described in the following quote, parents reported being unaware of which platforms their child used and did not know if their adolescent was bypassing their rules regarding SM use:

I asked her not to get on Facebook anymore. And then she snuck, and she got on Facebook a second time, using a different name.

Some parents acknowledged that their adolescents had hidden concerning SM interactions from them. For example, one parent noted that her daughter hid photos posted on SM of her self-injuring:

Before she had her attempt of suicide, she had a GifBoom account that was very dark, and we didn't find out about it until later, but like had pictures of cutting—it almost was like a support group for that.

Other parents were more secure in their knowledge of their child's SM interactions, and at times, this impacted adolescents' SM behavior, often reducing personal content disclosed on SM. In the following quote, a parent described how their child being aware of familial monitoring corresponded with reduced sharing on SM:

Well, I have to be honest, she doesn't really share too much online from a Facebook standpoint, regarding how she feels or her depression, because she has many family members who are her friends on Facebook. And I think, and I'm trying to get into her mind, and I'm thinking that she doesn't put a lot of that out there because of who they are. Like if it's her Nana, which is her grandmother, or her grandfather, or her aunts and uncles, she doesn't put a lot of that out there, because she knows that they will read it.

Parental Solicitation

To gain knowledge of their child's SM use, parents engaged in solicitation. In some cases, solicitation involved directly asking the child about their SM use. Parents engaged in this direct form of solicitation both in person and on SM, predominantly in instances when they felt their child was having negative experiences on SM or based on a belief that SM was inherently harmful (eg, contributing to their depression or encouraging risky behavior). Parents not using this direct form of solicitation described not wanting to *hover* or be controlling and preferred trusting in their child to maintain healthy SM behavior.

Parents also engaged in indirect forms of solicitation, which may have included a parent looking through their child's phone or knowing the password to their SM accounts. Some parents felt this was an important way to learn previously unknown information about their child, such as new disclosures of risk-taking behavior described on SM or even to have a window to how the child feels or experiences their depression in a way that adolescents may not communicate with their parents. In the following quote, a parent described her experience with learning the utility of SM in providing information on her child's emotional state:

Her father and I both were very against her sharing these things online, or really even, we kind of wanted her to just not even have an online account or anything. But then we kind of were, I don't know, awakened to the fact that this is kind of the only window you have into your kid's emotions sometimes. You know, teenagers especially don't like to tell their parents what's going on or to talk about how they're feeling. And sometimes that's how you see how they're really feeling, is by some of the stuff they're posting, even if they don't realize that they're showing it, you can kind of just see their different moods. I think it definitely has given us some, I don't know, opportunities to talk that maybe we wouldn't have

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/

had before. Especially—it's very easy for kids to just come home and say, 'Yep, school was fine. I'm fine.' And the that's it, you know.

Adolescents were more accepting of indirect forms of monitoring when there was an agreement between the parent and child of how this would be done. For example, one adolescent noted that their parent having their account password information led to openness in communication surrounding SM. To protect their child's privacy and the parent-child relationship, some parents used other sources such as asking a friend, sibling, or other relative to assist in monitoring or using monitoring software.

Parental Control

Efforts to control adolescents' behaviors included restricting sites perceived to be harmful and attempting to restrict certain SM behavior. One parent described how their efforts to restrict their child's SM use were brought about by a desire to protect their child from harmful SM content:

Honestly right now, at this point in time, I have blocked most of the social networking sites from my daughter because of some of the things that I have seen on her wall and some of the things that I have seen that she posted. Because she's going through this, let's call it a difficult time in her life right now, I don't think that she needs to rehash and read, and see all these different things because it's just open everything that is imaginable is on these social networking, and I just, I'm—I guess I'm trying to, to the best of my ability, is to protect her from seeing these different things...

Furthermore, some parents limited their adolescent's SM use after their child did something of which they disapproved. Disciplinary actions included restricting access to a certain SM site entirely or taking the child's phone away. In the following quote, a parent related her experience with restricting her child's access to Facebook:

So, I asked her not to get on Facebook anymore. And then she snuck and she got on Facebook a second time, using a different name. And the same thing was happening...so then finally after she did it the third time, we told her absolutely, positively not. She wasn't allowed to go even into Facebook to read it, to read anybody's comments, to even talk to anybody. She's not, at this point she's not allowed on Facebook at all.

Rule setting was enforced through both direct and indirect means of solicitation, including the use of monitoring software or by asking designated members of the child's social network (eg, a friend of the parent who is monitoring the adolescent on behalf of the parent). Attempts to restrict SM behavior varied by age, where some parents restricted the use of certain SM sites or any site before a certain age. Parents who did not engage in restriction reported a sense of powerlessness or loss of control. One parent described how she wished she could set rules but felt doing so would be ineffective and could damage her relationship with their child:

I wish I had the nerve to tell her she wasn't allowed to use it but it would just be such a barrier and it would just make her hate me and not talk to me, and there's no point—like I said, like I prepare her for the adult world, in a year and a half she'll be at college, and I don't want her to go off the deep end then and say, like, 'My mother would never let me do this, so now I'll show her...'

Another parent described a perception that attempts to control are ineffective and correspondingly a sense of lack of control:

We tried at first to completely like eliminate her having them, but we found that when you do that they just kind of find ways to do it behind your back, and then you have no way to know what's going on. So, she voluntarily will show me a lot of this stuff. You know, I still do fear that there's things out there that I'm not seeing. But I don't know if there's ever a way to monitor 100%. You're almost kind of kidding yourself if you think you are.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study uses rich qualitative inquiry to explore child and parent perspectives toward SM use and monitoring for adolescents with depression. Our study describes the experiences of adolescents with depression using SM to seek autonomy from their parents and the parents attempt to maintain knowledge of their child's SM use to offer protection because of concerns of a potentially unsafe environment for their vulnerable child. Although previous research has described the struggles between adolescents' and parents' overuse of SM [22], this study's dyadic analysis of the perspective of adolescents with depression and their respective parents is unique. SM presents challenges through risky SM behaviors, negative SM experiences such as cyberbullying, and worsening mood [11,39,48,49], to which adolescents seeking clinical treatment for depression are especially vulnerable. SM also presents opportunities for social connection and supportive interactions, which are especially important for youth facing depression [50]. Conflict over the use of SM in the context of depression may create added challenges that youth without depression and their parents or caregivers may not have to address. This study offers findings that have implications for clinicians engaged in the treatment of adolescents with depression, who are heavy users of SM. Especially in the current context of the COVID-19 pandemic, clinical guidance for parental monitoring of SM is critical.

The findings from the dyadic interviews showed that although a few parents and adolescents agreed about the use and function of SM, most had discrepant perspectives. Discrepancy often stemmed from a difference in value placed on autonomous SM expression versus protection from the risks of SM use. These views can be considered with a report released from the United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund [51], which considers children's rights for digital privacy. In accordance with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child [52], this report suggests that children have a right to digital privacy and that parents have a dual responsibility—both to

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/
```

XSI•FC

protect their adolescent from web-based threats and to encourage free expression by their adolescent in web-based spaces. This dual responsibility appears to create conflict and discrepant views between adolescents and their parents.

For parents attempting to balance this dual responsibility, United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund's report suggests the extent to which privacy and access to SM is given should be considered based on the child's evolving capacity, for example, their age and maturity level. In the case of adolescents with depression, a child's capacity may also include the potential for heightened vulnerability to harmful SM experiences. At the same time, adolescents with depression report finding value in having a venue to express themselves emotionally and receive support through trusted SM friends. Furthermore, some studies found that these protective interactions had a healing effect, which positively influenced their mood. This suggests that although parents should take measures to protect their child from SM-related risks to their safety, they should also look for opportunities to allow their children to engage freely, particularly with supportive peers on SM.

The results of the individual interviews can be placed within the context of conceptualization of parental knowledge by Kerr and Stattin [23]. The sources of parental knowledge they have identified-adolescent disclosure, parental solicitation, and parental control-appear to be salient in understanding how parents engage in surveillance and monitoring of SM behavior of adolescents with depression. Consistent with the literature [25,26], adolescents voluntarily disclosed information about their SM use to their parents when they accepted their parents' monitoring strategies but were less likely to disclose when they perceived the potential for a negative consequence. When teens felt comfortable, they were willing to discuss their SM use and its impact on their mental health with their parents. Due to concerns about their children engaging in risky SM behavior, several parents were keenly interested in gaining information either by directly asking their child about their SM use or through overt or covert methods of viewing their child's actual SM content. Parents' engagement in covert forms of solicitation are potentially concerning because privacy invasions have been associated with increased secrecy and lower parental knowledge [31,32]. Parents engaged in a variety of control techniques, that is, rule setting surrounding their child's SM use and, in some cases, violation of parents' rules resulting in disciplinary actions. When parents engaged in controlling behaviors without their child's knowledge or buy-in, teens were not entirely honest with their parents about their SM experiences. When parents engaged in privacy invasions, adolescents became secretive and, in some cases, engaged in risky SM behavior without their parents' knowledge.

These results suggest that there is a unique context for parents of adolescents with depression for engaging in SM monitoring and unique consequences for their child's acceptance of their chosen monitoring strategies. The positive consequences of open parent-child communication that fosters voluntary disclosure are significant. Parents can be more aware of their child's SM activity to protect them from the negative influences of SM while fostering positive influences. Likewise, the negative

consequences of SM monitoring strategies that contribute to a lack of knowledge are also considerable. As was evident in these interviews, when adolescents with depression do not accept their parents' use of SM monitoring, they have the potential to withhold information from their parents about risky SM communication, such as posting about self-harm or communicating with strangers. Lacking such information stifles parents' capacity to protect their child from harm. Further, restriction techniques that limit access to supportive SM interactions may have the consequence of reducing the protective influences of SM.

Implications for the Clinical Care of Adolescents With Depression

Understanding parent and child perspectives toward SM use and strategies parents deploy to learn about the SM activity of their child with depression could offer valuable insights toward clinical intervention planning. For example, the strategies parents use to procure information about their child's SM use could either support or discourage the child's voluntary disclosure of risky SM interactions or negative experiences. Such voluntary disclosure may be the most effective way for parents and clinicians to be knowledgeable about the level of risk within the child's SM environment. In addition, adolescents' voluntary disclosure to parents could result in a greater awareness of the protective aspects of their SM use, including sources of support that adolescents with depression may find critical to preventing their depressed mood from worsening. Understanding the context of adolescents and parents' perspectives toward SM use and monitoring could aid clinicians in opening lines of discussion that validate both parties' unique concerns to move toward the goal of an effective and acceptable monitoring approach.

In 2019, the American Association of Suicidology (AAS) [36] released recommendations for parents and providers engaging in SM monitoring of adolescents at risk for suicide. According to the recommendations by AAS, clinicians should engage in a risk assessment of both the helpful and harmful influences of adolescents' engagement with SM and use this information to build a crisis intervention safety plan. It is considered a best practice for safety plans to be developed by clinicians in collaboration with parents. When engaging in risk assessment, clinicians should consider ways by which SM can offer meaningful opportunities for emotional expression and support for adolescents with depression and work with parents to consider how engaging in restrictive strategies could affect these helpful aspects of SM use. Clinicians should offer parents caution with strategies that involve privacy invasions that have the potential to weaken parent-child connections and may have the unintended consequence of placing children at higher risk. The risk assessment should also consider potential negative influences of SM, such as exposure to harmful or hateful content, and engage adolescents in considering ways to openly discuss negative SM experiences with their parents.

The Family Media Plan developed by the American Academy of Pediatrics [53] may be instrumental in developing a mutually agreeable plan for parents and adolescents. This plan offers an opportunity for open discussion about critical topics such as

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/
```

XSL•F() RenderX screen time, use at important times of day such as while doing homework or before bed, appropriateness of media content, and rules for digital safety. Clinicians could be trusted confidants to adolescents with depression and their parents when considering these topics and work together with the family to find a middle ground between parents' desire for protection and adolescents' desire for autonomy toward a mutually acceptable monitoring approach.

Implications for the COVID-19 Pandemic

The unique context of the COVID-19 pandemic is especially relevant and important for the SM use and parental monitoring of adolescents with depression. Our data reflect the importance that adolescents with depression place on maintaining prosocial SM peer interactions. During the pandemic, when youth face challenges associated with the loss of face-to-face social interaction, maintaining connection with supportive peers on SM is important to mitigate feelings of social isolation, a significant risk factor for suicide [5,54]. At the same time, parents of youth with depression, who our data reflect are concerned about their child's exposure to negative SM experiences, may be especially worried about heightened risks associated with adolescents' increased SM activity. This context places a demand on parents to monitor their adolescents' SM use; however, this comes into conflict with significant economic, social, and health challenges that affect families' daily lives [55].

As adolescents and their parents face unprecedented challenges, clinicians of youth with depression have an important role in helping families find a balance between concerns for safety on SM and autonomous communication with peers. Given the risk of social deprivation that ongoing physical distancing measures may have on adolescents, clinicians should work with parents to consider risks of limiting their child's access to supportive SM peers, while also offering guidance to reduce exposure to negative SM content (eg, cyberbullying or conversations or images pertaining to self-harm). Clinicians may benefit from using resources from Common Sense Media, which provide guidance for parents in safeguarding their children's physical and mental wellness as they access digital media during the pandemic [56]. In addition, the Suicide Prevention Lifeline's collection of web-based resources to support healthy coping during the COVID-19 outbreak may be beneficial contributions to safety plans for adolescents facing pandemic-related mental health challenges [57].

Strengths and Limitations

A key methodological strength of this study was the conduct of separate interviews with parent and child dyads, which allowed for analysis at both the individual and dyad levels. First, the separate analysis of parent and child interviews allows each informant to tell the story from their own perspective [43]. As adolescents and their parents often have incongruent views of the same events [58], dyadic interviews provide an opportunity to highlight conflicting perspectives on SM use and monitoring. Second, the collection of separately conducted parent and child interviews helped capture the individual within the dyad, without sacrificing the dyadic perspective [43]. Finally, the ability to triangulate perspectives at both an individual level and dyad

level increases the capacity to broaden knowledge and contextual understanding of a phenomenon [43].

This study offers a unique contribution to the literature by exploring parent and child perspectives toward SM use and monitoring of adolescents with depression. Despite the novelty of this study, it has limitations. First, this study was not intended to be a dyadic analysis of how both parents and their adolescents with depression perceived the adolescent's use of SM. Some aspects of the parent-child relationship related to SM use and monitoring may be unknown because they were not shared during the interviews. Second, the sample is predominantly White and female and from an academic medical institution, where many of the patients visiting the clinic may have had more severe forms of depression and, therefore, may not be representative of adolescents with depression and their respective parents. Moreover, these same patients were brought to the clinic by their parents, suggesting that these parents may be more proactive in their children's health, which may include their child's SM use. Third, the same interviewers conducted these dyadic interviews. In this situation, although the interviewer assured confidentiality and interviewed participants separately, the other party was virtually present in the interview space. This may make the other party (whether parent or adolescent) be selective of what they will tell the interviewer [43]. Finally, we have framed the relevance of these findings within the COVID-19 pandemic that has observed a sharp increase in SM use alongside a diminishment of parents'

availability for monitoring [59]; however, these data were collected before the pandemic's onset. Therefore, potential differences in adolescents' and parents' perspectives toward within the current context and the evolving nature of SM use may not be represented. Despite these limitations, this study provides helpful insights into the challenges adolescents with depression and their parents face in approaching safety and acceptable SM monitoring.

Conclusions

Our interviews described the experiences of adolescents with depression and their respective parents on adolescents' use of SM in their daily lives, a topic that bears particular relevance during the COVID-19 pandemic when SM use has risen dramatically in response to physical distancing measures. The findings highlight the conflict over adolescents' growing need for autonomy versus the parents' need to protect their child with depression because of concern for their child's heightened vulnerability to the risks of SM use. Parents try to balance these 2 components by obtaining knowledge of their child's SM use through their child's voluntary disclosure, by soliciting information from their child, or through parental control techniques. Our study has highlighted the need for clinicians to partner with families to identify mutually agreeable monitoring strategies that meet both the parents' desire to be knowledgeable about their vulnerable child's SM use and the adolescents' need for independence in their SM interactions.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the adolescents and parents who participated in this study. This work was supported by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (K12HS022989 and T32HS019486), the National Institute of Mental Health (T32MH018951 and K23MH111922), and the University of Pittsburgh Center for Behavioral Health, Media, and Technology.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Rideout V. Social Media, Social Life: Teens Reveal Their Experiences. Common Sense Media. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/research/social-media-social-life-2018</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 2. Anderson M, Smith A, Page D. How Teens and Parents Navigate Screen Time and Device Distractions. Pew Research Center. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/08/22/</u>
- how-teens-and-parents-navigate-screen-time-and-device-distractions/ [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 3. Biernesser C, Bear T, Mair C, Brent D, Trauth J. Social Media and Adolescent Suicide Exploring Risks, Benefits, and Opportunities for Prevention. University of Pittsburgh. 2019. URL: <u>http://d-scholarship.pitt.edu/36205/</u> [accessed 2012-11-29]
- 4. Koeze E, Popper N. The Virus Changed the Way We Internet. New York Times. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/</u> 2020/04/09/learning/how-has-the-coronavirus-changed-how-you-use-the-internet.html [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 5. Orben A, Tomova L, Blakemore S. The effects of social deprivation on adolescent development and mental health. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 Aug;4(8):634-640. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30186-3]
- 6. Hinduja S. Coronavirus, Online Learning, Social Isolation, and Cyberbullying: How to Support Our Students. Cyberbullying Research Center. 2020. URL: <u>https://cyberbullying.org/coronavirus-online-learning-social-isolation-cyberbullying</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- Radovic A, Gmelin T, Stein BD, Miller E. Depressed adolescents' positive and negative use of social media. J Adolesc 2017 Feb;55:5-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.12.002] [Medline: 27997851]
- 8. Vidal C, Lhaksampa T, Miller L, Platt R. Social media use and depression in adolescents: a scoping review. Int Rev Psychiatry 2020 May;32(3):235-253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09540261.2020.1720623] [Medline: 32065542]

- Ybarra ML, Alexander C, Mitchell KJ. Depressive symptomatology, youth Internet use, and online interactions: a national survey. J Adolesc Health 2005 Jan;36(1):9-18. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2003.10.012</u>] [Medline: <u>15661591</u>]
- Memon A, Sharma S, Mohite S, Jain S. The role of online social networking on deliberate self-harm and suicidality in adolescents: a systematized review of literature. Indian J Psychiatry 2018;60(4):384-392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/psychiatry.IndianJPsychiatry_414_17] [Medline: 30581202]
- Biernesser C, Sewall CJ, Brent D, Bear T, Mair C, Trauth J. Social media use and deliberate self-harm among youth: a systematized narrative review. Child Youth Serv Rev 2020 Sep;116. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105054</u>] [Medline: <u>32773916</u>]
- 12. Ybarra ML. Linkages between depressive symptomatology and internet harassment among young regular internet users. Cyberpsychol Behav 2004 Apr;7(2):247-257. [doi: 10.1089/109493104323024500] [Medline: 15140367]
- Hamm MP, Newton AS, Chisholm A, Shulhan J, Milne A, Sundar P, et al. Prevalence and effect of cyberbullying on children and young people: a scoping review of social media studies. JAMA Pediatr 2015 Aug;169(8):770-777. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.0944] [Medline: 26098362]
- 14. Selkie EM, Kota R, Chan Y, Moreno M. Cyberbullying, depression, and problem alcohol use in female college students: a multisite study. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2015 Feb;18(2):79-86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0371] [Medline: 25684608]
- 15. Liu TC, Desai RA, Krishnan-Sarin S, Cavallo DA, Potenza MN. Problematic internet use and health in adolescents. J Clin Psychiatry 2011 Apr 19;72(06):836-845. [doi: 10.4088/jcp.10m06057]
- John A, Glendenning AC, Marchant A, Montgomery P, Stewart A, Wood S, et al. Self-harm, suicidal behaviours, and cyberbullying in children and young people: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 19;20(4):e129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9044] [Medline: 29674305]
- 17. Sedgwick R, Epstein S, Dutta R, Ougrin D. Social media, internet use and suicide attempts in adolescents. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2019;32(6):534-541. [doi: 10.1097/yco.00000000000547]
- Frison E, Subrahmanyam K, Eggermont S. The short-term longitudinal and reciprocal relations between peer victimization on facebook and adolescents' well-being. J Youth Adolesc 2016 Sep;45(9):1755-1771. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-016-0436-z</u>] [Medline: <u>26880284</u>]
- 19. Camerini A, Marciano L, Carrara A, Schulz PJ. Cyberbullying perpetration and victimization among children and adolescents: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. Telematics Inform 2020 Jun;49:101362. [doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2020.101362]
- 20. Landoll RR, La Greca AM, Lai BS, Chan SF, Herge WM. Cyber victimization by peers: prospective associations with adolescent social anxiety and depressive symptoms. J Adolesc 2015 Jul;42:77-86. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2015.04.002</u>]
- 21. Boyd D. It's Complicated: The Social Lives of Networked Teens. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 2015.
- 22. Erickson LB, Wisniewski P, Xu H, Carroll JM, Rosson MB, Perkins DF. The boundaries between: parental involvement in a teen's online world. J Assn Inf Sci Tec 2015 Apr 29;67(6):1384-1403. [doi: <u>10.1002/asi.23450</u>]
- 23. Kerr M, Stattin H. What parents know, how they know it, and several forms of adolescent adjustment: further support for a reinterpretation of monitoring. Dev Psychol 2000;36(3):366-380. [doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.36.3.366]
- 24. Kerr M, Stattin H, Burk W. A reinterpretation of parental monitoring in longitudinal perspective. J Res Adolesc 2010;20(1):39-64. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00623.x]
- 25. Tilton-Weaver L. Adolescents' information management: comparing ideas about why adolescents disclose to or keep secrets from their parents. J Youth Adolesc 2014 May;43(5):803-813. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-013-0008-4</u>] [Medline: <u>24002679</u>]
- 26. Marshall SK, Tilton-Weaver LC, Bosdet L. Information management: considering adolescents' regulation of parental knowledge. J Adolesc 2005 Oct;28(5):633-647. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.08.008</u>] [Medline: <u>16154632</u>]
- Smetana JG, Villalobos M, Tasopoulos-Chan M, Gettman DC, Campione-Barr N. Early and middle adolescents' disclosure to parents about activities in different domains. J Adolesc 2009 Jun;32(3):693-713. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2008.06.010</u>] [Medline: <u>18708247</u>]
- 28. Fletcher AC, Steinberg L, Williams-Wheeler M. Parental influences on adolescent problem behavior: revisiting Stattin and Kerr. Child Dev 2004;75(3):781-796. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00706.x] [Medline: 15144486]
- Soenens B, Vansteenkiste M, Luyckx K, Goossens L. Parenting and adolescent problem behavior: an integrated model with adolescent self-disclosure and perceived parental knowledge as intervening variables. Dev Psychol 2006 Mar;42(2):305-318. [doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.42.2.305] [Medline: 16569169]
- 30. Hawk ST, Becht A, Branje S. 'Snooping' as a distinct parental monitoring strategy: comparisons with overt solicitation and control. J Res Adolesc 2016 Sep;26(3):443-458. [doi: 10.1111/jora.12204] [Medline: 28581659]
- Hawk ST, Keijsers L, Hale WW, Meeus W. Mind your own business! Longitudinal relations between perceived privacy invasion and adolescent-parent conflict. J Fam Psychol 2009 Aug;23(4):511-520. [doi: 10.1037/a0015426] [Medline: 19685986]
- 32. Hawk ST, Keijsers L, Frijns T, Hale WW, Branje S, Meeus W. 'I still haven't found what I'm looking for': parental privacy invasion predicts reduced parental knowledge. Dev Psychol 2013 Jul;49(7):1286-1298. [doi: 10.1037/a0029484] [Medline: 22889388]

- 33. Tilton-Weaver L, Kerr M, Pakalniskeine V, Tokic A, Salihovic S, Stattin H. Open up or close down: how do parental reactions affect youth information management? J Adolesc 2010 Apr;33(2):333-346. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2009.07.011</u>] [Medline: <u>19716171</u>]
- 34. Chen L, Shi J. Reducing harm from media: a meta-analysis of parental mediation. Journalism Mass Commun Q 2018 Mar 12;96(1):173-193. [doi: 10.1177/1077699018754908]
- 35. Laird RD, Zeringue MM, Lambert ES. Negative reactions to monitoring: do they undermine the ability of monitoring to protect adolescents? J Adolesc 2018 Feb;63:75-84. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.12.007</u>] [Medline: <u>29275081</u>]
- 36. Suicide and Social Media: a Tipsheet for Parents and Providers. American Association of Suicidology. American Association of Suicidology; 2019. URL: <u>https://suicidology.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/SUICIDE-SOCIAL-MEDIA.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 38. Lenhart A. Teens, Social Media and Technology Overview. Pew Research Center. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2015/04/09/teens-social-media-technology-2015/</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 39. Madden M, Lenhart A, Cortesi S, Gasser U, Duggan M, Smith A. Teens, Social Media, and Privacy. Pew Research Center. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/05/21/teens-social-media-and-privacy/</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 40. Lezine D, Brent D. Eight Stories Up: An Adolescent Chooses Hope Over Suicide. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2008.
- 41. Evans D, Andrews L. If Your Adolescent Has Depression or Bipolar Disorder. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2005.
- 42. Ganong L, Coleman M. Qualitative research on family relationships. J Soc Pers Relation 2014 Feb 3;31(4):451-459. [doi: 10.1177/0265407514520828]
- 43. Eisikovits Z, Koren C. Approaches to and outcomes of dyadic interview analysis. Qual Health Res 2010 Dec;20(12):1642-1655. [doi: 10.1177/1049732310376520] [Medline: 20663940]
- 44. Friese S. Atlas.tl: Version. Berlin, Germany: Scientific Software Development GmbH; 2013.
- 45. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g]
- 46. Morgan D. Focus on research methods: whatever happened to qualitative description? Qual Health Res 1993;3(1):112-121 [FREE Full text]
- 47. Morse JM. The significance of saturation. Qual Health Res 2016 Jul;5(2):147-149. [doi: 10.1177/104973239500500201]
- Lin LY, Sidani JE, Shensa A, Radovic A, Miller E, Colditz JB, et al. Association between social media use and depression among US young adults. Depress Anxiety 2016 Apr;33(4):323-331 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/da.22466] [Medline: 26783723]
- 49. Görzig A, Frumkin LA. Cyberbullying experiences on-the-go: when social media can become distressing. Cyberpsychology 2013 Mar 1;7(1). [doi: 10.5817/cp2013-1-4]
- 50. Keles B, McCrae N, Grealish A. A systematic review: the influence of social media on depression, anxiety and psychological distress in adolescents. Int J Adolesc Youth 2019 Mar 21;25(1):79-93. [doi: <u>10.1080/02673843.2019.1590851</u>]
- 51. Children's Online Privacy and Freedom of Expression. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). 2018. URL: <u>https://www.unicef.org/csr/files/UNICEF_Childrens_Online_Privacy_and_Freedom_of_Expression(1).pdf</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 52. Adoption of a Convention on the Rights of the Child. New York, USA: United Nations; 1989.
- 53. Family Media Plan. American Academy of Pediatrics. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.healthychildren.org/English/media/Pages/</u> <u>default.aspx</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 54. Turecki G, Brent DA. Suicide and suicidal behaviour. Lancet 2016 Mar;387(10024):1227-1239. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(15)00234-2]
- 55. Cluver L, Lachman JM, Sherr L, Wessels I, Krug E, Rakotomalala S, et al. Parenting in a time of COVID-19. Lancet 2020 Apr;395(10231):e64. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30736-4]
- 56. WideOpenSchool. Common Sense Media. 2020. URL: <u>https://wideopenschool.org/#grades-9-12/</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]
- 57. Emotional Wellbeing During the Covid-19 Outbreak. National Suicide Prevention Lifeline. 2020. URL: <u>https://suicidepreventionlifeline.org/current-events/supporting-your-emotional-well-being-during-the-covid-19-outbreak/[accessed 2020-11-29]</u>
- 58. Steinberg L. We know some things: parent-adolescent relationships in retrospect and prospect. J Research Adolescence 2001 Mar;11(1):1-19. [doi: 10.1111/1532-7795.00001]
- 59. Odgers C, Robb M. Tweens, Teens, Tech, and Mental Health: Coming of Age in an Increasingly Digital, Uncertain, and Unequal World. Common Sense Media. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/research/</u> <u>tweens-teens-tech-and-mental-health</u> [accessed 2020-11-29]

Abbreviations

RenderX

AAS: American Association of Suicidology



SM: social media

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 19.06.20; peer-reviewed by S Byrne, L Kuhns; comments to author 21.07.20; revised version received 10.08.20; accepted 30.08.20; published 08.12.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Biernesser C, Montano G, Miller E, Radovic A Social Media Use and Monitoring for Adolescents With Depression and Implications for the COVID-19 Pandemic: Qualitative Study of Parent and Child Perspectives JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e21644 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e21644/ doi:10.2196/21644 PMID:33289678

©Candice Biernesser, Gerald Montano, Elizabeth Miller, Ana Radovic. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 08.12.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Parental Acceptability of COVID-19 Vaccination for Children Under the Age of 18 Years: Cross-Sectional Online Survey

Ke Chun Zhang¹, MSc; Yuan Fang², PhD; He Cao¹, MSc; Hongbiao Chen¹, MSc; Tian Hu¹, BSc; Ya Qi Chen¹, BSc; Xiaofeng Zhou¹, BSc; Zixin Wang³, PhD

¹Longhua District Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Shenzhen, China

Corresponding Author: Zixin Wang, PhD JC School of Public Health and Primary Care Faculty of Medicine The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Room 508, School of Public Health Prince of Wales Hospital, Shatin, NT Hong Kong, 666888 China Phone: 852 22528740 Fax: 852 26453098 Email: wangzx@cuhk.edu.hk

Abstract

Background: It is expected that COVID-19 vaccines will become available in China by the end of 2020. Vaccinating children against COVID-19 would contribute to the control of the pandemic and the recovery of the global economy. For children under the age of 18 years, parents are usually the decision makers regarding their children's vaccination.

Objective: The goal of this study was to investigate parental acceptability of free COVID-19 vaccination for children under the age of 18 years in China.

Methods: This is a secondary analysis of a cross-sectional, closed online survey among 2053 factory workers in Shenzhen, China, implemented from September 1 to 7, 2020. Participants of the online survey were full-time employees aged 18 years or over who had resumed work in factories in Shenzhen. Factory workers in Shenzhen are required to receive physical examinations once a year. Eligible workers attending six designated physical examination sites were invited to complete an online survey. This study was based on a subsample of those who had at least one child under the age of 18 years (N=1052). After being briefed that COVID-19 vaccines developed by China are likely to be available by the end of 2020, participants were asked about their likelihood of having their children under the age of 18 years take up free COVID-19 vaccination provided by the government, if it existed. Multivariate logistic regression models were fitted to examine the associations of perceptions related to COVID-19 vaccination based on the theory of planned behavior (TPB) and exposure to information related to COVID-19 through social media with parental acceptability, after controlling for significant background characteristics.

Results: The prevalence of parents' acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination for their children was 72.6% (764/1052). After adjusting for significant background characteristics, positive attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 1.70, 95% CI 1.50-1.91), the perception that a family member would support them in having their children take up COVID-19 vaccination (ie, perceived subjective norm) (AOR 4.18, 95% CI 3.21-5.43), and perceived behavioral control to have the children take up COVID-19 vaccination (AOR 1.84, 95% CI 1.49-2.26) were associated with higher parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination. Regarding social media influence, higher exposure to positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination was associated with higher parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination (AOR 1.35, 95% CI 1.17-1.56). Higher exposure to negative information related to COVID-19 vaccination was negatively associated with the dependent variable (AOR 0.85, 95% CI 0.74-0.99).

Conclusions: Parents' acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination for their children under 18 years of age was high in China. The TPB is a useful framework to guide the development of future campaigns promoting COVID-19 vaccination targeting parents.

²Department of Early Childhood Education, The Education University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

³JC School of Public Health and Primary Care, Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Transparency in communicating about the vaccine development process and vaccine safety testing is important. Public health authorities should also address misinformation in a timely manner.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e24827) doi:10.2196/24827

KEYWORDS

parental acceptability; COVID-19 vaccination; children under the age of 18 years; theory of planned behavior; social media influence; China

Introduction

Globally, the COVID-19 pandemic remains out of control [1]. The existing measures to control COVID-19 are detrimental to the global economy [2] and result in significant impairment in physical and psychological well-being [3]. There is a strong need for an effective vaccine to keep COVID-19 under control. Development of COVID-19 vaccines is underway. According to the World Health Organization, as of September 3, 2020, there were 34 and 142 candidate vaccines in clinical and preclinical evaluation, respectively; four Chinese candidate vaccines had entered Phase III clinical trials [4]. According to an official press release on September 15, 2020, safety of these Chinese candidate vaccines was established [5]. The National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China authorized the emergency use of COVID-19 vaccines on July 22, 2020 [6]. COVID-19 vaccines were provided to workers, students, and diplomatic personnel who needed to travel abroad, as well as to health care workers and personnel working for pandemic and border control [5]. It is expected that at least one COVID-19 vaccine will become available in China by the end of 2020 [5,7,8].

The United States National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine has proposed a five-phase plan to fairly allocate a COVID-19 vaccine. Health care workers, older adults, and other people with underlying conditions that put them at high risk of severe COVID-19 diseases or death are priority groups to receive the vaccine, followed by essential workers, children, and young adults [9]. Without COVID-19 vaccination, children will likely serve as a reservoir, which would undermine efforts to end the pandemic [10]. Moreover, it is difficult to recover the economy completely before all children can safely return to schools and parents can resume full-time work [10]. According to the aforementioned official press release, health care workers, older adults, and children are considered priority groups to receive COVID-19 vaccination in China [5].

Mathematic modeling suggested that if the COVID-19 vaccine efficacy was 80%, the coverage would have to achieve at least 75% to extinguish the ongoing pandemic [11]. Therefore, a timely understanding of community responses to the forthcoming COVID-19 vaccines are important for policy making and service planning. For children under the age of 18 years, parents are usually the decision makers regarding their children's vaccination. Hence, it is important to understand parents' acceptability of their children's COVID-19 vaccination and related barriers and facilitators. To our knowledge, at least one study investigated parents' acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination for their children [12]. This was an online survey conducted in the United Kingdom, which showed that 48.2%

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24827/

of parents or guardians would definitely accept COVID-19 vaccination for their children aged 18 months or under [12]. Belief that COVID-19 vaccination could protect their children and other family members and belief that it would facilitate their return to normal life were major reasons for parents' acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination for their children [12]. Their concerns were around COVID-19 vaccine safety and effectiveness [12]. These factors were considered by this study. We applied the theory of planned behavior (TPB) as the theoretical framework in this study [13]. The TPB postulates that behavioral intention to adopt a health-related behavior (eg, having children take up COVID-19 vaccination) is a strong predictor of actual behavior. In order to form such an intention, one would evaluate the pros and cons of the behavior (ie, positive and negative attitudes), consider whether their significant others would support such behavior (ie, perceived subjective norm), and appraise how much control one has over the behavior (ie, perceived behavioral control) [13]. In recent studies, the TPB has been used successfully to explain vaccination behaviors [14-16].

Previous studies showed that people are actively seeking information about COVID-19 vaccination on social media platforms [17]. Exposure to COVID-19–specific information on social media influenced Chinese factory workers' adoption of personal preventive measures (eg, face mask wearing, hand hygiene, and physical distancing) [18]. Moreover, different content related to COVID-19 may have varying effects on health outcomes [18]. A previous study suggested that TPB-related constructs and subsequent behavior may be shaped by the use of social media [19]. In this study, we investigated the associations between exposure to different content related to COVID-19 vaccination on social media and parental acceptability of having their children vaccinated.

To our knowledge, there have been no studies investigating parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination for their children in China. This study investigated parental acceptability of free COVID-19 vaccination for children under the age of 18 years among parents in Shenzhen, China. We examined the effects of factors on their acceptability, including background characteristics, perceptions related to COVID-19 vaccination based on the TPB, and exposure to information related to COVID-19 vaccination through social media.

Methods

Study Design

This is a secondary analysis of a cross-sectional, closed online survey among 2053 factory workers in Shenzhen, China, implemented from September 1 to 7, 2020.

Participants and Data Collection

Participants of the closed online survey were full-time employees of factories in Shenzhen aged 18 years of age or older. This study was conducted in Longhua District of Shenzhen. The majority of factories in Shenzhen are located in Longhua District; there were over 2000 factories and one million factory workers in 2018 in this district. In Shenzhen, factory workers are required to receive physical examinations at designated sites once a year. All six designated sites providing physical examination services to factory workers in Longhua District, including three public hospitals, two private hospitals, and the district Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), were chosen as our study sites for recruitment.

To avoid selection bias, the fieldworkers approached all adults attending these sites for physical examinations during the study period. They briefed prospective participants about the study details, confirmed their eligibility, and invited them to join the study. Participants were guaranteed that participation was voluntary, refusal would have no effect on them, the survey would not collect personal contact information or identification, and data would be kept strictly confidential and would only be used for research purposes. Verbal consent was obtained instead of written consent to allow participants to maintain anonymity. We developed an online questionnaire using Questionnaire Star (Changsha Ranxing Information Technology Co), a commonly used online survey platform in China. Quick response (QR) codes were generated to access the online questionnaire. Prospective participants were asked to scan the QR code on-site to complete the survey. Each mobile device was allowed to access the online questionnaire once to avoid duplicate responses. The participants were asked not to disseminate the QR codes that were used to access the survey to other people. The survey had 66 items, approximately 15 items per page for four pages, which took about 15 minutes to complete. The online survey platform performed completeness checks before each questionnaire was submitted. Participants were able to review and change their responses through a back button. In case there was more than one child under the age of 18 years within their household, participants referred to the one whose birthday was closest to the survey date when answering questions [20]. Upon completion of the survey, an electronic coupon of ¥10 (US \$1.30) was sent to participants. All data were stored in the server of the online survey platform and were protected by a password. Only the corresponding author had the access to the database.

Out of 2653 eligible factory workers being approached, which included between 60 and 1200 across the study sites, 2053 completed the online survey, which amounted to between 40 and 968 across the study sites. The overall response rate was 77.4% (2053/2653); this ranged from 66.7% to 80.7% at different sites. Main reasons for nonresponse were lack of time and other logistic reasons. This study was based on 1052 participants who had at least one child under the age of 18 years. Ethics approval was obtained from Longhua District CDC (reference No. 2020001).

Measures

Development of the Questionnaire

A panel consisting of one CDC staff member, two public health researchers, a health psychologist, a senior factory manager, and a factory worker was formed to develop the questionnaire used in this study. The questionnaire was pilot-tested among 10 factory workers to assess clarity and readability. These 10 workers did not participate in the actual survey. Based on participants' comments, the panel revised and finalized the questionnaire.

Background Characteristics

Participants were asked to report on sociodemographics (ie, age, gender, relationship status, education level, monthly personal income, etc), age of their children, parental history of seasonal influenza vaccination, and whether they had a family member with a history of COVID-19. In addition, participants were asked to report on their frequency of wearing face masks when having close contacts with others in the workplace and in other public settings (ie, public spaces and transportation) in the past month; response categories included every time, often, sometimes, and never. Participants also reported on the frequency of sanitizing their hands using soaps, liquid soaps, and alcohol-based hand rubs after returning from public spaces, touching public installations, and touching equipment, and whether they avoided social and meal gatherings with people who do not live together as well as crowed places in the past month.

Parental Acceptability of Free COVID-19 Vaccination for Children Under the Age of 18 Years

Participants were briefed with the following statement: "COVID-19 vaccines developed by China are likely to become available by the end of 2020." They were then asked about the likelihood of having their children under the age of 18 years take up free COVID-19 vaccination provided by the government, if it existed; response categories included the following: 1 (very unlikely), 2 (unlikely), 3 (neutral), 4 (likely), and 5 (very likely). Parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination was defined as the responses *likely* or *very likely*. Such definition has been commonly used in previous studies [20,21].

Perceptions Related to COVID-19 Vaccination Based on the TPB

Two scales were constructed to assess perceptions related to COVID-19 vaccination based on the TPB. These scales were the 3-item Positive Attitude Scale (eg, "COVID-19 vaccination is highly effective in protecting your child from COVID-19") and the 4-item Negative Attitude Scale (eg, "Your child will have severe side effects after receiving COVID-19 vaccination"); response categories were as follows: 1 (disagree), 2 (neutral), and 3 (agree). The Cronbach α values of these two scales were .71 and .64, respectively; single factors were identified by exploratory factor analysis, explaining 64.0% and 56.6% of the total variance, respectively. Perceived subjective norm (ie, "Your family member will support you in having your child take up COVID-19 vaccination") and perceived behavioral control (ie, "Having your child receive COVID-19 vaccination

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24827/
```

is easy for you if you want them to") were measured by two single items; the response categories were as follows: 1 (disagree), 2 (neutral), and 3 (agree).

Influence of Social Media

Participants were asked to report on the frequency of their exposure to information related to COVID-19 vaccination on social media (ie, WeChat, WeChat Moments, Weibo, TikTok, etc) in the past month; response categories were as follows: 1 (almost none), 2 (seldom), 3 (sometimes), and 4 (always). Such information included (1) positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination (eg, new vaccines entering clinical trials), (2) negative information related to COVID-19 vaccination (eg, concerns about vaccine efficacy, supply, and side effects and about the receipt of vaccines causing COVID-19), (3) testimonials given by participants of the COVID-19 clinical trials, and (4) negative information about vaccine incidents in China (eg, selling problematic vaccines and severe side effects).

Statistical Analysis

Parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination was used as the dependent variable. A univariate logistic regression model first assessed the significance of the association between each of the background characteristics and the dependent variable. Background characteristics with P<.05 in the univariate analysis were adjusted in a multivariate logistic regression model. Principal component analysis with varimax rotation was used to perform explanatory factor analysis. SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 26.0 (IBM Corp), was used for data analysis, with P<.05 considered statistically significant.

Results

Background Characteristics

Over half of the participants were 40 years old or younger (824/1052, 78.3%), were female (658/1052, 62.5%), were married (1005/1052, 95.5%), did not receive tertiary education (785/1052, 74.6%), had a monthly income level lower than \$5000 (US \$714) (703/1052, 66.8%), and were frontline workers (701/1052, 66.6%). Among the parents, 20.0% (210/1052) had received seasonal influenza vaccination in the past and 0.2% (2/1052) had at least one family member with a history of COVID-19. About half of their children were 0 to 6 years of age (490/1052, 46.6%).

In the past month, 72.1% (759/1052) and 83.1% (874/1052) of participants reported wearing a face mask every time they had close contact with other people in the workplace and in other public settings, respectively. Fewer participants self-reported sanitizing their hands (606/1052, 57.6%), avoiding social and meal gatherings (622/1052, 59.1%), and avoiding crowed places (697/1052, 66.3%) (see Table 1).



Zhang	et	al
-------	----	----

Characteristics	Value (N=1052), n (%)
Sociodemographics	
Age of the parent (years)	
18-30	238 (22.6)
31-40	586 (55.7)
>40	228 (21.7)
Gender	
Male	394 (37.5)
Female	658 (62.5)
Relationships status	
Married	1005 (95.5)
Currently single or divorced	43 (4.1)
Having a stable boyfriend or girlfriend	4 (0.4)
Highest education level attained	
Junior high school or below	448 (42.6)
Senior high school or equivalent	337 (32.0)
College or university or above	267 (25.4)
Monthly personal income (¥)	
<3000	238 (22.6)
3000-4999	465 (44.2)
5000-6999	185 (17.6)
7000-9999	90 (8.6)
≥10,000	74 (7.0)
Type of work	
Frontline worker	701 (66.6)
Management staff	351 (33.4)
History of seasonal influenza vaccination	
No	842 (80.0)
Yes	210 (20.0)
Having at least one family member with a history of COVID-19	
No	1050 (99.8)
Yes	2 (0.2)
Age of the child (years)	
0-3	314 (29.8)
4-6	176 (16.7)
7-12	373 (35.5)
13-17	189 (18.0)
Personal COVID-19 preventive measures in the past month	
Frequency of face mask wearing in public places and on transportation other than the workplace	
Every time	874 (83.1)
Often	139 (13.2)
Sometimes	36 (3.4)
Never	3 (0.3)

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24827/

XSL-FO **RenderX** JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 | vol. 3 | iss. 2 |e24827 | p.247 (page number not for citation purposes)

Zhang et al

Characteristics	Value (N=1052), n (%)
Frequency of face mask wearing when you have had close contact with other people in the workplace	
Every time	759 (72.1)
Often	204 (19.4)
Sometimes	82 (7.8)
Never	7 (0.7)
Self-reported sanitizing of hands, using soaps, liquid soaps, or alcohol-based sanitizer, after returning from public spaces or touching public installations	
Every time	606 (57.6)
Often	277 (26.3)
Sometimes	156 (14.8)
Never	13 (1.2)
Self-reported avoiding of social and meal gatherings with other people who do not live together	
No	430 (40.9)
Yes	622 (59.1)
Self-reported avoiding of crowed places	
No	355 (33.7)
Yes	697 (66.3)

Parental Acceptability, Perceptions, and Influences of Social Media Related to COVID-19 Vaccination

Among the parents, the prevalence of parental acceptability of free COVID-19 vaccination was 72.6% (764/1052) (see Table 2). Individual item responses and mean (SD) values of the scales related to parental perceptions of COVID-19 vaccination are presented in Table 2. Among the participants, 69.3% (729/1052)

were sometimes or always exposed to positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination in the past month. Among the participants, fewer were sometimes or always exposed to negative information related to COVID-19 vaccination (442/1052, 42.0%) or vaccine incidents in China (298/1052, 28.3%), or were sometimes or always exposed to testimonials given by participants of COVID-19 vaccination clinical trials (283/1052, 26.9%) (see Table 2).

 Table 2. Perceptions related to COVID-19 vaccination.

Zhang et al

Acceptability and perceptions	Value (N=1052), n (%) or mean (SD)
Parents' acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination for their child under the age of 18 years: likelihood of having the child take up free COVID-19 vaccination, n (%)	
Very unlikely	19 (1.8)
Unlikely	45 (4.3)
Neutral	224 (21.3)
Likely	361 (34.3)
Very likely	403 (38.3)
Perceptions related to COVID-19 vaccination based on the theory of planned behavior	
Positive attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination	
Positive Attitude Scale ^a score, mean (SD)	8.0 (1.2)
COVID-19 vaccination is highly effective in protecting your child from COVID-19 (agree), n (%)	603 (57.3)
Taking up COVID-19 vaccination can contribute to the control of COVID-19 in China (agree), n (%)	896 (85.2)
China will have an adequate supply of COVID-19 vaccine (agree), n (%)	763 (72.5)
Negative attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination	
Negative Attitude Scale ^b score, mean (SD)	7.7 (1.6)
Your child will have severe side effects after receiving COVID-19 vaccination (agree), n (%)	104 (9.9)
The protection of COVID-19 vaccines will only last for a short time (agree), n (%)	210 (20.0)
Your child is afraid of vaccination (agree), n (%)	216 (20.5)
You do not have time to take your child for COVID-19 vaccination (agree), n (%)	234 (22.2)
Perceived subjective norm related to child's COVID-19 vaccination: your family member would support you in having your child take up COVID-19 vaccination	
Response score, mean (SD) ^c	2.5 (0.6)
Agree, n (%)	542 (51.5)
Perceived behavioral control to have the child take up COVID-19 vaccination: having the child receive COVID-19 vaccination is easy for you if you want them to	
Response score, mean (SD) ^c	2.3 (0.7)
Agree, n (%)	456 (43.3)
Influence of social media related to COVID-19 vaccination	
Frequency of exposure to positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination (eg, new vaccines entering clinical trials, promising efficacies of the vaccines, and vaccines will enter the market soon) on social media	
Response score, mean (SD) ^d	2.9 (0.9)
Almost none, n (%)	107 (10.2)
Seldom, n (%)	216 (20.5)
Sometimes, n (%)	420 (39.9)
Always, n (%)	309 (29.4)
Frequency of exposure to negative information related to COVID-19 vaccination (eg, concerns about efficacies and supplies, side effects of the vaccines, and receiving vaccines will cause COVID-19) on social media	
Response score, mean (SD) ^d	2.3 (0.9)
Almost none, n (%)	244 (23.2)
Seldom, n (%)	366 (34.8)
Sometimes, n (%)	327 (31.1)
Always, n (%)	115 (10.9)

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24827/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 | vol. 3 | iss. 2 |e24827 | p.249 (page number not for citation purposes)

Zhang et al

Acceptability and perceptions	Value (N=1052),
	n (%) or mean (SD)
Frequency of exposure to testimonials given by participants of the COVID-19 vaccine clinical trials on social media	
Response score, mean (SD) ^d	1.9 (1.0)
Almost none, n (%)	503 (47.8)
Seldom, n (%)	266 (25.3)
Sometimes, n (%)	185 (17.6)
Always, n (%)	98 (9.3)
Frequency of exposure to negative information about other vaccine incidents in China (eg, selling problematic vaccines and severe side effects) on social media	
Response score, mean (SD) ^d	2.0 (1.0)
Almost none, n (%)	433 (41.2)
Seldom, n (%)	321 (30.5)
Sometimes, n (%)	207 (19.7)
Always, n (%)	91 (8.7)

^aResponse categories for the 3-item Positive Attitude Scale were as follows: 1 (disagree), 2 (neutral), and 3 (agree). Cronbach α =.71; one factor was identified by exploratory factor analysis, explaining 64.0% of the total variance.

^bResponse categories for the 4-item Negative Attitude Scale were as follows: 1 (disagree), 2 (neutral), and 3 (agree). Cronbach α =.64; one factor was identified by exploratory factor analysis, explaining 56.6% of the total variance.

^cResponse categories were as follows: 1 (disagree), 2 (neutral), and 3 (agree).

^dResponse categories were as follows: 1 (almost none), 2 (seldom), 3 (sometimes), and 4 (always).

Factors Associated With Parental Acceptability of COVID-19 Vaccination

people who do not live together, and self-reported avoiding of crowed places were significantly associated with parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination (see Table 3).

In the univariate logistic regression analysis, age of the children, self-reported avoiding of social and meal gatherings with other

Zhang et al

Table 3. Associations between background characteristics and parental acceptability of free COVID-19 vaccination (N=1052).

Characteristics	Crude odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Sociodemographics		
Age of the parent (years)		
18-30	1.0	
31-40	1.23 (0.89-1.72)	.21
>40	1.35 (0.90-2.03)	.14
Gender		
Male	1.0	
Female	0.96 (0.73-1.27)	.79
Relationship status		
Married	1.0	
Currently single or divorced	1.44 (0.68-3.05)	.34
Having a stable boyfriend or girlfriend	1.15 (0.12-11.08)	.91
Highest education level attained		
Junior high school or below	1.0	
Senior high school or equivalent	1.14 (0.83-1.57)	.42
College or university or above	0.98 (0.70-1.38)	.92
Monthly personal income (¥)		
<3000	1.0	
3000-4999	0.95 (0.67-1.34)	.76
5000-6999	1.01 (0.66-1.56)	.95
7000-9999	1.03 (0.60-1.79)	.91
≥10,000	1.26 (0.68-2.32)	.46
Type of work		
Frontline worker	1.0	
Management staff	0.92 (0.69-1.22)	.57
History of seasonal influenza vaccination		
No	1.0	
Yes	1.35 (0.94-1.92)	.10
Having at least one family member with a history of COVID-19		
No	1.0	
Yes	N/A ^a	N/A
Age of the child (years)		
0-3	1.0	
4-6	1.26 (0.84-1.91)	.26
7-12	1.41 (1.01-1.97)	.046
13-17	1.28 (0.86-1.91)	.23
Personal COVID-19 preventive measures in the past month		
Consistent face mask wearing in public places and on transportation other than the workplace		
No	1.0	
Yes	1.31 (0.93-1.86)	.13
Consistent face mask wearing when you have close contact with other people in workplace		
No	1.0	

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24827/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 | vol. 3 | iss. 2 |e24827 | p.251 (page number not for citation purposes)

Zhang et al

Characteristics	Crude odds ratio (95% CI)	P value
Yes	1.29 (0.96-1.73)	.10
Sanitizing hands (ie, using soaps, liquid soaps, or alcohol-based sanitizer) every time after re- turning from public spaces or touching public installations		
No	1.0	
Yes	1.10 (0.84-1.45)	.49
Self-reported avoiding of social and meal gatherings with other people who do not live together		
No	1.0	
Yes	1.70 (1.30-2.24)	<.001
Self-reported avoiding of crowed places		
No	1.0	
Yes	1.58 (1.27-2.22)	<.001

^aN/A: not applicable.

After adjusting for these significant background characteristics, positive attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination (adjusted odds ratio [AOR] 1.70, 95% CI 1.50-1.91), perceiving that a family member would support them in having their children take up COVID-19 vaccination (AOR 4.18, 95% CI 3.21-5.43), and perceived behavioral control to have the children receive COVID-19 vaccination (AOR 1.84, 95% CI 1.49-2.26) were associated with higher parental acceptability of COVID-19

vaccination. Regarding social media influence, higher exposure to positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination was associated with higher parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination (AOR 1.35, 95% CI 1.17-1.56). Higher exposure to negative information related to COVID-19 vaccination was negatively associated with the dependent variable (AOR 0.85, 95% CI 0.74-0.99) (see Table 4).

Table 4. Factors associated with parental acceptability of a free COVID-19 vaccination (N=1052).

Factors	AOR ^a (95% CI)	P value
Perceptions related to COVID-19 vaccination based on the theory of planned behavior		
Positive Attitude Scale	1.70 (1.50-1.91)	<.001
Negative Attitude Scale	0.93 (0.85-1.01)	.09
Your family member would support you in having your child take up COVID-19 vaccination (ie, perceived subjective norm)	4.18 (3.21-5.43)	<.001
Having your child receive the COVID-19 vaccination is easy for you if you want them to (ie, perceived behavioral control)	1.84 (1.49-2.26)	<.001
Influence of social media related to COVID-19 vaccination		
Frequency of exposure to positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination on social media	1.35 (1.17-1.56)	<.001
Frequency of exposure to negative information related to COVID-19 vaccination on social media	0.85 (0.74-0.99)	.03
Frequency of exposure to testimonials given by participants of the COVID-19 vaccine clinical trials on social media	1.07 (0.94-1.23)	.31
Frequency of exposure to negative information about other vaccine incidents in China on social media	0.91 (0.79-1.05)	.20

^aAOR: adjusted odds ratio; background characteristics with P<.05 in the univariate analysis were adjusted in the multivariate logistic regression models.

Discussion

This is one of the first studies investigating parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination in China that provides some preliminary data to inform policy making and service planning. About 70% of the Chinese parents accepted COVID-19 vaccination for their children. However, given the gap between acceptability and actual behaviors [22], effective health promotion is needed when COVID-19 vaccines become available in order to achieve high vaccine coverage among children. Our findings provided empirical insights to inform health promotion development. More attention should be given to parents with younger children and those with lower compliance to physical distancing measures (ie, avoiding social and meal gatherings and crowed places), as they reported lower parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination. Parents with children attending primary or secondary schools (ie, 7-17 years of age) might have more concerns about COVID-19 transmission within schools and, hence, have higher motivation to vaccinate their children against COVID-19. Parents with higher compliance to physical distancing measures may have stronger motivation and self-efficacy to protect themselves and their children, and
COVID-19 vaccination is likely to be considered a useful means for protection.

The TPB is a potentially useful framework to guide the development of future programs, as three of four TPB constructs used in this study were significantly associated with parental acceptability in expected directions. It is useful to increase positive attitudes toward COVID-19 vaccination, as this was a facilitator. In addition to the beneficial effect for their children (eg, prevent COVID-19 effectively), health communication messages should also emphasize to parents that having their children take up COVID-19 vaccination would result in herd immunization, which could contribute to COVID-19 control. Building up confidence related to vaccine supply may also be a useful strategy. Over half of participants perceived that their family members would support them in having their children take up COVID-19 vaccination. Such perception was also a facilitator. Future health promotion should enhance parents' knowledge of COVID-19 vaccination and encourage them to discuss their children's vaccination with other family members in order to obtain support from these significant others. It is also useful to enhance perceived behavioral control, as this was another facilitator. There is much room for improvement. Multiple strategies may be applied in future COVID-19 vaccination programs, which may include simplification of the procedures to obtain vaccination and school-based vaccination programs. Relatively few participants had concerns related to side effects, duration of vaccine protection, children's apprehension, or other logistical issues. The associations between these concerns and parental acceptability were not statistically significant. Addressing these concerns might not be useful strategies in future promotion campaigns.

Our findings suggested that COVID-19 vaccination triggered intensive responses on social media among Chinese parents, as about 70% of the participants were sometimes or always exposed to information specific to COVID-19 vaccination on different social media platforms. Exposure to content about positive information related to COVID-19 vaccination, such as promising vaccine efficacy, was associated with higher parental acceptability. This is understandable, as this type of information can increase parents' confidence in COVID-19 vaccines and reduce their concerns. Higher exposure to negative information about COVID-19 vaccination was associated with lower parental acceptability. Previous studies showed that people were more likely to absorb negative rather than positive information during a disease outbreak [23]. Although social media is a powerful tool for disseminating information, there are concerns related to inaccurate data, unverified rumors, and even malicious misinformation on these platforms [24]. A global epidemic of misinformation has been spreading through social media during the COVID-19 pandemic, which might pose challenges for future COVID-19 vaccination programs [25,26]. The findings highlighted the importance of transparency in communicating about the vaccine development process and vaccine safety testing. Public health authorities should also identify and verify misinformation in a timely manner. Studies showed that a major

vaccine incident (ie, the Changchun Changsheng vaccine incident) had significantly impaired confidence in vaccines among Chinese people [27]. However, in our study, negative information about these vaccine incidents did not influence parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination.

This is one of the first studies investigating parental acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination in China. It used the TPB as a theoretical framework and the sample size was relatively large. However, it has a number of limitations. First, we only included parents who were factory workers, as this was a secondary analysis. In 2018, 34.3% of Shenzhen's population were factory workers [28]. However, failure to include parents with other occupations or those without full-time work was one major limitation of this study and limited the representativeness of our sample. In addition, participants were recruited in one Chinese city. Generalization should be made cautiously. Second, since the study was anonymous and did not collect participants' identification, we were not able to collect information about those who refused to join the study. Parents who refused to join the study might have different characteristics as compared to study participants. Selection bias might exist. Our response rate was relatively high as compared to other online surveys of similar topics [12]. Third, there was a lack of methodological innovation in this study. The aim of this study was to provide timely information to facilitate the promotion and service planning related to COVID-19 vaccination in China. Fourth, we did not ask about parental acceptability that was conditional on different cost scenarios. It is common for the Chinese government to provide free vaccination to priority groups in order to increase coverage. Since children were considered as one of the priority groups to receive COVID-19 vaccination, it is possible for the government to offer free vaccines to this group. Fifth, data were self-reported and verification was not feasible. Recall bias might exist. Participants might also overreport their acceptability due to social desirability. Moreover, most items and scales used in this study were self-constructed based on those from previous studies on parental acceptability of human papillomavirus vaccination in China [20]. The internal reliabilities of these scales were acceptable, but these scales may require external validation. Furthermore, this was a cross-sectional study and could not establish a causal relationship.

In sum, parents' acceptability of COVID-19 vaccination for their children under the age of 18 years was high among Chinese parents. The TPB is a useful framework to guide the development of future campaigns promoting COVID-19 vaccination targeting parents. Enhancing positive attitudes, creating a supportive subjective norm, and increasing parents' perceived behavioral control related to their children's COVID-19 vaccination are potentially useful health promotion strategies. Transparency in communicating about the vaccine development process and vaccine safety testing is important. Public health authorities should also address misinformation in a timely manner.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) weekly epidemiological update and weekly operational update. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/situation-reports</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]
- COVID-19 sends most G20 members into negative GDP growth, except China. The State Council, The People's Republic of China. 2020 Sep 05. URL: <u>http://english.www.gov.cn/news/topnews/202009/05/content_WS5f5398c8c6d0f7257693b957.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]
- Carvalho Aguiar Melo M, de Sousa Soares D. Impact of social distancing on mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: An urgent discussion. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2020 Sep;66(6):625-626 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0020764020927047] [Medline: 32438880]
- 4. Draft landscape of COVID-19 candidate vaccines. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/m/</u> <u>item/draft-landscape-of-covid-19-candidate-vaccines</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]
- 5. When the "flu" meets the "new crown", is the "vaccine" ready? CCTV News. 2020 Sep 15. URL: <u>https://m.news.cctv.com/</u> 2020/09/15/ARTIF5GfsYVC53DeGRZZtSNF200915.shtml [accessed 2020-12-19]
- Transcript of the press conference of the State Council's Joint Prevention and Control Mechanism on October 20, 2020. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. 2020 Oct 20. URL: <u>http://www.nhc.gov.cn/xcs/fkdt/202010/a95d956c39cf4393b400b42aa8433033.shtml</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]
- 7. Brant R. Coronavirus: Vaccine front-runner China already inoculating workers. BBC News. 2020 Aug 27. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-china-53917315</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]
- 8. Chinese COVID-19 vaccines expected by year end: Expert. Global Times. 2020 Aug 16. URL: <u>https://www.globaltimes.cn/</u> <u>content/1197848.shtml</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]
- Subbaraman N. Who gets a COVID vaccine first? Access plans are taking shape. Nature 2020 Sep;585(7826):492-493. [doi: <u>10.1038/d41586-020-02684-9</u>] [Medline: <u>32948865</u>]
- 10. Anderson E, Campbell J, Creech C, Frenck R, Kamidani S, Munoz F, et al. Warp speed for COVID-19 vaccines: Why are children stuck in neutral? Clin Infect Dis 2020 Sep 18:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa1425] [Medline: 32945335]
- 11. Bartsch SM, O'Shea KJ, Ferguson MC, Bottazzi ME, Wedlock PT, Strych U, et al. Vaccine efficacy needed for a COVID-19 coronavirus vaccine to prevent or stop an epidemic as the sole intervention. Am J Prev Med 2020 Oct;59(4):493-503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.011] [Medline: 32778354]
- 12. Bell S, Clarke R, Mounier-Jack S, Walker J, Paterson P. Parents' and guardians' views on the acceptability of a future COVID-19 vaccine: A multi-methods study in England. medRxiv Preprint posted online on September 18, 2020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2020.09.16.20188227]
- 13. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behavior. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process 1991 Dec;50(2):179-211. [doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-t]
- Catalano HP, Knowlden AP, Birch DA, Leeper JD, Paschal AM, Usdan SL. Using the theory of planned behavior to predict HPV vaccination intentions of college men. J Am Coll Health 2017 Apr;65(3):197-207. [doi: 10.1080/07448481.2016.1269771] [Medline: 27960609]
- Wang LD, Lam WWT, Fielding R. Determinants of human papillomavirus vaccination uptake among adolescent girls: A theory-based longitudinal study among Hong Kong Chinese parents. Prev Med 2017 Sep;102:24-30. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.06.021] [Medline: 28652087]
- Wu AM, Lau JT, Ma Y, Cheng K, Lau MM. A longitudinal study using parental cognitions based on the theory of planned behavior to predict childhood influenza vaccination. J Infect Public Health 2020 Jul;13(7):970-979 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2020.04.009] [Medline: 32418882]
- Basch CH, Hillyer GC, Zagnit EA, Basch CE. YouTube coverage of COVID-19 vaccine development: Implications for awareness and uptake. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2020 Nov 01;16(11):2582-2585. [doi: <u>10.1080/21645515.2020.1790280</u>] [Medline: <u>32701403</u>]
- Pan Y, Xin M, Zhang C, Dong W, Fang Y, Wu W, et al. Associations of Mental Health and Personal Preventive Measure Compliance With Exposure to COVID-19 Information During Work Resumption Following the COVID-19 Outbreak in China: Cross-Sectional Survey Study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 08;22(10):e22596 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22596] [Medline: 32936776]
- Wang Z, Yang X, Mo PKH, Fang Y, Ip TKM, Lau JTF. Influence of social media on sexualized drug use and chemsex among Chinese men who have sex with men: Observational prospective cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 24;22(7):e17894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17894] [Medline: 32706705]
- Wang Z, Wang J, Fang Y, Gross DL, Wong MC, Wong EL, et al. Parental acceptability of HPV vaccination for boys and girls aged 9-13 years in China - A population-based study. Vaccine 2018 May 03;36(19):2657-2665. [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.03.057] [Medline: 29606519]

- 21. Wang Z, Fang Y, Dong W, Lau M, Mo PK. Illness representations on pneumonia and pneumococcal vaccination uptake among community-living Chinese people with high-risk conditions aged ≥65 years --- A population-based study. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2020 Sep 29:1-8. [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2020.1814653] [Medline: 32991245]
- 22. McEachan RRC, Conner M, Taylor NJ, Lawton RJ. Prospective prediction of health-related behaviours with the theory of planned behaviour: A meta-analysis. Health Psychol Rev 2011 Sep;5(2):97-144. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2010.521684]
- Covello V. Best practices in public health risk and crisis communication. J Health Commun 2003;8 Suppl 1:5-8; discussion 148. [doi: <u>10.1080/713851971</u>] [Medline: <u>14692565</u>]
- 24. Seo M. Amplifying panic and facilitating prevention: Multifaceted effects of traditional and social media use during the 2015 MERS crisis in South Korea. Journal Mass Commun Q 2019 Jul 26:1-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1077699019857693]
- Tangcharoensathien V, Calleja N, Nguyen T, Purnat T, D'Agostino M, Garcia-Saiso S, et al. Framework for Managing the COVID-19 Infodemic: Methods and Results of an Online, Crowdsourced WHO Technical Consultation. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 26;22(6):e19659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19659] [Medline: 32558655]
- 26. Bao H, Cao B, Xiong Y, Tang W. Digital media's role in the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Sep 18;8(9):e20156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20156] [Medline: 32530817]
- 27. Liu B, Chen R, Zhao M, Zhang X, Wang J, Gao L, et al. Vaccine confidence in China after the Changsheng vaccine incident: A cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2019 Nov 27;19(1):1564 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7945-0] [Medline: 31771543]
- 28. Shenzhen Statistics Yearbook (2019). Shenzhen, China: Statistics Bureau of Shenzhen Municipality; 2020. URL: <u>http://tjj.sz.gov.cn/attachment/0/695/695422/7971762.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-19]

Abbreviations

AOR: adjusted odds ratio CDC: Centre for Disease Control and Prevention QR: quick response TPB: theory of planned behavior

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.10.20; peer-reviewed by X Yang, G Kernohan; comments to author 01.12.20; revised version received 02.12.20; accepted 08.12.20; published 30.12.20.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Zhang KC, Fang Y, Cao H, Chen H, Hu T, Chen YQ, Zhou X, Wang Z Parental Acceptability of COVID-19 Vaccination for Children Under the Age of 18 Years: Cross-Sectional Online Survey JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e24827 URL: <u>http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e24827/</u> doi:10.2196/24827 PMID:33326406

©Ke Chun Zhang, Yuan Fang, He Cao, Hongbiao Chen, Tian Hu, Ya Qi Chen, Xiaofeng Zhou, Zixin Wang. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 30.12.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Perceptions and Attitudes Toward Mobile Health in Development of an Exclusive Breastfeeding Tool: Focus Group Study With Caregivers and Health Promoters in the Dominican Republic

Clarisse G Casilang^{1,2,3,4}, MD; Samantha Stonbraker^{3,5}, PhD, MPH, RN; Ingrid Japa², MD; Mina Halpern³, MPH; Luz Messina³, BA; Andrew P Steenhoff¹, MBBCh, DCH; Elizabeth D Lowenthal¹, MD, MSCE; Linda Fleisher⁶, PhD, MPH

²Centro de Salud Divina Providencia, Consuelo, Dominican Republic

³Clínica de Familia La Romana, La Romana, Dominican Republic

⁴Children's Hospital of Orange County, Orange, CA, United States

⁵School of Nursing, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

⁶Fox Chase Cancer Center, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Clarisse G Casilang, MD Department of Pediatrics Global Health Center The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Roberts Center for Pediatric Research 2716 South Street Philadelphia, PA, 19146 United States Phone: 1 267 426 6298 Email: casilangc@email.chop.edu

Abstract

Background: Despite growing interest in the use of technology to improve health outcomes in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), local attitudes toward mobile health (mHealth) use in these settings are minimally understood. This is especially true in the Dominican Republic, where mHealth interventions are starting to emerge. This information is critical for developing effective mHealth interventions to address public health issues, such as low exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) rates, which can lead to poor outcomes. With an EBF rate of 5% in the first 6 months of life, the Dominican Republic has one of the lowest EBF rates worldwide.

Objective: This study aims to describe the current use of information and communication technology (ICT) and to analyze the attitudes and perceptions related to using mHealth interventions among caregivers of children aged \leq 5 years and health promoters in the Dominican Republic. Findings can inform mHealth strategies aimed at improving EBF in this, and other, LMICs.

Methods: Participants were recruited from 3 outpatient sites: the Niños Primeros en Salud program at Centro de Salud Divina Providencia in Consuelo (rural setting) and Clínica de Familia La Romana and its program Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil in La Romana (urban setting). Focus groups were conducted with caregivers and community health promoters to identify the use, attitudes, perceptions, and acceptability of mHealth as well as barriers to EBF. Discussions were conducted in Spanish, guided by semistructured interview guides. All sessions were audio-recorded and later transcribed. Thematic content analysis was conducted in Spanish by two bilingual researchers and was structured around a hybrid behavioral theory framework to identify salient themes.

Results: All participants (N=35) reported having a mobile phone, and 29 (83%) participants had a smartphone. Sources for obtaining health information included the internet, physicians and clinic, family and friends, health promoters, and television. Barriers to mHealth use included the cost of internet service, privacy concerns, and perceived credibility of information sources. Participants indicated the desire for, and willingness to use, an mHealth intervention to support breastfeeding. The desired features of a possible mHealth intervention included offering diverse methods of information delivery such as images and video content, text messages, and person-to-person interaction as well as notifications for appointments, vaccines, and feeding schedules. Other

¹Department of Pediatrics, Global Health Center, The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, United States

important considerations were internet-free access and content that included maternal and child health self-management topics beyond breastfeeding.

Conclusions: There is a high level of acceptance of ICT tools for breastfeeding promotion among caregivers in urban and rural areas of the Dominican Republic. As mHealth tools can contribute to increased breastfeeding self-efficacy, identifying desirable features of such a tool is necessary to create an effective intervention. Participants wanted to receive trusted and reliable information through various formats and were interested in information beyond breastfeeding.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e20312) doi:10.2196/20312

KEYWORDS

global health; breast feeding; mHealth; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

eHealth resources hold promise for advancing child health in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) where information and communication technologies (ICT) are ubiquitous [1]. According to the United Nations Development Program, ICT are a set of "goods, applications or services that are used to distribute and exchange information," including radio, television, telephone, computers, mobile phones, and the internet [2]. eHealth is the use of ICT in "support of health and health-related fields, including health-care services, health surveillance, health literature, health education, knowledge and research" [3]. Within eHealth, mobile health (mHealth) explores how "mobile technologies can be best used to enhance access to health services and information and to improve the way health professionals deliver health-related services to the general public" [4]. Understanding caregiver perceptions and attitudes toward using mobile phones for health-related purposes is a critical step in developing mHealth interventions that aim to improve child health outcomes internationally, including infant mortality rates [4,5].

Globally, approximately 45% of all infant deaths under 5 years of age are linked to nutrition-related factors [6]. Early initiation of breastfeeding and effective exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) can significantly reduce infant mortality due to common childhood illnesses such as diarrhea or pneumonia [7,8]. According to data from the World Bank, the Dominican Republic has an EBF rate of infants under 6 months of age at only 5% (2014), which is one of the lowest rates worldwide [9]. The Dominican Republic also has an under-five mortality rate of 29 deaths per 1000 live births (2018), considerably higher than the median of 16 deaths per 1000 live births in Latin America and the Caribbean [10]. To address this significant child health issue, breastfeeding promotion interventions emphasizing early initiation and EBF until 6 months of age are critical. These must be effectively designed and utilized in settings such as the Dominican Republic and other LMICs where challenges persist in providing high-quality, easily accessible EBF care and support [11,12].

Although mHealth interventions have been shown to alleviate barriers and enhance access to care in LMICs, a strategic approach in their development is needed to implement effective mHealth on a larger scale and to study how technology can improve health outcomes [4,13-18]. Recognizing that the field

XSL•FO

of mHealth is rapidly transforming the delivery of health services around the world, the World Health Organization launched an initiative dedicated to the study of eHealth in May 2005 [19]. The United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund has officially identified "promoting the use of new technologies to more efficiently and effectively serve children, especially the most disadvantaged" as part of its Strategic Plan for 2018-2021 [20]. The literature on mHealth in LMICs has examined the use of technology in health care delivery, health systems development, disease surveillance, and implementation of mHealth-based policies [21-25]. However, caregiver perceptions and attitudes toward using mHealth in a global health setting are poorly understood [26].

Objectives

The specific objectives of this study were to describe the current use of ICT and analyze the attitudes and perceptions toward mHealth among caregivers of children younger than 5 years in the Dominican Republic. Although previous studies [27-30] have also utilized a stakeholder-informed process to guide the development of an mHealth intervention to promote EBF, this study was designed using a combined behavioral theory model. Findings will inform future mHealth interventions that aim to improve EBF rates in the Dominican Republic and other LMICs.

Methods

Institutional Review Board Review

This study was reviewed and granted exemption by the Institutional Review Board at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, which determined that this study met the exemption criteria per 45 CFR 46.104(d) 2. The Comité Nacional de Bioética en Salud in Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic, agreed that the study was exempt from full Institutional Review Board review. All study procedures were conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the Helsinki Declaration of the World Medical Association.

Study Sites

The study was conducted at 3 outpatient clinical sites in the Dominican Republic: the Niños Primeros en Salud (NPS) program at Centro de Salud Divina Providencia in Consuelo and Clínica de Familia La Romana (CFLR) and its Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil (MAMI) program, both in La Romana. These sites were purposefully selected to provide a diverse selection of rural and urban mothers and caregivers of children aged \leq 5 years to allow for a richer understanding of

varied attitudes and perceptions toward mHealth and experiences with EBF. Each site has a set of distinguishing characteristics. In brief, NPS, CFLR, and MAMI fundamentally aim to address factors that influence child nutrition, such as household food insecurity, chronic illness (specifically HIV), and young maternal age, respectively [31]. NPS provides primary outpatient care to children under the age of 5 years living in some of the poorest neighborhoods, also called *barrios*, in a rural community. CFLR is a large health center that provides primary care services and specializes in HIV care and prevention in the Southwest region of the country. MAMI is a satellite clinic of CFLR that provides prenatal and reproductive health care to adolescents and primary care to children of adolescent mothers up to 1 year of age.

Study Population

Consuelo is a rural municipality of the San Pedro de Macorís province with 30,000 inhabitants [32]. The main industry of the region is agriculture, especially sugar cane production. Many *barrios* in Consuelo lack basic amenities such as indoor plumbing and electricity. The catchment area of La Romana province has a population of 276,000 inhabitants, including 80,000 women aged between 15 to 50 years [33]. An estimated 4000 female commercial sex workers are based in La Romana [33]. In addition to the urban city of La Romana, many sugarcane workers and their families live in *bateyes*, which are underserved sugarcane plantation communities. *Batey* residents include Haitian permanent residents, seasonal migrant workers, and indigent Dominicans [33].

Participants in focus group discussions (FGDs) were stratified into groups of caregivers or community health promoters to encourage comfort and candor, as caregivers may have felt uncomfortable sharing information in front of the promoters. For this study, a caregiver was defined as the mother or female guardian of a child aged ≤ 5 years receiving care at one of the study sites. Traditionally, health promoters are caregivers selected from within their community to serve as trusted advocates, health educators, and health system navigators for other families in their neighborhood or the surrounding community. CFLR and MAMI health promoters are full-time paid employees, whereas NPS health promoters receive a small stipend for several hours served monthly. As they are considered experienced parent leaders in their community, health promoters have a unique perspective on how mHealth can be used to carry out their daily activities.

Eligibility Criteria

The criteria used for participants to be considered eligible to enroll in the study were as follows:

- 1. Mother or female guardian of a child aged ≤5 years or female health promoter of NPS, CFLR, or MAMI.
- 2. For caregiver participants, the child is a patient receiving care at NPS, CFLR, or MAMI.
- 3. Speaks and understands Spanish.

Due to the sensitive nature of breastfeeding, the lead investigators chose to have female gender as inclusion criteria, as well as a female focus group facilitator. It was inferred that mixed-gender groups might inhibit women from candidly discussing their experiences with, and barriers to, EBF.

Sample Size

The sample size was established based on the study team's experiences in group design sessions as well as recommendations for sample sizes in qualitative research [34-36]. Several sources have suggested that well-designed focus groups consist of 6 to 12 participants depending on subject and time limits [37,38]. The rationale for this range stems from the goal that enough participants must be included in the groups for a breadth of information to be captured; however, groups should not be so large that each participant does not have a chance to contribute. Moreover, the goal of a qualitative study should be to have a large enough sample size to uncover a variety of opinions but to limit the sample size at the point of saturation. The final sample size was determined by thematic saturation, the point at which new data no longer appeared to contribute to the findings due to the repetition of themes and comments by participants. Additional focus groups were discontinued when it was determined that saturation was attained.

Recruitment

For potential caregiver participants, the principal investigator (CC) worked with clinic staff and nurses to approach each potential participant at random in the clinic waiting room at each site, explained the nature of the study, and assessed the participant's eligibility using a screening questionnaire. This generated a convenience sample of potential participants who were present in the clinic waiting area at each site on the days when the principal investigator (CC) was available to recruit for the study. Health promoters were recruited either by telephone or in-person at the clinics. All female health promoters were invited to participate. Those who expressed interest in participating were provided with the date, time, and location of the group discussion. As all participants might not be available on the day of the focus groups, several sources suggested over-recruitment by 20% to 50% [39,40], so goal recruitment was 9 participants per group.

Data Collection

Data collection took place between December 2018 and February 2019. Before each FGD, informed consent procedures were administered and written informed consent was obtained, including consent to record FGDs with a digital recorder. Participant confidentiality was assured by using floral-themed names rather than their real names during the FGD so that participants could not be identified in the written transcripts.

Before starting the FGDs, we developed a semistructured FGD guide in English and then translated it into Spanish. Local stakeholders (ie, staff pediatricians, nurses, and other clinic staff) verified and revised the translation of preliminary interview guides. The development of the focus group guide was framed using the extended technology acceptance model (ETAM) [41] constructs, the information-motivation-behavioral skills (IMB) model [42] constructs, and scholarly literature, specifically from previous studies using focus groups as formative research for mHealth interventions in an LMIC [43]

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

and in a high-risk population [44]. These semistructured discussion guides were iteratively refined after each focus group and modified to include new data gathered during discussions. The FGD guide for caregivers was designed to elicit which ICT they use, how they utilize ICT to access health information, what factors discourage and motivate caregivers to seek mHealth tools, and what features would be desired in a potential mHealth intervention. Caregiver groups were also asked to share their perspectives on influencing factors for EBF practices. The FGD guide for health promoters focused on identifying challenges with EBF and suggestions on how mHealth tools might be used to promote effective EBF practices.

FGDs were facilitated by a trained local research associate and were conducted in Spanish using the FGD guide. Training was provided by one of the senior researchers (LF) who has extensive experience in focus group facilitation. Before each session, a short survey was conducted to collect information on demographics, ICT use, and health information–seeking behaviors. Sessions lasted for 60-90 min and were audio-recorded. The principal investigator (CC) took field notes during each FGD. FGDs were conducted until thematic saturation was reached, as was determined when new information was no longer being obtained during discussions [45].

Data Analysis

All digitally recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim in Spanish by a local transcriber. The transcripts were later professionally translated into English. Any private information accidentally revealed during the focus groups by a participant was removed. Transcripts were reviewed line by line by one of the authors (CC) to assess accuracy, perform framework indexing using the framework method [46], and start formulation of the codebook. A total of 2 authors (CC and SS), who are bilingual in English and Spanish, discussed 2 initial transcripts to refine the development of the codebook. Subsequently, all transcripts were carefully read by CC to develop a list of meaningful units corresponding to the major constructs of the mixed behavioral theory model, which were independently reviewed and discussed with SS. CC and SS then independently coded all transcripts using the established codebook. Coding discrepancies were discussed with LF and EL to obtain consensus. The data were coded using NVivo qualitative analysis software using directed content analysis following the theoretical framework. During coding, any additional meaningful units identified by coders were also identified and continuously discussed between the authors. Codes were arranged by meaning into major themes. Notable quotes pertaining to each theme were organized, discussed, and summarized in a document that presents the findings for each theme.

We chose a directed approach to content analysis through a combined deductive-inductive process to comprehensively review transcripts and identify salient themes [47]. Through deductive use of existing theory in a mixed model of the ETAM and the IMB model (Figure 1) [41,42], we were able to conceptually extend a theoretical framework to help determine the initial coding scheme and relationships between codes, while at the same time, adding any emerging themes from probing or freely shared topics by participants in an inductive approach [47]. In addition, several triangulation categories were used to enhance the reliability, objectivity, and validity of the results collected in this qualitative descriptive study: (1) data triangulation was achieved by administering focus groups with several participants at various times in Consuelo and La Romana, (2) investigator triangulation was achieved by correlating the findings from multiple researchers in the study to reach consensus, and (3) theory triangulation was achieved by using and correlating multiple theoretical strategies in the form of the mixed behavioral theory frameworks of the ETAM and the IMB model [45,47-49].



Casilang et al

Figure 1. Combined conceptual model: extended technology acceptance model (ETAM) and information-motivation-behavioral skills model (IMB).



Applying relevant behavioral theories to an mHealth intervention is important because it can lead to well-developed strategies for health behavior change and health promotion [50,51]. They can also increase the effectiveness of digital tools and promote a receptive environment for their use [51]. For these reasons, we chose to ground our intervention with behavioral theories that addressed both our targeted behavior of EBF for up to 6 months and acceptance of digital technology. The IMB model was initially developed to promote HIV prevention interventions in inner-city minority settings [52]. The model supports the hypothesis that to initiate and maintain a desired behavior, adherence-related information and motivation must be provided, along with appropriate tools to maintain the behavior [42, 52]. In previous research, the application of the IMB model has shown great promise in developing effective EBF promotion interventions in global settings [53,54]. A common model used to understand clinical staff and patients' mHealth adoption is the technology acceptance model (TAM) [55]. Although the TAM has been a rigorously tested model in predicting user acceptance of an innovation, some have raised the need for the

model to be extended and incorporated with further constructs to enhance its explanation and prediction of acceptance behavior [55,56]. Therefore, our study used an extended TAM that incorporates the TAM with the theory of planned behavior [41]. In addition to the original constructs of *perceived usefulness* and *perceived ease of use*, a trust-related construct (*perceived credibility*) and 2 resource-related constructs (*perceived self-efficacy* and *perceived cost*) are incorporated [41] to better predict caregiver and health promoter intention to use mobile phones for health information seeking.

Results

Overview

We conducted 6 FGDs consisting of (1) 7 health promoters from NPS, (2) 5 health promoters from CFLR, (3) 2 caregivers from MAMI, (4) 7 caregivers from CFLR, (5) 8 caregivers from MAMI, and (6) 6 caregivers from NPS. Demographics of the 35 participants are summarized in Table 1.

 Table 1. Characteristics of focus group discussion participants.

Characteristics		Caregiver (n=23), n (%)	Health promoter (n=12), n (%)	Total (N=35), n (%)
Female participants		23 (66)	12 (34)	35 (100)
Age (years)				
	12-17	6 (26)	0 (0)	6 (17)
	18-25	9 (39)	1 (8)	10 (29)
	26-34	6 (26)	4 (33)	10 (29)
	35-54	1 (4)	7 (58)	8 (23)
	No answer	1 (4)	0 (0)	1 (3)
Clinical site of recruitment				
	Niños Primeros en Salud, Consuelo, rural	6 (26)	7 (58)	13 (37)
	Clínica de Familia La Romana, La Romana, urban	7 (30)	5 (42)	12 (34)
	Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil, La Romana, urban	10 (44)	0 (0)	10 (29)
Highest educational level achieved				
	Completed middle school	9 (39)	1 (8)	10 (29)
	Completed high school or technical trade school	7 (30)	6 (50)	13 (37)
	Currently at university	3 (13)	4 (33)	7 (20)
	Completed university	4 (17)	1 (8)	5 (14)
Employment status				
	Unemployed	19 (83)	7 (58)	26 (74)
	Employed ^a	4 (17)	5 (42)	9 (26)

^aReceives a salary for full-time work.

Demographic Characteristics

All participants were female. Each of the 3 participating sites accounted for a similar number of participants, with approximately one-third of the total from each site. Thus, the majority were from La Romana (22/35, 63%). A total of 12 participants were health promoters in their respective community, and 23 participants were mothers of children aged \leq 5 years currently receiving services at either NPS, CFLR, or MAMI. The major demographic differences between caregivers and health promoters were age, education level, and employment. Notably, caregivers were younger (15/23, 65% were aged <26 years), had less formal education, and had a higher percentage of unemployment (19/23, 83% vs 7/12, 58%) compared with health promoters.

Participants' Use of ICT and Sources of Health Information

On the basis of a brief survey conducted before each FGD, all participants (N=35) reported having a cellular phone, of whom 29 (83%) reported having a smartphone. Participants obtained health information from the internet, physicians, health clinics, family and friends, health promoters, and TV.

Perceptions and Attitudes Toward mHealth

Most caregivers initially commented that they use ICT regularly to access health information. In the course of our FGDs, several factors influencing caregivers' use of mobile phones regarding their child's health emerged (Table 2). Prominent themes included ways caregivers use ICT, access limitations, perceived credibility of sources, perceived usefulness, cost, and privacy.

Caregivers utilized ICT in several ways. For example, some used ICT to access the internet to further research a diagnosis or medical terminology used by their doctor when they did not have enough time during their visit to ask. Some used mHealth to verify, confirm, or compare information received from different sources, including their family members and doctors. Others read or found health information using ICT and confirmed this information with a health professional to verify its validity or falsehood. Cumulatively, this health information-seeking behavior added further evidence to a major determining factor for caregivers' use of a potential mHealth intervention: perceived credibility of source. Caregivers consistently expressed the importance of having information in the mHealth tool that was validated by credible sources, such as doctors, nurses, and other trained health professionals.



Table 2. Perceptions and attitudes toward mobile health from focus group discussions.

Model constructs	Example excerpts
Perceptions and attitudes toward	general health information
Health information sources	 "I have a smartphone by which I can research on Google and YouTube about medication, about how to use them, about breastfeeding too. I inform myself by this form of communication: a smartphone." (NPS^a health promoter, rural setting) "There is a webpage that I used when I was pregnant. And there is another page that I follow, called: 'Lactating Mothers'. It informs you about the development of your baby, growing up, and all of the different things that happen." (MAMI^b mother, urban setting)
Health information source con- sidered most trustworthy	• "Directly with doctors, because you can find so many things on the internet and you don't know which ones are real. I directly call the doctor or I go to clinic." (CFLR ^c mother, urban setting)
Health information–seeking behavior	 "Sometimes the doctor can give a diagnosis or use medical terminology that we don't understand very well and, because of time, we don't ask the doctor. But we search on the internet. We search and we get all the information in layman's terms. The internet is really helpful." (CFLR health promoter, urban setting) "Apart from the doctor, for your own knowledge, it's important to know what other sources say and also to search information on your own. To investigate and to have the opportunity to look for information and to learn." (NPS mother, rural setting) "People that lived through the process like my mother and my mother-in-law. People who have previous knowledge about motherhood. And for something rare, I call the pediatrician." (CFLR mother, urban setting)
Facilitators and barriers to mobile	e health use for child health
Perceived credibility of source	 "Sometimes we get confused, because a person comes and says something and then another one comes with another explanation. So it's better to look for people like promoters, psychologists, or doctors It's better to ask them. They are trained people. Because sometimes people upload things and share information, but you get confused; then you ask yourself: Is it true or not?" (NPS health promoter, rural setting) "It's not so bad. It has its pros and cons. What we have to do when we get information on the internet is to confirm it with the pediatrician. There is a lot of good information on the internet and many times we build on what we know and gain knowledge. And it's important." (CFLR mother, urban setting)
Perceived usefulness	 "Creating this app is a good way to give orientation about breastfeeding. Every mother can have it on her cellphone, because almost all mothers put more attention to their phone than to talks. Having the information on their phone, in order to have everything there, is a good idea. So they have the app and have access to the information." (NPS health promoter, rural setting) "For me it's quite useful, because many people don't constantly remember things. Having a reminder of everything: vaccines, medicines, is very important. Because there are vaccines that if you don't get them in time, can cause harm to the child." (MAMI mother, adolescent, urban setting)
Perceived ease of use	• "I feel very comfortable, because it offers you the information instantly. When you want to know something and there is no one nearby you can ask; for example if the pediatrician is occupied or the doctor is receiving another patient and he cannot answer you in that moment. Then you have the information there, immediately." (CFLR mother, urban setting)
Barriers to ease of use	• "There can be problems with it. Because there are people that can't use technology well. There is good information, but some people don't know how to use it." (NPS mother, rural setting)
Perceived self-efficacy	• "[I feel] very comfortable because [technology] does not have time limits. I feel that I'm not bothering anybody. And I can easily dedicate time to it and I can easily find what I'm looking for." (CFLR mother, urban setting)
Perceived cost	• "Well, it's not so easy, because to obtain a mobile phone you have to pay monthly and it's not cheap. And you don't have money to pay every month. Sometimes they cut off the service and you cannot communicate; nothing. You can make calls but without internet you can't do anything." (NPS mother, rural setting)
Perceived loss of privacy	• "I think I would not [use an application asking for private information]. But I have Facebook and Facebook asks for your name and telephone number." (NPS mother, rural setting)

^aNPS: Niños Primeros en Salud.

^bMAMI: Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil.

^cCFLR: Clínica de Familia La Romana.

Perceived usefulness was another influencing factor for mHealth use, which was described among participants. Some caregivers

described the usefulness of an mHealth tool both in terms of what they had encountered and what they wish were available.

http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20312/

Desirable characteristics and capabilities include quick and ready access to information, the ability to send reminders for important necessities such as vaccines and medications, and helpfulness with decision-making regarding their child's health. Several health promoters also explicitly mentioned how an mHealth tool would be especially useful to them during their home visits and provide them with an educational resource to share with their clients and families. Other factors identified among caregivers include perceived ease of use and perceived self-efficacy.

Some barriers to mHealth use among caregivers included perceived cost and perceived loss of privacy related to use. For example, many caregivers mentioned the difficulty of maintaining monthly internet service due to cost. If there were an additional cost of the mHealth tool, most mentioned they would not pay for it. However, some argued that if the mHealth tool seemed to add value to their lives, they would pay for it. When asked how they felt about sharing private information through the mHealth intervention, many expressed concerns about privacy and indicated that they would potentially input false personal information into a nonsecure ICT to maintain their privacy.

Perceptions and Attitudes Toward Breastfeeding and Influencing Factors

Participants observed and shared various factors that influenced their breastfeeding practices, which could be relevant to the development of an mHealth EBF promotion tool (Table 3). Most participants were aware of the benefits of breastfeeding for both their children and themselves, and some participants mentioned additional benefits such as economic savings and environmental benefits (eg, less waste production and reduced water consumption with no need for bottles and formula). Most participants were aware of the recommended time to initiate breastfeeding and the recommended duration of EBF. Change in knowledge was mentioned across the different focus groups as a major factor important to promoting breastfeeding. Participants proposed that this could be achieved through support or information from experienced family members or health care workers and through dispelling myths shared in the community.

Despite their knowledge of the benefits of EBF and intentions to exclusively breastfeed, detailed probing revealed that supplementing with water or formula in the first 6 months of life is common. Mothers provided reasons that included urging from the infant's grandmother to supplement, returning back to work, feelings that the baby was still hungry or that breastmilk production was inadequate, and previous experience with another child. Several mothers from the adolescent clinic (MAMI) also mentioned that their infant's grandmothers offered their babies beans, coffee, and other foods besides breastmilk as the initial food when their child was born.

Many mothers described their specific memories about breastfeeding, some reporting their difficulties and others sharing their positive experiences. Some shared challenges related to breastmilk production, physical pain, newborn refusal to latch, and preference to give formula. Other mothers, who shared positive experiences with breastfeeding, mentioned a feeling of having a stronger bond with their infant, health benefits to their infant (such as falling ill less frequently or seeing their rapid growth), and observing benefits for themselves (such as relief from breast engorgement or feeling thinner).



Table 3. Perceptions and attitudes toward breastfeeding from focus group discussions.

Model constructs	Example excerpts		
Initial feeding practices	 "Yes, my mom gave him beans." "My mom gave coffee to him." "Enfamil^a, because I couldn't endure the pain of my breasts. They hurt a lot." (MAMI^b mothers, adolescents, urban clinic) "When my son was born, I immediately placed him on the breast and I continue to breastfeed him." (NPS^c health promoter, rural clinic) "At first I breastfed her, but she didn't like it. It seemed it was salty and I didn't insist. I bought her formula." (CFLR^d health promoter, urban clinic) "Well I practiced exclusive breastfeeding with my baby. Sometimes a little water, until 6 months, when I began to work." (CFLR mother, urban setting) 		
Facilitators and barriers to breastfeed	ing		
Information about breastfeeding			
Benefits of breastfeeding	 "Breastfeeding is very good, because the baby receives all the nutrients. But it's also very healthy for the baby and the mother, because doctors say that breastfeeding mothers have less probability to develop cancer. Babies grow up healthy, they don't get sick as often and it's very important." (CFLR health promoter, urban setting) "Breastfeeding has a lot of benefits. The child socializes with their mother. You save money. You don't have to bring anything, because the mother is already carrying her child's food. It is good for the environment. I have a benefit, the child has a benefit, the environment has a benefit. Everybody benefits." (NPS health promoter, rural setting) 		
Myths surrounding breastfeed- ing	 "There are breastfeeding mothers who are giving water apart from breastmilk, to the baby It's important to explain to themthe baby doesn't need additional water, because it's in the milk." (CFLR health promoter, urban setting) "I think that people believe one of the biggest inconveniences [of breastfeeding] is the myth that they will get very skinny and that the breasts are going to sag." (NPS health promoter, rural setting) 		
Change in knowledge	• "Well, for me, there is the challenge with my next child to practice exclusive breastfeeding, because my mom always told me to give breastmilk in addition to the formula, but nobody ever told me to breastfeed exclusively." (CFLR mother, urban setting)		
Motivation to breastfeed			
Personal attitudes	 "Breastfeeding suits me and it suits the child. It's convenient for me, because while breastfeeding he becomes better acquainted with me. If he feels fussy or anxious, I begin to breastfeed him and he immediately calms down, because he knows that I stay with him. Because, since the child was in the mother's womb, his best friend is the mother's heart." (NPS health promoter, rural setting) "It's also very good for us, women, because we get skinny (laugh). For this reason I breastfeed. You believe that it's because I like to give it, but no. It's to get skinny. Look at this belly!" (MAMI mother, adolescent, urban setting) 		
Support received	• "As I was a first time mother, my baby's grandmother urged me, because I didn't want [to breastfeed]. I was engorged. She said 'Give her breast!' and the milk finally letdown. She told me 'Give her breast! It helps her grow.' And then, with the second one, nobody had to tell me anything, because I already knew, because of what I had experienced with the first one." (NPS mother, rural setting)		
Support desired	 "There are partners who believe that taking care of the baby is the obligation just of the mother. So there are fathers not supporting the mother in taking care of the baby. And I think it's work of 50% father and 50% mother." (CFLR health promoter, urban setting) "It would be a good, an excellent idea [to have an application for breastfeeding], because right now, there are a lot of pregnant teenagers and they have no information about breastfeeding, about the consequences of breastfeeding or not breastfeeding." (NPS health promoter, rural setting) 		
Skills and experience with breastf	eeding		
Perceived self-efficacy to breastfeed	• "At first, I felt a lot of pain; and then I got used to it and the nipples let down I spoke with her and I carried her. She was tiny and I spoke with her and I got used to it. I loved giving my baby breast at a walking pace." (MAMI mother, adolescent, urban)		

Model constructs	Example excerpts		
Successful breastfeeding expe- rience	 "I had a very pleasant experience. Because I had to breastfeed twins, I will never forget. It was something very new for me, because breastfeeding two children at the same time is a bit difficult, but I learned that breastfeeding is important, because it helps our children's nutrition and that the development of our children depends on it, as they grow. Because if we breastfeed, they will have the antibodies they need for any disease. I learned that it is important to breastfeed." (NPS health promoter, rural setting) "Breastfeeding the baby is very good. I breastfed mine for 1 year and 10 months. And this baby never got sick, thank God." (CFLR mother, urban setting) 		
Unsuccessful breastfeeding experience	 "My experiences [with breastfeeding] were not very long. I have two children. A boy that is 7 years old and a girl that is 6 months. The boy breastfed until he was 3 months. I tried to put him on the bottle [with expressed breastmilk], but he didn't want it anymore and me neither. The girl wanted to stop after 2 months. I pumped breastmilk and I gave it to her, but she didn't want it anymore." (NPS mother, rural setting) "When I saw the blood coming out of my breasts, I was scared. My nipple was cut by so much breastfeeding. I had cuts and I said: 'Oh my God! I have to stop it! I have to save myself from that!'" (CFLR health promoter, urban setting) 		

^aBrand of infant formula.

^bMAMI: Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil.

^cNPS: Niños Primeros en Salud.

^dCFLR: Clínica de Familia La Romana.

Desired Features for a Potential mHealth Intervention to Address EBF

In addition to sharing their perceptions and attitudes toward mHealth in general, participants provided their recommendations for important features to include in a potential mHealth intervention to promote EBF (Table 4).

A frequently mentioned recommendation on how to introduce mHealth for EBF support and promotion was having the ICT cover other topics related to their child's health in addition to breastfeeding, such as growth and development, vaccines, prenatal and postnatal health, and common ailments. Other factors perceived to be important included (1) using an app that would be easily accessible on a smartphone with remote access due to commonly inconsistent internet service; (2) having an interactive component, whether through video call or face-to-face consultation; and (3) using simple, educational, and motivational messaging with video and images. Others suggested using *myth-busting* messages. Health promoters and pregnant women were also identified as specific groups that could especially benefit from this mHealth tool. For example, health promoters suggested having a platform to be used as an educational tool for home visits. Participants also proposed targeting pregnant women who could have access to this information while preparing to give birth and raise a child.

Table 4. Desired features of a potential mobile health intervention: major themes from focus group discussions.

Major themes	Example excerpts		
Message content based on specific topics	• "To speak about hygiene, about fever, about the most common diseases, about infections he can have, about influenza which is very common, and growth." "I would like information about nutrition and home		
	 remedies for children." (MAMI^a mothers, adolescents, urban setting) "A reminder for vaccines and, if possible, the information about which vaccines the baby should get would be very important." "I'm not sure it's good to fill the application with too much information. But maybe 		
	you can put information about pregnancy It would be very useful." (CFLR ^b health promoters, urban setting)		
Timing of information	• "For me, it's important to get it daily, not flooding people with messages, but with one paragraph specifying something on the theme. In the notification, you want to know about this topic, or in a video, specifying all you have to do. For example, if they speak about how to feed the baby after [6 months of] breastfeeding. It's important to specify, more or less, the food that you can give to him, how and the quantity." (CFLR mother, urban setting)		
Preferred method of delivering infor- mation	• "An application would be good because I can have it on the phone, so whenever I need information, I go to the application directly. I suppose the application will contain the videos and the texts that people are		
	 looking for. So, I prefer an application." (NPS^c health promoter, rural setting) "I also like face-to-face. I like it, because when you speak with the other person, you can see how they receive the message, and you can say: 'Did you understand? Repeat it!' You can understand better face-to-face. Videos too. Through videos you can live what you are seeing. So, I like both, but mainly face-to-face." (CFLR health promoter, urban setting) 		
Message intent	 "Motivational. 'Care for your baby like you care for yourself!'" (MAMI mother, adolescent, urban setting) "I recommend informing about breastfeeding, because there are many myths that one believes, because I have mine too. The pediatrician, health staff, application or a webpage can dispel these myths in order to give better benefits to children." (CFLR mother, urban setting) 		
Target audience or target strategy for an eHealth tool	• "[An] application is very good, because we are [health] promoters. We go to a mother's house to do a home visit and through the app we can show her the information. A lot of them don't pay much attention to what we say sometimes. So I can show them that through the app, she can find all the information about vaccines, breastfeeding and I can show it to my family and to the entire community." (NPS health promoter, rural setting)		
	• "In this app, I want to find themes related to breastfeeding; about pregnancy, how to be prepared; because a mother can access it and she can find everything related to her and to her baby So that when a mother gives birth, she knows how to nurse him, she knows the benefits of breastfeeding and she knows what happens with formula. Sometimes we can say to a mother that breastfeeding is the best, but sometimes they don't trust us. But if they have information, they can say: 'Wow, it's true. Look! Here it tells me!' Sometimes they want evidence. If we have this app, it's much better." (NPS health promoter, rural setting)		
Other features			
Telemedicine	• "If you are at home and the baby has a problem, you can start a video call and you can ask at that moment. ['The trained professional'] can tell you what to do, before taking the baby to the doctor." (NPS mother, rural setting)		
Remote access	• "Because it may be that I won't have internet on my phone and that I can't search something on the appli- cation. If I don't have money to activate service, it would be good if it does not need internet connection." (NPS mother, rural setting)		
Myth busting	• "It would be good to scientifically define the origins of the myths and discredit them or not." (CFLR health promoter, urban setting)		

^aMAMI: Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil.

^bCFLR: Clínica de Familia La Romana.

^cNPS: Niños Primeros en Salud.

Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Findings

Mobile phones are increasingly common in the Dominican Republic, where, according to the World Bank, there were 84 mobile cellular phone subscriptions per 100 people in 2018

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20312/
```

[57]. In addition, smartphone use in this setting is increasing rapidly; a 2019 survey found that 61% of the Dominican population owned a smartphone compared with 51% in 2017 [58]. This rapid expansion of access to mobile technology creates an opportunity to develop health-related interventions to meet the needs of rural and urban communities across the Dominican Republic. This study provides novel insights into

community and caregiver perspectives of a potential mHealth intervention to promote EBF for women with children receiving care at multiple clinical sites in the Dominican Republic. This study also highlights numerous aspects of the content and service delivery model that may affect users' acceptance and impact of the intervention. By identifying caregiver and health promoter opinions on a potential mHealth tool using behavior theory models, the results can inform effective future mHealth intervention design.

Effective mHealth research should aim to provide a richer understanding about the nature of the cultural factors [59] that shape the adoption and success of these new technologies. This study aimed to address the gap in mHealth research related to user acceptability and the development of theory-based interventions. There is a need for more mHealth interventions grounded in behavior change theory [28,59] that explore the psychological, cognitive, and behavioral dimensions of maternal and child health, which served as the foundation of our design.

We do not have similar previous studies for comparisons, as this study is, to our knowledge, the first study of its kind in the Dominican Republic. However, other studies have assessed the feasibility and acceptability of mHealth apps aimed at improving breastfeeding in other countries [27-30]. For example, in Saudi Arabia, more mothers expressed their intention to practice EBF after receiving mHealth-based education about EBF and early breastfeeding initiation [27]. An Australian study reported high ratings for an evidence-based breastfeeding app designed to provide men with social support and information to enhance the help they can offer their breastfeeding partners [28]. A Thai study demonstrated the potential for an mHealth app to be a useful self-management tool for breastfeeding mothers [29]. In the United States, researchers at the University of Missouri found that stakeholder and user engagement indicated that mHealth has the potential to be a useful strategy for providing breastfeeding support to mothers [30]. These studies, combined with the findings of our study, indicate the potential positive impact an effectively designed stakeholder-informed mHealth tool can have in promoting EBF.

Mobile phones provide an opportunity to improve health behaviors, as evidenced by caregivers in this study who mentioned that their intention to breastfeed may have been enhanced if they had better access to trusted information about EBF from an mHealth app. According to the 2011 World Health Organization report on mHealth, mobile phones provide a new communication channel for health promotion and community mobilization [60]. Multiple studies have shown promising results of using mobile phones and text messaging to improve nutrition [27-30,61,62]. Multiple systematic reviews have evaluated the impact of mHealth interventions on maternal and child health in LMICs [59,63-67]. These reviews have noted that although a handful of interventions have shown some promise in improving health outcomes compared with routine care, most studies lack high methodological quality, such as theory-based design, standardization of content, and validated outcome measurements [59,63-67]. This observation is important not only during the mHealth design phase but also in the future evaluation of the resulting mHealth intervention.

Applying Findings to Future Intervention Design

Our findings provide an additional context to the low EBF rate in this population that can inform future breastfeeding interventions. On the basis of participant responses with probing, mixed feeding (a combination of breastmilk and formula) appears to be common. The reasons given for this practice, such as returning back to work, feeling the baby is still hungry, and feeling like breastmilk production is inadequate, have also been mentioned in previous studies [68-70]. Thus, this work confirms that it will be important to address factors associated with mixed feeding in a future mHealth intervention aimed toward this community and others with similar practices.

Our findings suggest that caregivers and health promoters in this setting prefer to utilize a low- to no-cost health app that is easily accessible on mobile phones, regardless of internet service. This supports previous research examining trends in mHealth in LMICs [71]. Participants also generally preferred to have access to a trustworthy trained individual or specialist to navigate and promote EBF. In this setting, it is culturally accepted, and many times sought after, to have face-to-face interactions with trained professionals to obtain health education and consultation. As suggested by participants, this desired component can be applied to an mHealth intervention by either adding a video call feature or discussion forum component to the intervention. Participants also suggested that during health visits, physicians, nurses, or health promoters can use the mHealth tool to explain standardized health information and provide access to the mHealth tool for caregivers to use beyond the encounter. Similar findings have been reflected in previous research in the development and assessment of mHealth interventions in other countries, including India and Germany [12,72,73].

Perceived loss of privacy is an important barrier to mHealth use mentioned by participants, which has also been described in other studies [74,75]. As illustrated in the quotes in Table 2, there are conflicting attitudes toward providing private information in mobile apps. Although some participants mentioned that they would not use an app that required private information, some reported that they would input false personal data to access the app. Regardless of privacy concerns, popular apps such as Facebook were still used among our participants, which may indicate that functionality and convenience may take precedence over privacy concerns. Further research is needed to address concerns regarding privacy and security in future mHealth apps and to explore if it is necessary to be specifically customized for different purposes or users.

Caregivers in our study expressed that although an mHealth tool to promote EBF would be useful, it would be desirable if the tool could provide additional information and self-management support for other maternal and child health topics, such as growth and development, vaccines, prenatal and postnatal health, and common childhood illnesses. This corresponds with previous literature in which caregivers described mobile apps to be better suited for more broad topics that would be accessed more frequently or to meet a repeated, unique need to be worth the significant space and data on their devices [76]. In addition, in considering the design of an

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

impactful mHealth tool that is highly valued and frequently used by parents, a previous systematic review recommended combining educational elements with troubleshooting support [71]. Future intervention designers should take these considerations into account to provide optimum benefit for the intended target population.

Strengths

A strength of this study is inherent in its design and employment of several categories of triangulation (data, investigator, and theory) to enhance the reliability, objectivity, and validity of the results collected [45,47-49]. In particular, data triangulation allowed for the collection of different perspectives from female caregivers and health promoters of various ages living in both rural and urban settings in the Dominican Republic. There are several examples that illustrate triangulation in our data. As seen in Table 3, there is an overlap between a myth about breastfeeding and motivation for breastfeeding. A rural health promoter mentions that "one of the biggest inconveniences [of breastfeeding] is the myth that [mothers] will get very skinny," whereas later, an urban caregiver describes how getting skinny was a motivation for her to breastfeed. The second example of triangulation appears when a rural health promoter mentions that she would like support aimed toward pregnant teenagers because they have "no information about breastfeeding" (Table 3). However, an urban teenage mother mentions a specific website called Lactating Mothers, which she uses to seek health information regarding her child and breastfeeding (Table 2). These findings form a strong evidence base and source of various perspectives from which mHealth interventions that seek to improve EBF in the Dominican Republic and other similar settings can be designed.

Given the extensive description of the methodology and design of our study, researchers interested in conducting similar work can better understand how our findings might apply or relate to their target population [77]. This study integrates the perspectives of stakeholders (caregivers and health promoters) throughout the design process. Formative research with stakeholder involvement is foundational to delivering effective maternal and child health educational interventions and facilitating a more sustainable and broader dissemination [76]. Furthermore, within the global health community, we must look across specific content areas toward the broader themes emerging within the literature on technology-based interventions. Consistent with previous studies, this serves as a call to action to pair formative research with strong evidence-based design, combining messaging type and content with optimum technology platforms to effectively improve health outcomes [17,18,28,59,63-67,78].

Limitations

Despite these strengths, there are some limitations that should be considered. There is an inherent selection bias owing to our recruitment strategy, which involved approaching potential participants in the clinical site waiting areas. One might argue that women living in local communities, who are not actively seeking primary care services, may have the greatest need for breastfeeding education and guidance. This selection bias might have been avoided if we had sought help from the health

```
http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20312/
```

promoters to identify women in the community who do not use primary care services. However, as free services are highly accepted, women not accessing these services are less representative of the population as a whole. Another limitation is that the FGD guide was not modified to elicit the unique perspectives of mothers in the older age groups or to address any contradictions seen in the data. There was a missed opportunity to further identify barriers to EBF, such as exploring reasons for mixed feeding practices among older mothers, or provide a direct context to the contradictions observed. Third, it must be mentioned that the principal investigator was also a staff pediatrician at 2 of the clinical sites (NPS and CFLR). Although she did not facilitate the FGD, she was present for notetaking and observing the groups in each session. Owing to this, participants may have modified some aspects of their responses toward breastfeeding with the awareness of being observed (Hawthorne effect) [79]. However, the fact that participants freely admitted to behaviors such as mixed feeding, which they likely knew to be contrary to the pediatricians' recommendations, suggested that they felt free to express their true behaviors and feelings in the presence of a pediatrician.

Our study findings may not be generalizable to communities in the Dominican Republic where levels of employment are higher. On the basis of data from the World Bank, in 2019, the labor force participation rates (eg, percentage of people aged over 15 years who are employed or actively looking for work) were 51% female and 77% male [80], compared with 26% of our all-female study cohort. A unique distinction about the clinical sites in this study is that medical services are significantly subsidized for patients. For example, patients who qualify for NPS services have no fees for visits, laboratories, or medications. To be a patient at NPS, children must be aged ≤ 5 years and live in 1 of the 8 barrios (neighborhoods) served, which are the poorest in Consuelo. In addition, at CFLR, people living with HIV receive government-funded highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) free of charge. Laboratories and medications are offered at a significantly lower price than at other facilities in La Romana. This provides context as to how recruited participants are able to receive care despite high unemployment rates.

Conclusions

There is a high level of acceptance for ICT tools, particularly mHealth apps, for the promotion of breastfeeding and child health among caregivers in this setting. mHealth tools can contribute to increased breastfeeding self-efficacy, and hence, identifying the desirable features of such tools will create impactful interventions in both rural and urban settings in the Dominican Republic. Future mHealth interventions should be designed using formative research with stakeholder involvement. Ideally, the mHealth tool should implement the following features:

- minimize barriers to use, such as low cost and access without active internet service
- promote frequency of use by adding perceived value to caregivers, such as providing both educational and self-management content

• address the cultural needs and acceptability of users based on behavioral theory models.

In general, caregivers want to receive trusted and reliable information that is easily accessible through various formats, and they are interested in information beyond breastfeeding.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge all participants in this study for their valuable time and insights. The authors also acknowledge the support from the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia's David N. Pincus Global Health Fellowship and the Pincus Family Foundation. The authors also acknowledge support from the leadership and staff of their clinical sites, especially Adriana Deverlis, Ramona Cordero, Mioced Ramírez, Dr Francisca Vázquez, Sister Natividad Rosa, Juana Mercedes, Vivian Araujo, and Rosa Huber, for their efforts and assistance during the study's development and implementation. The authors also acknowledge the time, effort, and dedication of their trained local focus group facilitator, Johanna Lendor, and local transcriptionist, Antonio Matos. CC was affiliated with the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia at the time this research was conducted and is currently affiliated with the Children's Hospital of Orange County. SS was funded through the National Institute of Nursing Research of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number K99NR017829. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Information and Communication Technologies: Results Profile. World Bank. 2013. URL: <u>https://projects.worldbank.org/</u> en/results/2013/04/13/ict-results-profile [accessed 2019-05-14]
- United Nations ICT Task Force. Tools for Development: Using Information and Communications Technology to Achieve the Millennium Development Goals. United Nations ICT Task Force. 2003. URL: <u>http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/</u> <u>search?q=cache:Ad9OS-PX7z8J:www.itu.int/net/wsis/stocktaking/docs/activities/1103056110/ICTMDGFinal.</u> pdf+&cd=1&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=us [accessed 2019-05-14]
- 3. 51st Directing Council of PAHO, 63rd Session of the Regional Committee of WHO for the Americas: Strategy and Plan of Action on eHealth (2012-2017). PAN American Health Organization. 2011. URL: <u>http://www.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_download&gid=14572&Itemid=&lang=en</u> [accessed 2019-05-14]
- 4. Mechael P. The case for mhealth in developing countries. Innov Technol Gov Glob 2009 Jan;4(1):103-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1162/itgg.2009.4.1.103]
- Irawan Y, Koesoema A. The Role of ICT, Healthcare Investment and Ehealth Policy in Achieving Millennium Development Goals: A Cross-Country Comparison. In: 9th International Symposium on Medical Information and Communication Technology. 2015 Presented at: ISMICT'15; March 24-26, 2015; Kamakura, Japan URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/ismict.</u> 2015.7107509 [doi: 10.1109/ISMICT.2015.7107509]
- 6. Children: Reducing Mortality. World Health Organization. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/</u> <u>children-reducing-mortality</u> [accessed 2020-03-30]
- 7. León-Cava N. Quantifying the Benefits of Breastfeeding: A Summary of the Evidence. Washington, DC: PAN American Health Organization; 2002.
- 8. Weisstaub G, Aguilar AM, Uauy R. Treatment and prevention of malnutrition in Latin America: focus on Chile and Bolivia. Food Nutr Bull 2014 Jun;35(2 Suppl):S39-S46. [doi: 10.1177/15648265140352S106] [Medline: 25069292]
- 9. Exclusive Breastfeeding (Percentage of Children Under 6 Months) Dominican Republic. The World Bank. URL: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.STA.BFED.ZS?locations=DO</u> [accessed 2019-05-13]
- 10. Most Recent Child Mortality Estimates, 2018. United Nations Inter-Agency Group for Child Mortality Estimation. 2019. URL: <u>https://childmortality.org/data/Dominican%20Republic</u> [accessed 2020-03-30]
- Pérez-Escamilla R, Curry L, Minhas D, Taylor L, Bradley E. Scaling up of breastfeeding promotion programs in low- and middle-income countries: the 'breastfeeding gear' model. Adv Nutr 2012 Nov 1;3(6):790-800 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/an.112.002873] [Medline: 23153733]
- 12. Schindler-Ruwisch JM, Roess A, Robert RC, Napolitano MA, Chiang S. Social support for breastfeeding in the era of mhealth: a content analysis. J Hum Lact 2018 Aug;34(3):543-555. [doi: 10.1177/0890334418773302] [Medline: 29787686]
- Chhanabhai PN, Holt A. The disparity information and communication technology for developing countries has in the delivery of healthcare information. Open Med Inform J 2010 Sep 15;4:195-201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874431101004010195] [Medline: 21594006]
- 14. Lyles C, Schillinger D, Sarkar U. Connecting the dots: health information technology expansion and health disparities. PLoS Med 2015 Jul;12(7):e1001852 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001852] [Medline: 26172977]
- 15. Chib A, van Velthoven MH, Car J. mHealth adoption in low-resource environments: a review of the use of mobile healthcare in developing countries. J Health Commun 2015;20(1):4-34. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2013.864735] [Medline: 24673171]

- Nigenda G, Torres M, Jáuregui A, Silverman-Retana JO, Casas A, Servan-Mori E. Health information technologies for sexual and reproductive health: mapping the evidence in Latin America and the Caribbean. J Public Health Policy 2016 Nov;37(Suppl 2):213-231. [doi: <u>10.1057/s41271-016-0014-3</u>] [Medline: <u>27899796</u>]
- 17. Park LG, Beatty A, Stafford Z, Whooley MA. Mobile phone interventions for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2016;58(6):639-650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2016.03.002] [Medline: 27001245]
- Shah R, Watson J, Free C. A systematic review and meta-analysis in the effectiveness of mobile phone interventions used to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy in HIV infection. BMC Public Health 2019 Jul 9;19(1):915 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6899-6] [Medline: 31288772]
- 19. Global Observatory for eHealth. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/goe/en/%20</u> [accessed 2019-05-14]
- 20. Final Results Framework of the UNICEF Strategic Plan, 2018-2021. United Nations. 2017. URL: <u>https://undocs.org/E/</u> ICEF/2017/14 [accessed 2019-05-14]
- Lewis T, Synowiec C, Lagomarsino G, Schweitzer J. E-health in low- and middle-income countries: findings from the center for health market innovations. Bull World Health Organ 2012 May 1;90(5):332-340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.099820] [Medline: 22589566]
- 22. Gerber T, Olazabal V, Brown K, Pablos-Mendez A. An agenda for action on global e-health. Health Aff (Millwood) 2010 Feb;29(2):233-236. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0934] [Medline: 20348066]
- 23. Crean KW. Accelerating innovation in information and communication technology for health. Health Aff (Millwood) 2010 Feb;29(2):278-283. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0795] [Medline: 20348074]
- 24. Piette JD, Lun KC, Moura LA, Fraser HS, Mechael PN, Powell J, et al. Impacts of e-health on the outcomes of care in lowand middle-income countries: where do we go from here? Bull World Health Organ 2012 May 1;90(5):365-372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.11.099069] [Medline: 22589570]
- 25. Novillo-Ortiz D, Hernández-Pérez T. Social media in public health: an analysis of national health authorities and leading causes of death in Spanish-speaking Latin American and Caribbean countries. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2017 Feb 3;17(1):16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0411-y] [Medline: 28158986]
- 26. Cormick G, Ciganda A, Cafferata ML, Ripple MJ, Sosa-Estani S, Buekens P, et al. Text message interventions for follow up of infants born to mothers positive for Chagas disease in Tucumán, Argentina: a feasibility study. BMC Res Notes 2015 Sep 29;8:508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1498-9] [Medline: 26419230]
- Alnasser Y, Almasoud N, Aljohni D, Almisned R, Alsuwaine B, Alohali R, et al. Impact of attitude and knowledge on intention to breastfeed: can mHealth based education influence decision to breastfeed exclusively? Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2018 Nov;35:6-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2018.09.007] [Medline: 30258626]
- White BK, Martin A, White JA, Burns SK, Maycock BR, Giglia RC, et al. Theory-based design and development of a socially connected, gamified mobile app for men about breastfeeding (milk man). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 27;4(2):e81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5652] [Medline: 27349756]
- 29. Wang C, Chaovalit P, Pongnumkul S. A breastfeed-promoting mobile app intervention: usability and usefulness study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 26;6(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8337] [Medline: 29374000]
- 30. Jefferson UT, Zachary I, Majee W. Employing a user-centered design to engage mothers in the development of a mhealth breastfeeding application. Comput Inform Nurs 2019 Oct;37(10):522-531. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000549</u>] [Medline: <u>31414995</u>]
- 31. Tette EM, Sifah EK, Nartey ET. Factors affecting malnutrition in children and the uptake of interventions to prevent the condition. BMC Pediatr 2015 Nov 19;15:189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-015-0496-3] [Medline: 26586172]
- 32. National Census of Population and Living Place 2010. National Office of Statistics: The Portal of Dominican Statistics. URL: <u>https://www.one.gob.do/censos/poblacion-y-vivienda</u> [accessed 2020-06-30]
- 33. Román-Poueriet J, Fernandez AD, Beck-Sagué CM, Szabó RG, Mercedes F, Duke W, et al. HIV infection and prevention of mother-to-child transmission in childbearing women: La Romana, Dominican Republic, 2002-2006. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2009 Oct;26(4):315-323. [doi: 10.1590/s1020-49892009001000005] [Medline: 20107679]
- Onwuegbuzie A, Dickinson W, Leech N, Zoran A. A qualitative framework for collecting and analyzing data in focus group research. Int J Qual Methods 2009 Sep;8(3):1-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/160940690900800301]
- 35. Vasileiou K, Barnett J, Thorpe S, Young T. Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. BMC Med Res Methodol 2018 Nov 21;18(1):148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7] [Medline: 30463515]
- Hennink MM, Kaiser BN, Weber MB. What influences saturation? Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. Qual Health Res 2019 Aug;29(10):1483-1496 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732318821692] [Medline: 30628545]
- 37. Morgan D. Planning Focus Groups. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 1998.
- 38. Krueger R, Casey M. Focus groups. In: A Practical Guide for Applied Research. Fifth Edition. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications; 2000.
- 39. Morgan DL. Focus Groups as Qualitative Research. Second Edition. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications; 1997.
- 40. Silverman D. Qualitative research. In: Theory, Method and Practice. Second Edition. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications; 2004.

- 41. Sun Q, Wang C, Cao H. An Extended TAM for Analyzing Adoption Behavior of Mobile Commerce. In: Eighth International Conference on Mobile Business. 2009 Presented at: ICMB'09; June 27-28, 2009; Dalian, China URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/icmb.2009.16</u> [doi: 10.1109/ICMB.2009.16]
- 42. Fisher W, Fisher J, Harman J. The information motivation behavioral skills model: a general social psychological approach to understanding and promoting health behavior. In: Social Psychological Foundations of Health and Illness. Hoboken, NJ: Blackwell Publishing Ltd; Jan 01, 2003.
- 43. Hmone MP, Dibley MJ, Li M, Alam A. A formative study to inform mHealth based randomized controlled trial intervention to promote exclusive breastfeeding practices in Myanmar: incorporating qualitative study findings. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Jun 4;16:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0301-8] [Medline: 27260252]
- 44. Aliabadi N, Carballo-Dieguez A, Bakken S, Rojas M, Brown W, Carry M, et al. Using the information-motivation-behavioral skills model to guide the development of an HIV prevention smartphone application for high-risk MSM. AIDS Educ Prev 2015 Dec;27(6):522-537 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2015.27.6.522] [Medline: 26595265]
- 45. Fusch P, Ness L. Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. Qual Rep 2015;20:1408-1416 [FREE Full text]
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Sep 18;13:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117] [Medline: 24047204]
- 47. Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 48. White M, Marsh E. Content analysis: a flexible methodology. Library Trends 2006;55(1):22-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1353/lib.2006.0053]
- 49. Patton MQ. Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. Health Serv Res 1999 Dec;34(5 Pt 2):1189-1208 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10591279]
- 50. Cho Y, Lee S, Islam SM, Kim S. Theories applied to m-health interventions for behavior change in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2018 Oct;24(10):727-741 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0249] [Medline: 29437546]
- 51. Klonoff DC. Behavioral theory: the missing ingredient for digital health tools to change behavior and increase adherence. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019 Mar;13(2):276-281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296818820303] [Medline: 30678472]
 52. Final Algorithm and the second s
- Fisher JD, Fisher WA. Changing AIDS-risk behavior. Psychol Bull 1992 May;111(3):455-474. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.111.3.455] [Medline: 1594721]
- Tuthill EL, Butler LM, Pellowski JA, McGrath JM, Cusson RM, Gable RK, et al. Exclusive breast-feeding promotion among HIV-infected women in South Africa: an information-motivation-behavioural skills model-based pilot intervention. Public Health Nutr 2017 Jun;20(8):1481-1490 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1368980016003657] [Medline: 28173897]
- 54. Chu JY, Jiang B, Gao YP, Li L, Yang MJ, Ma FF, et al. [Evaluation on the effect of exclusive breastfeeding among women with primipara, using the Information-motivation-behavioral skills model intervention model]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2019 Dec 10;40(12):1639-1644. [doi: <u>10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2019.12.025</u>] [Medline: <u>32062930</u>]
- 55. Rahimi B, Nadri H, Afshar HL, Timpka T. A systematic review of the technology acceptance model in health informatics. Appl Clin Inform 2018 Jul;9(3):604-634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1668091] [Medline: 30112741]
- 56. Lim S, Xue L, Yen CC, Chang L, Chan HC, Tai BC, et al. A study on Singaporean women's acceptance of using mobile phones to seek health information. Int J Med Inform 2011 Dec;80(12):e189-e202. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.08.007</u>] [Medline: <u>21956003</u>]
- 57. Mobile Cellular Subscriptions. The World Bank. URL: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.CEL.SETS.</u> <u>P2?locations=DO-US</u> [accessed 2019-05-14]
- 58. Digital in The Dominican Republic. DataReportal: Global Digital Insights. URL: <u>https://datareportal.com/</u> <u>digital-in-the-dominican-republic</u> [accessed 2019-05-14]
- Higgs ES, Goldberg AB, Labrique AB, Cook SH, Schmid C, Cole CF, et al. Understanding the role of mHealth and other media interventions for behavior change to enhance child survival and development in low- and middle-income countries: an evidence review. J Health Commun 2014;19(Suppl 1):164-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2014.929763] [Medline: 25207452]
- 60. World Health Organization. MHealth: New Horizons for Health through Mobile Technologies. Second Global Survey on eHealth. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011.
- 61. Evans WD, Wallace JL, Snider J. Pilot evaluation of the text4baby mobile health program. BMC Public Health 2012 Nov 26;12:1031 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-1031] [Medline: 23181985]
- Jiang H, Li M, Wen LM, Hu Q, Yang D, He G, et al. Effect of short message service on infant feeding practice: findings from a community-based study in Shanghai, China. JAMA Pediatr 2014 May;168(5):471-478. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.58] [Medline: 24639004]
- 63. Lee SH, Nurmatov UB, Nwaru BI, Mukherjee M, Grant L, Pagliari C. Effectiveness of mHealth interventions for maternal, newborn and child health in low- and middle-income countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health 2016 Jun;6(1):010401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7189/jogh.06.010401] [Medline: 26649177]

- 64. Sondaal SF, Browne JL, Amoakoh-Coleman M, Borgstein A, Miltenburg AS, Verwijs M, et al. Assessing the effect of mhealth interventions in improving maternal and neonatal care in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. PLoS One 2016;11(5):e0154664 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154664] [Medline: 27144393]
- 65. Chen H, Chai Y, Dong L, Niu W, Zhang P. Effectiveness and appropriateness of mhealth interventions for maternal and child health: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 9;6(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8998] [Medline: 29317380]
- 66. Dol J, Richardson B, Murphy GT, Aston M, McMillan D, Campbell-Yeo M. Impact of mobile health (mHealth) interventions during the perinatal period for mothers in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep 2019 Aug;17(8):1634-1667. [doi: 10.11124/JBISRIR-2017-004022] [Medline: 31404051]
- 67. Coughlin SS. The need for research-tested smartphone applications for promoting breastfeeding. Mhealth 2016 May;2(5):-[FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2016.04.03] [Medline: 27231691]
- 68. Waldrop J. Exploration of reasons for feeding choices in Hispanic mothers. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2013;38(5):282-288. [doi: 10.1097/NMC.0b013e31829a5625] [Medline: 23958618]
- 69. Sloand E, Budhathoki C, Junn J, Vo D, Lowe V, Pennington A. Breastfeeding among Latino families in an urban pediatric office setting. Nurs Res Pract 2016;2016:9278401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/9278401] [Medline: 27980866]
- Cheney AM, Nieri T, Davis E, Prologo J, Valencia E, Anderson AT, et al. The sociocultural factors underlying Latina mothers' infant feeding practices. Glob Qual Nurs Res 2019;6:2333393618825253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2333393618825253] [Medline: 30746425]
- Martínez-Pérez B, de la Torre-Díez I, López-Coronado M. Mobile health applications for the most prevalent conditions by the World Health Organization: review and analysis. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jun 14;15(6):e120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2600] [Medline: 23770578]
- 72. Modi D, Gopalan R, Shah S, Venkatraman S, Desai G, Desai S, et al. Development and formative evaluation of an innovative mHealth intervention for improving coverage of community-based maternal, newborn and child health services in rural areas of India. Glob Health Action 2015;8:26769 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v8.26769] [Medline: 25697233]
- 73. Wallwiener S, Müller M, Doster A, Laserer W, Reck C, Pauluschke-Fröhlich J, et al. Pregnancy eHealth and mHealth: user proportions and characteristics of pregnant women using web-based information sources-a cross-sectional study. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2016 Nov;294(5):937-944. [doi: 10.1007/s00404-016-4093-y] [Medline: 27084763]
- 74. Zhou L, Bao J, Watzlaf V, Parmanto B. Barriers to and facilitators of the use of mobile health apps from a security perspective: mixed-methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 16;7(4):e11223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11223] [Medline: 30990458]
- 75. Kotz D, Gunter CA, Kumar S, Weiner JP. Privacy and security in mobile health: a research agenda. Computer (Long Beach Calif) 2016 Jun;49(6):22-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/MC.2016.185] [Medline: 28344359]
- 76. Fleisher L, Erkoboni D, Halkyard K, Sykes E, Norris MS, Walker L, et al. Are mhealth interventions to improve child restraint system installation of value? A mixed methods study of parents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017 Sep 26;14(10):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph14101122] [Medline: 28954429]
- 77. Palinkas LA. Qualitative and mixed methods in mental health services and implementation research. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2014;43(6):851-861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15374416.2014.910791] [Medline: 25350675]
- 78. Arcia A, Stonbraker S, Warner ER. Continuing education module-information needs and information-seeking processes of low-income pregnant women in relation to digital maternity education resources. J Perinat Educ 2019 Jul 1;28(3):151-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1891/1058-1243.28.3.151] [Medline: 31341374]
- McCambridge J, Witton J, Elbourne DR. Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: new concepts are needed to study research participation effects. J Clin Epidemiol 2014 Mar;67(3):267-277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.08.015] [Medline: 24275499]
- 80. Gender Data Portal: Country Dominican Republic. World Bank. URL: <u>http://datatopics.worldbank.org/gender/country/</u> <u>dominican-republic</u> [accessed 2020-06-30]

Abbreviations

CFLR: Clínica de Familia La Romana EBF: exclusive breastfeeding ETAM: extended technology acceptance model FGD: focus group discussion ICT: information and communications technology IMB: information-motivation-behavioral skills LMICs: low- and middle-income countries MAMI: Módulo de Adolescentes Materno Infantil mHealth: mobile health NPS: Niños Primeros en Salud TAM: technology acceptance model

Edited by C Ahlers-Schmidt; submitted 15.05.20; peer-reviewed by B Aljedaani, R Theis, B Nievas Soriano; comments to author 22.06.20; revised version received 21.07.20; accepted 23.07.20; published 21.08.20. <u>Please cite as:</u> Casilang CG, Stonbraker S, Japa I, Halpern M, Messina L, Steenhoff AP, Lowenthal ED, Fleisher L Perceptions and Attitudes Toward Mobile Health in Development of an Exclusive Breastfeeding Tool: Focus Group Study With Caregivers and Health Promoters in the Dominican Republic JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(2):e20312 URL: http://pediatrics.jmir.org/2020/2/e20312/

doi:<u>10.2196/20312</u> PMID:<u>32821063</u>

©Clarisse G Casilang, Samantha Stonbraker, Ingrid Japa, Mina Halpern, Luz Messina, Andrew P Steenhoff, Elizabeth D Lowenthal, Linda Fleisher. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (http://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.08.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

